STUDIES IN HEALTH TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATICS 262

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge



Editors: John Mantas Arie Hasman Parisis Gallos Aikaterini Kolokathi Mowafa S. Househ Joseph Liaskos



The latest developments in data, informatics and technology continue to enable health professionals and informaticians to improve healthcare for the benefit of patients everywhere.

This book presents full papers from ICIMTH 2019, the 17th International Conference on Informatics, Management and Technology in Healthcare, held in Athens, Greece from 5 to 7 July 2019. Of the 150 submissions received, 95 were selected for presentation at the conference following review and are included here. The conference focused on increasing and improving knowledge of healthcare applications spanning the entire spectrum from clinical and health informatics to public health informatics as applied in the healthcare domain. The field of biomedical and health informatics is examined in a very broad framework, presenting the research and application outcomes of informatics from cell to population and exploring a number of technologies such as imaging, sensors, and biomedical equipment, together with management and organizational aspects including legal and social issues. Setting research priorities in health informatics is also addressed.

Providing an overview of the latest developments in health informatics, the book will be of interest to all those working in the field.



ISBN 978-1-61499-986-7 (print) ISBN 978-1-61499-987-4 (online) ISSN 0926-9630 (print) ISSN 1879-8365 (online)

HEALTH INFORMATICS VISION: FROM DATA VIA INFORMATION TO KNOWLEDGE

Studies in Health Technology and Informatics

International health informatics is driven by developments in biomedical technologies and medical informatics research that are advancing in parallel and form one integrated world of information and communication media and result in massive amounts of health data. These components include genomics and precision medicine, machine learning, translational informatics, intelligent systems for clinicians and patients, mobile health applications, data-driven telecommunication and rehabilitative technology, sensors, intelligent home technology, EHR and patient-controlled data, and Internet of Things.

Studies in Health Technology and Informatics (HTI) series was started in 1990 in collaboration with EU programmes that preceded the Horizon 2020 to promote biomedical and health informatics research. It has developed into a highly visible global platform for the dissemination of original research in this field, containing more than 250 volumes of high-quality works from all over the world.

The international Editorial Board selects publications with relevance and quality for the field. All contributions to the volumes in the series are peer reviewed.

The HTI series is indexed by MEDLINE/PubMed; Web of Science: Conference Proceedings Citation Index – Science (CPCI-S) and Book Citation Index – Science (BKCI-S); Google Scholar; Scopus; EMCare.

Series Editors:

B. Blobel, O. Bodenreider, E. Borycki, M. Braunstein, C. Bühler, J.P. Christensen, R. Cooper, R. Cornet, J. Dewen, O. Le Dour, P.C. Dykes, A. Famili, M. González-Sancho, E.J.S. Hovenga,

- J.W. Jutai, Z. Kolitsi, C.U. Lehmann, J. Mantas, V. Maojo, A. Moen, J.F.M. Molenbroek, G. de Moor, M.A. Musen, P.F. Niederer, C. Nøhr, A. Pedotti, N. Peek, O. Rienhoff, G. Riva,
 - W. Rouse, K. Saranto, M.J. Scherer, S. Schürer, E.R. Siegel, C. Safran, N. Sarkar,
- T. Solomonides, E. Tam, J. Tenenbaum, B. Wiederhold, P. Wilson and L.H.W. van der Woude

Volume 262

Recently published in this series

- Vol. 261 B. Blobel and M. Giacomini (Eds.), pHealth 2019 Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Wearable Micro and Nano Technologies for Personalized Health – 10–12 June 2019, Genoa, Italy
- Vol. 260 D. Hayn, A. Eggerth and G. Schreier (Eds.), dHealth 2019 From eHealth to dHealth – Proceedings of the 13th Health Informatics Meets Digital Health Conference
- Vol. 259 T. Bürkle, M. Lehmann, K. Denecke, M. Sariyar, S. Bignens, E. Zetz and J. Holm (Eds.), Healthcare of the Future – Bridging the Information Gap – 5 April 2019, Biel/Bienne, Switzerland

ISSN 0926-9630 (print) ISSN 1879-8365 (online)

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge

Edited by

John Mantas

Health Informatics Laboratory, Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Arie Hasman

Department of Medical Informatics, AMC – University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Parisis Gallos

Health Informatics Laboratory, Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Aikaterini Kolokathi

Health Informatics Laboratory, Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Mowafa S. Househ

Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar

and

Joseph Liaskos

Health Informatics Laboratory, Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece



© 2019 The authors and IOS Press.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without prior written permission from the publisher.

ISBN 978-1-61499-986-7 (print) ISBN 978-1-61499-987-4 (online) doi: 10.3233/SHTI262

Publisher IOS Press BV Nieuwe Hemweg 6B 1013 BG Amsterdam Netherlands fax: +31 20 687 0019 e-mail: order@iospress.nl

For book sales in the USA and Canada: IOS Press, Inc. 6751 Tepper Drive Clifton, VA 20124 USA Tel.: +1 703 830 6300 Fax: +1 703 830 2300 sales@iospress.com

LEGAL NOTICE

The publisher is not responsible for the use which might be made of the following information.

PRINTED IN THE NETHERLANDS

Preface

This volume contains the accepted full papers of the ICIMTH (International Conference on Informatics, Management, and Technology in Healthcare). The Scientific Programme Committee presents to the academic and professional community of Biomedical and Health Informatics the scientific outcomes of the ICIMTH 2019 Conference, which is being held from 5 to 7 July 2019 in Athens, Greece.

The ICIMTH 2019 Conference is the 17th Annual Conference in this series of scientific events, gathering scientists working in the field of Biomedical and Health Informatics from all continents as well as from the hosting country.

This year the Conference is focusing on increasing and improving our Knowledge of Healthcare in applications spanning the whole spectrum from Clinical Informatics, Health Informatics to Public Health Informatics as applied in the healthcare domain. Since Management and Organisational issues play an important role in the implementation phase of Biomedical and Health Informatics applications, topics related to the above themes are also included as an integral part of the overall theme of the Conference. We are examining the field of Biomedical and Health Informatics in a very broad framework presenting the research and application outcomes of Informatics from cell to populations, including a number of Technologies such as Imaging, Sensors, and Biomedical Equipment and Management and Organisational aspects, including legal and social issues and setting research priorities in Health Informatics. In essence, Data, Informatics, and Technology inspires health professionals and informaticians to improve healthcare for the benefit of patients.

This volume incorporates only the full papers accepted for oral presentation. It should be noted that the Proceedings are published in this series of the Conference as an e-book with e-access for ease of use and browsing without losing any of the advantages of indexing and citation in the biggest Scientific Literature Databases, such as Medline and Scopus that the series of Studies in Health Technology and Informatics (SHTI) of IOS Press provides.

At the end of the deadline we had 150 submissions, from which after reviewing we have accepted 95 as full papers to be included in the volume proceedings.

The Editors would like to thank the Members of the Scientific Programme Committee, the Organising Committee, and all Reviewers, who have performed a very professional thorough and objective refereeing of the scientific work in order to achieve a highquality publishing achievement for a successful scientific event.

Athens, 30.05.2019

The Editors,

John Mantas, Arie Hasman, Parisis Gallos, Katia Kolokathi, Mowafa S. Househ, and Joseph Liaskos

ICIMTH 2019 Scientific Programme Committee and Reviewers

John Mantas, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Arie Hasman, AMC, University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands Theo Arvanitis, University of Warwick, UK George Demiris, University of Pennsylvania, USA Lacramioara Stoicu-Tivadar, Polytechnic University Timisoara, Romania Mowafa S. Househ, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar Mansoor Ali Baig, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Saudi Arabia Charalampos Balis, University of Thessaly, Greece Arriel Benis, Holon Institute of Technology, Israel Riccardo Belazzi, University of Pavia, Italy Antonis Billis, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece George Despotou, University of Warwick, UK Rolf Engelbrecht, GSF-Medis, Germany Marina Fotteler, Neu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Germany Parisis Gallos, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Michael Georg Grasser, Medical University of Graz, Austria Enrique Gomez, Universidad Politecnica de Madrid, Spain Hakan Gulkessen, University of Antalya, Turkey Reinhold Haux, University of Braunschweig - Institute of Technology, Germany Felix Holl, Neu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Germany Aikaterini Kolokathi, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Pashalina Lialiou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Joseph Liaskos, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Inge Madsen, Aalborg University, Denmark Andriana Magdalinou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Izet Masic, University of Sarajevo, Bosnia-Herzegovina George Mihalas, University of Timisoara, Romania Anne Moen, University of Oslo, Norway Kaija Saranto, University of Eastern Finland, Finland Abbas Sheikhtaheri, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran Vasile Stoicu-Tivadar, Politehnica University Timisoara, Romania Patrick Weber, Nicecomputing, Switzerland Tatyana Zarubina, University of Moscow, Russia Dimitrios Zikos, Central Michigan University, United States

Contents

Preface John Mantas, Arie Hasman, Parisis Gallos, Katia Kolokathi, Mowafa S. Househ, and Joseph Liaskos	v
ICIMTH 2019. Scientific Programme Committee and Reviewers	vi
Some Thoughts on Extended Collaboration of Entities with Natural and with Artificial Intelligence in Health Care and Beyond <i>Reinhold Haux</i>	1
Concurrent Execution of Multiple Computer-interpretable Clinical Practice Guidelines and Their Interrelations Eda Bilici, George Despotou and Theodoros N. Arvanitis	7
Usage of Accelerometers in the Medical Field of Application and Their Clinical Integration Nico Jähne-Raden, Henrike Gütschleg and Michael Marschollek	11
Creating Learning Opportunities by Using Videoconferencing in Surgical Education Line Lundvoll Warth	15
A Privacy Management Analysis (PMA) of Exchanging International Patient Summary Gokce B. Laleci Erturkmen, Ezelsu Simsek, Giorgio Cangioli and Catherine Chronaki	19
Decision Support System for Inventory Management in Healthcare Organizations: A Case Study at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute Antônio Augusto Gonçalves, Sandro Luís Freire de Castro Silva, Roberto Luiz Silva Santos, Cezar Cheng, José Geraldo Pereira Barbosa and Carlos Henrique Fernandes Martins	23
Developing a Framework for a Healthcare Data Science Hub; Challenges and Lessons Learned Mansoor Ali Baig and Somayah Jamaan Alzahrani	27
A Multi-Lingual Dictionary for Health Informatics as an International Cooperation Pillar Arriel Benis, Mihaela Crisan-Vida, Lăcrămioara Stoicu-Tivadar and Stefan Darmoni	31
Implementing an Oncology Decision Support System: The Case of the Brazilian National Cancer Institute Antônio Augusto Gonçalves, Sandro Luís Freire de Castro Silva, Roberto Luiz Silva Santos, Cezar Cheng, José Geraldo Pereira Barbosa and Carlos Henrique Fernandes Martins	35

Mobile Phone Applications for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Appraisal and Perspectives Markos Nikolopoulos, Irene Karampela, Georgios Antonakos, Evangelos Tzortzis, Theodora Stratigou, Marianna Diomidous and Maria Dalamaga	39
Revisiting the Skills of a Healthcare Data Scientist as a Field Expert Mansoor Ali Baig and Somayah J. Alzahrani	43
Nurses Acceptance of Automated Medication Dispensing Cabinets Tarek Elkady, Angie Rees and Mohamed Khalifa	47
Investigating Ethical, Legal, and Socio-Technical Barriers of Medical Data Donation and Developing a Concept to Address Them – A Research Protocol <i>Felix Holl, Marina Fotteler, Stefan Müller-Mielitz and Walter Swoboda</i>	51
Challenges of Health Analytics Utilization: A Review of Literature Mohamed Khalifa	55
Integrating GDPR in ISO 15189 for Medical Laboratories: Major Aspects and Perspectives Markos Nikolopoulos, Irene Karampela, Georgios Antonakos, Evangelos Tzortzis, Theodora Stratigou, Marianna Diomidous and Maria Dalamaga	59
Introducing a Research Management System to Speed Up and Streamline Clinical Research Activities <i>Mansoor Ali Baig, Mohamad A. Almuhaizea, Abeer Omar</i> <i>and Somayah J. Alzahrani</i>	63
Speech Recognition Evaluation of a State-Of-The-Art Smartglass in the Use Case Pediatric Resuscitation <i>Michael Schmucker, Christoph Igel, Robin Kappler and Martin Haag</i>	67
A Vision Utilizing Gamification to Enhance Patients' with Chronic Shoulder Diseases Adherence to Rehabilitation Bianca Steiner and Klaus-Hendrik Wolf	71
Patient Reported Reasons for Surgery Cancellations Do Not Necessarily Correspond with Hospitals' Representation of the Same Problem <i>Kari Dyb</i>	75
Dynamic Survival Analysis Using In-Memory Technology Sophie Schneiderbauer, Diana Schweizer, Theres Fey and Daniel Nasseh	79
Implementing eHealth Technologies: The Need for Changed Work Practices to Reduce Medication Errors <i>Kari Dyb and Line Lundvoll Warth</i>	83
Impact of Students' Presence and Course Participation on Learning Outcome in Co-Operative Online-based Courses Elske Ammenwerth, Werner O. Hackl, Verena Dornauer, Michael Felderer, Alexander Hoerbst, Renate Nantschev and Michael Netzer	87

viii

Digital Oblivion (The Right to Be Forgotten): A Big Challenge for the Public Hospital Management in Greece Maria Tsirintani, Magdalini Serifi and Spiridon Binioris	91
Using Equivalent Classes of an Ontology to Understand Care Pathway in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Sonia Cardoso, Xavier Aimé, Vincent Meininger, David Grabli, Pierre Meneton and Jean Charlet	93
Evaluation of Perceived Usability and Utilization of a Virtual Care Program Among Adolescents and Geriatrics <i>Tanzila Zaman, Trusha Taneja, Barbara Edson, Robert Gianforcaro</i> <i>and Saif Khairat</i>	97
Decision Support Systems for Tuberculosis: Protocol for a Scoping Review Vinícius Lima, Filipe Bernardi, Felipe Pellison, Rui Rijo, Afrânio Kritski, Rafael Galliez and Domingos Alves	101
PhD Students and the Most Frequent Mistakes During Data Interpretation by Statistical Analysis Software Izet Masic, Slobodan M. Jankovic and Edin Begic	105
Strong Recommendations Are Inappropriate in Person-Centred Care: The Case of Anti-Platelet Therapy Jack Dowie and Mette Kjer Kaltoft	110
Why a Global PROMIS® Can't Be Kept Jack Dowie and Mette Kjer Kaltoft	114
PROMs Need PRIMs: Standardised Outcome Measures Lack the Preference- Sensitivity Needed in Person-Centred Care <i>Mette Kjer Kaltoft and Jack Dowie</i>	118
Experiences and Quality of Life in Critically III Patients: Can Technology Lead to Improvements? <i>Panagiota Peleka, Olga Siskou, Petros Galanis,</i> <i>Olympia Konstantakopoulou, Marianna Diomidous,</i> <i>Athina Kalokairinou and Daphne Kaitelidou</i>	122
Developing a Gamified First Aid Training Application for Children Adrian Kristoffer Borgund and Ankica Babic	126
Defining an Architecture for a Coaching Module to Support Self-Monitoring of Chronic Obstructive Respiratory Diseases Ana Vieira, Diogo Martinho, Constantino Martins, Ana Almeida and Goreti Marreiros	130
Gathering Real World Evidence Through the Evaluation of Decision History Naiara Muro, Nekane Larburu, Jacques Bouaud and Brigitte Seroussi	134
Improving Antimicrobial Prescriptions with Computerized Decision Support Systems: Where Are We? <i>Tahani Nageeti, Raghad Al-Harbi, Khalid Al-Malki, Omnia Natto,</i> <i>Abdulla Binhamdan, Hanan Aldosari, Bakheet Aldosari,</i> <i>Fares Alshammari and Abdullah Alanazi</i>	138

Discovery of Hidden Patterns in Breast Cancer Patients, Using Data Mining on a Real Data Set Alireza Atashi, Fariba Tohidinezhad, Sara Dorri, Najmeh Nazeri, Rouzbeh Ghousi, Sina Marashi and Fatemeh Hajialiasgari	142
Roots of Interdisciplinarity in European Medical Informatics George I. Mihalas and Casimir A. Kulikowski	146
Patients' Use of Health Village Portal: The Central Role of Healthcare Professional Support Eija Kivekäs, Santtu Mikkonen, Maija Saijonkari, Milla Rosenlund, Johanna Lammintakanen, Virpi Jylhä, Pia Liljamo, Sirpa Arvonen and Kaija Saranto	150
Children's Immunisation in Europe – A Vision of Using the HL7 International Patient Summary to Transform Local Data into Child-Specific Information and Population Health Knowledge Shalmali Deshpande, Catherine Chronaki and Michael Rigby	154
The Limited Extent of Accreditation Mechanisms for Websites and Mobile Applications in Europe Shalmali Deshpande, Michael Rigby and Mitch Blair	158
Implementation of USSD Technology to Improve Quality of Routinely Reported Health Data in a Resource-Limited Setting Joan Nakibuuka, Agnes R. Semwanga and Martin C. Were	162
Measuring Patient Experiences from Intensive Care Units to Improve Health IT Systems and Nursing Care Myrsini Kelepouri, Olga Siskou, Petros Galanis, Olympia Konstantakopoulou, Athina Kalokairinou, John Mantas and Dafni Kaitelidou	166
Moving Towards a Blockchain-Based Healthcare Information System Charalampos Balis, Iraklis Tagopoulos and Katerina Dimola	168
Blockchain as a Process Control Tool for Healthcare Michael Shifrin, Anton Khavtorin, Vadim Stepurin and Boris Zingerman	172
The National Star Model of Medical Informatics Education in Montenegro Ramo Šendelj and Ivana Ognjanović	176
Using Microbiological Data Analysis to Tackle Antibiotic Resistance of Klebsiella Pneumoniae Georgios Feretzakis, Evangelos Loupelis, Stavroula Petropoulou, Constantinos Christopoulos, Malvina Lada, Maria Martsoukou, Nikoleta Skarmoutsou, Katerina Sakagianni, Sophia Michelidou, Katerina Velentza, Konstantinos Valakis and Emmanouil Koutalas	180
Analysis of Usage of Indicators by Leveraging Health Data Warehouses: A Literature Review <i>Milka B. Gesicho and Ankica Babic</i>	184
Evaluating the Health Status of Injured People due to Road Accidents Adriana Mangita and Marianna Diomidous	188

Ontologic Model of Diagnostics and Treatment of Gastrointestinal Bleedings of Unknown Origin Anna Budykina, Svetlana Rauzina, Alexander Bogdanov and Tatiana Zarubina	190
An Information Extraction Algorithm for Detecting Adverse Events in Neurosurgery Using Documents Written in a Natural Rich-in-Morphology Language Gleb Danilov, Michael Shifrin, Uliya Strunina, Tatyana Pronkina and Alexander Potapov	194
Usability Inspection of Multipurpose Scalable Informed Consent Platform Joseph Finkelstein, Daniel Robins and Jiazhen Liu	198
IPS Governance Framework: Current Practices in Specification Use and Updates Robert Stegwee, Hans Gille and Catherine Chronaki	202
Mobile VR-Application for Neck Exercises Mads Kloster and Ankica Babic	206
Usefulness, Ease of Use, Ease of Learning and Users' Satisfaction of E-Prescription and E-Appointment Systems for Primary Health Care Agathi Kontogiannatou, Joseph Liaskos, Parisis Gallos and John Mantas	210
A Smart Infotainment System Equiped with Emotional Intelligence Christos Panagopoulos, Andreas Menychtas, Georgios Fouskas, Vassileios Plagianakos, Ilias Maglogiannis, Konstantinos Delimpasis, Michael Galliakis, Dimitrios Petropoulos, Christos Gkartzios and Charalampos Koumpoulis	214
An Epidemiological Analysis for H1N1 Infection Stelios Zimeras and Marianna Diomidous	218
Phenotyping UK Electronic Health Records from 15 Million Individuals for Precision Medicine: The CALIBER Resource Spiros Denaxas, Arturo Gonzalez-Izquierdo, Natalie Fitzpatrick, Kenan Direk and Harry Hemingway	220
Inappropriate Use of Public Hospitals Emergency Departments in Greece: Magnitude and Associated Factors Petros Galanis, Olga Siskou, Giorgos Charalambous, Olympia Konstantakopoulou, Angeliki Liarigkovinou, Iliana Karagkouni, George Tsolas, Panagiota Chatzi, Aikaterini Giotaki, George Keramidas, Amalia Nikolakakou, Aikaterini Papachristou, Panagiotis Papatheodorou, Vasiliki Papastefanopoulou, Ioannis Skountzos, Amalia Thermogianni and Daphne Kaitelidou	224
An Evolutionary Bootstrapping Development Approach for a Mental Health Conversational Agent Mowafa Househ, Jens Schneider, Kashif Ahmad, Tanvir Alam, Dena Al-Thani, Mohamed Ali Siddig, Luis Fernandez-Luque, Marwa Qaraqe, Ala Alfuquha and Shekhar Saxena	228

	٠	٠
v	1	1
-		1

DeepCNPP: Deep Learning Architecture to Distinguish the Promoter of Human Long Non-Coding RNA Genes and Protein-Coding Genes <i>Tanvir Alam, Mohammad Tariqul Islam, Mowafa Househ,</i> <i>Samir Brahim Belhaouari and Ferdaus Ahmed Kawsar</i>	232
DeepDSSR: Deep Learning Structure for Human Donor Splice Sites Recognition Tanvir Alam, Mohammad Tariqul Islam, Mowafa Househ, Abdesselam Bouzerdoum and Ferdaus Ahmed Kawsar	236
Understanding the Impact of Clinical Training on EHR Use Optimization Saif Khairat, Dipika Jayachander, Cameron Coleman, Thomas Newlin and Victoria Rand	240
Novel Eye-Tracking Methods to Evaluate the Usability of Electronic Health Records Dipika Jayachander, Cameron Coleman, Victoria Rand, Thomas Newlin and Saif Khairat	244
Development and Usability of Mobile-based Healthcare Protocols in Kenya Priscillah Balirwa, Thomas Mwogi, Evelyn K. Kahiigi and Martin C. Were	248
Entropy-based Dyslalia Screening Emilian-Erman Mahmut, Michele Della Ventura, Dorin Berian and Vasile Stoicu-Tivadar	252
Development of an HL7 FHIR Architecture for Implementation of a Knowledge-based Interdisciplinary EHR Max W. Seitz, Stefan Listl and Petra Knaup	256
Utilization of a Novel Patient Monitoring Dashboard in Emergency Departments Sivanija Ulaganathan, Tamina Fatah, Thomas Schmidt and Christian Nøhr	260
Blockchain Based Network for Tuberculosis: A Data Sharing Initiative in Brazil Filipe Bernardi, Vinicius Lima, Felipe Pellison, Paulo Mazzoncini de Azevedo Marques, Rui Rijo, Rafael Mello Galliez, Afrânio Kritski and Domingos Alves	264
Factors Affecting Venture Funding of Healthcare AI Companies Olli Halminen, Henni Tenhunen, Antti Heliste and Timo Seppälä	268
Factors Relating to Participation in Quality Improvement and Hospital Accreditation of Health Professions in Kalasin Hospital, Kalasin Province, Thailand Areacuary Abhiekaya and Leethongdee Songkramehai	272
Physician-Led EHR Customization Tracking Assessments for Pediatric Patients with Turner Syndrome Katherine Peticolas, Saif Khairat, Carl Seashore and Jennifer Law	276
The Consequence of Repetitive Heavy Object Lifting on the Normal Standing Posture of Factory Workers Emanuela Georgiana Gal-Nadasan, Norbert Gal-Nadasan, Vasile Stoicu-Tivadar, Dan V. Poenaru and Diana Popa-Andrei	280

Named Entity Recognition and Classification for Medical Prospectuses Oana Sorina Chirila, Ciprian-Bogdan Chirila and Lăcrămioara Stoicu-Tivadar	284
The High Technology Measure the Risk of Noncommunicable Diseases, Confidence the Gender in the Prevalence of Health Information for the Decision-Making in Si Sa Ket Province, Thailand <i>Kampol Khemthong, Niruwan Turnbull, Savittri Rattanopad Suwanlee</i> <i>and Karl Peltzer</i>	288
Using Mental Health Indicators to Improve Health Care Management: A Web-based Approach André L.T. Vinci, Inácia B. De Lima, Newton S.B. Miyoshi, André Ramalho, Alberto Freitas, Rui Rijo and Domingos Alves	292
Actionable Data from Iterative Cognitive Walkthroughs: Creating the Research Roadmap Website as an Interactive Guide to Facilitate Research Sonia Kleiner-Arje, Louise Wolf, Daniel Robins, Joseph Finkelstein and Rosalind Wright	296
Health Professionals' Perceptions of Information Quality in the Health Village Portal Milla Rosenlund, Eija Kivekäs, Santtu Mikkonen, Sirpa Arvonen, Jarmo Reponen and Kaija Saranto	300
From Tertiary to Primary Care – Understanding Context in the Transfer of Digital Headache Service Pathway Auri Väljä, Henni Tenhunen, Hanna Harno, Laura Mäkitie, Tuomo Tanila and Paul Lillrank	304
Virtual Planning of Extra-Intracranial Bypass with Numerical Investigation of Hemodynamics Evgenia Blagosklonova, Daria Dolotova, Nataliya Polunina, Valentin Stepanov, Anastasia Kiseleva, Ivan Arhipov, Andrey Gavrilov and Vladimir Krylov	308
A Platform for Collection and Analysis of Image Data on Stroke Daria Dolotova, Victoria Donitova, Ivan Arhipov, Faat Sharifullin, Tatiana Zagriazkina, Boris Kobrinskii and Andrey Gavrilov	312
Quality Indicators for Mental Health in Primary Care – A Comparison Between Literature Review Methods André Ramalho, André Vinci, Inácia Bezerra De Lima, Pedro Castro, Juliana Teixeira, Manuel Gonçalves-Pinho, João Vasco Santos, João Viana, Paulo Santos, Domingos Alves and Alberto Freitas	316
Enhancing Precision in Gesture Detection for Hand Recovery After Injury Using Leap Motion and Machine Learning Stelian Nicola, Oana Sorina Chirila and Lacramioara Stoicu-Tivadar	320
Using Big Data to Uncover Patient Determinants of Care Utilization Compliance in a Student Dental Clinic Audra Boehm, In Cheol Jeong, Joseph Finkelstein, Stacey Whalen and Roseanna Graham	324

xiii

xiv

Mining Electronic Dental Records to Identify Dry Socket Risk Factors Seth A. Levitin, In Cheol Jeong and Joseph Finkelstein	328
A Hybrid Recommender System to Guide Assessment and Surveillance of Adverse Childhood Experiences Jon Hael Brenas, Eun Kyong Shin and Arash Shaban-Nejad	332
Applied Network Science for Relational Chronic Disease Surveillance Eun Kyong Shin and Arash Shaban-Nejad	336
Improving Patient Safety by Reducing Falls in Hospitals Among the Elderly: A Review of Successful Strategies <i>Mohamed Khalifa</i>	340
Clinical Decision Support Systems: From the Perspective of Small and Imbalanced Data Set Oznur Esra Par, Ebru Akcapinar Sezer and Hayri Sever	344
Using PubMed to Generate Email Lists of Participants for Healthcare Survey Research: A Simple and Practical Approach Mohamed Khalifa	348
Self-Management and Diabetes Mellitus mHealth, a Glance at the Present and a Glimpse into the Future Awad Alshahrani	352
Utilizing Big Data in Healthcare, How to Maximize Its Value Raid Jastania, Tahani Nageeti, Hussam Al-Juhani, Afnan Basahel, Roa'a Aljuraid, Abdullah Alanazi, Hanan Aldosari and Bakheet Aldosari	356
Lifestyle Intervention for Young Adults with MS: A Design Study Martine Oppegaard Jakobsen and Ankica Babic	360
An Edge Computing Method for Extracting Pathological Information from Phonocardiogram Arash Gharehbaghi, Amir A. Sepehri and Ankica Babic	364
Hiding Decision Tree Rules in Medical Data: A Case Study Georgios Feretzakis, Dimitris Kalles and Vassilios S. Verykios	368
Establishing User Requirements for a Norwegian IBD Mobile Application <i>Runar Olsen and Ankica Babic</i>	372
Confocal Laser Endomicroscopy for Intraoperative Tumor Assessment: Development of a Conceptual Model for an Evaluation Study <i>Marina Fotteler, Lisa Heninger, Felix Holl, Jürgen Schlegel</i> <i>and Walter Swoboda</i>	376
Colorectal Cancer Registration: Data Approach to Knowledge Sara Dorri, Najmeh Nazeri, Seyedeh nahid Seyedhasani, Sina Marashi, Fatemeh Hajialiasgari and Alireza Atashi	380
Fundamentals of Implementing a National Clinical Registries Program Mansoor Ali Baig, Somayah J. Alzahrani, Mohamad A. Almuhaizea and Fahad Al-Shagathrh	384

Drug Interaction Advisory Service for Clinical Decision Support of Multimordity Patient Centric Care Plans in the C3-Cloud System George Despotou, Mustafa Yuksel, Bunyamin Sarigul and Theodoros N. Arvanitis	388
Developing a Digital Mental Health Platform for the Arab World: From Research to Action Mowafa Househ, Tanvir Alam, Dena Al-Thani, Jens Schneider, Mohammad Ali Siddig, Luis Fernandez-Luque, Marwa Qaraqe, Ala Alfuquha and Shekhar Saxena	392
Subject Index	397

Author Index	401
--------------	-----

This page intentionally left blank

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190002

Some Thoughts on Extended Collaboration of Entities with Natural and with Artificial Intelligence in Health Care and Beyond*

Reinhold HAUX^{a,1}

^a Peter L. Reichertz Institute for Medical Informatics (PLRI) of TU Braunschweig and Hannover Medical School

Abstract. This lecture is dealing with new, future forms of collaboration and with its (hopefully existing) extended synergies, which may now will come in our era of digitization. Entities in this collaboration are we, the human beings, and other living entities such as animals with 'natural intelligence' as well as non-living entities, in particular functionally comprehensive machines, with 'artificial intelligence'. Based on lessons learned during the last years, among others in a task force on synergy and intelligence (SYnENCE) of the Braunschweig Scientific Society, five consequences for future health care with respect to this collaboration are put for discussion: (1) functional comprehensive 'intelligent' machines should be regarded as entities, not as modalities, (2) such machines have to become users of information systems in health, in addition to human entities, appropriate (3) legal and (4) ethical frameworks have to be evaluated in accordance with good scientific practice. The statements of Karl Jaspers, made in 1946 on medicine and on technology, may help us to find a good way.

Keywords. Health care, digitization, natural intelligence, artificial intelligence

Introduction

This is my 5th keynote lecture at an ICIMTH conference. Such lectures provide opportunities to share and discuss topics, which might be relevant for the future of our societies in general and there in particular for health care. Topics which are of *originality* and *relevance* ([1], p. 260, df₆) on the one hand, and still to some extent immature on the other, as research maybe just at the beginning, and still without comprehensive results.

My first keynote lecture in 2003 gave me the opportunity to draw attention on 'information technology and the future of health care: the need for transinstitutional ITstrategies and information system architectures'. Today this might be subsumed under the term eHealth, in particular after the World Health Organization had in 2004 adopted its eHealth Resolution [2,3]. After successful developments on information systems architectures and strategies *within* health care institutions (hospitals, ...), it became

^{*} Written version of a keynote lecture, given at the International Conference on Informatics, Management, and Technology in Healthcare (ICIMTH), held from July 5 to 7, 2019, in Athens, Greece.

¹ Corresponding Author, Reinhold HAUX, www.plri.de; E-mail: Reinhold.Haux@plri.de.

necessary to now also focus on providing appropriate *patient-centered care*, not mainly institution-centered care. This problem still needs to be solved in many countries [4-6].

In 2013 there was the chance to address personal living environments as locations for health care, with the consequence that smart homes as well as health-enabling and ambient assisted technologies should become integrated parts of health care processes [7]. In 2016 under the title "my home is my hospital" [8] this was again the topic, as a just finalized review on such technologies could be presented [9]. This keynote lecture also gave the chance to remind of the term *engymetry*, proposed by Dietrich Peter PRETSCHNER,[10] and to suggest considering this term in this context

In 2017 reflections on informatics diagnostics and informatics therapeutics could be presented [11]. Originally suggested as research fields in [12], p. 606, they might today probably better be denoted as digital diagnostics and digital therapeutics [13].

1. Objectives and Contents

This keynote lecture is dealing with new, future forms of collaboration and with its (hopefully existing) extended synergies, which may now will come in our era of digitization. Entities in this collaboration are we, the human beings, and other living entities such as animals with 'natural intelligence' as well as non-living entities, in particular functionally comprehensive machines, with 'artificial intelligence'. These new, future forms of collaboration with all its potential opportunities and risks became more and more part of my research during the last years.

In section 3 I will report about lessons learned in some projects, I have been or still am involved in, being related to this topic. Consequences for future health care will be outlined in section 4. Some final remarks and conclusions will follow in section 5. Before I want to remind of two fundamentals, medical informatics is based on, in section 2.

2. On Two Fundamentals of Medical Informatics: Medicine and Technology

Medical informatics – you may also call this field biomedical and health informatics – is concerned with the systematic organization, representation, and analysis of data, information and knowledge in biomedicine and health care. The objectives of our field are twofold: to contribute to the progress of science and to contribute to high-quality, efficient health care, as well as to the quality of life ([1], pp. 256-257).

Two important fundamentals for our field are medicine and health care as well as information and communication technology. In this context I want to quote the philosopher and physician Karl Jaspers (1883-1969). In his essay 'on the living spirit of universities', published in 1946, he described the objectives of medicine and of technology [14]. Together with theology, law and philosophy, he regarded these two fields as the major building blocks of universities, usually organized within respective faculties.

Let me first quote his statements on *medicine*: "Medicine serves for the health and the well-being of individuals and for the hygiene of the conditions of populations. ... Faculties of medicine live in the tension between the conception of humans as bodies, which can be fully understood by scientific means and which can be helped alone with these, and between communicating with humans as freedom of existence, to whomphysicians are companions in fate, not just assistants from natural science." ([14], pp 10-11,

translation by the author). On *technology* he wrote: "Technology serves for organizing our lives through mastering the natural forces, with the task of building environments of living, which relief humans from burdens and which finds beauty-enabling designs of human environments. ... Faculties of Technology live in the tension between technical opportunities and human life orders. Being neutral in value they can be used as well for destruction as for construction. They are bound to natural sciences, but to be lead in their realizations by the freedom of humans, who know what they can and want, or who do not know." ([14], pp. 10-12, translation by the author). Let me come back later to these statements.

3. Lessons Learned on Extended Collaboration During the Last Years

Let me briefly report on some projects, being related with extended collaboration of entities with natural and with artificial intelligence. As already mentioned before, machines, which are functionally comprehensive, so that they can make or support decisions, which are comparable to those of human, are here called intelligent. This is of course debatable.

3.1. Health-enabling Technologies and Intelligent Homes as Servants

Since more than 10 years we at PLRI are doing research on health-enabling technologies. With the NATARS study, starting in 2011 we made first field tests with sensors in apartments of geriatric fracture patients after they have been discharged from hospital or rehabilitation centers. It turned out that by sensor technology (acceleration, motion), apartments could serve as diagnostic areas, with the potential to significantly improve health care processes [15,16]. This research continued with setting up research apartments as living labs and with additional research projects (e.g. [17,18]). With growing functionality, these apartments can be viewed as diagnostic and therapeutic areas [7,8]. Another view is to regard them as 'artificial servants' of their residents. Servants know a lot of the persons, they are serving, including many privacy matters. Good servants do not speak about these matters.

3.2. Robots in Operating Theatres and Questions on Shared Autonomy

Organized by the Braunschweig Scientific Society (Braunschweigische Wissenschaftliche Gesellschaft, BWG, [18]), on February 7, 2018, its 14th Bioethics Symposium was devoted to 'Robots in Operating Theatres'. From different viewpoints (surgery, robotics, medical informatics, law, and ethics) the challenges of novel team-machine interaction of surgery teams (physicians, nurses) and functional comprehensive robotic systems [19]was discussed, "in particular on how to adequately consider what hybrid actions can be specified, and in which sense these do imply a sharing of autonomous decisions between (teams of) humans and machines" ([20]). It turned out that from a surgical viewpoint already now decisions might be regarded are shared and not completely made by humans.

3.3. Questions at a Symposium on the Collaboration of Natural/Artificial Intelligence

Also organized by BWG, this time jointly with other institutions, on February 14 and 15, 2019, a symposium 'on the collaboration of natural and artificial intelligence' took place, with the subtitle 'on the collaboration of living and non-living entities in the era of digitization' [21]. Let me quote here the questions, raised at the beginning of this interdisciplinary symposium ([22], translated): "What will living together in times of increasing digitization look like in future? Which synergies arise from the now possible extended collaboration of humans, animals and plants on the one hand and of machines on the other? Can we distinguish between only contemporary and between appropriate forms of collaboration? And can recommendations be made in order to achieve appropriate forms, while avoiding timely but problematic forms?"

3.4. The SYnENCE Task Force and its Three Dimensions

Because of such questions BWG had in 2017 decided to establish a task force on 'synergy and intelligence' (SYnENCE, Synergie und Intelligenz, SYnENZ), the author of this keynote is chairing. To elaborate answers to questions, as mentioned in 3.3, the members of the taskforce decided to structure their work in three dimensions: Fields of application (one field being medicine and health care), methodological and technical aspects, as well as ethical and legal aspects. Let me mention the three instances of the dimension ethical and legal aspects and with the questions, raised in this context ([22], translated):"*Individuality and collectivity*: Will intensified communication and the extended use of assistive technologies lead to more cooperation and interdependence of individuals or of collectives? *Individualization and normalization*: Does the extended collaboration not only involve beneficial influences but also risks of normalizing human behavior and personal development? *Autonomy and responsibility*: What are the consequences for the autonomy of human decisions and for legal and ethical responsibility?

4. For discussion: Consequences for Future Health Care

What are or what might be consequences for future health care, considering both, respective research and respective practice? Let me put for discussion five themes:

Functional comprehensive 'intelligent' machines should be regarded as *entities*, not as modalities. In doing this, approaches on research and on implementing practice will probably become more appropriate. Just recall the topic team-machine interaction [20].

Such machines have to become *users of information systems* in health, in addition to human entities. When machines (intelligent houses, robotic systems, ...) take care of patients, they may also need to know their diagnoses, signs and symptoms. Or they need to report about observations. Therefore they should have, as human health care professionals, access to their patients electronic health records. Details in [20], section 5.

Legal frameworks, today usually focusing on the responsibility of humans, need to consider this new and certainly for jurisdiction challenging development. This is in particular of importance for the ethical-legal instance 'autonomy and responsibility, mentioned in 3.4 Proposals have been made, see e.g. [20], section 6, of Susanne Beck.

Ethical frameworks need to be set in place, in particular with respect to the question, raised in 3.3, whether recommendations can be made in order to achieve appropriate forms of extended collaboration of living and non-living entities, while avoiding timely but problematic forms, and with respect to the ethical-legal instance 'individual-ization and normalization', mentioned in 3.4. Proposals have been made, see e.g. [20], section 7, of Arne Manzeschke.

Extended collaboration in medicine and health care needs to be *evaluated* in accordance with good scientific practice. In medicine we can fortunately base on a mature tradition of therapy research, with controlled trials as important instance (details in [23]).

5. Final Remarks and Conclusions

As mentioned in the introduction, such lectures provide opportunities to share and discuss topics, which might be of originality and relevance, but which to some extent still be immature and speculative. This is such a topic, which may have influence on our societies, not only on health care. Interdisciplinary research, including researchers in health sciences and informatics, but also from fields like ethics and law, is needed in order contribute to good future health care, and to not just sliding down a slippery slope of implementing new technologies without appropriate ethical framework. The statements of Karl Jaspers on medicine and on technology may help us to find a good way.

References

- [1] R. Haux, On determining factors for good research in biomedical and health informatics, Some lessons learned, *Yearb Med Inform* **9** (2014), 255-264.
- [2] J.-C. Healy, The WHO eHealth Resolution eHealth for all by 2015? Methods Inf Med 46 (2007), 2-4.
- [3] World Health Organization, eHealth Resolution. 58th World Health Assembly, Resolution 28. May 25, 2005. Geneva: WHO; 2005. <u>http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/wha58-rec1/a58_2005_rec1-en.pdf</u>. Last access: April 21, 2019.
- [4] J. Hüsers, U. Hübner, M. Esdar, E. Ammenwerth, W.O. Hackl et al., Innovative power of health care organisations affects IT adoption: A bi-national health IT benchmark comparing Austria and Germany, J Med Syst 41 (2017), 33.
- [5] C. Nøhr, S. Koch, V. Vimarlund, H. Gilstad, A. Faxvaag et al., Monitoring and benchmarking eHealth in the nordiccountries, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 247 (2018), 86-90.
- [6] R. Haux, E. Ammenwerth, S. Koch, C.U. Lehmann, H.A. Park et al., A brief survey on six basic and reduced eHealth indicators in seven countries in 2017, *Appl Clin Inform* 9 (2018), 704-713.
- [7] R. Haux, M. Marschollek, K.-H. Wolf, Some thoughts on personal living environments as new diagnostic and therapeutic areas, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 190 (2013), 8-12.
- [8] R. Haux, My home is my hospital, On recent research on health-enabling technologies, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 226 (2016), 3-8.
- [9] R. Haux, S. Koch, N.H. Lovell, M. Marschollek, N. Nakashima, K.-H. Wolf, Health-enabling and ambient assistive technologies: Past, present, future, *Yearb Med Inform* 11 (2016), S76-S91.
- [10] D.P. Pretschner, Engymetry and personal computing in nuclear medicine. Springer, Berlin, 1982.
- [11] R. Haux, On informatics diagnostics and informatics therapeutics good medical informatics research is needed here, *Stud Health Technol Inform* **238** (2017), 3-7.
- [12] R. Haux, Medical informatics: Past, present, future, Int J Med Inform 79 (2010), 599-610.
- [13] F.J. Martin-Sanchez, G.H. Lopez-Campos, The new role of biomedical informatics in the age of digital medicine, *Methods Inf Med* 55 (2016), 392-402.
- [14] K. Jaspers, Vom lebendigen Geist der Universität, Lambert Schneider, Heidelberg, 1946.

- [15] M. Marschollek, M. Becker, J.M. Bauer, P. Bente, L. Dasenbrock et al., Multimodal activity monitoring for home rehabilitation of geriatric fracture patients - feasibility and acceptance of sensor systems in the GAL-NATARS study, *Inform Health Soc Care* **39** (2014), 262-271.
- [16] J. Wang, J. Bauer, M. Becker, P. Bente, L. Dasenbrock et al., A novel approach for discovering human behavior patterns using unsupervised methods, Z Gerontol Geriatr 47 (2014), 648-660.
- [17] H. Schrom, J. Schwartze and S. Diekmann, Building automation by an intelligent embedded infrastructure, 2017 International Smart Cities Conference, 1-4, Wuxi, 2017.
- [18] Braunschweigische Wissenschaftliche Gesellschaft. http://bwg-nds.de. Last access: April 21, 2019.
- [19] S.S. Vedula, M. Ishii, G.D. Hager, Objective assessment of surgical technical skill and competency in the operating room, *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* 19 (2017), 301-325.
- [20] J. Steil, D. Finas, S. Beck, A. Manzeschke, R. Haux, Robots in operating theatres as example for future team-machine interaction, *Methods Inf Med* 58 (2016), to appear.
- [21] Zusammenwirken von natürlicher und künstlicher Intelligenz. 1. BWG-Symposium. <u>https://synenz.de</u>, Last access: April 21, 2019.
- [22] R.Haux, Symposium collaboration of natural and artificial intelligence: Introduction, talk, given at [21].
- [23] R. Haux, N. Karafyllis, Methodisch-technische Aspekte der Evaluation erweiterten Zusammenwirkens, talk given at [21], manuscript in preparation.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190003

Concurrent Execution of Multiple Computer-interpretable Clinical Practice Guidelines and Their Interrelations

Eda BILICI^{a,1}, George DESPOTOU^a and Theodoros N ARVANITIS^a ^aInstitute of Digital Healthcare, WMG, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK

Abstract. Execution of multiple computer-interpretable guidelines (CIGs), enables the creation of patient-centered care plans for multimorbidity, which can be monitored by clinical decision support systems. This paper introduces an execution framework to manage multiple, concurrently implemented CIGs, also discussing the approaches used such as constraint satisfaction.

Keywords. Computer-interpretable Guideline, Multimorbidity, Personal Care Plan, Model-Driven Engineering, Constraint Satisfaction; Model Transformation

1. Introduction

Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) [1] are evidence-based statements, which are used to support carers in supplying appropriate care, mainly for patients with a single disease. Patients, especially the elderly, may have dynamic and multiple health conditions (multimorbidity) [2], which use multiple formalised versions of guidelines. A computer interpretable version of these guidelines (CIGs) [3] can be used to achieve automated connections between CPGs and patient data, in order to for supply error-free and consistent care recommendations to maintain patient safety. To date, several CIG-driven Clinical Decision Support Systems [4] have been proposed to acquire, represent and execute guidelines, using different guideline representation languages with associated execution engines (e.g., Asbru [5], GLIF3 [6], GLARE [7], Proforma [8]). CIG execution involves instantiation of CPGs with patient data, using a mechanism to extract information, and recommend appropriate patient-specific care recommendations, such as care options and clinical information.

MuCIGREF, which is a Multiple Computer-interpretable Guideline Representation and Execution Framework, is developed to represent and execute CPGs and their associated knowledge constructs in order to generate personal care plans for multimorbid patients. The application process of each guideline follows the semantics of the MuCIGREF ontology. As the care application proceeds, the personal plan is updated according to the recommended actions of guidelines. However, this is a challenging issue when multiple guidelines are concurrently implemented [9]. These can be induced by managing a set of constraints relating with, for instance, arranging concurrency and synchronisation relations between clinical activities, recommended by the same or

¹ Corresponding Author, Eda Bilici, Institute of Digital Healthcare, WMG, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK; E-mail: e.bilici@warwick.ac.uk.

different guidelines to avoid care conflicts (e.g., adverse drug interactions), or the need of multi-merging [10] of clinical activities to eliminate care duplications (e.g., inefficient use of resources). This paper presents the execution approach of MuCIGREF, mainly on alleviating challenges of parallel execution of multiple CIGs while generating a personalised care plan.

2. Model-driven Multiple Concurrently Implemented Guideline Execution

MuCIGREF implements the following three features:

1. Elements of concepts and semantics regarding development of CIG models: MuCIGREF uses the Eclipse Modeling Framework (EMF), which supplies a modelling and code generation architecture in Eclipse. EMF models are created to represent guideline elements and their interrelations. EMF-based CIG models are developed for each CPG. Once CIG models are created, they are executed in parallel to generate a unified personal plan model for each multimorbid patient. A model-to-model transformation approach (e.g., ATL [11]) is adopted, where source (individual CIG model) and target model (Personal Plan model) are complemented with a set of imperative logic, using the Epsilon Object Language (EOL) [12], a language imperative programming language to create, query and modify EMF models.

2. Dynamic and flexible constraint satisfaction problems (CSPs) [13] over CIG models: Actions of multiple guidelines may have diverse knowledge elements, their recommendations can be conflicting or overlapping, which may cause undesired patient outcomes. Constraints can be hard constraints, which must be satisfied at all times, like temporal constraints [14], or graph constraints to maintain care flow [15]; dynamic constraints like multi-activity management constraints to handle concurrency and synchronisation relations of guideline actions or to modify or optimise care to avoid conflicts or inefficiencies; or flexible constraints to handle user preferences. To do so, a new specialised CSP solving algorithm which is the extension of *backtracking* approach [13], is developed, which adopts to dynamic changes occurred in the CIG actions and their interrelations. Dynamic constraint), remove existing constraints or modify them during the solution process (e.g., care recommendation); flexible constraint satisfaction is used to relax constraints that must be satisfied, and enable users to make preferences on solutions (e.g., alternative care options).

3. Consistent query answering [16] about these constraints: Querying (e.g., specific time periods, patient information, lab results) and the constraint propagation technique [17], are used to reduce (filter) variables for the constraints, and extract information accordingly. Afterwards, this filtered information is recorded and used to update the model for further information extractions. Thus, step-by-step propagation and querying are applied in the entire personal plan generation process.

MuCIGREF's major execution functionalities are as follows: (i) checking execution status of each clinical activity to start care; (ii) identifying next clinical activities considering all the CIG models related with patient health disorders, by checking dependencies and constraints between clinical activities such as temporal constraints; and satisfaction of required conditions; (iii) adding, removing, or replacing clinical activities and/or their associated care elements; (iv) managing concurrency relations between multiple clinical activities to avoid harmful care advices, induced by recommendation conflicts (e.g., drug-drug interactions) and/or duplications (e.g., drug overdose); (v) performing time-based synchronisation of clinical activities at the specific time point in order to be merged at the following care point as part of the care workflow; (vi) detecting unification care points to merge CIG actions; (vii) performing time-based care optimisation to avoid unnecessary resource (e.g., carer time, lab test) use and potential care duplications; and (viii) identifying conflicting clinical activities or potential conflicts and resolving them through modification of a clinical activity (e.g., activity start time, duration) or its associated care element (e.g., drug dose level).



Figure 1. Concurrency management excerpt of MuCIGREF's execution approach

3. Results

Several CPGs, from the UK National Institute of Care Excellence (NICE), are considered and, accordingly, personal plans are generated involving patient information. Execution framework meets the workflow requirements discussed in [18]. In Figure 1, an excerpt from the MuCIGREF's execution algorithm is presented, designed to handle concurrency relations between CIG actions. Validation is performed in the entire care process, in order to maintain consistent and error-free care plan. As part of the validation process, a set of model checking constraints are developed to comply with the requirements of execution regarding correctness, completeness, consistency and accuracy such as whether the defined care workflow has a cycle; each guideline has one starting activity and must have minimum one conclusion; or each decision must have minimum two conditional options. These constraints are applied in Epsilon Validation Language (EVL) [12] which check dependencies between the constraints specification of repairs that users can use to fix inconsistencies.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

In this work, conciliation of multiple CIGs with patient data to manage patients with multimorbidity, using a novel execution approach as part of the MuCIGREF, is introduced. Multimorbidity case studies were created with associated CPGs and patient data. Generating personal care plans for each patient by transforming individual CIG models; resolving challenges in coordination of complex knowledge sources and their interactions through satisfying a set of constraints with a new CSP solving approach; and adopting a dynamic model validation approach which supports users in each care step through supplying custom-built error messages, are the major contributions of this research. Future work will involve user validation and application in real-world cases.

Acknowledgments

EB has received a PhD scholarship from WMG, University of Warwick. GD and TNA have been supported by the EU H2020 C3-Cloud Project (under grant agreement No 68918) and Health Data Research UK (HDR-UK).

References

- M.J. Field and K.N. Lohr, *Clinical Practice Guideline: Directions for a new program*, National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 1990, 50.
- [2] M.E. Salive, Multimorbidity in older adults, Epiodemiol Rev 35 (2013), 75-83.
- [3] M. Peleg, Computer-interpretable clinical guidelines: A methodological review, J Biomed Inform 46 (2013), 744-763.
- [4] E. Bilici, G. Despotou and T.N. Arvanitis, The use of computer-interpretable clinical guidelines to manage care complexities of patients with multimorbid conditions: A review, *Digital Health* 4 (2018), 1-21.
- [5] A. Seyfang, S. Miksch and M. Marcos, Combining diagnosis and treatment using Asbru, Int J Med Inform 68 (2002), 49–57.
- [6] A.A. Boxwala, M. Peleg, S. Tu et al., GLIF3: a representation format for sharable computer-interpretable clinical practice guidelines, *J Biomed Inform* 37 (2004), 147–161.
- [7] A. Bottrighi, G. Molino, S. Montani, et al., Supporting a distributed execution of clinical guidelines, *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 112 (2013), 200-210.
- [8] D.R. Sutton and J. Fox, The syntax and semantics of the PROforma guideline modeling language, J Am Med Inform Assoc 10 (2003), 433–443.
- [9] S. Wilk, M. Michalowski, W. Michalowski et al., Comprehensive mitigation framework for concurrent application of multiple clinical practice guidelines, *J Biomed Inform* 66 (2017), 52-71.
- [10] N. Mulyar, W.M. Van der Aalst and M. Peleg, A pattern-based analysis of clinical computer-interpretable guideline modeling languages, J Am Med Inform Assoc 14 (2007), 781-787.
- [11] F. Jouault and I. Kurtev, Transforming models with ATL, MODELS (2005), 128-138.
- [12] D. Kolovos, R. Louise, A. Garcia-Dominguez and R. Paige, Epsilon Book, 2013.
- [13] I. Miguel and Q. Shen, Hard, flexible and dynamic constraint satisfaction, *The Knowledge Engineering Review* **14** (1999), 199-220.
- [14] A. Kamišalić, R. David and W. Tatjana, Formalisation and acquisition of temporal knowledge for decision support in medical processes, *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 158 (2018), 207-228.
- [15] F. Orejas, H. Ehrig and U. Prange, A logic of graph constraints, FASE (2008), 179-198.
- [16] M. Arenas, L. Bertossi and J. Chomicki, Consistent query answers in inconsistent databases, PODS 99 (1999), 68-79.
- [17] C. Bessiere, Constraint propagation, Foundations of Artif Intel 2 (2006), 29-83.
- [18] N.C. Russell, A.H.M. Ter Hofstede, W.M.P. Van Der Aalst and N.A. Mulyar, Workflow control-flow patterns: A revised view, *BPM Center Report BPM-06-22*, BPMcenter.org, 2006, 06-22.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190004

Usage of Accelerometers in the Medical Field of Application and Their Clinical Integration

Nico JÄHNE-RADEN¹, Henrike GÜTSCHLEG and Michael MARSCHOLLEK Peter L. Reichertz Institute for Medical Informatics University of Braunschweig and Hannover Medical School

Abstract. We conducted a literature review on the use of accelerometers in medical context, on Pubmed and IEEEXplore. This includes 440 relevant articles. The subsequently identified publications were classified with regard to the medical context (prevention, diagnostics, therapy) as well as according to medical-informatics field of application, e.g. activity-tracking, fall prevention/detection and gait analysis. Furthermore, we analyzed their clinical integration or potential for the clinical usage, including both the technical integration into the clinical structures and respective claims and requirements, e.g. privacy or hygiene. This analysis shows five categories ("without indication" to "concrete implementation"). In 90% no statement was made on clinical integration. Only two articles could be found with concrete implementations, but these descriptions are limited to a more conceptual technical side. This poor situation in final clinical integration has to change in the future, because only by the premise "from workbench to bedside" the medical benefit is given.

Keywords. Accelerometer, Clinical-Infrastructure, Integration, Review

1. Introduction

Accelerometers have been a popular sensor technology within medical records for many years, for prevention and diagnostics, as well as therapy. The results from the recent literature search, over the years 2008-2018, shows how the use of accelerometers, especially in the medical field has changed within this time.

Figure 1 shows first the increase of relevant articles over this time. As can be seen here, the number of publications using accelerometers in the medical context has increased over the years, even considering the general increase in publications.

¹ Corresponding Author, Nico Jähne-Raden, Hannover Medical School, Carl-Neuberg-Str. 1, 30625 Hanover, Germany; E-mail: Nico.Jaehne-Raden@plri.de



Figure 1. Found publications per year and relative number of findings to total publications

2. Method

To find the relevant publications we have used this search query,

(Accelerometer OR Acceleration Sensor) AND Monitor* AND Health AND Human

on the databases PubMed² and IEEEXplore³. After cleaning up duplicates we started analyzing the search results for relevance (according to PRISMA approach [1]); 440 articles could be found. These articles were then assigned to different groups (see **Figure 2**). The three largest groups are to be shown here in more detail.



Figure 2. Number of articles on the respective field of medical informatics

Activity tracking: Activity detection seems to be a widespread application for accelerometers. There were 367 articles on this topic, which is 83.4 percent of the found articles. The number of articles distributed over the years shows a clear positive trend (see Figure 2). Taking into account the general publication growth, this means an increase in activity detection items from 2008 to 2017 of more than 100 percent.

Fall prevention/detection and gait analysis: We could find a total of 56 articles on this topic. That's a total of 12.7 percent. In relation to the activity detection articles, the number of these publications remains rather the same (see Figure 2).

Cardio-monitoring and ballistocardiography: 44 articles could be detected on this medical informatics topic, so 10 percent of the total found articles. Similar to the fall detection articles, the distribution over the years is rather steady.

A total of 515 assignments of the 440 articles were made, because some articles could not be neatly assigned to only one area, e.g. activity tracking and gait analysis or

² https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/

³ https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/

activity tracking and cardio-monitoring. In addition, 48 articles were found, which could not be assigned to the existing groups, e.g. sleep monitoring or eating habits, like rather small subgroups.

3. Results

But what is the situation of the actual clinical integration of these innovations or developments, in the published research results? In addition to the classification of the articles on the areas of application and topics, it was examined to what extent the integration of the technology into the clinical environment, as well as in the clinical processes, were realized. For this purpose, the articles were examined in a structured way and subdivided into five categories, "without indication", "future plans", "first ideas", "first developments" and "concrete implementations".

The aim of this work is to investigate the state of the publication on the medical use of accelerometers and their clinical integration. Within the identified articles (440 articles), as already described, five categories of clinical integration could be presented:

Category	Amount	Percentage	Allocation [amount]
without indication	396	90 %	prevention 20, diagnostics 328, therapy 58, others 4
future plans	15	3.4 %	prevention 1, diagnostics 12, therapy 2
first idea	19	4.3 %	diagnostics 15, therapy 4
first development	8	1.8 %	prevention 1, diagnostics 5, therapy 2
specific development	2	0.5 %	diagnostics 2

Table 1. Amount of papers in the integration classes and their medical field allocation

Biswas et al. have with their work, about the continuous monitoring of health and well-being with accelerometers, a possibility to implement a communication structure for sensor systems e.g. for activity detection and sleep monitoring [2], while Karunarathne et al. show the BioKin system for motion analysis, using also smart phones [3]. Both show more or less in detail the technical solution for the overall system (both cloud based data management and first general overall system description like raw interactions), including functionality or communication that can also be used for the clinical set up, but showed not all the needed properties for the clinical use, like staff interaction or data management.

4. Discussion

Some of the found articles refer to the development of first prototypes, e.g. for the measurement of previously non-medically used signals or basic research on the general use of accelerometers, but the step to bring research results and innovations to the patient bed should not be pushed aside. Especially the early consideration of constraints and limitations in the use of new technologies in a clinical context facilitates the integration. Only through the final premise "from workbench to bedside" is the medical benefit first given. Even the two found papers, that fulfil the actual development in terms of the clinical usability, did not describe all the needed details for the clinical integration. An example of the early involvement and the attempt of a clinical integration of accelerometers from research is shown by the INBED system [4]. Of course, clinical

research does not claim to develop ready-made tools, and so basic research is an essential component, but even in this section of research, future utility and usability should be kept in mind. According to Zubiete et al. one of the challenges of integrating sensor data is the lack of a general standard [5]. Sow et al. can also see this, despite the interoperable standards like HL7 or HIE [6]. Even in 2009, Marschollek was able to state that the biggest challenge of integrating new life forms into everyday medical life is not a technical one, but an interdisciplinary one [7].

Projects such as HiGHmed can make a considerable contribution, bringing sensor systems from research into everyday clinical practice, but data integration is not enough [8]. Both the technical requirements for the intuitive usability of such systems (e.g., communications infrastructure) and the clinical requirements (privacy or hygiene standards, e.g., for the cleaning of body-worn sensor systems) must be considered appropriate implementation.

With this literature trial, we make no claim to completeness. It is clear that we have not covered all relevant articles of the time, but a tendency can be identified.

References

- D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, D.G. Altman, Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement, *PLoS Med* 7 (2009), e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- [2] J. Biswas, J. Maniyeri, K. Gopalakrishnan, L. Shue, J.E. Phua, H.N. Palit, et al. Processing of wearable sensor data on the cloud - a step towards scaling of continuous monitoring of health and well-being, *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc* (2010), 3860–3. doi:10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5627906.
- [3] M.S. Karunarathne, S.A. Jones, S.W. Ekanayake, P.N. Pathirana, Remote Monitoring System Enabling Cloud Technology upon Smart Phones and Inertial Sensors for Human Kinematics, *IEEE International Conference on Big Data and Cloud Computing (BdCloud)* (2014), 137–142. doi:10.1109/BDCloud.2014.62.
- [4] N. Jähne-Raden, U. Kulau, M. Marschollek, K.H. Wolf, INBED: A Highly Specialized System for Bed-Exit-Detection and Fall Prevention on a Geriatric Ward, *Sensors (Basel)* 5 (2019). doi:10.3390/s19051017.
- [5] E.D. Zubiete, L.F. Luque, A.V.M. Rodríguez, I.G. González, Review of wireless sensors networks in health applications. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc* (2011), 1789–93. doi:10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090510.
- [6] D. Sow, D.S. Turaga, M. Schmidt, Mining of Sensor Data in Healthcare, Managing and Mining Sensor Data, Springer US (2013), 459–504. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-6309-2_14.
- [7] M. Marschollek, Recent progress in sensor-enhanced health information systems slowly but sustainably, *Inform Health Soc Care* 34 (2009), 225–30. doi:10.3109/17538150903358610.
- [8] B. Haarbrandt, B. Schreiweis, S. Rey, U. Sax, S. Scheithauer, O. Rienhoff, et al. HiGHmed An Open Platform Approach to Enhance Care and Research across Institutional Boundaries, *Methods Inf Med* 57 (2018), 66-81. doi:10.3414/ME18-02-0002.

Creating Learning Opportunities by Using Videoconferencing in Surgical Education

Line Lundvoll WARTH ^{a,b,1}

^a Norwegian Centre for E-health Research, Tromsø, Norway ^b University of Tromsø, The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway

Abstract. Access to mentors for education in surgical subspecialties is a challenge in many hospitals. Videoconferencing (VC) provides real-time communication between mentors and mentees despite dispersed geographical locations. In Norway, an educational pathway of a specific laparoscopic surgical procedure was carried out using VC. The surgical training lasted for three months and was video recorded. The dataset covers the educational procedure, constituting of a trajectory of eight patient cases. During a model of stepwise distancing of the physical presence of the mentor, the collaborative work using VC leads the mentee to become an expert. VC is a tool for both collaboration and representation, as the picture on the VC offers the same information to both the mentor and the mentee. The communication is characterized by guidance and explanations of why specific actions are necessary for problem-solving. The use of VC was a presumption for becoming an expert in this procedure.

Keywords. Videoconferencing, learning, communication, surgical education

1. Introduction

Surgical training involves hands-on training, during which the surgeons who are being educated (mentees) are instructed by an expert surgeon (mentor). Access to mentors for surgical subspecialties is a challenge in many hospitals. Videoconferencing (VC) is a technology that provides real-time communication between mentors and mentees despite their different geographical locations.

An educational pathway of a hernia procedure was carried out using VC in a hospital in Norway. I followed the surgical training in the operating room (OR) of a mentee in a hernia procedure using laparoscopy. Laparoscopy is a technique that uses several small ports in the abdomen, with an instrument inserted through each. The procedure is visual, as a small camera is inserted into the patient's abdomen, and the image is transmitted to a monitor in the OR. VC occurs by connecting the laparoscopic surgery—the mentee, mentor, and the technological artifacts—to the monitor in the OR. The monitor is connected to the VC so that the mentor sees the same picture as the mentee.

Studies have stated that VC is well-suited for overcoming distance [1,2], allowing surgeons with no formal advanced laparoscopic training to benefit from expert advice during procedures [3] and providing better visibility and verbal accuracy in describing the procedures, as the instructor is not standing in the way [4]. These studies illustrated

¹ Corresponding Author, Line Lundvoll WARTH, Norwegian Centre for E-health Research, P.O. Box 35, N-9038 Tromsø, Norway; E-mail: line.lundvoll.warth@ehealthresearch.no

the outcomes possible with the technology, but few studies have reported on collaborative and communicative work in such settings. Related to the educational outcomes using VC, one review pointed out a strong focus on effectiveness in surgical mentoring and highlighted the need for in-depth understanding of instructions during surgical mentoring [5].

I report on the use of VC for instructions in real-time surgical education, where the mentor and mentee collaborated during the trajectory of becoming an expert. How is surgical training using VC organized, and what characterizes the communication? The hands-on training involved a mentee surgeon experienced with laparoscopy. Before practicing this specific procedure on patients, he had gone through the traditional education pathway for a new procedure, i.e., simulation using models and videos of the procedure.

2. Method

This research is related to a previous ethnographic study, which explored the mentor and mentee's views on the educational process [6] and was carried out during 2014–2016 in Norway, combining observations, interviews, focus groups, and field notes. Here, I present findings from three months of observations in 2014–2015, when the surgical training of a mentee in a specific hernia procedure was videotaped. The dataset covers the entire educational procedure, constituting a trajectory of eight cases and six hours of video observations. The whole dataset was transcribed. The presented excerpt is representative of this setting. The data protection officer at the selected hospital approved the study, and the study participants signed an informed consent form.

An interpretative analysis approach that uses an activity theoretical perspective [7] was used to conceptualize learning as a collective activity and a communicative process mediated by cultural tools, i.e., the VC. The analysis focused on the interactions between the mentor and the mentee where tensions appeared [7] and knowledge gaps needed to be closed, which directed the opportunities for learning.

3. Results

The educational practices in the OR were organized into eight sessions (Table 1) before the mentee became an expert.

The educational practice in the operation room (OR)									
Session	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Mentor	Onsite operating	Onsite assisting	Onsite mentoring	Remote mentoring	Remote mentoring	Remote mentoring	Remote mentoring	Remote mentoring	
Mentee	assisting	operating							
Use of VC		5 5 K. 5 K. 5		In OR	In house	In house	Overseas	Overseas	

Fable 1. T	he organization	of the educational	practice and	the use of VC.
------------	-----------------	--------------------	--------------	----------------

The mentor performed the first operation while the mentee assisted. Then the mentee performed the operation while the mentor stepped aside, i.e., assisting and then observing and mentoring the mentee. The first session of mentoring observation (session 3) was done in the OR without using VC. In the fourth session, the mentor used the VC in the OR. In the fifth and sixth sessions, he moved to another room at the same hospital, and the last two remote mentoring sessions were done using the VC from overseas while the

mentee was in the OR. The first three sessions were onsite in the OR, preparing for the VC, while the next five sessions used VC. After the eighth session, the mentee was evaluated as educated as an expert in this specific procedure, terminating the use of VC from overseas.

What characterized the communication using VC is illustrated in Table 2. In this extract, we see the data about 20 minutes into the 5th session, which was videotaped for about 40 minutes.

Table 2. Content in the communication (A: mentee. B: mentor).

Extract from the 5th session:

- 1. **B**: Go a little more in, into the abdomen. Don't stay at the ring. Yeah, try that, inject.
- 2. Okay, if that's the vas you have to move the vessels, so the vas is still in there.
- 3. A: Oh.
- 4. B: I think, the opening in peritoneum, so now you're not gonna be [in the right spot].
- A: Yes, it's sleekly [moving].
 B: Yeah, exactly. Anyway, try that. Yes, nice, slide the needle forward, and it's easier to stay in the
- abdomen instead of at the ring.
 A: Yeah. I have to organize my needle first. Cause there's so much hydro dissection [fluid] here, I
- 9. can't see anything. 10. B: I know. So, you have to almost push the needle, all the way through (...) just get in that space and
- 11. push it forward. Keep going It's okay if you go out, go back in again now.
- 12. That's fine. That's nice, very nice. You got in. So you see how you ...
- 13. If you take your needle out, and then take your Maryland [forceps].
- 14. I don't see your vas now, which means you did it nicely. Yeah. Very nice.

The mentor gave advice about moving into the abdomen [inside] and not staying at the ring [outside] (line 1). Then he recommended moving the vessels to keep the vas inside the ring (line 2). By referring to the opening in the peritoneum (line 4), he argued that the mentee was not in the right spot (line 4). The mentee explained it was sleekly [moving], and that's why he moved the forceps (line 5). The mentor recommended that the mentee slide the needle forward to stay in the abdomen instead of in the ring (line 6-7). The mentee had problems seeing, because there was too much hydro dissection [fluid] (line 8), and the mentor guided the mentee through by saying "push forward" and "keep going" (line 10-11). The mentee went out of the ring, and the mentor advised him to "go back in again now" (line 11) and advised him to take the needle out and use the forceps (line 13). At the end, he explained why he thought the performance was very nice—the vas was not visible (line 14) because it was left inside the ring.

The characteristics of the communication concerned the following: the mentor said what to do (lines 1–2, 4, 6–7, 10-14) and what not to do (lines 1, 4), explaining why (lines 4, 6-7, 11, 14). Both the mentor (lines 2, 12, 14) and the mentee (lines 9) referred to the picture on the monitor to reassure themselves of what was inside the abdomen (what they could and could not see).

4. Discussion

The organization of this educational practice using VC as a tool exemplifies instructional activities during surgical mentoring and how the mentor and mentee communicated, approaching new knowledge. After practicing for eight sessions in the OR, the mentee became an independent expert surgeon in this specific procedure. The sessions were organized according to the physical closeness-distance to the mentor. In the beginning, the mentor was in the OR, and thereafter there was a stepwise process of moving out of the OR into another room at the hospital and then overseas. This model makes expert knowledge assessable despite geographical distances.

Widening existing studies', these findings report in-depth on collaborative and communicative work during surgical mentoring. The talk during the surgery illustrated how the mentor drew on his expertise, closing the knowledge gaps by instructing what to do and what not to do and explaining why. This communication pattern created opportunities for learning by sharing knowledge repertoires for medical problem-solving.

The VC was a tool for the activity, making the interaction between the mentor and mentee possible over great geographical distances. Additionally, the visuals on the monitor was of importance. Using a laparoscopic technique, the mentor and mentee approached the same video monitor, which made the physical presence of secondary importance. What became relevant in the interaction and communication was how the mentor and mentee contributed to the medical problem-solving and how these social practices for educating surgeons were organized.

5. Conclusion

During a model of stepwise distancing of the mentor's physical presence, collaborative work using VC helped the mentee become an expert. The communication in VC sessions was characterized, in the OR, in house, and overseas by guidance, explaining why the performance was necessary for problem-solving. The communication pattern during surgical training created opportunities for learning, while the VC was the tool and presumption for becoming an expert in this procedure.

Acknowledgements

Thanks to the Northern Regional Health Authority for funding this project (HST-1181-14) and to all the surgeons who participated in the study.

References

- K.M. Augestad, R.O. Lindsetmo, Overcoming distance: video-conferencing as a clinical and educational tool among surgeons, *World J Surg* 33 (2009), 1356–65.
- [2] R. Latifi, K. Peck, R. Satava, M. Anvari, Telepresence and telementoring in surgery, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 104 (2004), 200–6.
- [3] H. Sebajang, P. Trudeau, A. Dougall, S. Hegge, C. McKinley, M. Anvari, Telementoring: an important enabling tool for the community surgeon, *Surgical Innovation* 12 (2005), 327–31.
- [4] C. Kaufmann, P. Rhee, D. Burris, Telepresence surgery system enhances medical student surgery training, Stud Health Technol Inform 62 (1999), 174–8.
- [5] K.M. Augestad, H. Han, J. Paige, T. Ponsky, C.M. Schlachta, B. Dunkin, J. Mellinger, Educational implications for surgical telementoring: a current review with recommendations for future practice, policy, and research, *Surg Endosc* 31 (2017), 3836–46.
- [6] H.K. Andreassen, L.L. Warth, The impact of telementoring, Stud Health Technol Inform 255 (2018), 127– 131.
- [7] Y. Engeström, Expansive learning at work: towards an activity theory reconceptualization, *Journal of Education and Work* 14 (2001), 133–156.
A Privacy Management Analysis (PMA) of Exchanging International Patient Summary

Gokce B. Laleci ERTURKMEN^{a,1}, Ezelsu SIMSEK^a, Giorgio CANGIOLI^b and Catherine CHRONAKI^b ^aSRDC Software Research & Development and Consultancy Corp., Ankara, Turkey ^bHealth Level Seven (HL7) International Foundation, Brussels, Belgium

Abstract. This paper provides a summary of the Privacy Management Analysis method followed for the analysis of the International Patient Summary exchange use cases of Trillium II Project. The objective is to recommend the required security and privacy measures by providing traceability from Regulations/Principles/Preferences to the recommended Security & Privacy Measures that needs to be implemented in pilots.

Keywords. Security and Privacy Controls, Privacy by Design, International Patient Summary

1. Introduction

The mission of the Trillium II project is to advance an International Patient Summary (IPS) standard [1] in order to ease accessing and sharing health information of people in case of emergency or unplanned care anywhere and as needed. Trillium II gives priority to immunizations, allergies, medications, clinical problems, past operations and implants in such cases. Thanks to IPS offering a window to a person's health, citizens gain health-awareness, while health professionals are better informed which causes fewer errors and better decisions. This paper summarizes the analysis of the selected IPS exchange use cases in order to recommend the required security and privacy measures that can be employed during pilot implementations. In this respect, it examines the regulatory challenges/barriers (introduced by EU GDPR, US Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)); identifies the information security and privacy controls and provides a 'catalogue' of security and privacy services and methods as a guidance to implementers of these selected use cases.

2. Methodology

We have carried out a Privacy Management Analysis (PMA) for the IPS exchange use cases which provides traceability from Regulations/Principles/Preferences to the recommended Security & Privacy Measures that needs to be implemented in pilots. As

¹Corresponding Author, Gökce B. Laleci Ertürkmen, SRDC Software Research & Development and Consultancy Corp., Ankara, Turkey; E-malil: gokce@srdc.com.tr

mandated by The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) [2], it is aimed to follow a Privacy by Design (PbD) approach for a standard based methodology utilizing the best practices established in the domain. For this purpose, we have conducted an analysis of a number of key studies in this field [3-5] providing guidance about how PbD approach can be successfully employed for analysing a use case at hand to identify the required security and privacy architecture that meets the expectations of the legal landscape and the security and privacy principles of all of the affected parties in the selected use case. Consequently, we have decided to follow a hybrid approach by exploiting the strengths of each of the mentioned references. Step by step demonstration of our methodology can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Trillium PMA Methodology

2.1. Selected Privacy Principle Set

Trillium II project aims the cross-border exchange of patient summaries between U.S. and EU countries. Within U.S., the processing and exchange of health information is subject to compliance to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Security and Privacy Rules [6]. On the other hand, in EU regulation for the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data depend on the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). ENISA Report in PbD, has thoroughly examined the new GDPR clauses and mapped these to nine Privacy and Security Principles, that can be used during Privacy and Security by Design procedures [5]. Those principals are; *Lawfulness, Consent, Purpose Binding, Necessity and Data Minimisation, Transparency and Openness, Rights of the Individual, Information Security, Accountability, Data Protection by design and by default.*

In the project, we carry out our PMA based on the ENISA principles, which has already been mapped to the EU GDPR clauses. On top of this, we have carefully analysed HIPAA Security and Privacy Rules to extract the security and privacy principles to be addressed and mapped these to the nine principles identified by ENISA [7].

3. Analysis of the Selected Use Cases and Results

In this paper we will focus on the analysis of the 'Cross-border Unplanned Care', which has been defined by epSOS project and will be operationalized via the eHealth Digital Service Infrastructure (eHDSI or eHealth DSI) enabling cross-border health data exchange under the Connecting Europe Facility (CEF). Each country is represented by a "National Contact Point for eHealth (NCPeH)" creating a Circle of Trust" (CoT) that enables inbound and outbound communication cross borders. It is assumed that within each country, through the agreements between point of cares (PoC) and NCPeH a national CoT is created, which leads up to building cascaded circles of trust. For the interactions between the NCPeHs of corresponding countries, either EU-US Privacy Shield (when cross border exchange between an EU member state and U.S. is targeted) or directly GDPR (when cross border exchange between an EU member states) would apply. Patient Summary used for the medical treatment of a patient and metadata needed to control the exchange of healthcare related data between NCPeHs and between NCPeHs and PoCs, respectively) are the Personally Identifying (PI) that have been identified for this use case. Among these, Patient Consent and Identity Claims can be categorized as Incoming PIs, the log data and administrative data as Internally Generated PIs, while Patient Summary can be categorized as both Incoming and Outgoing PIs. Having examined the system and identifying PIs, we identified a total of 53 different privacy controls as set of selected privacy conformance criteria that would apply to this use case to fulfill the above privacy principles. Afterwards, we presented pointers to the recommended security and privacy enhancing technologies in order to address the needs of the security controls identified (Table 1). The full list of recommended PETs can be found in our report available at [7].

•			
Security and	Recommended security and privacy enhancing technologies to address these		
Privacy Controls	requirements		
Principle:	* eHDSI Identity Management Service Specification description [8]		
Information	* CEF eID building block (the eIDAS Regulation (EU 910/2014, 2014))		
Security	* HL7 FHIR security guidelines recommends OAuth and OpenID Connect to be		
Privacy Controls:	used to authenticate and/or authorize the users.		
Identification (C.20)			
& Authentication			
(C.21, C.22, C.23,			
C24)			
Principle:	The following transparency enhancing techniques can be implemented as		
Transparency and	recommended by ENISA Report [5]:		
Openness	* Privacy dashboards that presents the type of personal data collected, how they are		
Privacy Controls:	used, to what parties they are made visible		
C.9-C.14	* Tools that extract by themselves the privacy information rather than depending on		
	the declarations of the service providers, such as browser add-ons that analyses the		
	events occurring when a user visits a website and continuously updates a graph		
	showing the tracking sites and their interactions		
	* Tools that rely on the effort of communities of peers (or experts) to evaluate		

Table 1. Example Security and Privacy controls and recommended PETs

by

and Privacy

C.52-C.53

default

[5].

Controls:

aluate privacy policies and track their evolution *Formal languages such as P3P, Privacy Bird, CI (Contextual Integrity), S4P and

Technologies (PETs) implementing these strategies can be found in ENISA Report

SIMPL can be utilized to make it easier for service providers and users to express their privacy policies and privacy requirements Implement Minimize", "Hide", "Separate", "Enforce" and "Demonstrate" design Principle: Data Protection by design strategies pointed out by ENISA Report. Guidance about the Privacy Enhancing

4. Conclusions

In this analysis we have greatly benefited from the eHealth Digital Service Infrastructure (DSI) Security Service Specifications [8] as one of the analysed use cases is cross border "unplanned care". The eHDSI Security Policy specifications, and the accompanying Security Services Specifications very well addresses the requirements of Information Security principle (including identification, authentication, digital signatures, access control, confidentiality, system and data integrity, non-repudiation) and Accountability principle. On the other hand, the new requirements introduced by GDPR such as Transparency and Openness, and Rights of Individuals (online access to personal data and possibilities to exercise data subject rights such as withdrawing consent or requesting rectification, blocking and erasure of personal data) are not directly addressed eHealth DSI Security Services Specifications. Here we have utilized the guidance provided by ENISA report to point the implementers to the possible Privacy Enhancing Technologies (PETs) suggested by ENISA (e.g. implementing formal languages such as P3P, Privacy Bird, CI (Contextual Integrity), S4P and SIMPL for transparently sharing privacy policies). In addition to these, different from the eHDSI (exchanging Patient Summaries represented as HL7 CDA documents over an IHE XC*-based infrastructure), Trillium II intends to use HL7 FHIR resources to better reflect the new needs of the International Patient Summary [9]. In our analysis we have taken in to account these differences and provided references to security and privacy measures that is also applicable to RESTful HL7 FHIR resource exchange paradigm (e.g OAuth and OpenID Connect).

- [1] International Patient Summary Standard for Trial Use, http://international-patientsummary.net/mediawiki/index.php?title=IPS_implementationguide_1
- [2] European Parliament & Council, Regulation on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation). L119, 1-88
- [3] OASIS PMRM TC, OASIS Privacy Management Reference Model (PMRM) Version 1.0, 2016.
- [4] PRIPARE Consortium, PRIPARE Privacy- and Security-by-design Methodology Handbook, 2016.
- [5] ENISA, Privacy and Data Protection by Design- from Policy to Engineering, 2015. Retrieved from https://www.enisa.europa.eu/publications/privacy-and-data-protection-bydesign/at_download/fullReport
- [6] HHS, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.
- [7] Trillium II Consortium, Deliverable D3.6 Catalogue of Security and Privacy Controls and Methods for mitigating the security and privacy risks associated with use cases, <u>https://trillium2.eu/deliverables/</u>
- [8] eHDSI, eHealth DSI Security Services Specification, 2017. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/cefdigital/wiki/download/attachments/37752830/Security%20Services%20Specific ation_v2.1.0.doc?version=1&modificationDate=1496299722709&api=v2
- [9] International Patient Summary Implementation Guide, http://hl7.org/fhir/uv/ips/2018May/index.html

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190007

Decision Support System for Inventory Management in Healthcare Organizations: A Case Study at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute

Antônio Augusto GONÇALVES^{a,b,1}, Sandro Luís Freire de CASTRO SILVA^a, Roberto Luiz SILVA SANTOS^a, Cezar CHENG^a, José Geraldo PEREIRA BARBOSA^b and Carlos Henrique FERNANDES MARTINS^a ^aInstituto Nacional de Câncer - COAE Tecnologia da Informação, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil ^bUniversidade Estácio de Sá - MADE, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Abstract. Nowadays, the great majority of the healthcare organizations has been criticized due to the high costs and low efficiency and are facing a critical situation aggravated by unmet demand and aging population. Availability of medicines is one of the clearest indicators that a healthcare organization is working efficiently. Medicines represent a large portion of the costs in the health services due to the significant value of these products and their storage and control requirements. Shortages of inventory have become a severe problem at the Brazilian healthcare organizations. The purpose of this work is to present the deployment of a Decision Support System which supports real-time inventory control and medicine tracking providing transparency and accessibility of this critical information at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute.

Keywords. Decision Support Systems, Medicine Inventory Management

1. Introduction

The healthcare industry has been under extreme political and public pressure during the last decades to control the increasing treatment costs. The expenses of healthcare are keeping on growing while the healthcare organizations are required to deliver a high quality of care. Despite the escalation of costs and relevance of this sector around the world, the medicine supply inventory management has been given little attention [1].

Medicine management and logistics have not been given high focus in hospital administration in the past. The Probable reasons are the high complexity of healthcare supply chains and their operational role in the hospital environment. However, in the last years, healthcare services have evolved into highly complex organizations, and logistics has been identified as a critical issue to control healthcare costs [2].

The major reasons that managers need to focus on inventory control are related to the fundamental differences between medicines and other kinds of products. Medicines

¹ Corresponding Author, Antônio Augusto GONÇALVES, Instituto Nacional de Câncer - COAE Tecnologia da Informação, Rua do Resende 195, Rio de Janeiro, 20230-092, Brazil; E-mail: sandrofreire@gmail.com.

are created, produced, and distributed according to strict regulatory requirements. By rising the efficiency of the supply chain, healthcare cost savings could be reached [3].

Availability of medicines is one of the most apparent indicators that a healthcare organization is working efficiently. It is one of the most critical supply and affects both health providers and patients. Medicines represent a large portion of the costs in the healthcare services due to the significant value of these products and their storage and control requirements. The primary purpose of medicine inventory management is to reduce treatment cost without sacrificing the quality of services [4].

The medicine shortages frequently impact cancer patients. Recently, a survey has been conducted to analyze the impact of drug shortages on cancer care that reveals 40 percent of oncologists had observed their patients die sooner and 95% of physicians had a patient who was unable to receive timely treatment due to medicine shortages [5].

Many reserachers have reinforced the relevance of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) tools in supply chain practices. Inventory management is a crucial decision-making process. The vast majority of the healthcare organizations has been criticized due to the high cost and low efficiency and are facing a critical situation aggravated by unmet demand and aging population. Drug stock-outs are identified as a global problem, and they severely affect all stakeholders of the healthcare services. [6]

Shortages of inventory have become a severe problem at the Brazilian healthcare organizations. Medicine shortages affect patient care by causing replacement of safe therapies by substitute treatments, compromising or suspending medical procedures and causing medication errors. The purpose of this work is to present the deployment of a Decision Support System which supports real-time inventory control and medicine tracking providing transparency and accessibility of this critical information at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute (INCA).

2. Methods

This study was developed through qualitative research to present a descriptive analysis of the implementation of the Decision Support System for Inventory Management at INCA. Qualitative data were gathered through observations and interviews. Semi-structured interviews were carried out with various hospital staff such as IT managers, supply chain professionals, nurses, pharmacist, physicians over the first four months of 2018. The INCA inventory management is a complex and critical process. The hospital's units run the risk of not being able to provide patients with the best medicine when it is required due to lacking proper medicine inventory management practices. Furthermore, pharmacies' dispensing medication choices may have a direct effect on the effectiveness of oncology treatment. Use medicines that are not on the clinical protocols may be risky and costly. Besides to patient safety and economic issues, rigorous regulatory requirements relating to drugs' traceability, inventory reporting, and inventory management increase the requirement of keeping efficient control over drug inventories ever-expanding in healthcare services.

The deployed real-time tracking functionality includes recommending items and quantities to be ordered based providing limits on excessive orders, and electronically placing orders after authorization. When setting the automated ordering, it is crucial to establish appropriate levels to organize the ordering process and reduce excessive supplies. The Decision Support System for inventory management was developed with interoperability requirements to record and monitor medicine distribution and traceability at INCA as shown in Figure 1.



The barcoded medicines are tracked as they are used and the inventory system is updated in real time.

Figure 1. INCA medicine inventory management flow.

INCA had many reasons to effectively manage their inventory, including medicine tracking, investment protection, and goals compliance. Using barcode scanners for scanning have allowed managers conducted a physical inventory in fractions of the time. By managing INCA inventory in real time, substantial savings have been achieved in total inventory cost through the implementation of a new model to operate the hospital pharmacy inventories effectively and efficiently.

3. Results

Results found that the implementation of this system has improved the INCA capacity to manage its pharmacy inventory effectively and efficiently. The Decision Support System has allowed integrating real-time inventory tracking with purchasing functions reducing total inventory costs and stockout risks. Improvements in oncology medication inventory control can bring a significant impact on the efficiency of the INCA hospital units.

The Functionalities has included stock receipts, stock issues and adjusting stock levels. An inventory control module was developed to track medicines by generic name and to record batch number and expiry date. Reports on stock levels, stock to expire, and average monthly consumption were created.

The DSS implementation has greatly enhanced INCA operations. The flexibility of the system has allowed for automating and streamlining medicine tracking processes as well as reduces errors and the time spent correcting them. The system has addressed the tracking needs of INCA including managing inventory, supplies reordering, asset tracking and patient monitoring

The DSS has included detailed dashboards that present INCA managers with a graphical interface with key performance indicators like as total consumption per item, items to order and orders history.

4. Conclusions

The deployment of the DSS has improved the INCA' procurement processes, and inventory control besides offered several important insights for medicine supply staff. More efficient inventory management means cost not only savings but also better-quality patient care. The decision support system has enabled the managers to streamline how the staff managed medicines, tracking them most efficiently.

This research has demonstrated the decision support system deployment can provide healthcare organizations with a significant competitive advantage. However, careful implementation is necessary to explore the potential of the DSS fully. It is essential that managers who have involved with the decision support system deployment, understand how to use the system, and realize its potential benefits.

Acknowledgement

The first author would like to acknowledge the financial support of the research productivity program from Estacio de Sá University (UNESA).

- P. Jarrett, Logistics in the health care industry, *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management* 28 (9–10) (1998), 741–742.
- [2] A.B. Almarsdóttir, J.M. Traulsen, Cost-containment as part of the pharmaceutical policy, *Pharmacy World and Science* 27 (3) (2005), 144–148.
- [3] A. Diaz, J. Pons, L. Solis, Improving healthcare services: lean lessons from Aravind, International Journal of Business Excellence 5 (4) (2012), 413–428.
- [4] D.J. Becker, S. Talwar, B.P Levy et al., Impact of oncology drug shortages on patient therapy: unplanned treatment changes, *Journal Oncology Practices* 9 (2013), e122–8.
- [5] C.M. Harland, N.D. Caldwell, Barriers to supply chain information integration: SMEs adrift of eLands, Journal of Operations Management 26 (6) (2007), 1234-54.
- [6] A.A Gonçalves, C.H.F. Martins, J.G.P. Barbosa, S.L.F. De Castro S., C. Cheng, *Telemedicine Collaboration in Cancer Treatment: A Case Study at Brazilian National Cancer Institute*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, v. 10898, 2018, 161-170.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190008

Developing a Framework for a Healthcare Data Science Hub; Challenges and Lessons Learned

Mansoor Ali BAIG^{a,b,1} and Somayah Jamaan ALZAHRANI^{a,b} ^a King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ^b Department of Biostatistics Epidemiology & Scientific Computing, KFSHRC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

> Abstract. 'Research through innovation' is the current demand echoing throughout the healthcare industry, healthcare institutions tend to invest heavily in technology. Data Science being the major disruptor across industries is being incepted through establishment of innovation and R&D centers within their respective organizations. Data Science has become a critical component for the healthcare industry, supporting innovative approaches towards advanced clinical practice, clinical research and corporate management, serving to build an intelligent enterprise. Every healthcare institution maintains a good number of technical staffs with IT, Software, data management, BI and analytical capabilities, aiding the institutions to manage report and publish its data in some or the other way, grossly covering most aspects of data science knowingly or unknowingly. Setting up a new entity within the organization by recruitment of staff with Data Science based skill sets would be the first thought to strike the management, which in contrast would end up as disaster when it comes to understanding the organizational culture, processes, infrastructure, platforms, data etc. Hence in order to setup a data science hub, regrouping or realigning some of the existing institutional resources is crucial. With this approach, the Data Science hub would carry out three primary functions. The "Project Management & Data Sourcing", the "Data Management & General Analytics" and "Advanced Analytics". Current resources can be reorganized within the first two functions, further; it would be about establishing an advanced analytics group within the hub which would perform the Machine learning and AI functions.

Keywords. Data Science, Machine Learning, Advanced Analytics

1. Background and Introduction

In an intelligent world led by technology and innovation where the Modern scientific research is mostly data-driven, the healthcare industry -surprisingly- lags behind in the means of making full use of their resources using patients' historic data to improve patient care quality, the accuracy of diagnosis, lower the cost of chronic diseases expenditure on the government by early interventions suggested by prediction models,

¹ Corresponding Author, Mansoor Ali Baig, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Biostatistics, Epidemiology & Scientific Computing Department; E-mail: mansoorbaig@hotmail.com; mbaig97@kfshrc.edu.sa

meaningful research can be performed, corporate decisions can be taken or altered, and corporate plans can be drafted and supported by evidence. Data science need to be leveraged in these areas if the healthcare industries want to lead in the field or even not be left behind which will be the case if not implemented correctly. Gartner reports that at most 20% of companies are engaged in real data science and predictive analytics. The greatest barrier to the non-adopters yet is simple, they don't know where or how to get started. There is so much unfamiliar jargon, press about multiple exciting new opportunities, and perceived risk of starting at the wrong place or taking the wrong direction which is keeping organizations at bay. Data and analytics must drive modern business operations, not just reflect them. Technical professionals must holistically manage an end-to-end data and analytics architecture to acquire, organize, analyze and deliver insights to support that goal [1]. Augmenting human decision-making at the enterprise level will bring us to the next level in growth [2]. The Data Sciences Hub within a healthcare and research environment would provide a focal point for programs dedicated to research and application of modern techniques to the management, storage, and analysis of complex data sets. In addition to fundamental research activities on data science, the Hub will include organization-wide discussions of data problems and consulting services to help investigators in defining and designing various hypotheses which can be investigated using the various platforms or available tools. The purpose of this paper is to document the experience with the best practices applied at the KFSH Research center, crossed with known Data Science functions and industry specific requirements within the healthcare sector.

2. Methodology

Healthcare and research setups since decades has been carrying out various statistics and descriptive analytics some or the other way, and these are the prime resources which would form the supporting pillars of the various functions under the data science hub, hence we do not follow a methodology of building a hub from scratch. Moreover, it would be about reorganizing the resources available with the organization in addition to the establishment of an advanced analytics group within the hub, which would include Machine learning experts or data scientist to formalize a core data science function. This alignment is mostly based on the physical setup at the KFSH Research center, in addition to the Machine Learning and AI functions.

3. Functions

Functions of the data hub revolve around the concepts and applications of data science, which is a holistic field encompassing data extraction, data preparation and data analysis, deriving insights, futuristic predictions and trends within the dataset. It can be further taken over to the next level of doing prescriptive analytics, contributing towards precision medicine. This generates demands for skills such as capturing data, statistics, mathematics, programming, problem-solving, data visualization, machine learning and AI. Further we will define each function within the hub in detail, as these functions act as the pillars of the Data Science Hub.

Data Sourcing and Data Project Management: It is crucial for the data science hub to function, supported by quality sourced data, it takes a considerable amount of

experience dealing with data management and sourcing. Secondly, this function would also be responsible to manage the data, architecture, hypothesis designs also covering all aspects of project management to ensure the desired quality output in a timely manner. This key function would include people with enough domain knowledge (healthcare) or expertise. Data sourcing would work hand in hand with the Data Warehouse team to ensure that the right data is available at the right time. Hence, the data warehouse acts as a service provider for the Data Sourcing function/section. Another function of this group would be to collaborate or rather connect the requesting department with the data science hub, helping them design a data strategy as a service to carry out research or desired data reporting.

Biostatistics and Computing function: This function would mostly be inclined towards research, grossly scientific projects, publications, precision medicine, etc. This function would be closely coupled with the Advanced Analytics function. It would be important for the Project Management group to rightly identify the projects or tasks which would need the biostatistics/scientific computing support.

Analytics, Data Visualization & Advanced Analytics Function: This function would act as an analytical arm for all the business units & functions within the institution, widely supporting the corporate side (non-medical) as well as clinical units. This function would cater to services starting from data preparation to descriptive visual analytics and reporting.

Machine Learning and AI: The primary purpose of Data Science is to build machine learning models, which are basically statistical models that can be used to extract patterns from data. Data science and machine learning can also be thought of as using the power of modern computing to leverage statistics. Some machine learning models, such as regularized regression and decision trees, lend themselves well to deriving insights and explaining patterns in data (e.g., which clinicians are overutilizing costly materials). Other machine learning models, such random forests and neural networks (deep learning: image recognition, prescription reading which to pharmacy automation, facial and vocal recognition, diagnosis by image recognition "Medical Imaging" making it a lot easier to diagnose, (pain free, biopsy), are primarily used for prediction (e.g., each patient in a population's likelihood of readmission after discharge).Creating predictive model based on its own patient population.

Big Data Management: When we are talking about Data Science, we cannot afford to miss out Big Data. But healthcare and healthcare research data, although it justified the velocity, veracity, variety and value, but not as huge with volume and moreover is very well organized within the organization, with the help of EMR, Registries, imaging, other clinical systems etc. and hence can be extracted or queried in a systemic format. Hence the big data aspect for the data science for healthcare would be of consideration at a later stage, as and when the actual need arises.

4. Manpower Roles, Job Descriptions and Skill set

The Data Science hub does not just represent a core group of data scientists, rather this activity would be broken down into smaller functions, which will be easy to manage. Starting with the role of the Chief Analytics Officer/Chief Data Officer; success will be increasingly defined by leaders who understand & execute data science. As executives build and guide teams toward a harmonious, well-planned vision for healthcare improvement that fully harnesses data's capabilities [3], Followed by:

Data Scientist: A data scientist is a person who solves business tasks using machine learning and data mining techniques, briefly speaking a data scientist is the one who understands the complete data lifecycle and keeps the understanding of all the processes involved.

Data Analyst / ML Engineers: The data analyst role implies proper data collection and interpretation activities. An analyst ensures that collected data is relevant and exhaustive while also interpreting the analytics results. Organization requires data analysts to have visualization skills to convert alienating numbers into tangible insights through graphics.

Business Analyst: A business analyst basically realizes a CAO's functions but on the operational level. This implies converting business expectations into data analysis. If your core data scientist lacks domain expertise, a business analyst bridges this gulf.

Data Architect: This is a future role, when the data scope widens, and Big Data capabilities need to be implemented in order to scale up with the requirements. This role is critical for working with large amounts of data However, if you don't solely rely on MLaaS cloud platforms, this role is critical to warehouse the data, define database architecture, centralize data, and ensure integrity across different sources. For large distributed systems and big datasets, the architect is also in charge of performance.

5. Conclusions

The outcome of the above discussion would be the modality in which the Data Science hub would be structured within a healthcare or research environment. A two staged approach, stating with a centralized group followed by Center of excellence. The Data Science Hub would be a group/department catering to all the analytical needs within the organization, addressing both on the clinical and non-clinical sides.

Centralized Group: This would allow the organization to use analytics/data Science in strategic tasks; where the data science team as a group, serves the whole organization in a variety of projects. As a Department the group can look forward to a long-term funding & hence can manage the resources in a better way. The only pitfall here is the risk of transforming an analytics function into a supporting one.

Center of Excellence (CoE): Moving away from the centralized approach the group should innovate and educate other departments, in-order to establish a center of excellence. Down the line the DS Hub would keep the centralized approach with a single corporate center, but data scientists will be allocated to different units in the organization. This would form a balanced structure – data and analytical activities are well coordinated, but experts won't be removed from business units, or rather added wherever necessary.

- [1] J. Hagerty, 2017 Planning Guide for Data and Analytics, Gartner, 2016.
- [2] J. Byrum, AI: The path to the intelligent enterprise, Analytics Magazine (2018), URL: http://analytics-magazine.org/ai-the-path-to-the-intelligent-enterprise/
- [3] M. Levy, Data Science for Healthcare: What Today's Leaders Must Know, *Health Catalyst* (2018), URL: https://www.healthcatalyst.com/data-science-healthcare-what-leaders-must-know

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190009

A Multi-Lingual Dictionary for Health Informatics as an International Cooperation Pillar

Arriel BENIS^{a,1}, Mihaela CRISAN-VIDA^b, Lăcrămioara STOICU-TIVADAR^b and Stefan DARMONI^{c,d} *a Faculty of Technology Management, Holon Institute of Technology, Israel b Department of Automation and Applied Informatics, University Politehnica Timisoara, Timisoara, Romania c Department of Biomedical Informatics, Rouen University Hospital, France a INSERM, Sorbonne University, University of Paris 13, LIMICS Laboratory of Medical Informatics and Knowledge Engineering in e-Health, France*

Abstract. Even if, English is generally used for international communication, it is essential to keep in mind that research is running at the local level by local teams generally communicating in their local/national language. Bearing these in mind, the "European Federation for Medical Informatics Working Group on Health Informatics for Inter-regional Cooperation" has as one of its objectives, to develop a multilingual dictionary focusing on Health Informatics as a collaboration tool allowing improving international and more particularly European cooperation. This dictionary is implemented as a part of HeTOP (Health Terminology/Ontology Portal) which is currently integrating more than 70 terminologies and ontologies in 32 languages. The EFMI Dictionary main aims are helping medical librarians, translators, academic and industrial researchers understanding better one another and supporting students self-learning.

Keywords. Dictionary, Europe, Medical Informatics, Interdisciplinary Communications, Intersectoral Collaboration

1. Introduction and Background

The scientific projects, particularly in the Health Sciences and Technologies field, are nowadays more and more multi-centric by involving partners with different capabilities, skills and expertise from different countries. Even if, English is generally used for international communication, it is essential to keep in mind that research is running at the local level by local teams generally communicating in their local/national language.

The European Federation for Medical Informatics Association (EFMI) is built around more than 30 member-countries affiliated societies [1]. One of the objectives of EFMI is encouraging academic and professional collaborations and cooperation between all its members for enhancing health and medical informatics research, education, knowledge and industrial transfer. In this context of endlessly mutable scientifically, technologically and regulatory environments, the EFMI Working Group (WG) "Health

¹ Corresponding Author, Arriel BENIS; E-mail: arrielb@hit.ac.il.

Informatics for Interregional Cooperation" (HIIC) is actively dealing with promoting exchange of information, knowledge and experiences between Health Informatics field actors all around Europe and its neighborhood. Moreover, EFMI WG HIIC has for aims

- 1. Improving and facilitating interactions between students and researchers across Europe and World-Wilde and
- 2. Disseminating their productions research results and documentation– across academics and practitioners [2, 3].

The 28 member-countries of the European Union has a population of more than 517 million inhabitants, and more that 750 million when including population of the geographical Europe and associated countries. Currently there are 24 official languages in the EU: Bulgarian, Croatian, Czech, Danish, Dutch, English, Estonian, Finnish, French, German, Greek, Hungarian, Irish, Italian, Latvian, Lithuanian, Maltese, Polish, Portuguese, Romanian, Slovak, Slovene, Spanish and Swedish [4]. Additionally, considering the EFMI member-societies which are not a part of EU additional languages must be considered from the EFMI WG HIIC perspective: Armenian, Bosnian, Hebrew, Icelandic, Luxembourgish, Macedonian, Norwegian, Romansh, Russian, Serbian, Turkish, and Ukrainian.

This language diversity is inducing number of research issues from the Management side and from the Informatics and Technology one. From a managerial perspective, international and multilingual working groups have to deal with misunderstandings due to mistranslations, and so any of the main five different steps of a project (initiation, planning, execution, performance monitoring, and delivery/closure) will be impacted and induce delays, overrides, bugs and major failures. From a technological and healthcare informatics point of view, developing a tool improving understanding and communication between non-English native speakers in a polyglot environment induce questions about usability and integration with existing terminologies, classifications and ontologies in health and engineering sciences.

Bearing these in mind, EFMI WG HIIC has one of its objectives, as a part of its continually evolving strategy, developing a multilingual dictionary focusing on Health Informatics as a collaboration tool improving international and more particularly European cooperation having as result less misunderstanding and mistranslation. This paper discloses the current status of the "EFMI languages Health Informatics Dictionary" (noted "EFMI dictionary") project.

2. Method and Results

The first step of the "EFMI dictionary" project has consisted in defining the list of the official languages of the EFMI member-countries. The second step has consisted in associating to each one of the 32 languages which have been previously identified the relevant ISO 639 code [5] in order to facilitate the next implementation steps.

Several initial main categories of terms have been defined such as "Computer-Hardware", "Computer-Software", "Biomedical Device", "System", "Programming", "Organization", "Journal", "Application field (Medical Specialty)", "Application field (Disease)". These categories will be refined, hierarchized and other will be added over time. They will support disambiguation for term having more than one meaning. The dictionary has been, as an initial step, populated by an initial set of 160 terms, and when relevant related acronym (e.g. International Conference on Informatics, Management and Technology in Healthcare, ICIMTH). This set has been established by the EFMI WG

HIIC members in English, French, Romanian, Hungarian, and Hebrew, which are the main languages they know at a native-speaker level. At a short term the dictionary will include at least 300 words translated in at least the five languages above. At the long term, it will comprise few hundreds of terms. Then, a simple automated translation process, using online multilingual machine translation service such as Google Translate supporting over 100 languages at various levels, has been implemented. The translation service was able to detect (with high accuracy) the language of the submitted term and then translate it to target languages according to the ISO 639 codes previously selected. As a result of this automated translation process a flat file has been generated and comprising 38 columns – the main category of the term, the term to translate, and the 32 translations –. However, as a part of the quality control point of this step, the EFMI WG HIIC members pointed out the lack of translated accuracy for at least half of the 32 languages due to the different levels of maturity of the translation capabilities of the service. Accordingly, human language speakers are and will be involved in the validation, improvement and expansion of the dictionary overtime.

Disseminating the information and the knowledge included into the "EFMI dictionary", a critical step was to define which kind of platform will be relevant for

- Hosting and maintaining it efficiently overtime,
- Supporting integration with other existing terminologies, classifications and ontologies in health, engineering sciences [6] and education [7].
- Providing to the end-user a user-friendly interface which will encourage using the dictionary as a day-to-day tool.

The HIIC workgroup interest focused on а cross lingual Health Terminology/Ontology Portal HeTOP (URL: www.hetop.eu), which contains more than 2 million health domain related concepts among more than 70 terminologies or ontologies (T/O) in 32 languages [8,9]. T/O are now widely used across the world for different kinds of applications and also generally specific to a domain (anatomy, rare diseases, medical devices, etc.) like the "EFMI dictionary". Moreover, with the same mindset, HeTOP is based cross-lingual since T/O are often available in several languages. Furthermore, HeTOP T/O' are mapped to each other and build a huge semantic network allowing the semantic interoperability. In the near future, this will allow improving and expending the EFMI dictionary. Accordingly, the flat file initially built with the first 160 terms only (without definition, at this time) and automated translation (partially validated by an EFMI WG HIIC specific language native-speaker) has been imported and integrated into HeTOP for empirically evaluating and validating

- Maintenance capabilities provided by HeTOP the EFMI dictionary,
- Usability of the dictionary in the HeTOP framework.

Figure 1 shows an example of HeTOP response for a query with the term "EFMI" which appears both in MesH as a drug and in the EFMI dictionary as the acronym of "European Federation for Medical Informatics".

3. Discussion, Conclusion and Perspectives

Developing inter-regional cooperation and collaboration is a challenging task which is now mainly based on the workspace virtualization and hugely using electronic tools. This is a great opportunity for developing and improving scientific, technical, educational partnerships, in health informatics and technologies (HIT) in the Europe and around the world. Managing HIT related projects requires a basic but right understanding of the terminology from the technological, informatics and engineering side and from the health sciences and medicine side. The EFMI Dictionary has for goal to provide a multilingual tool focusing specifically on the health informatics and technologies arena. Its integration into HeTOP which allows in the future crossing and expending the EFMI Dictionary, (semi)-automatically with other health related terminologies and ontologies. Furthermore, the EFMI Dictionary as a part of HeTOP benefits of an environment helping medical librarians, translators, academic and industrial researchers, understanding better one another, and supporting students self-learning [10].

and the second se				
 If the oblicant coards If De red saunds into defaillants In Themistalights adapting 17 Blue translated correction 				
The guide	European Federation for Medical Informatics (Finitery			
Creatives in 0.02 s.	Descriptive Maxwellery Bulativey PubMed/DecCOM/F Commun			
<pre>characteristics *Stypems - Surger Analanta (Marcalla Sprill set) - Surger Analanta (Marcalla Sprill set) *Stypems (Analanta (Marcalla Sprill set) *Stypems (Marcalla Sprill set) *Sty</pre>	Control Updage C			
	📷 Durbpika federada pre medicinalu internatiku 📷 Evrepsila Federadja za Nedstralia Internatika 🗰 Expensile diszberugia za industranye eduporanye za industranye diszberugia za industranye za internatika			
	🔚 Tahi Bilgin Vin Annya Pretermyara 🗮 Operakisa degepa de seguna el informanae 🗴 ESICIPENT Pretentes en program tacras tak			
	E948 Acomptin			
	- CP18			
	ISM Cangary			

Figure 1. Example of HeTOP response for a query with the term "EFMI"

- [1] G. Mihalas, J. Zvarova, C. Kulikowski, M. Ball, J. van Bemmel, A. Hasman, I. Masic, D. Whitehouse, B. Barber, History of medical informatics in Europe a short review by different approach, *Acta Informatica Medica* 22(1) (2014), 6-10.
- [2] European Federation of Medical Informatics, HIIC Health Informatics for Interregional Cooperation, https://www.efmi.org/workinggroups/hiic-health-informatics-for-interregional-cooperation
- [3] R. Cornet, L. Stoicu-Tivadar, A. Hörbst, C.L. Parra Calderón, S.K. Andersen, M. Hercigonja-Szekeres, Digital Healthcare Empowering Europeans, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 210 (2015).
- [4] Eurostat, European Commission, "Key figures on Europe." (2018).
- [5] International Organization for Standardization. ISO 639:1998(E/F), Code for the representation of names of languages (1988).
- [6] O.S. Lupşe, C.B. Chirila, L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Harnessing Ontologies to Improve Prescription in Pediatric Medicine, Decision Support Systems and Education, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 255 (2018), 97-101.
- [7] O.S. Lupşe, M. Crişan-Vida, L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Online Course Customization Using Ontologies, The 13th International Scientific Conference eLearning and Software for Education, Romania (2017).
- [8] S.J. Darmoni, S. Sakji, S. Pereira, T. Merabti, E. Prieur, M. Joubert, B. Thirion, Multiple terminologies in an health portal: automatic indexing and information retrieval, Artificial Intelligence in Medicine, Verona, Italy, July, *Lecture Notes in Computer Science* 5651 (2009), 255-259.
- [9] J. Grosjean, T. Merabti, N. Griffon, B. Dahamna, L.F. Soualmia, S.J. Darmoni, Multi-terminology crosslingual model to create the Health Terminology/Ontology Portal, AMIA Chicago, (2012).
- [10] A. Benis, Healthcare Informatics Project-Based Learning: An Example of a Technology Management Graduation Project Focusing on Veterinary Medicine, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 255 (2018), 267-271.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190010

Implementing an Oncology Decision Support System: The Case of the Brazilian National Cancer Institute

Antônio Augusto GONÇALVES^{a,b,1}, Sandro Luís Freire de CASTRO SILVA^a, Roberto Luiz SILVA SANTOS^a, Cezar CHENG^a, José Geraldo PEREIRA BARBOSA^b and Carlos Henrique Fernandes MARTINS^a ^a Instituto Nacional de Câncer - COAE Tecnologia da Informação, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil ^b Universidade Estácio de Sá - MADE, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Abstract. Brazil has a complex situation in cancer treatment services. The incidence rates have reached around 600.000 new cases each year. The development of an Oncology Decision Support System (ODSS) that support cancer treatment is amongst the priorities in the cancer control program. The purpose of this article is to study the ODSS deployment at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute. The implementation of this Clinical Decision Support System employed on the management, processing, and analysis of Brazilian cancer clinical data can be considered a disruptive innovation which changes the clinical decision-making process radically.

Keywords. Oncology Decision Support System, Clinical Decision Support System

1. Introduction

Nowadays, healthcare organizations are facing significant challenges due to demographic changes, technological advances, and scarce resources. The volume of data collected has surpassed the processing capacity of the clinical information systems. Additionally, this information comes from different sources and in diverse formats, which rise the effort to extract useful information. Managers understand that accurate and agile decision-making are vital to management efficiency [1].

Brazil has a problematic scenario in cancer treatment services. The rates of new cases have reached 600.000 each year. Cancer treatment is a long, multifaceted and risky process and involves different stakeholders. Therefore, the creation of an ICT environment that provides easy information access is critical to improve the clinical decision-making process and decrease the fragmentation of cancer patients' care [2].

Healthcare services have always been information intensive. Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS) are developed to deliver real-time information and have been often deployed to provide value to organizations. An essential function of a CDSS is to

¹ Corresponding Author, Antônio Augusto GONÇALVES, Instituto Nacional de Câncer - COAE Tecnologia da Informação, Rua do Resende 195, Rio de Janeiro, 20230-092, Brazil; E-mail: sandrofreire@gmail.com.

integrate data from a wide variety of internal and external sources, providing a suitable information framework for healthcare decision makers [3].

Innovations in Information Technology and Communication (ICT) will support healthcare executives to create the basis for improvements within the healthcare organization. Furthermore, allowing the physicians to communicate easily and quickly with patients and clinical staff will also rise patients' community' awareness of healthcare enhancements [4]. In oncology, physicians require electronic data collection of cancer-related information, in search of personalized care and to analyze real-time clinical research cases and, consequently, to improve the quality of oncologic patients' treatment. There is a need for specific software focusing on cancer treatment particular issues to make the system more useful and user-friendly to clinical staff [5].

Oncology Decision Support Systems (ODSS) are essential tools to ensure cancer treatment best practices, for improving patient security and facilitating research. In oncology, the growing volume of clinical data, the complexities of cancer care and the demand for real-time data underline the necessity for information systems to access, organize, and manage clinical oncology data [6].

This paper presents the implementation of an Oncology Decision Support System employed on the management, processing, and analysis of the Brazilian National Cancer Institute (INCA) data. The strategic importance of clinical data analytics has motivated INCA in adopting this CDSS for the medical decision-making processes.

2. Methodology

This study was developed through qualitative research to present a descriptive analysis of the Oncology Decision Support System deployment at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute and its adoption.

This single-case study aims to expand the knowledge of organizational phenomena, presenting an up-to-date description of the Clinical Decision Support System deployment, through an empirical inquiry. Data were collected through internal documents, participant observation, and semi-structured interviews. The data collection and analysis had been conducted over the last six months of 2018. The first author is the INCA's Chief Information Officer and associate professor at the postgraduate program in Business Administration that has been conducting this study.

3. INCA's Case Study

Cancer is possibly the most complex disease at present. Although the various types of cancer are well-established, the cases are never the same. A multidisciplinary approach is vital, with a healthcare team integrated and collaborating across the hospital. Oncology information environment can focus on cancer treatment specific data to make the system more useful for clinical staff. Nowadays, a Clinical Decision Support System (CDSS) that can manage patient treatment plans, treatment schedules, patient discharge summary, and results are extremely required. The CDSS can be used to control these data and encompass the information exchange between different departments and the overall healthcare organization.

The oncology information environment must be feed by all hospital information systems. The development of clinical information systems requires standardization for quick deployment and facility of integration. By using standards, it is possible to share the patient data easily. And this interoperability will lead to improved medical safety and professional effectiveness. The significant volume of cancer cases in Brazil reinforces that the access of information about this disease is vital for patients and physicians involved in cancer treatment what opens a prospect for implementing an oncology information framework at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute. As responsible for the prevention and control of cancer in Brazil, INCA develops actions, campaigns, and programs nationwide in compliance with Brazilian National Health Policy. The Oncology Decision Support System has allowed INCA clinics to move beyond basic automation and transformed medical data into aggregated, multidimensional information to support critical decision-making in the cancer treatment improving patients cure outcomes. The INCA' ODSS has been implemented to help physicians cope with the information explosion. The ODSS information architecture was structured in a platform with different modules for data analysis compounded by legacy systems (OLTP); INCA Data Warehouse; Clinical Research Data Marts; Data Mining and Visualization tools (Figure 1).



Figure 1. INCA ODSS Information Architecture.

The oncology information environment has developed using INCA's intranet that offers safe access to crucial information to improve cancer treatment. This solution has encompassed collaboration between physicians and managers, simplifying the clinician work. The ODSS has the potential to provide information to INCA physicians to make evidence-based decisions to offer more efficient and personalized treatment while reducing the costs of cancer care.

4. Conclusions

Oncology Decision Support Systems (ODSS) are meant to support physicians in their decision-making process. Although the implementation of ODSS is not trivial and requires careful planning and significant work from a multidisciplinary group, the benefits that can be achieved by better informing and guiding decisions are expected to outweigh the costs. By providing on-demand answers to relevant questions, these tools will be an essential factor for performance improvement in medical practices. The development of Clinical Decision Support Systems increases requirements for information systems integration and data quality. Principally when legacy systems use data entry that is made by nurses, physicians, and other clinical staff, facing quality problems concerning data completeness, accuracy, and update. An effective strategy for managing change in healthcare organizations is to only ultimately deploy the change after trialing its fit with medical tasks. It was the strategy used at INCA. The physicians who benefited were actively engaged in implementing new functionalities to support their clinical practice. The main benefits derived from the deployment of this Clinical Decision Support System for cancer disease information management, so far, are realtime knowledge access, patient's focus and satisfaction, reduction in treatment costs, enhanced knowledge transfer and diffusion of best healthcare practices and finally quickness of cancer diagnosis. This study gives practical lessons that can be followed by healthcare organizations that are planning to adopt ICT innovations into clinical practice. Oncology Decision Support Systems are dynamic systems that involve an ongoing improvement process to support their development to meet the frequent changing of cancer care protocols.

Acknowledgement

The first author would like to acknowledge the financial support of the research productivity program from Estacio de Sá University (UNESA).

- [1] J.P. Glaser, C. Salzberg, *The Strategic Application of Information Technology in Health Care Organizations*, Jossey Bass, San Francisco, 2011.
- [2] A.A. Gonçalves, C.H.F Martins, J.G.P. Barbosa, S. De Castro, C. Cheng, *Telemedicine Collaboration in Cancer Treatment: A Case Study at Brazilian National Cancer Institute*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science vol. 10898, 2018, 161-170.
- [3] R. Rohloff, Healthcare BI: A tool for meaningful analysis, *Healthcare Financial Management* 65(5) (2011), 100–108.
- [4] T. Mettler, V. Vimarlund, Understanding business intelligence in the context of healthcare, *Health Informatics Journal* 15(3) (2009), 254–264.
- [5] J. Goldwein, Using an electronic health record for research, *Journal of Oncology Practice* 3 (2007), 278–279.
- [6] G. Kanas, L. Morimoto, F. Mowat, C. O'Malley, J. Fryzek, R. Nordyke, Use of electronic medical records in oncology outcomes research, *Clinic economics and Outcomes Research* 2 (2010), 1–14.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190011

Mobile Phone Applications for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Appraisal and Perspectives

Markos NIKOLOPOULOS^{a,1}, Irene KARAMPELA^b, Georgios ANTONAKOS^b, Evangelos TZORTZIS^b, Theodora STRATIGOU^b, Marianna DIOMIDOUS^c and Maria DALAMAGA^b ^a Information Technology & Telecommunication Department, IPTO S.A., Greece ^b Department of Biological Chemistry, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

^c Faculty of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Abstract. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) has been associated with a plethora of maternal and neonatal comorbidities as well as adverse pregnancy outcomes. Evidence supports that identifying women with GDM and tight controlling of blood glucose (BG) levels are the fundamental steps for an effective management and prevention of risks associated with GDM. Recent advances in mobile phone applications have shown that they may offer personalized health care services, improve patient's care, independence and self-management as well as enhance patient's compliance to BG monitoring and treatment. Our aim was to identify and appraise main mobile phone applications that were evaluated by published clinical studies. Therefore, mobile applications that were accepted and deployed by healthcare providers, mainly hospitals, such as MobiGuide (Spain), Pregnant+ (Norway) and GDm-Health (UK) were reviewed herein.

Keywords. Diabetes mellitus, Gestational Diabetes, Mobile applications, Smart phone

1. Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), which affects almost 6% pregnant women, refers to either glucose intolerance or diabetes mellitus being mainly detected during pregnancy [1]. Worldwide, the prevalence of GDM has been increased mirroring the increased prevalence of obesity and obesity-associated metabolic disorders in general population. Pregnancy constitutes a complex physiologic and metabolic condition being considered as a biological glucose tolerance test to detect glucose intolerance or insulin resistance earlier [1]. GDM has been associated with a plethora of maternal and neonatal comorbidities as well as adverse consequences comprising hypertensive disorders, preeclampsia, preterm birth, shoulder dystocia, caesarean delivery, type 2 diabetes mellitus risk in mothers as well as neonatal hypoglycemia, hyperbilirubinemia,

¹ Corresponding author, Markos Nikolopoulos, Information Technology & Telecommunication Department, IPTO S.A., Greece; E-mail: mnikolopoulos@admie.gr

hypocalcemia, macrosomia, etc. Evidence supports that identifying women with GDM and tight controlling of blood glucose levels are the fundamental steps for an effective management and prevention of risks associated with GDM [1]. Recent advances in mobile phone applications have shown that they may offer personalized health care services, improve patient's care, independence and self-management as well as enhance patient's compliance to blood glucose (BG) monitoring and treatment [2].

There are many commercial mobile applications where measurements are registered in the mobile phone and then transmitted via email in CSV file format. This type of applications facilitates the transfer of the laboratory exams of the GDM patient to the consulting physician. Healthcare providers such as hospitals that treat a large number of GDM patients need applications that are accepted by the patients and are supported by published clinical trials that certify their effectiveness and validity. The aim of the present study was to identify and appraise major mobile phone applications that were tested and evaluated by clinical studies published in MEDLINE and Scopus databases.

2. Methods

40

The present study focused on mobile applications that were accepted and deployed by healthcare providers, mainly hospitals. In February 2019, we conducted a literature search in two bibliographic databases (MEDLINE and Scopus) in order to identify mobile phone applications for GDM evaluated in published clinical studies. The combined advanced search of Gestational Diabetes AND (Mobile applications OR Smart phone applications) retrieved a small number of publications (N=31), since this is a relative new field in the GDM research. [1-2]. Twelve studies were excluded as they dealt with metabolic syndrome and diabetes in general.

3. Results

Nineteen studies were included in our study. Most of them referred to 3 main mobile applications accepted by hospitals. The mobile applications examined briefly herein are: MobiGuide (Spain), Pregnant+ (Norway) and GDm-Health (UK).

MobiGuide: MobiGuide is a platform developed as an EU-funded project under the Seventh Framework Program [3]. MobiGuide Project started in 2011 and had a four-year duration. The aim of the project was to develop Decision Support Systems (DSS) to assist patients with chronic illnesses including diabetes. The system uses sensors positioned on the patient body to gather and monitor critical signals such as blood pressure or blood glucose. The data are transferred to the mobile phone where an application has been developed. A server receives the data from the smartphone via an Internet connection. These data feed the DSS algorithms that provide medical advice to patients and physicians based on Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) [4]. In the case where communication is lost between the smartphone and the server, some basic assistance is still provided taking advantage of the smartphone resources and increasing computational power. A smartphone User Interface has been developed for Google Android OS. Supported languages are Spanish, Catalan and English. The MobiGuide project has targeted two patient categories: women with GDM and chronic patients with atrial fibrillation. Patient data collected by the sensors are stored in the Personal Health Record (PHR) of the application and are integrated in a secure manner with the

Electronic Medical Record (EMR) kept by the Healthcare providers. There is a periodic synchronization of the necessary data between PHR and EMR. PHR gives the data that allow the DSS to provide personalized assistance to the patients. A small pilot study of 20 patients has shown: 1) the feasibility of the system; 2) the high degree of acceptance among patients and 3) the higher compliance of patients with BG monitoring compared to a group of 247 patients with similar clinical characteristics [4].

Pregnant+: Pregnant+ is a mobile application developed in Norway in order to assist women with GDM health problems [5]. The application has been developed for both Apple iOS and Google Android mobile phones. The protection of the patients' private data according to the Norwegian law was a first priority. For this reason, all data are kept in the mobile phone and are printed in a standard format when the patient wishes to consult her physician. Bluetooth was the protocol used for the communication of the BG metering devices with the mobile phone. Targeting multicultural female patient populations residing in Norway, the application which was initially supported only the Norwegian language was later translated into Somali and Urdu. Addressing security and privacy concerns, APIs (Applications Programming Interface) were developed for the communication between the mobile phone and the BG meters, since the BG meter device APIs involved the use of cloud services to temporarily store data. A number of studies have shown that the application contributed to the motivation of GDM patients for behavioral modification and the enhancement of their confidence regarding selfmanagement [5-6]. The main problems included reported feelings of obsession and frustration, technical difficulties in the Bluetooth communication between the metering device and the smartphone and a lack of support for health-care professionals [6].

GDm-Health: GDm-health is an application developed by engineers and physicians in the British NHS. It has won the Oxford University Innovation Award and has been licensed to Sensyne Health plc. [7]. It is commercially available since September 2018. It uses English language and comprises of two main systems: a mobile application available for Android and iOS smartphones and a web application that is used by physicians to monitor the patients' health data. Data are transmitted wirelessly via Bluetooth and Near Field Communication from the BG meter. The data are then securely transferred to the web application and are available to the clinicians. The system is approved by the NHS and is included in the NHS digital apps library. Data are stored in the NHS cloud using Health & Social Care Network connectivity. The system targets women with GDM or pregnant women with pre-existing diabetes. The use of GDm-Health results in automated personalized communication and medical advice between pregnant women and healthcare personnel. The mobile app can be freely downloaded. A number of publications and congress announcements have reported on the positive effects stemming from the use of this application. [2,7-8]. Interestingly, in a recent randomized controlled trial (RCT) of 203 women, those using the app reported higher satisfaction while preterm births and cesarean deliveries were fewer than in the nonintervention group. Nevertheless, the direct health care costs, overall glycemic control and neonatal and maternal outcomes were similar between groups [8].

4. Discussion and Conclusions

In this study, we presented mobile applications used for assisting pregnant women with GDM by health care providers, published in MEDLINE and Scopus. The three applications presented herein, offer different approaches in the support of the patients.

Mobile App	Key features	Communication with clinicians	Commercial availability
MobiGuide	DSS algorithms Part of a bigger suite EU project	Yes	N/A
Pregnant +	Smartphone based Focused on data security	No	N/A
GDm-Health	Mobile app and web-based application, NHS approved	Yes (via NHS Cloud)	Yes

Table 1. Main features of the applications and the respective differences

Furthermore, there is also a limited number of other mobile applications in MEDLINE with very few data, addressing GDM patient's needs by research teams in Ireland, South Korea, Switzerland and China [2, 9]. Finally, a mobile application called M[☉]ther was developed at the CSIRO's Australian e-Health Research Centre and tested at Redland Hospital in Queensland, Australia [10]. M[☉]ther collects data via the mobile phone and uploads them to the clinician portal. No MEDLINE or Scopus published study concerning M[☉]ther has been found so far.

In conclusion, digital BG monitoring is a practical and useful methodology to face the global growing burden of GDM. More robust, clinical and economic studies, particularly RCTs, are warranted to critically evaluate the effectiveness of mobile applications in the self-management of GDM as well as in the prevention of adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes associated with GDM.

- L.R. Mack, P.G. Tomich, Gestational Diabetes: Diagnosis, Classification, and Clinical Care, Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 44 (2017), 207-217.
- [2] Q. Chen, E.T. Carbone, Functionality, Implementation, Impact, and the Role of Health Literacy in Mobile Phone Apps for Gestational Diabetes: Scoping Review, *JMIR Diabetes* 2 (2017), e: 25.
- [3] G. García-Sáez, M. Rigla, I. Martínez-Sarriegui, E. Shalom, M. Peleg, T. Broens, et al, Patient-oriented computerized clinical guidelines for mobile decision support in gestational diabetes, *J Diabetes Sci Technol* 8 (2014), 238-246.
- [4] M. Rigla, I. Martínez-Sarriegui, G. García-Sáez, P. Belen, M.E. Hernando, Gestational Diabetes Management Using Smart Mobile Telemedicine, *J Diabetes Sci Technol* 12 (2018), 260–264.
- [5] L.M. Garnweidner-Holme, I. Borgen, I. Garitano, J. Noll, M. Lukasse, Designing and developing a mobile smartphone application for women with gestational diabetes mellitus followed-up at diabetes outpatient clinics in Norway, *Healthcare (Basel)* **3** (2015), 310-323.
- [6] J.B. Skar, L.M. Garnweidner-Holme, M. Lukasse, L Terragni, Women's experiences with using a smartphone app (the Pregnant+ app) to manage gestational diabetes mellitus in a randomised controlled trial, *Midwifery* 58 (2018), 102-108.
- [7] L. Mackillop, L. Loerup, K. Bartlett, A. Farmer, O.J. Gibson, J.E. Hirst, et al, Development of a real-time smartphone solution for the management of women with or at high risk of gestational diabetes, *J Diabetes Sci Technol* 8 (2014), 1105-1114.
- [8] L. Mackillop, J.E. Hirst, K.J. Bartlett, J.S. Birks, L. Clifton, A.J. Farmer, et al, Comparing the Efficacy of a Mobile Phone-Based Blood Glucose Management System With Standard Clinic Care in Women With Gestational Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial, *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 6 (2018), e71.
- [9] P. Yang, W. Lo, Z.L. He, X.M. Xiao, Medical nutrition treatment of women with gestational diabetes mellitus by a telemedicine system based on smartphones, *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 44 (2018), 1228-1234.
- [10] M^other App [Online] <u>https://aehrc.com/digital-platform-for-gestational-diabetes/</u> (accessed on May 4, 2019)

Revisiting the Skills of a Healthcare Data Scientist as a Field Expert

Mansoor Ali BAIG^{a,b,1} and Somayah J. ALZAHRANI^{a,b}

^a King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ^b Department of Biostatistics Epidemiology & Scientific Computing, KFSHRC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

> Abstract. The buzz words 'Data Science' and 'Data Scientist' are trending high in this age of information. The boundaries are still undefined, the exact skill sets are unclear, and the job description is still murky. This is an attempt to identify some mandatory or desired skills based on what data science demands from a data scientist. A very generic job description for a data scientist is 'A person who can perform advanced analytics on the institutional data", this gives a very unclear picture to the decision maker to identify the right resources within their data science activity. Practically the data scientist should be the one who can understand and moreover be involved with the data life cycle starting from inception > collection > operation > extraction > observation > preparation > description > prediction > prescription > Archival. Each of these aspects of data has a science behind it. An old team 'Jack of all trades' briefly defines this job description. A good data scientist essentially needs to be a good programmer, a good business/system/data analyst, a good statistician, one who can seamlessly visualize data, and is empowered with a vision to use and apply the necessary tools, techniques and methodologies in a scientific and applicable realistic way. Healthcare/Research environment is a complicated vertical when it comes to data, hence having domain knowledge is almost critical, complying with aspects of data governance such as patient privacy, consent, ethics etc.

> Keywords. Data Scientist, Data Management, Machine Learning, Data Science, Advanced Analytics, Job description, Data science skills

1. Background and Introduction

Data science is a very broad term, and moreover a new field, every vertical has its own definition and the corresponding role of a data scientist within that domain. In this paper we will try to come up with a definition and a job description of a healthcare data scientist. Generally, Data Science refers to the collective processes, concepts, theories, tools and technologies that enable the review, extraction, preparation, analysis of historical and real-time data to gain valuable knowledge and insights. Data is only a provision within the data science domain, and data science is about the way of exploring your data. Hypothesis based thinking in data science is the key methodology that needs to be followed in order to guarantee success. The primary task for any data science project is to generate the necessary dataset that needs to be investigated to maximize quality, value and use it as a knowledge management tool that could be applied on different domains for development [1]. The second most important task is to find co-relations within the

¹ Corresponding Author, Mansoor Ali BAIG; E-mail: mansoorbaig@hotmail.com

entities of this data set, which itself would provide a dissipated view of many feasible hypothesis, which the data scientist need to analyze to find the best hypothesis, technically various data subsets are generated based on the hypothesis, on which any machine learning (ML) engineer would be able to run various ML algorithms necessary to carry out further investigations. As far as data storage and sourcing is concerned, it is also an important aspect of data science, especially if its Big Data, otherwise data is generally made available through the data warehouse or various other providers within the setup. As a data scientist, one must have a deep understanding of the data on an organizational level; hence the domain knowledge is preferable if not essential. On the contrary, within the healthcare/clinical research environment domain knowledge plays a critical role as its not only the data, it is the terminologies/ontology, clinical standards, coding systems, knowledge of research process, patient privacy, ethical considerations, standard clinical systems, registries, genomic references etc. The aim of this paper is to define the role of a 'health care data scientist' by revisiting the skills and expertise needed to qualify a data scientist enough to suggest justified and strong hypothesis which can be further carried out and investigated upon.

2. Methodology

Working with the Biostatistics, Epidemiology and Scientific Computing Department in King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre has been a direct exposure to clinical and non-clinical data to provide outstanding statistical and analytical support to clinical, applied, translational, and biomedical researchers while advancing the reputation, research capacity, and commitment of the organization to advance the understanding, diagnosis, treatment, cure and prevention of human diseases. Nonetheless, it brought a realization that no standard job description within the region/organization was defined or available to refer to. Based on the essentials of data science aspects listed down in the introduction, these aspects would be mapped with the functions to come up with a skill set and a definite job description for a Healthcare Data Scientist. Moreover, the job description can be flexible based on the exact requirements for the institution and the analytical platforms being used within the institution.

3. Functions

In a healthcare setup a data scientist typically needs to address or carry out the functions such as data management general statistics, biostatistics, feature selection, hypothesis design, data visualization, problem-solving, ML and artificial intelligence (AI). Further we would define the required skill set for each function.

3.1. Domain Knowledge

In a healthcare environment, it is necessary for a data scientist to have adequate domain knowledge, if not the expertise. This covers the clinical research terminology and correlation between the domain entities in order to come up with strong hypothesis and reflective analysis.

3.2. Data Management

It is the most critical function as the data output of this function forms the foundation on the investigation that needs to be carried out based either on a hypothesis or the data. The idiom "Garbage-in: Garbage out" well support the above discussion, hence infusion of healthy sourced data forms the foundation of a data science project. This function covers the storage, sourcing, extraction, and preparation aspects of the data management. while enabling the Big Data capabilities the data management functions and skills would be a mandatory requirement for the job description.

Skill Sets and Tools/Platforms: SQL Skill, Handling an RDBMS system, Data extraction techniques, Data Conversion techniques, Data Transformation Techniques, Data Cleansing Techniques, Data warehousing knowledge. Experience with MS Excel, any RDBMS such as MS SqlServer or Oracle or mySQL, ProstGres etc., Scripting with python, R or any scripting language, tools such as rapidminer. Enabling Big Data capabilities would further require add on skills covering HADOOP components like Hive, Pig, HDFS, HBase, MapReduce, etc. NoSQL databases such as Couchbase, MongoDB, Cassandra etc., Apache Spark which is more straightforward and quicker alternative for complex technology like MapReduce.

3.3. General Statistics/Biostatistics

When it comes to statistics, a biostatistician stands out a greater chance of qualifying compared with a general statistician as in a healthcare setup the data science project would, grossly be scientific and health related in nature.

Skill Sets and Tools/Platforms: General Descriptive statistics / Analytics, designing hypothesis, validating hypothesis, identifying co-relations between various data entities, identify the significance of the data elements based on the hypothesis, should be able to apply mathematical & Statistical methods on the data whenever necessary. A Biostatistician would mostly utilize the power of SAS / SAS VA, JMP, JMP Genomics, SPSS, MATLAB and other statistical tools to carry out the necessary functions.

3.4. Analytics, Data Visualization

A good data scientist can formulate scientific hypotheses in such a way that disproving them lead to valuable conclusions that could be translated and put into action [2]. The output of this function contributes to the presentation layer of any analytical project, hence needs to be highly attractive, where the management/administration would be able to talk to the data in a very interactive manner, and enables decision makers to see analytics presented visually, so they can grasp difficult concepts or identify new patterns [3]. Organization requires data analysts to have visualization skills to convert alienating numbers into tangible insights through graphics.

Skill Sets and Tools/Platforms: High end analytical skills, generate visually attractive analytical output based on the dataset made available, juggling with facts, figures, and number crunching, Working with Geo-Spatial Data, proficiency with software tools etc. This function can be performed optimally by use of software tools such as SAS VA, Tableau, Microsoft Power BI, MicroStrategy, Alteryx, Python, R, MATLAB, Kibana, IBM Watson Analytics etc.

3.5. Machine Learning (ML) and AI

This function is dedicated to building machine learning models, which are basically statistical models that can be used to extract patterns from data. Mostly handles the predictive part of any analytical project. Using various ML algorithms prediction can be made for various data entities based on the available data and learning method used (Supervised, unsupervised or reinforced). Further the implementation of tried and tested, machine learning models would contribute to AI, which covers robust decision making. Based on its nature, the ML algorithms are grossly categorized as Regression Algorithms, Bayesian Algorithms, Clustering Algorithms, Decision Tree Algorithms, and Artificial Neural Network Algorithms. This function requires understanding of modern data science methods and familiarity with statistical or machine learning techniques [4].

Skill Sets and Tools/Platforms: An ideal machine learning engineer would be the one who is an excellent programmer, proficient in running various ML algorithms on the data provided in the most optimal way, the most common algorithms would cover Linear Regression, Logistic Regression, Decision Tree, SVM, Naive Bayes, kNN,K-Means, Random Forest, Dimensionality Reduction Algorithms like PCA/PCR(mostly used for feature selection), Clustering Algorithms and Gradient Boosting algorithms (GBM, XGBoost, LightGBM.. etc.). Proficiency in R or Python is desirable, SAS, MATLAB, Tensorflow, Keras, KNIME, RapidMiner etc.

4. Conclusions

Most critical data science functions, skills, software tools and platforms have been reviewed and suggested corresponding to a healthcare and research setup. Necessary job description can be abstracted by mapping the required functions and skills based on the software tools/platforms available within the organization. An ideal Data Scientist needs to carry the skills of a good programmer, data architect, statistician, data analyst, business analyst, data visualization expert and a Machine Learning engineer in order to harness the growth by developing and maintaining immense data assets from the real health experiences of individuals [4,5]. There are certain limitations to the study, as it is based on the experience gained with biostatistics, analytics and scientific computing department for over a period of 20 years, where are ML and AI are being incubated within the institutions, hence functions and skills are defined as per the study based on literature and the knowledge base.

References

[1] M. Baptista, J.B. Vasconcelos, A. Roche, R. Silva, J.V. Carvalho, H.G. Jardim, A. Quintal, The Impact of Perioperative Data Science in Hospital Knowledge Management, *J Med Syst.* **43**(2) (2019), 41. doi: 10.1007/s10916-019-1162-3.

[2] C. Euler, Hypothesis Driven Thinking in Data Science, Capgemini - Analytics blog (2017).

URL: https://www.capgemini.com/gb-en/2017/01/hypothesis-driven-thinking-in-data-science/

- [3] SAS, Data Visualization: What It Is and Why It Matters (2018). URL:
- https://www.sas.com/en_sa/insights/big-data/data-visualization.html

[4] B. Evans and HM. Kurmholz, People-powered Data Collaboratives: Fueling Data Science with The Health-related Experience of Individuals, *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* 26(2) (2019), 159-161. doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy159.
 [5] The University of Sydney, Job Description for Data Science research engineers.

URL: http://sydney.edu.au/documents/research/datascience-info-description.pdf

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190013

Nurses Acceptance of Automated Medication Dispensing Cabinets

Tarek ELKADY^{a,1}, Angie REES^b and Mohamed KHALIFA^c

 ^a King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Center, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
 ^b School of Health and Related Research, The University of Sheffield, UK
 ^c Centre for Health Informatics, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

Abstract. The use of automated dispensing cabinets (ADCs) to enhance medication processes in hospitals has been increasing recently. Studies evaluated the effects of this technology on patient safety, workflow efficiency and cost reduction. To evaluate factors affecting nurses' attitudes and acceptance of using ADCs, an online survey, including seven categories with closed-ended questions and one open-ended question, was developed based on technology acceptance model and instruments used in previous studies. Response rate was 29.4% of 1,062 nurses at King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness to enhance control systems and training have positive effects on improving nurses' attitudes and increasing acceptance of using ADCs. Perceived risks had negative effects. The qualitative analysis of the open-ended responses supported these results and helped to identify many areas for improvement, especially in addressing perceived risks associated with the use of this technology.

Keywords. Acceptance, Automated Dispensing Cabinets, Hospitals, Nurses.

1. Introduction

Technology and automation in pharmacy practice are increasingly used to improve patient safety, enhance workflow efficiency and reduce healthcare costs [1]. The medication processes in hospital settings consist of three main phases; ordering, dispensing, and administration. One of the automation technologies that are widely used is the automated dispensing cabinets (ADCs) [2]. Based on a survey by the American Society of Health System Pharmacists; 97% of hospitals in USA are using ADCs [3]. In the UK, there has been a rapid adoption of pharmacy automation solutions over the past 15 years [4]. This was motivated by an audit commission report recommending the use of automation technology is still limited worldwide due to the high costs, where an ADCs implementation in a medium to a large hospital would cost over one million US dollars [1]. ADCs consist of drawers that contain secured storage compartments, each is used for a single type of medications. Access to the cabinets is controlled through finger prints or passwords. Restocking of medications is controlled by bar code technology which prevents errors in the

¹ Corresponding Author, Tarek ELKADY; E-mail: telkady@kfshrc.edu.sa

replenishment process [6]. Nurses are the main healthcare professionals who use the ADCs daily and hence they have a key role in improving medications safety [7]. Despite the high costs and intensive work needed to implement ADCs, benefits could be limited because of the negative effects associated with lack of staff acceptance and compliance with the new workflow. The attitudes of healthcare staff towards technology are important factors in determining their acceptance and efficient use [8]. Successful implementation of health technology depends not only on designing or purchasing good quality applications, but mainly on the factors that lead end users to accept this technology [9]. In December 2013, King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia (KFSHRC) started a project to install 31 ADCs in all inpatient wards. The project was completed in June 2014. This research aims at identifying critical factors that affect nurses' acceptance and attitude towards the implementation of ADCs at KFSHRC. The main objective of this research is to support the successful implementation of ADCs at this tertiary healthcare organization.

2. Methods

This study followed mixed methods approach and was initially based on two theoretical backgrounds. The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM); determining the factors that affect users' acceptance of information technology [10], and the Added Variables approach; adding more external variables to the original TAM, where the additional variables should be developed in the context of healthcare IT and specific systems evaluated [9]. A questionnaire was adapted from two previous studies discussing the attitude of nurses and their acceptance of e-prescriptions and automated medication storage and distribution systems [11,12]. The survey contained seven categories of closed-ended questions and one open-ended question. The constructs adapted include Perceived Usefulness (PU), Perceived Ease of Use (PEU), Perceived Usefulness to enhance Control systems (PUC), Training (T), Perceived Risks (PR), Experience Level (EL), Attitude toward using (A). Demographic questions included gender, age group, hospital unit, job role, and self-rated computer knowledge, and an introduction page with information on the study was included. The questionnaire was developed using Survey Monkey (www.surveymonkey.com) and was evaluated by three staff members, holding master degrees in health informatics. As part of a master's degree in health informatics, by the first author, at the University of Sheffield, UK, and implemented at KFSHRC, the research was approved on ethics background by both the University of Sheffield and KFSHRC. The study sample included all 1,062 hospital nurses who have access to ADCs and received the survey link via email. During the survey period of two months, seven reminders were sent to nurses in addition to one email to each head nurse to encourage nurses to participate in the survey. Data was analyzed using simple linear regression analysis in SPSS software. Thematic content analysis of the responses to the open-ended question using coding down technique.

3. Results

We received 312 valid responses from 27 nursing sections with a response rate of 29.4%. Despite that the number of responses was large, the response rate is still considered low, mainly due to the busy nature of nurses' work. Most respondents were

in the (30-39) age group (39.7%) and with Staff Nurse I job role (88.5%). Most of the respondents rated their computer knowledge as very good (46.5%). Level of experience with the use of electronic health records (EHRs) and ADCs was generally low. Most respondents reported less than five years of experience in both areas. Questions reliability was tested using the Cronbach's alpha coefficient, which showed acceptable levels for all the seven categories of questions. Correlation and consistency of variation between items in each construct was further tested using principal component analysis. The quantitative analysis showed, with a P<0.001, that Perceived Ease of Use is a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness and Attitude toward using ADCs. Perceived Usefulness is a significant predictor of Attitude toward using ADCs. Perceived Usefulness to enhance Control systems is a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness and Attitude toward using ADCs. Perceived Risks is a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use. Training is a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use. On the other hand, with a P >=0.05, Experience Level with EHRs is neither a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness nor Perceived Ease of Use. The Experience Level with ADCs is also neither a significant predictor of Perceived Usefulness nor Perceived Ease of Use.

A total of 144 open-ended responses were received, answering the question "In your opinion what are the advantages and disadvantages associated with the use of ADCs?". Analysis showed that 28 responses were positive, 42 were negative, 66 were mixed, and 8 were invalid. Under Perceived Usefulness; ADCs helped saving time (n=33), enhanced patient safety (n=14), improved medications availability (n=11), increased efficiency (n=5), had some usefulness in emergency cases (n=5) and helped organizing work (n=3). On the other hand, some medications were unavailable (n=20), they were time consuming (n=13), and one respondent thought ADCs are not useful (n=1). Under Perceived Ease of Use; ADCs were easy to use (n=25), convenient (n=7), accurate (n=5), reliable (n=3), and user friendly (n=1). One respondent reported ADCs added more work restrictions (n=1). Under Perceived Usefulness to enhance Control systems; ADCs enhanced medication error control (n=26), improved inventory control (n=7), and improved control of narcotic medications (n=7). On the other hand, some respondents reported that ADCs lead to poor inventory control (n=4), and poor control over narcotic medications (n=4). Under Training category; only one negative response was identified which described training as inadequate. Under Perceived Risks; using ADCs is not suitable in emergency cases (n=33), had frequent hardware failures (n=22), frequent system failure (n=19), delayed urgent medication orders (n=16), delayed medications restocking (n=1), showed problems in storing liquid narcotic medications (n=1), medications restock errors (n=1), poor computer knowledge (n=1), system errors (n=1), and that the number of ADC machines in the unit is not enough (n=1).

4. Discussion and Conclusion

In agreement with other recently published research, nurses' acceptance of the use of ADCs is one of the main factors that lead to successful implementation of this technology in healthcare institutions [13,14]. Our research aimed to identify the factors that drive nurses' acceptance towards ADCs use and the factors that prevent this acceptance. The findings showed that perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness to enhance control systems and training were all positively affecting nurses' attitudes and acceptance of using ADCs. The findings also showed

that perceived risks are negatively affecting nurses' acceptance of ADCs use. Perceived usefulness is the most influencing factor on nurses' attitudes towards ADCs use and training is the most influencing factor on perceived usefulness. This indicates that healthcare management and ADCs implementation teams should focus on the usefulness and the benefits of this technology in the training programs in order to maximize nurses' acceptance and to ensure smooth and successful implementation. Perceived risks associated with the use of ADCs is a major factor that prevents nurses' acceptance of this technology. Hospital management and implementation teams should engage nurses in all phases of the implementation plan, get their feedback as end users on the perceived risks and work with them in order to mitigate the effects of these risks on their work and on patients' care. This research helped in identifying some of the perceived risks that were reported in the survey. The researchers and the implementation team at KFSHRC will work with nursing management and end users to find appropriate solutions to the reported issues. This research was done based on TAM theory. The findings showed the validity of this theory in predicting factors that affect nurses' attitudes and acceptance of using ADCs. However, additional variables were added to the original theory variables in order to create a model that can fit with the research setting specifically and healthcare IT context in general.

- [1] W.N. Kelly, Pharmacy: what it is and how it works. Routledge (2018).
- [2] C. Chapuis, M. Roustit, G. Bal, C. Schwebel, P. Pansu, S. David-Tchouda, J.L. Bosson, Automated drug dispensing system reduces medication errors in an intensive care setting, *Critical care medicine* 38 (12) (2010), 2275-2281.
- [3] C.A. Pedersen, P.J. Schneider, D.J. Scheckelhoff, ASHP national survey of pharmacy practice in hospital settings: dispensing and administration—2014, *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy* 72 (13) (2015), 1119-1137.
- [4] S. Goundrey-Smith, Information Technology in Pharmacy: An Integrated Approach. Springer Science & Business Media (2012).
- [5] Audit Commission for Local Authorities in England and Wales, A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals, Audit Commission for Local Authorities in England and Wales (2001).
- [6] M. Stephens, Hospital pharmacy. Pharmaceutical Press (2011).
- [7] M. Mandrack, M.R. Cohen, J. Featherling, L. Gellner, K. Judd, P. C. Kienle T. Vanderveen, Nursing best practices using automated dispensing cabinets: nurses' key role in improving medication safety, *Medsurg Nursing* 21 (3) (2012), 134-141.
- [8] R. Ward, C. Stevens, P. Brentnall, J. Briddon, The attitudes of health care staff to information technology: a comprehensive review of the research literature, *Health Information & Libraries Journal* 25 (2) (2008), 81-97.
- [9] R.J. Holden, B.T. Karsh, The technology acceptance model: its past and its future in health care, *Journal* of biomedical informatics **43** (1) (2010), 159-172.
- [10] F.D. Davis, Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology, MIS quarterly (1989) 319-340.
- [11] T. Escobar-Rodríguez, P. Monge-Lozano, M.M. Romero-Alonso, Acceptance of e-prescriptions and automated medication-management systems in hospitals: An extension of the technology acceptance model, *Journal of Information Systems* 26 (1) (2012), 77-96.
- [12] T. Escobar-Rodriguez & M.M. Romero-alonso, Modeling nurses' attitude toward using automated unitbased medication storage and distribution systems: an extension of the technology acceptance model, *CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing* **31** (5) (2013), 235-243.
- [13] M. Zaidan, F. Rustom, N. Kassem, S. Al Yafei, L. Peters & M.I.M. Ibrahim, Nurses' perceptions of and satisfaction with the use of automated dispensing cabinets at the Heart and Cancer Centers in Qatar: a cross-sectional study. BMC nursing, 15 (1) (2016), 4.
- [14] M. Marefat, Inventory improvement and optimization of pharmacy Automated Dispensing Cabinet (ADC) (2018).

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190014

Investigating Ethical, Legal, and Socio-Technical Barriers of Medical Data Donation and Developing a Concept to Address Them – A Research Protocol

Felix HOLL ^{a,b,c,1}, Marina FOTTELER^a, Stefan MÜLLER-MIELITZ^d and Walter SWOBODA^a ^aNeu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Neu-Ulm, Germany ^bUniversity of California, San Francisco, USA ^cUniversity of Munich, Germany ^dIEKF GmbH, Ibbenbüren, Germany

Abstract. Medical data are being generated in large quantities. However, these data are rarely used beyond their primary purpose. Big data methods to medical data offer the opportunity to transform healthcare. The healthcare industry has been a lot less successful than other industries in applying these new tools. Main reasons are privacy concerns and the fact that medical data in Germany are scattered across institutions. The method of data donation can offer a solution. The first aim of the proposed Medical Data Donation Enabler (MADE) project is to investigate ethical, legal and socio-technical barriers to data donation. The second aim is to develop a concept of a medical data donation process model that addresses the barriers by providing a data donation process model. The process model concept created through MADE could be provided for this purpose.

Keywords. Data donation, secondary data use, big data, process development

1. Introduction

Health data are being generated in significant quantities by personal health devices, healthcare systems as part of the healthcare delivery process, through public health measures and clinical trials and other research projects. However, these data are rarely used beyond their primary purpose.

Secondary use of health data is still scarce compared to the amount of health data that are being collected. The application of big data methods to health data offers the opportunity to transform healthcare [1]. However, the healthcare industry has been a lot less successful than other industries in applying these new tools. Main reasons for this are privacy concerns and the fact that medical data are scattered across institutions [2]. There are significant initiatives to foster the secondary use of clinical data. Examples are the Medical Informatics Initiative (MII) in Germany or at the University of California Medical Centers [3,4]. However, these initiatives are predominantly tailored for the

¹ Corresponding Author, Felix Holl, DigiHealth, Neu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Wileystr. 1, 89231 Neu-Ulm, Germany; E-Mail: felix.holl@hs-neu-ulm.de

extraction of data from large information systems. Legal, ethical and socio-technical barriers for data donation are high and significantly limit data from individuals, smaller systems or projects to be donated for secondary use by researchers. The most prominent barriers are ethical and legal concerns and uncertainty. For these reasons, scholars are arguing for medical data donation post mortem [5]. Patients should be encouraged to donate their medical data to research after their death, similar to posthumous organ donation.

The proposed project aims to investigate the ethical and legal barriers to medical data donation for research. Solutions to those barriers will be developed and included in an improved concept of a data donation process model. The unique aspect of the medical data donation process is that it will help to make medical data available for research, which is currently not accessible. These datasets are either not included in the larger databases targeted by secondary data use initiatives like MII or are entirely in the hand of patients (e.g., storage in mobile devices such as smartphones). As a result, these valuable medical data are currently not utilized for secondary data analysis. However, coming from a vast array of sources, the datasets can be highly relevant for research Examples are outpatient facilities, personal medical data on mobile devices or small-scale research studies containing participants with insightful medical histories. Thus, the concept of data donation contributes significantly to the completion of secondary medical records and thus prevents a possible evaluation bias due to data loss.

On the other hand, there are prerequisites for the data donation that affect both ethical and procedural aspects. A concept for implementation can also be a useful template for other projects in the healthcare sector. Ensuring transparency in the application of such methods has a positive impact on public opinion and can help form a basis for data donations and similar projects.

The result of the proposed project, a concept of a medical data donation process, could be used as a blueprint by initiatives such as MII to attempt to incorporate medical data from smaller data sources into their pool of data.

1.1. Scientific Objectives

- Development of the concept of a process model for medical data donation by smalland mid-sized healthcare facilities, research projects and mobile devices of patients (Medical data donation enabler: MADE)
- 2) Identification of ethical, privacy-related and socio-technical barriers to medical data donation within the MADE process.
- Development of social and technical solution resolving the barriers identified in objective two.
- 4) Development of a concept for the MADE 2.0 process model including the solutions identified in objective three to enable medical data donation by small- and mid-sized hospitals and research projects that adhere to ethical and privacy standards.

The project attempts to address the research objectives above using the following research questions:

- What are ethical, privacy-related and socio-technical issues in the data donation process by small- and mid-sized healthcare facilities, research projects and patients' smartphones?
- What are solutions to the issues identified and how can they be addressed in the concept of a data donation process model?

2. Methodology

The methodological approach can be divided into two phases: preparation and development/refinement of the data donation process concept.

The preparatory stage begins with a kickoff meeting to determine the timeline and align all project partners. A literature review followed by expert interviews aims to pave the way for the concept development by providing a theoretical basis on possible processrelated and ethical challenges. The results of the initial data collection will be summarized and presented to the team during a workshop and shared with a broader scientific audience at a conference.



Figure 1. Process of concept development (based on the empirical cycle [6])

Building upon the results from phase one, step two is dedicated to the development and refinement of the final concept. The core of this is a two-step iterative cyclic procedure that is derived from the empirical cycle (Figure 1) which is used to answer questions of scientific knowledge [6]. The first task is the development of a process model based on the knowledge gained in the preparatory phase. The process will be modeled using the graphical notation standard BPMN (Business Process Model and Notation) and finalized in accordance with all project partners during a joint workshop. Comparable to the process of observation in the empirical cycle, this model forms the basis for the next step, induction, i.e., the development of hypotheses. In this project, the model will be analyzed to identify potential challenges related to the ELSA (Ethical, legal and social aspects) criteria. The next step, deduction, refers to the development of answers for the identified possible issues. Deduction includes a literature review on process feasibility, privacy and ethical issues of the process model to identify solutions for the challenges listed in the previous step. Subsequent expert interviews will help to verify the validity of these potential solutions. Interviews will be conducted with experts from various areas such as healthcare providers, health law, health ethics, medical informatics, and health policymakers. In the last phase, the results will be summarized, discussed and documented to set the stage for the process refinement phase two. Theories will be formulated on how the previous model can be optimized. The results and knowledge obtained will again be shared at a conference also to gain valuable input from the attending experts.

The process refinement cycle will be repeated a second time to adjust, improve and finalize the previous model. The data collection will be adjusted according to the lessons

learned in the first round. For the literature review, this means the use of new databases or keywords to identify further existing, useful research. If advisable, the selection of interview partners will also be revised.

The project will seek a broad dissemination strategy from the beginning to add input from as many stakeholders outside the project consortium as possible early on and be able to reach a broad audience with the results. Project results are aimed at the following stakeholders: patients, healthcare providers, health insurance companies, researchers, policymakers, and research funders.

The presentation of this research protocol serves the purpose of making relevant stakeholders aware of the upcoming work. Throughout the process development phase, preliminary results will be presented at scientific conferences. Publications in openaccess journals about preliminary results of subtopics are planned. Through the engagement of project team members in specialized working groups, further dissemination of early results and external input will be fostered.

The final result of the project, the improved concept for a medical data donation process, will be made available to the scientific community through a flagship publication and will be presented at major international conferences to ensure broad dissemination of the findings.

The consortium works together with the German technology and methods network for medical research (TMF), which offers another excellent platform for dissemination of project results as it brings together most relevant stakeholders regarding the secondary use of medical data in Germany. TMF's existing infrastructure is dedicated to sustainable dissemination of results obtained through storage on the TMF portal server and dissemination to workgroup sessions and events. Our collaboration with the TMF ensures that the results of the project to be disseminated directly to the participants of the MI initiative and improves the chances of uptake of the concept.

- Z. Obermeyer, E.J. Emanuel, Predicting the Future Big Data, Machine Learning, and Clinical Medicine, N Engl J Med 375(13) (2011), 1216–1219.
- [2] G.M. Weber, K.D. Mandl, I.S. Kohane, Finding the missing link for big biomedical data, JAMA 311 (24) (2014), 2479–2480.
- [3] Medical Informatics Initiative [Online]. Available: https://www.medizininformatik-initiative.de/en/start. [Accessed: 19-Mar-2019].
- [4] Big Data, Big Wins in Medicine at UC Health [Online]. Available: https://go.ucsd.edu/2uf0R5x%0A. [Accessed: 19-Mar-2019].
- [5] D.M. Shaw, J.V. Gross, T.C. Erren, Data donation after death, Lancet 386 (9991) (2015), 340.
- [6] G. Heitink, *Pra zctical theology : history, theory, action domains: manual for practical theology*, W.B. Eerdmans Pub. Co, 1999.
Challenges of Health Analytics Utilization: A Review of Literature

Mohamed KHALIFA¹

Centre for Health Informatics, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

Abstract. The last four decades witnessed a huge progress in digitizing health information, representing an unmatched opportunity for utilizing health analytics in improving the quality of healthcare and reducing its costs. To learn more about different challenges facing the successful utilization of health analytics, a careful review of literature was conducted, and a qualitative analysis was used to explore and classify these challenges. Three main categories of challenges were identified. 1) Technological challenges; hardware, software, and data content, 2) Human challenges; knowledge, experiences, beliefs and attitudes, and end user behaviors, and 3) Organizational challenges; managerial, financial, and legal barriers to optimal utilization of health analytics. The non-technological problems seem to be harder to solve as well as more time consuming, including the existence of a specific business need and a clear vision to guide the project. In addition, health analytics should always be built with the end users in mind.

Keywords. Big Data, Business Intelligence, Health Analytics, Hospitals.

1. Introduction

Over the last four decades, we have witnessed a huge progress in digitizing health information through collecting data of clinical practice and medical research in different types of electronic resources. Clinicians and healthcare professionals can now see new potentials in utilizing big data and health analytics to improve their healthcare processes and clinical outcomes. Health analytics can enhance evidence-based decision making; improving the quality of healthcare and reducing its costs [1]. Health analytics has the potential to identify valuable information and knowledge hidden within large masses of data. Healthcare researchers can analyze such big data to explore effective treatments for specific conditions or specific patients, explore hidden patterns of medications side effects, hospital readmissions, or emergency department crowding [2]. Bates et al. (2014) used predictive analytics to identify and manage six practical cases, as examples of achieved value through reducing costs, including high-cost patients, readmissions, triage, deterioration, adverse events, and treatment optimization for diseases affecting multiple organ systems. In fact, as many as one-third of the readmissions in the United States have been assumed to be preventable and, therefore, to present a significant opportunity for improving care delivery [3]. Proper health analytics can help professionals and organizations to monitor performance indicators on an ongoing and regular basis and support troubleshooting bad performance and to

¹ Corresponding Author, Mohamed KHALIFA; E-mail: mohamed.khalifa@mq.edu.au

identify root causes of problems. Health analytics can help users to design, develop, implement and evaluate different key performance indicators that can help continuous monitoring, identifying reasons of performance deviations and eventually improving performance. There are many new unmatched opportunities to use such methods to improve the quality and reduce the costs of healthcare [4]. It is very crucial to learn about challenges facing successful utilization of health analytics.

2. Methods

A careful review of literature was conducted through searching four databases; MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL and Google Scholar. The main search terms included Health, Analytics, Big Data, Business Intelligence, Utilization, and Challenges. The search identified 631 studies, after removing duplicates from the retrieved results of the four databases. Among these, 513 studies found non-relevant, after screening titles and abstracts and 94 studies found non-eligible, after examining the full text. Only 24 studies found eligible for the review. Inclusion criteria focused on studies describing specific challenges and categories of challenges of implementing and/or utilizing health analytics. References of eligible studies as well as recent studies that cited them were also examined. Qualitative thematic analysis was used, to classify main challenges of health analytics into different categories and types, through five steps; generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing, defining, then writing the challenges.

3. Results

We identified three main categories of challenges that face the successful implementation and utilization of health analytics. 1) Technological challenges which include hardware, software, and data content, 2) Human challenges which include knowledge, experiences, beliefs and attitudes towards health analytics, in addition to end user behaviors, and 3) Organizational challenges which include managerial, financial, and legal barriers to optimal utilization of health analytics. Each identified challenge, within the three categories, was discussed by at least two of the 24 eligible studies, so we included only 12 studies in the references. Figure 1 shows the three main categories and detailed challenges facing health analytics utilization.



Figure 1. Health Analytics Utilization Challenges

4. Discussion and Conclusion

Even though health analytics can bring critical capabilities to healthcare, yet the implementation of such capabilities is often faced with many challenges. Health analytics projects are wrestling with different types of technological, human and organizational challenges. The non-technological problems seem to be harder to solve as well as more time consuming, including the existence of a specific business need and a clear vision to guide the project. Success depends on types of project funding, the value provided and the alignment of the project to the strategic vision of the organization [5]. Some studies classified challenges facing the implementation of health analytics and other informatics applications into six categories; human, professional, technical, organizational, financial and legal or regulatory challenges [6].

In the Human domain of challenges, we find it possible to explain the delay or unsuccessful implementation and utilization of health analytics by the poor acceptance or resistance of technology by healthcare professionals. The influence of the computers and IT knowledge, experience and skills of healthcare professionals and their beliefs about, and attitudes towards, using computerized systems in the healthcare environment can be considered among the major challenges to the successful implementation and utilization of such systems. Even highly regarded, industry-leading analytics and reporting systems can be challenging to use because of the multiplicity of functions, options and navigational tools [7]. Health analytics research often focuses on the design and implementation challenges, but not enough focus is given to how end users react to such systems. The success of systems lies beyond the level of a good design or the selection of a good technology. The degree of fitting the intended use by any system leads users to accept or reject such system [8]. Since health analytics is a newly emerging technology, it needs the efforts of highly trained, knowledgeable and experienced professionals with diverse new skill sets. These skills should not be limited to technical ones but should also extend to research, analytical, interpretive and creative ones, to support prescriptive analytics and advise organizations on possible outcomes and answer the question of what we should do next [9].

In the Technological domain we still can identify a lot of challenges related to data, such as the exploding volume, the velocity of data creation, which might be even more important than the volume, especially for the real-time analysis, and the variety of big data, in the form of text, voice, images and videos, which is a challenge for acquisition, processing and provision of useful information [10]. Technology related factors, such as hardware, software and data content, is more influential on descriptive analytics, while human related factors, such as knowledge, experience and skills can be more influential on prescriptive analytics. Similarly, the input of human knowledge and experience into strategic analytics is more important and influential than into operational analytics, which is more data driven [11]. The world of big data and analytics has two main challenge classes: engineering; efficiently managing data at large scales, where the technology challenges come first, and semantics; finding and meaningfully combining information that is relevant to our concern, where the human knowledge and experience challenges come first [12].

In the Organizational domain; developing and implementing health analytics is not only about technology, it is more about equipping organizations by tools that enable them to achieve their business objectives and providing users with technical capabilities that make new things possible and by engaging people into changing their behaviors to effectively use the new capabilities to generate the target results [13]. Leadership that sets smart goals, defines successful standards and asks the right questions is more important than having bigger or better data. The need for a human vision and insight will never be replaced by the power of analytics, since data content become cheaper and human input becomes more valuable. Changing the organization culture from "what we think" to "what we know" to identify organizational top-level management information needs [14]. The increased initial costs, operational and maintenance costs, and uncertain financial benefits of health analytics are frequently cited barriers. In addition, some ethical and legal concerns might be raised about the proper acquisition and utilization of systems, such as health information confidentiality [15]. Organizational leadership, managerial styles and other administrative and legal related factors, such as the financial issues, policies and procedures play an important role as mediating factors for other technology and human factors [16]. If the organization is not well prepared yet for transformation, in terms of cultural change and responsiveness, then all technology solutions and human efforts will not be enough to achieve this transformation and change, even if the best analytics were utilized and the most valid, accurate and comprehensive results are generated [17,18].

- P. Groves, B. Kayyali, D. Knott, S. Van Kuiken, The 'big data' revolution in healthcare, *McKinsey Quarterly* 2 (3) (2013), 1-22.
- [2] K. Jee, G. H. Kim, Potentiality of big data in the medical sector: focus on how to reshape the healthcare system, *Healthcare informatics research* 19 (2) (2013), 79-85.
- [3] D.W. Bates, S. Saria, L. Ohno-Machado, A. Shah, G. Escobar, Big data in health care: using analytics to identify and manage high-risk and high-cost patients, *Health Affairs* 33 (7) (2014), 1123-1131.
- [4] S. LaValle, E. Lesser, R. Shockley, M.S. Hopkins, N. Kruschwitz, Big data, analytics and the path from insights to value, *MIT sloan management review* 52 (2) (2011), 21.
- [5] S. Adamala, L. Cidrin, Key success factors in business intelligence (2011).
- [6] M. Khalifa, Barriers to health information systems and electronic medical records implementation. A field study of Saudi Arabian hospitals, *Proceedia Computer Science* 21 (2013), 335-342.
- [7] R.H. Miller, I.Sim, Physicians' use of electronic medical records: barriers and solutions, *Health affairs* 23 (2) (2004), 116-126.
- [8] R.J. Holden, B.T. Karsh, The technology acceptance model: its past and its future in health care, *Journal* of biomedical informatics **43** (1) (2010), 159-172.
- [9] J.R. Evans, C.H. Lindner, Business analytics: the next frontier for decision sciences, *Decision Line* 43 (2) (2012), 4-6.
- [10] A. McAfee, E. Brynjolfsson, T.H. Davenport, D.J. Patil, D. Barton, Big data: the management revolution, *Harvard business review* **90** (10) (2012), 60-68.
- [11] M. Khalifa, Health Analytics Types, Functions and Levels: A Review of Literature, *Studies in health technology and informatics* **251** (2018), 137-140.
- [12] C. Bizer, P. Boncz, M.L. Brodie, O. Erling, The meaningful use of big data: four perspectives--four challenges, ACM Sigmod Record 40 (4) (2012), 56-60.
- [13] C. McCarthy, D. Eastman, Change management strategies for an effective EMR implementation, HIMSS (2013).
- [14] P. Trkman, The critical success factors of business process management, *International journal of information management* **30** (2) (2010), 125-134.
- [15] A.L. Kellermann, S.S. Jones, What it will take to achieve the as-yet-unfulfilled promises of health information technology, *Health affairs* **32** (1) (2013), 63-68.
- [16] H. Chen, R.H. Chiang, V.C. Storey, Business intelligence and analytics: From big data to big impact, MIS quarterly 36 (4) (2012).
- [17] Q. Ye, R.O. Morro, From Reporting to Analytics: Leveraging Business Intelligence in enabling organisations' transformation towards becoming data-driven (2018).
- [18] M. Shujahat, S. Hussain, S. Javed, M.I. Malik, R. Thurasamy, J. Ali, Strategic management model with lens of knowledge management and competitive intelligence: A review approach, *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems* 47 (1) (2017), 55-93.

Integrating GDPR in ISO 15189 for Medical Laboratories: Major Aspects and Perspectives

Markos NIKOLOPOULOS^a, Irene KARAMPELA^{b,1}, Georgios ANTONAKOS^b, Evangelos TZORTZIS^b, Theodora STRATIGOU^b, Marianna DIOMIDOUS^c and Maria DALAMAGA^b

^a Information Technology & Telecommunication Department, IPTO S.A., Greece ^b Department of Biological Chemistry, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

^c Faculty of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Abstract. Medical laboratories process and store sensitive data during four major phases: arrival of patients in the laboratory premises and registration of their data, pre-analytical, analytical and post-analytical phases. ISO 15189 has specific requirements concerning the management of the laboratory data in terms of security, availability and protection. The aim of the present study was to examine major aspects of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) integration in medical laboratories that comply with the ISO 15189 standard, including data breach and informed consent. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study dealing with this subject in the healthcare sector. Accredited medical laboratories applying appropriate additions and adjustments in order to incorporate GDPR requirements in a clear manner.

Keywords. Accreditation, Data Breach, GDPR, ISO 15189, Laboratory

1. Introduction

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) has been in place since May 2018 for all EU countries, presenting a structured and concrete set of rules concerning the protection of personal data [1]. These set of rules apply to all industries and sectors. The Healthcare sector is very significant since a large volume of sensitive and sometimes classified data are kept and stored in hard copy as well as in digital format [2]. Medical laboratories at the Hospitals, including Biochemistry, Microbiology, Pathology, Hematology, and Cytology labs keep and process a large number of patients' personal data. These data are stored in Information Technology systems either inside the Hospital or in the Cloud [3]. Hospital Information Systems communicate with the Laboratory Information Systems (LIS) to get information that is very important for the patient's monitoring and treatment [4]. During the last 10 years, an

¹ Corresponding author, Irene Karampela, MD, Department of Biological Chemistry, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece; E-mail: eikaras@yahoo.com

increasingly large number of medical laboratories has been accredited to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 15189. ISO 15189 is the specialized ISO standard that covers the entire laboratory operation from the sample reception to the delivery of the results [5]. The introduction of ISO 15189 in the laboratory and the adoption of its processes contribute to the better performance of the laboratory and the improvement of the quality of services offered to the patients or customers [6]. ISO 15189 has specific requirements concerning the management of the laboratory data in terms of security, availability and protection. The aim of the present study was to examine major aspects of the GDPR integration in medical laboratories that comply with the ISO 15189 standard, including data breach and informed consent.

2. Methods

We performed a thorough search in the literature (PubMed, Scopus) for published articles concerning GDPR and ISO 15189. The initial search for GDPR and ISO 15189 produced N=57 and N=348 results respectively. The combined search of "GDPR" AND "ISO15189" produced N=0 (zero) results. We narrowed the field of our search in order to focus on medical laboratories. The combined search of "GDPR" AND "laboratory" produced N=0 results, therefore we searched for "GDPR" AND "health" to get as many results as possible relevant to the health sector. This combined search yielded N=37 results. We were interested in publications that dealt with data protection aspects of the standard. The combined search for "ISO 15189" AND "data" brought in N=71 results but only 2 of them were relevant [6-7]. Moreover, we consulted the accreditation authorities such as the Hellenic Accreditation System (ESYD) in Greece for relevant guidelines. ESYD developed a comparison matrix mapping out the GDPR requirements with the respective ISO 15189:2012 requirements [8].

3. Results

Medical laboratories process and store data during four major phases: arrival of patients in the laboratory premises and registration of their data, pre-analytical, analytical and post-analytical phases. Data are collected and stored in the Laboratory information systems as well as in corporate systems like Enterprise Resource Planning, Customer Relationship Management for billing, invoicing and customer relation purposes. ISO 15189 incorporates all requirements of the GDPR [8] as seen in Table 1. We analyzed two important issues that need further clarification in the implementation of the ISO 15189 quality system to strengthen GDPR compliance: Data breach and Informed consent. ISO 15189 addresses these points, but GDPR puts special emphasis on them. This emphasis needs to be taken under consideration for the laboratories that implement the ISO 15189 Quality System. GDPR requires a strict data breach process as well as a plan to deal with the consequences of the breach. The process includes a 72-hour notification deadline. The notification will be made to the respective authorities. The victims of the breach will also be notified. ISO 15189 incorporates data breach mainly in the framework of the laboratory Information Technology infrastructure and the proper maintenance of this infrastructure as well as in the Release of Results process. It is recommended that the specific GDPR requirements should be included in the Quality manual, the Quality documents and processes. ISO 15189 manual should deal with data breach in a clear and discrete manner. The IT

maintenance processes should pay special attention to the data breach. The responsible personnel should receive both a technical training (patching, antimalware software, and upgrades in applications, databases and operation systems) as well as a legal training concerning the procedures that follow the aftermath of a breach. This training process will be documented in the respective personnel file. ISO 15189 also includes the patients' consent in the various phases of the laboratory workflow. Informed or Valid consent and its withdrawal is very significant for GDPR [9]. It is recommended that Patient / Customer Consent should be clearly indicated in the ISO 15189 processes and identified as a separate sub-process, which is necessary for the laboratory to proceed with the handling of the samples, the storage and the processing of personal data as well as the delivery of the results. Table 1, which is based on GDPR versus ISO 15189 matrix by ESYD, depicts the GDPR interfaces with ISO 15189, including data breach and consent [8].

GDPR Article	GDRP Requirements	ISO15189 Clauses
3	GDPR should be applied by any organization that processes data of EU data subjects.	4.1.1.3 Ethical Conduct
		5.10 Information System Management
37-39	Appointment of a qualified data protection officer (DPO) (if required)	4.1.2.5 Responsibility, Authority and Interrelationships
35	Obligation to carry out risk analysis and privacy risk impact assessments	4.14.6 Risk Management
5, 89	Personal data must be collected for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further processed in a way incompatible with those purposes. Personal data must be adequate, relevant and limited to those which are necessary; Where personal data are to be archived e.g. for research and statistical purposes, the privacy risks should be addressed through suitable controls such as pseudonymization and data minimization where feasible.	5.10.1 Laboratory Information Management5.4.3 Request Form Information
17	Storage limitation (data should be kept for no longer than is necessary); Right to erasure ("right to be forgotten")	4.5.1 Referral Laboratories and Consultants
	including withdrawal of consent	4.13 Control of Records
Recital 39	Integrity and confidentiality appropriate security of the	4.13 Control of Records
	personal data (including protection against unauthorized or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage)	5.2.2 Laboratory and Office Facilities
		5.2.3 Storage Facilities
		5.10.2 Authorities and Responsibilities
		5.9.1 Release of Results
33-34	Data breach notification requirements	5.9 Release of Results
7-9, Recital 161, Recital 33	Valid consent necessary (including process of children's data). Consent may be withdrawn easily at any time	5.4.4.1 Primary Sample Collection and Handling
		5.4.2 Information for Patients and Users

Table 1. GDPR and ISO15189 matrix [8]

Data breach and informed consent are in the last two rows of Table 1. All GDPR requirements are equally significant and are dealt within the ISO15189 Quality System in a clear manner. Data breach and informed consent are two main requirements that need special attention when a laboratory wishes to comply with both ISO 15189 and GDPR. It is worth underscoring that GDPR is a legal obligation, while ISO 15189 is a Quality System for medical laboratories that is not mandatory for their legitimate operation.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

In this study, we briefly presented two main issues concerning the simultaneous application of GDPR and ISO 15189 in medical laboratories: data breach and informed consent. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study dealing with this subject in the healthcare sector. A full analysis cannot be performed due to lack of space. ISO 15189 focuses on the laboratory operation from the patient's arrival up to the delivery of the results. It is not an Information Security standard such as the ISO 27001 [10]. Therefore, Information Security issues are addressed but in the context of the laboratory operation workflow. On the other side, GDPR puts special emphasis on the data protection and privacy. As a result, data breach and consent are at the core of GDPR compliance. Organizations need to come with thorough plans and apply welldocumented procedures for both data breach and informed consent. In that sense, accredited medical laboratories need to modify their ISO 15189 Quality System documentation and processes in order to incorporate these GDPR requirements in a clear manner. The incorporation can be completed relatively smoothly by appropriate additions and adjustments in the laboratory Quality management system. If necessary, the laboratories could utilize the services of specialized management consultants. In conclusion, medical laboratories may comply with both GDPR and ISO 15189 applying appropriate modifications to their ISO 15189 Quality System.

- [1] GDPR, available at: https://www.eugdpr.org/the-regulation/ [Accessed March 7, 2019].
- [2] B. McCall, What does the GDPR mean for the medical community? *Lancet* **391** (2018), 1249-1250.
- [3] M. Nikolopoulos, I. Karampela, E. Tzortzis, M. Dalamaga, Deploying Cloud Computing in the Greek Healthcare System: A Modern Development Proposal Incorporating Clinical and Laboratory Data, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 251 (2018), 35-38.
- [4] I. Karampela I, Tzortzis E, M. Nikolopoulos, M. Dalamaga, M. Diomidous, A. Armaganidis, A Hospital Information System Application May Facilitate Staff Compliance with Quality Protocols in a Medical Unit: A Case Study, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 251 (2018), 203-206.
- [5] ISO 15189, available at: https://www.iso.org/standard/56115.html
- [6] V.R. Biljak, I. Ozvald, A. Radeljak, K. Majdenic, B. Lasic, Z. Siftar, M.V. Lovrencic, Z. Flegar-Mestric, Validation of a laboratory and hospital information system in a medical laboratory accredited according to ISO 15189, *Biochem Med (Zagreb)* 22 (2012), 86-91.
- [7] P. Franck, A. Perrin, A. Boutten, J.P. Lionne, A. Suiro et al., Guidelines for records control and documents retention, *Ann Biol Clin (Paris)* 70 Spec No 1 (2012), 105-125.
- [8] ESYD, GDPR and ISO15189 matrix, available at: http://www.esyd.gr/pweb/s/20/files/anakoinoseis/GDPR%20vs.%2015189.pdf
- [9] M. Nikolopoulos, I. Karampela, et al., Workflow Management Applications Facilitate the Successful Application of GDPR to Medical Laboratories and Hospitals: a Novel Approach, 16th International Conference on Informatics, Management and Technology in Healthcare, Athens, 6-8 July, 2018.
- [10] ISO 27001, available at: https://www.iso.org/isoiec-27001-information-security.html

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190017

Introducing a Research Management System to Speed Up and Streamline Clinical Research Activities

Mansoor Ali BAIG^{a,b,1}, Mohamad A. ALMUHAIZEA^{a,d}, Abeer OMAR^{a,c} and Somayah J. ALZAHRANI^{a,b} ^a King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ^b Department of Biostatistics Epidemiology & Scientific Computing, KFSHRC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ^c Office of Research Affair, KFSHRC, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

^d Alfaisal University, College of Medicine, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Abstract. Clinical Research is a complicated process within a research institution or a tertiary care hospital, almost all research project proposal needs to get an institutional review board (IRB) approval before any research activity takes place. IRB approval involves various processes, in form of sub-committees through which the proposal is reviewed. It is of utmost importance to understand the complete functioning of an IRB, in order to automate the various processes using a management system. The Research office entity forms the central body managing the IRB functions. It provides all sorts of administrative support as far as guidelines, documentation, communication and co-ordination is concerned; hence the research office forms the administrative wing of the IRB. Further the IRB has several subcommittees such as the Ethics Committee, Basic Research committee and the Animal Care and Use Committee. Each committee has a chairperson and several members from different specialty to cover all the aspects of research. Each committee may have its own process/workflow of approval, but usually the process of each committee is somewhat similar to each other. Apart from these workflows process the things that needs to be digitized would include researcher's profile, preaward and post-award management, publication management, graduate student management and research analytics for the organization.

Keywords. Research Management System, Research process, IRB

1. Introduction

Clinical Research faces multiple hurdles due to the complicated process starting from the research proposal preparation, submission, review by all relevant IRB sub-committees and approval till the execution of the project, and the most critical hurdle is the time taken at each step, hence there is great need to automate the process in order to leverage maximum benefits with respect to time. Currently the research proposal approval phase

¹ Corresponding Author, Mansoor Ali Baig, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Biostatistics, Epidemiology & Scientific Computing Department; E-mail: mansoorbaig@hotmail.com; mbaig97@kfshrc.edu.sa

provides the maximum delay, where it generally takes anywhere between 3 to 4 months for a project to go through a full review. As the IRB process includes conducting physical meetings for proposal reviews for each of the committees, and due to the increased number of submissions only few are discussed until the committee schedules the next meeting. Hence decision making is affected in a big way, Ethics and governance approvals are burdensome for historical reasons and not because of the nature of the task. There are many opportunities to improve their efficiency and analytic depth in an age of innovation, increased connectivity and distributed working [1], hence there is a need to automate and streamline these processes using a software system, as whole of the institutional research would be managed using this system, we prefer calling it a research management system. There are a handful of commercial solutions available in the market which can offer a flexible, customized and dynamic implementation of the system within a research environment. The Aim of this paper is to generate a framework to organize institutional research in a digital repository or a Research Management System (RMS), this process would help us assemble the complete professional profiles for a complete and up-to-date collection of all teaching, research, and service-related activities. Providing an overview of all accomplishments, with advanced analytic reports of outputs and impact [2].

2. Methodology

Implementation is a challenge in this area. Initially the research areas needs to be defined, various IRB committees need to be identified and their internal process and workflows need to be mapped, next step is to streamline the system to fit into the organizational infrastructure along with key departments involved in the research proposal decision making, the legal, logistics, budget and resource management process are essential components to be considered in order to implement it within the RMS, Identify the user types and their corresponding roles and privileges, the workflow matrix for each of the entity which is a part of any workflow driven process, designing the information capture elements for each of the entities in the system, information management formats etc. Digitizing your research process is more about understanding and implementing the entities involved along with the related processes and workflows, more than just procuring a management system. Convaris from Clarivate Analytics [2] is the management system which was used as a reference for this case study.

3. Major Stakeholders / Entities

It is important to define the functional entities involved in the research process in order to study the functioning protocols of these entities followed by the defined processes maps followed by them, so as to come up with a plan to automate and streamline these in a 'lean' way. **The Research office:** This Office manages the operational activities related to conduct of all research at KFSH&RC, and provides administrative support to RAC and its standing subcommittees for Basic Research (BRC), Clinical Research (CRC), Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC), and Research Ethics Committee (REC) [2]. It conducts pre-submission reviews, research applications managements, projects' budgeting, and Assurance and Compliance survey. In addition, it reviews, approves and authenticates publications and scientific meeting participation of clinicians and researchers within the organization. It also manages Contracts and Agreements (in consultations with Institution's Legal Affairs. Ethics Committee: The Research Ethics Committee is charged with the tasks of reviewing all aspects of ethical considerations related to Human Subjects Research. It functions in compliance with local (Institutional code of Ethics) and National (generally the National Committee of Biomedical Ethics) and all applicable International Guidelines governing conduct of research in Human Subjects (e.g. Declaration of Helsinki, Good clinical practice etc.). This ethics committee structure, include members from various research areas, headed by the committee chair and a community member. Basic Research committee: is charged to evaluate the scientific aspects of all research proposals of basic nature including proposals that are conducted on animals or tissue cultures or that are based on basic science questions even if performed on materials obtained from human subjects. Clinical Research committee: is charged to evaluate the scientific aspects of all research proposals of clinical nature (e.g. human interventional studies, interview/ questionnaire studies, and retrospective medical records review studies). It evaluates the proposals for scientific merit, feasibility, and validity of design and methods. Animal care and use **committee:** is charged to evaluate all research proposals and activities involving the use of animals. It also oversees the institution's animal programs, procedures, and facilities to ensure that they are consistent with national and international standards. Investigator: is the one who initiates the project, Investigator's role is intense starting with the proposal, team formulation, budgeting and oversight of research compliance with the approved protocol.

4. Implementation and Automation Process

The first step of implementing any system is requirement analysis, that involves mapping the institutional requirements with the features and functions available in the system. The most important feature for a research management system is a dynamic and robust workflow, due to the involvement of multiple stakeholders at any given point of time. Integrated system, user authentications and roles: The system being implemented should be integrated well with the institutional setup environment; the authentication should be integrated with the organizational authentication within the IT setup. Where the various roles created for each of the stakeholders should automatically be mapped with the institutional organizational hierarchy within the human resource management system. Researcher role would be the default role for all the users, which would help the them create a research profile and import the corresponding research work using the web of science API/ORCID ID [2], this in turn would populate the institutional research portal to showcase its research achievements. Digitization: The primary purpose of implementing and RMS is to digitize the data fed and retrieved through the system, This would involve conversion of the manual paper forms into dynamic electronic data capture (EDC) forms based on the type of project, these forms include the proposal forms, inform consent, waivers, budgeting, reports, feedback, mandatory certifications [3] etc. This EDC would generally capture the data for a new research proposal, updating project reports, publications, Intellectual property rights, patents, graduate registration and processing etc. these would enable the stakeholders to input and manage their data electronically. Workflow Processes: Smart workflows need to be embedded in the system which may run in parallel as required. Other than the general research proposal submission and approval workflow, Each of the IRB sub-committee would be defined as

a separate entity carrying a separate workflow, running simultaneously. As an example, a complete research proposal workflow is defined further. Prior to the research proposal submission there needs to be acknowledgements from all the participating coinvestigators, this will also act as a pre submission workflow, the supervisors of the participating co-investigators also need to approve their respective participation in the research [4]. Once Submitted, the supervisor of the investigator would approve the submission to the research office, where the proposal is reviewed as per the checklist and based on the nature of the research is referred to various IRB subcommittees, here on the proposal will be reviewed by all assigned committees and upon approval, the proposal would be ready to be initiated as a project. This workflow is multi-dimensional, where the research office or a committee member may ask for additional information from the investigator. The system workflow needs dynamism to incorporate the above narration. On each step proper notifications should be generated within the system and on emails, so that the next-in-line reviewer as the necessary information for carrying out the review. The system would allow the research office to schedule meetings (along with proposals to be discussed) which the members would attend physically, and all the minutes would be documented in the system. Resource pricing, Budget & Logistics: Master pricing information for all entities such as human resources, equipment, supplies, lab tests, imaging should be a part of the system or connected with the institutional Chargemaster database, so that the budgeting and resource allocation for a research proposal is automatically aligned with the institutional standards. The System should also provide logistical information such as shipment tracking, transfer agreements, customs clearance, tracking of material, equipment storage and retrieval in order to facilitate the project execution process, mostly to do with clinical trials and project requiring equipment and supplies.

5. Conclusions

Right implementation of a dynamic, flexible and scalable research management system would drastically cut down the processing duration for any research activity. It would also automatically govern the accountability on behalf of the stakeholders and help the institution in generating and showcasing its research output. The biggest challenge in such automation is the change management, which is a onus on the researcher, but it can be dealt through marketing the benefits it can bring to the researchers in cutting down the processing times, automatic showcasing of their research profile, research activities and CV without the need to update it manually.

- M. Petrova, Research approvals iceberg: how a 'low-key' study in England needed 89 professionals to approve it and how we can do better, *BMC Med Ethics* 20(1) (2019), 7. doi: 10.1186/s12910-018-0339-5.
- [2] Convaris, Research Management System, Clarivate Analytics: https://clarivate.com/products/converis
- [3] BMC, Editorial Policies, member of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) <u>https://www.biomedcentral.com/getpublished/editorial-policies#ethics+and+consent</u>
- [4] Institutional Review Board process: Bellevue college https://www.bellevuecollege.edu/irb/review/

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190018

Speech Recognition Evaluation of a State-Of-The-Art Smartglass in the Use Case Pediatric Resuscitation

Michael SCHMUCKER^{a,1}, Christoph IGEL^b, Robin KAPPLER^a and Martin HAAG^a ^a Heilbronn University of Applied Sciences, GECKO Institute, Germany ^b DFKI, Educational Technology Lab, Germany

Abstract. Emergencies involving children are rare events. Due to the associated lack of routine and special features in pediatric resuscitation, it is prone to errors and the results are unsatisfactory. One way of tackling this problem is to use assistance services. However, due to the process, these services cannot be easily integrated. One possibility is the use of Head Mounted Displays. These are often controlled via voice commands. With medical terms, the voice control implemented as standard can quickly become unusable. A wearable app was therefore developed for this paper and evaluated according to ISO/IEC 30122-2:2017 to determine the extent to which the voice control of a state-of-the-art smartglass works in quiet and noisy conditions for use during a resuscitation. Since the commands were well understood and the app could be reliably controlled, the use of voice control in an assistance service is conceivable.

Keywords. Emergencies, mobile applications, resuscitation, pediatrics/methods.

1. Introduction

Pediatric emergencies are rare events around the world, but they are still a serious problem. In the USA, for example, about 16,000 children suffer a heart attack every year [1,2]. In Germany, about 4,000 children are resuscitated every year, about 1,000 of them preclinically [3]. Although the survival rate has increased steadily over the last thirty years, far too few children survive with favorable neurologic outcome (2% preclinical, 17% clinical) [4-6]. The lack of routine, combined with individual dose calculation and time-critical procedures, make pediatric emergencies error-prone. However, the quality of cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) is directly related to the survival rate [7-9]. It is therefore essential to have the guidelines [10] issued periodically by the European Resuscitation Council (ERC) at hand. However, the use of assistance services during resuscitation cannot be easily integrated into the process, even if physicians repeatedly wish to use calculators or computer programs, as this has been shown to minimize the number of calculation errors (e.g. medication dosage) [11,12]. The rescuers usually work with both hands under time pressure on the patient. Tablets or smartphones can combine all required information in a small device, but are only suitable to a limited extent due to the handling. A possible solution might be the use of Head Mounted Displays (HMDs).

¹ Corresponding Author, Michael Schmucker, Heilbronn University of Applied Sciences, Max-Planck-Straße 39, 74081 Heilbronn, Germany; E-Mail: michael.schmucker@hs-heilbronn.de.

These devices can do much of what tablets or smartphones can [13], but there are some special characteristics. The display is rather small, and they cannot be operated as usual. HMDs are often controlled via voice commands. However, this might quickly become unusable with medical terms. Using the Vuzix M300 smartglass as an example, this paper evaluates how good the standard voice control of a state-of-the-art smartglass is in the field of pediatric resuscitation today.

2. Methods

As a first step, a systematic literature search according to the PRISMA scheme was carried out in PubMed and Google Scholar in order to identify related work or preliminary work. Subsequently, a study according to ISO/IEC 30122-2:2017 [14] was designed to evaluate the quality of speech control of the Vuzix M300 in the case of pediatric resuscitation in a test environment. In a first step, voice commands were constructed that conform to both [14] and [10]. The basis was the Pediatric Advanced Life Support according to [10] (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Pediatric Advanced Life Support [10].

Afterwards a wearable app was programmed using the newly constructed voice commands (see Figure 2 for example).



Figure 2. Mock-up of the function "next step" of the Wearable App.

This app was then evaluated after [14] with the help of 19 people in two settings (low volume (LV; $\emptyset 51\pm 1,4$ dB) and road noise (RN; $\emptyset 76,1\pm 1,4$ dB)). The following key figures were determined in each case:

$$Word recognition ratio = \frac{(Number of correctly recognized words)}{(Number of all testet words)}$$
(1)

$$Word\ accuracy = \frac{[(Number\ of\ correctly\ recognized\ words) - (Number\ of\ inserted\ error\ words)]}{(Number\ of\ all\ tested\ words)}$$
(2)

The 19 participants were 13 men and 6 women aged between 21 and 30. All participants were not native English speakers and had little experience with entering voice commands. There were 10 iterations per person in the mentioned two settings with 14 defined voice commands each (7 approving, e.g. "Activity present" and 7 disapproving, e.g. "Activity absent", according to the use case (see Figure 1)). That means there were 5320 voice commands in total.

3. Results

3.1. Related Work

There have been many papers dealing with speech recognition and Natural Language Processing (NLP) in medicine since the late 90s. In most cases it is about entries in an electronic health record (e.g. [15,16]). In most cases, specially developed software solutions are used. But there are still several problems as a paper by Google from 2017 shows [17]. Publications that test voice control without specially developed software were not found. Nor were there any papers dealing with voice commands in emergencies.

3.2. Speech Recognition Evaluation

The total word recognition ratio WRR_{total} after (1) is 95.43%. Looking at the individual settings, the word recognition ratio is 97.14% for low volume (WRR_{LV}) and 93.71% for road noise (WRR_{RN}). None of the voice commands was detected in less than 89% (low volume) of the cases respectively 88% (road noise) (see Figure 3). Since there were only 4 insertion errors overall (words that were recognized but not in the test samples), the word accuracy (WA_{total}) after (2) is approximately equal to WRR_{total}.



Figure 3. Word recognition per step.

4. Discussion

To ensure sufficient accuracy of the measurement results, ISO/IEC 30122-2:2017 proposes a minimum of 10 participants [14]. For this setting, 19 persons were interviewed who are heterogeneous in age and gender. Overall, the test result looks very good, a WRR_{total} of 95.43% would still be within a 95% confidence interval. However, the result must be interpreted in such a way that in practice it will be used primarily under difficult acoustic conditions and not at low volume. The result of $WRR_{RN} = 93.71\%$ is just outside this range. If these results are good enough for reality can't be said due to the setting. At least repeated speaking was not perceived as annoying in this test setting. It is striking that commands with a strong medical character (amiodarone, defibrillation, adrenaline) are less well recognized but still detected at a high percentage ($\geq 88\%$). In addition, the results for street noise improved over time, people may have become accustomed to the ambient noise level and may have spoken commands louder. An interesting side observation of the data is that the use in ambient noise became worse especially with female participants ($\Delta \mathcal{E}$: $\emptyset7,9\%$; $\Delta \mathcal{P}$: $\emptyset14,2\%$). In order to transfer these results to real environments, a further study is necessary under almost real conditions in a simulation center but the results are promising from a technical point of view.

- D.L. Atkins et al., Epidemiology and outcomes from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in children: the Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium Epistry Cardiac Arrest, *Circulation* 119(11) (2009), 1484-1491.
- [2] P.S. Chan et al., Rapid response teams: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Arch Intern Med 170(1) (2010), 18-26.
- [3] ÄrzteZeitung.de, Die Angst fährt mit zum Einsatz, https://www.aerztezeitung.de/medizin/krankheiten /herzkreislauf/article/858981/kinder-notfaelle-angst-faehrt-einsatz.html, last access: 01.03.2019.
- [4] A.J. Donoghue et al., Out-of-hospital pediatric cardiac arrest: an epidemiologic review and assessment of current knowledge, *Ann Emerg Med* 46(6) (2005), 512-522.
- [5] P.A. Meaney et al., Higher survival rates among younger patients after pediatric after intensive care unit cardiac arrests, *Pediatrics* 118(6) (2006), 2424-2433.
- [6] V.M. Nadkarni et al., First documented rhythm and clinical outcome from in-hospital cardiac arrest among children and adults, JAMA 295(1) (2006), 50-57.
- [7] B.S. Abella et al., Chest compression rates during cardiopulmonary resuscitation are suboptimal: a prospective study during in-hospital cardiac arrest, *Circulation* 111(4) (2005), 428-434.
- [8] D.P. Edelson et al., Improving in-hospital cardiac arrest process and outcomes with performance debriefing, Arch Intern Med 168(10) (2008), 1063-1069.
- [9] J. Kramer-Johansen et al., Quality of out-of-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation with real time automated feedback: a prospective interventional study, *Resuscitation* 71(3) (2006), 283-292.
- [10] I. Maconochie et al., European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2015 Section 6. Paediatric life support, *Resuscitation* 2015;95:223-248.
- J. Kaufmann et al., Medikamentenfehler bei Kindernotfällen eine systematische Analyse, Dtsch Arztebl Int 109(38) (2012), 609-616.
- [12] A.D. Stevens et al., Color-coded prefilled medication syringes decrease time to delivery and dosing errors in simulated prehospital pediatric resuscitation: A randomized crossover trial, *Resuscitation* 96 (2015).
- [13] K. Tehrani, A. Michael, Wearable Technology and Wearable Devices. Everything you need to know. https://www.wearabledevices.com/what-is-a-wearable-device/, last access: 01.03.2019.
- [14] ISO/IEC 30122-2:2017, Information technology User interfaces Voice commands Part 2: Constructing and testing.
- [15] E.G. Devine et al., Comparative evaluation of three continuous speech recognition software packages in the generation of medical reports, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* **7**(5) (2000), 462-468.
- [16] A. Zafar et al., Continuous speech recognition for clinicians, J Am Med Inform Assoc 6(3) (1999).
- [17] C.C. Chiu et al., Speech recognition for medical conversations. https://arxiv.org/abs/1711.07274, last access: 11.03.2019.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190019

A Vision Utilizing Gamification to Enhance Patients' with Chronic Shoulder Diseases Adherence to Rehabilitation

Bianca STEINER^{a,1} and Klaus-Hendrik WOLF^b

 ^a Peter L. Reichertz Institute for Medical Informatics of TU Braunschweig and Hannover Medical School, Braunschweig, Germany
 ^b Peter L. Reichertz Institute for Medical Informatics of TU Braunschweig and Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

Abstract. Although adherence is a key factor for successful treatment of chronic diseases, only about 50% of patients achieve good adherence. However, health enabling technologies and gamification offer new possibilities to enhance patient's motivation. In physical rehabilitation, various applications exist. As these often stress a specific part of the rehabilitation process, we introduce a six-step new holistic approach to apply game design elements in the entire rehabilitation process, while focusing on patients with musculoskeletal diseases of the shoulder.

Keywords. Musculoskeletal Diseases, Shoulder, Rehabilitation, Treatment Adherence and Compliance

1. Introduction

Gamification has gained a growing importance in research and practice [1,2]. Its basic idea is "[...] the use of game design elements in non-game contexts" [2]. In the context of health care, gamification is applied to enhance motivation and support therapy in general [3]. Especially in the case of chronic diseases, adherence is a key factor for successful treatment [4]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), only an average of 50% of all chronic patients achieve good adherence [5]. Non-adherence in long-term care processes could jeopardize the effectiveness of treatment [5]. Different factors such as lacking knowledge about the disease, forgetfulness, low degree of motivation, and lacking personal interest, contribute to discontinued or irregular rehabilitation processes [5,6]. Previous studies have already shown the potential of gamification to increase motivation and adherence in therapeutic settings [3]. In physical rehabilitation, the range of approaches and applications is numerous. However, most applications focus on specific parts of the process. Furthermore, assistance is often limited to the provision of information, the possibility for documentation and the evaluation of subsequent rehabilitation services [7,8]. Against this background, it is sensible to investigate a holistic approach to actively increase the patient's motivation

¹ Corresponding Author, Bianca Steiner, Peter L. Reichertz Institute for Medical Informatics of TU Braunschweig and Hannover Medical School, Mühlenpfordtstr. 23, 38106 Braunschweig, Germany; E-mail: bianca.steiner@plri.de

and empowerment and, thus, the adherence over the entire rehabilitation process. Consequently, this paper proposes a corresponding conceptual framework to enhance adherence through game design elements, while focusing patients suffering from musculoskeletal diseases (MSD) of the shoulder, more specifically shoulder lesions.

2. Methods

To support patients playfully during their entire rehabilitation process, game design elements and supplementary methods such as eLearning will be used. In this work, a rehabilitation process is defined as the whole treatment of a patient from diagnosis to acute treatment – conventional or surgical – to inpatient or outpatient medical and/or vocational rehabilitation. This also includes preventive measures and alternative medicine, as well as administrative sub-processes such as the application of rehabilitation services and the reimbursement of costs.

The methodology to develop the framework will comprise six steps described hereafter.

3. Results

A future direction for the long-term management of rehabilitation processes by the patient themselves is to be shown. In the following six consecutive steps, including their respective aims, are described.

Step 1 Process Analysis. The process analysis will define the conditions for the development of the conceptual framework. The scope of the analysis is to identify and describe weak points in the rehabilitation process. The status quo of care will be established. Data will be gathered by literature analysis, complemented and verified by interviews with caregivers and patients. Due to the complexity of the underlying intersectoral care process, a service blue print will be modeled initially. Thereby, relevant process sequences will be established, aggregated and prioritized to identify characteristics of the process. A detailed visualization, based on the business process model and notation (BPMN) or extended event driven process chains (eEPC), will be used to elicit causes and effects of several motivation barriers.

Step 2 Motivation in the context of Rehabilitation. To explore motivation in the context of rehabilitation, concepts influencing the patient's adherence need to be determined. A literature research will identify general and specific adherence factors to the chosen rehabilitation process. Existing motivation models will also be considered and analyzed. Based on the results of the process analysis, adherence and motivation factors will be classified. A tree of problems will be used to visualize various motivation barriers. To represent the relations between individual motivation concepts and factors dependent of the rehabilitation phases, a structure model will be defined.

Step 3 Gamification in the context of Rehabilitation. Existing gamification theories will be analyzed to collect game components, dynamics and mechanics. Supplementary, a scoping review will identify game design elements specifically for rehabilitation of patients with MSD of the shoulder. The main analysis is intended to figure out when which kind of game design element is useful within this specific rehabilitation process (scenario analysis). Therefore, it is necessary to identify and describe the operational environment as well as basic conditions for the appropriate usage of individual game design elements. This may include factors of the International Classification of

Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF), target groups, safety requirements as well as the integration into standard care processes.

Step 4 Model development. Building on the tree of problems, it is planned to represent the context between motivation, gamification and the rehabilitation process as a tree of aims (see Figure 1). The intention is to identify, describe and easily visualize possible solutions for individual motivation barriers. Once initial solutions have been found, various evaluation criteria will be defined to analyze them with regard to their applicability and appropriateness to enhance motivation and patient empowerment in specific rehabilitation phases. Requirements for the use, preconditions, and technical, legal or ethical aspects will be taken into account. The tree of aims will result in a formal representation of the conceptual framework containing internal and external motivation factors, various game design elements, causes and effects as well as relations between the modeled entities in dependence on the rehabilitation phase and the operational environment.



Figure 1. Generic tree of aims

Steps 5 and 6: Exemplary instantiation and evaluation. Based on the conceptual framework, an app will be implemented. The idea is to give patients the opportunity to easily navigate themselves through the rehabilitation process without predetermined paths. The self-management skills of the patients will be strengthened by giving timely advice and encouraged by giving rewards for even small achievements. The app will present the rehabilitation phases and related interventions, provide additional information, as well as guidance by pointing out possible pathways. To provide further functionalities for assisting patients, it should be possible to integrate health enabling technologies as exergames or tele-monitoring systems. The app prototype and the framework will be evaluated in a study. To restrict the study, the use case "home-based exercises" as part of the subsequent rehabilitation process will be focused. The priority is testing the hypothesis, whether patients who are supported by the implemented app will train more often than patients without. By this, conclusions on the motivation and adherence may be drawn. The evaluation study will also cover the technical feasibility, acceptance and usability.

4. Discussion

We propose a methodology for the development of a conceptual framework to enhance motivation and patient empowerment through game design elements in the rehabilitation process of patients with shoulder lesions. Therefore, we described six consecutive steps.

There are some limitations to the described work. Although the objective is to develop a holistic approach for the entire rehabilitation process, the exemplary instantiation will be more specific. However, as many adherence problems occur, the patient's support is particularly important at this stage. It may be reasonable to assume that adherence issues occur in patients also in the early rehabilitation phases, rather than only later. Accordingly, all rehabilitation phases should be supported with a focus on subsequent rehabilitation services. Furthermore, the evaluation with a single prototype might worth discussing. However, we assume that both using the framework for the design of the app and the focused evaluation should surface substantial problems. Once the framework is finalized, the evaluation method might change.

5. Conclusion

Gamification offers possibilities to enhance motivation and adherence in the therapeutic area. A wide range of approaches and applications already exist. However, the focus is mostly on a specific part of the rehabilitation process without taking the individual patient pathway into account. In this paper, we presented the comprehensive methodology for the development of a new holistic approach to use game design elements to enhance motivation and patient empowerment in the entire rehabilitation process of patients with MSD of the shoulder. Although some modifications and amendments to individual steps can be expected, we are confident that the described methodology will be suitable to archive the overall objective of this work.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all AGT-Reha project partners for the inspiring discussions concerning the described methodology.

- J. Hamari, P. Pervinen, Introduction to Gamification Mintrack, in: International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS-51), IEEE Computer Society Press, 2018, 1106-1107.
- [2] S. Deterding, D. Dixon, R. Khaled, L. Nacke, From Game Design Elements to Gamefulness, in: International Academic MindTrek Conference: Envisioning Future Media Environments, Association for Computing Machinery, 2011, 9-15.
- [3] D. Johnson, S. Deterding, K.-A. Kuhn, A. Staneva, S. Stoyanov, L. Hides, Gamification for health and wellbeing: A systematic review of the literature, *Internet Interventions* 6 (2016), 89-106.
- [4] J. Dunbar-Jacob, J.A. Erlen, C.M. Ryan, S.M. Sereika, W.M. Doswell, Adherence in chronic disease, Annu Rev Nurs Res 18 (2000), 48-90.
- [5] World Health Organization, Adherence to Long-Term Therapies: Evidence for Action. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2003.
- [6] Bundesarbeitergemeinschaft f
 ür Rehabilitation (BAR), Ed. Practice Guide:Strategies to ensure the sustainability of medical rehabilitation services. BAR e.V., Frankfurt/Main, 2016, German.
- [7] reha-app.de [Internet]. Amerang: Medical Park AG; c2018 [cited 2018 Aug 06]. Available from: https://www.reha-app.de/. German.
- [8] B. Sens, G. von Lewinski, U.-V. Albrecht, Quality assurance: "TEP-App" for endoprosthetics, *Dtsch Arztebl* 112 (2015), A-830 / B-702 / C-678. German.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190020

Patient Reported Reasons for Surgery Cancellations Do Not Necessarily Correspond with Hospitals' Representation of the Same Problem

Kari DYB¹

Norwegian Centre for E-health Research, Tromso, Norway

Abstract. Surgery cancellation is a well-recognized quality problem within hospitals. The e-Team Surgery project addressed the problem of elective surgery cancellation at a Norwegian hospital and explored the potential to reduce surgery cancellation by providing a tool for secure online communication between the hospital and the patient. This communication would occur before surgery while the patient was still at home. The causes of elective surgery cancellation are divided into two major categories: hospital- and patient-related reasons. As part of the e-Team Surgery project, this study addressed patient reasons for cancelling surgery through qualitative interviews with 11 patients who fit these criteria. The study found that most patients called the hospital to reschedule, not to cancel, their upcoming surgery. The patient interviews had significant implications for the e-Team Surgery project. They affected the overall understanding of the surgery cancellation problem and made more clear the data and information needed when developing sustainable systems to reduce elective surgery cancellation.

Keywords. Surgical cancellation, patient perspectives, online communication, qualitative research, technology development

1. Introduction

For most hospitals, a surgery department is simultaneously a major investment and their greatest revenue source [1-4]. However, 10%–40% of elective surgeries are cancelled [4,5]. The causes for surgery cancellation can often be divided into two major categories, which are based on who made the decision to cancel. These categories are hospital- and patient-related reasons. Most surgery cancellations are due to existing, necessary information that was unavailable to health care providers during the planning process [6-8]. Up to 50% of cancellations might be avoidable [1,6,9].

The e-Team Surgery project (2015–2019) [1,10] addressed the problem of elective surgery cancellation at a university hospital in Norway and explored the potential to reduce surgery cancellation by providing a new tool for secure online communication between the hospital and the patient. This communication would occur before surgery while the patient is still at home. An interdisciplinary research team studied whether and

¹ Corresponding Author, Kari Dyb, Norwegian Centre for E-health Research P.O. Box 35, N-9038 Tromso, Norway; E-mail: kari.dyb@ehealthresearch.no.

how electronic communication before hospitalisation could actively involve the patient. This would occur during the pre-operative planning process and, therefore, reduce cancellations by providing necessary information at the appropriate time. In this case, necessary information refer to information patients often have access to and that might affect surgery. This includes whether the patient has a cold or other virus infection, allergies or chronic conditions; if they are taking pharmaceuticals; if they are prone to anaesthetic reactions; if they have surgery-related anxiety or distress and other factors.

Hospitals, including the hospital that constituted the research site, often use the cancellation code 'patient wish' to refer to patient-related causes for surgery cancellation [7,11]. This term indicates that the patient did not wish or want to have surgery. At the hospital, professionals expressed concern about the cancellation rate and discussed the use of tools such as SMS notifications to remind patients about upcoming surgeries. However, to this study's knowledge, the hospital had not asked patients about their reason for cancelling. This representation of the problem, in which the patient is held responsible and not the hospital, corresponds with research on cancellations performed in outpatient clinics that addressed the problem of patients failing to show up for or forgetting about their appointments [12,13]. Patient perspectives has been little explored.

To gather empirical knowledge on patient reasons for cancelling surgery, this study designed a qualitative interview inquiry that asks patients why they cancelled their elective surgery. The aim was to use the knowledge to develop an online tool for communication between the hospital and the patient before surgery. The results of the patient inquiry were surprising and had major implications for the health informatics vision and the technology development of the e-Team Surgery project.

2. Methods

During the e-Team Surgery project, an interdisciplinary team explored the potential to reduce surgery cancellations by providing secure online communication between the hospital and the patient. The project applied a mixed-method approach.

To gather patient perspectives on why they cancelled surgery, a health professional identified patients who had done so within the past three weeks. To maintain the patients' anonymity, the health professional mailed letters of invitation to the patients requesting their participation in qualitative telephone interviews. Of the 48 letters of invitation, 11 recipients stated that they were available for an interview. The participants were adults ages 32 to 70 and included six men and five women. The conducted, structured phone interviews lasted 10–60 minutes each.

The data protection officer at the selected hospital approved the study, and all the participants signed informed consent forms.

3. Results and Analysis

During the interviews, most patients stated that they wanted surgery, but, unfortunately, the operating date provided by the hospital was inconvenient and ill-timed for them or their families. Most patients called the hospital to reschedule immediately after receiving the admittance letter that set the date of their surgery. This letter, which the hospital mailed, was the first piece of information the patients received about the fixed date for

their surgery. The letter also contained general information about the surgery, vital presurgery behaviour and the name of the responsible surgeon.

When asked why they cancelled their surgery, one patient said, 'I didn't cancel for the fun of it!' (Patient 1, P1). This patient said she was troubled by her condition and wanted surgery but twice had family obligations that made it impossible for her to have the surgery at the time set by the hospital. Another patient said that the admittance letter informed her that the surgery was not recommended for pregnant women. 'I called the hospital and said I was pregnant and that I could not undergo surgery as it was not recommended for pregnant women' (P2). A third patient said, 'I cancelled. I had to work that day! It was not possible for me to be hospitalised at the assigned date' (P3). A fourth patient cancelled because his wife was scheduled for a caesarean delivery on the same day. He said, 'I got a daughter [on] the assigned date. It was a planned caesarean delivery, and I wanted to be there!' (P4). These statements illustrate how the patient reasons for cancelling surgery varied. Nevertheless, the overall findings demonstrate that the patients wanted surgery. Most called the hospital to reschedule, not to cancel, their surgery.

One patient criticized the current surgery scheduling system. 'The booking system, it definitely has constraints. As a patient, you cannot reschedule! The surgery gets cancelled! In a digital society, is it not possible to change an appointment and go through with the surgery?' (P5). Another patient said, 'I think it [the surgery cancellation rate] is related to the lack of coordination. Currently, the hospital schedules blindly, solely based on doctor and operating room availability rather than a quick phone call to the patients [to ask], "These dates are available. Which is better?"' (P6). As these quotes illustrate, the patients saw the scheduling system as rigid and outdated. The patients wanted to be involved in the scheduling process and to have a say in the timing of their elective surgery.

4. Discussion

This study on patient perspectives on surgery cancellation demonstrates that, contrary to the hospital's assumptions about the 'patient's wish', these patients wanted their surgery. They simply sought to reschedule the surgery date set by the hospital. Their reasons for cancelling surgery were not related to a lack of interest or willingness to undergo surgery as the 'patient wish' concept indicates. Instead, they cancelled due to the hospital's poorly functioning scheduling system.

This study illustrates the advantages of shifting analysis from an attempt to develop solutions to an exploration of how different actors represent the problem [14]. Investigating the surgery cancellation problem from the patients' perspectives yielded new knowledge on surgery cancellation that hospital required but lacked. Today, there is no rescheduling category in the system. In addition to uncovering patient reasons for cancelling elective surgeries, this study sheds light on the differences between the problem for the patients and the representation of the problem by the hospital.

5. Limitations

A limitation of this study was the low response rate (11:48). Participants may have been particularly frustrated with the scheduling system as compared to non-participants. However, the patient interview data correspond with interview data from secretaries

working with the scheduling system. Both groups indicated the limitations and constraints of the scheduling system though from different perspectives.

6. Conclusion

The results of this study were surprising. They affected not only an overall understanding of why patients cancel surgery but also future approaches towards developing the e-Team Surgery solution. This study also provided information necessary to create sustainable systems that will reduce the number of surgery cancellations. The e-Team Surgery project sought to address the problem by facilitating secure online communication between the hospital and the patient prior to surgery. However, this vision has been put on hold. The project's new health informatics vision is to improve the surgery scheduling system. Although this is not as innovative as the initial vision, it will hopefully provide a first step towards reducing surgery cancellations at hospitals.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank the patients for their participation; the regional health authority Helse-Nord for funding project HST 1119-13 and HST 1125-13 and the e-Team Surgery research group.

- K. Dyb, C. Granja, S.B. Bolle, G. Hartvigsen, Digital Users in Pre-Digital Hospital Organisations?, International Journal on Advances in Life Sciences 8 (2016), 39-49.
- [2] B. Denton, J. Viapiano, A. Vogl, Optimization of Surgery Sequencing and Scheduling Decisions under Uncertainty, *Health Care Management Science* 10 (2007), 13–24.
- [3] W.N. Schofield, G.L. Rubin, M. Piza, Y.Y. Lai et al., Cancellation of Operations on the Day of Intended Surgery at a Major Australian Referral Hospital, *Medical Journal of Australia* 182 (2005), 612–615.
- [4] M.J. Lacqua, J.T. Evans, Cancelled Elective Surgery: An Evaluation, *The American Surgeon* 60 (1994), 809–811.
- [5] B. Ivarsson, P.O. Kimblad, T. Sjöberg, S. Larsson, Patient Reactions to Cancelled or Postponed Heart Operations, *Journal of Nursing Management* 10 (2002), 75–81.
- [6] T.L. Trentman, et. al., Day of Surgery Cancellations in a Tertiary Care Hospital: A One Year Review, Journal of Anesthesia & Clinical Research 1 (2010).
- [7] R. Busund, Rapport fra prosjekt: Optimal ressursutnyttelse av opperasjonskapasiteten i UNN, Tromsø, Norway, 2008.
- [8] A.R Seim, et.al., Causes of cancellations on the day of surgery at two major university hospitals, *Surgical Innovation*, 16(2) (2009), 173-180.
- [9] P. Sanjay, et al., Cancelled Elective Operations: An Observational Study from a District General Hospital, Journal of Health Organisation Managment 21 (2007), 54–58.
- [10] C. Granja, K. Dyb, S.B. Bolle, G. Hartvigsen, Electronic Communication as a Tool to Reduce Elective Surgery Cancellations, *International Journal on Advances in Life Sciences* 8 (2016), 16-25.
- [11] M. Knox, et al., The Impact of Pre-operative Assessment Clinics on Elective Surgical Case Cancellations, *The Surgeon* 7 (2009), 76–78.
- [12] A. Murdock, C. Rodgers, H. Lindsay, K. Tham, Why do patients not keep their appointments? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 95 (2002), 284-286.
- [13] L.L. Naomi, A. Paulman, M.D. Reuter, B. Lovejoy, Why We Dont't Come: Patients Perceptions on No-Shows, *The Annals of Family Medicines* 2(6) (2004), 541-545.
- [14] C. Bacchi Lee, Analysing Policy: What's the Problem Represented To Be? French Forest, Pearson Australia, 2009.

Dynamic Survival Analysis Using In-Memory Technology

Sophie SCHNEIDERBAUER¹, Diana SCHWEIZER, Theres FEY and Daniel NASSEH Comprehensive Cancer Center Munich - LMU, Hospital of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Bavaria, Germany

Abstract. In the field of oncology, survival analysis is one of the most important tools in terms of measuring therapy success, evaluating risk or prognostic factors. Within this work, a variety of common survival analyses were embedded into a real-time analysis platform based on a comprehensive oncological dataset. The analysis platform utilizes an in-memory database, therefore allowing spontaneous adjustments of the survival curves to selections and stratifications. In contrast to classical statistics, where individual scripts have to be formulated for every possible request, the running system allows the deduction of instantaneous results.

Keywords. Survival Analysis, Data Warehousing, Medical Oncology

1. Introduction

Within oncology, keeping track of a patient's course of disease allows to calculate the time between diagnosis and specific events like e.g. death. If this follow-up (FU) information is known for most patients of a given cohort (different sources advise a FU rate of 80%-100% [1,2]), meaningful estimations about the survival can be made. The university hospital of the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität in Munich is documenting oncology-relevant information into its tumor documentation system (CREDOS [3]) where each patient is comprehensively described by a set of records resulting in more than 1000 possible attributes. The software captures all organ entities (e.g. stomach) and the documentation is driven by federal laws (Bavarian Cancer Registry Law: BayKRegG, Art. 4, §1) and certification requirements [2]. While CREDOS is a tool for gathering data, the site developed an analysis platform [4], based on the in-memory software QlikView, allowing to examine the data in real-time [5]. The most complex module within this platform is the survival module, which, in comparison to classical statistics, allows the dynamic formation of arbitrary patient cohorts, stratifications and types of survival analysis by simple clicks.

¹ Corresponding Author, Sophie Schneiderbauer, CCC-Munich-LMU, Pettenkoferstraße 8a, 80336 Munich, Germany; E-mail: Sophie.schneiderbauer@med.uni-muenchen.de

80

2. Methods

For building modules, QlikView offers a scripting section as well as a graphical toolbox. Within the scripting section the tables, data fields and interconnections are defined. In the running system (user interface), all connected tables dynamically, in real time react on any selections [5]. For example, if an end-user clicks on a specific field value, e.g. a diagnosis code, consequently all other tables and charts dynamically only display cohorts with the given diagnosis code. The analysis platform's main data model was leaned on the CREDOS data. Linked to this model, via the tumor-id, was a large table labeled SURV, which was built up in a stepwise manner. Every type of survival analysis contains a specified starting and endpoint, from which the survival time was calculated. Additionally, the binary field 'type', being either a censorship or an event was defined. In the given context a censorship describes the situation when there is a FU time but the given event has not yet occurred or is not known to have occurred [6]. For each event or censorship, a date of occurrence was stored within the table. Due to the scope of this work, we cannot go into full detail about all preparatory steps. Finally, the time in days up from the starting point until the previously defined endpoint - event or censorship - was calculated and stored within SURV. In summary, for every tumor in the dataset, the times and the types needed for calculating each of the six types of survival curves (see below) were stored. If no such information was available, the corresponding fields were left empty and in the later-on calculations of the curves, these cases are not included in the cohort. After the data model was loaded in QlikView, the graphical development toolbox was used to create the dynamic Kaplan-Meier (KM) curves by accessing SURV. One chart was created, which can display six different curves: OAS, survival after progression (PPS), local recurrence-free survival (LRFS), recurrence-free survival (RFS), metastasis-free survival (MFS) as well as progressionfree survival (PFS). The chart was designed in a way that the survival is estimated at every FU time, starting from zero. As has been mentioned, these times are calculated in SURV. The general formula of the KM-estimator is well-known (see [6; 7]). The implementation of this formula might differ depending on what programming language or software is used. In our system, the formula was implemented as follows:

[S(t)]: if(isnull(Above([S(t)])), 1, Above([S(t)])) * propSurv

The given formula is recursive and utilizes the proportional survival at time t. We refer to it as *propSurv*. We utilized QlikView's "Above" function instead of writing a "for" or "while" construct, as is common in other programming languages, to access the cumulative survival at time t-1.

The part, which we refer to as *propSurv* is another expression and was implemented as:

[propSurv]: if((([Amount of Events]=0) and ([Under Risk]=0)), 1, 1-([Amount of Events]/[Under Risk]))

In Bewick et al. [6] it is defined as the proportion of surviving time t having survived up to time t-1. The cumulative function of those makes up the KM curve. In square brackets are additional expressions, which were derived from the SURV table.

Aside from the main KM-chart, we added helpful features like confidence intervals (Greenwood's formula [7]) or overviews about the FU rate for a selected cohort within a given timeframe.

3. Results

As part of an interconnected analysis framework, the presented survival module sits on top of a persistent oncological data model. Based on simple mouse clicks, arbitrary selections and stratifications are possible in real time. The main part of this module is a KM chart. Currently it supports six different types of KM-curves, as described above.

QlikView itself is a continuously running system, automatically updated on a daily basis and reachable by interested physicians via a web browser (intranet). A video showing the main functionalities of the survival module is provided at:

https://www.ibe.med.uni-

muenchen.de/organisation/mitarbeiter/070_drittmittel/nasseh/survival_final.mp4

4. Discussion

The in-memory database is not a technology exclusively used by QlikView but instead can be found in many modern business intelligence solutions like microsoft's Power BI or SAP-Hana [8,9]. Implementing survival analysis within these tools should be seen as an innovative technique for quickly examining arbitrary cohorts. In comparison to classical statistics, the in-memory technology allows a fast, real-time view on arbitrary stratified data. In software like R or SPSS [10,11], even if a preliminary working script had been established, one would need to alter scripts for every new selection or stratification. Thus, the big benefit within our system does not lie in the performance, which can be even better in static scripts, but instead within the absence of any need of preparation, allowing to spontaneously browse into the data and generate knowledge. One pitfall though within in-memory systems is that there is a tradeoff between runtime and allowing flexible interaction of the user, hence the system may not get too complex. Currently within our system (12.0 GB RAM, Intel Xeon 2.4 GHz dual core), generating one curve for 1000 patients takes 5 seconds. Although physicians should be able to understand and explain KM-curves [12], in order to protect against misuse, when entering the survival module there is a collection of information: Buttons, pop ups and tooltips which give insight about used formula definitions, FU rates as well as technical limitations. Concerning the used formulas, there are ongoing debates about the correct specifications, where e.g. different definitions have been used in publications [13]. Along the recommendation of the FDA [14] we clearly state the used definitions. Furthermore, references were provided, as e.g. the RECIST criteria [15], definitions of our local tumor registry or the demands of the certification committee [2,16]. Although there are alternative ideas [17], quantification of FU was calculated along ONKOZERT and CONSORT guidelines [18,19]. Finally, it has to be mentioned that a system like this is not meant to replace a statistician or IT professional. The goal is rather to facilitate translational research by simplifying the access to the oncological database for physicians, who often do not have the computational skills and time to extract the knowledge from pure data tables, but who have the expertise to generate new research hypotheses [20]. As the system was just recently released to physicians, besides positive feedback, it has not been used for extensive research projects yet. Still it has been utilized within our annual audits and in general creates a lot of interest into our data, which has not been the case before. As for future perspectives, further refinements of the module are envisioned as e.g. adding FU rates of other curves than the OAS, logrank test or Cox-regression models.

5. Conclusion

Despite the limitations and risks, the merits of a real-time, flexible survival analysis tool, compared to classical statistics, are obvious. In-house, the software has been used, with, the last couple of years for proposals, analyses, etc., while the survival module in particular offers a great facilitation during the annual audits and could serve as an inspiration for other centers which are interested in novel ways of data discovery [21].

References

- [1] A. Altendorf-Hofmann, Überlebensraten als Instrument der Qualitätssicherung in Organzentren, (2013). Justus-Liebig-Universität Giessen, http://www.med.uni-
- giessen.de/akkk/info/20/praesentationen/altendorf_hofmann.pdf (accessed on Nov 16, 2018).
 [2] Erhebungsbogen für Darmkrebszentren, (2016). Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, https://onkozert.de/ wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/eb dz-H1 171005.docx (accessed on Nov 16, 2018)
- [3] W. Voigt, R. Steinbock, B. Scheffer, credos 3.1 ein Baukasten zur Tumordokumentation für Epidemiologische-, Klinische,-Tumorspezifische-und Zentrums-register integriert in das Kis Sap/r3 Ish: Po344, Onkologie 33 (2010), 52.
- [4] D. Nasseh, D. Schweizer, U. Mansmann, Visualisierung und Analyse im Kontext onkologischer Daten (2017).
- [5] What makes QlikView Unique A Qlik White Paper, (2014). QlikTech International AB http://www.bitechnology.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/WP-What-Makes-QlikView-Unique EN.pdf, (accessed November 16, 2018).
- [6] V. Bewick, L. Cheek, J. Ball, Statistics review 12: survival analysis, Critical care 8 (2004), 389.
- [7] E.L. Kaplan, P. Meier, Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations, *Journal of the American statistical association* **53** (1958), 457-481.
- [8] T. Lachev, E. Price, Applied Microsoft Power BI: Bring your data to life!, Prologika Press, 2018.
- [9] F. Färber, S.K. Cha, J. Primsch, C. Bornhövd, S. Sigg, W. Lehner, SAP HANA database: data management for modern business applications, ACM Sigmod Record 40 (2012), 45-51.
- [10] R Development Core Team, R: A language and environment for statistical computing, in, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, http://www.R-project.org, 2008.
- [11] IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, in, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, https://www.ibm.com/analytics/spssstatistics-software (accessed on November 16, 2018), 2017.
- [12] I. Zwiener, M. Blettner, G. Hommel, Survival analysis: part 15 of a series on evaluation of scientific publications, *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International* 108 (2011), 163.
- [13] E.D. Saad, A. Katz, Progression-free survival and time to progression as primary end points in advanced breast cancer: often used, sometimes loosely defined, *Annals of Oncology* 20 (2009), 460-464.
- [14] US Food and Drug Administration, Guidance for industry: clinical trial endpoints for the approval of cancer drugs and biologics, *Federal Register* **72** (2007).
- [15] P. Therasse, S.G. Arbuck, E.A. Eisenhauer, J. Wanders, R.S. Kaplan, L. Rubinstein, J. Verweij, M. Van Glabbeke, A.T. van Oosterom, M.C. Christian, New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors, *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **92** (2000), 205-216.
- [16] ICD-10 C18-C20: Darmtumor (Frauen) Survival, (2018). Tumorregister München, https://www.tumorregister-muenchen.de/facts/surv/sC1820G-ICD-10-C18-C20-Darmtumor-Survival.pdf (accessed on Nov 16, 2018).
- [17] T.G. Clark, D.G. Altman, B.L. De Stavola, Quantification of the completeness of follow-up, *The Lancet* 359 (2002), 1309-1310.
- [18] Basisdaten Darm, (2016). Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft, https://onkozert.de/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/eb_dz-H1-1_daten_171002.xlsx, (accessed on Nov 16, 2018).
- [19] D. Moher, K.F. Schulz, D.G. Altman, The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel group randomized trials, *BMC medical research methodology* 1 (2001), 2.
- [20] B. Ligeti, S. Pongor, Biomedical data mining, data-driven hypothesis generation in cancer research, Faculty of Bionics and Information Technology, Pázmány Péter Catholic University, http://pongor.itk.ppke.hu/sites/default/files/pdf/biomed_data_mining.pdf (accessed on Nov 20, 2018).
- [21] K. Fredriksson, Data Discovery BI im Zeitalter von Apps und Social Media, https://web.archive.org/ web/20160528145832/http://drmartin.dbxl.de/Ausgabe-72#NL2245 (accessed on Nov 19, 2018).

82

Implementing eHealth Technologies: The Need for Changed Work Practices to Reduce Medication Errors

Kari DYB^{a,1} and Line Lundvoll WARTH^{a,b}

^aNorwegian Centre for E-health Research, P.O. Box 35, N-9038 Tromsø, Norway ^b University of Tromsø, The Arctic University of Norway, N-9019 Tromsø, Norway

Abstract. Medication errors are a significant health problem and a serious threat to patient safety. In Norway, an estimated one-third of the elderly population has been exposed to potentially inappropriate medications. The Norwegian government has assumed a pivotal role in reducing medication errors and providing safer medication management for its citizens, particularly through the national eHealth system's e-prescription and Summary Care Record. In the present study, we depart from the governmental eHealth initiatives and examine why access to pharmaceutical information is not sufficient to solve the problem with medication errors. Empirical data were collected from 2015 to 2019 through the conduction of 56 qualitative interviews that were transcribed, thematically coded and analysed. The results illustrate how eHealth systems are helpful, at the same time, we emphasise changed work practices and professional knowledge-sharing as a basis for solving the issue of medication errors.

Keywords. implementation, eHealth, Summary Care Record, e-prescription, shared pharmaceutical list, medication errors, work practices, qualitative method

1. Introduction

The Norwegian government has assumed a pivotal role in providing safer medication management for its citizens by reducing medication errors through eHealth system efforts, such as e-prescription, the Summary Care Record (SCR), Multidose in e-prescription and the future Shared Pharmaceuticals List [1]. However, medication errors are still a significant health problem and a serious threat to patient safety. In Norway, as in the rest of the Western world, medication errors are a key societal challenge. One-third of the elderly Norwegian population has been exposed to potentially inappropriate medications [2], and it is estimated that 1,000 deaths yearly are due to medication errors [1]. Taking the wrong medicine, an incorrect dosage or the wrong combinations of drugs can lead to poor health outcomes, including premature death and reduced quality of life [3,4].

In this paper, we depart from e-prescription and the SCR, two national systems that collect data from a database called the Prescription Mediator, and provide access to information about the prescribed pharmaceuticals that the patient has received from

¹ Corresponding Author, Kari Dyb, Norwegian Centre for E-health Research P.O. Box 35, N-9038 Tromso, Norway; E-mail: kari.dyb@ehealthresearch.no.

Norwegian pharmacies. Here, we examine why access to information about the patient's pharmaceuticals is not sufficient to solve the problem with medication errors.

2. Methods

Empirical data were collected from 2015 to 2019 using a qualitative research method. We interviewed 56 professionals working with the SCR or the e-prescription solution. This presentation is based on knowledge gathered from all interviews. Since we are discussing governmental efforts in reducing medication errors, we have provided quotations from nine interviews with health authority representatives. The representatives were strategically selected for their professional involvement with the SCR or the e-prescription solution and consisted of designers, developers, implementers, health care providers and leaders. Empirical data from the other interviews are presented elsewhere [5]. All interviews were recorded, transcribed, thematically coded [6] and analysed. The selected quotations are translated from Norwegian to English.

3. Results and Analyses

We approached the challenge of medication errors through qualitative interviews with health authority representatives deeply involved in two national systems for accessing pharmaceutical information: e-prescription and the SCR. Our interviews, illustrated by quotations A–F (Figure 1), show that the health authority views e-prescription as a successful initiative. Digital prescribing and access to prescription information is regarded as a national quality improvement for Norwegian health and care services (Figure 1A).

- A: The [governmental] aim has always been a shared pharmaceutical list in Norway. Numerous studies demonstrate the poor pharmaceutical situation: a number of mistreatments and 1,000 deaths annually due to pharmaceutical errors. The [governmental] aim is to do something. E-prescription was probably the first major initiative introduced by the authorities. It was a huge improvement—from paper to digital. E-prescription was a big step forward. We see quality improvement on [Ihe] national level with digital access [to prescriptions].
- B: However, there is a challenge: what I call a bad [prescription] practice—the practice of paper [prescriptions]—continues. You [the doctor] do not access the system to check the patient's medication; you just write a new prescription. Here you go! You are welcome! Go to the pharmacy and get the medicines. You [the doctor] do not know—[Was] this medication prescribed to the patient previously [by another doctor]? Does the patient have the same medication at home or ...? That is how we get double prescriptions.
- C: E-prescription [the system] visualises the practice of double prescriptions ... Now, we have statistics; we can follow the development; there are numerous double prescriptions out there.
- D: There [are] so [many] systems going on, without coordination and an understanding [of] the overall picture. A [next] step is [giving nurses] access to the Summary Care Record. The nurses will get access to the same information though the SCR, as doctors gets in E-prescription.
- E: [The] Summary Care Record was adjusted to receive this information about pharmaceuticals, so, all together, the Shared Pharmaceutical List [a new service] ... the doctors could use the prescription mediator and send information about the patient's pharmaceuticals there. The nurses can use the Summary Care Record because they have no access to the prescription mediator.

Figure 1. Quotes from health authority representatives.

The health authority representatives claimed that a shared pharmaceutical list has always been the government's goal; e-prescription is merely the first step towards it (Figure 1A). At the same time, the health authorities acknowledged continuing challenges with medication errors and described them as connected to the continuance of work practices established though the use of paper prescriptions. Prior to e-prescription, there was no proven system for looking up a patient's pharmaceutical history. After e-prescription, however, the work practices from paper continue. Doctors continue prescribing medications, now digitally, without checking the patient's pharmaceutical history. Therefore, Norway still has medication errors, particularly related to double prescriptions (Figure 1B). E-prescription visualizes these errors, which were not as noticeable when using paper prescriptions (Figure 1C).

The health authority representatives claimed that national, digital systems for shared patients' pharmaceutical histories have had their attention for a long time, and stressed that the medication challenge is not regarded as solved by e-prescription (Figure 1A). Several systems have been developed and implemented so that new groups of professionals can access pharmaceutical information that they were unable to access earlier (Figure 1D). Nurses can access the SCR, doctors can access e-prescription and all professionals will have access to the future shared pharmaceutical list (Figure 1E).

E-prescription is a success as a digital system that provides doctors at various institutions and levels of care in Norwegian health and care services access to the same prescription information. However, the quotes illustrate that such systems for accessing information are not sufficient for solving the problem, neither in regards to double prescriptions nor to mistreatments and deaths due to medication errors. E-prescription is the first of several tools for accessing information about the patients' pharmaceutical history, and new systems are forthcoming, all with the purpose of providing information to diverse professionals at various levels of care to meet the issue of medication errors.

4. Discussion

To reduce medication errors, Norwegian health authorities have developed and implemented several national eHealth systems that provide healthcare professionals at diverse institutions and levels of care access to the same pharmaceutical information. The findings illustrate that the authorities perceive e-prescription and the SCR as useful quality-improvement initiatives but also recognise that these national systems are not sufficient for solving the medication challenge. Therefore, the governmental eHealth vision is to develop and implement a new, digitised, national system—the shared pharmaceutical list.

Digital systems for accessing pharmaceutical information are often linked to automatically generated data, as in the case of e-prescription and the SCR, which both collect data from a national database the Prescription Mediator. The national mediator provides information about all the prescribed pharmaceuticals that patients have received from Norwegian pharmacies. We believe that to get the patient's medication right, health professionals need to go through each patient's medication prior to prescribing new medication and determine whether they contain the correct medication for the patient. This will create an additional workload and require changed work practices for professionals.

With paper prescriptions, it was possible for doctors to prescribe medicines in a single action. Making this information digital allows them to check the information in the Prescription Mediator to prevent writing double prescriptions, prescribing incompatible medications and so on. Hence, the prescribing process should include extended collaboration and discussions among professionals. To address the problems of erroneous medication, incorrect dosages and patients taking the wrong combination of drugs, professionals must process the information from the digital systems to acquire

correct information through collaboration and knowledge sharing. This includes changed work practices.

Systems for accessing pharmaceutical information are useful; however, to fulfil the promise of digital systems and solve the issue of medication errors, new work practices are essential, including extensive knowledge sharing and defined responsibilities. It is not enough that individual practitioners change their habits, whether writing or pushing a button. All the involved professional groups, institutions and patients must collaborate and share knowledge to solve the issue. It is essential to look beyond technological optimism and focus on professionals and work practices to understand and reduce medication errors.

5. Conclusion

We have studied why implementing eHealth systems for accessing information about patients' prescribed pharmaceuticals does not solve the problem of medication errors. The results demonstrate that increased information sharing is crucial, but solving the problem of medication errors demands changing established work practices and the way that professionals collaborate. We recommend that health authorities look at professional work and knowledge practices rather than at technology. Digital technologies are helpful in addressing the medication problem, but the main challenge may be related to establishing new routine work practices among health professionals. We believe that healthcare providers have the greatest potential to bring about change and solve the issue of medication errors.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Nils Kolstrup (MD, PhD) and Senior Advisor Line Linstad for contributing to the data collection. Thank you also to all informants in the study.

- [1] The Norwegian Directorate of eHealth (2019): https://ehelse.no [downloaded 21.03.19].
- [2] G. Nyborg, J. Straand, M. Brekke, Inappropriate prescribing for the elderly A modern epidemic?, *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 68(7) (2012), 1085–1094.
- [3] R. Kaushal, D.W. Bates, C. Landrigan, K.J. McKenna, M.D. Clapp, F. Federico, D.A. Goldman, Medication errors and adverse drug events in pediatric inpatients, *Jama* 285(16) (2001), 2114–2020.
- [4] D.C. Radley, M.R. Wasserman, L.E. Olsho, S.J. Shoemaker, M.D. Spranca, B. Bradshaw, Reduction in medication errors in hospitals due to adoption of computerized provider order entry systems, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 20(3) (2013), 470-476.
- [5] K. Dyb, L.L. Warth, The Norwegian National Summary Care Record: A qualitative analysis of doctors' use of and trust in shared patient information, *BMC Health Services Research* 18(1) (2018), 252.
- [6] K. Charmaz, Constructing grounded theory, SAGE, London, 2014.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190023

Impact of Students' Presence and Course Participation on Learning Outcome in Co-Operative Online-based Courses

Elske AMMENWERTH ^{a,1}, Werner O. HACKL^a, Verena DORNAUER^a, Michael FELDERER^b, Alexander HOERBST^c, Renate NANTSCHEV^a and Michael NETZER^{a,d} *^a Institute of Medical Informatics, UMIT – University for Health Sciences, Medical Informatics and Technology, Hall in Tirol, Austria ^b Department of Computer Science, University of Innsbruck, Austria ^c Research Group eHealth and Innovation, UMIT, Hall in Tirol, Austria ^d Institute of Electrical and Biomedical Engineering, UMIT, Austria*

Abstract. Socio-constructive instructional designs for online-based learning focus on interaction and communication of students to allow in-depth learning. The objective of this study is to analyze whether increased interaction of students in online-based learning settings may contribute to better outcome. We developed indicators for presence, participation, and interactivity of students. We extracted log data from the learning management system for 31 students in 10 online courses (n=123 course attendances). We correlated indicators to final grades and also applied a decision tree based machine learning approach. We found only weak to moderate correlations between the indicators and final grades, but acceptable results support the theory that student presence and participation in online-based courses is related to learning outcome.

Keywords. Learning, distance, health informatics

1. Introduction

Socio-constructivist theories of learning are built on the assumption that learning is only possible by interaction and communication. From this perspective, learning advances through collaborative social interaction and through the social construction of knowledge [1]. Research indeed provides evidence that course engagement and interaction with peers are related to better learning outcomes [2,3]. The Austrian University UMIT started a fully online-based postgraduate master program in Health Information Management in 2017 [4]. The program contains only asynchronous activities and peer discussions, for details of the instructional design see [4]. We were interested to understand whether sustained engagement and interaction between students contributed to learning outcomes, as we wanted to inform new students on the need and the benefits of regular engagement and interaction. Our research question is therefore: Is course presence, course participation, and course interaction positively correlated to learning outcome as measured by final grades?

¹ Corresponding Author, Elske Ammenwerth, UMIT, Institute of Medical Informatics, Eduard Wallnöfer Zentrum 1, 6060 Hall in Tirol, Austria; E-mail: elske.ammenwerth@umit.at.

2. Materials and Methods

We extracted log data of successful students from our learning management system Moodle. In addition, final grades were documented (60 - 100 points, as 60 points was the pass mark in every course). For a sub sample of courses, manual workload documentation on a daily base was available from the participants. After data integration, the dataset was pseudonymized for further analysis.

We used indicators on student's presence in the online-based environment, student's participation, and student's interactivity [5] (Table 1). For this study, only standard log data was available; the indicators for interactivity as proposed in [5] could not be calculated. We thus added two further indicators that are easily available from Moodle log data: Course dedication that describes the overall online time, and course activity that counts the overall number of logged activities (Table 1). We added these indicators as earlier research found that they are related to learning outcome [6,7]. All indicators were calculated as an "index" with minimum = 0% and maximum = 100%. Overall, we extracted data from ten online-based courses in the master program Health Information Management at UMIT that took place between October 2017 and July 2018. Each course had a duration of six weeks and was given fully online. Data from 123 course participations (31 distinct students) was included in the analysis. Manually documented workload data was available for 54 course participations. For this subset, we analyzed correlation between this "subjective" workload self-assessment and the "objective" log data (course dedication), to learn about the validity of the log data. We also assessed the correlation between all indicators and the final course grade as well as the correlation between the different indicators both statistically and using visual analytics techniques.

Multivariate analysis was not yet performed due to dependency of the data (single students participated in several courses and half of the courses were taught by two lecturers) and the small sample size. However, to test, if it is possible to predict students' success (i.e., belonging to the better half of the students) depending on the indicators we applied a decision tree based machine learning approach (CRT Trees, gini index, 10-fold cross validation). We used R (version 3.5.1) to calculate and statistically assess the indicators that are presented in Table 1. Tableau Desktop Professional (V 2018.2.3) was used for the visual data analytics part and IBM SPSS Statistics (V 24) for the machine learning approach. The study was approved by the ethical board of UMIT (2309/17). Students provided informed consent. All data were pseudonymized before data analysis.

Indicator	Description
Student's presence	
Access Index	Number of online days in relation to course duration.
Access Pattern Index	Number of days that belong to a group of at least three days in a row in which a student was absent from the course, in relation to the duration of the course; the result is then subtracted from 100%.
Dedication Index*	Overall time spend online (Moodle course dedication), in relation to the maximum dedication of a student in the given course.
Activity Index*	Number of activities (reading, writing) conducted online, in relation to the maximum number of activities of a student in the given course.
Student's participation	

Table 1. Indicators for course engagement [5]. * = New indicators added for this study. $\dagger =$ Indicators not available for this study

Reading Index	Number of reading activities, in relation to the maximum number of reading activities of a student in the given course.
Writing Index	Number of posts written by a student, in relation to the maximum number of posts written by a student in the given course.
Contribution Index	Number of days with at least one post, in relation to all own online days.
Student's interactivity [†]	
Answer contribution Index [†]	Number of replies in relation to all own posts.
Connectivity Index [†]	Number of unilateral relationships in a course, in relation to the number
	of possible unilateral relationships
Reciprocity Index [†]	Number of bilateral relationships in a course, in relation to the number of
	possible unilateral relationship

3. Results

We found a strong positive linear relationship between the automatically calculated workload estimate ("course dedication" with default options) from Moodle and the manual daily workload documentation provided by the students (r = 0.74 [CI 0.59 0.84], df=54, p<0.0001). We can thus use dedication as an indicator for individual workload.

From the available seven indicators, we found a positive correlation with final grades for all of them. However, the correlations were only weak to moderate (Spearman's ρ ranging from 0.092 to 0.480). The correlations was highest for the following three indicators: Access Index (ρ =0.426, p<0.0001), Reading Index (ρ =0.472; p<0.0001) and Writing Index (ρ =0.092; p=0.31). Finally, we tested the possibility of predicting students' success with the available indicators. Students' success was defined here as belonging to the better half of students in the course (i.e. final grade (range: 0-100 points) above or equal the median grade of all students in the course). Consequently, we obtain a binary classification problem with two classes. The decision tree model yielded a classification performance in terms of accuracy of 78 percent. A students' success (i.e., success = TRUE) could be correctly predicted in 73.5 percent of the cases (50 of 68). Students with grades below the median (i.e., success = FALSE) were classified correctly in 83.6 percent of all cases (46 of 55).

4. Discussion

We found weak to moderate correlations between indicators for course presence and course participation and the final grade in online-based courses. The dedication index, showing the overall time online, has the highest normalized importance for predicting the success and also correlates strongly with activity index, read index, and write index. Analysis of self-assessed workload revealed that dedication time and individual workload are strongly correlated, allowing using dedication time as surrogate for workload. We assume a somewhat logical chain from presence (being in the course) to participation (being active in the course) and finally to interactivity (being active together with peers in the course). We haven't analyzed yet whether this hypothesis can be validated from the data; this can only be done when larger sample sizes are available. We focused on successful students; unsuccessful students may show different patterns.

Gunawardena (1997) described how online learners arrive at a higher level of critical thinking through different stages of interaction with peers: (a) sharing/comparing of information, (b) discovery of dissonance, (c) co-construction of knowledge (d) testing

and modification of proposed synthesis, and (e) agreement of newly constructed meaning [8]. Salmon (2013) postulated in a comparable way a Five Stage Model for successful collaborative online-based learning [9]. All these frameworks have a strong focus on interaction and communication of students as a precondition for successful learning in common. Our indicators are not vet able to mirror these complex stages. A qualitative and quantitative content analysis of forum posts would be needed for this. Our results need to be interpreted with some caution: First, correlation does not imply causation. As we did a retrospective observational study, we cannot conclude that high student presence and participation cause higher grades. An alternative interpretation could be that motivation, self-regulation or intelligence impact on both participation and grades. Second, using grades to measure learning outcomes has some limitations. Third, in our online courses, participation in the courses has an influence on final grades. In all courses, 10 - 20% of final grading were given based on quality (but not quantity) of interaction. Thus, students who interacted strongly got partly higher grades. This may have contributed to the identified correlation. Fourth, our results are not easily generalizable to other instructional contexts.

5. Conclusions

We were able to calculate indicators for student presence and student participation in online-based courses from routine log data. Results show a small to medium correlation with learning grades. We plan to conduct further multivariate analysis to better understand how the different indicators may predict success, failure or final grades, as soon as more data are available. In addition, we will develop indicators of interactivity that can be calculated from standard log data in an automated way.

- C.N. Gunawardena, C.A. Lowe, T. Anderson, Transcript analysis of computer-mediated conferences as a tool for testing constructivist and social-constructivist learning theories, in: Proc. Distance Learn. '98 14th Annu. Conf. Distance Teach. Learn., University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, 1998, 139–145.
- [2] A. Brooker, L. Corrin, P. De Barba, J. Lodge, G. Kennedy, A tale of two MOOCs: How student motivation and participation predict learning outcomes in different MOOCs, *Australas. J. Educ. Technol.* 34 (2018) 73–87.
- [3] C. Kent, E. Laslo, S. Rafaeli, Interactivity in online discussions and learning outcomes, *Comput. Educ.* 97 (2016) 116–128.
- [4] E. Ammenwerth, W.O. Hackl, M. Felderer, C. Sauerwein, and A. Hörbst, Building a Community of Inquiry Within an Online-Based Health Informatics Program: Instructional Design and Lessons Learned., *Stud. Health Technol. Inform.* 253 (2018) 196–200.
- [5] E. Ammenwerth, W.O. Hackl, A. Hörbst, M. Felderer, Indicators for cooperative, online-based learning and their role in quality management of online learning, in: M. Boboc, and S. Koç (Eds.), Student-Centered Virtual Learn. Environ. High. Educ., IGI Global, 2018, 1–20.
- [6] H.-C. Wei, H. Peng, C. Chou, Can more interactivity improve learning achievement in an online course? Effects of college students' perception and actual use of a course-management system on their learning achievement, *Comput. Educ.* 83 (2015) 10–21. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2014.12.013.
- [7] B.M. Wilson, Does Active Learning Enhance Learner Outcomes? Evidence from Discussion Participation in Online Classes, J. Polit. Sci. Educ. 3 (2007).
- [8] C.N. Gunawardena, C.A. Lowe, and T. Anderson, Analysis of a global online debate and the development of an interaction analysis model for examining social construction of knowledge in computer conferencing., J. Educ. Comput. Res. 17 (1997) 397–431.
- [9] G. Salmon, E-tivities The key to active online learning, Routledge, New York, 2013.
Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190024

Digital Oblivion (The Right to Be Forgotten): A Big Challenge for the Public Hospital Management in Greece

Maria TSIRINTANI¹, Magdalini SERIFI and Spiridon BINIORIS University of West Attica, Greece

Abstract. The purpose of this study is to ascertain the readiness of the public hospital in Greece to comply with the new Regulation for protecting personal data (GDPR). A qualitative research was carried out by using structured interview with experts and relevant hospital executives of the 2nd Health Region for collecting the data. Despite the mandatory application of the new Regulation by Hospitals, the right to be forgotten and the other rights on personal data in healthcare are virtually not applicable.

Keywords. General Data Protection Regulation, rights, public hospital, Greece

1. Introduction

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 679/2016 is a new European law. Its purpose is to protect the personal data of individuals, giving persons greater control over their data. The new Regulation is designed in two pillars. The pillar of Regulatory Compliance (Legality) regarding the Principles and Rights of Processing Entities and the Technical Conformance Pillar (Security) concerning the technical capability of the Information System to support and satisfy are the principles of GDPR. The question is how this purpose can be achieved in the public hospitals. This study aims to ascertain the readiness of the public hospital in Greece to comply with the new Regulation for protecting personal data.

2. Methods

The methodology for conducting qualitative research was based on the six-step development model in order to extract as relevant and safe conclusions as possible [1]. An interview with three hospital experts in 2nd Health Region of Greece took place on October 2018 structured into five modules: A) the demographic information of respondents, B) the actions for the implementation of the Fundamental Authorities of GDPR, C) the actions for the implementation of the right to be forgotten etc., D) the

¹Corresponding Author, Maria TSIRINTANI, Professor, Department of Business Administration, Health and Welfare Management sector, Faculty of Business, Economics and Social Sciences, University of West Attica, Greece; E-mail: martsi@uniwa.gr

security of the physical archive and technical capability of the Integrated Hospital Information Systems, and E) the attempt to learn the personal view of the respondents for the application of the Regulation and general questions about the policies that the hospital has made [2,3]. Data Analysis was done by encoding the questions of the interview. The qualitative research encountered difficulties such as fear and denial of the hospitals for authorization of the survey, lack of experience from the public hospital from a prior application of a similar procedure, lack of previous similar research to conduct safe conclusions and the contrast of principles and rights of the new Regulation with the current health legislation.

3. Results and Discussion

The deviations of Regulatory Compliance showed that public hospitals are not complied with: the Object and Transparency Principle, the Minimization of Data Retrieval and Processing Principle process of automated erasure of personal data (when the necessary time has elapsed), the Integrity and Confidentiality of Data, the Limitation Authority and the Accountability Authority. The rights on personal healthcare data (the right to be Forgotten, data portability, the right to Automated Individual Decision Making, including Profile Forming, Opposition as well as the Consent) are virtually not applicable due to several exceptions, in the relevant articles of the Regulation, mainly on grounds of public interest, for scientific or statistical reasons. There is no up-to-date list of the personnel's physical access rights in the premises where the data is located, there is no physical security in the data areas and there is no registered Personal Data Management Policy. The deviations of Technical Conformity showed that there are no specific roles and responsibilities for the management of data security, there is no active encryption method, and furthermore there is no sufficient troubleshooting of operational systems and knowledge of information systems' security issues.

4. Conclusion

After the qualitative research, it was found that despite the mandatory application of the new Regulation by Hospitals, rights on personal healthcare data are virtually not applicable. In general, while providing instructions on the maintenance or processing of personal data, technically the Regulation raise specific requirements without specifying the technical measures to be taken in order to protect personal data and enable the rights of individuals. Future research will be necessary for further results.

- S. Mantzoukas, Qualitative research in six easy steps, Epistemology, methods and presentation, *Nosileftiki* 46 (2007), 88-98.
- [2] A. Goula, Organizational Culture of Health Services, Papazisis Publications, Athens, 2014.
- [3] M. Mitrosili, Health Law, Papazisis Publications, Athens, 2009.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHT1190025

Using Equivalent Classes of an Ontology to Understand Care Pathway in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Sonia CARDOSO ^{a,b,1}, Xavier AIMÉ^b, Vincent MEININGER^c, David GRABLI^d, Pierre MENETON^b and Jean CHARLET^{b,e}

^a Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière, ICM, INSERM U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Université, Paris, France

^b Sorbonne Université, INSERM, Univ. Paris 13, LIMICS, Paris, France ^c Ramsay General de Santé, Hôpital Peupliers Paris, France

^d AP-HP Pitié Salpêtrière, Dépt des maladies du Système Nerveux, Paris, France ^e Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, DRCI, Paris, France

Abstract. To understand the home-based difficulties encountered in the health care pathways of patients with Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), we must annotate a large amount of textual data, from a database created by the ALS Île de France coordination network. For this purpose, we have developed a modular ontology, consisting of four modules, and a semantic annotation tool integrating the created ontology. The specificity of our approach is the creation of equivalent classes at different levels of the ontology. These equivalent classes represent variables of interest allowing a statistical approach and a clinical analysis of comprehension of care pathways ruptures causing.

Keywords. Equivalent classes, care pathway, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

1. Introduction

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease of motor neurons, leading to a worsening of the weakness of voluntary muscles. The median survival time after symptoms onset is usually 3 years [1]. Because of progressive paralysis of the muscles, patients will be facing many disability situations. Beyond medical aspect, the patient and their loved ones will require different types of help such as (1) assistance for the realization of life's daily activities, (2) technical aids to movement or for communication, but also (3) social support for setting up funding. However, problems can arise at home resulting in interruptions in the care pathway and hospitalizations. These incidences can have an impact on the health and quality of life of the patient and his family and have a financial cost. However, we do not have any data on the origin of the problems leading to these interruptions. This lack of understanding of failure causes is a problem. If the causes of interruptions of care were understood,

¹ Corresponding Author, Sonia CARDOSO, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière, ICM, INSERM U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Université, F-75013, Paris, France;

E-mail: sonia.cardoso@icm-institute.org

measures could be taken to prevent them. In Paris, associated with the expert center hospital, a regional coordination network has been created: the IDF SLA network, which coordinates various professionals involved in care and social assistance. The SLA network has created a textual database collecting (1) all the requests and needs issued by the patients or the local professionals, and (2) the coordination action put in place to address these needs. The hypothesis of our work is that by analyzing this corpus, it will be possible to (i) understand the difficulties of patients and families in their homes, (ii) understand coordinated actions, (iii) identify indicators of ruptures, or typologies of patients at risk. In this case, we suggest the use of a modular ontology and the creation of equivalent classes. After semantic annotation, these will serve as variables of interest in the statistical analysis of the data extracted from the texts. We will thus be able to obtain an analysis with a clinical dimension. The second section of this article will describe the ontology built, its various modules, as well as the equivalent classes. Finally, the third section will present the first results obtained, perspectives areas or improvement to be developed.

2. Material and methods

2.1 Creation of the ontology modules

To develop ontologies, we followed the generic methodology illustrated by Charlet et al. [2] which combines a top-down approach using a top-ontology and a bottom-up approach by finding candidate terms from corpora. This method provides the terms representing the concepts used. Each concept of the ontology is designated by a preferred term in English and French, as well as alternative terms (synonym terms, acronyms, abbreviations considering the spelling specificities related to the coordination context). The analysis of the candidate terms allowed us to define four main dimensions: (1) a dimension containing the generic concepts common to all fields, (2) a medical dimension related to the pathology, (3) a socio-environmental dimension related to the patient's family and geographical environment, and (4) a coordination dimension related to the activities undertaken by the SLA IDF coordinators. Each dimension leads to the creation of a specific ontological module [3], (i) a kernel module (343 classes) which contains all the high-level concepts common to the three ontologies, such as ideal objects, agents, processes, modalities, (ii) a medical module (969 classes) which contains medical agents (doctor, neurologist, ...), medical processes (consultation, hospitalizations ...), medical objects (drugs, probes ...), and anatomical structures, (iii) a socio-environmental module (779 classes) which brings together all the concepts related to the person's life in his family and social environment, and finally (iv) a coordination module (295 classes) which is composed of specific coordination missions as communication, assessment needs, resource research.²

2.2 Creation of the equivalent classes

The organization of knowledge in the form of an ontology allows us to create equivalent classes, to link all the concepts present in the different modules and belonging to a common theme. This theme makes it possible to group all the concepts satisfying the

² Ontology available at http://bioportal.bioontology.org/ontologies/ONTOPARON

same property. This equivalent class is called a *defined concept* (http://mowlpower.cs.man.ac.uk/protegeowltutorial/resources/ProtegeOWLTutorialP4 v1 3.pdf). When using the reasoner HermiT in Protégé, all the related concepts will be inferred under the equivalent classes. These equivalent classes are constructed and created as variables of clinical analysis interest of care pathway and their frequency will be an indicator of the "problems" encountered by patients. The functioning of the SLA network is based on the solicitation of the network, by the agents (patient, family, professionals...) when they need it. Each of these solicitations will generate one or more event, according to the actions that will have to be set up by the coordinators. The goal of our work is to understand what are the elements involved in the care pathways of patients. For example, we would like to know if the presence of certain markers such as "caregiver burnout" or "pain" have an impact on patients' health care pathways. In an attempt to answer these questions, we have decided to create equivalent classes. Figure 1 shows the equivalent classes of high-level. Other equivalent classes at lower levels are present in the various modules such as: (1) Coordination Action in the coordination module, which groups together all the actions of guidance, communication, search for resources carried out by the coordinators. (2) In the social module we created the equivalent classes Social Problems which gathers all the requests and actions made in the social domain. (3) In the medical module we created the equivalent classes Cognitive State which gathers all the concepts referring to clinical signs, symptoms and diagnosis related to a cognitive alteration of the patient. A total of 33 equivalent classes were created in the different ontology modules.



Figure 1. View of the kernel ontology containing the defined high-level concepts.

3. Results

A semantic annotator was developed in the laboratory on a GATE (https://gate.ac.uk) platform that uses the ontology as a semantic repository [4]. We carried out the semantic annotation on 611 patient files, that is 28 052 primary and secondary events. These patients were included in the netwoork between 2013 and 2017, and had already died when the documents were annoted in 2018. The choice to take only deceased patients allowed us to have all the events generated in their health care record. The number of events for these patients ranged from 1 to 188 with a median of 23 and an average of 31.6 events per patient. We wanted to divide patients by "homogeneous group" according to the number of events. Using a logarithmic distribution we obtain three groups with 171, 216, and 224 patients and, respectively, 1 to 13, 14 to 32, and 33 to 188 Events. We used the JMP software to perform the different statistical data treatments. It

is observed that between these three groups the equivalent class field of exhaustion is very present for group 3 and not very present in group 1, the question that we ask is why?

In order to illustrate the contribution and the interest of the defined concepts in our project, we will take the example of the field of exhaustion, it includes all concepts related to the exhaustion of the family caregiver. We will present one example of existing correlations between this concept and the other variables of interest, and we will explain their contributions in the clinical vision of care pathway.

In view of the literature and some studies [5], we hypothesized that family caregiver burnout might be correlated with the presence of clinical signs indicating an impaired cognitive status of the patient. The presence of cognitive disorders is referenced in the literature on ALS, such as the presence of behavioral disorder, or the presence of a frontotemporal dementia. To test this hypothesis, we carried out a statistical test to evaluate the degree of correlation between these two variables, which are the concepts of *Field of Exhaustion* and *CognitiveState*. The value of correlation coefficient is 0,23 with p-value is p <0.0001. We can validate the hypothesis that there is a correlation between the presence of cognitive disorders in the patient and the appearance of exhaustion phenomenon in the caregiver. These results are in line with studies on the exhaustion of caregivers in Alzheimer's disease.

4. Conclusion

In this article, we wanted to present our approach using the ontology modularization, reasoning and possible inferring abilities in the ontology, to create equivalent classes which be on the semantic aspect, have a real dimension and clinical expression. This structuring of knowledge, allows us to use the tools we have developed to annotate corpora and extract knowledge. The identification and the presence of these markers present in the courses of care (exhaustion of the caregiver, presence of social problems, ...) in certain patients can allow us to search for the triggers, is it the difficulty of access to social assistance, lack of local professionals? The correlation between the presence of sign of a cognitive alteration and the exhaustion of the caregiver is one of the tracks. Some improvements are still to be made in two directions: improving performance of semantic annotator and, deepen correlation searches between events.

- P.H. Gordon, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: An update for 2013 Clinical Features, Pathophysiology, Management and Therapeutic Trials, *Aging Dis.* 4 (2013) 295–310. doi:10.14336/AD.2013.0400295.
- [2] J. Charlet, B. Bachimont, M.-C. Jaulent, Building medical ontologies by terminology extraction from texts: An experiment for the intensive care units, *Comput. Biol. Med.* 36 (2006) 857–870. doi:10.1016/j.compbiomed.2005.04.012.
- [3] J. Pathak, T.M. Johnson, C.G. Chute, Survey of modular ontology techniques and their applications in the biomedical domain, *Integr. Comput.-Aided Eng.* **16** (2009) 225–242. doi:10.3233/ICA-2009-0315.
- [4] S. Cardoso, X. Aimé, V. Meininger, D. Grabli, F. Melo Mora Luis, C.K. Bretonnel, J. Charlet, A Modular Ontology for Modeling Service Provision in a Communication Network for Coordination of Care, *Stud. Health Technol. Inform.* (2018) 890–894. doi:10.3233/978-1-61499-852-5-890.
- [5] J. Oh, J.A. Kim, Factor analysis of the Zarit Burden Interview in family caregivers of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Front. Degener.* **19** (2018) 50–56. doi:10.1080/21678421.2017.1385636.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190026

Evaluation of Perceived Usability and Utilization of a Virtual Care Program Among Adolescents and Geriatrics

Tanzila ZAMAN^a, Trusha TANEJA^a, Barbara EDSON^b, Robert GIANFORCARO^b and Saif KHAIRAT^{c.1}

^a Carolina Health Informatics Program, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill,

^b Virtual Care Center, UNC Health Care ^c School of Nursing, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, USA

Abstract. The advancement of telemedicine has allowed to reach users of various demographics. In this paper we compare two cohorts, adolescents and geriatrics at a virtual care clinic. We calculated frequent chief complaints, modality of communication, and the distribution of gender. Our findings show that elderly female population prefers telemedicine more than men, and adolescents are more likely to use video calls than the geriatric population.

Keywords. Telemedicine, Adolescents. Geriatrics.

1. Introduction

Telecommunication technology has immense potential to revolutionize the way healthcare is delivered. Literally meaning "healing at a distance" [11], telemedicine is an umbrella term used to define the utilization of technology to increase access to care, thereby improving patient outcomes [9]. In recent years, due to the introduction of the internet, there has been tremendous advancement in the scope and utility of telemedicine. Videoconferencing has allowed synchronous exchange of information which is facilitating innovative healthcare delivery. In an urban setting, a telemedicine reading center remotely evaluated retinal images to screen diabetic patients for diabetic retinopathy (DR) [7]. This led to DR being identified early in 94.1% of all participants, thereby affirming the potential of such programs to mitigate negative outcomes by instituting interventions early. At another pilot telemedicine program in a clinic in Rochester, NY, 86% of participants cited a reduction in loss of work time and a trip to the emergency department due to the telemedicine consult [5].

While telemedicine can be effectively applied to a variety of medical matters, the rapidly aging population in the United States, dubbed baby boomers, can benefit greatly from this care modality. As they age and become more frail, driving skills and transportation barriers may prevent visits to the doctor's office. Hence, telemedicine can

USA

¹ Corresponding Author, Saif Khairat, PhD, FAMIA, School of Nursing, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, 27514, NC, USA; E-mail: saif@unc.edu

play a huge role in geriatric care. In a younger study cohort, children with acute illnesses were 22% less likely to visit the Emergency Department when prior care was availed through telemedicine at daycare centers and schools [2]. Slusser et al. assessed a pediatric obesity telemedicine clinic in a metropolitan area where 93% of respondents were satisfied with the video appointment [10]. In terms of clinical outcomes, both blood pressure and body mass index Z-score either stabilized or decreased at follow-up.

Our study was designed to evaluate the perceived usability of an on-demand urgent care service via telemedicine services between geriatric and adolescent populations by comparing common chief complaints, modality of consultation, and gender distribution.

2. Methods

This study was based at a virtual care program that utilizes a web portal to conduct patient consultations. The virtual care visits were available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and was staffed by physicians from various primary care disciplines. Patients were able to log into the portal from a desktop or a mobile device and choose a provider based on their needs and select either video or audio consultations. Participants of the study were divided into two cohorts: the adolescent group aged ≤ 18 years, and the geriatric group aged ≥ 55 years. The two cohorts were evaluated based on variability in gender, preferred consultation methods, chief complaints, and their areas of residence. Data was collected through the web-portal and imported into a secure, HIPAA compliant business intelligence server. The server provides a flexible architecture that enabled the research team to run complex queries, generate reports, and run analyses. Data was cleaned using *Microsoft Excel*, and duplicated results were eliminated. Similar chief complaints were grouped together to avoid redundancies. Attributes to be analyzed were tabulated using STATA. These included the sample size in each group, common chief complaints, mode of encounter, gender distribution, and the area of residence.

3. Results

A total of 1675 encounters were recorded since this portal went live in October 2018, of which geriatrics and adolescents combined accounted for 20.76% (180 encounters for geriatric patients, and 168 encounters for adolescent patients).

Table 1 shows that there was an equal distribution among genders in the adolescent cohort. However, the geriatric group was composed of 76.1% women. Elderly women were also more likely to use telemedicine, and 63.5% of the total encounters among adolescents and geriatrics involved female patients. More than 90% of geriatric (177 out of 180) and adolescent patients (159 out of 168) were from North Carolina.

Table 1. This table shows distribution of gender amongst adolescent and geriatrics

Gender	Female	Male	Total
Adolescent	84(50%)	84(50%)	168 (100%)
Geriatrics	137 (76.1%)	43 (23.9%)	180 (100%)
Total	221(63.5%)	127 (36.5%)	348(100%)

The chief complaints of both cohorts were recorded. Table 2 shows that UTI (urinary tract infection), sinus, and sore throat were the most common reasons for the visits and make up for 27.22% of the total encounters in the geriatric cohort. Sore throat, cough,

and rash accounted for 30.04% of calls among adolescent patients. Between the two groups, infections such as sore throat, and cough were the common complaints.



Table 2. Top 5 Chief Complaints among geriatrics and adolescent patients

Figure 1. This figure shows the preference of modality amongst adolescent and geriatrics users, with error bars showing 95% confidence interval.

Users in this web-based portal were given the option to choose between a video or audio call for consultation. Figure 1 shows that while audio calls were unanimously preferred by both cohorts. Geriatrics Patients (SD) 89.4% (±4.50%) were more likely to choose an audio call as compared to 79.2% (± 6.14%) of adolescents (SD). On the other hand, 20.8% (± 6.14%) of adolescent users (SD) were twice as likely to choose video call than $10.6\% (\pm 4.50\%)$ of geriatric population (SD).

4. Discussion

While both patient populations opted for phone consultations by a wide margin, our first finding indicates that adolescents were twice more likely to use video calls than geriatric patients. This finding correlates with previous findings that shows only 29% of young adults prefers video consultations over 63% phone consultation [3]. This could be attributed to several factors, such as, common clinical complaints among adolescents such as rashes, ear pain, were due to vision issues necessitating video conference for assessment. Due to a shortage of specialists in rural areas, telemedicine serves as an important healthcare provision for children and adolescents living in remote localities, and young adults prefers video consultations over phone consultations [8]. In addition, the geriatric population may not be as adept at and comfortable with using video technology [6].

Our next observation shows female geriatric patients were three times more likely to use telemedicine than male geriatrics. Previous study confirms older women are twice more likely to live alone than older men, thereby considering in-person health services a burden to attend [4] As a result, female geriatric patients are more prone to using virtual urgent care as an alternative. In addition, female patients living alone in small rural communities tend to save \$150 with telemedicine by avoiding travel, missed days at work, and other expenses [1].

One limitations of this study includes data from a single state only. Geriatric population was considered as over 55 years of age to have similar number of distribution of observations across two cohorts. In addition, subsequent studies could identify social determinant factors affecting the use of virtual clinics and the ways in which they can be utilized in future designs.

This study investigated the perceived usability of telemedicine amongst adolescent and geriatric populations. Video calls is a more popular option amongst adolescent than geriatrics, and elderly female population utilizes telemedicine more than the male population. Future work may investigate telemedicine disparities among different generations and way to improve telemedicine acceptability and usability.

- A.B. Bynum, C.A. Irwin, C.O. Cranford, G.S.J.T.J. Denny, and e-Health, The impact of telemedicine on patients' cost savings: some preliminary findings, 9 (2003), 361-367.
- [2] V.R. Call, L.D. Erickson, N.K. Dailey, B.L. Hicken, R. Rupper, J.B. Yorgason, B.J.T. Bair, and e-Health, Attitudes toward telemedicine in urban, rural, and highly rural communities, 21 (2015), 644-651.
- [3] C.C. Garrett, J. Hocking, M.Y. Chen, C.K. Fairley, and M.J.B.i.d. Kirkman, Young people's views on the potential use of telemedicine consultations for sexual health: results of a national survey, 11 (2011), 285.
- [4] M. Magdalena, Use of telemedicine-based care for the aging and elderly: promises and pitfalls, (2015).
- [5] L. Markwick, K. McConnochie, N.J.J.o.h.c.f.t.p. Wood, and underserved, Expanding telemedicine to include primary care for the urban adult, 26 (2015), 771-776.
- [6] T. Newlin, T. McCall, P. Ottmar, B. Welch, S.J.S.i.h.t. Khairat, and informatics, Assessing the Satisfaction of Citizens Using Teleconsent in Clinical Research, 247 (2018), 685-689.
- [7] C. Owsley, G. McGwin, D.J. Lee, B.L. Lam, D.S. Friedman, E.W. Gower, J.A. Haller, L.A. Hark, and J.J.J.o. Saaddine, Diabetes eye screening in urban settings serving minority populations: detection of diabetic retinopathy and other ocular findings using telemedicine, 133 (2015), 174-181.
- [8] L. Pesämaa, H. Ebeling, M.-L. Kuusimäki, I. Winblad, M. Isohanni, I.J.J.o.t. Moilanen, and telecare, Videoconferencing in child and adolescent telepsychiatry: a systematic review of the literature, 10 (2004), 187-192.
- [9] W.H.O.J.G.W.G. Scholar, mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. 2011, (2014).
- [10] W. Slusser, M. Whitley, N. Izadpanah, S.L. Kim, and D.J.C.p. Ponturo, Multidisciplinary pediatric obesity clinic via telemedicine within the Los Angeles metropolitan area: lessons learned, 55 (2016), 251-259.
- [11] E. Strehle and N.J.A.o.d.i.c. Shabde, One hundred years of telemedicine: does this new technology have a place in paediatrics?, **91** (2006), 956-959.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190027

Decision Support Systems for Tuberculosis: Protocol for a Scoping Review

 Vinícius LIMA^{a,1}, Filipe BERNARDI^a, Felipe PELLISON^a, Rui RIJO^{b,c,d}, Afrânio KRITSKI^e, Rafael GALLIEZ^f and Domingos ALVES^{e,g}
^aBioengineering Postgraduate Program, University of São Paulo, Brazil
^bSchool of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal
^cCINTESIS – Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Portugal
^dINESCC - Institute for Systems and Computers Engineering at Coimbra, Portugal
^e Faculty of Medicine, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
^f Center of Scientific and Technological Information, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Brazil
^g Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Abstract. Tuberculosis (TB) represents a global challenge in terms of prevention, care and control. Decision support systems (DSS) can supply the necessary knowledge basis to underpin investigators, policy makers and health personnel actions and to provide crucial elements that can help reducing TB burden. Thus, the objectives of this work are to present the protocol to be followed for carrying out a scoping review to identify topics where DSSs are used, to define appropriate categories and to clarify main outcomes and research gaps. As part of the protocol, five electronic bibliographic databases will be searched for articles from 2006 to 2019 and two investigators will independently screen each work using the study inclusion criteria. Data extraction will be performed, and findings will be reported. The results will be used to provide a broad understanding of how DSSs for TB are being used.

Keywords. Decision support systems, tuberculosis, protocol, scoping review

1. Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is a bacterial infectious disease that remains as a major public health problem in the world. Despite the success of some strategies to reduce the global burden, TB remains as a leading cause of mortality worldwide. It is estimated that in 2017 approximately 10.5 million people got infected with drug-sensitive TB, rifampicin-resistant (RR-TB) or multidrug-resistant (MDR-TB) [1]. The World Health Organization (WHO) End TB Strategy, a global strategy for tuberculosis prevention, care and control, aims to halt the TB epidemic by 2035 [2]. Technological innovation will strongly underpin the reduction of the global TB burden. Delays in diagnosis and the lack of clinical support tools not only result in poor treatment outcomes, but also in longer infectious periods resulting in sustained transmission at the community level [3].

¹ Corresponding Author, Vinícius Lima, Health Intelligence Laboratory, Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, 14040-900, Brazil; E-mail: viniciuslima@usp.br.

Also, policy makers and managers depend on crucial information to make difficult decisions about which available tool to implement and how to apply it considering the existing health care infrastructure and regional particularities [4]. Aiming to support decision making in both clinical and managerial scopes, Decision Support Systems (DSS) plays a relevant role. DSS is a general term for any information system that enhances a person or group's ability to identify problems and to make decisions that could help to solve such problems [5]. It usually allows knowledge extraction from several sources of information and guide clinical and administrative decision-making, directly affecting the management and quality of health services.

The main goal of this work is to present the steps to be followed for carrying out a scoping review, i.e., a protocol, that will formally verify, for the first time, the available literature that present the development and/or implementation of decision support systems for Tuberculosis. The methodology presented is this paper is based on studies from the literature, which provide guidelines for conducting reviews that can be applied to several research domains sin a nonspecific way.

2. Methods/Design

The protocol presented in this paper was established according to the methodology developed by Arksey and O'Malley [6] and other guidelines provided by the Joanna Briggs Institute [7], which recommend a five-stage framework for scoping review. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) [8] flow diagram will also be used to a better comprehension of study selection.

2.1. Stage 1: Identifying the research questions

The following research questions were drafted for the scoping review:

- What does DSSs for TB usually address?
- How to categorize DSSs for TB?
- What are the main outcomes and research gaps regarding DSS for TB?

2.2. Stage 2: Identifying relevant studies

2.2.1. Eligibility criteria

The scope review will include research (full papers, conference papers) and nonresearch studies (editorials, narrative reviews) that present a prototype or a fully functional computerized tool, regardless a graphical user interface, that could be applied to any subject related to TB. Thus, studies with only theoretical approaches without a practical implementation, such as models' definitions (operational, predictive) or ontologies, will be excluded. Also, selected works must address pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB) in humans.

2.2.2. Search strategy

The following databases will be searched: PubMed/MEDLINE, ACM Digital Library, IEEE Xplore Digital Library, Elsevier Scopus and Cochrane Database of Systematic

Reviews. Bibliographies of the retrieved articles will be searched for additional relevant works and experts in the field will be contacted to identify others. The search strategy will use combinations of the following terms: decision support, decision making, system, tuberculosis, drug-resistant, latent and diagnosis. The searches will include international articles, but only works in English language will be considered. The time frame will range from March 2006 (start of the WHO End TB Strategy [2]) to February 2019.

Detailed search strategies from each database will be available from the authors on completion of the scoping review. Bibliographic details will be downloaded into Mendeley software (https://www.mendeley.com/).

2.3. Stage 3: Study Selection

After performing searches using the terms in the mentioned databases, two investigators will independently screen each retrieved article based on title and abstract for eligibility according to the inclusion criteria. Then the full text will be retrieved, and the investigators will independently perform another round of review to determine if these full texts meet the eligibility criteria. Disagreement between the two reviewers will be resolved in consultation with the principal investigator.

Search results and eligibility screening process will be reported using the PRISMA diagram to detail the results of the search, study selection, addition of studies, and a final summary of included articles [8].

2.4. Stage 4: Charting the data

An extraction strategy was defined to capture relevant data from the selected studies to be further discussed in the scope review, such as: study descriptive information, main target audience, type of technology used to deliver decision support features and main outcomes and limitations. Data extracted must be enough to answer the research questions established in Stage 1. Table 1 summarizes the data that will be extracted from each included article.

Scope	Scope Data to be extracted	
Summary	Author(s), title, citation, publication type, country of origin, aims/objectives, if it is a fully functional tool and if it contains a graphical user interface.	
Question 1: addressing topic	DSS main applicability (clinical, epidemiological/managerial)	
Question 2: DSS categorization	Type of technology used	
Question 3: outcomes and gaps	Outcomes of interest, limitations	

Table 1. Data extraction strategy.

2.5. Stage 5: Collating, summarizing and reporting the results

Since scoping studies seeks to present an overview of all material reviewed [6], data will be organized thematically according to the identified topics and DSS categories, summarized and presented in a table ordered alphabetically. This table will contain narrative content with data obtained in Stage 4, that is, the metadata of all selected studies and written commentaries based on the following headings: objectives, type of

applicability, type of technology, research methods, stage of development, public availability, existence of a graphical interface, outcomes and limitations.

3. Final Considerations

The protocol proposed in this work may result in the first scoping review conducted to provide an overview of Decision Support Systems for Tuberculosis. The results will be used to provide a broad understanding of usability to a better dissemination. Furthermore, by applying a consistent approach to report findings, a valuable identification and comparison of relevant aspects of DSSs will be achieved, including topics of applicability, implemented technologies and the public availability.

Thus, once the scoping review is completed, it will be possible to determine the topics that the DSSs addresses in the line of TB care, to define categories, to point out main outcomes and possible research gaps and to identify where there is a lack of tools to underpin decision making processes of relevant stakeholders. Results will be published to make it available to all interested audience. In addition, consultation with health service providers, policymakers, health professionals and other stakeholders will be carried out to effectively disseminate the findings and to provide expert knowledge.

As possible limitations, relevant non-English language publications can be excluded. Also, due to the research design, the quality of articles will not be assessed.

Acknowledgements

This research is under development in the Bioengineering Postgraduate Program (EESC/FMRP/IQSC) of University of São Paulo and is supported by São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP), grant number 2018/00307-2, managed by author DA.

- [1] WHO, Global Tuberculosis Report 2018, 2018.
- [2] WHO, The End TB Strategy- WHO, (2014).
- http://www.who.int/tb/strategy/End_TB_Strategy.pdf?ua=1.
- [3] I. Langley, B. Doulla, H.H. Lin, K. Millington, B. Squire, Modelling the impacts of new diagnostic tools for tuberculosis in developing countries to enhance policy decisions, *Health Care Manag. Sci.* 15 (2012), 239–253. doi:10.1007/s10729-012-9201-3.
- [4] H.H. Lin, I. Langley, R. Mwenda, B. Doulla, S. Egwaga, K.A. Millington, G.H. Mann, M. Murray, S.B. Squire, T. Cohen, A modelling framework to support the selection and implementation of new tuberculosis diagnostic tools, *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 15 (2011), 996–1004. doi:10.5588/ijtld.11.0062.
- [5] D.J. Power, Understanding Data-Driven Decision Support Systems, 530 (2008). doi:10.1080/10580530801941124.
- [6] H. Arksey, L. O'Malley, Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework, Int. J. Soc. Res. Methodol. Theory Pract. 8 (2005), 19–32. doi:10.1080/1364557032000119616.
- [7] M.D.J. Peters, C.M. Godfrey, H. Khalil, P. McInerney, D. Parker, C.B. Soares, Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews, *Int. J. Evid. Based. Healthc.* 13 (2015), 141–146. doi:10.1097/XEB.0000000000050.
- [8] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, D.G. Altman, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement (Reprinted from Annals of Internal Medicine), Ann. Intern. Med. 151 (2009), 264–269. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.

Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge J. Mantas et al. (Eds.) IOS Press, 2019 © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. All rights reserved. doi:10.3233/SHTI190028

PhD Students and the Most Frequent Mistakes During Data Interpretation by Statistical Analysis Software

Izet MASIC^{a,1}, Slobodan M. JANKOVIC^b and Edin BEGIC^c

^a Academy of Medical Sciences of Bosnia and Herzegovina, Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

^b Department of Pharmacology, University of Kragujevac, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Kragujevac, Serbia

^c Department of Pharmacology, Sarajevo Medical School, Sarajevo School of Science and Technology, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

> Abstract. Correct choice and administration of a statistical test are absolutely essential for meaningful interpretation of research data, yet mistakes are still frequent and could be easily found in published scientific papers or PhD theses. The aim of this study was to analyze mistakes made by PhD students in statistical analysis of data collected during research within the framework of their thesis. PhD students frequently use Excel and SPSS for data processing, while SAS, Stata and R are also available. The study was designed as cross-sectional analysis of random sample (n=15) of PhD theses in pre-approval stage at Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Serbia. In total 14 (93%) theses had at least one mistake. The most frequent mistakes were as the following: insufficient statistical power due to small sample size, inappropriate presentation of results at tables and graphs, andinappropriate choice of statistical tests. In order to improve the situation, training courses in statistics during PhD studies should be reevaluated and improved in regard to relevance, delivery methods and motivating potential, and mentors should invest more effort to review the data and guide students through statistical analysis.

> Keywords. Data Interpretation, Statistical, Data Accuracy, Scientific Experimental Error.

1. Introduction

Correct choice and administration of a statistical test are absolutely essential for meaningful interpretation of research data, yet mistakes are still frequent and could be easily found in published scientific papers or PhD these [1]. There is an increasing trend of incidence of statistical mistakes, which was recently described in several studies analyzing methodology of previously published research results [2]. Regardless of the motives, statistical mistakes lead to invalid conclusions, which, if taken for granted, may lead to waste of resources, human work and time. PhD students are

¹ Corresponding Author, Prof. Izet Masic, MD, PhD, FEFMI, FACMI, FIASHI. Academy of Medical Sciences of Bosnia and Herzegovina, Sarajevo, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina; E-mail: izet.masic@gmail.com.

among those who make mistakes, and they usually need additional guidance by their mentors in order to avoid misuse of statistical methods and thereafter misinterpretation of the data collected [3]. Recent survey of training practices of PhD students in biostatistics among USA-based physiology PhD programs showed that not all of them included statistical course (just 67.5%), and significant proportion of the courses was offered as an elective [4]. When the courses were offered, their contents were rarely tailored to needs of the students, but according to the principle "one size fits all". Such practice was reflected in frequent statistical mistakes found in papers published in physiology journals, like using incorrect tests, asuming normal distribution of data without testing it, treating nonindependent data as independent, etc. Knowing what statistical mistakes are the most frequent and what confuses the students is helpful when planning and designing new biostatistical courses. The most frequently used statistical softwares for data processing in medicine are Excel, SPSS, SAS, Stata and R (Table 1). Excel has basic methodological capabilities (it should be used for descriptive statistics at most), SPSS moderate, and SAS, Stata and R advanced. Only R software is freeware, and it could be installed on any computer system; however, it requires considerable learning effort, as it is script-based software, and one first has to learn the R language itself, and then how to use it for a statistical problem. While SAS, Stata and R are script-based softwares, which makes them not that easy to use, the SPSS has graphical interface which is very user-friendly; however, this could be a problem, since activation of elaborate statistical tests is possible regardless of their appropriateness for particular dataset, and inexperienced investigators may get results which then will be wrongly interpreted [5]. The aim of this study was to reveal and analyze the most frequent statistical mistakes made by biomedical PhD students in their theses.

Software	Advantages	Disadvantages
Erroal	Free	Limited number of tests available
Excel	Simple to use	
	Graphical interface	Expensive
SPSS	Easy to learn, intuitive	Limited options for transformation of
	Large number of available statistical tests	data
SAS	Can process extremely large datasets	Script based, so it demands considerable
	Can perform advanced analyses	learning
		Expensive
R	Free	Script based, so it demands considerable
	Can perform advanced analyses	learning
STATA	Has both graphical and script interface	Expensive
	Can perform advanced analyses	More difficult to learn than SPSS

Table 1.	Comparison	of statistical	softwares	[6]	1

2. Material and Methods

This cross-sectional study was made on a random sample (n=15) of PhD theses submitted for approval by University of Kragujevac, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Kragujevac, Serbia. The theses were publicly available at the University web site. The available theses were numbered, and than 15 random numbers were generated using the function in Excel 2007. Theses from the sample were read and statistics described in Methods section and used in Results section analyzed against principles of good analytical practice published in medical journals by statisticians [7,8]. Detailed results of the analysis are shown in the supplementary table, and summary data in the table within the text of the article, as counts and percentages.

3. Results

There were 8 theses with results from clinical trials, 6 theses with results from experimental studies on animals and one thesis with epidemiological data. All theses from the sample were submitted within the time period from January 2013 to November 2018. The results of the analysis are shown in the Table 2.

		Number of	Percent of the
Category of a mistake	Mistake	theses with	total number
		the mistake	of theses
	Mann-Whitney test used for comparison of	1	7%
	dependent data	1	
	Wilcoxon test used for comparison of	1	70/
Inadequate choice of a	independent data	1	/ /0
statistical test	Chi-square test used when count in a cell was	4	27%
	zero or less than 5 in at lest two cells	4	
	Linear regression of mean values instead of	r	120/
	individual data	2	1370
A test used without	MANCOVA used without proofs of		
demonstration that	normality of data distribution and	2	13%
assumptions are met	homogeneity of variances		
	Number of subjects not shown	4	27%
Inadequate	Data variability not shown	3	20%
	Data variability shown as standard error	5	33%
presentation of results	instead of standard deviation	,	
in figures or tables	Shown only p-value without a test results	1	7%
	Wrong axis title in a ROC graph	1	7%
	Unclear tables or graphs	2	13%
Achieved statistical	Less than 80%	8	53%
power	Not enough data presented to be calculated	2	13%
Non-transmourant	Details about quality of regression model	2	200/
presentation of data	lacking	3	2070
	Statistical test used not specified	1	7%
Incomplete analysis	Validation of a questionnaire lacking		
	temporal stability, divergent validation and	1	7%
	mulimethod matrix		
	Reliability testing of a questionnaire lacking	1	70/
	split-half	1	/70

Table 2. Classification of statistical mistakes in the analyzed PhD theses.

4. How to avoid mistakes

Our study showed that majority of the analyzed PhD theses had at least one mistake in statistics, inadequate choice of a statistical test, insufficient power of the study and inadequate presentation of results in figures or tables being the most frequent. Types and frequency of errors in statistics found in our study correspond in general to errors reported by other authors who analyzed published articles in biomedical journals or

theses [1,4]. Such results reflect insufficient competence of biomedical PhD students concerning statistical skills, which could be consequence of at least two types of problems in practice: low quality of teaching statistics practices at PhD programs and negative attitude of PhD students towards statistics. Statistics is taught to biomedical students mostly in a traditional way, and modern teaching techniques that stimulate acquiring skills, like problem based learning, are rarely employed even in the most developed settings [9]. Majority of students do not recognise the value of contents that are taught during courses of statistics, and later on, when practical problems are raised by a research data, they lack skills to solve them [10]. Although necessity to place greater emphasis on applying statistics and interpreting data during biostatistical courses was recognized long ago, it is still rarely done, leaving statistics at a margin of medical education on both undergraduate and postgraduate level at numerous university setting [11]. On the other hand, biomedical students frequently feel unable to master statistical techniques and underestimate their cognitive competence when faced with learning statistics; with such attitude their learning outcomes become lower than they might be even with the same educational efforts [12]. Kiekkas et al. showed in their study that positive attitudes towards statistics among nursing students were linked with higher marks and improved ability to solve statistical problems later in research practice [13]. Key factor for achieving good mastery of statistical skills for PhD students is attending a course in biostatistics which offers both relevant, practically applicable knowledge delivered in a user-friendly way and strongly motivating approach to individual students which would reverse negative attitude towards statistic [14]. Main limitations of our study are small sample size and unicenterdness, which may introduce bias of local practices; therefore its results should be taken as preliminary. However, we could conclude that mistakes with statistical analysis made by PhD student are frequent, and may lead to misinterpretation of the data. In order to improve the situation, training courses in statistics during PhD studies should be reevaluated and improved in regard to relevance, especially at universities which insisted on use of Bologna model of education, delivery methods and motivating potential, and mentors should invest more effort to review the data and guide students through statistical analysis [14-18]. However, the most certain way to avoid errors is appropriate use of available statistical softwares, in line with their instructions, usually given in the help files.

5. Conclusion

PhD students are at the beginning of their research carriers, and it is of outmost importance for them to master adequately statistical skills. Right interpretation of research results depends on adequate statisticall processing. Although statistical softwares enable swift and relatively easy administration of statistical tests, they are also prone to misuse, as an automatic checking whether assumptions of statistical tests were met before activation of certain test is not available. Much should be invested and improved in statistical education during PhD studies if statistical errors and misinterpretations are to be avoided.

- F. Madadizadeh, M. Ezati Asar, M. Hosseini, Common Statistical Mistakes in Descriptive Statistics Reports of Normal and Non-Normal Variables in Biomedical Sciences Research, *Iran J Public Health.* 44 (11) (2015), 1557-8.
- [2] A. Turkiewicz, G. Luta, H.V. Hughes, J. Ranstam, Statistical mistakes and how to avoid them lessons learned from the reproducibility crisis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 26(11) (2018), 1409-11.
- [3] A. Hart, Common statistical mistakes, Matern Child Nutr. 8(4) (2012), 421-2.
- [4] T.L. Weissgerber, V.D. Garovic, J.S. Milin-Lazovic, S.J. Winham, Z. Obradovic, J.P. Trzeciakowski, et al., Reinventing Biostatistics Education for Basic Scientists, *PLoS Biol.* 14(4) (2016), e1002430.
- [5] Notes on computer programmes for statistical analysis. URL: https://www.otago.ac.nz/wellington/otago048101.pdf (retrieved on 24.2.2019.)
- [6] A.D. Blann, B.R. Nation, Good analytical practice: statistics and handling data in biomedical science: A primer and directions for authors. Part 2: analysis of data from three or more groups, and instructions for authors, *Br J Biomed Sci.* 66(1) (2009), 42-6.
- [7] C. Ozgur, M. Dou, Y. Li, G. Rogers, Selection of statistical so ware for data scientists and teachers, Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods 16(1) (2017), 753-74.
- [8] R.E. Kass, B.S. Caffo, M. Davidian, X.L. Meng, B. Yu, N. Reid, Ten Simple Rules for Effective Statistical Practice, *PLOS Comput Biol.* 12(6) (2016), e1004961.
- [9] J.M. Bland, Teaching statistics to medical students using problem-based learning: the Australian experience, *BMC Med Educ.* 4(1) (2004), 31.
- [10]S. Miles, G.M. Price, L. Swift, L. Shepstone, S.J. Leinster, Statistics teaching in medical school: opinions of practising doctors, *BMC Med Educ.* 10 (2010) 75.
- [11] J.V. Freeman, S. Collier, D. Staniforth, K.J. Smith, Innovations in curriculum design: a multidisciplinary approach to teaching statistics to undergraduate medical students, *BMC Med Educ.* 8 (2008), 28.
- [12] N.M. Milic, S. Masic, J. Milin-Lazovic, G. Trajkovic, Z. Bukumiric, M. Savic et al., The Importance of Medical Students' Attitudes Regarding Cognitive Competence for Teaching Applied Statistics: Multi-Site Study and Meta-Analysis, *PloS One* 11(10) (2016), e0164439.
- [13] P. Kiekkas, A. Panagiotarou A. Malja, D. Tahirai, R. Zykai, N. Bakalis et al., Nursing students' attitudes toward statistics: Effect of a biostatistics course and association with examination performance, *Nurse Educ Today*. 5(12) (2015),1283-8.
- [14] A. Polychronopoulou, T. Eliades, K. Taoufik, M.A. Papadopoulos, A.E. Athanasiou, Knowledge of European orthodontic postgraduate students on biostatistics, Eur J Orthod. 33(4) (2011), 434-440.
- [15] R. Romano, E. Gambale, Statistics and medicine: the indispensable know-how of the researcher, *Transl Med UniSa*. 5 (2013), 28-31.
- [16]I. Masic, A. Novo, S. Deljkovic, I. Omerhodzic, A. Piralic, How to Assess and Improve Quality of Medical Education: Lessons Learned from Faculty of Medicine in Sarajevo, *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences* 7(1) (2007), 74-8.
- [17]I. Masic, D. Ciric, A. Pulja, I. Kulasin, H. Pandza, Quality Assessment of Medical Education and Use of Information Technology, *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 150 (2009), 898-902.
- [18]I. Masic, M. Jakovljevic, O. Sinanovic, S. Gajovic, M. Spiroski, R. Jusufovic et al., The Second Mediterranean Seminar on Science Writing, Editing and Publishing (SWEP 2018), Sarajevo, December 8th, 2018, Acta Inform Med 26(4) (2018), 284-96.

Strong Recommendations Are Inappropriate in Person-Centred Care: The Case of Anti-Platelet Therapy

Jack DOWIE^{a,b,1} and Mette Kjer KALTOFT^b ^a London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK ^b University of Southern Denmark. Denmark

Abstract. A 'Rapid Recommendation' has been produced by the GRADE group, in collaboration with MAGIC and BMJ, in response to an RCT showing Dual Anti-Platelet Therapy (DAPT) is superior to Aspirin alone for patients who had suffered acute high risk transient ischaemic attack or minor ischaemic stroke. The interactive MAGIC decision aid that accompanies each Rapid Recommendation is the main route to their clinical implementation. It can facilitate preference-sensitive person-centred care, but only if a Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis-based decision support tool is added. A demonstration version of such an add-on to the MAGIC aid, divested of recommendations, is available online. Exploring the results of different preference inputs into the tool raises questions about the strong recommendation for DAPT.

Keywords. anti-platelet therapy, transient ischaemic attack, MAGIC, GRADE, person-centred decision support, preferences, Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis

1. Introduction

A 'Rapid Recommendation' has been produced by the GRADE group, in collaboration with MAGIC and BMJ [1], in response to an RCT showing Dual Anti-Platelet Therapy (Clopidogrel and Aspirin) (DAPT) was superior to Aspirin monotherapy for patients who have suffered acute high risk transient ischaemic attack or minor ischaemic stroke [2].

In the systematic review and meta-analysis undertaken as part of the Rapid Recommendation production process [3], it was confirmed that DAPT was not a dominant option, i.e. it was not best or equal best on all criteria. The Rapid Recommendation was nevertheless a 'strong' one in favour of DAPT, to be started within 24 hours in patients who have had a high risk transient ischaemic attack or minor stroke and to be continued for 10-21 days, at which point patients should continue with aspirin alone. In GRADE 'Strong recommendations mean that most informed patients would choose the recommended management and that clinicians can structure their interactions with patients accordingly.' (p1051, italics supplied) [4].

When there is no dominant option any recommendation is necessarily preferencesensitive, reflecting the relative importance weights assigned to the various criteria. The preferences elicited in the GRADE study were those of the guidelines panel:

¹ Corresponding author, Jack Dowie, LSHTM, London WC1H 9SK, UK; E-mail: jack.dowie@lshtm.ac.uk

... the patient-important outcomes were defined by an international guideline panel [of 19 persons, which] judged death, non-fatal stroke, major extracranial bleeding, functional ability, and quality of life as critical outcomes. Myocardial infarction, recurrent transient ischaemic attack, and minor extracranial bleeding were judged less important (p.3) [1].

In person-centred care that meets the requirements for informed consent the relevant preferences are those of the individual patient elicited at the point of care. These may be out of line with the average ones reflected in the recommendation of a guideline panel.

2. Method

We introduce an add-on to the interactive online MAGIC decision aid, presented as the main route to clinical implementation of the rapid recommendation. The add-on enables the criteria importance weights to be varied, to produce a personalised opinion available at the point of decision. It transforms the aid from being simply a set of excellent - but cognitively challenging - infographics, for example Figure 1, into a personalised preference-sensitive decision support tool.



Figure 1. Infographic in MAGIC aid [https://www.bmj.com/content/363/bmj.k5130]

The basic inputs into the decision support tool are the seven featured criteria in the MAGIC decision aid, along with the evidence on how DAPT and ASPIRIN perform on them, as their Ratings. A treatment burden criterion is added, for which the individual is asked to supply their personal difficulty ratings, based on the 'Practical Considerations'

section of the aid. Most significantly, they provide their percentage importance Weightings for the eight criteria. The Weightings and Ratings are integrated in expected value calculations to generate a preference-sensitive opinion - pair of Option Scores - for the person to discuss (Figure 2). Having seen these scores they then have the opportunity to revise their Weightings in the light of the displayed Ratings. The tool is built in the Annalisa implementation of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) [5].

GRADE use four verbal levels to classify the quality ('certainty') of the evidence. In our conception of a decision support tool, adjusting for this is not a task to be left outside the tool for 'consideration'. MCDA requires quantitative inputs, so the levels are here mapped as Very low = 0.1; Low = 0.4; Moderate = 0.7; High = 1.0. Certainty-adjusted scores are thereby also calculated and displayed as a second pair in the interface.

3. Result

To engage with the tool, on a demonstration-only basis, go to <u>https://ale.rsyd.dk</u> and enter 1499 as survey ID. A sample output screen appears in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Screen capture from decision support tool

The criterion importance weightings in the figure are in line with those of the guideline panel but they actually produce an opinion favouring aspirin monotherapy, albeit at the third decimal place. But such near-equipoise is produced by many sets of weightings and it remains after certainty adjustment. (These results are best confirmed by engaging with aid.) The *strong* recommendation for DAPT is therefore very surprising, since for GRADE this makes option discussion with the patient unnecessary.

4. Discussion

In addition to wider concerns regarding GRADE [6],

It is difficult to personalise recommendations from guidelines ... Usable decision aids should now be seen as one of the most important end products for evidence based medicine. (pp1-2) [7].

However, the well-established difficulties arising in attempts to introduce decision aids into clinical practice need to be recognised [8].

5. Conclusion

In keeping with that of GRADE, MAGIC, and the BMJ, the aim is to provide support for more transparent and accountable clinical decisions, made within typical time and practice constraints and cognitive limitations of all parties. Person-centred care involves serious elicitation of individual's preferences at the point of care - as provided for in this add-on aid. The resulting opinion may legitimately deviate from expert-based guidelines.

Acknowledgment

Funding: The software used was installed at https:// ale.rsyd.dk in a Danish National Board of Health funded project to develop decision support tools (J.nr. 1-1010/116/27).

Conflict of Interest

Jack Dowie has a financial interest in commercial use of Annalisa.

- K. Prasad, R. Siemieniuk, Q. Hao, G. Guyatt, M. O'Donnell, L.Lytvyn, et al., Dual antiplatelet therapy with aspirin and clopidogrel for acute high risk transient ischaemic attack and minor ischaemic stroke: a clinical practice guideline, *BMJ* 363 (2018), k5130.
- [2] S.C. Johnston, J.D. Easton, M. Farrant, W.Barsan, R.A. Conwit, J.J.Elm, et al., Clopidogrel and aspirin in acute ischemic stroke and high-risk TIA, *New England Journal of Medicine* 379 (2018), 15-25.
- [3] Q. Hao, M. Tampi, M. O'Donnell, F. Foroutan, R.A.C. Siemieniuk, G. Guyatt, Clopidogrel plus aspirin versus aspirin alone for acute minor ischaemic stroke or high risk transient ischaemic attack: systematic review and meta-analysis, *BMJ* 363 (2018), k5108.
- [4] G.H. Guyatt, A.D. Oxman, R. Kunz, Y. Falck-Ytter, G.E. Vist, A. Giberati, H.J. Schünemann, GRADE: going from evidence to recommendations, *BMJ* 336 (2008), 1049-1051.
- [5] J. Dowie, J. M.K. Kaltoft, G. Salkeld, M. Cunich, Towards generic online multicriteria decision support in patient-centred health care, *Health Expectations* 18 (2013), 689–702.
- [6] P.C. Wyer, From MARS to MAGIC: The remarkable journey through time and space of the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation initiative, *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 24 (2018), 1191–202.
- [7] M. McCartney, J. Treadwell, N. Maskrey, R. Lehman, Making evidence based medicine work for individual patients, *BMJ* 353 (2016), 1–6.
- [8] G. Elwyn, I. Scholl, C. Tietbohl, M. Mann, A.G. Edwards, C. Clay, et al. "Many miles to go ...": a systematic review of the implementation of patient decision support interventions into routine clinical practice, *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 13(2) (2013), S14.

Why a Global PROMIS® Can't Be Kept

Jack DOWIE^{a,b,1} and Mette Kjer KALTOFT^b ^a London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK ^b University of Southern Denmark. Denmark

Abstract. Composite multi-dimensional constructs, such as 'global mental health' and 'global physical health', in PROMIS® instruments and ICHOM standard outcome sets, are formative, not reflective. Their preference-insensitivity means they are potentially misleading in both clinical and policy decision making practice. Their frequent validation by reflective psychometric tests is also improper methodologically. The spread of these instruments is occurring without sufficient awareness on the part of patients, clinicians, researchers and policy makers that the need for group-specific preference bases ('tariffs') for such measures rules out any possibility of 'international gold standard metrics'.

Keywords. Patient Reported Outcome Measures; preference-sensitive, formative, reflective, PROMIS

1. Introduction

"PROMIS® is increasingly recognized as the international gold standard for patientcentered assessment..." suggest Evans and colleagues (p345) [1]. PROMIS® is a large and expanding bank of patient-related outcome items and instruments, operating under the aegis of the PROMIS Health Organisation (PHO), with an associated user community. PROMIS® is the registered trademark of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (http://www.promishealth.com).

"The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®) is a National Institutes of Health initiative to develop state-of-the-science self-report measures to assess functioning and well-being in physical, mental, and social domains of health. PROMIS measures are potentially useful to screen for disability, identify health care disparities, enhance communication between patients and clinicians, and improve population health... PROMIS includes item banks that can be administered using computer-adaptive testing, short forms for individual domains, and profiles that yield information about multiple domains for use in clinical trials, observational studies, and clinical practice. The PROMIS-29 v2.0 profile measure assesses pain intensity using a single 0–10 numeric rating item and seven health domains (physical function, fatigue, pain interference, depressive symptoms, anxiety, ability to participate in social roles and activities, and sleep disturbance) using four items for each domain. [It] is analogous to the most widely used profile measure to date, the SF-36. But the PROMIS-29 v2.0 profile items were selected from PROMIS item banks calibrated using item response theory (IRT) analyses and all items in a domain are scored on the same underlying metric... While profile measures yield a wealth of information,

¹Corresponding author, Jack Dowie, LSHTM, London WC1H 9SK, UK; E-mail: jack.dowie@lshtm.ac.uk

higher-order summary measures [such as PROMIS GH 29 and PROMIS GH 10] are also useful." (p1885-6) [2].

The goals of PHO are to 'provide reliable, valid, and cost-effective measurement of relevant health outcomes to the greater scientific and clinical research community and to other health care organisations', and to increase their 'clinical adoption by organizing and presenting PRO data that are relevant and useful to clinicians, patients, and researchers'. Its aspirations include 'developing PROMIS into a gold-standard outcome metric' and making it 'part of routine clinical practice across multiple specialties'.

The subsequent adoption of PROMIS® global measures by the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (http://www.ichom.org), can be seen as a response to calls by ICHOM founder Michael Porter [3], to end the definition of quality in healthcare as compliance with evidence-based practice guidelines; redefining it as improvement in patient-relevant outcomes and thereby ending the 'outcome-measurement paralysis' that has been the provider-based obstacle to 'value-based care':

"... to unlock the potential of value-based health care for driving improvement, outcomes measurement must accelerate. That means committing to measuring a minimum sufficient set of outcomes for every major medical condition - with well-defined methods for their collection and risk adjustment - and then standardizing those sets nationally and globally." (p504-5) [3].

The aim of this paper is to alert those contemplating such development and/or use of a universal PROM (e.g. the adoption of a PROMIS® global measure) to its incompatibility with the acceptance of international (and intra-national) difference in preferences.

2. Method

Unfortunately the development of PROMs, has been, and still is, occurring without acknowledging that many of the latent (unobservable) constructs such as 'global mental health' and 'global physical health' in PROMIS® (and adopted in several ICHOM standard outcome sets) are *formative* not *reflective*. Apart from their validation as if they are reflective being improper methodologically, their preference-insensitivity potentially undermines decision making aimed at optimal person-centred care [4].

An inflamed appendix, e.g. appendicitis, is a reflective construct. It is 'reflected' in its various signs and symptoms - indicators, criteria, cues - such as rebound tenderness. Crucially the inflamed appendix can be operated on directly and this will, if successful, cause the signs and symptoms to disappear, along with construct (in this patient).



Reflective model: multiple indicators (e.g. signs and symptoms) reflect the construct (e.g. appendicitis) so arrows are upwards (red) Formative model: selected multiple indicators and their weights form/define the construct (e.g. GPH) so arrows are downwards (green)

Figure 1. Comparison of formative and reflective constructs

'Global physical health', like most index measures in healthcare, including all multi-criterial PROMs, is a formative construct. It is 'formed' by the set of indicators selected to define it, such as 'everyday physical activity ability', 'pain' and 'fatigue' in the case of PROMIS GH 10. These three indicators need not be highly, or at all, intercorrelated, 'internal consistency' being a necessary condition only for a reflective construct. Moreover, removing/replacing one of them will change the construct, whereas removing/replacing any indicator of a reflective construct does not change it, any indicator being a reflection of the construct, not part of its definition. Crucially 'global physical health' cannot be affected directly, only by changing its indicators. of PROMIS GH (An online interactive version 10 is available at http://orthotoolkit.com/promis-10.)

So PROMIS GH 10 and 29 define and measure the multi-dimensional formative constructs of 'global physical health' that Promis GH 10 and 29 measure. Neither measures a thing called global physical health, which does not exist until it is constructed. They are measures of two different constructs, not two different measures of the same construct. If many agree to use them, given the embedded preferences, the source of any validity is dependent on that intersubjective agreement.

Generic instruments developed by economists for use in economic evaluation are the most prominent examples of acceptance that multi-dimensional indexes, such as Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL), are formative constructs. This is acknowledged in accepting that any HRQOL measure is preference-sensitive, so that a population-based 'tariff' is needed for policy use. Crucially *Danish HRQOLas measured by EQ-5D-5L using the Danish tariff* is a different construct from *French HRQOLas measured by EQ-5D-L using the French tariff*. They are *not* two measures of the same construct, i.e. HRQOL as defined by EQ-5D-5L. While one can compare the two measures, applying the very different French tariff in Denmark - or vice versa – doing so would only confirm the irrelevance of the comparison for any decision in either.

3. Result

One example is sufficient to confirm the issue with preference-insensitive 'global' PROMs. Using PROMIS GH 10 in their study of stroke patients, Katzan et al. noted that 'measures that make up the physical component score are less highly correlated with each other than the measures that make up the mental component score' [5] (p150). While 'the results of our study support the recommendation from ICHOM to use PROMIS GH as part of the standard set of outcome measures in stroke... [because] of the moderate internal reliability and poor model fit of summarizing items into physical and mental health component scores, greater focus should be placed on individual PROMIS GH items than on the component scores in patients with stroke.' [5] (p153). Given that formative indexes are weighted scales, their main problem lies in the lack of a credible, or any, preference basis, not such statistical considerations.

The case-mix origins of the 'internationalisation' problem is well-recognised, but not the preference-mix one. 'The mean and standard deviation of all PROMIS scales are anchored on the US population... An open question for the future therefore remains: should we anchor scales based on the US general population, the respective country's population, or even on a global level?' [6] (p1010). Given these three options, only the country-specific one respects international heterogeneity in preferences.

4. Conclusion

PROMIS® and ICHOM fail to recognise that a 'gold standard' measure of any preference-sensitive formative construct is impossible. As with established generic measures of health-related quality of life, PROM researchers need to develop country-specific tariffs to ensure their measures reflect international differences in preferences.

- J.P. Evans, A. Smith, C. Gibbons, J. Alonso, J.M. Valderas, The National Institutes of Health Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): a view from the UK, *Patient Related Outcome Measures* 9 (2018), 345–52.
- [2] R.D. Hays, K.L. Spritzer, B.D. Schalet, D. Cella, PROMIS®-29 v2.0 profile physical and mental health summary scores, *Quality of Life Research* 27 (2018), 1885–91.
- [3] M.E. Porter, S. Larsson, T.H. Lee, Standardizing Patient Outcomes Measurement, New England Journal of Medicine 374 (2016), 504–6.
- [4] M.K. Kaltoft, J.B. Nielsen, J. Dowie, Formative preference-sensitive measures are needed in personcentred healthcare at both clinical and policy levels, *European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare* 5 (2017), 495-500.
- [5] I.L. Katzan, B. Lapin, PROMIS GH (Patient-reported outcomes measurement information system global health) scale in stroke a validation study, *Stroke* 49 (2018), 147–54.
- [6] F. Fischer, C. Gibbons, J. Coste, J.M. Valderas, M. Rose, A. Leplège, Measurement invariance and general population reference values of the PROMIS Profile 29 in the UK, France, and Germany, *Quality of Life Research* 27 (2018), 999–1014.

PROMs Need PRIMs: Standardised Outcome Measures Lack the Preference-Sensitivity Needed in Person-Centred Care

Mette Kjer KALTOFT^a and Jack DOWIE^{b,a,1} ^a University of Southern Denmark ^b London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

Abstract. A growing number of condition-specific standard outcome sets have been developed by the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement in pursuit of 'value-based care'. These sets embrace many Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs), reflecting a simultaneous commitment to 'patient-centred care'. However, none of these sets embody recognition of the preference-sensitive nature of the decisions that eventually generate the outcome database. 'Patient-Reported Importance Measures' (PRIMs) are the valid source of the required preferences. The ICHOM Stroke standard set is input into a hypothetical Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis-based decision support tool to provide simple confirmation that PROMs should be preference-mix adjusted as well as case-mix adjusted. PROMs need PRIMs if value-based care is to be personalised values-based care.

Keywords. Patient Reported Outcome Measures, value-based care, preferencesensitive decisions, Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis

1. Introduction

Most of the development and use of Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs), has been, and still is, occurring without adequate debate about the conceptualisation of the latent (unobservable) constructs being measured. Efforts to improve patient-centred care by the systematic collection and dissemination of standardised data on the multiple outcomes that matter to patients are to be applauded. However, it is qualified applause, because the failure to acknowledge and highlight the preference-sensitivity of most decisions in healthcare will severely limit the benefits from all this activity, for two main reasons. First, the ambition to develop 'benchmarking' and 'gold standard metrics', even global/international ones, denies the existence of inter-cultural, intra-national and international heterogeneity in outcome preferences. While case-mix is addressed as a serious concern, preference-mix is ignored. Second, there is no recognition that the vast and increased amount of 'standardised' data being collected as a result of these initiatives, imposes - absent decision support - an almost impossible information-processing burden on the clinician and patient, attempting to engage in person-centred shared decision making in the presence of heterogeneity in the preferences of patients regarding the multiple considerations involved in many healthcare decisions.

¹ Corresponding Author, Jack Dowie, LSHTM, London WC1H 9SK; E-mail: jack.dowie@lshtm.ac.uk.

The mission of the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (http://www.ichom.org) is 'to unlock the potential of value-based healthcare by defining global Standard Sets of outcome measures that matter most to patients, and driving adoption and reporting of these measures worldwide to create better value for all stakeholders.' ICHOM founder Michael Porter sees it as the vehicle to end the definition of 'quality' in healthcare as compliance with evidence-based practice guidelines, redefining it as improvement in patient-relevant outcomes. 'That means committing to measuring a minimum sufficient set of outcomes for every major medical condition - with well-defined methods for their collection and risk adjustment - and then standardizing those sets nationally and globally.' [1] (p504-5).

ICHOM draws on the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®) initiative, which has used state of the art psychometric and statistical techniques to create a universal PROMs language, with potential application across the whole spectrum of health conditions, languages, and geographic location. The scores of each health domain or a standardized profile of multiple domains are all scored on a common metric scale [2]. PROMIS operates under the aegis of the PROMIS Health Organisation (PHO), with an associated user community (http://www.promishealth.com). Its announced long-term aspirations include 'developing PROMIS into a gold-standard outcome metric' and making it 'part of routine clinical practice across multiple specialties'.

Twenty-seven Standard Sets are now available from ICHOM, with nine in production. To avoid misrepresentation it is important to quote the specific aim of ICHOM as being to

... ensure collection of comparable data for global benchmarking and learning. Each Standard Set focuses on patient-centered results, and provides an internationally-agreed upon method for measuring each of these outcomes. We do this because we believe that standardized outcomes measurement will open up new possibilities to compare performance globally, allow clinicians to learn from each other, and rapidly improve the care we provide our patients. Our Standard Sets include initial conditions and risk factors to enable *meaningful case-mix adjustment globally*, ensuring that comparisons of outcomes will take into account the differences in patient populations across not just providers, but also countries and regions ... Our aim is to make Standard Sets freely accessible to healthcare institutions worldwide to begin measuring, and ultimately benchmark the outcomes they achieve. [https://www.ichom.org/standard-sets/#standard-sets]. (italics supplied)

The aim here is to establish that PROMs need to be preference-mix adjusted as well as case-mix adjusted if they are to facilitate more person-centred care.

2. Method

To establish why the current efforts of ICHOM (and PROMIS) can only be given qualified applause, we take the case of Stroke and input the components into a largely blank Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA)-based decision support tool. In this way we can (i) establish the methodological problem of developing 'benchmarks' relevant to the *values/preference*-based care that is a condition of *value*-based care; (ii) demonstrate the magnitude of the decision burden placed on the clinical dyad by an expanded database containing a wide range of diverse and often overlapping outcome measures;

but nevertheless (iii) provide both clinician and patient with an indication of the type of support needed to move towards a preference-sensitive decision.

In the Salinas paper [3] and the diagrammatic wheel presentation on the ICHOM website [https://www.ichom.org/portfolio/stroke] the Standard Set for Stroke has 3 domains and 10 sub-domains. [** indicates exclusively or * partly drawn from PROMIS GH 10]. SURVIVAL AND DISEASE CONTROL: Overall Survival; Stroke Recurrence; Smoking Cessation. ACUTE COMPLICATIONS: Symptomatic Intracranial Hemorrhage. PATIENT REPORTED HEALTH STATUS: Cognitive and Psychiatric Functioning**; Non-motor Functioning**; Motor Functioning*; Social Functioning*; General Health Status**; Health-Related Quality of Life**.

Patient-reported importance measures (PRIMs) are required *ex ante* a healthcare decision to establish optimal management for the individual and obtain their informed consent. Varying PRIMs within a heterogeneous patient group will impact on any PROMs collected *ex post*. Go to https://ale.rsyd.dk and enter survey ID 1510 for a simple hypothetical example to confirm this. Ratings and Weightings of one's choice can then be entered, but no data security is offered.

3. Results



Figure 1. Hypothetical example using ICHOM standard stroke set with only two criteria rated and weighted. They are set at values that produce equipoise ('toss-up').

Two *clinically identical* patients assign different weights to avoiding Stroke Recurrence and impeded Cognitive and Psychiatric Functioning. Given the different hypothetical performance rates of Thrombolysis and Thrombectomy on these two criteria, one will favour the former, one the latter. The conventionally-measured PROMs for both interventions will be affected, as will any consequent PROM-based evaluations. Patient preference-mix therefore needs to be adjusted for in PROMs, as well as clinical casemix, most likely by sub-group clustering.

4. Discussion

ICHOM standard sets are valuable *profile* measures. However, profile measures, comprising numerous individual *scales*, do not supply the aggregate outcome *index* required to decide the direction and extent of overall change. The production of a Stroke index requires weighting of the component scales. To have this aggregation based solely on the implicit preferences (weightings) of developers of the Standard Set, means the ICHOM ones are questionable facilitators of preference-sensitive values-based care. Apart from the double-counting most of them involve, the Standard Sets lack the empirically-derived group and sub-group average preferences ('tariffs') necessary to give them credible preference-sensitivity. A final irony arises in the efforts to map measures of formative constructs that have been validated as if reflective [4], on to explicitly formative and tariff-based generic constructs, for use in QALYs [5].

5. Conclusion

Value-based care requires *values*-based, i.e. preference-sensitive, decision making. PROMs need to be preference-mix as well as case-mix adjusted and research on the development of PRIM-adjusted PROMs is needed.

6. Funding

The software at https:// ale.rsyd.dk was funded in a project to develop decision support tools (Danish National Board of Health/SATS J.nr. 1-1010/116/27).

7. Conflict of Interest

Jack Dowie has a financial interest in commercial use of Annalisa.

- M.E. Porter, S. Larsson and T.H. Lee, Standardizing Patient Outcomes Measurement, New England Journal of Medicine 374 (2016), 504–6.
- [2] R.D. Hays, K.L. Spritzer, B.D. Schalet and D. Cella, PROMIS[®]-29 v2.0 profile physical and mental health summary scores, *Quality of Life Research* 27 (2018), 1885–91.
- [3] J. Salinas, S.M. Sprinkhuizen, T. Ackerson, J. Bernhardt, C. Davie, M.G. George, et al. An international standard set of patient-centered outcome measures after stroke, *Stroke* 47 (2016), 180–6.
- [4] M.K. Kaltoft, J.B. Nielsen and J. Dowie, Formative preference-sensitive measures are needed in personcentred healthcare at both clinical and policy levels, *European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare*, 5 (2017), 495-500.
- [5] J. Hanmer, D. Cella, D. Feeny, B. Fischhoff, R.D. Hays, R. Hess, et al. Selection of key health domains from PROMIS[®] for a generic preference-based scoring system, *Quality of Life Research* 26 (2017), 3377– 85.

Experiences and Quality of Life in Critically Ill Patients: Can Technology Lead to Improvements?

Panagiota PELEKA^{a,1}, Olga SISKOU^b, Petros GALANIS^b, Olympia KONSTANTAKOPOULOU^b, Marianna DIOMIDOUS^c, Athina KALOKAIRINOU^d and Daphne KAITELIDOU^b

^a CCRN, MSc, Intensive Care Department, 401 Military Hospital of Athens, Greece ^b Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

^c Associate Professor of Public Health and Epidemiology, Department of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece ^d Professor in Community Nursing, Department of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian

University of Athens, Greece

Abstract. Experiences and outcomes of critically ill patients reflect quality of intensive care. The aim of this study was twofold: a) to investigate factors affecting patients' experiences to Intensive Care Units (ICUs) and b) to measure patients' post discharge Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL). Methods: A cross-sectional study with retrospective data collection was carried out. The participants (n=108) were discharged patients from four ICUs of three military hospitals in Athens. Telephone interviews were conducted using the "Patient Empowerment Questionnaire" and "Quality of life Questionnaire". Results: Patients suffering from pain (p<0.001), polytraumatized or patients underwent a "non-scheduled surgery" (p=0.001) reported worse sleep at night. Mechanical ventilation was associated positively with pain relief (p=0.021). Extended length of stay (p<0.001), bad health status prior ICU admission (p=0.005), "polytrauma" and "non-scheduled surgery" patients (p=0.032), mechanical ventilation (p=0.005) and pain during ICU stay (p=0.04) were correlated with worse HRQOL after discharge. Conclusions: ICU staff must consider the factors that affected patients' experiences during their ICU stay and worsened HRQOL after discharge. Adoption of new technological innovations could help them to improve the quality of intensive care provided.

Keywords. Experiences, HRQOL, Intensive Care Unit, technology

1. Introduction

Critically ill patients usually deal with many stressful experiences in ICUs and face problems in post-discharge HRQOL. Evaluating patients' experiences of intensive care would reveal some factors affecting them and strengthen interpersonal relationships with the staff [1]. In addition, consistent measurements of post discharge HRQOL, would provide valuable feedback to health care stakeholders to apply preventive or corrective

¹ Corresponding Author, Panagiota Peleka, Intensive Care Department, 401 Military Hospital of Athens, Greece; Email: panagiotapeleka@gmail.com.

actions to improve quality of care and consequently HRQOL [1]. Thus, the aim of this study was twofold: a) to investigate factors affecting patients' experiences in Intensive Care Units (ICUs) and b) to measure patients' post discharge HRQOL.

2. Methods

A cross-sectional study with retrospective data collection was carried out with patients who have been discharged from ICUs for six to twelve months in order to ensure the best possible HRQOL [2]. Telephone interviews were conducted with adult patients (n=108) discharged from four ICUs of three military hospitals in Athens. Patients hospitalized for at least two days in an ICU and able to communicate were included. Patients who died, did not understand Greek, could not remember anything or denied to participate were excluded from the study. The response rate was 69%.

"Patient Empowerment Questionnaire" (PEQ) [3] was used to evaluate patients' experiences related to staff's behavior, physical comfort etc. A five-point Likert scale was used for the possible answers (never, rarely, sometimes, usually and always). Always represented the best experience (5 points) and never the worst (1 point). "Quality of life Questionnaire" [4] was used to assess HRQOL and had three dimensions: "Basic physiological activities" (0-9 points), "Normal daily activities" (0-15 points) and "Emotional state" (0-5 points). The higher the score the worse was the HRQOL. Both questionnaires were designed specifically for critically ill patients.

Phone calls to eligible patients were conducted, initially informing them for the purpose and methodology of the study. Given patient verbal informed consent, four sets of questions in regards to demographics, clinical characteristics, experiences and HRQOL were asked.

Statistical analysis was carried out using the SPSS v. 25.0. Descriptive statistics were used to present mean, median, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values. Bivariate correlations were conducted using Student's t-test, Pearson's and Spearman's correlation coefficients and Analysis of variance. The HRQOL scores, "pain relief" and "be able to sleep" (items derived from PEQ which had the highest variability) defined as dependent variables, while patients' demographics and clinical characteristics consisted the independent variables. [2,3,4,5] Multivariate linear regression was used when more than two independent variables were statistically significant at the level of 0.2 (p<0.2). [6] The two-sided significance level was set equal to 0.05.

Dr. Wahlin, Dr. Vazquez-Mata and Dr. Fernandez provided their permission to use the aforementioned questionnaires. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, by the Scientific Committees of each hospital and by the ICUs' directors. All patients were informed that the participation was voluntary, their decision to participate or not could not affect their care and asked for verbal informed consent. The study design was based on the European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and aligned with the Declaration of Helsinki.

3. Results

Most of the participants were men (74.1%) and healthy prior admission (75%). The majority of the patients reported very positive experiences from ICU, as the percentages

of those who rated always to each PEQ topic were more than 80%. The least positive experiences were "night's sleep" and 'pain relief'. Improved pain relief claimed patients who were mechanically ventilated. Patients suffering from pain (p<0.001), and those who were "polytraumatized" or underwent a "non-scheduled surgery" (p=0.001) reported worse sleep at night. In regards to HRQOL, 83% of the participants reported low scores. Disability and extended hospitalization in an ICU were associated with worse emotional state (p<0.001 & p=0.002) and HRQOL in general (p=0.005 & p<0.001). "Polytraumatized" and patients underwent a "non-scheduled surgery" had worse 'normal daily activities' (p<0.032). Mechanically ventilated patients had worse "basic physiological activities" (p<0.07) and worse "normal daily activities" (p<0.005). Inadequate pain relief in ICU was associated negatively with HRQOL (p=0.04).

4. Discussion

Pain and sleep difficulties were the least positive experiences in this study, which are two of the most common problems of critically ill patients in ICU [5]. When pain relief was inadequate, patients reported worse quality of sleep, as pain causes sleep deprivations and lack of sleep increases pain sensitivity [7]. Improved pain relief claimed the mechanically ventilated patients, maybe because they can't express the real levels of pain, so it was possibly "overtreated". Polytrauma and non-scheduled surgery patients reported the worst quality of sleep. They usually have high levels of pain and stress, which can cause sleep disturbances.

Patients with extended ICU stay reported worse emotional state and HRQOL in general. Extended ICU stay is associated with prolonged immobility, increases the likelihood for weakness and muscle atrophy [8] and exposes the patients to more stressful experiences which can cause negative feelings. Patients suffering from chronic disabling diseases, also reported worse emotional state and HRQOL. Possibly these patients had bad HRQOL prior to ICU admission. "Polytrauma" and "non-scheduled surgery" patients reported worse 'normal daily activities'. It is widely recognized that polytrauma patients face the worst problems in functional status than other ICU patients [9] and need much more time to improve HRQOL. In the current study, mechanically ventilated patients reported worse "basic physiological and normal daily activities". Mechanical ventilation increases the necessity of staying in ICU and exposes patients to nosocomial infections, which could possibly increase the necessity of intensive care. Patients who suffered from pain in the ICU, also had worse HRQOL after discharge. Possibly, they continued to suffer from pain which restricted them from carrying out their daily activities.

5. Conclusions- Recommendations

ICU staff must consider the factors that affected patients' experiences during their ICU stay and worsened HRQOL after discharge. In an era of rapid advancement in information technology (IT), exploitation of its modern applications is necessary to improve quality of intensive care. Systematic assessment of patient reported indicators, both experiences and outcomes (e.g. HRQOL), should be established by developing appropriate mobile applications or using electronic questionnaires sent automatically via email or mobile phone. The collected data could be used to develop a national electronic

database in order to help health care stakeholders to evaluate the quality of the provided care, facilitate hospitals' performance benchmarking and finally suggest measures for improvements. [10].

Furthermore, adopting mobile applications in intensive care like ICU diaries would improve patients' experiences by reminding ICU facts, providing information and explanations for their stay and maintaining connection with the staff after discharge [11]. Wearable devices could be worn for post- ICU discharge patient monitoring, as they generate useful data related to HRQOL, such as quality of sleep [12]. Increasing attention is paid to Machine Learning (ML), a branch of Artificial Intelligence which constructs algorithms to accurately predict future outcomes. ML in ICU can learn from past cases, use the available data to early recognize clinical deterioration and submit evidence-based suggestions for the best treatment. [13] This approach would improve quality of care and consequent HRQOL.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank patients who participated in this study. There has been no financial assistance with the project.

- J. Chen, Integrated Care: Patient-reported outcome measures and patient-reported experience measuresa rapid scoping review, NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation, Sydney, 2015.
- [2] S. McKinley, M. Fien, R. Elliott and D. Elliott, Health-related quality of life and associated factors in intensive care unit survivors 6 months after discharge, *American Journal of Critical Care* 25 (2016), 52-58.
- [3] I. Wåhlin, P. Samuelsson and S. Agren, What do patients rate as most important when cared for in the ICU and how often is this met? An empowerment questionnaire survey, *Journal of critical care* 40 (2017), 83-90.
- [4] R. Rivera Fernandez, J.J. Sanchez Cruz and G. Vazquez Mata, Validation of a quality of life questionnaire for critically ill patients, *Intensive Care Medicine* 22 (1996), 1034-1042.
- [5] J. G. Hofhuis, P.E. Spronk, H.F. van Stel et al., Experiences of critically ill patients in the ICU, *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 24 (2008), 300-313.
- [6] P. Galanis, *Data analysis methodology in Health sciences. Applications with the IBM SPSS Statistics,* Broken Hill Publishers LTD, Nicosia, Cyprus, 2015.
- [7] X. Su and D.X. Wang, Improve postoperative sleep: what can we do?, *Current opinion in anesthesiology* 31 (2018), 83-88.
- [8] M. Busico, D. Intile, M. Sivori et al., Risk factors for worsened quality of life in patients on mechanical ventilation. A prospective multicenter study, *Med Intensiva* 40 (2016), 422-430.
- [9] P. Schenk, J. Warszawska, V. Fuhrmann et al., Health-related quality of life of long-term survivors of intensive care: changes after intensive care treatment, *Wiener klinische Wochenschrift* 124 (2012), 624-632.
- [10] A.J. Rana, Building a Patient-Reported Outcome Metric Database: One Hospital's Experience, *The Journal of Arthroplasty* 31 (2016), 1151-1154.
- [11] E.A. Scruth and V. Liu, Innovation and Technology: Electronic Intensive Care Unit Diaries, AACN Adv Crit Care 28 (2017), 191-199.
- [12] R.R. Kroll, E.D. McKenzie, J. Gordon Boyd et al., Use of wearable devices for post discharge monitoring of ICU patients: a feasibility study, *Journal of Intensive Care* 5 (2017), 64.
- [13] T. Kamio, T. Van and K. Masamune, Use of Machine-Learning Approaches to Predict Clinical Deterioration in Critically III Patients: A Systematic Review, *International Journal of Medical Research* & Health Sciences 6 (2017), 1-7.

Developing a Gamified First Aid Training Application for Children

Adrian Kristoffer BORGUND a,1 and Ankica BABIC a, b

^a Department of Information Science and Media Studies, University of Bergen, Norway ^b Department of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. This paper presents a high-fidelity prototype of a mobile game for teaching children fundamental skills in first aid. The study utilizes expert interviews to define learning scope and evaluate design. The game introduces two situations based on realistic scenarios; a boy who fell on a skateboard, and an elderly man with chest pains. Interactive elements introduce a way for the user to explore and assess a given situation. Gamification keeps motivation for learning high, and choice of graphical elements keeps situations feel familiar but non-frightening. There is a quiz to help children learn how to communicate with emergency services. Experts believe that children can learn essential steps for providing basic first aid, except physically fatiguing techniques, so they found the prototype to be a viable option for learning basic first aid at a young age.

Keywords. First aid, children, e-learning, high-fidelity prototype.

1. Introduction

Every year approximately half a million people in Norway are injured as a result of an accident, violence or self-inflicted injury, and approximately 3000 people suffer from cardiac arrest outside of hospitals [1]. A study of response times of the emergency services in Norway by the department of health showed that their goals of having under 12 minutes response times in cities and towns in 90 percent of acute situations is not realistic, and the 12-minute goals is only reached in 67.5 percent of the time [2]. For sparsely populated areas where the goal is within 25 minutes in 90 percent of acute events, this response time was achieved in 80.3 percent of the cases [2]. The time it takes from a serious acute event occurs to having received necessary health care is often crucial to avoid unnecessary death, loss of function, or disorder [2]. These studies illustrate the importance of proper first aid training in Norway, and a group that is not being prioritized in first aid training is children. Starting training at an early age can increase both the overall knowledge and skill level, and continuous repetition can help with retaining the information better over time. Generally, there are few solutions for e-learning, one good example is "A Breathtaking Picnic App" developed by the Italian Resuscitation Council. This app teaches children simple first aid steps in the case of an emergency [3].

This project aims to develop a mobile application to give children a fundamental introduction to first aid early in life. We are following guidelines for administering first aid developed by the Norwegian Association for Heart and Lung Diseases [4].

¹ Corresponding Author, Adrian Kristoffer Borgund, Norway; E-mail: akb-92@hotmail.com.
2. Method

A literature review was conducted to acquire knowledge as a basis for creating an elearning application for children, finding ways to effectively use gamification for motivation, and to get an understanding of the cognitive and physical limitations and abilities that can impact teaching first aid to children. In the next step, semi-structured interviews were conducted with experts in the field of first aid training and teaching. Results were used to define requirements for the content and development of the prototype. Four experts participated in the project, two of whom are from the Norwegian Red Cross, while one is a principle with responsibility for children in primary school ages. In addition, one project manager from the Norwegian Association for Heart and Lung Diseases (LHL) was involved due to her role in improving first aid training in Norwegian schools. The experts were all engaged to ensure that criteria for effective and safe educational use is met. We have implemented two learning situations suggested by LHL. A high-fidelity prototype was designed and implemented for iOS, and thereafter evaluated by having walkthroughs with the experts. Feedback included a System Usability Scale for the second design iteration.

3. Results

3.1 Requirements

When creating a digital learning application aimed at teaching children first aid, their cognitive and physical abilities must be taken into account. The target audience of this project are children of ages 6 to 7. For them learning through playing is essential, and the aim of most first aid training is to build some basic fundamental understanding and skills through simple exercises that foster curiosity and safety [4]. It takes time to build this foundation, and studies show that training in small doses with multiple repetitions give the best results [4]. Using visual presentations can create a closeness to situations when first aid is needed [4]. The life-saving chain can be described in three steps, where first step is to identify the situation, assess risks both with regards to one's own and the patient safety, and to properly notify the emergency services when necessary. The second step can be summarized as assessing vital life functions, like checking the patient's consciousness, whether airways are open and if they are able to breathe properly. The third step is to provide necessary first aid techniques, for instance Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation(CPR) or putting the patient in a recovery position [4]. Findings from the expert interviews suggest that children are capable of learning most elements in this chain. They are somewhat limited by their physical ability to, for instance, perform CPR. This limits the scope of teaching children to the first two steps. So, the focus will be identifying and assessing situations, notifying emergency services, and providing help within children's individual physical and cognitive capabilities. To facilitate a safe and good learning environment it is important that the language and graphics are age adjusted, to not be frightening for the children.

3.2 Prototype

The high-fidelity prototype is implemented for iOS devices with the Swift[5] programming language and using SpriteKit[6] as a framework for game elements and mechanics. The prototype presents different situations where fundamental first aid

principles can be practiced in an interactive way. Each situation consists of interactive elements like a patient, background elements indicating what has happened, and a first aid toolkit. After assessing the situation, a first aid toolkit is available to help. The situations introduce interactive elements to stimulate curiosity and exploration when looking for solutions. The prototype has three characters, Ane, Tom, and Herman (Figure 1). Ane is an 8-year-old girl that helps guide the player throughout the different cases and gives feedback on interactions. Tom and Herman are patients. Firstly, Tom presents himself as an 8-year-old boy who fell on his skateboard and hurt his knee. Tom explains what happened and what help he believes he needs. The background elements in this case are related to skateboarding, and through interaction the user gets clues of what has happened. Based on the given information the user can solve the case by using various tools from the first aid toolkit. For Tom, the user can simply give him a band-aid. In the second case the user is introduced to Herman, a 79-year-old man with chest pains. When interacting with Herman he explains that he was walking in the park and got short breathed and started feeling chest pains. Herman thinks he needs water, and thankfully accepts it, but he still feels pain. Based on this information the user can solve the case by calling the ambulance in Norway with an interactive phone that is part of the toolkit. After dialling the correct number, the user is tested on what information should be given to the emergency services. A three-question quiz appears, each with two alternatives. A correct resolution of the case gives a positive feedback both visual, in a textual form, and auditive, through dialogue and sound effects. The dialogue in the game is textual and combined with a text-to-speech synthesiser to help the target audience whose reading skills are still limited. To distinguish the characters and to easier relate to them, the voices used by the speech synthesiser change.



Figure 1.a Case with Tom. 1.b Case with Herman. 1.c Feedback for a solved case.

4. Discussion

When creating an application for children it is important to achieve a balance between the level of detail in the information and visualisation of the content. The design, pace and content of the solution has to be configured with the target audience in mind.

Different ages need different approaches, and the main takeaway from the expert interviews and literature review was that the early age group should be able to learn basic first-aid principles and techniques, however physical and cognitive limitations means CPR, and other fatiguing techniques can prove troublesome. There was a consensus in the expert group that children should learn first-aid as early as possible, at least to identifying acute situations and to call the emergency services. The character and general design of the porotype were made with flat and simplistic illustrations to make them less intimidating and frightening, but at the same time design should show enough detail to make them prepared for a potential real case where they need to administer first aid. The choice of character design and cases to solve for Ane, Tom, and Herman, was to introduce a realistic representation of people and situations the users might come across in daily live. The interactive elements are meant to stimulate curiosity and exploration to figure out what has happened, and to make the user assess what is needed to help. The scenarios are presented in familiar environments, like a park.

The quiz for completing the phone call to the emergency services is meant to help the user communicate with the emergency services, as this knowledge can make the user more confident when having to call the emergency services in a given situation. The use of gamification as a learning tool can make the learning experience less frightening and keep the motivation for repetitive learning high [7]. The motivation is further strengthened by giving encouragement and instant feedback for interactions, and thus making the user able to experiment and solve the situation on their own. The user can dictate the pace of the game, making room for individual progression based on problem solving skills. These are all game elements children are familiar with through other games they play. Experts see the potential of using such tools.

5. Conclusion

Findings from the interviews with experts in first aid training led to a high-fidelity prototype of a mobile game aimed at giving children a fundamental understanding of first aid. The design solutions encourage exploration and present a serious topic in a non-frightening way. Testing with experts and users gave useful feedback on actual usage and usability. The attitude towards such learning was positive, and there is a place and a future for this kind of interactive first aid learning tools for children.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the experts Michelline Biseke, Thomas Transeth, Dag Inge Dæmring and Marit Røed Halvorsen for their insights and suggestions.

- H. Strømme, E. Jeppesen and L. M. Reinar, Førstehjelpsopplæring kan gi bedre førstehjelpsferdigheter, (2015), 38.
- [2] Helsedirektoratet, *Tid fra AMK varsles til ambulanse er på hendelsessted.* https://helsenorge.no/Kvalitetsindikatorer/akuttmedisinske-tjenester-utenfor-sykehus/fra-ringe-113-tilambulanse-pa-hendelsessted (2018) (Accessed April 2, 2019).
- [3] F. Semeraro and the Italian Resuscitation Council, *A Breathtaking Picnic App*. https://www.erc.edu/news/a-breathtaking-picnic-app (Accessed April 5, 2019).
- [4] LHL, Førstehjelp i grunnskolen 1-4. trinn LHL. https://www.forstehjelpigrunnskolen.no/1-4-trinn/ (Accessed April 3, 2019).
- [5] Apple inc., Swift | Apple Developer Documentation. https://developer.apple.com/documentation/swift (Accessed April 5, 2019).
- [6] Apple inc., SpriteKit Apple Developer. https://developer.apple.com/spritekit/ (Accessed April 3, 2019).
- [7] C.-H. Su, The effects of students' motivation, cognitive load and learning anxiety in gamification software engineering education: a structural equation modeling study, *Multimed. Tools Appl.* 75 (16) (2016), 10013–10036.

Defining an Architecture for a Coaching Module to Support Self-Monitoring of Chronic Obstructive Respiratory Diseases

Ana VIEIRA^a, Diogo MARTINHO^a, Constantino MARTINS^a, Ana ALMEIDA^a and Goreti MARREIROS^{a,1}

^aGECAD, Institute of Engineering, Polytechnic of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Abstract. Over time there has been an increase of the number of people affected by chronic obstructive respiratory diseases, burdening healthcare providers. Following the growth of information technologies, it has been sought the development of innovative solutions that help monitoring and treating patients. In this work is proposed the architecture for a coaching module to be integrated in the system developed by the PHE project. With the goal to improve patients' health condition by providing innovative and intelligent measuring and monitoring tools for preventive healthcare and allow affordable solutions with increased patient involvement. With this work, we define the architecture for a module that can generate recommendations adapted to each patient. By doing so, we believe to be possible to motivate the adoption of behaviors that benefit the health condition of the patient and decrease the risk of complications associated to the disease.

Keywords. CORD, mHealth, Personal Healthcare, Self-Monitoring

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive respiratory diseases (CORD) affect people all over the world, being reported that, by 2017, more than one billion people suffer from these diseases [1]. Due to the high prevalence of CORD and the constant monitoring of the patients' condition there has been a burden on the healthcare providers [2], making the development of cost-effective solutions for monitoring and treatment of patients necessary [3]. The continuous growth of information technologies in recent years has been aiming towards the automatization and customization of processes, resulting in the development of innovative solutions to existing problems in healthcare [4]. As a result, concepts such as mobile health (mHealth) have emerged. mHealth aims towards the self-management of the patient's disease, by providing mobile systems that are capable of monitoring their health status and giving customized feedback about activities and behaviors patients can do to improve their health [5,6]. Mobile devices now offer a wide set of features and embedded sensors that can be used to measure and monitor patients' current health condition and support them in the management of their diseases [7]. Solutions for monitoring and treating patients with CORD are already available. AioCare [8] is a mobile app that helps the self-monitoring of the patient's

¹ Corresponding Author, Goreti Marreiros, GECAD, Institute of Engineering, Polytechnic of Porto, Porto, Portugal; E-mail: mgt@isep.ipp.pt.

health status by allowing the self-reporting of the symptoms and also measures the parameters associated with the disease. SmartOne [9] monitors the patient's health status by tracking the disease's parameters and detects if the patient is having an exacerbation. SpiroSmart, presented in [10], is a mobile app that monitors the patient's health status by performing the spirometry using only the smartphone's microphone. BKSpiro, presented in [11], is similar to SpiroSmart, performing the spirometry using only the smartphone's microphone to monitor the patient's health condition. These systems are heavily focused on monitoring patient's health condition and require the use of external sensors for the acquisition of data, except for SpiroSmart and BKSpiro. Currently, most smartphone solutions for CORD management lack of customized interactions with personalized recommendations and cannot accurately measure clinical data, such as the expiratory flow rate and then detect exacerbations.

The main goal of PHE2 is to empower people to monitor and improve their health using personal data and technology assisted coaching. To achieve this goal, PHE will apply innovative and intelligent measuring and monitoring tools for preventive healthcare and allow cost-saving and self and home-care solutions with increased patient involvement. Furthermore, PHE project will exclusively use the smartphone and its embedded sensors to acquire all the necessary data to provide personalized support to the CORD patient. The technologies developed for PHE can be licensed as project components that can be independently used and integrated in companies (mHealth, pharmaceutical, etc.) and to provide innovative health services for other healthcare systems. In this sense, the Inspirers project [12] is highlighted as an ongoing European initiatives which could benefit from the innovations offered by PHE.

This paper proposes an architecture for the individualized support module (coaching) which will be integrated in the system developed by PHE project. This module is responsible for the data processing in order to generate both customized recommendations regarding behaviors that benefit the patient's health and reports about the patient's monitoring and health state. Furthermore, the coaching module should be able to detect and predict exacerbations during the processing of the patient's data.

2. Proposed Architecture

Figure 1 presents the proposed architecture for the coaching module. The main user will be the CORD patient which provides clinical and demographic data, preferences and feedback, besides the information automatically acquired by the smartphone.



Figure 1. Proposed architecture.

² <u>https://itea3.org/project/personal-health-empowerment.html</u>

The Service Layer serves as a gateway between the coaching module and external services. This layer contains the Web API, which provides a set of services to acquire patient's information and provide personalized recommendations.

The Business Logic Layer is responsible for the data processing and business logic operations, such as the generation of customized recommendations. This layer contains the Coaching Module, that processes the information received by the Web API and includes three components: Rules, User Profiles and Recommendations. Rules specifies the set of conditions associated to the patient's clinical data which are necessary to identify possible recommendations to send to the patient. User Profiles specifies all the characteristics that can identify a certain profile which is assigned to the patient. So far two main groups have already been identified, which are Asthma and Rhinitis groups. Furthermore, the remaining groups will be defined using clustering techniques to identify users sharing characteristics related to patient's demographic data, context, etc. Recommendations verifies and processes the received data according to the defined Rules and User Profiles. This component sends the identified recommendations to the Web API.

The Coaching Module will be developed using JBoss Drools, which is the most used open-source rule engine framework for Java programming language. Besides that, this framework offers many advantages which can be beneficial for the Coaching Module here proposed [13,14] such as: intuitive rule language for non-developers, supports flexible and adaptive process, enhances intelligent process automation and complex event processing and is easy to integrate with web services. Figure 2 shows an example of a rule that was defined for a recommendation to send to the patient.



Figure 2. Rule example in Drools

The Data Access Layer will serve as a middle layer between the Business Logic Layer and the different data sources. This service receives requests from the Business Logic Layer about whether to read, insert, update or delete information available in the database. The database contains information regarding the patient's clinical data, variables associated with recommendations and the history of provided recommendations. It also contains knowledge provided by health professionals, rules used for the generation of recommendations and the defined user profiles and respective characteristics.

3. Conclusions and future work

The high prevalence of CORD has led to an overload of healthcare providers, being imperative the development of technological solutions that provide the remote monitoring of patients. Mobile health systems have emerged in order to ease the burden of healthcare providers, being able to remotely monitor the patient, by regularly tracking the patient's health condition.

In this paper it is presented an architecture for an intelligent individualized support module for the PHE project, which will be responsible for the customization of the system by generating customized recommendations about behaviors that benefit the patient's health. The knowledge presented in the database regarding the Rules component is currently being integrated in the Drools framework and afterwards tests will be carried out to validate which type of recommendations will be generated and which will be relevant to the patients.

As future work we intend to study intelligent strategies to improve the Recommendations component such as Case-Based Reasoning that can be used to verify if there are cases where recommendations can be generated even though there isn't full knowledge about the patient, for example: missing data related to a specific variable used in the generation of a certain recommendation.

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this paper has been developed under the EUREKA - ITEA3 Project PHE (PHE-16040), and by National Funds through FCT (Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia) under the project UID/EEA/00760/2019 and by NORTE-01-0247-FEDER-033275 (AIRDOC - "Aplicação móvel Inteligente para suporte individualizado e monitorização da função e sons Respiratórios de Doentes Obstrutivos Crónicos") by NORTE 2020 (Programa Operacional Regional do Norte).

- European Respiratory Society, The global impact of respiratory disease, Forum Int. Respir. Soc. (2017). Available at: https://www.who.int/gard/publications/The_Global_Impact_of_Respiratory_Disease.pdf.
- [2] G.J. Gibson, R. Loddenkemper, B. Lundbäck and Y. Sibille, Respiratory health and disease in Europe: the new European Lung White Book, *Eur. Respir. J.* 42 (2013), 559–563.
- [3] C. Gobbi and J. Hsuan, Collaborative purchasing of complex technologies in healthcare, Int. J. Oper. Prod. Manag. (2015). doi:10.1108/IJOPM-08-2013-0362.
- [4] S. Iftikhar, F. Ahmad and K. Fatima, A Semantic Methodology for Customized Healthcare Information Provision, *Information Sciences Letters* 1 (1) (2012), 49-59. doi:10.12785/isl/010105.
- [5] S.R. Steinhubl, E.D. Muse and E.J. Topol, Can mobile health technologies transform health care?, JAMA 310 (2013), 2395–2396. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.281078.
- [6] D.D. Luxton, R.A. McCann, N.E. Bush, M.C. Mishkind and G.M. Reger, mHealth for mental health: Integrating smartphone technology in behavioral healthcare, *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice* 42 (6) (2011), 505-512. doi:10.1037/a0024485.
- [7] A. Almeida, R. Amaral, A. Sá-Sousa, C. Martins, T. Jacinto, M. Pereira, B. Pinho, P.P. Rodrigues, A. Freitas, G. Marreiros, A.C. Pereira and S.C. Fonseca, FRASIS Monitorização da função respiratória na asma utilizando os sensores integrados do smartphone, *Rev. Port. Imunoalergologia* 26 (2018), 273–283.
- [8] AioCare, AioCare Digit, Respir. Dis. Manag. Syst. (2019). Available at: https://aiocare.com/patient/ (accessed March 29, 2019).
- [9] MIR, Smart One, MIR (2019). Available at: https://www.spirometry.com/eng/products/smartone.asp (accessed March 29, 2019).
- [10] E.C. Larson, M. Goel, G. Boriello, S. Heltshe, M. Rosenfeld and S.N. Patel, SpiroSmart: Using a Microphone to Measure Lung Function on a Mobile Phone, *Proc. 2012 ACM Conf. Ubiquitous Comput.*, ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2012, 280–289. doi:10.1145/2370216.2370261.
- [11] H.A. Tran, Q.T. Ngo and H.H. Pham, An Application for Diagnosing Lung Diseases on Android Phone, Proc. Sixth Int. Symp. Inf. Commun. Technol., ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2015, 328–334. doi:10.1145/2833258.2833289.
- [12] C. Jácome, R. Almeida, J.P. Teixeira, P. Vieira-Marques, R. Vilaça, J.M. Fernandes, A. Ferreira and J.A. Fonseca, Inspirers: An app to measure and improve adherence to inhaled treatment, *Proceedings of the International Conference E-Health* (2017), 135–139. Available at: http://www.iadisportal.org/digital-library/inspirers-an-app-to-measure-and-improve-adherence-toinhaled-treatment (accessed May 8, 2019).
- [13] Drools Drools Business Rules Management System (JavaTM, Open Source), (n.d.). Available at: https://www.drools.org/ (accessed April 5, 2019).
- [14] M. Bali, Drools JBoss Rules 5.X Developer's Guide, Packt Publishing, 2013.

Gathering Real World Evidence Through the Evaluation of Decision History

Naiara MURO^{a,b,c,1}, Nekane LARBURU^{b,c}, Jacques BOUAUD^{a,d} and Brigitte SEROUSSI^{a,c} ^a Sorbonne Université, Université Paris 13 Sorbonne Paris Cité, INSERM UMR_S 1142, LIMICS, Paris, France ^b eHeatlh and Biomedical Applications, Vicomtech, Donostia-San Sebastian, Spain ^c Biodonostia, Donostia-San Sebastian, Spain ^dAP-HP, DRCI, Paris, France ^e AP-HP, Hôpital Tenon, Département de Santé Publique, Paris, France

Abstract. Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) gather latest evidence-based results to guide and support clinicians over the decision-making process to provide best care. Nevertheless, clinical cases may be subject to some biases (understood as non-compliance with CPGs) that can lead to adapt care delivery. In this work an experience-based decision support leaning on the structuration of the Decisional Event concept for tracking and storing each clinical decision is presented. Moreover, a visual analytics tool is provided in order to facilitate the visualization of biases from guideline-based decision support and the identification and inclusion of real-world evidence into the reasoning process by augmenting the knowledge formalized in the implemented guidelines.

Keywords. Decision support system, Clinical practice guidelines, Experience formalization, Decisional event

1. Introduction

Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) gather latest evidence-based results to guide and support clinicians over the decision-making process. Clinicians, policy makers, and payers expect guidelines would standardize clinical practice while making it as personalized as possible. Hence, the objective is to establish some standards in healthcare considering not only what clinicians do but also what scientific evidence supports [1]. Nevertheless, some clinical cases are subject to some biases (understood as noncompliance with CPGs) that can affect care delivery. These variations can come from different sources affecting clinical practice, such as restrictions coming from the patient him/herself, restrictions related to the proposed therapy, or restrictions related to the analyzed clinical parameters (e.g. a patient is not covered by CPGs due to his/her specificity or complexity and hence, there is no optimal clinical recommendation that would promote its clinical success). Clinician-related effects can also produce clinical

¹ Corresponding Author, Naiara Muro Amuchastegui, eHeatlh and Biomedical Applications, Vicomtech, Mikeletegi Pasealekua, 57, Parque Tecnológico de San Sebastián, 20009 San Sebastián-Donostia, Gipuzkoa, Spain; E-mail: nmuro@vicomtech.org.

errors, e.g., overconfidence judgement. This effect occurs when clinicians biased their decisions by overestimating the accuracy of their own clinical judgment [2].

In this work we present an experience-based decision support system that allows not only to report non-compliant cases and generate new knowledge from these noncompliant decisions, but also allows to generate "real-world evidence" for future similar clinical cases. For that, a methodology based on the formalization, storage, and reuse of all the decisions made over time is presented. The objective is to be able to measure and evaluate all biases from guideline-based decision support by reporting (i) the compliance rates with CPGs of the decisions made, (ii) the generation of new knowledge from cases that did not comply with guideline specifications and the evaluation of this new knowledge on new cases, and (iii) the evaluation of the clinical performance of the whole process on the basis of patient-reported clinical outcomes. Finally, a visual analytics dashboard is presented to show up at a glance all the generated real-world evidence to be validated and analyzed by the clinician.

2. Measuring biases from the decision-making process

When identifying the different causes of clinical care biases from the recommendations provided in guidelines, we could differentiate several causes such as (i) the difficulty or complexity of the studied clinical case, (ii) some healthcare or patient-related restrictions, and (iii) the reasoning process of clinicians. In the next chapters, we will analyze the main reasons of guideline non-compliance (understood as a bias on the treatment recommended by CPGs) and how to measure and evaluate the clinical performance when using the information gathered from the decisions made over time.

2.1. Causes of guideline non-compliance

Most of the time, clinicians tend to follow the recommendations provided by CPGs as they expose latest and most reliable evidence-based medicine. Nevertheless, implementing guidelines is not always feasible and not all clinicians do know how to proceed in certain clinical situations [3]. The complexity of clinical cases, the severity of the illness, or the health care system inefficiency have been identified as the main causes for clinicians not to comply with CPGs [4]. On the other hand, patient preferences have been shown to influence the decision-making process, even if this is not yet reflected as evidence [5]. Several works have discussed strategies to include this criteria within the guidelines, re-rating the strength of recommendations and the quality of evidence of the already defined criteria or including this knowledge as new criteria to formalize [6].

2.2. Overconfidence

As every effective problem solving, the clinical reasoning process is governed by an intuitive approach together with an analytic approach [7]. Both approaches work together for the optimal decision-making process in every context. Nevertheless, human behavior can break the balance and introduce a bias in the reasoning process due to some reasons generating overconfidence, among others [8]. This effect can change clinicians' attitude towards a more confident one, making cognitive aspects the most valuable (i.e. their own criteria are considered to be the best ones with no critical analysis or comparison) and tending to underestimate errors, assuming that they may not occur [9]. Sometimes the

clinician is not even conscious of this bias and this remains untracked, as it happens in a low percentage of the studied clinical cases. Hence, tracking and evaluating clinical practice should better identify and prevent misdiagnoses.

2.3. Generating real-world evidence from the decisional history evaluation

In [10] we proposed a Decisional Event (DE) structure to gather all the information related to the decision making process in a processable way, generating an history of all the decisions made over time. This approach concedes two kinds of information evaluation. First, guideline compliance rates can be measured. As we not only gather the recommendations provided by the guidelines but also the final decision made and even the real executed treatment, compliance can be computed, and non-compliant cases tracked to evaluate their performance based on reported outcomes [11]. On the other hand, having all this data over time permits generating real-world evidence by the use of machine learning techniques. These algorithms allow predicting the variables that most influence patients' outcomes and relationships among them for a given treatment in a particular scenario. The results from these analyses should estimate the expected clinical outcomes for new upcoming cases similar to previous treated patients and even more, see if clinicians are self-consistent with the previously made decisions that were biased from the actual evidence.

2.4. Visualization of the Decisional History

To provide all the information stored within the DE in a visual and intuitive way, we designed a visual analytics dashboard (Fig.1). This dashboard allows exploring all the decisions made over time and the compliance rates slanting the information by the most relevant clinical variables or the treatment of interest. Moreover, details about the specific treatment given (e.g. lumpectomy) within a group (e.g. surgery) can be analyzed along with the toxicities or relapses suffered by the patients concerned.



Figure 1. Visualization of decisions made for a sample of 568 patients with breast cancer, filtered by their tumor size and age. Patients are at the diagnosis stage, which explains why surgery and chemotherapy are the treatments mostly proposed.

This visualization gives at a glance all the results of the computation coming from the DE analysis. The scope of this visualization is to easily identify real-world evidence and give insights to clinicians when diagnosing and treating patients. Moreover, using the experience-based decision support they can include this new evidence as new rules that will augment the knowledge contained in the implemented guidelines.

3. Discussion and conclusion

In this work, we have analyzed the main causes of CPG non-compliance and we have proposed experience-based decision support leaning on the structuration of the DE concept for tracking and storing each clinical decision. Moreover, a visual analytics tool was provided in order to facilitate the real-world evidence identification and inclusion into the actual reasoning process by augmenting the knowledge formalized in the implemented guidelines. Our approach is expected to promote a more reliable and compliant care by a continuous gathering and evaluation of information and clinical performance in every clinical decision-making process.

Acknowledgements

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 690238.

- S. H. Woolf, R. Grol, A. Hutchinson, M. Eccles and J. Grimshaw, Potential benefits, limitations, and harms of clinical guidelines, *BMJ* 318 (7182) (1999), 527–530.
- [2] D. J. Miller, E. S. Spengler and P. M. Spengler, A meta-analysis of confidence and judgment accuracy in clinical decision making, *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 62 (4) (2015), 553–567.
- [3] S. Quaglini, M. Stefanelli, A. Cavallini, G. Micieli, C. Fassino and C. Mossa, Guideline-based careflow systems, *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine* 20 (1) (2000), 5–22.
- [4] A. G. Ellrodt, Measuring and Improving Physician Compliance with Clinical Practice Guidelines: A Controlled Interventional Trial, *Annals of Internal Medicine* 122 (4) (1995), 277.
- [5] C. A. Umscheid, Should Guidelines Incorporate Evidence on Patient Preferences?, J Gen Intern Med 24 (8) (2009), 988–990.
- [6] T. van der Weijden et al., How to integrate individual patient values and preferences in clinical practice guidelines? A research protocol, *Implement Sci* 5 (2010), 10.
- [7] D. Wedding and D. Faust, Clinical judgment and decision making in neuropsychology, Arch Clin Neuropsychol 4 (3) (1989), 233–265.
- [8] P. Croskerry and G. Norman, Overconfidence in Clinical Decision Making, *The American Journal of Medicine* 121 (5) (2008), S24–S29.
- [9] E. S. Berner and M. L. Graber, Overconfidence as a Cause of Diagnostic Error in Medicine, *The American Journal of Medicine*, **121** (5) (2008), S2–S23.
- [10] N. Muro et al., Augmenting Guideline Knowledge with Non-compliant Clinical Decisions: Experience-Based Decision Support, in *Innovation in Medicine and Healthcare* 71 (2017), Y.-W. Chen, S. Tanaka, R. J. Howlett and L. C. Jain, Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, 217–226.
- [11] N. Muro, N. Larburu, J. Bouaud, and B. Séroussi, Weighting Experience-Based Decision Support on the Basis of Clinical Outcomes' Assessment, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 244 (2017), 33–37.

Improving Antimicrobial Prescriptions with Computerized Decision Support Systems: Where Are We?

Tahani NAGEETI^a, Raghad Al-HARBI^a, Khalid AL-MALKI^a, Omnia NATTO^a, Abdulla BINHAMDAN^a, Hanan ALDOSARI^a, Bakheet ALDOSARI^{a,b,c}, Fares ALSHAMMARI^d and Abdullah ALANAZI^{a,b,c,1}

^aCollege of Public Health and Health Informatics, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

^b King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
 ^c Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
 ^d College of Public Health and Health Informatics, University of Hail, Hail, Saudi Arabia

Abstract. Antimicrobial computerized decision support systems (CDSS) have been developed to improve decision-making at the point of prescribing. Uptake of CDSS for antibiotic prescribing remains low, and evidence to suggest that CDSS provides a clear benefit for antimicrobial outcomes is scarce. We reviewed existing evidence on the impact of CDSS on antimicrobial prescribing. Based on the results of our literature search, we discuss the use of CDSS for antimicrobial management in hospitals and antibiotic prescribing practices in ambulatory primary care settings. We identify some of the issues surrounding selecting and defining appropriate outcome measures for assessing the impact of CDSS on antimicrobial prescribing in the hospital setting. In the primary care setting, we observed that CDSS has a modest impact in changing antibiotic prescribing practice, which could be related to the underutilization of antimicrobial CDSS.

Keywords. Antibiotic, antimicrobial, computerized decision support system

1. Introduction

Antimicrobial resistance is one of the greatest global healthcare challenges. Inappropriate use of antimicrobials has led to widespread resistance to antimicrobial drugs. Antibiotics generally provide no benefit for patients with upper respiratory tract infections and acute bronchitis. Yet, despite the ineffectiveness of antibiotics, their prescription in the primary care setting remains common practice, leading to concerns that levels of antimicrobial-resistant microorganisms will increase. One of the most important goals of antimicrobial stewardship programs (ASPs) is to minimize and overcome resistance to antimicrobials. Use of computerized decision support systems (CDSS) is one strategy for improving antimicrobial prescribing and deployment of ASPs to contain this problem.

¹ Corresponding Author, Abdullah Alanazi, College of Public Health and Health Informatics, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Saudi Arabia; E-mail: AbdullahtAlanzi@gmail.com.

2. Material and Method

Using PubMed and MEDLINE, a literature search was conducted to identify studies including "computerized decision support system" and "antimicrobials" or "antibiotics" in the title. The search was limited to full-text studies published in English within the last 5 years. Abstracts of potentially eligible articles were retrieved for review. Studies conducted in settings not relevant to our review subject were excluded. Abstracts and full articles were reviewed by the investigators, and seven eligible articles, including four systematic reviews and meta-analyses and three quasi-experiments, were identified.

3. Results

3.1. CDSS for Antimicrobial Management in the Hospital Setting

We reviewed three systematic reviews and a quasi-experiment. A systematic review of 58 original articles on the use of CDSS in antimicrobial prescription showed that most CDSS targeted antimicrobial prescribing (76%). The most common CDSS platforms were integrated with electronic medical records (EMR) (74%). Most of the infrastructures used had rules-based decision support (76%). Outcomes were focused on the appropriateness of prescriptions based on guidelines or expert opinion, or on microorganism sensitivities. Other outcomes included cost, appropriateness of antibiotic choice, and mortality. Use of CDSS was found to have no effect on appropriateness or survival [1].

In a quasi-experiment of 40,605 hospitalized patients who received antimicrobial drugs, the aim was to examine the effects of a novel CDSS (the Antimicrobial Prescription Surveillance System; APSS) on an ASP. Implementation of the APSS with CDSS was associated with a positive effect on several outcomes that persisted over 3 years. These outcomes included decreased average length of stay (LOS) in hospital by 11.4 days; reduced antimicrobial consumption with defined daily doses (DDD) per 1000 inpatient days (-12.2%); reduced antimicrobial spending by at least 28.3%; and reduced non-concordance with local guidelines for prescribing [2].

In a meta-analysis of 21 studies, the appropriate use of antimicrobials improved by 50%, and mortality reduced by 10%. These effects disappeared when the analysis included only higher quality trials. Appropriateness was defined as whether antimicrobial drugs were compliant with guidelines or microbial culture. In studies assessing the susceptibility of microbial cultures to antimicrobial drugs, a significant effect of CDSS on the appropriate use of antimicrobials was indicated. All but one of these studies showed no effect on mortality. Two studies reported a significant reduction in LOS with the introduction of decision support in pre-order sets for bacteremia, or alerts notifying physicians of serious bloodstream infections. In the intensive care unit (ICU) setting, there was a trend towards reducing mortality [3].

Another systematic review of 81 studies reported seven outcome measures. Metaanalysis showed that CDSS significantly improved the adequacy of antimicrobial coverage, adherence to guidelines and antimicrobial consumption, and there was a marginal effect on mortality. Of the four studies that reported on antimicrobial resistance, only one found a 10% reduction in the rate of multidrug-resistant organisms. Another study showed a trend towards increased susceptibility to antimicrobial resistance after implementation. Conflicting effects of CDSS on LOS, antimicrobial costs and CDSS acceptance and use were reported [4].

3.2. CDSS for Antimicrobial Management in the Primary Care Setting

Three included papers examined the effects of CDSS on antibiotics prescriptions in primary care. First, a quasi-experiment was conducted with nine CDSS intervention practices and 61 control practices. The aim of this study was to assess the effect of a CDSS on antibiotic prescriptions for acute respiratory infections (ARIs) in primary care. The primary outcome measure was the rate of inappropriate prescription of antibiotics in ARI episodes, with prescription of broad-spectrum antibiotics being a secondary measure. This study showed that the inappropriate prescription of antibiotics in ARI episodes declined significantly (-0.6%) among CDSS intervention practices compared with control practices (+4.2%), but not for pediatric patients (+1.4% versus +4.2%). However, among adults, the CDSS intervention improved the prescription of broad-spectrum antibiotics, with a decline of 16.6% among intervention practices versus an increase of 1.1% in control practices. A similar effect on broad-spectrum antibiotic prescription was found in pediatric patients, with a decline of 19.7% among intervention practices versus an increase of 0.9% in control practices [5].

A three-arm cluster randomized trial of 33 primary care practices in an integrated health care system examined three different implementation strategies to reduce antibiotic use for uncomplicated acute bronchitis. The three arms were a printed decision support (PDS) strategy intervention (11 practices), CDSS strategy intervention impeded into EMR (11 practices), and a control arm (11 practices). Compared with the baseline period, the percentage of antibiotic use for uncomplicated acute bronchitis during the intervention period decreased at the PDS intervention sites (from 80.0% to 68.3%), and at CDSS intervention sites (from 74.0% to 60.7%), but it increased at the control sites (from 72.5% to 74.3%). After controlling for confounding factors, the differences for the intervention sites were statistically significant from the control, but not between CDSS and PDS [6].

A systematic review including three randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and four cluster randomized trials found a marginal benefit of CDSS in improving antibiotic prescribing behavior. CDSS that automatically provided decision support were more likely to improve prescribing practice outcomes compared with systems that had to be actively initiated by providers [7].

4. Discussion

Many of the CDSS interventions in the reviewed studies were based on decision pathways or guidelines; very few used pre-deployment analysis or prescriber decision-mapping to justify the intervention design. These CDSS studies fail to show consideration of non-expert decision-making, engagement of clinicians, and end-users' workflow. They reported a high physician override rate (50%), which might be explained by practitioners' lack of engagement.

Outcomes measures varied widely across the studies conducted in the hospital setting. They mainly focused on antimicrobial selection, antimicrobial use, and indirect health-related outcome measures, such as mortality and LOS. There were no consistent definitions for some of these outcomes, such as antimicrobial use. Individual patients'

outcomes, such as adverse drug events, were not sufficiently addressed. Addressing the cost of antimicrobials lacked in-depth evaluation of indirect savings, such as savings made by decreased hospital LOS. Most studies did not address the incidence rate of bacterial-resistance as a very important outcome measure for the effect of CDSS.

In the primary care setting, CDSS has no or only a modest effect on the practice of prescribing antibiotics for URI and acute bronchitis. However, the CDSS approach may not be heavily used by physicians in ambulatory care; this may have contributed to the fact that it did not lead to significant levels of improvement in antibiotic practice and reduce prescriptions of broad-spectrum antibiotics. Another limitation of the studies was that many of the trials failed to control for other confounders. This makes it hard to conclude whether this modest improvement in antimicrobial prescription is related to the intervention.

In conclusion, we believe that outcome measurement of the effect of CDSS as an intervention on antimicrobial prescriptions should focus on adherence to and compliance with prescribing guidelines, the utilization rate of broad-spectrum antibiotics, and the incidence rate of antimicrobial resistance as direct outcome measures.

- [1] T.M. Rawson, L.S.P. Moore, B. Hernandez, E. Charani, E. Castro-Sanchez, P. Herrero, B. Hayhoe, W. Hope, P. Georgiou and A.H. Holmes, A systematic review of clinical decision support systems for antimicrobial management: are we failing to investigate these interventions appropriately? *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 23 (2017), 524–532.
- [2] V. Nault, J. Pepin, M. Beaudoin, J. Perron, J. Moutquin and L. Valiquette, Sustained impact of a computerassisted antimicrobial stewardship intervention on antimicrobial use and length of stay, *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 72 (2017), 933–940.
- [3] M.T. Baysari, E.C. Lehnbom, L. Li, A. Hargreaves, R.O. Day and J.I. Westbrook, The effectiveness of information technology to improve antimicrobial prescribing in hospitals: a systematic review and metaanalysis, *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 92 (2016), 15–34.
- [4] C.E. Curtis, F. Al Bahar and J.F. Marriott, The effectiveness of computerised decision support on antibiotic use in hospitals: a systematic review, *PLOS One* 12 (2017), e0183062.
- [5] A.G. Mainous, C.A. Lambourne and P.J. Nietert, Impact of a clinical decision support system on antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory infections in primary care: quasi-experimental trial, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 20 (2013), 317–324.
- [6] R. Gonzales, T. Anderer, C.E. McCulloch, J.H. Maselli, F.J. Bloom, T.R. Graf, M. Stahl, M. Yefko, J. Molecavage and J.P. Metlay, A cluster randomized trial of decision support strategies for reducing antibiotic use in acute bronchitis, *JAMA Internal Medicine* 173 (2013), 267.
- [7] J. Holstiege, T. Mathes and D. Pieper, Effects of computer-aided clinical decision support systems in improving antibiotic prescribing by primary care providers: a systematic review, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 22 (2014), 236–242.

Discovery of Hidden Patterns in Breast Cancer Patients, Using Data Mining on a Real Data Set

Alireza ATASHI^a, Fariba TOHIDINEZHAD^b, Sara DORRI^c, Najmeh NAZERI^{c,1}, Rouzbeh GHOUSI^d, Sina MARASHI^a and Fatemeh HAJIALIASGARI^a

^aE-Health Department, Virtual School, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

^b Department of Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

^c Clinical Research Department, Breast Cancer Research Center, Motamed Cancer Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

^d School of Industrial Engineering, Iran University of Science and Technology, Tehran, Iran

Abstract. The aim is to recognize the unknown atterns in a real breast cancer dataset using data mining algorithms as a new method in medicine. Due to excessive missing data in the collection only data on 665 of 809 patients were available. The other missing values were estimated using the EM algorithm in SPSS21 software. Fields have been converted into discrete fields and finally the APRIORI algorithm has been used to analyze and explore the unknown patterns. After the rule extraction, experts in the field of breast cancer eliminated redundant and meaningless relations. 100 association rules with a confidence value of more than 0.9 explored by the APRIORI algorithm and after the clinical expert feedback, 10 clinically meaningful relations have been detected and reported. Due to the high number of risk factors, the use of data mining is effective for cancer data. These patterns provide the future study hypotheses of specific clinical studies.

Keywords. Breast Cancer, Data Mining, Association Rule Mining, Pattern Recognition, Knowledge Discovery, Iran.

1. Introduction

Breast cancer is one of the most common cancers in women that affect almost 10% of women [1]. In recent years, the prevalence of the disease is growing, but the early detection of this type of cancer has increased chances of successful treatment [2]. New approaches such as knowledge discovery in databases (KDD), including data mining techniques are now popular and become a good research tool for medical researchers by reducing the number of false-positive results and false-negative decision [3]. With these techniques, researchers can identify patterns and relationships among many variables and predict the outcome using the available data or information in databases [4].

¹ Corresponding Author, Najmeh NAZERI, Tehran, Iran; E-mail: najme.nazeri@gmail.com.

Few studies exist on pattern recognition on cancer [5], but there are several studies in medical sciences using data mining predictive approach in which different techniques are use and compared and the final conclusion is on accuracy of such models [3, 6]. On the other hand, in Iranian studies, approaches of data mining are done in the field of breast cancer with the same approach [7, 8].

Unfortunately, most of such studies are done by computer or control engineers using informatics methods to examine the algorithms, not to help physicians in prevention, diagnosis or treatment. Also, most of these studies study on unreal or nonnative data which their results may not be used in Iran or other developing countries. So, due to the double advantage of data mining methods, the aim of this study is to use the methods of data mining on real data in one database of breast cancer in our country, to discover unknown association rules in the data set.

2. Methods

For this retrospective study, data were obtained from Motamed Cancer Institute, a referral center for cancerous patients in the Tehran, capital of Iran. The dataset included the data of 809 adult women breast cancer of the stage one to five and were recorded eighteen parameters for each patient. These parameters and their kind can be seen in Table 1. Data collection had been done from 1-1-2009 until the end of September 2012. All patients being treated or have finished their treatment process (death or health).

Characteristic	Туре	Probable	Missing (%)	_
		Values /Unit		
Age	Continuous	years	3	
Tumor Size	Continuous	CM	7	
Breast Cancer Stage	Categorical	1/2/3/4/5	9	
Estrogen Receptor	Categorical	+/-	8	
Progesterone Receptor	Categorical	+/-	11	
P53	Categorical	+/-	12	
HER2	Categorical	+/-	20	
Lymph Node Involvement	Categorical	+/-	23	
Recurrence	Categorical	+/-	32	
Marital Status	Categorical	+/-	2	
Smoking	Categorical	+/-	12	
Weight	Continuous	Kg	23	
Height	Continuous	CM	23	
Menopausal Status	Categorical	+/-	7	
Pregnancy	Categorical	NO.	4	
Family History of Breast Cancer	Categorical	+/-	18	
History of Previous Cancer	Categorical	+/-	19	
Tumor Grade	Categorical	1/2/3/4	34	

Table 1. The variables (Parameters) for each patient collected and analyzed their types and their missing rate.

First, the data matrices were reviewed by two physicians in order to check the validity of data and extract the whole patient set characteristics. Due to missing data in 144 record, only information of 665 patients were available. In fact, all records with more than 15% missing of patients parameters were excluded to avoid inaccurate data mining results. Therefore, in this study, a total of 665 records of people who had been diagnosed as breast cancer patients were included. Since some fields in the records were left with some empty values which were imputed applying EM algorithm using SPSS version 21. The whole data have been analyzed through WEKA data mining

software using APRIORI algorithm. After running the algorithm, the association rules with higher confidence rate (more than 0.9) were considered as the best results. The first 100 rules were selected from these rules and presented to medical experts in the field of breast cancer (two cancer surgeons and one experienced general physician) to determine the clinically significant relationships. For this reason, these relationships were defined in everyday language for physicians in some relationships or mathematical changes (for example, contradictory statements; $p \rightarrow q$ to $\neg q \rightarrow \neg p$) were made to have better understand of the statements. Finally, the statements which were clinically significant were confirmed by the physician and reported as the result.

3. Results

According to patient's available data, all patients were adult women, most of them (79%) were in the age range 30 to 50 years and the remaining (21%) have more than fifty years. The age mean was 43.5. All patients being treated or have finished their treatment process (death or health). After running the algorithm the software presented more than 13100 rules. We chose the rules which had gotten a confidence value more than 0.9 of 1. The number of them was 1206 association rules. We selected and presented the first 100 statements for more clinical survey. Finally, clinical experts confirmed 10 rules which were acceptable in real clinical field. After examination, the following rules were considered clinically significant which were as follows translated into everyday language (Table 2).

Rules	Confidence value	Evidence	
High tumor size patients had no recurrence.	1	426	
Non married premenopausal patients have larger tumors.	1	273	
In relapse, ER and PR negative Patients, have smaller tumors.	1	256	
Non-smokers have not cancer recurrence.	1	251	
Non-smokers have smaller tumors.	1	242	
P53 positive Patients in recurrence have smaller tumors.	1	238	
ER and PR negative Patients, has smaller tumors.	1	252	
ER and PR positive patients with large tumors have more lymph nodes involved.	1	239	
Married patients had smaller tumor size	0.99	393	
Patients with negative HER2, have had a large tumors	0.99	533	

Table 2. The result rules translated to natural language with the confidence values and patient numbers.

4. Discussion

The aim of this study for the physicians' community and clinical experts was to get familiar with one of new ways of knowledge extraction from medical data even in a small scale. So, a number of lesser-known and interesting patterns have been derived from a set of real breast cancer patients' data using association rule mining. The significance of these rules has been confirmed by specialists in the field of breast cancer. However, each of these rules should be translated into everyday language and rather physicians' and finally be the base hypotheses of further more clinical studies (like clinical trials). The ten final statements are not the only clinically true statements, but the most statistically reliable ones. Most of them are really new in medical, especially the facts about non-smokers (the 4th and the 5th) and some of them may be experienced by physicians but has not been mentioned in scientific texts.

Similar studies are seen in different parts of the world, but not in our country. This fact should be noted that such studies (that examined the association rules) are very different and varied so, actually the results are not statistically comparable [8]. But in terms of confidence, confidence value of at least 0.9 is acceptable and above many other articles in the field of cancers including all studies we mentioned in the introduction part. In comparison with the results of Land, Kiani, Diz and Aalaei in the application of data mining algorithms on data from breast cancer despite more data (both for the number of records and for the number of properties) the results of the present study is more confident. Of course, in our study because of choosing the more confident rules first and the clinical expert confirmation, the results are more trusted to use in clinical field [3,8,9].

One of the limitations of the present study was large amounts of missing data. Estimating these values may be affected the results to some extent. Another limitation was the small number of patients for developing a model. The authors suggest further works to have larger databases. Another interesting point in this study is the small number of results. It is obvious that if this method was run to all the rules provided by the software, of course, the result was much larger and more considerable.

The use of data mining concepts, especially in medical data is very useful with considering the large volume of data and unknown relationships between causes of disease and the demographic characteristics. Due to the high number of risk factors, the use of these techniques is effective for cancer data. After pattern recognition these patterns or models provide the future study hypotheses and the next studies, for example RCTs will confirm or reject the hypotheses.

- C. Fitzmaurice, T.F. Akinyemiju, F.H. Allami et al., Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study, *JAMA oncology* 4 (2018), 1553-1568.
- [2] E. Crocetti, L. Roche, C. Buzzoni, F. di Costanzo, F. Molinié and A. Caldarella, Trends in net survival from breast cancer in six European Latin countries: results from the SUDCAN population-based study, *European journal of cancer prevention* 26 (2017), S3-S8.
- [3] J. Diz, G. Marreiros and A. Freitas, Applying Data Mining Techniques to Improve Breast Cancer Diagnosis, *Journal of Medical Systems* 40 (2016), 203.
- [4] V. Kirillov, Technology of building an expert system based on a set of quantitative features of tumor cell nuclei for diagnosing breast cancer, *Diagnostic cytopathology* 41 (2013), 475-484.
- [5] P. Ahmad, S. Qamar and S.Q.A. Rizvi, Techniques of data mining in healthcare: a review, *International Journal of Computer Applications* 120 (2015), 0975 8887.
- [6] D. Delen, G. Walker and A. Kadam, Predicting breast cancer survivability: a comparison of three data mining methods, *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine* 34 (2010), 113-127.
- [7] A. Tolouei-Sh, A. Pourebrahimi, M. Ebrahimi and L. Ghasem-A, Predicting breast cancer relapse using three data¬mining techniques, *Iranian Journal of Breast Diseases* 5 (2012), 23-34.
- [8] B. Kiani and A.R. Atashi, A Prognostic Model Based on Data Mining Techniques to Predict Breast Cancer Recurrence, *Journal of Health and Biomedical Informatics* 1 (2014), 26-31.
- [9] S. Aalaei, H. Shahraki, A. Rowhanimanesh and S. Eslami, Feature selection using genetic algorithm for breast cancer diagnosis: experiment on three different datasets, *Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences* 19 (2016), 476-482.

Roots of Interdisciplinarity in European Medical Informatics

George I. MIHALAS^{a,1} and Casimir A. KULIKOWSKI^b ^aVictor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania ^bRutgers University, Piscataway, NJ, USA

Abstract. The roots of interdisciplinary of medical informatics are sought through the analysis of the themes approached by the pioneers of this field. The data included in the study comes mostly from "personal stories" of European these scientists collected by IMIA WG History as well as from some biographical notes. Most researchers came from the technical-scientific field, but the double specialization was very common. The proportions of the main topic approaches are discussed. The roots of medical informatics interdisciplinary were formed during the pioneering period, when most major concepts and chapters of medical informatics took contour.

Keywords. Interdisciplinarity, history of medical informatics

1. Introduction

The very name of the field – medical informatics – reflects its nature as an interdisciplinary field, or, as van Bemmel stated: "medical informatics is interdisciplinary avantla lettre" [1]. The gradual development of medical informatics - and health informatics more generally - arose from the overlapping and intermixing of diverse streams of scientific, technological and clinical practice, resulting in a highly heterogeneous group of academic sub-disciplines involving biomedical scientific inquiry, systems engineering, and technology-driven healthcare practices. It is interesting to trace back the roots of these interdisciplinary endeavors, since each subfield has developed differently, and blossomed more or less, depending not only on the degree of success of symbiotic technological and scientific fields, but also on location- and time-specific economic and socio-political factors. The IMIA WG History² therefore decided to collect personal stories reflecting how each contributor answered the question: "How did I start in the field of medical informatics?" rather than Who's Who style biographies. All pioneers in medical informatics had to come from other disciplines while the field coalesced, so the IMIA History becomes interlaced stories reflecting the interactions between people, and their ideas from different scientific schools of thought and diverse technological specialties - and most importantly the clinical practices.

This paper is a qualitative study, partially based on these stories, tracing the most frequent paths by which practitioners of medical informatics entered and developed the field – including which topics proved most challenging in the early days of the field.

¹ Corresponding Author, George I. Mihalas, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Effimie Murgu Sq. 2, 300041 Timisoara, Romania; E-mail: mihalas@gmail.com

² The authors are the members of IMIA WG History (K.A.C. – chair, G.I.M. – vice-chair for Europe)

2. Methods

To trace evolutionary changes, we use the eras proposed by Mihalas [2] and limit our survey to the first two periods. From the personal stories collected by the IMIA WG History [3], we have selected those with sufficient detail for grouping them, focusing on those European contributors whose work started in the first two periods, that is, began their careers before 1980. We have also added data from those who started in this period as listed in a number of original sources, and summarized in the set of collected biographies by Masic [4]. All these pioneers came from fields which contributed later to topics in medical informatics, representing the roots of medical informatics, demonstrating the diversity of its origins the interdisciplinary character of the field.

Fifty four biographies were analyzed, of which 43 were 'Personal Stories' written for the IMIA History, and 11 were biographies from [4] with a variety of sources.

The characteristics of the analyzed group are presented in table 1, drawing from:

Year of graduation					Ge	nder			
before 1955	1956 - 1960	1961 - 1965	1966 - 1970	1971 - 1975	1976 - 1980	Total	Male	Female	Deceased
7	7	8	12	12	8	54	48	6	9

Table 1. Characteristics of the analyzed group.

• basic initial background field of the pioneering investigator, including complementary studies,

- professional affiliation, type of occupation or millieu of work within which the first medical informatics topics were approached (academic/university, healthcare unit, industry, other institution)
- medical informatics topics or approaches, both initial and subsequent.

3. Results

3.1. Professional background

Professional backgrounds vary, covering both medical disciplines as well as scientific or technical disciplines. Several people have a double specialization (table 2).

 Table 2. Professional background

Scientific / technical (SC)	Medical / life sciences (MD)	Double specialization	
44 (81% of Total)	27 (50 of Total)	17 (31% of Total, 39% of SC, 63% of MD)	

There is an asymmetry between medicine as the subject of study while informatics/computer science is primarily concerned with the methods and informatics tools. One can conjecture that the informatics researchers and scientists foresaw the great potential of computing technologies for various applications before the domain beneficiaries came to realize it. Fortunately, the mysteries of living matter and the desire to improve human health led to biomedical science research. A high percentage of combined formal specializations is reported: medical practitioners involved in informatics or mathematics/statistics, as well as engineers and mathematicians focusing on biomedicine. More are likely to come from self-study of informatics. In greater detail from the scientific and technical profiles, the most common were mathematics-statistics (19) and physics (13), with 10 having both, followed by engineering (14), of which 7 specified informatics/computer science. Other profiles included chemistry/biochemistry (4) and biophysics (4). The biomedical stream comprised classical medical studies (20), nursing (2), public health/epidemiology (2), dentistry (1) and psychology (1).

3.2. Professional/Occupational

Early medical informatics practitioners are mainly academic: 41 people started their jobs within various departments of universities, with 9 from university hospitals; 4 from industry with others from regular hospitals or public health or research units. Fourteen were involved in governmental activities or European institutions. The most frequent activities involved coordinating or participating in projects - both national and European, acting as experts or consultants. Education is predominant, leading to important contributions and further development of the field.

3.3. Subfield or Topics

We have used four research challenge areas proposed by Kuhn et al. [5]: bioinformatics and systems biology, biomedical engineering and informatics, health informatics and individual healthcare, and public health informatics – see table 3.

Bioinformatics	Biomedical	Health informatics	Management and	Total
and systems	engineering and	and individual	public health	
biology	informatics	healthcare	informatics	
8	37	65	39	149

Table 3. Topics approached

However, these areas interconnect at several levels [6], so a finer granularity offers better detail. Some applications are found in different categories; such as databases, data processing or statistical analyses - both in information systems and public health. Other subtopics, such as standards, protection and security, quality management can apply to several of the general topic categories listed above. To avoid potential duplications we chose mixed topics: databases, data processing and statistical analyses (23), healthcare management and organizational impact (9) and, ethical issues and qualitative assessment studies (5) which were included in public health informatics, in contrast to security and protection, standards and technological assessment (13) which were included in biomedical engineering and informatics. Most people contributed to several directions of research and practice, not unusual or even typical for pioneering periods of all fields. Bioinformatics was minimally represented since the term did not then exist, though molecular biology and genetics did. Systems biology, based on modeling and simulation of biophysical or pharmacological processes were well represented (8). Modeling biological processes preceded computers; now new technology enabled simulation of more complex models. Biomedical engineering was one of the most active subfields as involving parallel progress in processing methodologies - 11 for biological signals, 6 for medical imaging and 3 for telemedicine applications. Table 3 shows most applications are in health informatics, for which a more refined classification is shown in table 4.

Health information systems	Decision support	Electronic health record	Other topics (nursing, guidelines, homecare)	Total
28	16	15	6	65

Table 4. Topics in the area of health informatics.

Health information systems involved 28 while half of them (14) worked on hospital information systems; with others being clinical/laboratory systems or large (national) health information systems. Decision support (16), including expert systems, ontologies or artificial intelligence and EHRs (15) were also most impactful. The complexity of EHR was reported with the need for standards. Applications in the field of healthcare management and public health informatics, the first fostered by healthcare authorities at various levels, interested in more accurate data and reports of indicators for developing strategies and allocation of resources.

4. Discussions and Conclusions

The "personal stories" represent a primary source of information and have been written in a free style, quite easy to read, but, difficult for extracting precise information. The same holds true for the biographies from [4]. For this reason the numbers used in the Methods and Results section should be considered as approximate estimates, though they do provide a qualitative assessment of the main research topics covered by contributors in the early period of medical informatics in Europe. We have not included persons who started their career after 1980, since by then medical informatics had reached the status of a stand-alone discipline and could be an academic choice for advanced studies.

Our study shows that during the pioneering period we find the true roots of medical informatics. Multidisciplinary training and an encyclopedic spirit allowed the harmonious fusion of two major domains - medicine and informatics/computer science. From the simple analysis of the themes approached in early times we can see that some subjects, through their complexity, still persist as the focus of researchers', while others have faded, and new themes have emerged. This kind of study is worth pursuing to follow the evolution of these topics [2] over the full five decades of medical informatics.

- J.H. van Bemmel, Medical informatics is interdisciplinary avant la lettre, *Methods Inf Med* 47 (4) (2008), 318-321
- [2] G.I. Mihalas, Evolution of Trends in European Medical Informatics, Acta Informatica Medica 22 (1) (2014), 37-43.
- [3] C.A. Kulikowski, G.I. Mihalas et al., 50th Anniversary International Medical Informatics Association (IMIA) History Working Group and Its Projects, *Stud Health Tehnol Inform* 245 (2017), 758-762.
- [4] I. Masic, G.I. Mihalas (eds), Contributions to the History of Medical Informatics, Avicena, Sarajevo, 2014.
- [5] K.A. Kuhn, A. Knoll, H.W. Mewes et al., Informatics and medicine from molecules to populations, *Methods Inf Med* 47 (4) (2018), 283-295.
- [6] R.B. Altman, R. Balling, J.F. Brinkley et al., Commentaries on "Informatics and medicine: from molecules to populations", *Methods Inf Med* 47 (4) (2018), 296-317.

Patients' Use of Health Village Portal: The Central Role of Healthcare Professional Support

Eija KIVEKÄS^{a,1}, Santtu MIKKONEN^b, Maija SAIJONKARI^a, Milla ROSENLUND^a, Johanna LAMMINTAKANEN^a, Virpi JYLHÄ^a, Pia LILJAMO^c, Sirpa ARVONEN^d and Kaija SARANTO^a

^aDepartment of Health and Social Management, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland ^bDepartment of Applied Physics, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland ^c Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland ^d Helsinki and Uusimaa University Hospital District, Helsinki, Finland

Abstract. Healthcare professionals play a key role in supporting self-care among patients and clients. Their attitudes and behaviors may influence a patient's capacity to use electronic services (e-services) and may increase patients' trust toward a technical solution. The technology acceptance model explains information systems use and the important variables that play a role in an individual's acceptance of e-services. This survey was designed to capture the expectations of healthcare personnel. Participants (n = 91) suggested that patients would benefit from this e-services reabled participants to find patient health records more easily than before, and they perceived that the care relationship improved as a result.

Keywords. Health services, Portal, Attitude

1. Introduction

The number of electronic health services available has grown and accessing these services involves challenges not only for patients and clients but also for healthcare professionals. Clients have a wide range of health and social services from which to choose. Studies have suggested that more investment is needed to improve computer literacy and ensure that technologies are accessible for those who wish to use them [1]. In Finland, the public, private, and third sectors have chosen to provide publicly funded electronic health and social services [2]. Online services, care consultants, and service coordinators guide and support clients in choosing the services that best meet their needs [3].

Health Village (Terveyskylä.fi) is a digital interactive secured portal delivering health-related information and services. The portal has been developed jointly with five university hospital districts and patient associations in Finland [4]. Health Village delivers three distinct services: 1) public health services for all citizens, 2) digital care

¹ Corresponding Author, Eija Kivekäs, Department of Health and Social Management, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio Campus, 70211 Kuopio, Finland; E-mail: eija.kivekas@uef.fi.

pathways for patients with specific diagnoses and care relationships, and 3) electronic learning tools for healthcare professionals to improve working practices. It consists of themed virtual hubs, and there are currently 32 virtual hubs and more than 80 diagnoses served by digital care pathways. To support continuity of care, a national database—Kanta—has been created, which is a core service that also supports Health Village. Using the Kanta service, healthcare professionals can find patients' entire clinical histories in one place [3].

In this study, we expected the use of electronic services (e-services) to improve healthcare professionals' subsequent intentions to use such services. Healthcare professionals play a key role in supporting and engaging patients in self-care [5, 6], and their attitudes and behaviors may influence a patient's capacity to use these services [6]. The technology acceptance model (TAM) suggests that the acceptance of a technology by healthcare professionals can be increased if efforts to improve the technology are directed at how the technology is perceived by them [7]. The TAM is a common and useful model for developing strategies to increase the acceptance of an information technology, as it provides a direct relationship between the acceptance of a technology and its perceived usefulness (PU) and perceived ease of use (PEoU) [7].

The Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project coordinated the work of university hospitals to transform health service access and harmonize care processes. Service provision in the Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project was built around the Health Village concept, which aimed to revolutionize health and wellbeing services using digital methods [4]. The purpose of this study was to determine healthcare professionals' acceptance of and intention to use e-services based on their opinion of its PU and PEoU.

2. Methods

A survey was designed to capture healthcare personnel's expectations of a national, interactive patient portal for self-management developed as part of the Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project [4]. The study focused on healthcare professionals, such as nurses, physicians, physiotherapists, and information system designers, who worked as developers on the Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project. For the present study, we sent a link to an electronic questionnaire to 501 developers at five university hospitals. Data was collected over three weeks in August 2018. Our questionnaire consisted of 50 statements, each with one of six overall themes (attitude toward virtual services, intention to use, usability, information quality, service quality and self-assessment of the project). Data on participants' backgrounds was collected by 11 questions, and there was one open-ended question in which developers could expand on issues of patient portal development.

Acceptance of e-services was measured with reference to their PU (nine statements), PEoU (six statements), attitude toward using e-services (three statements), and intention to use (four statements) [7]. We also tested the effect of background variables, such as age, gender, education level, and experience in the project and in healthcare, on the significant associations found between the independent variables. All statements were measured using a 5-point Likert scale (with 5 denoting strong agreement and 1 denoting strong disagreement). Construct validity of the constructed TAM was tested using confirmatory factor analysis [8]. To evaluate the effectiveness of the research model, we employed structural equation modeling [8] to test whether the research model demonstrated healthcare professionals' perceptions of the e-services' impact on intention to use. The final model presented in the paper includes only significant predictors of

participants' intentions to use e-services. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 23 and AMOS (IBM, Armonk, NY, US).

3. Results

Participants (n = 91) believed that patients would benefit from e-services. The e-services enabled participants to find patient health records more easily than before, and they assessed the care relationship as having improved as a result. The participants also raised usability issues, such as difficulty navigating a complex system. More than half the participants were working elsewhere while the developing the project, while around a fifth worked part-time and a fifth full-time, on the project.

Healthcare professionals' attitudes (B = 0.486) toward e-services were significantly associated with their intention to use them. Both PU (B = 0.338) and PEoU (B = 0.536) had a statistically significant effect on the attitudes of healthcare professionals toward e-services. The association between the PEoU of e-services and their PU was statistically significant (Figure 1). PEoU had an indirect association (B = 0.463) with intention to use services.



Figure 1. Assessment of the research model (p < 0.05).

Participants' roles in the project, especially if this was to do with the public patient portal, were associated with their intention to use e-services. Educational level was significantly associated with health professionals' attitudes, with participants having higher educational attainment being less favorable than those at lower levels.

4. Discussion

This study has demonstrated the acceptance of and intention to use Health Village eservice by healthcare professionals working as developers. The results indicate that the PU and PEoU of e-services influenced professionals' attitudes toward and intention to use such services. The association between participants' attitude toward e-services and their intention to use them was positive. However, participants reported usability issues, such as difficulty logging in and navigating a complex system. Interoperability has been identified as one of the greatest challenges in healthcare IT, and it is seen as one of the key drivers of the success of e-services and healthcare provision [1,5,6]. The results of the present study suggest that more investment is needed to ensure that technologies are accessible for those who sign up for them [1]. Healthcare professionals play a central and critical role in supporting patients; their attitudes and behaviors may influence a patient's capacity to use services [1,6] and increases patients' trust toward a technical solution [1,4]. Our findings provide insights into the implementation phase, which is considered critical to success [1,5]. Healthcare professionals' estimated that patients would benefit from the virtual hubs [5,6]. Ease of use was a key facilitator in this study, which has been cited in other studies [7].

The strongest predictor of acceptance was the usefulness of the e-services. Usefulness for patient care was high and the usefulness measure correlated with healthcare professionals' attitude toward e-services and their intention to use them. This suggests that as healthcare professionals, they were concerned with providing optimal patient care and offering patients' new opportunities to become active participants in self-care. Patient portals hold much promise for bringing together patients and providers, especially outside of traditional office visits. The use of portals can be facilitated by technical assistance and both family and provider advice [1,4,5]. It is essential to conceptualize the patient portal as a dynamic component of the care relationship and to emphasize care coordination between patients and providers. Healthcare administrators should incorporate the impact of portal access into capacity planning and resource allocation, ultimately aligning patients' and providers' needs with the functionality of e-services to enhance care delivery [1,2,5].

The limitations of our findings should be acknowledged. This study sampled developers from university hospitals in the Virtual Hospital Project in Finland. The response rate was relatively small within each organization, but the combined data made it possible to conduct statistical analyses and allowed a preliminary interpretation of the study results.

To conclude, patient portals offer a promising mechanism to support patient engagement by increasing communication between patients and providers. If the services are professional-centered today, then the use of the National Health Village means, that in the future, services will be patient- and client-centered.

- S. O'Connor, P. Hanlon, C.A. O'Donnell, S. Garsia, J. Glanville and F.S. Mair, Understanding factors affecting patient and public engagement and recruitment to digital health intervention: a systematic review of qualitative studies, *BMC Med Inf Decis Mak* 16 (2016).
- [2] Ministry of Social Affairs and Health STM, 2018. Available: https://stm.fi/en/social-and-health-services
- [3] Kanta.fi. Kanta is for everyone. Available: https://www.kanta.fi/en/citizens
- [4] Health Village Portal. Available: https://www.terveyskyla.fi/
- [5] L. Zettel-Watson and D. Tsukerman, Adoption of online health management tools among healthy older adults: An exploratory study, *Health Informatics Journal* 22 (2016), 171-183.
- [6] M. Beglaryn, V. Petrosyan and E. Bunker, Development of a tripolar of technology acceptance: Hospitalbased physicians' perspective on HER, *Int J Med Inform* 102 (2017), 50-61.
- [7] B. Rahimi, H. Nadri, H.L. Afshar and T. Timpka, A Systematic Review of the Technology Acceptance Model in Health Informatics, *Appl Clin Inform* 9 (2018), 604-634.
- [8] R.H. Hoyle, Handbook of Structural Equation Modeling, The Guilford Press, New York, US, 2012.

Children's Immunisation in Europe – A Vision of Using the HL7 International Patient Summary to Transform Local Data into Child-Specific Information and Population Health Knowledge

Shalmali DESHPANDE^a, Catherine CHRONAKI^{b,1} and Michael RIGBY^a ^aImperial College, London ^bHL7 Foundation Europe, Brussels

Abstract. Immunisation is a key preventive health measure for children. E-health applications have been used for over 50 years, yet still there is no harmonization or standardization, while uncoordinated policy initiatives proliferate. Two EU research projects (Trillium II and MOCHA) have come together with experts and stakeholders, and used EU-wide situation analysis research to seek to stimulate development of data and process standards as a harmonizing force in a supporting policy environment, putting the child as the central data collation unit.

Keywords. Child health; immunisation; data standards; summary record

1. Introduction

Immunisation is a key component of preventive health services for children. However, as health systems are a national competence, immunisation is delivered and recorded by different means in each country, and often by different agencies within a country. In this disparate process, information about an individual child can be fragmented and not always linked. Consequently, some children may not be fully protected because of lack of continuity in their receipt of planned protections, while there is also a risk of over-immunisation. Thus, from a child-centric perspective, data at the encounter level may not be aggregated to the crucially important and core purpose child level information.

Secondly, not only is analysis of the overall level of protection for children important to ensure their immunity – witness recent concerns about population vulnerability to measles due to reduced child population immunity levels [1, 2] – but there is also much that can be learned about immunisation related delivery and population behavior if this case-level information is aggregated effectively to a level of population-based knowledge. For instance, in the current climate of concern about the harmful effects of vaccine resistance, there is little understanding of how many children' immunizations are deferred because of a short-term illness (or holiday) but then not completed due to

¹ Corresponding Author, Catherine Chronaki, HL7 International Foundation, HL7 European Office HL7 International Foundation, Square de Meeûs 38/40, 1000 Brussels, Belgium; E-mail: chronaki@HL7europe.org.

follow-up failure, how many times vaccine supply or other organization problems are to blame, and how many parents are genuinely hesitant, but are not identified as such for more personalized explanation and reassurance.

More recently, within the European Union, several well-intentioned proposals have arisen to increase immunisation protection, but these too are uncoordinated. This paper reports a follow-on to a recent initiative instigated by the Trillium II [3] project of the HL7 Foundation, and the Models of Child Health Appraised (MOCHA) [4] project, both funded by the European Commission's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation programme, through events hosted by CEN and WHO, to seek to instigate some cohesion based on information management and use of data standards and an International Patient Summary dataset as the core [5].

2. Digitization of Immunisation Records and Scheduling

Use of computers to schedule and record immunisation is a very early European digital health application, having started more than a half-century ago [6], and even at that time evaluated as being cost-effective [7]. That led to a series of local and national implementations in many countries, but then also a lack of continuity as policies vacillated between innovation, devolution to localities, and integration with generic and adult focused records and commercial EHR systems [8]. The net result is a lack of European standards or functional specifications, and a fragmentation of immunisation delivery. However, many countries have their own case-based child public health records, with a split between those which actively schedule, monitor uptake with identification of those out of schedule, and passive recording (Table 1).

System Directly Schedules	System advises Provider of	Passive Record
Appointments	Children Overdue	
Czech Republic	Czech Republic	Croatia (SA)
Denmark	Denmark	Finland
Estonia	Estonia	Malta (SA)
Iceland	Hungary (SA)	UK (Wales)
Spain	Iceland	
UK (Northern Ireland and	Ireland (SA)	
Scotland) (SA)	Italy	
	Norway	
	Romania	
	Spain	
	UK (England) (SA)	
All use a form of automated data e	xchange unless marked Stand Alone (SA	4)

Table 1. Functionality of Child Public Health Systems in Europe (Source: [8])

All use a form of automated data exchange unless marked Stand Alone (SA)

At the same time, the European Centre for Disease Control (ECDC) has called for countries to develop Immunisation Information Systems, which record and produce person-centered summaries of immunisation, including travel and other vaccinations, and for all ages [9]. There is strong synergy between the objectives and survey findings between MOCHA and ECDC. One key element of this is the lack of formally agreed data standards, or functional specification for proactive functions. In short, in 50 years little progress has been made on building on validated foundations.

3. A Confusion of Initiatives

Recognizing the importance of immunisation for children, and aware of falling rates and of vaccine hesitancy, several European agencies have recently proposed initiatives.

The World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, in its European Vaccine Action Plan (EVAP) 2015–2020, stated priority areas for action, so as to ensure that all countries are able to "provide equitable access to high-quality, safe, affordable vaccines and immunisation services throughout the life course" [10]. The Council of Europe has proposed a range of immunisation supportive information projects including a European Vaccination Card [11]. The EU Expert Panel on Effective Ways of Investing in Health (EXPH) has recommended more activity to address vaccine hesitancy but not looking at investing in record or delivery systems [12]. WHO globally issued guidelines on home-based records to include immunisation data without specifying the data items [13]. The WHO-linked organization TechNet-21 advocated home-based records primarily as an immunisation support but again without more detailed content specification [14].

Significantly and of concern, particularly in an era of digital health, none of these initiatives suggests how data may be created, managed, linked, or progressed to child-specific information or system knowledge, though those objectives are implied.

4. The Trillium II and MOCHA Initiative to seek Digital Harmonization

Given this agitation of interest and confusion of concern, the Trillium II and MOCHA initiatives saw a need and also an opportunity to work in tandem, based on the hypothesis that data standards, and the International Patient Summary [15], might provide a way forward. A collaboration protocol was signed.

First, an analytic workshop was held in September 2018 in Brussels [16,17]. This meeting proposed a stakeholder workshop, for which it set an agenda of issues for discussion. This Stakeholder Workshop was then held at the WHO Regional Office for Europe in November 2018. Five immediate short-term actions were agreed as important, and six longer-term actions which should be explored if resources could be identified [5].

Within the context of health informatics, key issues were:

- Boosting the International Patient Summary (IPS) immunisation component with an indicator of reason for non-immunisation.
- Addressing gaps in health data standards for child health; autonomy and consent in patient summaries for adolescents; common interface to immunisation registries; and child patient summaries for children at school.
- Examining the feasibility of supporting the European Vaccination card as part of the roadmap for CEF eHealth DSI, addressing coding issues.
- Exploring the support of patient summaries to children with complex needs, developing further the care plan component for the IPS
- Developing the Application Programming Interface (API) to retrieve patient summary immunisation component with Immunisation Registries to extract up-to-date information.
- Exploring validation of patient summaries in Portuguese community Pharmacies (where immunisations are given in Portugal)

5. Conclusion

Childhood immunisation is an important public health concern. Despite 50 years of experience, digital health is not being used optimally, while in a wide policy context numerous initiatives are being proposed without either cohesion of consideration of Data, Information and Knowledge as the foundation. This two-project initiative seeks to bring some standards-based harmonization, to the potential benefit of Europe's children.

Acknowledgements

The Models of Child Health Appraised (MOCHA) project is funded by the European Commission through the Horizon 2020 Framework under the grant agreement number: 634201, and Trillium II under grant agreement 727745. The sole responsibility for the content of this paper lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union, or of the full project. The European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

- M. Gold, Parents Wanted Their Unvaccinated Children in School, but a Judge Said No;, New York Times, New York, 2019.
- [2] D. Scally, Non-vaccinated children may be excluded from German state schools;, *Irish Times*, Dublin, 2019.
- [3] Trillium II, Available at: https://trillium2.eu/.
- [4] Models of Child Health Appraised MOCHA, Available at: www.childhealthservicemodels.eu.
- [5] S. Deshpande (ed.), Digital Health Policies for Children's Health: Focus on Immunisation;, Available at: http://www.childhealthservicemodels.eu/wp-content/uploads/22.11.18-Trillium-II-MOCHA-Stakeholder-meeting-report-v4.pdf
- [6] T.McL. Galloway, Management of Vaccination and Immunisation Procedures by Electronic Computer;, Medical Officer 109 (1963), 232.
- [7] J. Saunders, Results and Costs of a Computer-assisted Immunisation Scheme;, British Journal of Social and Preventive Medicine 24 (1970), 187-191.
- [8] M. Rigby, G. Kühne, R. Greenfield and S. Deshpande, E-Health as the Enabler of Primary Care for Children; in M. Blair, M. Rigby and A. Alexander, *Issues and Opportunities in Primary Health Care for Children in Europe: The final summarised results of the Models of Child Health Appraised (MOCHA) Project*, in press, Emerald Publishers, Bingley BD16 1WA, 2019.
- [9] European Centre for Disease Control, *Technical Report Immunisation information systems in the EU and EEA Results of a survey on implementation and system characteristics;*, ECDC, Stockholm, 2017.
- [10] World Health Organisation, European Vaccine Action Plan (EVAP); 2015-2020; WHO, Copenhagen.
- [11] Council of Europe, Strengthening Cooperation against Vaccine Preventable disease, COM 2918, 244 Final, 2018. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0244&from=en.
- [12] Expert Panel on Effective Ways of Investing in Health, *Draft Opinion on Vaccination Programmes and Health Systems in Europe*, Brussels, 2018. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/health/expert_panel/sites/expertpanel/files/020_vaccinationpgms_en.pdf
- [13] World Health Organisation, WHO recommendations on home-based records for maternal, new-born and child health;, WHO, Geneva, 2018, Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274277/9789241550352-eng.pdf?ua=1.
- [14] TechNet-21, Home-based Records. Available at: https://www.technet-21.org/en/topics/home-base-records
- [15] S. Deshpande (ed.) Trillium II- MOCHA meeting: 'Digital Health Policies for Children's Health' workshop;. Available at: http://www.childhealthservicemodels.eu/wp-content/uploads/Trillium-MOCHAreport-PDF.pdf
- [16] *HL7 International Patient Summary Standard* extended by Trillium project. Available at: http://www.hl7.it/fhir/build/trillium2.
- [17] HL7 FHIR Implementation Guide. Available at: http://hl7.org/fhir/uv/ips/index.html.

The Limited Extent of Accreditation Mechanisms for Websites and Mobile Applications in Europe

Shalmali DESHPANDE^{a,1}, Michael RIGBY^b and Mitch BLAIR^b

^aDepartment of Primary Care and Public Health, Imperial College of Science, Technology, and Medicine, UK ^bSection of Paediatrics Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College of Science, Technology,

and Medicine, UK

Abstract. A potentially useful resource for health promotion and guidance is eHealth. However, this field also presents challenges, and one of the most important obstacles is the lack of regulation, without which citizens including young people may be exposed to misleading or risky information and applications. The aim of this study was to investigate the extent of accreditation processes for mobile applications (apps) and websites in European countries, to determine whether regulation is on the agenda. A survey was conducted in 28 European Member States and 2 European Economic Area countries, between 2017 and 2018. Twenty-seven responses were collected. Six countries have accreditation processes for apps and eight countries have accreditation processes are fragmented and there is variety within and amongst countries.

Keywords. mHealth; eHealth; mobile applications; apps; websites; accreditation.

1. Introduction

Health promotion, and citizen access to health information, are fundamental to improve health outcomes within the context of primary healthcare. Major challenges for effective health promotion are the unprecedented global changes in society due to population growth, urbanisation, and technology developments [1]. Resultantly, new approaches to address the changing needs of society and the broader determinants of health are desirable; one such approach is electronic health (eHealth).

The European Commission defines eHealth as the use of information communication technologies to enhance prevention, diagnosis, treatment and other areas of healthcare [2]. It is an umbrella term comprising websites and mobile health (mHealth), amongst other technologies. eHealth could provide benefit to entire communities, reduce social barriers, and increase health sector efficiency. Therefore, support for eHealth in the healthcare field is widespread [3].

Traditionally patients have relied on medical professionals for health information, which has provided clear, personalized, and evidence-based recommendations [4].

¹ Corresponding Author, Shalmali Deshpande, Department of Primary Care and Public Health, Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, Reynolds Building, St. Dunstan's Road, London, Hammersmith W6 6RP, United Kingdom; E-mail: Shalmali.deshpande16@imperial.ac.uk.

However, since the early 2000's, eHealth website usage has rapidly increased. Websites provide financial benefits, reduce time burden on general practitioners, and increase social support amongst internet users [5]. However, along with these benefits comes the risk of uncensored websites with unverified information. This is because different providers create websites with different agendas, leading to information that varies in terms of credibility and expertise. In response to this, a non-governmental organization accredited to the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations, Health On the Net (HON), was created to enable a provision for websites to provide useful and reliable health information to citizens [6].

Under eHealth, mobile health (mHealth) has emerged as a popular health tool. Mobile applications (apps), games and short messaging service (SMS) [7], allow patient empowerment and promote a participative role rather than a passive role in patient healthcare [8]. However, similar regulatory issues exist with apps as with websites. Moreover, they may capture personal data about users, and use this for undisclosed purposes. Another major criticism is the inadequate testing mechanisms and the weak evidence base.

Assessment of the extent to how effective eHealth and mHealth initiatives are is one supportive objective of the Horizon 2020 funded project Models of Child Health Appraised (MOCHA) [9]. This study, embedded within MOCHA, aimed to create an overview as to whether countries have considered accreditation processes for apps and websites for health promotion.

2. Methods

To assess whether countries had considered/the state of development of accreditation of apps and websites a semi-structured survey design was used to collect data. The analysis was conducted through MOCHA, which retains a local expert in 28 EU and 2 EEA countries to collect country-specific information. The question underwent a strict peer review process to ensure scientific validation before being sent out to these experts, known as Country Agents.

Data collection occurred between 2017 and 2018. MOCHA Country Agents were asked to complete the questions on the basis of their expertise, or in cases where this was not possible, to gather data from other sources or national experts on individual questionnaire items. The replies from all countries were analysed using descriptive statistics.

3. Results

Responses were received from 27 countries. Majority of countries have no accreditation process for apps or websites. A full analysis of the results is available elsewhere [10].

3.1. Health mobile applications (apps)

Six countries mentioned that they accredited apps: Estonia, Germany, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, and the UK (Table 1); of which the UK describes the most formalised process.

Estonia described a Child Helpline Service app, coordinated by the Medical Consultation Centre, which provides a nation-wide family doctor advice line service. In Germany there are currently small, unofficial bodies, internally regulating health apps. However, the federal government and special interest groups have recognized the need for quality assurance and a regulated national accreditation scheme. Although Portugal reported an accreditation process for apps, no further details were provided. Spain described autonomous regions, such as Andalusia and Catalonia, having accreditation processes for health apps called 'Distintivo AppSaludable' and 'AppSalut', respectively. In Slovenia, the 'Slovenian Institute of Quality and Metrology' (SIQ) is responsible for certifying apps, which are certified in the same way as other medical equipment or medical devices. In the UK, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) accredits apps that meet the definition of a medical device, an in vitro diagnostic device, or an active implantable medical device. The National Information Board will accredit apps that do not meet these definitions. Collaborations with the Department of Health, NHS England, Academic Health Science Networks, NHS Digital, and Public Health England aim to provide citizens with access to accredited apps.

Countries	App accreditation	Website accreditation
Austria		•
Croatia		♦
Estonia	•	♦
France		♦
Germany	•	♦
Portugal	•	♦
Slovenia	•	
Spain	•	♦
United Kingdom	•	♦

Table 1. Countries reporting accreditation processes for mobile applications and websites.

3.2. Health websites

Eight countries mentioned the presence of an accreditation process for websites: Austria, Croatia, Estonia, France, Germany, Portugal, Spain, and the United Kingdom (Table 1).

Austrian health-specific websites use quality seals for accreditation, in order to present transparent health information. The two quality seals are the HON code and the afgis seal. The Aktionsforum Gesundheitsinformationssystem (afgis) is an association promoting the quality of health information on the internet by awarding a quality seal to websites that are eligible. In Austria, the Institute for Quality and Transparency of Health Information is obliged to ensure that industry does not influence the content of health websites. In France, information quality is crucial and is monitored by supervisory and public authorities using the 'HON certification'. The HON code is also used in Germany. Alongside this, the Federal Ministry of Family Affairs promotes and endorses certain websites. Additionally, it also regulates and removes websites harmful to children. All existing websites in Portugal are institutional websites and are therefore accredited by the providers. Health websites in Spain are accredited through various bodies, including but not limited to, the HON code, MedCIRCLE (a project funded by the European Union), and the Code of Conduct for Medical Websites Certification Program. In the UK, The Information Standard (run by NHS England) ensures rigorous assessments for health websites to guarantee high quality information. Members of the organization receive the right to display a logo on their website, which acts as a clear, visible quality mark promising users high quality information.

4. Conclusion

A survey into the accreditation processes of apps and websites in the EU and EEA showed that very few countries report having an established validation protocol. Processes mentioned vary widely for apps since they are generally not considered medical devices according to EU regulations. Accreditation mechanisms for health websites are also uncommon, even though they are one of the most popular sources for obtaining health information. A few countries showed similarities in using the HON code to accredit their websites. Results from this study indicate that further efforts through policy decisions and health authorities are needed to regulate apps and websites for health promotion information, to protect citizens from known risks of misleading information [11, 12]. The processes are still at an early stage and further work is needed to harmonise accreditation processes both within and between countries.

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgment is paid to the Country Agents of the MOCHA project as identified on the project website [9]. Their contributions ensured that the findings of this study are based on detailed and local indigenous knowledge. The MOCHA project is funded by the European Commission through the Horizon 2020 Framework under the grant agreement number: 634201. The sole responsibility for the content of this paper lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union, or of the full project. The European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

- [1] World Health Organisation, *Health Promotion*, URL: http://www.who.int/topics/health_promotion/en/ (access date: 01 Nov 2017).
- [2] European Commission, Report of the Working Group on mHealth Assessment Guidelines (2016), 1–10.
- [3] J.L.S. Byrne, T. Cameron Wild, K. Maximova et al., A brief eHealth tool delivered in primary care to help parents prevent childhood obesity: A randomized controlled trial, *Pediatric Obesity* (2016).
- [4] E. Sillence, P. Briggs, P. Harris and L. Fishwick, Health Websites that people can trust- the case of hypertension, *Interacting with Computers* 19 (2007), 32-43.
- [5] J.M. Morahan-Martin, How internet users find, evaluate, and use online health information: a cross-cultural review, *CyberPsychology and Behavior* 7 (2004), 497-510.
- [6] Health On the Net Foundation, URL: https://www.healthonnet.org/ (access date 04 Nov 2017).
- [7] European Commission, Green paper on mobile health (mHealth) (2014).
- [8] A. Singh, S. Wilkinson and S. Braganza, Smartphones and pediatric apps to mobilize the medical home, *The Journal of Pediatrics* 165 (2014), 606–610.
- [9] Models of Child Health Appraised, URL: http://www.childhealthservicemodels.eu/ (access date 07 May 2019).
- [10] M. Rigby, G. Kühne and S. Deshpande, e-Health as the Enabler of Primary Care for Children, Issues and Opportunities in Primary Health Care for Children in Europe (2019), 283-301.
- [11] M. Rigby, J. Forsström, R. Roberts and J. Wyatt, Verifying Quality and Safety in Health Informatics Services, *British Medical Journal* 323 (2001), 552-556.
- [12] Evidence standards framework for digital health technologies. https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-wedo/our-programmes/evidence-standards-framework-for-digital-health-technologies (accessed May 28, 2019).

Implementation of USSD Technology to Improve Quality of Routinely Reported Health Data in a Resource-Limited Setting

Joan NAKIBUUKA^{a,b,1}, Agnes R. SEMWANGA^b and Martin C. WERE^{a,c}

^a Institute of Biomedical Informatics, Moi University, Eldoret, Kenya ^b College of Computing and Information Sciences, Makerere University, Uganda ^c Department of Biomedical Informatics & Medicine, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, USA

> Abstract. Health decision-making is heavily premised on routinely reported data from lower levels of healthcare delivery to the national level. The reported data are of best use if their quality is high. Unfortunately, in many resource-limited settings in sub-Saharan Africa, the quality of reported data is often poor. Among the reasons attributed for poor data quality is use of sub-optimal modalities for collecting and transmitting data, such as paper-based and Short Message Service (SMS). Through a user-centered approach, we developed and implemented an Unstructured Supplementary Service Data (USSD)-based health data reporting intervention in a district in Uganda. The impact of the developed system on report accuracy, timeliness and completeness was evaluated against the expected 100% rates by the Ministry of Health (MoH). A total of 224 reports were submitted over the two-month study period. Of the submitted reports, 171 (76.3%) were complete (p < 0.0001) compared to MoH's required 100%). 161 (71.9%) were accurate (P < 0.0001), and 158 (70.5%) of the reports were submitted on time (p<0.0001). The deficiencies were largely attributed to a few facilities, as only 17.9% of facilities had data discrepancies with a mean of -2.11 (P=0.38), 96.4% (0.130) of the facilities had complete reports and 87.4% (0.100) of the facilities reported on time. Poor network coverage was an outstanding challenge to reporting.

> **Keywords.** Data Quality, Unstructured Supplementary Service Data (USSD), Routine Health Information Systems, Low- and Middle-Income Countries.

1. Introduction

Health system performance depends on production and use of quality health [1]. A functional Health Information System (HIS) avails the right information into the right hands at the right time to aid decision-making, and hence the data it holds should be of good quality [2]. Routine health information systems (RHIS) provide information at regular intervals to address predictable health information needs [3] and are a vital component of any efficient, country-owned and integrated HIS.

In low-resource settings, RHIS have long relied on a paper-based mechanism for reporting of health data. Paper-based reporting approaches are fraught with quality control and portability limitations, which escalate with increase in geographical spread

¹ Corresponding Author, Joan Nakibuuka; E-mail: mbjoan@gmail.com.
[1]. Given the mobile phone's ubiquity and affordability, (SMS) has been adopted for health reporting to address challenges of the paper-based modality. However, SMS also has challenges such as need for complex and inflexible syntax to enable fitting as much information into a single SMS, and inability for immediate data validation which negatively affects data quality [4]. Given the aforementioned limitations of the currently used methods of health data reporting from lower levels of healthcare delivery to the national level, we set out to evaluate an alternative, yet affordable, aggregate health data reporting system and evaluated its impact on quality of data reported.

2. Methods

2.1. Study site and Participants

This study was carried out in Mpigi district in Uganda at 28 health facilities which were both private and public offering various levels of care, and using paper or SMS-based reporting systems. Facilities were selected using MEASURE Evaluation's measure of relative variance facility sampling method [5]. Study participants were purposively selected to include: (1) health information assistants, who are charged with data management at the selected facilities, and (2) the district biostatisticians responsible for data management of the reported data at the district level.

2.2. Developing of the USSD-based data reporting intervention

To identify the approach to improve quality of data reported from the lower levels of healthcare delivery to the national level, we first conducted in-depth interviews with the study participants to elicit existing challenges to data reporting and opportunities for improvement of the existing paper-based and SMS-based reporting systems. Based on the interview findings, we determined that an approach based on USSD, a Global System for Mobile (GSM) technology, used to facilitate communication between a mobile phone and an application in a network, [6] would offer improvements because USSD: (a) was available even on lowest-end handsets, (b) was more secure than SMS, (c) was affordable, (d) allowed for reporting in a single session, (e) allowed for menu functionality therefore eliminating complex syntax seen with SMS-based systems, and (f) allowed for data validation prior to report submission. The server-side of the USSD-based reporting system was developed using the java programming language with an open Application Programming Interface that allowed it to integrate with the national data aggregation system, DHIS2. Through a user-centered approach, the following workflow was identified for the mobile side of the reporting system: (1) a user on their phone could dial the USSD code, (2) they would then access the data reporting menu, (3) they would follow the USSD prompts to complete their report, (4) when they were ready to submit report, they would be provided an opportunity to make edits after validation of data, and (5) they could submit the data to the integrated reporting system (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Screenshots for phone USSD-based Reporting Interface

2.3. Implementation of the USSD based intervention

The developed application was availed to users through a USSD code (*270*225#) accessible from different GSM networks in Uganda. Reports for mandated MoH weekly surveillance were submitted from peripheral facilities to a central server using the USSD system on a weekly basis for two months.

2.4. Performance of the USSD based intervention

Data quality of weekly reports submitted through the USSD-based reporting system was evaluated using a quantitative questionnaire adapted from the Performance of Routine Health Information System (PRISM) framework [7]. Dimensions of data quality assessed included data accuracy, timeliness and completeness. Reports were complete if all the data elements required to be reported had values in them, accurate if the mean discrepancy between the values transmitted to the central server and those in the source document was ± 5 and timely if the reports were submitted before the nationally-recognized deadline. The performance of the USSD-system was compared using a chi-square test against the Ministry of Health standards for reporting, which required 100% timeliness, 100% completeness, and an accuracy with a mean discrepancy of ± 5 per report. P-value used was 0.05.

3. Results

Key informant interviews revealed the following challenges with the existing SMS system: (a) difficulty in learning the syntax required for SMS, b) the vulnerability of SMS format to mistakes, c) the poor feedback loop with SMS-based data transmission, and d) network problems. Paper systems were deemed time-consuming, required higher levels of human resource that were not available, and had high transportation costs.

A total of 224 reports were submitted over the two-month study period. Of these reports 171 (76.3%) were submitted complete (p < 0.0001) by 96.4% (0.130)) of the facilities compared to MoH's required 100%). 161 (71.9%) were accurate (with mean discrepancy of -2.11 for all reports which was within the range permitted by MoH) (P < 0.0001), and 158 (70.5%) of the reports were submitted on time (p<0.0001) by 87.4% (0.100) of the facilities. The deficiencies were largely attributed to a few facilities, as

only 17.9% of facilities had data discrepancies (P=0.38) with a mean discrepancy of -2.11.

4. Discussion

Current paper-based and SMS-based reporting systems within resource-limited settings are suboptimal, and USSD-based reporting systems offer a scalable and affordable approach to provision of accurate, timely and complete reports though their implementation has to be monitored especially for underperforming facilities.

The user-centered approach to developing the intervention ensured that characteristics, needs and challenges of users were addressed [8]. Next steps to this work include comparative assessments of SMS and paper-based reporting systems against the USSD system. Further, there needs to be close monitoring of use the USSD system over time and an assessment of user perceptions of the USSD system.

5. Conclusion

A USSD-based system for reporting resulted in timely, accurate and complete reporting in the resource-limited setting of Uganda. However, to scale USSD systems, good GSM network infrastructure is required.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by the NORHED program (Norad: Project QZA-0484).

- J.H. Ledikwe et al., Improving the quality of health information: a qualitative assessment of data management and reporting systems in Botswana, *Heal. Res. Policy Syst.* 12 (1) (2014).
- [2] M. Kumar and L. Millar, Stages of Health Information System Improvement Strengthening the Health Information System for Improved Performance, *MEASURE Evaluation* December (2017).
- [3] N. Leon, L. Brady, A. Kwamie and K. Daniels, Routine Health Information System (RHIS) interventions to improve health systems management (Protocol), *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 12 (2015).
- [4] T. Perrier, B. Derenzi and R. Anderson, USSD: The Third Universal App, 13-21.
- [5] M.R. Turner, A.G. Angeles, A.O. Tsui and M. Wilkinson, Sampling Manual for Facility Surveys for Population, Maternal Health, Child Health and STD Programs in Developing Countries, *MEASURE Evaluation* (2001). [Online]. Available: https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/publications/ms-01-03. [Accessed: 11-Mar-2018].
- [6] What is USSD | Glossary. [Online]. Available: https://www.infobip.com/en/glossary/ussd. [Accessed: 13-May-2019].
- [7] E. Nicol, L. Dudley and D. Bradshaw, Assessing the quality of routine data for the prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV: An analytical observational study in two health districts with high HIV prevalence in South Africa, *Int. J. Med. Inform.* (2016).
- [8] R. Schnall et al., A user-centered model for designing consumer mobile health (mHealth) applications (apps), J. Biomed. Inform. (2016).

Measuring Patient Experiences from Intensive Care Units to Improve Health IT Systems and Nursing Care

Myrsini KELEPOURI^{a,b,1}, Olga SISKOU^a, Petros GALANIS^a, Olympia KONSTANTAKOPOULOU^a, Athina KALOKAIRINOU^a, John MANTAS^a and Dafni KAITELIDOU^a ^a Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece ^b 424 General Military Training Hospital of Thessaloniki, Greece

Abstract. The purpose of the study was to investigate the experiences of discharged patients from Intensive Care Units (ICUs). A study with retrospective data collection (n= 112) was conducted via interviews using the Intensive Care Experience Questionnaire. 93% of participants reported positive experiences from the ICU. Frightening experiences were restricted to minimum levels (mean score=9/25), while the feeling of security was prevalent (96.5%) and care satisfaction was high (mean score= 18.2 / 20). Communicating the aforementioned experiences, professionals may better understand patients' needs in order to improve the IT systems and patients' hospitalization.

Keywords. Intensive Care Unit (ICU), patient experiences

1. Introduction

ICUs present challenges that are not encountered in other healthcare facilities to the same extent. Acute and critical illness, mechanical respiration support and suppression are just some of the ICU's particularities, making it a demanding and stressful environment [1]. The aim of study was to investigate the experiences of patients who were hospitalized in an ICU and based on them to examine potential improvements on the provided healthcare services as well as on the Health IT systems.

2. Methods

This is a non-invasive, cross-sectional study with retrospective data collection conducted in 2018. The study sample consisted of 112 adult patients discharged from the ICU of Papageorgiou Hospital and 424 GMTH. The Data collection was conducted by the principal investigator via telephone interviews with patients (response rate was 62.2%) after obtaining their consent. The Intensive Care Experience Questionnaire (ICEQ), was

¹ Corresponding Author, Myrsini Kelepouri, RN, MSc, Surgery Officer, 424 General Military Training Hospital of Thessaloniki, Greece; E-mail: stratosmyn@gmail.com.

used to carry out the survey [2] after conducting a backward translation in Greek. The ICEQ is a valid instrument used [3,4], focused particularly on evaluating patients' experiences [3,4]. A pilot survey (n= 20) was carried out to test the reliability of the questionnaire [5]. Results of the pilot study documented high reliability and acceptable internal consistency. Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 21.0.

3. Results

The majority of the participants (93%) reported positive experiences from the ICU. In particular, 85.7% of the participants stated that they were provided with understandable information and 62.5% had the opportunity to choose. Also, 96.5% of the participants claimed that they felt safe, most of the time, 90% agreed that the ICU was not noisy and 68% were able to distinguish day from night. Bad dreams seemed not to be a common condition (4.5%) and only 10.7% experienced pain, at some time. Regarding to the analysis of the open-ended questions (n=78), staff behavior was reported as one of their best experiences at the ICU (40.2%). Correlation analysis showed that patients suffering from pathological diseases and those who underwent a scheduled surgery had a better perception of their disease (p=0.021). More frightening experiences were expressed by patients with unscheduled surgery (p=0.008), women (p=0.025) and patients with mechanical ventilation (p=0.002). Patients with a higher socio-economic status expressed a greater desire to find out more about what happened (p=0.048).

4. Discussion

Patients from both hospitals expressed positive experiences that coincides with other studies [2,3]. Moreover, the increase in the socio-economic level was associated with a greater desire of the patients to find out more about what happened. Considering the aforementioned results, it is important for healthcare professionals to take into account the patients' experiences in order to provide quality services and improve the patient's care. It is also suggested that mechanisms for the assessment of patients' experiences through IT applications (e.g. automated sending of electronic questionnaires via mobile phone) should be implemented. Additionally, an electronic database of patients' experiences and a time-based analysis/interpretation of the results, within the context of implementing measures to improve the quality may contribute to the provide care.

- [1] M. Rashid, Developing scales to evaluate staff perception of the effects of the physical environment on patient comfort, patient safety, patient privacy, family integration with patient care and staff working conditions in adult intensive care units: a pilot stud, *Crit Care Nurs Q* 30 (2007), 271-283.
- [2] J. Rattray, M. Johnston and J. Wildsmith, The intensive care experience: development of the ICE questionnaire, J Adv Nurs 47 (2004), 64-73.
- [3] J. Alasad, N.A. Tabar and M. Ahmad, Patients' experience of being in intensive care units, *Journal of Critical Care* 30 (4) (2015), 859. e7-859.e11.
- [4] S. McKinley, M. Fien, R. Elliott and D. Elliott, Health-Related quality of life and associated factors in intensive care unit survivors 6 months after discharge, *Am Jour of Crit Care* 25 (2016), 52-58.
- [5] P. Galanis, Validity and reliability of questionnaires in epidemiological studies, *HELLENIC MEDICINE FILES* 30 (2013), 97-110.

Moving Towards a Blockchain-Based Healthcare Information System

Charalampos BALIS^{a,1}, Iraklis TAGOPOULOS^b and Katerina DIMOLA^c

^aLaboratory of Cytogenetics and Molecular Genetics, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Thessaly, Greece ^bSamos, Greece

^c Ministry of Education, Research and Religious Affairs, Regional Administrative Education Services of Thessaly, Greece

Abstract. One of the major problems that a national health system face is the lack of a unified clinical data management. In Greece, the critical and sensitive medical data generated during a patient lifetime are fragmented in one or more hospitals and healthcare services are not characterized by a 'continuity' factor. There is not the appropriate technological and administrative infrastructure for a unified patient medical history, prescriptions, laboratory tests or therapeutic plan. Technological, administrative and economic factors have led to this situation. We propose the integration and implementation of a blockchain network as a complementary technology to the existing information systems, so reliable and effective information management could be provided by a healthcare organization or the national healthcare system. Blockchain technology could be implemented as a bridge that can provide information systems interoperability within a hospital or between different hospitals.

Keywords. health information management, integrity, availability, interoperability, blockchain technology

1. Introduction

A patient may visit various hospitals or clinics along his/her lifetime and should be able to provide the necessary data access authorization to healthcare professionals. Health information must be distributed among the health care providers involved, such as hospitals, pharmacies, laboratories or relatives. At the same time, nowadays challenges require more and more accuracy in storage, management and access of medical data. Also, medical data can be exploited for economic reasons and they often are target of "cyber attacks" [1]. In Greece, the required infrastructure has not been implemented and hospitals are not interconnecting for the exchange of medical records of a patient. This is essentially due to the architecture and design of IT systems installed in hospitals and it is still a difficult task in both the technological and administrative level.

Blockchain networks are an innovative technology that has been grown rapidly in recent years, mainly in financial services with the use of 'cryptocurrencies'. There are

¹ Corresponding Author, Charalampos Balis, Laboratory of Cytogenetics and Molecular Genetics, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Thessaly, Greece; Panepistimiou 3, Viopolis, 41500, Larissa, Greece; E-mail: chbalis@med.uth.gr.

reviews that address the potential usage of blockchain in healthcare field and, specifically, in the field of data management and data exchange [2].

MedRec is a proposed solution that implements a decentralized record management system to handle EHRs, using blockchain technology. The main participants are the patients but the system uses APIs to integrate with medical stakeholders for interoperability. It supports an Ethereum blockchain, 'smart contracts' technology and a cryptographic hash to ensure authentication, confidentiality and accountability in data sharing. Additionally, Guardtime is a blockchain-based framework in Estonia. Patients have a smartcard that links their medical data with a unique blockchain-based identity and all updates in their health record are specified by a hash and recorded in a blockchain. Its purpose is to guarantee that any modifications to the healthcare patient record are secure and auditable [3].

The lack of communication and interconnection within the hospital itself as well as between different hospitals of the national health system in our country can be met with the advantages of blockchain technology. Such an implementation, in essence, is suggested in this paper.

2. Methods

The structure of the information systems in Greek hospitals is based on a patient-centered logic, where the patient is the benchmark and health services, such as hospitalization, prescribing, costing, laboratories, pharmacy, surgery, administrative and financial management, are developed having him on the centre [4]. Communication between these subsystems is implemented by the development of a HL7-based interoperability interface. The intermediate HL7 subsystem (middleware) works independently and is directly connected to the database. A specific network security plan is implemented (security policy) supporting user roles, password management, access rights, auditing and log files.

A blockchain is a ledger (a database) that stores and verifies data that are typically organized in blocks using cryptographic methods and in such a way as to create a continuous data-chain (scalability). Each block contains a timestamp that links it to the previous block, and each event requires acceptance from the most of the network users while the changes in data are always logged so they can be traced and checked. There is not a central maintenance authority but only 'nodes', that are users who update the ledger, at the same time, for every change to it, and everyone always has the same status of the ledger [5]. All transactions are recorded in the ledger and are publicly accessible at any time, increasing this way the data transparency and security.

3. Results – Proposed system

3.1. Proposed blockchain – based system into a hospital

The blockchain network within a hospital should be a private network and its users must be the professionals who generate and manipulate information through health care procedures [6]. Additionally, it should be taken into account that the blockchain system should essentially operate as a complementary tool and will not replace the current information system entirely. Blockchain technology may handle any kind of information like medical history, prescribing, treatment plan or laboratory results but very big data files can cause delays to the speed and the performance of the network. There must be criteria and limitations related to the storage and processing requirements of the system [6]. The main concern of our work is to propose a functional blockchain infrastructure within a hospital in order to overcome the communication and integration barriers among the different information subsystems.

The blockchain network should be implemented as a bridge linking the hospital's central information system with the independent subsystems. In each independent subsystem, along with the central one, nodes (users) can participate in the blockchain network, along with participation in the standard health information system. The nodes communicate directly with each other through the blockchain network and faster data processing is ensured. Every node is composed of a function-call APIs, an Ethereum client and a health record manager with access to a database [7].

3.2. Proposed blockchain – based system among hospitals

A patient, during his life, may need to visit more than once different hospitals in the country. The clinical data that concerns him are scattered over time in different information systems. Blockchain technology could help to unify a patient clinical data at hospitals interchange level.

Such an implementation could provide the appropriate infrastructure for continuing patient health care, a goal that our national health system cannot face for decades. The blockchain network will, in this case, be private and specific nodes will be representing the country's hospitals. Cloud technology will also be a key feature of peer-to-peer communication. In order to be achieved higher level of security and scalability, only high-level data will be stored on the blockchain network (on-chain high level data), such as metadata, transactional information and audit records, which will contribute to reliability of the systems communication. Other high volume clinical data will be stored in the current RDBMS (off-chain data) and metadata and links stored into the blockchain will ensure the data integrity [8]. An Ethereum is been used for data access management and APIs for access to the cloud services (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Hospital interoperability through blockchain network.

4. Discussion - Conclusions

This work, initially, highlights the problem of interconnectivity and lack of communication of healthcare information systems that are operating in a hospital environment, but also between different hospitals in the Greek territory. The reasons that have led to this situation are related to technological, administrative and economic factors over the last few decades. The solution proposed is the implementation of a blockchain technology, which has recently been applied in many fields of healthcare. Through this, it is possible to be achieved an integration of clinical and administrative data in terms of reliability, security, extensibility of structures, data integrity and speed processing [9].

There are limitations that have been already arisen in blockchain–based systems. The main concern is that a blockchain platform maintains a large volume of data and all blocks are stored on every node in the system. So, computational power and cost-effectiveness issues must be addressed. The proposed implementation may complement existing infrastructures and technologies rather than replacing the standard health information systems. A blockchain network can ensure more reliable and effective information management to a health network. Many health blockchain implementations have already been evaluated, useful conclusions have been drawn and relative concerns should be taken into account according to the difficulties of a transition process of standard information systems to the blockchain technology [9]. Furthermore, these results could lead to more effective solutions for genomic data sharing as there are many legal and privacy issues that have to be addressed in this field. Decentralized blockchain-based platforms are more proper in managing active participation of patients or medical stakeholders in data sharing [10].

- A. Stylianides, J. Mantas, Z. Roupa and E.N. Yamasaki, Development of an Evaluation Framework for Health Information Systems (DIPSA), *Acta Inform Med* 26 (4) (2018), 230-234.
- [2] A.A. Vazirani, O. O'Donoghue, D. Brindley and E. Meinert, Implementing Blockchains for Efficient Health Care: Systematic Review, J Med Internet Res 21(2) (2019), e12439.
- [3] S. Angraal, H.M. Krumholz and W.L. Schulz, Blockchain Technology: Applications in Health Care, *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 10 (9) (2017).
- [4] D. Tsaklakidou, A. Sotirhou, S. Tsikrikas, S. Tsikrika, M.A. Stamouli, I. Apostolakis and I. Kiriopoulos. Integration of information technology and communication in public hospital at Greece, in *Proc. 3rd Panhellenic Congress on Health Management, Economics & Policies*, Athens, Greece, December 12-15, 2007, (In Greek).
- [5] T.T. Kuo, H.E. Kim and L. Ohno-Machado, Blockchain distributed ledger technologies for biomedical and health care applications, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 24 (6) (2017), 1211– 1220.
- [6] C. Pirtle and J. Ehrenfeld, Blockchain for Healthcare: The Next Generation of Medical Records? Journal of Medical Systems 42 (2018), 172.
- [7] A. Azaria, A. Ekblaw, T. Vieira and A. Lippman, Medrec: Using blockchain for medical data access and permission management, 2nd International Conference on Open and Big Data (OBD) (2016), 25–30.
- [8] Q. Xia, E.B. Sifah, A. Smahi, S. Amofa and X. Zhang, Blockchain-based data sharing for electronic medical records in cloud environments, *Inform* 8 (2) (2017), 44.
- [9] A. Andargoli, H. Eslami Scheepers, D. Rajendran and A. Sohal, Health information systems evaluation frameworks: A systematic review, *Int J Med Inform* 01 (97) (2017), 195–209.
- [10] M. Shabani, Blockchain-based platforms for genomic data sharing: a de-centralized approach in response to the governance problems?, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 26 (1) (2018), 1–5.

Blockchain as a Process Control Tool for Healthcare

Michael SHIFRIN^{a,1}, Anton KHAVTORIN^b, Vadim STEPURIN^c and Boris ZINGERMAN^d

^a The N.N.Burdenko National Medical Research Center of Neurosurgery, Moscow, RF ^bBorlas group, Moscow, RF ^c Vertex ltd, Moscow, RF ^d Invitro, Moscow, RF

> Abstract. The blockchain is one of the most popular information technologies and, at the same time, it was discredited by stories about crashes of multiple cryptocurrency projects. Even though this technology has recently found application in many areas not related to cryptocurrencies, mainly for security purposes, the attitude towards it remains wary. Herein we shall try to demonstrate that blockchain is something going far beyond cryptocurrency and security issues, and may become one of the fundamental information technologies in future healthcare.

Keywords. Healthcare, blockchain, smart contracts, distributed processes

1. Introduction

The technology of distributed ledgers (blockchain, BCT) has caused so much noise that it can be compared with .com boom of the early 2000s. In most cases, the word "blockchain" is used in conjunction with the word "cryptocurrency," and is accompanied by stories of both unprecedented enrichment and deafening crashes. It is not surprising that serious business began to be interested in it somewhat later and still the number of successful projects outside the financial sphere is not so big, though the number of publications grows very fast. Most of them are dedicated to various security and privacy issues. The same picture we observe in attempts to use BCT in healthcare.

Herein we will present our view how BCT can improve the efficiency of certain processes in healthcare. It is necessary to note that one can find many publication concerning applications of BCT in healthcare (see reviews [1],[2]) but practically in all of them the role of blockchain is limited by problems of security and privacy. No doubt these topics are extremely sensitive in healthcare, but it does not exhaust many areas where blockchain may be applied. The aim of this paper is to deliver a sketch of possible applications of blockchain in medical processes, where doctors may appreciate the strength of this technology. Our opinion is based on several projects implemented in industry, mining, and logistics, and many years of work in medical informatics, what allowed elaborating a new approach to BCT: to treat blockchain technologies as a tool for process control.

¹ Corresponding Author, Michael Shifrin, Moscow, RF; E-mail: shifrin@nsi.ru.

2. What is a blockchain?

The technical essence of the BCT is rather complicated, but its deep understanding is not necessary for understanding the idea of this submission. One can find popular but accurate statement of the BCT in [3]. We will only talk about its business and process components.

At a first glance, the blockchain is a heavy, redundant, inefficient technology that solves exactly one task: monitoring compliance with agreements (consensus) in processes with many independent participants. The strengths and weaknesses of the technology complement each other. Transparency is complemented by absolute inflexibility, the inability to cancel/change a transaction by the difficulty of correcting errors, the consistency of the rules by the complexity of their even regulated changes.

Is this technology a breakthrough? Yes and no. Yes, being applied adequately, it can significantly improve the efficiency of processes and even form a new paradigm of interaction between the participants. At the same time, in most cases it is meaningless to implement technology in parallel to existing processes without changing them: this will only complicate the process.

So, what is a blockchain in the context of this paper? It is a technology that allows to set immutable and accepted by all independent participants of information processing rules and to guarantee the absence of workarounds and falsifications.

3. Evolution of technology

- **Blockchain 1.0** The association of the blockchain with cryptocurrencies is quite understandable: the technology itself was developed as a key element of the information security system for Bitcoin the first cryptocurrency. The technology guaranteed the absolute reliability of transactions among anonymous users. Punctures happened, but in general the place of technology was clear. "Distributed ledger" is a principal concept of this stage ([4]).
- **Blockchain 2.0** appeared with the developing of Ethereum ([5]) platform and cryptocurrency. Its key feature is the ability to consider business logic by creating so-called "smart contracts." A smart contract is an instrument of fixing business rules accepted by all participants and unchangeable. That is what led to the ICOs (Initial Coin Offering, the cryptocurrency space's rough equivalent to an IPO in the mainstream investment world) popularity attracting investments for distributed projects, most of which ended in a crash. But it also allowed the use of block-chain outside the financial sphere.
- **Blockchain 3.0** This is the stage when business became interested in technology. At this stage blockchain is considered as a mechanism of guaranteed compliance with the rules by participants in an atmosphere of total distrust (in the best possible sense of the word). The technology allows creating a trusted space that is not controlled by anyone of the participants, and ensuring compliance with the rules of the game. Roughly speaking, the business process cannot proceed to the next stage until all the lights come on and it is impossible to fake the switching-on of a light bulb. This approach allowed implementing numerous interesting projects, and its main merit is equalization of the rights of

all participants. At this stage "distributed ledger" is transformed to "distributed log" ([6]).

• **Blockchain 4.0** Nowadays the technology is on the verge of another evolutionary leap. While retaining the advantages of the second and third stages, blockchain begins to play two new roles: the integration layer and the regulator of relations in distributed communities.



Figure 1. Each stage is characterized by the concepts that distinguish it from the previous one.

4. Blockchain in health care processes

In this section, we will formulate hypotheses about the applicability of the blockchain in various processes in the healthcare sector. The fact is that so far there are no serious projects implemented in healthcare domain. The aim of our presentation is to attract attention to the potential of Blockchain 4.0 in healthcare.

4.1. Managing Queuing Flows in Clinical Studies

When conducting clinical trials of drugs, there raises the question of the exact match between the study rules and patients participating in the research. In fact, there is a process of balancing two counter queues. This process should be strictly formalized and not allow human intervention, except in exceptional cases. The place and role of the blockchain in this case is clear: the mathematical model and compliance rules are laid down in a smart contract, and the parameters of patients and study rules are stored in the registry itself. In case of coincidence, it is proposed to conduct a specific study. Of course, the final decision is made by a specialist, but the process is more controlled and complete.

4.2. Organ Donation

This process is organizationally similar to the previous one. The line of patients to receive donor organs is fixed on the blockchain, and when donor material appears, the smart contract seeks compliance. As before, the person makes the final decision, but what the patients can be exactly sure of is that they were not "pushed" in the queue and that the process is under complete control.

4.3. Managing distributed treatment processes

As the treatment process is improved, increased participants take part in it: doctors from specialized medical institutions and GPs, social workers, patient's relatives, specialists from diagnostic centers and so on. The process, in fact, becomes multivalent and distributed. Specific actions and procedures will depend on others, and the sequence of treatment steps is usually regulated.

In this case, smart contracts can be assigned to control the fulfillment of prescriptions, and, more importantly, to control the completeness of information to proceed to the next stages of treatment. Especially effective approach may be in the rehabilitation of patients after discharge from the hospital, when there must be performed many actions at the patient's place of residence.

4.4. Maintaining an integrated information space

The number of medical and laboratory information systems, even in one country, can amount to dozens. When a patient is referred to or planned to move to another clinic, and even more so in another country, obtaining patient history data may present both technical and organizational difficulties. In addition, there is a problem with the organization of access to personal data.

How can blockchain help in this situation? First off, it may be the organization of transparent mechanisms for accessing data from various systems. When organizing the correct system of access control of smart contracts, source data may be stored in local systems, and only the required parts may be transmitted, and all facts of access to information are recorded and managed according to the same rules.

And finally: BCT may become a mighty tool for self-organization of healthcare ecosystem. We see two factors pointing to this role of BCT.

Smart contract may follow the consensus of medical and civil communities as well as administrative regulations.

The BCT-based systems may be planted from small local systems to worldwide ones - like many other systems based on self-organization, Internet among them.

5. Conclusion

Blockchain is a new and rapidly changing technology. As any new and reasonable technology, it follows Gartner's hype cycle [7]. It starts at "Innovation trigger" (Blockchain 1.0), technology passes "Peak of inflated expectations" (Blockchain 2.0). Then it falls into the pit of "Trough of disillusionment" and then begin to climb up the "Slope of enlightenment" (Blockchain 3.0) to the "Plateau of productivity" – Blockchain 4.0, we hope. It seems that current days are optimal to start serious implementation of blockchain in healthcare.

- M. Hölbl, M. Kompara, A. Kamišalić and L.N. Zlatolas, A systematic review of the use of blockchain in healthcare, *Symmetry* 10 (10) (2018), 470. Available in: https://doi.org/10.3390/sym10100470.
- [2] How Blockchain Technology Could Disrupt Healthcare, CBInsights, https://www.cbinsights.com/reports/CB-Insights_How-Blockchain-Technology-Could-Disrupt-Healthcare.pdf
- [3] Blockchain, What is Blockchain Technology?, https://www.cbinsights.com/research/what-is-blockchaintechnology/
- [4] Bitcoin Whitepaper, Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System, https://bitcoin.org/bitcoin.pdf
- [5] Ethereum Whitepaper. https://whitepaperdatabase.com/ethereum-eth-whitepaper/
- [6] A.M. Antonopoulos, Mastering Bitcoin, https://bitcoinbook.info/
- [7] Gartner Hype Cycle. https://www.gartner.com/en/research/methodologies/gartner-hype-cycle

The National Star Model of Medical Informatics Education in Montenegro

Ramo ŠENDELJ^a and Ivana OGNJANOVIĆ^{a,1} ^a University of Donja Gorica, Montenegro

Abstract. Nowadays, medical informatics is unavoidable topic when talking about health innovations and modern practice. Education of professionals in medical informatics is a challenging issue since they need to be capable to respond to challenges of modern health care systems, heterogeneous health information systems with integrated devices and remote access/controls, rapid development of both technology and the character of applications, etc. However, variety of medical informatics educational programs are established all over the world, and there is no general approach that shall be followed and applied. This paper presents key findings and results of comprehensive review and analyses of well-known EU best practices in medical informatics education, on which bases innovative star model is created for educational system in medical informatics at national level.

Keywords. medical informatics, education, star model, national level.

1. Introduction

The healthcare industry is one of the sectors that has significantly revolutionized around the central core of information technology, in the last few decades [1]. In the middle of last century, the healthcare institutions used computers only for administrative and financial purpose, while today almost all healthcare actions are dependent on information technologies to provide efficient clinical treatments and improve the quality of healthcare services. Medical informatics becomes one of the rapidly growing areas in the field of healthcare sector, so special attention should be given to education of healthcare professionals, to be prepared for the new ICT environment [2]. Medical informatics professionals manage and use data for the purpose of improving patient care. They combine their knowledge of healthcare, information systems, cyber security, databases and big data to collect, store, manage and interpret the large amount of data generated through patient medical treatments. Medical informatics professionals are also responsible for ensuring security, integration, accuracy and accessibility of patient health information.

On the other side, even being a small country, Montenegro (ME) developed integral health care system (HIS) at national level in 2000 [3]. Integral HIS of Montenegro is a cornerstone IS that connects primary health care centres, hospitals, pharmacies, public health laboratories and all relevant healthcare institutions to facilitate the secure electronic exchange of clinical information [4]. HIS development started from the early 2000, with development of fundamental databases and codebooks, IS for pharmacies in

¹ Corresponding Author, Ivana Ognjanović, University of Donja Gorica, Oktoih 1, 81 000 Podgorica, Montenegro; E-mail: ivana.ognjanovic@udg.edu.me.

2004, HIS at primary health level in 2009, followed by HIS on secondary level of healthcare in 2010, and many other components developed continually till nowadays. Thus, medical informatics education can be considered as one of core drivers for effective use of data collected from health information system at national level, which can be further used for cost-efficient optimization, enhanced management and improved health care in general [5]. The paper is aimed to present methodological approach applied at educational system in Montenegro as well as key findings and results.

2. Methods

Methodological approach is carefully selected since the following facts characterize educational system and the needs for medical informatics education in Montenegro [6]: (i) due to small population, there are only 4 universities in Montenegro (1 state university- which is the largest one and 3 private universities), (ii) there is no educational program in medical informatics field in Montenegro, (iii) there is only one medical faculty (as a part of state university), while (iv) strategic documentation at national level clearly identifies the needs for modern health professionals capable to manage, use and understand data coming from health care information system. Therefore, proposed methodology consists of the following two major steps:

Step I- Reviewing and learning from highly experienced nations at EU and global level. Firstly, we are aimed to understand the heterogeneity of existing programs in medical informatics (ranging from BSc to PhD level), and identify their key characteristics, reported experience and results. However, even being so heterogeneous, all programs in medical informatics follow learning outcomes from Recommendations of the International Medical Informatics Association¹ (IMIA) on Education in Biomedical and Health Informatics that cover some aspects of the foundations of Big Data, which includes the following key three knowledge/skills domains: (1) Biomedical and Health Informatics Core Knowledge and Skills; (2) Medicine, Health and Biosciences, Health System Organization; (3) Informatics/Computer Science, Mathematics, Biometry.

On the other side, having in mind recent trends about data science applied in a specific subject domain of healthcare, there is a open debate about key skills needed to be gained by future biomedical and health informaticians working in analytics and Big Data. The following forth list of skills is set in [7] with opened question to the informatics community about further modifications and improvements: (1) *Programming* - especially with data-oriented tools; (2) *Statistics* - working knowledge to apply tools and techniques; (3) *Domain knowledge* - depending on one's area of work, bioscience or health care; (4) *Communication* - being able to understand needs of people and organizations and articulate results back to them.

Step II- Creation of appropriate model at national level. Based on existing experience in developing innovative programs with expected low number of enrolled students at national level, specific approaches are needed to be analysed [8] [9]. Suggested model is expected to use all available resources at national level already existing at 4 universities, and in the same time ensuring high quality of education, modern study programs which implements recent standards and international suggestions in the field.

3. Results

On the bases of conducted research on best EU and global practices and their cross matching with existing situation at national level in Montenegro with focus on one integral health information system (which integrates primary, secondary and tertiary health care), the national priorities in ICT development and health improvements (defined by relevant national bodies), innovative star model was created, consisting of the following core elements:

- i. The core point consists of joint support to (i) innovative methods of teaching and learning in the fields of public health implemented within *National Platform for education and research*, and (ii) support to life-long learning and specialized education/training implemented through *National Centre for Education in Public Health*. The Platform is developed in order to provide access to real data at national level and integrate evidence-based teaching and learning. The Centre is primarily established at University of Donja Gorica focused on the fields of medical informatics and economics, while The School for Public Health education is planned to be established at University of Montenegro, which will together represent national network of centres for education and training.
- ii. University of Montenegro as state university improved existing BSc programs in medicine and integrated new Module of Public Health at PhD level.
- iii. University of Donja Gorica with clear strategical focuses on the medical informatics and economics established new *Master study program in Health Information Management* and made improvements at existing curricula in the fields of economy and management, informatics and law.
- iv. Mediterranean University is oriented towards medical tourism, legal and business perspectives of health, and therefore created new courses which are integrated into existing study programs.
- v. Having in mind available human resources at each HEI in Montenegro, the nodes corresponding to each HEI are connected related to different levels in educational system.

The topology of presented model has the minimum number of intersection points, thus proving the effectiveness in using available resources and efficiency in delivery. However, the presented model is planned to be evaluated from different aspects, including teaching and learning methods, the programs' contents, as well as educational resources and graduates' perspectives and career developments.

4. Discussion

Creation of innovative star model was made based on careful analyses of existing situation at national level in Montenegro, as well as best practices and trends in education in different fields of public health. However, several prior steps are created in order to ensure support of key stakeholders at national level as well as to strengthen national posture in public health, through the following actions: (i) *capacity building trainings* for ME HEI staff members in multidisciplinary fields of public health, (ii) carefully selected *raising awareness campaigns* about health prevention and public health promotion for citizens, (iii) *promotional campaigns* of new/improved study programs

and opportunities for life-long education and specialized trainings. However, the preliminary impacts are expected to be measured after implementation of the first year of new Master study program and core elements of the National Platform and the National Centre and their comprehensive evaluations.

Acknowledgement

This research was supported by Erasmus+ project "Enhancement of study programs in Public Health Law, Health Management, Health Economics and Health Informatics in Montenegro (PH- ELIM)" funded by Education, Audio-visual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA) (Ref.No: 573997- EPP-1-2016-1-ME-EPPKA2-CBHE-JP).

- I. Ognjanović, R. Šendelj, P. Knaup, J. Mantas, R. Adany, E. Ammenwerth, G. Nikolić, A. Jakšić-Stojanović and D. Đurić, The Stratified Framework for Enhancement of Study Programs in Public Health in Montenegro, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 251 (2018), 301-304.
- [2] F. Morris, M. Collen and J. Ball, The History of Medical Informatics in USA, Springer, London, 2015.
- [3] B. Tošić, D. Đurić, R. Sekulić and J. Simićević, Cloud computing solutions for healthcare system in Montenegro: challenges and issues, in XXII International ICT Conference, Žabljak, Montenegro, 2017.
- [4] J. Mantas, E. Ammenwerth, G. Demiris, A. Hasman, R. Haux and W. Hersh, Recommendations of the International Medical Informatics Association (IMIA) on Education in Biomedical and Health Informatics, *Methods Inf Med* 49 (2) (2010), 105-120.
- [5] N. Stein, The Future of Population Health Management: Artificial Intelligence as a Cost-Effective Behavior Change and Chronic Disease Prevention and Management Solution, *MedCrave* (2017).
- [6] R. Nantschev, P. Knaup, J. Mantas, O. Varga, I. Ognjanović, R. Šendelj and E. Ammenwerth, International collaboration to advance teaching competencies of academic staff in Montenegro: A study on self-regulation, in *Poster at Medical Informatics Europe (MIE 2018)*, Gotheburg, 2018.
- [7] P. Otero, W. Hersh and A.U. Jai Ganesh, Big Data: Are Biomedical and Health Informatics Training Programs Ready?, *Yearb Med Inform* 9 (1) (2014), 177-181.
- [8] R. Šendelj, I. Ognjanović and L. Kartasidou, The National Star Model of Accessibility Support Center for University Students with Disabilities in Montenegro, in *The 16th International Conference on Education and new Learning Technologies (EDULEARN14)*, Barcelona, Spain, 2014.
- [9] R. Šendelj and I. Ognjanović, Cyber Security Education in Montenegro: current trends, challenges and open perspectives, in *The 7th annual International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies (EDULEARN15)*, Barcelona, Spain, 2015.

Using Microbiological Data Analysis to Tackle Antibiotic Resistance of Klebsiella Pneumoniae

 Georgios FERETZAKIS^{a,b,f,1}, Evangelos LOUPELIS^b, Stavroula PETROPOULOU^b, Constantinos CHRISTOPOULOS^c, Malvina LADA^c, Maria MARTSOUKOU^d, Nikoleta SKARMOUTSOU^d, Katerina SAKAGIANNI^e, Sophia MICHELIDOU^e, Katerina VELENTZA^d, Konstantinos VALAKIS^e and Emmanouil KOUTALAS^g
 ^a School of Science and Technology, Hellenic Open University, Patras, Greece
 ^b Sismanogleio General Hospital, IT department, Marousi, Greece
 ^c Sismanogleio General Hospital, Internal Medicine Departments, Marousi, Greece
 ^e Sismanogleio General Hospital, Microbiology Laboratory, Marousi, Greece
 ^e Sismanogleio General Hospital, Intensive Care Unit, Marousi, Greece
 ^f Sismanogleio General Hospital, Department of Quality Control, Research and Continuing Education, Marousi, Greece
 ^g Sismanogleio General Hospital, Administration, Marousi, Greece

Abstract. Optimal antibiotic use for the treatment of nosocomial infections plays a central role in the effort to control the rapidly increasing prevalence of multidrug-resistant bacteria. Antibiotic selection should be based on accurate knowledge of local susceptibility rates. Traditional methods of resistance reporting, which are in routine use by microbiology laboratories could be enhanced by using statistically significant results. We present a method of reporting based on antibiotic susceptibility data analysis which offers an accurate tool that reduces clinician uncertainty and enables optimization of the antibiotic selection process.

Keywords. Antibiotic resistance; K. pneumoniae; Microbiological data analysis; antibiotic susceptibility; Multidrug resistance

1. Introduction and background

The rapidly growing incidence of antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections constitutes a global threat resulting in serious public health and economic consequences [1]. A recently published ECDC study estimates that about 33.000 people are losing their lives each year as a direct result of such infections [2]. Health-care associated infections, especially those caused by Gram-negative bacteria like *P. aeruginosa*, *A. baumannii* and *K. pneumoniae* account for the major burden of these multidrug-resistant (MDR) infections, while last-line treatments, as carbapenems and colistin become increasingly ineffective, limiting the available therapeutic options [3]. Overuse and misuse of antibiotics play an important role in the development of bacterial resistance. This has led to the introduction of antimicrobial stewardship programs aiming to optimize the

¹ Corresponding Author, Georgios Feretzakis; E-mail: georgios.feretzakis@ac.eap.gr.

appropriate use of currently available antibiotics to improve therapeutic results for Gramnegative MDR infections, reduce antimicrobial resistance and decrease hospital costs [4].

K. pneumoniae is a frequent culprit in nosocomial infections. According to the annual report of the European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Network for 2017, Greece has the highest percentage of resistance to carbapenems and fluoroquinolones for *K. pneumoniae* among all European countries [5]. Hospital physicians are often called to administer antibiotics empirically in cases of suspected *K. pneumoniae* infection or while the results of antibiotic susceptibility testing of *K. pneumoniae* isolates are pending. It is therefore essential to ensure that antibiotic selection is based on knowledge of accurate local epidemiological data regarding bacterial resistance. Using information technology to improve surveillance of antimicrobial resistance is a promising tool for clinical use [6]. The aim of the present study was to perform antibiotic susceptibility data analysis by using a database management system (DBMS) and a software package used for the analysis of statistical data. These results could enable hospital internists to optimize treatment of *K. pneumoniae* infections.

2. Methods and Materials

This is a longitudinal surveillance study conducted in inpatients of two General Internal Medicine departments of a public tertiary care hospital in Greece.

During a two-year period (1/2017-12/2018) a total of 297 clinical samples from 1.324 inpatients with suspected infections were processed by the Microbiology Laboratory according to established protocols [7,8,9]. Blood cultures were incubated in BacT/Alert system (bioMerieux). Isolation and identification of pathogens were carried out according to classical microbiological procedures [10].

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing was performed by the MicroScan system (Siemens), according to CLSI guidelines [11,12] and the results were confirmed, when necessary, using a gradient minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) determining method following the manufacturer's guidelines. MIC's of colistin were retested via microtiter plates. Sensitivity and resistance breakpoints for the antibiotics were determined according to CLSI interpretive criteria [11,12]. *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 strain and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 were used as quality control strains for susceptibility testing.

The resistance for *K. pneumoniae* was measured based on the following 21 antibiotics: Amikacin, Amoxicillin / clavulanic acid, Ampicillin / sulbactam, Cefepime, Cefotaxime, Cefoxitin, Ceftazidime, Cefuroxime, Ciprofloxacin, Colistin, Ertapenem, Gentamicin, Imipenem, Levofloxacin, Meropenem, Nitrofurantoin, Norfloxacin, Piperacillin / tazobactam, Tetracycline, Tobramycin, Trimethoprim /sulfamethoxazole. The overall two-year and semester resistance rates of *K. pneumoniae* clinical isolates against individual antimicrobial agents were analyzed. Firstly, the raw data of the Microbiology laboratory was processed by a DBMS software (MS Access) in order to apply all the necessary microbiology rules by running multiple queries (e.g., avoid counting duplicates results from the same patient in a certain period). Secondly, a statistical analysis was performed with IBM SPSS Statistics version 24.0 [13]. The differences between means regarding the resistance to individual antibiotics were determined by Univariate Analysis of Variance and Tukey's multiple range tests. A significance level of 0.05 was used.

3. Results

We analyzed antibiotic resistance rates based on 4.811 tests of *K. pneumonia*e against routinely tested individual antimicrobial agents. The relevant data were analyzed by the two years (2017-2018). The mean differences regarding the resistance of *K. pneumoniae* between individual antibiotics were determined by Univariate Analysis of Variance and Tukey's multiple range tests. The test results were summarized in the form of a two-way table for clinician use, a part of which is shown below (Table 1). Since the size of the full two-way table is too large to fit into one page, only seven antibiotics are presented. For example, the resistance rate of *K.pneumoniae* isolates averaged 20,6 percentage units more (P < 0.05) in Ceftazidime than in Amikacin. The reader can find the full table on the hospital's website [14].

	Amikacin	Amp/sulb	Ceft/ime	Colistin	Gent/cin	Mer/nem	Tetr/cline
Amikacin	0,0%	-36,2%*	-20,6%*	20,7%*	-3,2%	-7,5%	-1,7%
Amp/sulb	36,2%*	0,0%	15,6%*	56,8%*	33,0%*	$28,7\%^{*}$	34,5%*
Ceftazidime	20,6%*	-15,6%*	0,0%	41,3%*	17,4%*	13,1%	18,9%*
Colistin	-20,7%*	-56,9%*	-41,3%*	0,0%	-23,9%*	-28,2%*	-22,4%*
Gentamicin	3,2%	-33,0%*	-17,4%*	23,9%*	0,0%	-4,3%	1,5%
Meropenem	7,5%	-28,7%*	-13,1%	28,1%*	4,3%	0,0%	5,8%
Tetracycline	1,7%	-34,5%*	-18,9%*	22,4%*	-1,5%	-5,8%	0,0%

Table 1. K.pneumoniae resistance differences. Partial table of seven representative antibiotics.

*. The mean difference is significant at the 0,05 level.

4. Discussion

In an era of rapidly increasing microbial resistance, knowledge of local susceptibility patterns is mandatory for antibiotic selection for treatment of *K. pneumoniae* infections. As a general principle, drugs with high intrinsic activity against the bacterium are used in order of decreasing resistance, to prevent the emergence of strains resistant to the more potent antibiotics. Traditionally, to inform clinicians' decisions, hospital microbiology laboratories have issued regular (e.g., six-monthly) tables of mean antibiotic resistance rates for the common nosocomial pathogens, based on the total number of isolates from the entire inpatient population of the hospital. This method of reporting could be improved in the following two directions: Firstly, to account for significant differences in bacterial resistance that exist even between departments of the same hospital (article in review process). Secondly, to inform the clinician whether the reported differences between individual antibiotics are statistically significant. However, one limitation of our approach is that all resistant rates in our study refer to single antibiotics. We examined all the isolates versus all the antibiotics independently and not on an MDR basis which could be the subject of future studies.

In the present work, we have tried to reduce clinician uncertainty regarding optimal antibiotic selection for the treatment of nosocomial infections. We have used K. *pneumoniae* infection as an example, but the method can be applied to all common pathogens. Our data are consistent with the reportedly high rates of antibiotic-resistant

K. pneumoniae strains in Greek hospitals [15]. The results of antibiotic susceptibility data analysis are presented in an easy to understand two-way table format. They are department-specific and statistically significant values are clearly indicated. This method of reporting promotes accuracy medicine and supports antibiotic stewardship programs.

5. Conclusion

Our methodology enables the clinician to select the most appropriate antibiotic, based on statistically significant sensitivity results which are specific for his own department. These results could be embedded in a user-friendly software application where each doctor can be informed directly for each antibiotic's resistance versus all other available antibiotics regarding a certain microbe without the need to study intricate statistical tables. The longer-term goal is to have it operate as a standard data engineering service to accommodate clinicians' requests about antimicrobial resistance (AMR) conditions of their departments.

- S. Gandra, D.M. Barter and R. Laxminarayan, Economic burden of antibiotic resistance: how much do we really know?, *Clin Microbiol Infect* 20 (2014), 973–979.
- [2] A. Cassini, L.D. Högberg, D. Plachouras, A. Quattrocchi, A. Hoxha, G.S. Simonsen, M. Colomb-Cotinat, M.E. Kretzschmar, B. Devleesschauwer, M. Cecchini, D.A. Ouakrim, T.C. Oliveira, M.J. Struelens and D.L. Monnet, Burden of AMR Collaborative Group Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modeling analysis, *Lancet Infect Dis.* **19** (1) (2019), 56-66.
- [3] A. Potron, L. Poirel and P. Nordmann, Emerging broad-spectrum resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Acinetobacter baumannii: Mechanisms and epidemiology, *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 45 (6) (2015), 568-585.
- [4] C.-E. Luyt, N. Bréchot, J.-L. Trouillet and J. Chastre, Antibiotic stewardship in the intensive care unit, *Critical Care* 18 (2014).
- [5] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in Europe Annual report of the European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Network, 2017.
- [6] S. Vong, A. Anciaux, A. Hulth, J. Stelling, V. Thamlikitkul, S. Gupta, J.M. Fuks, K. Walia, P. Rattanumpawan, S. Eremin, K. Tisocki, T.R. Sedai and A. Sharma, Using information technology to improve surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in South East Asia, *BMJ* (2017).
- [7] A. Balows, W.J. Hausler Jr., K.L. Herrmann, H.D. Isenberg and H.J. Shadomy, Manual of Clinical Microbiology, *Revista Do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo* 33 (1991), 434.
- [8] H.D. Isenberg, Clinical microbiology procedures handbook 3 volume set (2004).
- [9] P.R. Murray, E.J. Baron, J.H. Jorgensen, M.A. Pfaller and R.H. Yolken, Manual of Clinical Microbiology, 8th Edition, 2003.
- [10] J.H. Jorgensen, M.A. Pfaller, K.C. Carroll, G. Funke, M.L. Landry, S.S. Richter and D.W. Warnock, Manual of Clinical Microbiology, 11th Edition, 2015.
- [11] Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 26th edition, CLSI, 2016.
- [12] Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 27th edition, CLSI, 2017.
- [13] IBM Corp., IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, IBM Corp., NY. Released in 2016.
- [14] http://www.sismanoglio.gr/BIOPATHOLOGIKO/RESEARCH/Resistance_differences_table.png
- [15] I. Galani, I. Karaiskos, I. Karantani, V. Papoutsaki, S. Maraki, V. Papaioannou, P. Kazila, H. Tsorlini, N. Charalampaki, M. Toutouza, H. Vagiakou, K. Pappas, A. Kyratsa, K. Kontopoulou, O. Legga, E. Petinaki, H. Papadogeorgaki, E. Chinou, M. Souli and H. Giamarellou, Epidemiology and resistance phenotypes of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae in Greece, 2014 to 2016, *Eurosurveillance* 23 (2018).

Analysis of Usage of Indicators by Leveraging Health Data Warehouses: A Literature Review

Milka B. GESICHO^{a,b,1} and Ankica BABIC^{a,c}

^aDepartment of Information Science and Media Studies, University of Bergen, Norway ^bInstitute of Biomedical Informatics, Moi University, Kenya ^cDepartment of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. The very act of using indicators by converting the raw data collected to information for purposes such as monitoring, evaluation, decision-making and management make indicators essential tools for health care services and health systems. In addition, Health Data Warehouses (HDWs) play an important role in development, and use of indicators in healthcare. Despite the numerous studies revolving around use of indicators in health care, analysis of usage of indicators by various studies in healthcare, which have leveraged HDWs are limited. To bridge this gap, we conducted a literature review to provide an analysis of usage of clinical indicators, and health indicators by various studies, which leverage HDWs in their development or use. We further discuss the benefits, and challenges of indicator use faced in these studies. As a result of the analysis, this paper thus aims to promote leveraging HDWs in development, and use of indicators for decision-making, and monitoring and evaluation efforts in health care.

Keywords. Health indicators, clinical indicators, health data warehouses

1. Introduction

Indicators are salient in healthcare for purposes such as measuring performance of various aspects within healthcare[1]. These aspects can also be measured within a population over a specific geographical region, and period of time. The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations define indicators as "a measurement tool used to monitor and evaluate the quality of important governance, management, clinical, and support functions"[2]. As such, the indicator industry in healthcare is increasing rapidly, and so are improvements in their development since the 18th century[1]. Use of indicators implemented within Health Data Warehouses (HDWs), promote improved decision-making, business processes as well as discovery of new treatments, and safety of care and of patients[3]. There exists numerous publications on indicators in healthcare. Nevertheless, analysis of development and usage of indicators in healthcare by various studies, which have leveraged the importance of HDWs are limited. To bridge the gap, we conducted a literature review and present usage of Clinical

¹ Corresponding Author, Milka Gesicho; E-mail: milcagesicho@gmail.com.

Indicators (CI)², and Health Indicators (HI)³ in contexts where HDWs have been utilized. We further discuss the benefits, and challenges in their use as per the literature. This review is not exhaustive of all existing studies, but only a sub-set of those available, and that fit the inclusion criteria of the literature review that we have conducted. Hence, the aim of this analysis is to explore the importance of indicators in healthcare, and whether utilization of HDWs are essential in their development, and use.

2. Method

The literature review search was conducted in February and March of 2019. It included published work from the year 2014 to 2018, to focus on the latest development. The databases used include PubMed, Google Scholar, and BioMed Central. Search words used were limited to the phrases "clinical indicators", and "health indicators", combined with "data warehouse". The inclusion criteria for selection included empirical studies that explicitly reveal the CI, and HI used, and demonstrated utilizing HDWs in their development, or usage. Studies that did not explicitly reveal indicators used, and neither utilized HDWs were excluded from this study. From the articles, we extracted the CI and HI, their usage, and attempted to identify the main benefits and challenges.

3. Results

A total of 761 articles where retrieved. Using the combination "clinical indicator" and "data warehouse", 157 results were retrieved from Google Scholar, 36 from PubMed and 3 from BioMed Central. Using the combination "health indicator" and "data warehouse", 497 results were retrieved from Google Scholar, 65 from PubMed and 3 from BioMed Central. Articles considered as duplicate were excluded. Irrelevant articles were also excluded based on their titles and abstracts. 20 articles were selected, which fit the inclusion. 14 of the articles are represented in Table 1.

Indicators	Area	Usage	Data Source
CI	Head and	-To determine overall survival for	Medical University of South
examples:	Neck Cancer	patients[8],	Carolina Clinical Data
-proportion	[8], Maternity	-To measure quality of health services and	Warehouse
of	Care[4],Blood	to support decision-making[4,7]	(DW)[8],Developed
caesarian	Transfusion[5]	-To provide insights on clinically	Gynecology, and Obstetrics
section	, Clinical	unwarranted blood transfusion[5]	DW[4],
deliveries	pathway[6],	-To identify useful trends for	Loma Linda University
[4]	Patient safety	improvement of clinical	Health System DW[5]
-evidence	and quality of	activities[6]	University of Miyazaki
of severe	care[7] Lung	-To identify treatment patterns and	Hospital DW[6], Developed
bleeding	Cancer[9]	resource utilization[9]	DW-based CI monitoring
[5]	Cardiovascular	-To determine association between	system[7]
-length of	disease(CVD)	MOVE program and reduction of CVD	Vector Oncology DW[9]
stay [6]	[10] Breast	incidences [10]	Veteran Health
	Cancer[11]		administrative

Table 1. Summary of usage of indicators and leveraging HDW in different areas within health care.

² A clinical indicator has been defined as "a variable that measures clinical activities or medicine-related activities and describes the performance of a specific health care process and respective results "[4].

³ Health indicators are used to ensure that overall population health goals are met such as, improving health of a population, and reducing health inequalities[19].

-total referral response time [7]		-To develop an informatics algorithm for detection of breast cancer recurrence and timing[11]	DW[10],Cancer Research Network Virtual DW[11]
HI	Data Use[12],	-To monitor facility, and program	DW (District Health
examples:	Invasive	performance, decision-making[12],To	Information Software) [12],
-Aggregate	fungal	describe the epidemiology and clinical	Intermountain Health
HI [12]	infection	characteristics of IFI[14], To investigate	Enterprise DW)[14]
-	(IFI)[14]	differences in health problems between	Developed health DW[15]
Chlamydia	Occupational	sectors, To measure percentage of	National Health Laboratory
infection	Health Safety	recovery and treated patients, To	Service Corporate DW [16],
rate, [13]	[15]	determine the effect of result based	National Health DW[17],
	HIV[16],Mate	financing strategy	Health Indicator DW[13],
	rnal and Child	-To measure association of racial	
	Health[17]	residential segregation with county rates	
	Chlamydia[13]	of chlamydia [13]	

4. Discussion

We have looked at the development, and use of indicators depending on the needs of the end users, who include but not limited to researchers, doctors, and policy makers. Besides the technical staff, these end users are usually involved in the development of the indicators[7]. Technical details such as data structure or integration of data across the different information systems and organizations, which can all influence the design and utilization of the data resources, were not part of this study. Table 1. Illustrates the variety of medical specialties and indicators currently used. The CIs fall under different classifications according to Mainz [18], which explains the diversity in usage. The diversity in usage of HI is explained in [19], thus HI enable statistical comparability within the population and healthcare systems. The benefits of the indicators presented include but are not limited to identifying gaps, and causal factors, improving patient care and treatment, improve decision-making, and improving monitoring, and evaluation (M&E). In addition, studies that leverage HDW in Low-and Middle-Income- Countries (LMICs), seem to use more of HI with DHIS2 as the common HDWs for HI[3,12]. As such, studies in LMICs that leverage HDWs in development and use of CI are limited.

Nevertheless, indicator development process has been depicted as labor intensive especially when indicators are collected and produced manually[4,7]. As such, use of HDWs promotes systematic, and continuous monitoring of care and of patient, access to wide range of automated indicators, efficiency in decision-making, and tools for data analysis[7,12]. Still, robustness in analysis of indicators was hindered in most cases by issues such as insufficient timely flow of data, and absence of needed data[4], [6-7], [10]. Inaccuracy of indicator data collected was also reported[17]. To reap benefits of both indicators, and HDWs, evaluations such as for data quality, data collection requirements, and system quality need to be conducted. Limitations of this review are that studies that implicitly used CI or HI were not included hence not analyzed, so as to avoid making assumptions of use of the mentioned indicators.

5. Conclusion

Utilizing HDWs in developing, and use of indicators enable end users such as health care managers, and researchers to access and analyze the data, and enables efficiency in

monitoring and evaluation of hundreds of indicators[3,7]. Advantages of utilizing HDWs in developing, and use of indicators seem to outweigh the efforts related to creating the indicators.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by the NORHED program (Norad: Project QZA-0484). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not represent the official views of the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation.

- N. Klazinga, K. Stronks, D. Delnoij and A. Verhoeff, Indicators without a cause. Reflections on the development and use of indicators in health care from a public health perspective, *International Journal for Quality in Health Care* 13 (6) (2001), 433–438.
- [2] Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, Primer on indicator development and application: measuring quality in health care, Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, 1990.
- [3] J. Karuri, P. Waiganjo, D. Orwa and A. Manya, DHIS2: The Tool to Improve Health Data Demand and Use in Kenya, *Journal of Health Informatics in Developing Countries* 8 (2014), 38–60.
- [4] P. Loreto, F. Fonseca, A. Morais, H. Peixoto, A. Abelha and J. Machado, Improving Maternity Care with Business Intelligence, in 2017 5th International Conference on Future Internet of Things and Cloud Workshops (FiCloudW) (2017), 170–177.
- [5] J.P. McGlothlin, E. Crawford, H. Srinivasan, C. Cianci, B. Bruneau and I. Dorotta, Reducing Red Blood Cell Transfusions, Springer, Cham, 2017, 120–133.
- [6] H. Furuhata, K. Araki, T. Ogawa and M. Ikeda, Effect on Completion of Clinical Pathway for Improving Clinical Indicator: Cases of Hospital Stay, Mortality Rate, and Comprehensive-Volume Ratio, J. Med. Syst 41 (2017), 1-8.
- [7] S. Yoo et al., Electronically implemented clinical indicators based on a data warehouse in a tertiary hospital: Its clinical benefit and effectiveness, *Int. J. Med. Inform* 83 (2014), 507–516.
- [8] S. Rachidi, K. Wallace, J.M. Wrangle, T.A. Day, A.J. Alberg and Z. Li, Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and overall survival in all sites of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, *Head and Neck* 38 (2016), 1068–1074.
- [9] P.O. Buck, K.R. Saverno, P.J.E. Miller, B. Arondekar and M.S. Walker, Treatment Patterns and Health Resource Utilization Among Patients Diagnosed with Early Stage Resected Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer at US Community Oncology Practices, *Clin. Lung Cancer* 16 (2015), 486–495.
- [10] S.L. Jackson et al., Reduced Cardiovascular Disease Incidence with a National Lifestyle Change Program, Am. J. Prev. Med 52 (2017), 459–468.
- [11] D.P. Ritzwoller et al., Development, Validation, and Dissemination of a Breast Cancer Recurrence Detection and Timing Informatics Algorithm, JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst 110 (2018), 273–281.
- [12] S. Saito et al., Monitoring quality at scale: implementing quality assurance in a diverse, multicountry HIV program, AIDS 29 (2015), 129-136.
- [13] L. Henderson, Racial Isolation and Chlamydia Rates in US Counties, Race Soc. Probl 7 (2015), 111–122.
- [14] B.J. Webb, J.P. Ferraro, S. Rea, S. Kaufusi, B.E. Goodman and J. Spalding, Epidemiology and Clinical Features of Invasive Fungal Infection in a US Health Care Network, *Open Forum Infect. Dis* 5 (2018).
- [15] L. Godderis et al., Data warehouse for detection of occupational diseases in OHS data, Occup. Med. (Chic. Ill) 65 (2015), 651–658.
- [16] L.M. Coetzee, N. Cassim and D.K. Glencross, Analysis of HIV disease burden by calculating the percentages of patients with CD4 counts, *South African Med. J* 107 (2017), 507–513.
- [17] Z.R. Zizien, C. Korachais, P. Compaoré, V. Ridde and V. De Brouwere, Contribution of the results-based financing strategy to improving maternal and child health indicators in Burkina Faso, *Int. J. Health Plann. Manage* 34 (2019), 111–129.
- [18] J. Mainz, Defining and classifying clinical indicators for quality improvement, Int. J. Qual. Heal. Care 15 (2003), 523–530.
- [19] V. Etches, J. Frank, E.Di Ruggiero and D. Manuel, MEASURING POPULATION HEALTH: A Review of Indicators, *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 27 (2006), 29–55.

Evaluating the Health Status of Injured People due to Road Accidents

Adriana MANGITA^a and Marianna DIOMIDOUS^{a,1} ^a Department of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Abstract. Road accidents are one of the major causes of loss of life, injuries and damage of property. The aim of this paper is to assess the overall health status (physical and psychological) of road accident victims and to propose a Health IT system to managing the assessment procedure. A prospective observational study was conducted among 474 people attended to the emergency department, after a road accident. 30% of the participants were 18-28 years old. After the road accident, most patients (67.1%) did not develop depression and 3 and 6 months after the accident, depression levels were higher. In contrast, the patients' QoL showed improvement over time. As road accidents seems to be a high risk incidents that can affect the health status of people, an Health IT system is suggested to contribute on the management of the assessment of the patients' health status.

Keywords. Road Accidents, health status

1. Introduction

One of the major causes of loss of life, injuries and damage of property are the road accidents. Road accidents are one of the most important emerging in our time and have therefore attracted a strong scientific interest according to the causes and for their impact on individuals and the society [1-4]. The aim of this paper is to assess the overall health status (physical and psychological) of road accident victims in Greece in different time periods and to propose a Health IT system to managing the assessment procedure.

2. Methods

A prospective observational study was conducted, comparing results 3 and 6 months after initial measurements (time 0). In this study, 474 people attended to the emergency department of three general hospitals in Attica, Greece, after a road accident from November 2016 to March 2018. For the assessment of depression, the Greek version of the "Beck Depression Inventory II" (BDI-II) was used and the "ADDQoL" questionnaire for the quality of life (QoL) assessment [5-7]. The statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 22.0 and statistical significance level was set at p<0.05.

¹ Corresponding Author, Marianna Diomidous, Associate Professor of Epidemiology, Papadiamantopoulou Street 123, 11527 Athens, Greece; E-mail: mdiomidi@nurs.uoa.gr.

3. Results

The majority of the participants in the study were women (57.6%), while 30% of the participants were 18-28 years of age. Immediately after the road accident, most patients (67.1%) did not develop depression and 3 and 6 months after the accident, depression levels were higher. The mean score of BDI-II was higher at 3 and 6 months after the accident (14.51 and 13.82, respectively) versus 11.93 at time 0 (p<0.002 and p=0.005, respectively). In contrast, the QoL of patients showed improvement over time (3 and 6 months). In particular, for general OoL and for unweighted QoL in the absence of the accident, the mean value of ADDQoL decreased over time (p<0.05 in all cases). A decrease was also observed for the weighted QoL, without statistical significance. Additionally, gender, age and family, occupational and economic status of the patients were related to the levels of depression and QoL (p <0.05) [7,8].

4. Conclusions

According to the results of this study, most injured individuals after a road accident did not develop depression, while 3 and 6 months after the accident, the levels of depression were clearly higher, indicating a burden on their psycho-emotional status over time. In contrast, QoL of patients have been significantly improved over time as a result of a significant adaption of the injured people to the consequences of the accident. As road accidents seems to be a high risk incidents that can affect the health status of people [9], an Health IT system is suggested to contribute on the management of the assessment of the patients' health status.

- [1] J.J. Arnett, Developmental sources of crash risk in young drivers, Injury Preventive 8 (II) (2002), ii17-ii23.
- [2] ATSB, Road deaths Australia 2004 Statistical summary, Canberra, Australian Transport Safety Bureau, 2004.
- [3] K.H. Beck, J.L. Hartos and B.G. Simons-Morton, Parent-teen disagreement of parent-imposed restrictions on teen driving after one month of licensure: is discordance related to risky teen driving? *Preventive Science* 6 (2005), 177-185.
- [4] D.J. Begg and J.D. Langley, Seat belt use and related behaviors among young adults, *Journal of Safety Research* 31 (2000), 211-220.
- [5] L.H. Chen, S.P. Baker, E.R. Braver and G. Li, Carrying passengers as a risk factor for crashes fatal to 16and 17-year-old drivers, *Journal of American Medicine Association* 283 (2000), 1578-1582.
- [6] D.D. Clarke, P. Ward and W. Truman, Voluntary risk taking and skill deficits in young driver accidents in the UK, Accident Analysis and Prevention 37 (2005), 523-529.
- [7] E. Constantinou, G. Panayiotou, N. Konstantinou, A. Loutsiou-Ladd and A. Kapardis, Risky and aggressive driving in young adults: personality matters, *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 43 (2011) 1323-1331.
- [8] E.R. Dahlen, R.C. Martin, K. Ragan and M.K. Kuhlman, Driving anger, sensation seeking, impulsiveness, and boredom proneness in the prediction of unsafe driving, *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 37 (2005), 341-348.
- [9] DITRDLG, Road Deaths Australia 2009 Statistical Summary, Canberra, Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government, 2010.

Ontologic Model of Diagnostics and Treatment of Gastrointestinal Bleedings of Unknown Origin

Anna BUDYKINA^{a,1}, Svetlana RAUZINA^a, Alexander BOGDANOV^a and Tatiana ZARUBINA^a ^a N.I. Pirogov Russia National Research Medical University, Moscow

Abstract. The article presents the semantic model of diagnostics and treatment of patients with gastrointestinal bleedings when the reasons of bleeding cannot be establihed by means of a laboratory tests, endoscopy and colonoscopy.

Keywords. clinical decision support systems, CDSS, ontology, database management system, DBMS, clinical guidelines, gastrointestinal bleeding, GI bleeding, small-bowel bleeding, SBB.

1. Relevance

In the International classification of diseases of the tenth revision K92.2 code («Gastrointestinal hemorrhage, unspecified») used in coding the diagnostics in case when an origin of hemorrhage has not revealed after carrying out an endoscopy and a colonoscopy [1]. According to literature [2] 5% of all unspecified GI hemorrhage, usually localized in the small intestine. In most cases, they have recurrent nature. The complexity of diagnostics and treatment diseases in the small intestine is caused by lacking specific symptomatology, anatomical features of human body, availability of GI hemorrhage diagnostic method in the medical organization [3].

The first development of automated clinical decision support systems (CDSS) was started in 1970s. The need of the development such systems relate to complexity of diagnostics and treatment of diseases of a small bowel, which may be complicated by GI hemorrhage. These systems can support the doctor in the diagnostics and treatment of patients with gastrointestinal hemorrhage. Also, these systems can countervail the absence of narrowly targeted specialists in a medical organization.

There are many possible approaches to creation of CDSS. In particular, the approach based on the use of the formalized knowledge of subject domain is known [4].

In this research was set the following goal. Based on it was formulated the tasks.

¹ Corresponding Author, Anna Budykina, N.I. Pirogov Russia National Research Medical University, Moscow; E-mail: budykina.rsmu@yandex.ru.

2. The aim

The goal is to structure and formalize of knowledge in diagnostics and treatment of patients with the gastrointestinal (GI) hemorrhage.

3. Main tasks are to

- 1. Create the nomenclature of concepts of subject domain.
- 2. Develop architecture of the knowledge base of subject domain.
- 3. Fill the knowledge base with the allocated concepts according to the developed architecture.

4. Materials and methods

Domestic and foreign clinical recommendations about diagnostics and treatment of patients with gastrointestinal, small-bowel bleeding (SBB) were used as sources of knowledge [5]. The development and the filling of the nomenclature were carried out in the Excel MS program. For forming the knowledge base was used the open source graph database Neo4j with web-editor.

5. Results

From domestic and foreign clinical recommendations and other scientific literature [5] that contains considered subject was extracted domain concepts and their synonyms. They became a basis for creation the knowledge base of diagnostics and treatment of GI hemorrhage with unknown origin. The concept means the set of properties which all together are sufficient, and each is necessary to extract this class of objects from others [6]. In order to maintain the sense of the concepts not only linguistic synonyms (e. g. «small blood» and «anemia»), but also the standard options of writing of concepts, (e. g. «small-bowel bleeding» and «SBB») [7].

The logical data model contains types of links between concepts. It's provided by dividing all concepts into two groups: properties and actions. First group is a patient condition characteristic (symptoms, syndromes, etc.), second – different diagnostics and treatment methods. For example, the concept «laparotomy» is carried to group of actions, and the concept «angioectasia» – to group of property. Besides, the last has two synonyms – «vascular malformation» and «angiodysplasia».

For simplification the decision-making process was created a links between properties and actions and named as «physical link», «logical link», «synonym link» and «information link».

Physical links provide the pathway in ontology for decision support system. Logical links provide main logic of the rules interpreter which form the basis of CDSS on diagnostics and treatment of patients with GI hemorrhage.



Figure 1. Architecture of ontology.

Figure 1 presents the architecture of the ontology. The main components of architecture are properties, actions and links between them and also the block bearing additional reference information about components.

According to architecture, knowledge base filling was based on the concepts taken from literature [5].



Figure 2. Knowledge base fragment.

On Figure 2 is demonstrated the fragment of the knowledge database, developed in the Neo4j editor. «Clinical Blood Analysis» known as a synonym of «CBA», belongs to the action group. A doctor, suspecting anemia a patient, directs him to CBA in which there is a laboratory test on determination of the level of hemoglobin. Therefore «Clinical Blood Analysis» is connected with concepts from the property group – «Anemia» and «Hemoglobin». The information on possible degrees of anemia is stored in anemias

attributes in the knowledge base. The physical bonds prompting what diagnostic or medical manipulation are in the opposite direction created. It is necessary to carry out to receive the additional information about the patient.

6. Conclusions

- 1. With the using of literature was created the nomenclature of concepts in diagnostics and treatment of gastrointestinal hemorrhage with unknown origin.
- 2. Based on the nomenclature of concepts and the selected links between them was developed the architecture of database for ontology.
- 3. Was created a knowledge base of gastrointestinal hemorrhage with unknown origin for further use in clinical decision support systems (CDSS).

- [1] Yu.V. Stepanov, V.I. Zalevsky and A.V. Kosinsky, Gastrointestinal bleedings, 2011.
- [2] J. Pastor and S. Adámek, RozhlChir. Obscure gastrointestinal bleeding 92 (8) (2013), 424-428. Czech.
- [3] L.V. Domarev, Capsular endoscopy in diagnostics of diseases of a small intestine, federal state institution Institute of Surgery A.V. Vishnevsky, 2007.
- [4] T.V. Zarubina and B.A. Kobrinsky, Medical informatics / Textbook M, GEOTAR-media, 2016, 512.
- [5] The guide to emergency medical service at gastrointestinal bleeding, the Russian Ministry of Health, 2014.
- [6] E.V. Stozhok, Concept, semantics and meaning, ONV [Internet] 95 (2011) [cited 2019 Mar 1]. Available from: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/termin-ponyatie-i-znachenie. [In Russian]
- [7] K.V. Kiselev, A.V. Potekhina, M.K. Osyaeva, E.A. Noeva, O.N. Vyborov, A.V. Zorin, S.L. Shvyrev, T.V. Martynyuk, T.V. Zarubina and I.Ye. Chazova, Development of concepts nomenclature for clinical decision support system in diagnostics of angina pectoris, *Eurasian cardiological journal* 3 (2018), 20-24.

An Information Extraction Algorithm for Detecting Adverse Events in Neurosurgery Using Documents Written in a Natural Rich-in-Morphology Language

Gleb DANILOV^{a,1}, Michael SHIFRIN^a, Uliya STRUNINA^a, Tatyana PRONKINA^a and Alexander POTAPOV^a

^aNational Medical Research Center for Neurosurgery named after N.N. Burdenko, Moscow, Russian Federation

Abstract. Rich-in-morphology language, such as Russian, present a challenge for extraction of professional medical information. In this paper, we report on our solution to identify adverse events (complications) in neurosurgery based on natural language processing and professional medical judgment. The algorithm we proposed is easily implemented and feasible in a broad spectrum of clinical studies.

Keywords. Electronic Health Records, Neurosurgery, Natural Language Processing, Adverse Events

1. Introduction

Electronic Health Records (EHR) contain a lot of unstructured data significantly challenging for certain information extraction. The processing of medical records may potentially be enhanced using computer automation. However, this task is more difficult when processing rich-in-morphology language, such as Russian. The identification and classification of postoperative complications in neurosurgery is a topical non-resolved issue that may take advantage of text mining[1]–[3]. In this paper, we report on our solution to identify adverse events (complications) in neurosurgery based on natural language processing and professional medical judgment.

2. Methods

N.N. Burdenko National Medical Research Center for Neurosurgery is one of the largest neurosurgical facilities in the world with the electronic database containing data in structured and unstructured formats [4]. In our research the text data from EHRs of N.N. Burdenko Neurosurgery Center related to 77,865 patients underwent 104,489 operations and discharged between 2000 and 2017 were processed [5].

¹ Corresponding Author, Gleb Danilov, National Medical Research Center for Neurosurgery named after N.N. Burdenko, Moscow, Russian Federation; E-mail: glebda@yandex.ru.

Below we propose an algorithm for explicit identification of in-hospital adverse events in medical records which implies seven essential steps:

- 1) Source documents selection to build the general corpus of medical texts
- 2) Text preprocessing and word tokenization
- 3) Stratification of tokens by concepts (entities)
- 4) Selecting the concepts (entities) potentially related to adverse events
- 5) Mapping the tokens of adverse events concepts to n-grams containing them
- 6) Labeling n-grams containing the tokens related to adverse events concepts
- 7) Mapping the labeled n-grams into documents containing them to conclude on adverse events identification

The idea of this method is to preselect a lexicon which could be potentially utilized in reporting of a specific adverse event in EHRs and explore short word sequences (ngrams) containing the lexicon items. This straightforward technique also enables the identification of all spectrum of adverse events that were specified by doctors.

All the data were initially extracted from the relational database of EHRs. The data processing and analysis was done with R programming environment (version 3.5.0) in RStudio IDE for MacOS (version 1.1.453) using *tidyr*, *dplyr*, *tidytext*, *tm*, *readr*, *stringr*, *stringdist*, *SnowballC*, *shiny*, *ggplot2* packages. We briefly describe each step of the proposed algorithm and our experience with it below.

2.1. Shaping the corpus from source documents

Each table in the relational database is queried and screened by the data manager to select the text data fields. This process is augmented with the R script iteratively.

2.2. Text preprocessing and word tokenization

The next step is done to preprocess the text before constructing a comprehensive dictionary with the following:

- Transformation to lower case
- Removing all the characters and symbols from the texts except for letters and single spaces
- Tokenization with a space separator
- Removing "stop-words" and meaningless words (single letters, artifacts, etc.)
- Excluding words found less than N times (seldom) in all texts
- This step could be tuned depending on the task specifications not to lose valuable information in a final lexicon, simultaneously not inflating it.

2.3. Stratification of tokens by concepts (entities)

In this step the tokens are normalized, so that different forms of a word are mapped to the "initial" form based on a common root. The step consists of several following items:

- Lemmatization
- Clustering (matching) the lemmas beginning with the same letters and/or sharing the same root using Damerau-Levenshtein distance
- Naming each cluster by its most frequent lemma and labeling the corresponding initial tokens with the cluster name

- Checking if the lemmas and the corresponding class labels have the same root using stemming
- Manually checking and correcting the labels if they have different root with initial tokens
- Manually checking and modifying the unique labels to name certain concepts (entities) properly

At the end of this step we have a dictionary with each word from the raw text mapped to a unique class by the common root (**Table 1**). The lemmatization appears to be more feasible than stemming to create interpretable normalized forms in morphologically complex Russian language. We found "mystem" lemmatizer by Yandex company (Russian Federation) most effective for this purpose. The Porter stemmer was applied for stemming.

 Table 1. The example of morphological forms and typos for the word "status" in Russian. The English translation is given in brackets.

	Tokens in Russian (translation into English)	Counts	Class label
1	состояние (status)	596,807	status
2	состоянии (in status)	54,199	status
3	состояния (of status)	9,930	status
4	состояний (statuses)	2,655	status
5	состояние (statuc)	2,305	status
6	состоянию (to status)	1,310	status
7	состяние (staus)	1,249	status
8	состоянеи (statsu)	1,020	status
9	состяоние (stauts)	973	status
10	состоянием (by status)	874	status

2.4. Selecting the concepts (entities) potentially related to adverse events

This step is accomplished by browsing through the list of unique classes (now we call them "concepts") to identify all or searching for specific related to adverse events. This procedure is done and agreed by several experts (doctors) independently and is supported by a user-friendly Shiny application.

2.5. Mapping the tokens of a concept to n-grams containing them

When all the single-word concepts related to the adverse event(s) are selected and agreed, the tokens belonging to these concepts are found in short word sequences (n-grams). So, the text is tokenized into n-grams with n typically set to 3,4 or 5.

2.6. Labeling n-grams containing the tokens from a concept

N-grams, selected at the previous step and indicating the presence of complications, are labeled accordingly. This step should be worked out and agreed by several doctors independently facilitated with a special Shiny application.

2.7. Mapping the labeled n-grams into documents containing them

That is the final automatic procedure to judge whether medical cases are presented with adverse events if the previously selected n-grams are reflected in related documents.

3. Preliminary results of algorithm implementation

The initial corpus of ~13 million texts retrieved from EHR was split into 167,955 unique tokens occurred more than five times. The algorithm (with edit distance set to 3) produced a list of 29,743 unique concepts matching the tokens. The validation of the classification was suggested for 95,364 (57%) tokens with the roots not precisely equal to the roots of the corresponding concepts proposed by the algorithm. The typos in tokens less than seven characters in length, as well as the application of the fixed edit distance for matching words independent of their lengths, were the main reasons. Based on preliminary results we expect the necessity of classification result correction with a special Shiny application in ~20-30% of all tokens. The corrected list of concepts will be mapped into SNOMED CT (research license) and processed by doctors. The evaluation and fine-tuning of the algorithm are ongoing.

4. Discussion (on further improvement)

This algorithm can be modified in step 2.3, e.g., substituting lemmas sharing a common root by most frequent lemma and then grouping the substituted lemmas with edit distance. The edit distance may be applied dependent on word lengths. The concepts appeared in similar contexts may be arranged in larger classes using word embeddings (e.g., word2vec) [6]. The labeled texts will be used for machine learning to identify complications in neurosurgery as a part of our project in artificial intelligence [3].

5. Conclusions

The algorithm we proposed to extract entities from unstructured medical records explicitly, could be easily implemented and is feasible in a broad spectrum of clinical studies. *This project was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (grant 18-29-22085).*

- F.A. Landriel Ibanez et.al., A new classification of complications in neurosurgery, *World Neurosurgery* 75 (2011), 709–711.
- [2] M. Simmons, A. Singhal and Z. Lu, Text Mining for Precision Medicine: Bringing Structure to EHRs and Biomedical Literature to Understand Genes and Health, *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **939** (2016), 139–166.
- [3] G. Danilov, K. Kotik, M. Shifrin, U. Strunina and T. Pronkina, Prediction of postoperative hospital stay with deep learning based on 101 654 operative reports in neurosurgery, *Stud. Health Technol. Inform.* 258 (2019), 125–129.
- [4] A. Potapov, L. Likhterman and G. Danilov, Great Hospitals of the Russian Federation: National Medical Research Center for Neurosurgery Named After N. N. Burdenko: History and Contemporaneity, World Neurosurg. 120 (2018), 100–111.
- [5] M.A. Shifrin, E.E. Kalinina and E.D. Kalinin, A sustainability view on the EPR system of N.N. Burdenko Neurosurgical Institute, *Stud. Health Technol. Inform.* 129 (2007), 1214–1216.
- [6] M. Topaz et al., Mining fall-related information in clinical notes: Comparison of rule-based and novel word embedding-based machine learning approaches, J. Biomed. Inform. 90 (2019), 103.

Usability Inspection of Multipurpose Scalable Informed Consent Platform

Joseph FINKELSTEIN^{a,1}, Daniel ROBINS^a and Jiazhen LIU^a ^aIcahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Abstract. We developed a multipurpose scalable electronic informed consent platform (E-Consent) which is reusable for any informed consent in a multitude of settings. The platform allows research staff to easily upload multimedia information about a research protocol with an approved informed consent into the system, which delivers this content interactively for prospective study candidates in a user-friendly way. Consistent with user-centered design, E-Consent underwent usability inspection via cognitive walkthroughs accompanied by surveys that captured task complexity on a 5-point Likert-type scale. The System Usability Scale (SUS) provided a standardized reference for usability and satisfaction. Overall, the E-Consent framework was considered by participants to be easy-to-use, satisfying, and timely, while delivering complex information such as that on a consent form. E-Consent ranked in the top 10th percentile for usability as measured by SUS. This extensible framework successfully delivered complex information and recorded user consents, all in an easy-to-understand and highly usable fashion.

Keywords. electronic consent, usability inspection, cognitive walkthrough

1. Introduction

Electronic consent is increasingly being used as means to facilitate patient engagement in clinical research. However current electronic consent platforms usually support a single research protocol or a particular clinical trial. We developed a multipurpose scalable electronic informed consent platform which can be reused for any informed consent in a multitude of settings. This has been achieved by introduction of an abstract representation of patient engagement information and informed consent content in a generalizable relational database format. The platform allows research staff to easily upload multimedia information about a particular research protocol together with an approved informed consent into the system which will execute this content interactively for prospective study candidates in a user-friendly way. However, utility of the proposed system will be defined in large part by availability of user-friendly self-explanatory interface. Following principles of user-centered design we employed iterative development of user interface guided by feedback from various stakeholders. In this study, results of the usability inspection performed on the initial prototype are reported. The overall goal of this project is to prospectively assess usability and acceptance of this system and identify potential barriers for using such a system in hospital wards, ambulatory clinics and at patient homes in a prospective observational study.

¹ Corresponding Author, Joseph Finkelstein, MD, PhD, 1425 Madison Avenue, Rm. L2-36, New York, NY 10029, USA; E-mail: Joseph.Finkelstein@mssm.edu.
2. Methods

2.1. System Design

The system design has been guided by the Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning which posits that information should be structured on learning principles accounting for working memory and cognitive load [1]. The user interface was informed by our previous work on implementing successful interactive tools aimed at improving health literacy [2]. facilitate patient engagement [3] and provide user-friendly decision aids for patients with potentially limited literacy or numeracy [4]. Accordingly, the long and complex information in a consent form was divided into smaller 'chapters', accessible through a central menu (Figure 1). This interactive menu acts as a tableof-contents, with each chapter linking to a video explanation featuring a person that explains the relevant section in plain English. Following the brief video, a short paragraph of text reiterates the content of that chapter. Each chapter concludes with a quick one-question quiz designed to reinforce the salient points of that section. The complete text of the consent form is available at all times and on all pages of the website via the 'Consent Now' link.



Figure 1. Participant education menu.



Figure 2. Participant quiz example.

Upon completing all chapters, the user is presented with this form and the option to digitally sign it.

2.2. Study Design

Participants were given a packet of instructions and surveys upon sitting down at a workstation. Surveys consisted of standardized questions with answers arranged as Likert-type scales and additional written responses. A baseline questionnaire was collected immediately, and the starting website was already displayed on the web browser. Participants were instructed to perform three representative tasks while being timed. If participants needed additional help to complete a task, these requests were also noted.

Task 1 prompted the user to select Chapter 5 from the menu (the starting screen), then to watch a 38-second video that would play automatically. This task was relatively simple and could be completed in a single mouse click. Task 2 was progressively more complex: the participant would need to navigate through multiple pages by clicking the 'Next' button on each page, and then read a few sentences of text. The participant would

eventually reach two multiple-choice quiz questions related to the content they just read. Correct answers were required to advance; incorrect answers prompt the user to try again and select another answer. Task 3 expanded on this same format, culminating with a review of the full consent and a digital signature.

After completing each task, the participant was asked to grade that task on a scale of 1 (very difficult) to 5 (very easy) using a 3-item survey that included the following questions: 1) How difficult or easy was it to complete this task? 2) How satisfied are you with using this application/system to complete this task? 3) How would you rate the amount of time it took to complete this task? Once all tasks were completed, the participants were given an exit survey including the System Usability Scale (SUS).

3. Results

Overall, twelve healthy adults at our institution completed usability inspection at end of O1 2019. Average age of the participants was 36.3 ± 10.2 years old ranging from 26 to 57 years; half of the participants The prior were female. familiarity of the participants with informed research consent varied from being absolutely naive individuals never consenting for research study experienced principal to investigators well familiar with clinical research and patient recruitment.

Table 1. Task Self-Assessment	Mean (SD)				
Task 1: Select Chapter 5 and watch video					
Difficulty	4.9 (0.3)				
Satisfaction	4.4 (1.0)				
Amount of Time	4.5 (0.8)				
Task 2: Complete Chapter 5 and return to					
menu	10(02)				
Difficulty	4.9 (0.3)				
Satisfaction	4.4 (1.0)				
Amount of Time	4.6 (0.7)				
Task 3: Select 'Consent Now' and complete					
the consent process					
Difficulty	4.6 (0.5)				
Satisfaction	4.1 (1.2)				
Amount of Time	4.2 (0.8)				

Table 2. Task Performance

	Task Accomplished	Help Needed	Accomplished Time (sec)
	(%)	(%)	Mean ± SD
Task 1	100	0	54.2 ± 15.2
Task 2	100	0	64.3 ± 35.7
Task 3	100	0	181.1 ± 65.0

The resulting usability inspection metrics are presented in Table 1 as average selfassessment scores of three representative tasks with score 5 indicating the highest satisfaction. The task difficulty ranged between 4.6 and 4.9; the task satisfaction varied from 4.1 to 4.4; and the task timing demands were scored between 4.2 and 4.6 (Table 1). The participant task performance is presented in Table 2. All tasks were successfully performed with no external assistance required. The average time required to complete each task varied from about 1 minute to three minutes reflecting increasing complexity of the tasks. System Usability Scores (SUS) were normalized in the usual fashion, and the average of these values was 90.3 ± 9.6 (Figure 3). Open-ended comments provided by the participants demonstrated that they perceived electronic consenting to be easy-to-use, satisfying, and timely, while delivering complex information such as that on a consent form.



4. Discussion

Figure. 3. SUS score distribution

The usability inspection of the electronic consent platform demonstrated overall high acceptance of the E-Consent interface even by naive users. Our results corroborated previous reports that described positive feedback of prospective research study participants regarding various tools supporting informed consent via interactive media.

Previous studies clearly documented high potential of electronic consent tools for patient enrollment into clinical trials. Blake K et al. [5] reported successful process of enrollment in an asthma clinical trial using mobile devices and internet for multimedia informed consent delivery. A video-assisted informed consent process was shown to be helpful in providing participants with information about study procedures in a way that is easy to understand [6]. Use of electronic consent at Partners HealthCare Biobank has been described as "potentially game-changing strategy" especially for large research studies that depend on patient recruitment [7].

Our next steps in developing a user-centered interface should include usability evaluation in different subgroups of patients with varying socio-economic background, different age groups, computer skills, literacy and numeracy. A larger sample size would also complement a more diverse patient base (and mitigate the limitations of our current study). Testing should be carried out in various settings including hospital wards, waiting rooms in outpatient clinics, and patient homes. The resulting tool will provide support for (1) interactive patient-centered engagement in clinical research via a tailored app that is based on patient profile; (2) in-person and remote consent that can be used in a variety of settings including hospital, outpatient care and community; (3) administration of patient surveys that are linked to institutional clinical trial management systems.

- [1] R.E. Mayer, Multimedia Learning, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2001.
- [2] M. Bedra, E. Wick, D. Brotman, et al., Avatar-based interactive ileostomy education in hospitalized patients, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 190 (2013), 83-85.
- [3] J. Finkelstein, E.M. Cha, Using a Mobile App to Promote Smoking Cessation in Hospitalized Patients, JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 4 (2) (2016), e59.
- [4] R. Kukafka, Ic. Jeong, J. Finkelstein, Optimizing Decision Support for Tailored Health Behavior Change Applications, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 216 (2015), 108-112.
- [5] K. Blake, J.T. Holbrook, H. Antal, D. Shade, H.T. Bunnell, S.M. McCahan, R.A. Wise, C. Pennington, P. Garfinkel, T. Wysocki, Use of mobile devices and the internet for multimedia informed consent delivery and data entry in a pediatric asthma trial: Study design and rationale, *Contemp Clin Trials* 42 (2015), 105-118.
- [6] S.C. Sonne, J.O. Andrews, S.M. Gentilin, S. Oppenheimer, J. Obeid, K. Brady, S. Wolf, R. Davis, K. Magruder, Development and pilot testing of a video-assisted informed consent process, *Contemp Clin Trials* 36 (1) (2013), 25-31.
- [7] N.T. Boutin, K. Mathieu, A.G. Hoffnagle, N.L. Allen, V.M. Castro et al., Implementation of Electronic Consent at a Biobank: An Opportunity for Precision Medicine Research, *J Pers Med* 6 (2) (2016), pii: E17.

IPS Governance Framework: Current Practices in Specification Use and Updates

Robert STEGWEE^{a,b,1}, Hans GILLE^b and Catherine CHRONAKI^c ^a CEN TC/251, Brussels Belgium ^bCGI, The Netherlands ^cHL7 Foundation, Brussels, Belgium

Abstract. The eStandards methodology stressed the importance of trust and flow for health data as a key characteristic of well-functioning health systems. A digital health compass, leveraging perspectives of health systems, digital health markets, citizens, and workforce, drives a process of co-creation, governance and alignment in eStandards. A repository of best practices and common components further advances interoperability, as new projects add their experience. This paper proposes a governance framework for requirements management, intelligence gathering, specification use, and updates to promote sustainable governance for International Patient Summaries. It is based on interviews of 14 patient summary projects and initiatives in Europe and the United States.

Keywords. Standards Interoperability, Cross-border eHealth Services, Governance

1. Introduction

The International Patient Summary (IPS) was initially developed for unplanned crossborder care. However, soon it became clear that health care providers were not keen to invest in such an exchange of health information, if it was limited to this purpose. Thus, they extended the core notion of a patient summary (PS) to fit their business needs. In fulfilling a broader purpose, a governance framework for the standards used and the specifications developed to serve their local business case(s) is needed.

The Health Informatics Standards Life Cycle is intended to be generic for all eHealth Standards and not just specific to the IPS [1]. Viewed from a different perspective, the explicit standardisation activities are just one particular aspect of the real-world concept of a PS. A PS has its own life cycle and activities, much of which are not explicitly related to, or directly impacted by the formal standardisation processes. It is important to note that PS standardisation and implementation can take place at various levels.

At a global level, we have the Patient Summary Standards Set (PSSS) [2], a guidance document, published by the Joint Initiative Council on Global Health Informatics Standardisation, which catalogues several base standards from the participating standards developing organisations (SDOs). Meanwhile, CEN/HL7 collaboration led to the aligned CEN International Patient Summary Standards and the HL7 International Patient Summary, with implementation guides for HL7 CDA and FHIR standard format. Together, the CEN and HL7 IPS standards take the notion of the informative guidance

¹ Corresponding Author, Robert Stegwee; E-mail: robert.stegwee@cgi.com.

provided by the PSSS to a whole new level, providing a coordinated and fully specified set of standards and implementation guides for the PS. They build upon the C-CDA patient summary (US Meaningful Use Summary of Care) program in the US and a CDA patient summary using the eHealth Digital Service Infrastructure (eHDSI CDA Implementation Guide) building on the eHN guidelines in Europe [3]. Recently, SNOMED International made available a free set of SNOMED CT terms to use in the IPS leading to four linked standards (Fig. 1). If EU member states adopt PS in a way compatible/interoperable with global standards, that will drive sustainable cross-border exchange of PS data, giving rise to feedback and activities that influence standards and advance interoperability. Substantiated recommendations for governance of specifications in PS initiatives, connected to global standards, need consideration of PS governance at various levels of implementation.



Figure 1. Four closely linked global IPS standards with EU Implementation Guidance

2. Methodology

In the context of this study, a PS initiative is defined as **any specification**, **implementation**, **or operational effort that uses the exchange of patient summary data as the basis for adding value to the identified care setting**. This includes the original focus on cross-border unplanned care for the international PS, as well as part of a targeted effort for specific patient groups (chronic diseases, rare diseases) or for general patient empowerment initiatives using personal health record exchange. The need for governance and the interlinked life cycle models of both generic standards and the IPS specifically guided the construction of an interview guide on the topic of IPS governance. An inventory of patient summary governance practices was taken using the following five steps:

- 1. Identify key Patient Summary initiatives;
- 2. Assess goals, objectives, and activities related to governance within the initiative;
- 3. Assess the initiative's current linkage with standards governance;
- 4. Make an inventory of the initiative's needs for standards updates and version management of the specifications in use;
- 5. Compare results, identify best practices and provide a summary.

We identified and conducted interviews with 14 PS initiatives in Europe and the United States. Twelve initiatives are PS at national or regional levels and two are standards developing initiatives. The questionnaire used in these structured interviews is available upon request. After processing the information collected, the findings were summarized in a report focusing on best practices and encountered problems [4].

3. Results: The IPS Governance Framework

Governance of PS specifications is focused on the Information layer of the Refined eHealth European Interoperability Framework [5] and is frequently isolated from the way PS is implemented in the Care Process and Application layers. The CEN/TS 17288 PS Guideline for European Implementation includes a section on governance that covers process and product aspects of governance, pointing to guidance on GDPR compliance considerations. The interviews confirmed the five main topics to be addressed by PS governance:

1. **Initiative:** aim of PS initiative and stakeholders directly involved in the exchange *All interviews acknowledged a clear definition of scope and how stakeholders*

All interviews acknowledged a clear definition of scope and how stakeholders contribute to the stated objectives of the patient summary initiative.

- 2. **Specifications and Standards**: overview of specifications and standards; *All initiatives confirmed the importance of standards. However, not all initiatives develop their own specifications; six of the twelve implementation and operation initiatives rely on specifications developed on a national scale or are conformant to the European Patient Summary specifications.*
- 3. Governance Scope and Objectives: future scope, objectives, and sustainability considerations embedding the PS initiative in the broader governance structure;

The majority of initiatives rely on governance by an independent party set up for health information exchange in general. This puts severe limitations on the influence key stakeholders in the use of the patient summary have.

- 4. **Stakeholder Involvement**: stakeholders not involved in actual PS exchange; *It is striking that only a few of the initiatives explicitly mention the engagement of users and expert groups from different stakeholder communities.*
- 5. **Update and Version Management**: provisions for updates to PS specification and alignment with maintenance of underlying standards; *Only one of the fourteen initiatives employs a fixed cycle for publishing updates, most mention a dynamic process based on the needs expressed by the stakeholders.*

4. Discussion

Interlinked governance processes of PS are complex and it is hard to establish an overarching governance for all aspects of the IPS. The governance framework developed can be employed by PS initiatives connecting related initiatives and SDOs. It provides pointers and functions for governance of individual PS initiatives:

- 1. Identifying change management processes for PS standards and specifications in the initiative engaging the user and stakeholder community;
- 2. Gathering experience and feedback for the governance processes focussing on best practices, sustainability and continuity of effort;
- 3. Refining governance structures over time in long and short-term, with flexible structures that facilitate alignment and feedback to standards organisations.

From the perspective of SDOs, it is recommended to establish a joint governance on IPS standards, as a single community or open governance framework for PS initiatives to turn to. SDOs should ensure a balance of interest and provide opportunities for broad participation. Simplicity is key. Community collaboration is favoured over rigid formal bodies to safeguard the relevance of IPS standards and specifications. Collaboration is also necessary at a national level, coordinated by National eHealth Competence Centres (NCCs). Via coordination with relevant sections and experts of the SDOs, NCCs ensure that standards and specifications are coordinated and that required changes are incorporated in the standards, the EU guidelines, and the eHDSI. The connection between local and global governance is crucial for sustainable standards-based innovation.

5. Conclusions

Promoting sustainable IPS governance takes the global collaboration of SDOs in the JIC on Global Health Informatics Standardization as a starting point. Interviewed initiatives provided best practices on engaging SDOs and initiatives in governance of specifications. Identification of shortcomings and coordination of change requests among initiatives, are crucial for effective governance. We recommend a community of experts from SDOs as the point of contact for questions about and suggested changes to the IPS standards. Similar communities can provide guidance at a national/regional scale, with an important role for NCCs. They drive adoption of IPS standards from the global community down to the local implementation in EHR systems. Consistent local implementation is crucial for the effective exchange of data, whether on a local level or a national or cross-border scenario, for improved data quality and ultimately patient safety and better care.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by H2020 Project Trillium II (727745). The authors would like to thank Stephen Kay for comments and Trillium II partners for interviews of PS initiatives.

- [1] S. Schulz, R.A. Stegwee and C. Chronaki, Standards in Healthcare Data, *Fundamentals of Clinical Data Science*, 2019, 19-36. Retrieved 5.4.2019 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/329872785 Standards in Healthcare Data.
- [2] Joint Initiative Council, *Patient Summary Standards Set*, 2018. Retrieved 5.4.2019 http://www.jointinitiativecouncil.org/registry/Patient_Summary_Standards_IIC_Jan_2018.pdf.
- [3] eHealth Network, *GUIDELINE on the electronic exchange of health data under CrossBorder Directive* 2011/24/EU, 2016. Retrieved 5.4.2019 https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/ehealth/docs/ev 20161121 co10 en.pdf.
- [4] R.A. Stegwee et al., Towards an international patient summary standards Governance Framework: managing requirements, intelligence gathering, and updates, *Trillium II*, D5.2 (to be published), 2019.
- [5] eHealth Network, Refined eHealth European Interoperability Framework, 2015. Retrieved from 5.4. 2019, https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/ehealth/docs/ev_20151123_co03_en.pdf.

Mobile VR-Application for Neck Exercises

Mads KLOSTER^{a,1} and Ankica BABIC^{a,b}

^aDepartment of Information Science and Media Studies, University of Bergen, Norway ^bDepartment of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. A VR-based application was developed to explore the potential of mobile technology and the use of mobile-VR to assist in treatment, rehabilitation, and prevention of neck injuries. A prototype was developed through user-centered design and Google Sprint. The application simulated a typical set of exercises that a patient would get from a physiotherapist in the case of neck pain. A semi-structured interview was conducted with a physiotherapist, and an open-ended interview followed to asses usability. Expert and user evaluation indicated that the aim should be to keep patients motivated and working through the pain. The usability was judged as very good. However, clinical evaluation with a patient group would be recommended in the future.

Keywords. Neck pain, Neck exercise, VR, Gamification.

1. Introduction

Everyone owns a smartphone; they are changing our everyday lives [1]. A smartphone is equipped with an array of different built-in sensors that consist of gyroscope, accelerometer and more. We can utilize smartphones with a recurring activity or solving a problem in a person's life. That is the main reasons for the rise of medical applications. mHealth applications deliver or collect healthcare data [2], some of the applications are intended for healthcare workers [1], but more and more are intended for patients. Some mHealth applications have incorporated gamification features and concepts that are typically seen in video games. This can include scoreboards, trophies, and achievements compelling the user to use the application more [3]. mHealth application using VR is on the rise. Using the pre-existing sensors of smartphones, with a cheap VR headset, could make an excellent addition for treatment and prevention. The VR headset is mounted on the head, and as such could be a tool for neck exercises [4]. This study is aimed to explore the potential of VR and mobile technology for the treatment of neck pain using expert evaluation and usability testing.

2. Method

The User-Centred Design (UCD)[5] approach was applied to this study, meaning that design was based upon a clear understanding of users, tasks, and environments. It was driven and refined by user-centred evaluation, addressing the whole user experience [5]. In this case and context users are people who have neck problems that can be

¹ Corresponding Author, Mads Kloster; E-mail: madskloster@gmail.com.

rehabilitated by neck stretching and neck exercises. The context of use would be a crucial point, due to the mobility of the application. The user could exercise at home, or work whenever convenient. To specify requirements, Google sprint was used [6]. During the sprint phase, the initial idea was developed and use cases outlined. Following the steps in the sprint methodology the use case with the most potential was selected, and a storyboard was made. The storyboard represented what the visuality and functionality of the prototype would be. After the sprint, a low fidelity prototype was created. With feedback from a medical professional and through another iteration, a high-fidelity prototype was developed, using Unity3D. Resulting was an application for a smartphone that could be used with a VR headset. Elements of gamification were applied. The evaluation was done in two parts. The expert evaluation included a physiotherapist with whom a semi-structured interview was conducted. The second part was a usability test with users who tried the application.

3. Results

3.1. The application

The application consists of three-game scenes. The first scene is a start menu where the player initiates the game. Once the game has started, the player gets instructed to move their head to the right and hold over a capsule that turns green when the timer of five seconds is up (Figure 1). When this is done, the same procedure is repeated on the left. The player must do the same looking up to the capsule and, in the last step, looking down and holding for five seconds before getting to the next scene. In this scene, the player is instructed to tilt the head to the right and hold for five seconds, and then to tilt to the left and hold for five seconds (Figure 2.). This simulates and gamifies a set of simple exercises that a person would usually get from a physiotherapist but can now do at home.



Figure 1. Neck exercises when the application suggest looking to the right.



Figure 2. Neck exercises when the application suggest tilting the head to the side

3.2. Evaluation

The application was first used by the physiotherapist and an interview was conducted thereafter. The physiotherapist was positive about the prototype. He felt that the need for a tool like this could make the exercises more fun and with potential for further development that would tune into patients' needs. The potential concerns are home exercises and rehabilitation, as well as prevention. The physiotherapist stated that the rehabilitation processes sometimes gets hindered by the lack of participation form the patient. Motivation, or lack of it, is probably the main reason treatment takes longer and is not as effective as it should be. Another reason for avoiding exercises is pain. Pain can make patients refrain from exercise. Any tool that could help a patient exercise through pain without being harmful would be an asset. This is where VR can be beneficial and aid the patients. It is also documented that VR has a distracting effect; the perception of pain when using VR is decreased [7].

Cost was an initial concern for the physiotherapist, but when told the actual price of smartphone VR-glasses combined with the patient's own phone, it became clear that the cost is not an issue. Regular VR-headset that usually need additional hardware are costly. The patient can get treatment-option on their own smartphones at the fraction of the cost.

The application was also tested on six users. Two with experience of neck pain, and four without were recruited for usability testing. Four of the test subjects had good IT skills and the remaining two had average IT skills. They were given the same instructions as a physiotherapist would give a patient when trying the application for the first time. They tested the application for an average of two minutes which is the average time for one session with the application. All the test subjects managed to finish all the given tasks. A scale from one (low) to five (high), was used to collect the feedback. The easiness of use was given the highest scores. When asked if the test-subjects found the application useful, the response was more divided, because of the relevance of use for them. There was also some concern about nausea, sometimes occurring with VR. The overall experience of using the application was however was positive and exciting.

4. Discussion

The applications allow frequent and convenient use, so it could simulate patients to exercise more often than during visits to physiotherapists. The therapeutic effect could

be significant given that exercise is well designed. One essential requirement to consider is patient safety. Therefore, a physiotherapist was consulted during the application development. He was fond of the idea to use VR and to implement it within the prototype. However, more work needs to be done to address the patient's medical condition and develop guidelines for continuous training. Keeping patients safe and interested in training ought to be one of the goals of using the application. To that end, a few more clinical experts are being consulted in the future design upgrade. Several design variations of the interface and elements of gamification could be introduced, to keep patients interested in repeating and exercising.

The current solution is built in a way that can be implemented using other tools that can introduce elements of the game and provide feedback to patients over a time period.

The application could also be used to prevent neck pain and injuries, not only to treat it.

5. Conclusion

There is no doubt that there is a need for a VR-application that assist in the treatment, exercises, and prevention of neck problems and injuries. This study has shown one efficient way of implementing exercises in an application which is indicated by the expert and user evaluation. The main aim of future development should be motivating and working through the pain. A clinical study is needed for a complete evaluation.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Edvard Pires Bjørgen,M,Sc and Malin Fjell Olsen B.Sc for their contribution to the original study and participation in the gathering of the data. The authors would also like to thank the physiotherapist Eirik Kampenes for his contribution.

- M.N. Boulos, A.C. Brewer, C. Karimkhani et al., Mobile medical and health apps: state of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification, *OJPHI Background* 5 (3) (2014), 229. DOI: 10.5210/ojphi.v5i3.4814.
- [2] P.R. Sama, Z.J. Eapen, K.P. Weinfurt et al., An evaluation of mobile health application tools, *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 2 (2) (2014), e19.
- [3] A.S. Miller, J.A. Cafazzo, E. Seto, A game plan: Gamification design principles in mHealth applications for chronic disease management, *Health Informatics J* 22 (2) (2016), 184–193.
- [4] M. Brian Chau, Health app to prevent & treat neck pain among office workers tested in pilot study, *iMedicalApps*, 2016. https://www.imedicalapps.com/2016/12/neck-pain-app-study/ (accessed 7 April 2019).
- [5] User-Centered Design Basics | Usability.gov. https://www.usability.gov/what-and-why/user-centereddesign.html (accessed 5 April 2019).
- [6] J. Knapp, B. Kowitz, J. Zeratsky, Sprint: How to Solve Big Problems and Test New Ideas in Just Five Days, 2016. Epub ahead of print 2016. DOI: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- [7] X. Tong, D. Gromala, A. Amin et al., The Design of an Immersive Mobile Virtual Reality Serious Game in Cardboard Head-Mounted Display for Pain Management, Springer, Cham, 2016, 284–293.

Usefulness, Ease of Use, Ease of Learning and Users' Satisfaction of E-Prescription and E-Appointment Systems for Primary Health Care

Agathi KONTOGIANNATOU^{a,b,1}, Joseph LIASKOS^b, Parisis GALLOS^b and John MANTAS^b

^a Third Local Health Unit, Patras, Greece ^b Health Informatics Laboratory, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

> Abstract. The purpose of this study is to investigate views of physicians, nurses and administrative personnel working in Primary Health Care (PHC) structures in the Greek regions of Achaia and Attica, on the usefulness, ease of use, ease of learning and users' satisfaction of e-prescription and e-appointment systems. The e-prescription and e-appointment systems we evaluated are developed and hosted by the Greek e-Government Center for Social Security Services (IDIKA S.A.). Data were collected by using Likert-scale questionnaires. Overall, users are satisfied, and they find the studied systems useful, easy to use and learn. Ease of learning of both systems scores the highest score, while users' satisfaction the lowest. Ease of learning of both e-systems is not affected by age, gender, computer skills, and personnel category.

> Keywords. Electronic Prescription, Electronic Appointment, Evaluation, Usability

1. Introduction

The introduction of Information Technology (IT) in Primary Health Care (PHC) has led to a number of changes. In particular, the effective IT is able to reduce medical errors, support clinicians, improve information management, and make patient access to health services easier, to support remote care and continued provision of services.

Greek e-Government Center for Social Security Services (IDIKA S.A.) is a nonprofit public owned company specialized in IT products for Social Security and Health Service public organizations established by Law [1]. The pilot application of the Electronic Health Record (EHR), e-prescription and e-appointment are the modern electronic systems that are developed and hosted by IDIKA S.A. in the health sector.

Our research aims to evaluate the views of physicians, nurses and administrative personnel working in Primary Health Care (PHC) structures in the Greek regions of Achaia and Attica, on the usefulness, ease of use, ease of learning and users' satisfaction of e-prescription and e-appointment systems hosted by IDIKA S.A.

¹ Corresponding Author, Agathi Kontogiannatou, MSc, Third Local Health Unit, Giannitson 3, 26223, Patras, Greece, Tel: +30/2610/466201; E-mail: agathi_kont@hotmail.com.

2. Methods

We studied a sample of 77 persons in order to evaluate the e-prescription and eappointment system of IDIKA S.A. The sample consisted of medical, nursing and administrative personnel working in PHC of the regions of Achaia and Attica. Questionnaires were sent to PHC structures and completed by our sample. The duration of the survey was from July to August 2018.

We used a weighted and validated version of the "USE Questionnaire: Usefulness, Satisfaction and Ease of Use" [2], translated in Greek language. The questionnaire evaluated the views on the usefulness, ease of use, ease of learning and users' satisfaction of PHC personnel using the electronic systems (e-prescription and e-appointment) hosted by IDIKA S.A. in their daily clinical routine. We also recorded other data, such as gender, age, level of education, computer skills, personnel's category, e-system used in daily work, etc. For each of the four categories of the questionnaire (usefulness, ease of use, ease of learning and user-satisfaction) we estimated a single score (mean value) averaging across the category answers of all respondents. Data were processed with SPSS v. 25.0.

3. Results

The sample of the survey was 55 physicians, 13 nurses and 9 administrative personnel of the PHC structures in the Greek regions of Achaia and Attica. 43 persons of our sample were women (55.8%), and 34 were men (44.2%). The average age was 41.9 years. 27 persons (35.1%) were between 18-35 years old, 26 (33.8%) between 36-50, and 19 (24.7%) 51 years old and over. The e-prescription system is used by 55 participants (71.4%), all of whom are physicians. The e-appointment system is used by 22 participants (28.6%), 13 of whom are nurses and 9 are administrative personnel. 45 of the participants (58.4%) own a computer driving license, 27 of whom are physicians and 18 are nurses and administrative personnel.

The score (mean) of the respondents per questionnaire category (usefulness, ease of use, ease of learning and user-satisfaction), and the total score (overall mean value) was calculated. The overall mean value of the questionnaire (all four questionnaire categories) is 4.2. 3 out of the 4 questionnaire categories were evaluated above the midpoint of the scale (3.5) of USE questionnaire. Figure 1 presents the profile analysis of the four USE questionnaire categories, where its mean value with its std. deviation is depicted for each category. The profile reveals the deviations of the means above and below the overall mean of the answers. The profile identifies that the category with the lowest (just below the scale's midpoint) is "user-satisfaction" (mean: 3.4). The rest two categories of "usefulness" (mean: 3.8), "ease of use" (mean: 3.9) are considered above the questionnaire's midpoint.

Based on the survey data, when comparing the mean values of the questionnaire categories, there were some statistically significant differences. Specifically, women more than men find both e-systems useful (p=0.0013), easy to use (p=0.006), and satisfactory for the user (p=0.023); e-appointment more than e-prescription is useful, easy to use and satisfactory for the user (p=0.000); nurses and administrative personnel more than physicians find both e-systems useful, easy to use and satisfactory for the user (p=0.000); nurses and satisfactory for the user (p=0.000); participants who own a computer driving license more than those who

do not own find both e-systems easy to use (p=0.011); participants in the age group above 51 years old more than those in the younger age groups find both e-systems satisfactory for the user (p=0.029). Ease of learning of both e-systems is not affected by age, gender, computer skills, and personnel category.



Figure 1. Scores by category and total questionnaire score.

4. Discussion

All respondents believe that IDIKA's electronic systems are easy to learn while opinions differ on usability, usefulness and satisfaction. The relatively high level of computer literacy of the participants may explain their belief that e-systems are easy to learn.

Nursing and administrative personnel seem to be more receptive to new technology. Similarly, the results of Anderson [3] show that doctors tend to be more reluctant to change their traditional practice and use new IT technologies while other staff tend to accept and use them more easily. Administrative and nursing personnel have a more favorable attitude towards new technology than medical staff because they are likely to perceive it as an effective tool to facilitate co-ordination with other healthcare teams. Some studies consider that physicians, unlike nurses and administrative personnel, can perceive new computing as a threat because it leads to a loss of power [4], provocative professions and a "new professionalism" [5].

E-prescription system is used by physicians because in Greece they are the only health professionals who have the right to prescribe. E-appointment system is used by nurses and administrative personnel and not by physicians due to their increased workload.

The users' satisfaction has a lower score compared to other categories, which may be linked to the fact that the e-systems are not user-friendly and simple to use [6]. User groups under the age of 50 are less satisfied with the use of electronic applications than those over the age of 50. Women are more satisfied than men with the e-systems studies. A low user satisfaction may affect the acceptance and adoption of e-systems by the user. Thus, the reasons why user satisfaction is relatively low compared to other categories need further investigation.

Most of the administrative and nursing personnel are computer literate (they hold a computer driving license), while some of the physicians hold a computer driving

license. Users who own a computer driving license more than those who do not own, believe that the e-systems studied are useful and time-saving.

Apart from the studied e-prescription and e-appointment systems, we had also planned to evaluate the third e-system (EHR) launched for PHR by IDIKA S.A. Unfortunately, the users did not evaluate the EHR system. According to PHC professionals, the EHR is a pilot application and unless proper and targeted guidelines are provided by the Ministry of Health, they refuse to use it.

A limitation of the research is that the sample of participants collected is small; moreover, the responses from nurses and administrative personnel were proportionally small compared with those of physicians. This is probably due to the fact that physicians are the most experienced professionals in IDIKA's e-system, and they were more willing to participate in the survey than nurses and administrative personnel who had much less experience in e-systems and probably wanted more time to get acquainted with them and to have a complete view. Another limitation of our survey is that the sample comes from specific administrative regions. Thus, results cannot be generalized for the PHC in Greece.

5. Conclusion

We tried to evaluate the e-prescription and e-appointment systems used by PHC personnel. Overall, users are satisfied by these systems and they consider that they are useful, usable and especially easy to learn.

Further research is required to confirm the results of this survey with a larger sample from different user groups and health districts. Specific elements of both eprescription and e-appointment systems that influence user response should be investigated. Additionally, research is required for the evaluation of the EHR system which is used by healthcare professionals in PHC in Greece.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to the participants in this study.

- Hellenic Republic, Law 2007/3607 on the Establishment and Statute of the 'e-Government Center for Social Security Services (I.DI.K.A. S.A.)' and other insurance and organizational provisions, *Official Government Gazette of the Hellenic Republic.* 245/A of 1 November 2007, L 3607 (2007).
- [2] A.M. Lund, Measuring usability with the USE questionnaire, STC Usability SIG Newsletter 8 (2) (2001), 3-6.
- [3] J.G. Anderson, Clearing the way for physicians' use of clinical information systems, *Communications of the ACM* 40 (8) (1997), 83-89.
- [4] V. Venkatesh, X. Zhang and T.A. Sykes, Doctors do too little technology: a longitudinal field study of an electronic healthcare system implementation, *Information Systems Research* 22 (3) (2011), 523-546.
- [5] A. Reich, Disciplined doctors: The electronic medical record and physicians' changing relationship to medical knowledge, *Social Science & Medicine* 74 (4) (2012), 1021-1028.
- [6] C. Kamantouridou and J. Mantas, Study of the Usability, Satisfaction, Ease of Learning and Ease of Use of the Greek e-Prescription System, Proc. [CD-ROM] of the 2018 International Conference on Informatics, Management and Technology in Health Care (ICIMTH 2018), Athens, 2018, Poster 13. pdf.

A Smart Infotainment System Equiped with Emotional Intelligence

Christos PANAGOPOULOS^{a,1}, Andreas MENYCHTAS^a, Georgios FOUSKAS^b, Vassileios PLAGIANAKOS^c, Ilias MAGLOGIANNIS^c, Konstantinos DELIMPASIS^c, Michael GALLIAKIS^c, Dimitrios PETROPOULOS^d, Christos GKARTZIOS^d and Charalampos KOUMPOULIS^d

^aBioAssist S.A., Patras, Greece ^bInstitute of Chemical Engineering Sciences, Foundation for Research and Technology - Hellas, Patras, Greece ^cDepartment of Computer Science and Medical Informatics, University of Thessaly, Lamia, Greece ^dOlympion S.A., Patras, Greece

Abstract. Bedside infotainment technology has been gaining popularity, helping providers to address patient needs and improve hospitalization experience. Such systems have the potential to become valuable tools for medical and nursing personnel, with the integration of patient monitoring features, bolstering efficiency and coordination. Extending their utility beyond conventional monitoring, the incorporation of affective computing capabilities would allow for early detection of potentially dangerous situations, as an individual's emotional state has a direct effect on their health, cognitive status, behaviour and quality of life. Furthermore, the addition of a serious games module would provide additional value for patients with the aforementioned capabilities and designed to address the needs of patients in long-term care facilities, such as recreation and rehabilitation centres.

Keywords. Bedside infotainment, patient monitoring, affective computing, serious games

1. Introduction

The value-based healthcare system becomes more competitive than ever, and hospitals need to focus on the patient experience as one of the main contributing factors to how patients evaluate their stay. Bedside infotainment and engagement systems have been gaining popularity, as they have proven to be effective in increasing patient satisfaction, helping address patient needs and improving hospitalization experience [1]. Such systems may become valuable tools for medical and nursing personnel, with the integration of patient management and monitoring features, such as automated collection of biosignals, bolstering productivity, efficiency and coordination.

¹ Corresponding Author, Christos Panagopoulos, BioAssist S.A., Kastritsiou 4, 26504, Rio, Greece; E-mail: cpan@bioassist.gr.

To extend the system's utility beyond conventional monitoring, the incorporation of affective computing capabilities would allow for early detection of potentially dangerous situations, as an individual's emotional state has a direct effect on their health, cognitive status, behaviour and quality of life [2]. The added value of the system may be further increased with the addition of serious games, which have gained prominence in the field of digital healthcare services, providing a multitude of benefits, including comprehensive assessment of a patient's physiological status and improved self-management [3].

This work presents an innovative infotainment system, named SISEI (Smart Infotainment System Equiped with Emotional Intelligence), which aspires to modernise the infrastructure and services of long-term care facilities. The SISEI solution is equipped with the aforementioned capabilities and designed to effectively address the needs of patients in recreation and rehabilitation centres. The foreseen prototype will be built upon the "HeartAround" assisted independent living platform [4], ensuring optimum levels of user-friendliness with appropriate interfaces for all types of users and exploiting the platform's communication and patient monitoring features.

2. Background

Patient infotainment terminals provide patients with access to information, communication and entertainment services, such as TV, radio and video-on-demand, Internet-based services such as Skype, news feeds, etc. Lately, considering the need for improved usability, especially when providing services to patients with cognitive decline, bedside systems have started to replace conventional displays with touch screens [5]. Therefore, a tablet PC, supported by appropriate mechanical arm, can provide an elegant solution for a bedside terminal that satisfies the need for user-friendliness, but also provides the flexibility of modern mobile app design. Based on this idea, the SISEI solution has been developed upon the mobile app of "HeartAround", which offers many of the required features.

"HeartAround" is an integrated platform for assisted independent living, incorporating communication, health monitoring and emergency response features [6]. The system, which is offered as a mobile application for Android devices, connects endusers with healthcare professionals, relatives, friends, and other caregivers, creating a social and support network. It is also capable of communicating with a wide range of Bluetooth-enabled medical and wearable devices (e.g., blood pressure monitor, blood glucose meter, oximeter, activity tracker, etc.) which allow for continuous monitoring of the user's biosignals and physical activity [7]. Furthermore, affective computing aims to equip systems with the ability to identify, deduce and interpret human emotions [8]. Emotion detection is usually based on the analysis of various parameters, such as facial expression and speech, using advanced pattern recognition techniques. To that end, analysis of video (visual and speech data) with appropriate algorithms allows us to assess an individual's emotional state. The SISEI system is able to analyse video captured during patient-physician videoconferencing and provide to the physician information about the patient's emotional status. In addition, combined analysis with the patient's biosignals, such as heartrate, will allow for more reliable results [9].

3. System Architecture and Implementation

The proposed system consists of the following sub-systems: a tablet application as the users' infotainment endpoint, a web application for doctors, carers and helpdesk users and a cloud back-end platform that coordinates the system functionalities. The system follows a service-oriented architectural design, exploiting the evolution and flexibility of cloud computing, and implements modern interfaces for all types of users.



Figure 1. SISEI Architecture.

For the implementation of the system, several cutting-edge technologies and tools have been used, on top of the technologies used for "HeartAround" such as BLE and WebRTC [10]. In order to exploit the latest advancements in the field of computer vision, the OpenCV framework [11] was used for the serious games functionality, to track the user's posture, gestures and body, as well as objects related to the game. In parallel, machine learning techniques are applied to facilitate the transformation of the tracking information to knowledge in the context of each game. For the later, the TensorFlow [12] and Keras [13] frameworks have been integrated, which are also used to implement models for emotion detection based on facial features and speech. In future implementations, we expect to further improve the user experience, and also implement more complex games with 3D graphics and animations, by utilizing the capabilities of Unity platform.

Considering the needs of patients undergoing rehabilitation, two types of serious games are incorporated in the system - serious games for cognitive assessment/rehabilitation and exergames. The first type includes problem-solving games, such as puzzles, while the second involves appropriate physical exercises. Game scores will also be stored in the patient's records to be assessed by their physicians.

The user's doctor is able to access their patients' PHR (Personal Health Records) in compliance with GDPR and privacy policies, which may include medical history, laboratory test results, medication and allergies, and utilize the available tools to assess their health condition. The doctor may also define a monitoring schedule, comprising of a timeline for specific measurements with respective thresholds for each type of measurement. The system processes the data related to the schedule on the cloud and whenever a measurement exceeds the respective threshold, the doctor is automatically notified. The platform also facilitates a helpdesk service, which can provide emergency support when anomalies or potential situations are detected, or at the user's request.

4. Conclusions and Future Work

This paper has presented the SISEI solution, an innovative bedside infotainment system, equipped with affective computing features and functionalities that are able to provide valuable services to patients in long-term care. Moving further than conventional patient monitoring practice, the system is able to provide a high-level assessment the patient's emotional status, as well as cognitive abilities, which can provide valuable information to care personnel and enable them to undertake appropriate measures to mitigate cognitive decline or affective disorders. Furthermore, the system's exergames functionality can be a valuable tool to address the needs of patients in rehabilitation, encouraging appropriate physical exercise in an enjoyable manner.

Future work involves piloting the prototype within an operational scenario, in order to assess the feasibility of the concept and the actual impact on the services provided, as well as user acceptance. Pilots in two recreation and rehabilitation centers have been planned, with the installation of at least 50 terminals. The medical experts will actively participate in the piloting activities to provide feedback, assess the quality of the results and the effectiveness of the overall system, and identify its limitations.

Acknowledgement

This research has been co-financed by the European Union and Greek national funds through the Operational Program Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation, under the call RESEARCH – CREATE – INNOVATE (project code: T1EDK-01046).

- [1] N. Wickramasinghe and L. O'Connor, *Enabling patient centred care co-ordination with the Point of Care system*, 2018.
- [2] P.D. Bamidis et al., Affective Computing in the Era of Contemporary Neurophysiology and Health Informatics, *Interacting with Computers* 16 (4) (2004), 715-721.
- [3] A. Lu, Serious Games for Healthcare: Applications and Implications, Games for Health Journal 2 (5) (2013), 313-314
- [4] HeartAround Platform. https://heartaround.com
- [5] Ø. Dale, E.S. Boysen and I. Svagård, One Size Does Not Fit All, International Conference on Computers Helping People with Special Needs, Springer, Cham (2016), 302-309.
- [6] C. Panagopoulos, F. Malli, A. Menychtas, E.P. Smyrli, A. Georgountzou et al., Utilizing a homecare platform for remote monitoring of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, *GeNeDis 2016*, Springer, Cham, 2017, 177-187.
- [7] A. Menychtas, D. Papadimatos, P. Tsanakas and I. Maglogiannis, On the integration of wearable sensors in IoT enabled mHealth and quantified-self applications, *Interactive Mobile Communication*, *Technologies and Learning*, Springer, Cham, 2017, 77-88.
- [8] S. Poria, E. Cambria, R. Bajpai and A. Hussain, A review of affective computing: From unimodal analysis to multimodal fusion, *Information Fusion* 37 (2017), 98-125.
- [9] G. Riva, R. Calvo and C. Lisetti, Cyberpsychology and affective computing, *The Oxford Handbook of Affective Computing*, 2015, 547-558.
- [10] A. Menychtas, P. Tsanakas and I. Maglogiannis, Automated integration of wireless biosignal collection devices for patient-centred decision-making in point-of-care systems, *Healthcare technology letters* 3 (1) (2016), 34-40.
- [11] OpenCV. https://opencv.org/
- [12] TensorFlow. https://www.tensorflow.org/
- [13] Keras. https://keras.io/

An Epidemiological Analysis for H1N1 Infection

Stelios ZIMERAS^a and Marianna DIOMIDOUS^{b,1}

^aDepartment of Statistics and Actuarial-Financial Mathematics, University of Aegean, Karlovassi, Samos, Greece ^bDepartment of Nursing, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Abstract. During the last years the dependence of inflections have been increased, especially the infection H1N1, in Europe as well as in Greece. Especially the last 2 years (2017-2018) the percentage of spreading is still significant. For the analysis of the impact's diseases in population during these periods, epidemiological indexes have been introduced.

Keywords. Infection H1N1, epidemiological indexes, virus

1. Introduction

On winter time an upsurge in influenza virus activity is monitoring. The mortality caused by seasonal flu can be varied each year. The characteristics of the virus circulating and the degree of immunity that the different groups have, are some factors that affect the mortality. The influenza virus is constantly mutating genetically and antigenically from year to year. If these changes are large, and there is no immunity in the population, this influenza virus may lead to a pandemic [1-3]. In case of pandemic, the spreading of the disease is intense and fast into the population. This means that a large number of people get sick at the same time, many of them seriously. A situation like this creates serious problems in the healthcare system and implications in social and health activity [1,4]. This is the reason that leading us to inspect the degree of development of the spreading using epidemiological indexes. It must be always kept in mind that the flu is unpredictable, and therefore both the onset, as well the duration of seasonal outbreak may vary from season to season. It should also be noted that the activity of influenza is never nil; beyond the epidemic wave in the winter, sporadic cases of influenza there are all year round [2-4].

2. Epidemiological Analysis for H1N1 Infection for Greece

During the 40th week of 2017 to 20th week of 2018, 111 cases have been recorded in laboratory and 107 of them hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) in Greece [5,6]. During the same period in Greece, 48 deaths have been recorded, 38 of them were

¹ Corresponding Author, Marianna Diomidous, Associate Professor of Epidemiology, Papadiamantopoulou Street 123, 11527 Athens, Greece; E-mail: mdiomidi@nurs.uoa.gr.

hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) and 4 of them not hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) [5].

The prevalence (P) for the infected patients is 96.3%. The corresponding percentage (probability) for the patients whom hospitalized in ICU under death and survive is 32.8% (42/107) and 60.7% (65/107). During the period week 40/2018 to week 6/2019, in Greece, 226 cases have been recorded in laboratory, 219 of them were hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) [6]. During the same period in Greece, 56 deaths have been recorded, 49 of them whom hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) and 7 of them not hospitalized in Intensive Care Units (ICU) [6].

During the previous period, the prevalence (P) for the infected patients is 96.9% (219/226). The corresponding percentage (probability) for the patients whom hospitalized in ICU under death and survive is 25.5% (56/219) and 74.4% (163/219). Map of geographic spreading of Greece, for 2018 and 2019 (expectation) is given in Figure 1.



Figure 1. H1N1 geographic spread maps of Greece for 2018 and 2019 (expectation) (source: WHO, 2019; European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2019)

3. Conclusion

In this work, an introduction of a spreading disease analysis for the influence H1N1 is described based on epidemiological indexes. Based on the results, an increase of the H1N1 cases were recorded in the general population as well as in the cases that hospitalized in ICU.

- R.J. Webby and R.G. Webster, Emergence of influenza A viruses, *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356 (2001), 1817-1828.
- [2] F.S. Dawood, S. Jain, L. Finelli, M.W. Shaw, S. Lindstrom, R.J. Garten et al., Emergence of a novel swineorigin influenza A (H1N1) virus in humans, N Engl J Med 360 (2009), 2605-2615.
- [3] L. Simonsen, K. Fukuda, L.B. Schonberger and N.J. Cox, The impact of influenza epidemics on hospitalizations, J Infect Dis 181 (2000), 831-837.
- [4] L.Y. Chang, S.R. Shih, P.L. Shao, D.T. Huang and L.M. Huang, Novel swine-origin influenza virus A (H1N1): The first pandemic of the 21st century, *J Formos Med Assoc* 108 (2009), 526-532.
- [5] Hellenic center for disease control and prevention (HCDCP), Annual epidemiological report, 2017.
- [6] Hellenic center for disease control and prevention (HCDCP), Annual epidemiological report, 2018.

Phenotyping UK Electronic Health Records from 15 Million Individuals for Precision Medicine: The CALIBER Resource

Spiros DENAXAS^{a,b,c,1}, Arturo GONZALEZ-IZQUIERDO^{a,b,c}, Natalie FITZPATRICK^{a,b,c}, Kenan DIREK^{a,b,c} and Harry HEMINGWAY^{a,b,c} ^aInstitute of Health Informatics, University College London, United Kingdom ^bHealth Data Research UK, University College London, United Kingdom ^cThe National Institute for Health Research University College London Hospitals Biomedical Research Centre, United Kingdom

Abstract. Electronic health records (EHR) are increasingly being used for observational research at scale. In the UK, we have established the CALIBER research resource which utilizes national primary and hospital EHR data sources and enables researchers to create and validate longitudinal disease phenotypes at scale. In this work, we will describe the core components of the resource and provide results from three exemplar research studies on high-resolution epidemiology, disease risk prediction and subtype discovery which demonstrate both the opportunities and challenges of using EHR for research.

Keywords. electronic health records, phenotyping, data linkage, prognosis, biomedical informatics

1. Introduction

Electronic Health Records (EHR) are a rich source of information on human diseases [1]. EHR are generated during routine patient interactions in primary or secondary healthcare. EHR can contain information on diagnoses, symptoms. surgical procedures and interventions, prescriptions, laboratory biomarkers (e.g. high-density lipoprotein cholesterol) and physiological measurements (e.g. blood pressure (BP), body mass index). Linking EHR which span primary care and hospital healthcare settings in the United Kingdom (UK) can enable researchers to create longitudinal phenotypes that accurately capture disease onset, severity, and progression [2]. The process of defining disease phenotypes in EHR data however is challenging and time-consuming since EHR are variably structured, fragmented, curated using different clinical terminologies and collected for purposes other than medical research [3].

¹ Corresponding Author, Spiros Denaxas, Institute of Health Informatics, 222 Euston Road, University College London, NW1 2DA, London, United Kingdom; E-mail: s.denaxas@ucl.ac.uk.

2. Objective

Here we present and describe a state-of-the-art phenomics resource, CALIBER, for developing, validating and sharing reproducible phenotypes in national structured EHR in the UK. We additionally briefly describe contemporary research exemplars using CALIBER data for translational research: a) disaggregating disease endpoints through high resolution clinical epidemiology, b) disease risk prediction using supervised machine learning approaches, and c) subtype discovery using unsupervised learning.

3. Methods

3.1. CALIBER phenomics resource

We implemented and applied a rule-based phenotyping framework [4] for extracting information on diseases (status, severity, onset), lifestyle risk factors and biomarkers and applied it to a sample of 15 million individuals. CALIBER utilizes data from three national EHR sources: a) primary care EHR from the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD), b) administrative data on diagnoses and procedures during admission to hospital from Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), and c) cause-specific mortality information from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) death register. Data were recorded using five controlled clinical terminologies: a) Read (primary care), b) ICD-10 (hospital diagnoses, causes of death), c) ICD-9 (causes of death <1999), d) OPCS-4 (surgical procedures), and d) DM+D (prescriptions in primary care).

3.2. Contemporary research exemplars

We present three contemporary research exemplars utilizing the CALIBER resource and phenotyping framework: a) <u>high resolution epidemiology</u>: we calculated Hazard Ratios (HRs) based on disease-specific Cox models with time since study entry as the timescale, adjusted for baseline age and stratified by sex and primary care practice and report the associations of systolic and diastolic BP with 12 different cardiovascular diseases (CVD), b) <u>disease risk prediction</u>: using a global vectors model [5], we trained clinical concept embeddings from hospitalization diagnosis and procedure information recorded in HES and evaluated them for predicting for the risk of admission to hospital in heart failure (HF) patients, and c) <u>subtype discovery</u>: we applied dimensionality reduction using multiple correspondence analysis and data clustering using k-means to a cohort of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) patients in order to identify and characterize novel and clinically-meaningful disease subtypes.

4. Results

4.1. CALIBER phenomics resource

We created an iterative, rule-based EHR phenotyping approach which combined domain expert input with data exploration. We curated >90,000 ontology terms from five clinical terminologies and created 51 phenotyping algorithms (35 diseases/syndromes, ten

biomarkers, six lifestyle risk factors). Phenotype validation is a critical step in the process, and we provided up to six approaches for validating phenotypes: a) the ability to replicate aetiological and prognostic associations reported from non-EHR studies, b) case note review for Positive Predictive Value (PPV) reporting, c) the ability to replicate associations with genetic variants from non-EHR Genome-Wide Association Studies, d) algorithm performance in external populations, and e) cross-EHR-source concordance and stratification of populations.

For each phenotype, we created a textual description with details on the implementation logic, the pre-processing steps and implementation steps. For some algorithms, we generated flowchart descriptions to describe how different components are combined to form the finalized phenotype and for facilitating the translation to machine-code (e.g. SQL) for execution and data extraction. Algorithms are curated on an open-access resource, the CALIBER Portal (https://www.caliberresearch.org/portal), [6,7] and have been used in >60 publications from national and international research groups. Each phenotype page on the Portal² contains sufficient implementation and validation information for external researchers to re-use the algorithm.

4.2. Contemporary research exemplars

<u>High-resolution epidemiology</u>: In a cohort of 1.25 million patients, we reported [8] highly-heterogeneous associations between BP and CVD disease endpoints: high systolic BP was more strongly associated with stable angina, Hazard Ratio (HR) 0.41 [95% CI 1.36-1.46] than diastolic whereas diastolic BP had the strongest association with abdominal aortic aneurysm (HR 1.45 [95% CI 1.34–1.56]). We have undertaken similar analyses in other conventional CVD risk factors e.g. smoking [9], type-II diabetes [10], alcohol [11], social deprivation [12], heart rate [13], sex [14].

<u>Disease risk prediction</u>: We trained clinical concept embeddings [15] from 2,447 ICD-9, 10,527 ICD-10 and 6,887 OPCS-4 terms across 2,779,598 hospitalizations in the UK Biobank. In the UK Biobank, we identified 4,581 HF cases (using the CALIBER HF phenotype [16,17])(30.52% female) and matched them to 13,740 controls. Clinical concept embeddings performed marginally better (AUROC 0.6965) than one-hot encoding of hospitalization data for predicting admission to hospital due to HF.

Disease subtype discovery: In the CPRD [18], we identified 30,961 current and former smokers diagnosed with COPD and extracted 15 clinical features including risk factors and comorbidities. Using clustering, we identified five clinically-meaningful COPD clusters with distinct dominant clinical profiles (e.g. anxiety/depression, frailty, CVD, obesity and atopy) and different healthcare utilization and exacerbation profiles.

5. Conclusions

In this manuscript, we described the CALIBER resource as a framework for using national EHR from primary and secondary health care, disease and national mortality registries. Challenges remain with regards to scaling the phenotyping efforts to thousands of diseases and for recreating the life course of disease [19].

² For example, www.caliberresearch.org/portal/phenotypes/heartfailure.

- [1] H. Hemingway, F.W. Asselbergs, J. Danesh, R. Dobson, N. Maniadakis, A. Maggioni et al., Big data from electronic health records for early and late translational cardiovascular research: challenges and potential, *Eur Heart J* 39 (2018), 1481–1495.
- [2] S.C. Denaxas and K.I. Morley, Big biomedical data and cardiovascular disease research: opportunities and challenges, Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 1 (2015), 9–16.
- [3] G. Hripcsak and D.J. Albers, Next-generation phenotyping of electronic health records, J Am Med Inform Assoc 20 (2013), 117–121.
- [4] S.C. Denaxas, J. George, E. Herrett, A.D. Shah, D. Kalra, A.D. Hingorani et al., Data resource profile: cardiovascular disease research using linked bespoke studies and electronic health records (CALIBER), *Int J Epidemiol* 41 (2012), 1625–1638.
- [5] J. Pennington, R. Socher and C. Manning, Glove: Global Vectors for Word Representation, Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP), Association for Computational Linguistics, Stroudsburg, PA, USA, 2014, 1532–1543.
- [6] K.I. Morley, J. Wallace, S.C. Denaxas, R.J. Hunter, R.S. Patel, P. Perel et al., Defining disease phenotypes using national linked electronic health records: a case study of atrial fibrillation, *PLoS One* 9 (2014), e110900.
- [7] S. Denaxas, A. Gonzalez-Izquierdo, K. Direk, N. Fitzpatrick, A. Banerjee, R. Dobson et al., UK phenomics platform for developing and validating EHR phenotypes: CALIBER, *bioRxiv* (2019). doi:10.1101/539403
- [8] E. Rapsomaniki, A. Timmis, J. George, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, A.D. Shah, S. Denaxas et al., Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people, *Lancet* 383 (2014), 1899–1911.
- [9] M. Pujades-Rodriguez, J. George, A.D. Shah, E. Rapsomaniki, S. Denaxas, R. West et al., Heterogeneous associations between smoking and a wide range of initial presentations of cardiovascular disease in 1937360 people in England: lifetime risks and implications for risk prediction, *Int J Epidemiol* 44 (2015), 129–141.
- [10] A.D. Shah, C. Langenberg, E. Rapsomaniki, S. Denaxas, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, C.P. Gale et al., Type 2 diabetes and incidence of cardiovascular diseases: a cohort study in 1.9 million people, *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* 3 (2015), 105–113.
- [11] S. Bell, M. Daskalopoulou, E. Rapsomaniki, J. George, A. Britton, M. Bobak, et al., Association between clinically recorded alcohol consumption and initial presentation of 12 cardiovascular diseases: population-based cohort study using linked health records, *BMJ* 356 (2017), j909.
- [12] M. Pujades-Rodriguez, A. Timmis, D. Stogiannis, E. Rapsomaniki, S. Denaxas, A. Shah et al., Socioeconomic deprivation and the incidence of 12 cardiovascular diseases in 1.9 million women and men: implications for risk prediction and prevention, *PLoS One. journals.plos.org* 9 (2014), e104671.
- [13] O. Archangelidi, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, A. Timmis, X. Jouven, S. Denaxas and H. Hemingway, Clinically recorded heart rate and incidence of 12 coronary, cardiac, cerebrovascular and peripheral arterial diseases in 233,970 men and women: A linked electronic health record study, *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 25 (2018), 1485– 1495.
- [14] J. George, E. Rapsomaniki, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, A.D. Shah, S. Denaxas, E. Herrett et al., How Does Cardiovascular Disease First Present in Women and Men? Incidence of 12 Cardiovascular Diseases in a Contemporary Cohort of 1,937,360 People. *Circulation. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov* 132 (2015), 1320–1328.
- [15] S. Denaxas, P. Stenetorp, S. Riedel, M. Pikoula, R. Dobson and H. Hemingway, Application of Clinical Concept Embeddings for Heart Failure Prediction in UK EHR data [Internet], arXiv [cs.CL], 2018. arXiv:1811.11005.
- [16] A. Uijl, S. Koudstaal, K. Direk, S. Denaxas, R.H.H. Groenwold, A. Banerjee et al., Risk factors for incident heart failure in age- and sex-specific strata: a population-based cohort using linked electronic health records, *Eur J Heart Fail* (2019). doi:10.1002/ejhf.1350.
- [17] S. Koudstaal, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, S. Denaxas, J.M. Gho, A.D. Shah, N. Yu et al., Prognostic burden of heart failure recorded in primary care, acute hospital admissions, or both: a population-based linked electronic health record cohort study in 2.1 million people, *Eur J Heart Fail. Wiley* 19(2017), 1119–1127.
- [18] M. Pikoula, J.K. Quint, F. Nissen, H. Hemingway, L. Smeeth and S. Denaxas, Identifying clinically important COPD sub-types using data-driven approaches in primary care population based electronic health records, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 19 (2019), 86.
- [19] V. Kuan, S. Denaxas et al., A chronological map of 308 physical and mental health conditions from 4 million individuals in the National Health Service, *Lancet Digital Health* 1 (2019), e63-e77. doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30012-3.

Inappropriate Use of Public Hospitals Emergency Departments in Greece: Magnitude and Associated Factors

Petros GALANIS^a, Olga SISKOU^{a,1}, Giorgos CHARALAMBOUS^b, Olympia KONSTANTAKOPOULOU^a, Angeliki LIARIGKOVINOU^c, Iliana KARAGKOUNI^a, George TSOLAS^d, Panagiota CHATZI^e, Aikaterini GIOTAKI^f, George KERAMIDAS^g, Amalia NIKOLAKAKOU^f, Aikaterini PAPACHRISTOU^d, Panagiotis PAPATHEODOROU^e, Vasiliki PAPASTEFANOPOULOU^h, Ioannis SKOUNTZOS^h, Amalia THERMOGIANNI^f and Daphne KAITELIDOU^a ^a Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece ^b Emergency Department, General Hospital of Athens "Hippokratio" Greece ^c Public Health Department, National School of Public Health, Athens, Greece ^d Institute for Nursing Research and Health Policy (INEPY), Athens, Greece ^g Korgialenio Benakeio Hospital of Athens, Greece ^h Sismanogleio Hospital of Athens, Greece

Abstract. The aim of this study was to evaluate the appropriateness of use of the Emergency Departments (EDs) and to identify the reasons for inappropriate use. A study with 805 patients visiting the EDs of four large-scale public hospitals in Athens was conducted using the Hospital Urgencies Appropriateness Protocol (HUAP). 38.1% of the visits (n=307) were estimated as inappropriate, due to several reasons such as increased confidence in hospital rather than primary care services/ patients' expectation for improved care in EDs (46.6%), convenience/proximity to patient's residence (44.6%) etc. Ageing, Greek nationality and insurance coverage were related with the appropriate use of EDs (p<0.001, p=0.04 and p=0.005, respectively). The identified distortions must be tackled so as to mitigate ED crowding, waste of resources and increase quality and responsiveness of care.

Keywords. emergency department, public hospital, inappropriate use of EDs, HUAP

1. Introduction

According to the American College of Emergency Medicine and the Emergency Nurses Association [1,2], ED crowding constitutes one of the major obstacles for EDs

¹ Corresponding Author, Olga Siskou, RN, MSc, PhD; Senior Researcher Center for Health Services Management and Evaluation-Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece; E-mail: olsiskou@nurs.uoa.gr.

to achieve their multiple roles. In fact, this problem has been occurring with alarming frequency worldwide. Indeed, in many countries ED visit rates appear to have dramatically increased [3]. The need to identify reasons and potential solutions has led scientists in different countries and in Greece as well, to use specific criteria [4]. In many cases, these increasing rates have been correlated with patients' inappropriate visits in EDs, due to various factors according to patient's self-related responses.

In Greece, EDs constitute the most overused units in terms of exceeding demand. Based on data derived from the ESYnet information system of the Ministry of Health attendances to public hospitals EDs fluctuated from 4.7 to 4.9 mil./annually (equals to 0.43-0.45 visits/inhabitant/annually) over the past seven years (2012-2018). Waiting times in many cases range from 5 to 8 hours, while real emergency cases wait for hours to be considered. The biggest problem is met in the Attica Region, where on a daily basis, around 4,450 individuals visit the EDs (data from three largest hospitals in Attica) [5], a number which often increases during the general on-call days [6]. Nevertheless, these cases are not all urgent, as a great proportion (at least 25%) constitutes inappropriate visits [7,8] due to lack of an integrated Primary Health Care and referral, organizational, psychological, self- related, and/or other reasons [9-13].

The aim of this study was to evaluate the appropriateness of use of the EDs and to identify the respective reasons of inappropriate use.

2. Methods

A non-invasive cross-sectional study was conducted in 2015. The study sample consisted of 805 individuals visiting the EDs of four large-scale public hospitals in Athens (convenience sampling). Data collection was conducted by the investigators via face to face interviews with patients after obtaining their verbal informed consent.

The Hospital Urgencies Appropriateness Protocol (HUAP), an open licensed tool, was used to identify inappropriate visits [10]. The study was carried out following the acquisition of all necessary permissions from the hospitals included in the study. Data were collected and analyzed in a way that ensured anonymity and confidentiality, aligned with the European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).

Pearson's x^2 test was used to determine associations between categorical variables and student's t-test was applied for the analysis of group differences within age. Regarding the appropriate use of EDs, we performed backward stepwise multivariate logistic regression analysis in order to eliminate confounding and we estimated adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the independent variables included in the model. Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 21.0 and a two-sided significance level was set at 0.05.

3. Results

According to HUAP explicit criteria, 38.1% (n=307) used the EDs inappropriately. The main reasons for inappropriate use of hospital EDs are shown in Table 1.

Bivariate analyses showed that age, nationality and insurance coverage status were related with the appropriate use of EDs. In particular, mean age of participants that chose to use EDs appropriately was 57.9 years (19.6), while mean age of those that chose to use EDs inappropriately was 50.4 years (19.8) (p<0.001). Greek participants

chose to use EDs appropriately in a greater percentage than the non-Greek participants (63.3% vs. 53.2%, p=0.04). Also, participants with health insurance coverage chose appropriately to use EDs in a greater percentage than participants without health insurance coverage (46.8% vs. 31.6%, p=0.005). Finally, logistic regression analysis identified that increased age (OR=1.02, 95% CI=1.01 to 1.03, p<0.001) was associated with increased probability of appropriate use of EDs.

Table	1. T	he ma	ain r	easons	for	inappro	priate	use of	host	oital	EDs (n=307)	
1 4010		ne m	**** *	cusons	101	mappio	prince	400 01	1100	Jittui	LD0 (1 507)	•

Reason	N (%)
Patients had more confidence in hospital rather than primary care services/patients expected better care in EDs	46.6%
Patients' residence was closer to the hospital	44.6%
Patients needed diagnostic tests (X-rays, laboratory tests, etc)	31.6%
Patients were not aware whether an out-of-hospital emergency health service was at their disposal or its contact details (telephone number or address)	27%
Long waiting lists for hospital outpatient consultation	20.8%
Long waiting lists for appointments with non-hospital specialists	19.2%
Long waiting lists for primary care consultation (with contracted physicians or in health centers)	16.9%
Patients' family prompted them to the EDs	16.9%
No primary care physician had been assigned to the patient (e.g. family doctor)	16.3%
Lack of a (primary care) physician in the public health system	14.3%
Inability to contact primary care services	13%
Patient did not trust their primary care physician	10.1%

4. Discussion

Study results showed that a significant percentage of the participants (38.1%) used the EDs inappropriately, a consistent finding with many studies conducted on an international level, ranging from 10% to 90% [3,14]. Our study revealed several reasons for inappropriate use of EDs such as increased confidence in hospital rather than primary care services/patient expected better care in EDs, convenience/proximity to patient's residence, need of diagnostic tests, lack of knowledge and information regarding the available PHC services, long waiting times for hospital outpatient consultation and/or long waiting lists for appointments with non-hospital specialists and/or primary care consultation (with contracted physicians or in health centers), etc.

Literature shows that non-emergency visits constitute an important factor for ED crowding. Indeed, in case of Greece this finding is related to the way emergency care is organized. In the two Metropolitan Areas of Athens and Thessaloniki, emergency care is provided on a rotating basis by a few selected hospitals on a given day, resulting to overcrowding every 3-4 days and also problem with patient admissions. Since patients can only be admitted into a hospital when it is on emergency duty, hospital doctors arrange for "their essentially private patients" to come to the emergency department, and the patient is admitted on bogus emergency admission orders by the "attending" physician. Thus, an actual emergency case may find needed hospital beds already occupied. The end result is patient dissatisfaction, on rare occasions, adverse effects on a patient's health and of course a waste of resources and money [15]. Extrapolating the current study results to national level, more than 1.5 mil. visits/year to EDs are estimated as inappropriately conducted, resulting to an extravagance of \in 120 mil

annually, an amount of money that could be exploited for employing about 5,500 nurses².

Our proposal to deal with this situation is the creation of independent Emergency Care Units in selected large public hospitals (staffed with permanent healthcare personnel specialized in emergency care), operating on a 24 h/7 days basis [15].

Additionally, there is need to implement interventions and corrective measures such as an integrated patient screening system based on criteria of emergency or nonemergency of the incident, grading measures, (directed to patients, primary health doctors and private doctors) so as to control the "adverse selection" which drives the exceeding demand for the EDs. Moreover, Primary Health Care sector should act as a gatekeeper of the system and not as a mediator or referral agent. Finally, political willingness to maintain the continuity of the corrective measures and strict regulations accompanied by robust auditing mechanisms constitute essential prerequisites in order to improve the emergency care system in Greece.

- American College of Emergency Physicians, Crowding, Approved January 2006. Available at: http://www.acep.org/ practices.aspx?id=29156 (accessed 22.9.2019)
- [2] Emergency nurses association, Crowding, Boarding and Patient Throughput, Position Statement. Available at: https://www.ena.org/docs/default-source/resource-library/practice-resources/positionstatements/crowdingboardingandpatientthroughput.pdf?sfvrsn=5fb4e79f 4 (accessed 21.9.2019)
- [3] J.M. Pines, J.A. Hilton et al., International perspectives on emergency department crowding, Academic Emergency Medicine 18 (2011), 1358
- [4] D. Oterino, S. Peiró, et al., Utilización inadecuada de un servicio de urgencias hospitalario. Una evaluación con criterios explícitos, *Gac Sanit* 13 (1999), 361-370
- [5] P.G. Fragkakis, Ishikawa diagram for waiting in emergencies of public hospitals, 2017. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318530237 (accessed 10.10.2018)
- [6] I. Vlassis, A. Katrava and A. Liarigkovinou, Emergency Departments: the necessary intervention for improving hospital care, *Review of Local Authority and Regional Development* 31 (2003), 91-92 (In Greek)
- [7] S. Gentile, A.C. Durand et al., Do non-urgent patients presenting to an emergency department agree with a reorientation towards an alternative care department?, *Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique*, 57 (2009), 3-9.
- [8] O.W. Hugli, M. Potin, N. Schreyer and B. Yersin, Emergency department overcrowding: a legitimate reason to refuse access to urgent care for non-urgent patients?, *Rev Med Suisse* 75 (2006),1836-1839.
- [9] A.C. Durand, S. Gentile et al., ED patients: how non-urgent are they? Systematic review of the emergency medicine literature, Am J Emerg Med 29 (2011), 333-345
- [10] T. Sempere Selva, S.Peiró, P. Sendra-Pina, C. Martínez-Espín and I. López-Aguilera, Inappropriate Use of an Accident and Emergency Department: Magnitude, Associated Factors, and Reasons—An Approach with Explicit Criteria, *American College of Emergency Physicians* 37 (2001), 568-579.
- [11] P.L. Owens, M.L. Barret, T.B. Gibson et al., Emergency Department Care in the United States: A Profile of National Data Sources, Ann Emerg Med 56 (2010), 150–165.
- [12] T. Chu-Lin, Appropriate Statistical Treatment of Frequent Emergency Department Visits in Health Services Research, Ann Emerg Med 49 (2007), 385.
- [13] M.G. Burnett and S.A. Grover, Use of the emergency department for nonurgent care during regular business hours, CMAJ 154 (1996), 1345-1351.
- [14] F. Porro, C. Folli and V. Monzani, Reasons for inappropriate attendance of the Emergency Room in a large metropolitan hospital, *European journal of internal Medicine* 24 (2013), 13-14.
- [15] L. Liaropoulos, O. Siskou, N. Kontodimopoulos, D. Kaitelidou, P. Lazarou, M. Spinthouri and K. Tsavalias, Restructuring the hospital sector in Greece in order to improve effectiveness and efficiency, *Social Cohesion and Development* 7 (2012), 53-68

² Cost per ED visit was considered to \notin 80 (Governmental Gazette 1702, 01/08/2011). Moreover, based on data derived from accounting offices of public hospitals the average gross annual remuneration cost of a nurse was estimated to about \notin 22,000.

An Evolutionary Bootstrapping Development Approach for a Mental Health Conversational Agent

Mowafa HOUSEH^{a,1}, Jens SCHNEIDER^a, Kashif AHMAD^a, Tanvir ALAM^a, Dena Al-THANI^a, Mohamed Ali SIDDIG^b, Luis FERNANDEZ-LUQUE^c, Marwa QARAQE^a, Ala ALFUQUHA^a and Shekhar SAXENA^d

 ^a Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar
^b Community Mental Health Services, Hamad Medical Corporation, Doha, Qatar
^c Qatar Computing Research Institute (QCRI), Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar

^d Global Health and Population, Harvard T H Chan School of Public Health, Harvard University, United States of America

Abstract. Conversational agents are being used to help in the screening, assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of common mental health disorders. In this paper, we propose a bootstrapping approach for the development of a digital mental health conversational agent (i.e., chatbot). We start from a basic rule-based expert system and iteratively move towards a more sophisticated platform composed of specialized chatbots each aiming to assess and pre-diagnose a specific mental health disorder using machine learning and natural language processing techniques. During each iterative design process. A survival of the fittest approach is also used to assess the continuation or removal of a specialized mental health chatbot in each generational design. We anticipate that our unique and novel approach can be used for the development of conversational mental health agents with the ultimate goal of designing a smart chatbot that delivers evidence-based care and contributes to scaling up services while decreasing the pressure on mental health care providers.

Keywords. Mental health, Arab world, conversational agent, depression, anxiety, Qatar

1. Introduction

The use of conversational chatbot agents has reemerged as a relatively new phenomenon within the healthcare sphere. Conversational chatbots are computer programs that use auditory, textual and visual methods to interact with human users [1]. The first conversational agent was developed in 1966, called ELIZA, to stimulate text based psychotherapy interaction via text messages [2]. With the increase of online data and

¹ Corresponding Author, Mowafa Househ, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar; E-mail: mowafah@gmail.com.

recent advancements in machine learning and natural language processing (NLP), conversational agents developed by companies such as Google (Google Home), Microsoft (Cortana) and Amazon (Amazon Alexa) are now household names used by the mass consumers to shop, search for music, ask general questions, and for general health [2]. Only recently has the phenomenon of using healthcare based conversational chatbots, especially with free flowing conversations, within health have started to emerge [3]. Systematic reviews on the use of conversational chatbot agents acknowledge their limited use but also report promising results for general health and well-being [2].

There can be a variety of approaches to build chatbots/conversational agents, such as agile, incremental or prototyping methods. One method that may be utilized for developing a conversational mental health agent is a bootstrapping approach. Originally referring to an absurdly impossible action ("pull oneself over a fence by one's bootstraps") [4], *bootstrapping* has become a term to refer to powerful bottom-up approaches in ab-initio system design [4]. In this context, bootstrapping refers to the approach of first solving smaller, realistically achievable sub-problems of the original task at hand, followed by using these smaller solutions as tools to address and solve the original challenge. Akin to watchmakers first building their tools before designing the movement of a watch, every subcomponent of the solution is carefully instrumented in order to finally solve the original task. The purpose of this paper is to present a bootstrapping approach for the development of a mental health conversational agent/chatbot. In this paper, we use the term **bootstrapping** to refer to a design process of a digital mental health platform based on an authored expert system; namely, a rulebased chatbot, with the ultimate goal to design a smart chatbot offloading medical practitioners of all but the most pressing cases.

2. Bootstrapping Development Approach

We suggest that the chatbot/conversational agent be developed in a set of generations or evolutions as shown in Figure 1. For *Generation 1*, we start with an initial rule-based chatbot that performs basic screening and assessment of patients according to a number of common mental health disorders such as depression, anxiety, stress, social phobias, and obsessive compulsive disorders and provides relevant recommendations based on the assessment and screening results. All interactions and steps will be recorded and anonymized. At the end of each session, medical professionals and patients rank the performance of the chatbot with respect to its screening, assessment, and recommendations using a Likert-style scale of performance (e.g., Level 1: Unsatisfactory to Level 5: Exceptional). If improvements are flagged by patients and medical professionals, qualitative feedback on how to improve the chatbot will be sought. The feedback gained from this process will be used to build the next generation of the Chatbot.



Figure 1. Block diagram of the proposed bootstrapping based chatbot for a mental health conversational agent. The receptionist is where the first patient and chatbot interaction occurs. Generation 1 is a rule-based chatbot, and with time, each subsequent generation will use Natural Language Processing and Machine Learning and less rules to guide the conversation to a more human-like form.

Based on the feedback from *generation 1*, *Generation 2* is created. For generation 2, Machine Learning and Natural Language Processing (NLP) techniques will be used to a) reduce the complexity of the chatbot and b) refine the rule set of each chatbot. For example, in generation 1, the receptionist end of the chatbot will provide the user with a list of symptoms for the user to choose from. In generation 2, the list will be removed and a more natural conversation using NLP will be implemented. Furthermore, two different types of machine learning techniques; namely, supervised and reinforcement learning can be employed for Generation 2. Supervised learning techniques along with an encoder-decoder can be used to directly map patients' dialogues to physicians' responses. In case of reinforcement learning, the chatbot can be trained through trial-and-error based conversations with either physicians or a rule-based user simulator. The NLP techniques will be used for feature extraction from the text streams exchanged between chatbots and patients. After data is collected, feedback from patients and medical consultants will be sought to validate and improve the chatbot.

From generation 2 and onwards, the chatbot will be split up into a number of chatbot subsets that are specialized in assessing each common mental health disorder such as anxiety or depression. As such, newer generation chatbots will only assess a patient based on a specific screening test at a low and more in-depth level. For example, if a person writes in the receptionist chatbot that they feel "sad," this may lead the chatbot to call up the anxiety GAD7 test. If results of the GAD7 test show moderate to low anxiety, the chatbot would call up the depression assessment tool, PHQ2, to conduct a quick depression screening. Depression is tested in this stage because anxiety does not appear to be the primary cause behind the patients' "sadness." If the PHQ2 test shows a moderate to high level of depression, the chatbot will call up the PHQ9 questionnaire item which is a deeper level of screening and assessment for depression.

It is worth noting that specialized chatbots (e.g., for depression or anxiety) are modular and can thus evolve parallel to each other. It is entirely conceivable that anxiety bots could be further evolved than, e.g., depression bots based on the volume of patient interactions. This modular design of our approach is tied together by the receptionist chatbot who takes some brief assessment before delegating patients to the expert chatbots. As shown, each expert chatbot operates with two goals: a) to corroborate the assumed condition of the patient and b) seek evidence severity relating to the mental health condition. If evidence for the hypothesized condition is lacking, the patient will be sent to another expert chatbot specialized in assessing the second, most likely condition. This division into modules, while designed to make the overall system easier to maintain, is completely transparent to the patient, who is handed over seamlessly and thus experiences smooth interactions as though they were with a single entity.

To provide quality assessment on the evolutionary process of training and refining chatbots, generations will not be rolled out immediately from one generation to the next, but rather depend on the number of interactions each chatbot has with the users. The more the chatbot interacts with users, the more it will improve based on the feedback mechanisms provided by patients and psychiatrists. We will periodically monitor the predictive models generated and validate them with an increasing number of expert users to reduce bias and increase variety of the expert scores. Only if the new generation outperforms the old generation, based on user and expert feedback, a generation update is performed and the process is repeated for the next generation. Chatbots modules that are not used, for example, Schizophrenia, will remain in their first generation and may later be removed in favor of a direct referral to a human expert following a survival of the fittest approach.

3. Conclusion and Future Work

In this work, we described a bootstrapping based approach for developing a mental healthcare chatbot starting from a simple rule-based expert system. Our proposed approach iteratively moves towards a more sophisticated platform with a diversified set of specialized chatbots. Each chatbot is specialized in a particular mental disorder in successive generations of the chatbot using a survival of the fittest approach. We envision each generation of chatbots to mine the data necessary for their evolution into the next generation, while at the same time specializing and improving from generation to generation. Ultimately, we envision our system to be populated by a rich diversity of chatbots specialized to assess and pre-diagnose a wide range of mental health issues.

- [1] V.M. Kumar et al., Sanative Chatbot For Health Seekers, Int J Eng Comp Sci 5 (03) (2016), 16022-16025.
- [2] L. Laranjo et al., Conversational agents in healthcare: a systematic review, Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 25 (9) (2018), 1248-1258.
- [3] S. Provoost et al., Embodied conversational agents in clinical psychology: a scoping review, *Journal of medical Internet research* 19 (5) (2017), e151.
- [4] Bootstrapping. [cited 2019; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bootstrapping].

DeepCNPP: Deep Learning Architecture to Distinguish the Promoter of Human Long Non-Coding RNA Genes and Protein-Coding Genes

 Tanvir ALAM^{a,1}, Mohammad Tariqul ISLAM^b, Mowafa HOUSEH^a, Samir Brahim BELHAOUARI^a and Ferdaus Ahmed KAWSAR^c
^a Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar
^b Computer Science Department, Southern Connecticut State University, USA
^c Department of Computing, East Tennessee State University, USA

Abstract. Promoter region of protein-coding genes are gradually being well understood, yet no comparable studies exist for the promoter of long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) genes which has emerged as a global potential regulator in multiple cellular process and different diseases for human. To understand the difference in the transcriptional regulation pattern of these genes, previously, we proposed a machine learning based model to classify the promoter of protein-coding genes and IncRNA genes. In this study, we are presenting DeepCNPP (deep coding non-coding promoter predictor), an improved model based on deep learning (DL) framework to classify the promoter of lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes. We used convolution neural network (CNN) based deep network to classify the promoter of these two broad categories of human genes. Our computational model, built upon the sequence information only, was able to classify these two groups of promoters from human at a rate of 83.34% accuracy and outperformed the existing model. Further analysis and interpretation of the output from DeepCNPP architecture will enable us to understand the difference in transcription regulatory pattern for these two groups of genes.

Keywords. deep learning, convolution neural network, long non-coding RNA, promoter

1. Introduction

Although the human genome project [1] primarily focused on the protein-coding genes exclusively, long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) genes [2], which do not encode a protein, later, emerged as a potential global regulator for different cellular processes and have shown to be involved in different diseases including cancer [3, 4]. Given the diversity in biogenesis for lncRNAs, their low-level expression and conservation make them more cryptic than protein-coding genes. Therefore, it becomes more challenging to understand their regulation and functional relevance in different pathways and diseases [4].

¹ Corresponding Author, Tanvir Alam, Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar; E-mail: talam@hbku.edu.qa.

To better understand the differences between these two groups of genes, many computational methods have been developed to distinguish the non-coding regions from the coding regions of the genome across multiple species [5]. But very few studies focused on comparing the difference in their promoter regions, which is considered as the key regulatory region for genes. In order to understand the difference in global transcriptional regulatory pattern of protein-coding genes and lncRNA genes, we need to investigate their promoter regions thoroughly. To achieve this goal, previously, we developed a traditional machine-learning models to classify these two groups of promoters using genomics, epigenomics and regulatory information in the promoter regions [6]. We used different sequence-related features (k-mer, palindromes, skewness etc.), chromatic states [7] and the putative transcription factor binding sites (TFBSs) [8] that could bind in the promoter region of these two groups of genes to elucidate their differences in transcription regulation. Though gene expression, transcription factors (TFs) controlling the genes and epigenetic information are crucial to understand the transcription regulatory network of genes, yet there is a scarcity of such information. For example, we do not have gene expression data for all cells/tissues in human; we do not have ChIP-seq data for all known TFs across all cell types in human. So, it is always advantageous to build a computational model using sequence information only so that it can work independent of other available factors. Here we interrogated, at genome-wide scale, to test the hypothesis that only DNA sequence information of the promoter region is well enough to elucidate the underlying pattern of promoter of lncRNA genes from protein-coding genes. To reach in conclusion, we set up this problem as a machine learning classification framework for classifying two broad groups of gene promoters using sequence information only.

Recently convolutional neural network (CNN) has shown to achieve groundbreaking results in the classification of images [9]. The examples of using CNN in biological problems are increasing in recent time as well [10]. Though we are the first to introduce the machine learning model to distinguish the promoter of lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes, no deep learning (DL) based system has been developed for the classification of promoters from human lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes. Therefore, it is unknown whether DL based architecture can achieve reasonable accuracy in classifying the promoter of lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes. So, the objective of this study is to build a DL based architecture to check the effectiveness of such a network structure in this particular problem. Hence, we introduce DeepCNPP (deep coding noncoding promoter predictor), the first DL based architecture to classify the promoter of these two broad groups of genes using the sequence information of the promoter region only. DeepCNPP outperformed the existing model [6] considering all evaluation metrics.

2. Methods

We downloaded the publicly available promoter dataset from our previous study [6]. The dataset contains promoter information of 18,787 protein-coding genes and 18,487 lncRNA genes. We considered the [-1000, +1000] region of transcription start sites (TSS) as the putative promoter region of genes as prescribed in [6]. The promoter sequence was fetched from the human genome (hg19 version). Each nucleotide of promoter sequence was encoded using one-hot encoding approach of four length vector, A:(1,0,0,0),

64 fil 64 filters т 0001 C 0010 A 1000 C 0100 0001 64 filter 64 filters G 0010 0 C T 0100 0001 5x260 HotEncodins A T 1000 0001 32 filter 82 fill C 0100 0001 G 0010 AC 1000 0100 G 0010 composite layer 1

C:(0,1,0,0), G:(0,0,1,0) and T:(0,0,0,1). The two-dimensional encoded promoter sequences were used as input to build DeepCNPP architecture (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Proposed architecture for DeepCNPP.

We used one-dimensional convolution operations, commonly used for sequence data analysis, in our model. Keeping consistency with the convolution layers the max-pooling operation used were also one-dimensional, having size of 4. DeepCNPP consists of two inception-like [11] layers (hereafter referred to as composite layers) followed by one conventional convolutional layer, and finally, two fully connected layers. Each composite layer is a cascade of three convolutional layers with filter size 3, 5, and 8, respectively. We used 64 kernels of size 3 and 5, and 32 of size 8. The outputs of these convolution layers are then concatenated along the feature axis to produce a feature map that acts as the input to the next layer. Using convolutions of multiple sizes in one layer helps the network analyze the layer's input at different scales, and produces a feature map for the next layer incorporating information from different visual levels. DeepCNPP has two of these composite layers one after another with dropout and max pooling layers following each. After these two composite layers, the network has a regular convolution layer containing 32 kernels of size 8 with dropout and max-pooling layers following. The last two layers of the network are fully connected layers of size 16 and 1 (the final classification layer for coding promoter (0) and non-coding promoter (1) prediction), respectively. The first fully-connected layer has a dropout layer after it for regularization. We used ReLU as the activation function for the inner layers, and sigmoid for the classification layer. The dropout rate for the composite and the convolution layers was 0.4, and for the fully connected layer, 0.5.

We trained our model using the Adam [12] optimization algorithm using a minibatch size of 256. We used the default values for the β 1 and β 2 parameters for Adam, and used the stochastic gradient descent with warm restart [13] as the learning rate scheduler with a minimum and maximum learning rate of 3x10-5 and 10-3, respectively. We used Keras for implementing the DeepCNPP. The model was trained on GeForce GTX TitanX (Pascal) on single GPU machine for 400 epochs. Each epoch took around 40 seconds to complete. We used 10-fold cross validation to evaluate the performance of our model.
3. Results & Discussions

In the training process of DeepCNPP, we considered the promoter regions of lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes as positive and negative class respectively. We used the following metrics to evaluate the performance of the model: Sensitivity= (TP)/(TP+FN), Specificity = (TN)/(FP+TN), Accuracy = (TP+TN)/(TP+FN+FP+TN), where TP, FN, FP, TN stand for true positive, false negative, false positive and true negative respectively. Using 10 fold cross-validation, we achieved 83.88% sensitivity, 82.81% specificity, and 83.34% accuracy (see Table 1). From Table 1 we can notice that DeepCNPP outperformed the existing model in all evaluation metrics.

Table 1. Summary of model performance for DeepCNPP and the previous model.

Model	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Accuracy (%)
Previous model [6]	82.77	80.60	81.69
DeepCNPP	83.88	82.81	83.34

4. Conclusion

We developed DeepCNPP, the first deep CNN based architecture to classify the promoter of lncRNA genes and protein-coding genes from human and it outperformed the existing model in all evaluation metrics. In future, we will investigate the output from different filters at different layers of CNN to interpret the model. The interpretation of the model will help us to better understand the transcription regulatory pattern of these two groups of genes. In addition to improving the proposed methods, we will extend this for other model organisms.

- E.S. Lander et al., Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome, *Nature* 409 (6822) (2001), 860-921.
- [2] T. Derrien et al., The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: Analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression, *Genome Research* 22 (9) (2012), 1775-1789.
- [3] T. Alam et al., FARNA: knowledgebase of inferred functions of non-coding RNA transcripts, *Nucleic Acids Res* 45 (5) (2017), 2838-2848.
- [4] C.C. Hon et al., An atlas of human long non-coding RNAs with accurate 5' ends, Nature 543 (7644) (2017), 199-204.
- [5] G. Wang et al., Characterization and identification of long non-coding RNAs based on feature relationship, *Bioinformatics*, 2019.
- [6] T. Alam et al., Promoter analysis reveals globally differential regulation of human long non-coding RNA and protein-coding genes, *PLoS One* 9 (10) (2014), e109443.
- [7] J. Ernst et al., Mapping and analysis of chromatin state dynamics in nine human cell types, *Nature* 473 (7345) (2011), 43-49.
- [8] I.V. Kulakovskiy et al., HOCOMOCO: expansion and enhancement of the collection of transcription factor binding sites models, *Nucleic Acids Res* 44 (D1) (2015), D116-125.
- [9] A. Krizhevsky, I. Sutskever and G.E. Hinton, Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks, *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 2012.
- [10] T. Ching et al., Opportunities and obstacles for deep learning in biology and medicine, *J R Soc Interface* **15 (141)** (2018).
- [11] C. Szegedy et al., Going deeper with convolutions, *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, 2015.
- [12] D.P. Kingma and J.L. Ba, ADAM: A method for stochastic optimization.
- [13] I. Loshchilov and F. Hutter, SGDR: Stochastic gradient descent with warm restarts, Learning 10, 3.

DeepDSSR: Deep Learning Structure for Human Donor Splice Sites Recognition

Tanvir ALAM^{a,1}, Mohammad Tariqul ISLAM^b, Mowafa HOUSEH^a, Abdesselam BOUZERDOUM^{a,c} and Ferdaus Ahmed KAWSAR^d

 ^a Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar
 ^b Computer Science Department, Southern Connecticut State University, USA
 ^c School of Electrical, Computer and Telecommunications Engineering University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia
 ^d Department of Computing, East Tennessee State University, USA

Abstract. Human genes often, through alternative splicing of pre-messenger RNAs, produce multiple mRNAs and protein isoforms that may have similar or completely different functions. Identification of splice sites is, therefore, crucial to understand the gene structure and variants of mRNA and protein isoforms produced by the primary RNA transcripts. Although many computational methods have been developed to detect the splice sites in humans, this is still substantially a challenging problem and further improvement of the computational model is still foreseeable. Accordingly, we developed DeepDSSR (deep donor splice site recognizer), a novel deep learning based architecture, for predicting human donor splice sites. The proposed method, built upon publicly available and highly imbalanced benchmark dataset, is comparable with the leading deep learning based methods for detecting human donor splice sites. Performance evaluation metrics show that DeepDSSR outperformed the existing deep learning based methods. Future work will improve the predictive capabilities of our model, and we will build a model for the prediction of acceptor splice sites.

Keywords. deep learning; convolution neural network; bidirectional long short-term memory; donor splice sites

1. Introduction

More than 90% of mammalian genes are believed to be processed through an alternative splicing mechanism, which is crucial to understand the gene structure and transcript variants [1]. The exon-intron/intron-exon boundaries, where the splicing occurs, are called splice sites (SS), and introns are cut out from the pre-mRNA in the SS region [1]. The SS at the exon-intron boundary is called donor SS (DSS), and a highly conserved dinucleotide of GT is observed at the intron start side. The SS at the intron-exon boundary is called acceptor SS, and a highly conserved dinucleotide of AG is observed at the intron end side. However, SS identified by read aligner is not always reliable as there is a high chance of false mapping of short reads over a large reference genome [2]. Therefore

¹ Corresponding Author, Tanvir Alam, Information and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar; Email: talam@hbku.edu.qa.

absolutely precise computational model for identifying SS is necessary to identify the accurate gene structure and their transcript variants.

There are many existing methods that use traditional machine learning methods to predict human DSS [3-6]; they perform reasonably well. Recently deep convolutional neural networks (CNNs) have shown to achieve ground-breaking results in the classification of images [7]. The examples of using CNN for biological problems have increased recently, and in many cases, deep learning (DL) methods have been shown to generate more accurate results than traditional hand-curated feature-based machine learning methods [8]. Based on our literature search, we found three DL based architectures to predict the DSS. Naito developed DSSP, which used CNN and long short-term memory (LSTM) [9] based architecture to predict the DSS [10]. Zhang et al. developed DeepSplice, a CNN based model, to predict the human DSS [11]. Du et al. developed DeepSS, a two-layer CNN based architecture to predict DSS from humans and other organisms [12]. Naito and Zhang et al., both groups have used 1:10 ratio of true:false DSS and Due et al. used a ratio of 1:5 of true:false DSS sequence to report the model performance.

In this study, we have developed a novel deep learning architecture, DeepDSSR (deep donor splice site recognizer), using CNN [7] and bidirectional LSTM (BLSTM) [9] to predict the donor splice sites in human. Considering several metrics of model evaluation, DeepDSSR, outperformed the existing DL based models in predicting human DSS.

2. Methods

We collected publicly available human DSS dataset from HS3D [13]. This dataset contains information on 2,796 true DSS and 90,924 false DSS. The length of each sequence is 140 nucleotides and the conserved GT dinucleotide resides at the 71st and 72nd position of each sequence. Since this is an imbalanced dataset, and previously published DL based methods [10-12] used true/false DSS ratios of 1:1, 1:5, or 1:10 for evaluating their models, we also used these three ratios in our evaluation to compare the performance of our model to the existing DL based models.

Our first step was to encode each input sequence using one-hot encoding, where each nucleotide of DNA was represented by a vector of length four, A:(1,0,0,0), C:(0,1,0,0), G:(0,0,1,0) and T:(0,0,0,1). These two-dimensional encoded sequences were then used as an input to the DeepDSSR architecture (Figure 1) for training and validation.



Figure 1. Proposed architecture for DeepDSSR

Our proposed network architecture consists of four layers, listed here in the order they are applied to the input: a pair of Inception-like [14] layers (hereafter referred to as composite layers), one conventional convolutional layer, a BLSTM, and two fully connected layers which include the output layer. Each composite layer consists of three, parallel one-dimensional convolution layers with a filter size of 3, 5, and 8, respectively. We used 64 kernels of size 3 and 5 and 32 of size 8.

We used two composite layers one after another with dropout and max-pooling layers for dimensionality reduction and regularization, respectively. After the two composite layers, a regular one-dimensional convolution layer with 64 kernels of size 8 was added into the network. We then add a dropout and a max-pooling layer. The next module, BLSTM, analyzes the output of this convolutional layer from two directions to discover left-to-right and right-to-left patterns that influence the label of this DNA sequence. The last two layers of the network are fully connected layers of size 16 and 1, respectively. The final layer is for classification: true DSS (1) and false DSS (0) predictions. The first fully-connected layer also has a dropout layer after it for regularization. We used ReLU as the activation function for the inner layers and sigmoid for the classification layer. The dropout rates for the two composite layers, the convolution layer, BLSTM layer, and the first fully-connected layer, are 0.4, 0.5, 0.6, 0.25, and 0.70, respectively. The max-pooling layers we used were one-dimensional and had a kernel size of 2.

We trained our model using the Adam [15] optimization algorithm and binary crossentropy loss. We used the default values for the $\beta 1$ (0.9) and $\beta 2$ (0.999) parameters for the optimizer and used stochastic gradient descent with warm restart [16] as the learning rate scheduler with a minimum and maximum learning rate of 3×10^{-5} and 10^{-3} , respectively, and a cycle length of 5 epochs. We used a batch size of 512.

We used Keras for implementing the DeepDSSR. The model was trained for 300 epochs on a single GPU machine having a GeForce GTX TitanX (Pascal). Each epoch took between 2 to 20 seconds to complete, depending on the version of the dataset (1:1, 1:5, or 1:10).

3. Results & Discussions

In the training process of DeepDSSR, we considered the true DSS and false DSS as the positive and negative class, respectively. To evaluate the performance of the model we used the following three evaluation metrics that were considered for most of the existing DL based models, Sensitivity (Sn) = (TP)/(TP+FN), Specificity (Sp)=(TN)/(FP+TN), and Matthew's Correlation coefficient (MCC):

 $MCC = (TP * TN - FP * FN)/\sqrt{(TP + FP)(TP + FN)(TN + FP)(TN + FN)}$, where TP, FN, FP, and TN stand for true positive, false negative, false positive, and true negative, respectively. The performance of the model was evaluated using 10-fold crossvalidation (see Table 1).

Table 1. Performance of DeepDSSR and other existing DL based tools for human DSS prediction. *: Since the value of these metrics were not explicitly mentioned in the article [12], the values shown here are approximated through visual inspection from "Figure 4" of the corresponding article. NA: Not available in the literature

Model (data ratio)	Sensitivity	Specificity	MCC
DeepSplice (1:1)	NA	NA	NA
DSSP (1:1)	97.88	95.36	93.33
DeepSS* (1:1)	97.50	92.50	91.00
DeepDSSR (1:1)	97.50	96.42	93.93
DeepSS* (1:5)	95.50	97.50	90.50
DeepDSSR (1:5)	93.57	98.21	90.88

DeenSplice (1.10)	95 71	93.76	NA
DSSP (1:10)	90.31	98.75	87 99
DeepSS* (1:10)	NA	NA	NA
DeepDSSR (1:10)	91.43	98.85	89.15

From Table 1, we can observe that for the dataset with 1:1, 1:5 and 1:10 ratios, our model achieved 93.33, 90.88, 89.15 MCC, respectively, and it outperformed, considering MCC as an evaluation metric, all the existing DL based models [10-12] for all three data sets subsampled at the same ratio. Additionally, for 1:1 dataset, DeepDSSR outperformed all the existing methods in terms of all three evaluation metrics (MCC, Sn and Sp). For 1:5 and 1:10 ratio datasets, DeepDSSR achieved a Sp that surpasses all the existing methods' corresponding metric but at the cost of $\sim 2\%$ Sn for the 1:5 dataset. For the 1:10 dataset, our model outperformed DSSP in terms of Sn.

4. Conclusion

The paper introduced a new deep learning architecture, namely DeepDSSR, for the prediction of human donor splice sites. Experimental results were presented, which show that DeepDSSR outperforms existing DL models in terms of MCC and sensitivity. Future work will focus on improving the performance of DeepDSSR and building a new model for the prediction of acceptor splice sites.

- E.T. Wang et al., Alternative isoform regulation in human tissue transcriptomes, *Nature* 456 (7221) (2008), 470.
- [2] A. Nellore et al., Rail-RNA: scalable analysis of RNA-seq splicing and coverage, *Bioinformatics* 33 (24) (2016), 4033-4040.
- [3] P.K. Meher, T.K. Sahu and A.R. Rao, Prediction of donor splice sites using random forest with a new sequence encoding approach, *BioData mining* 9 (1) (2016), 4.
- [4] D. Wei et al., A novel splice site prediction method using support vector machine, *Journal of Computational Information Systems* 9 (20) (2013), 8053-8060.
- [5] P.K. Meher et al., A statistical approach for 5' splice site prediction using short sequence motifs and without encoding sequence data, *BMC bioinformatics* **15** (1) (2014), 362.
- [6] Z.-C. Xu et al., iSS-PC: Identifying Splicing Sites via Physical-Chemical Properties Using Deep Sparse Auto-Encoder, *Scientific reports* 7 (1) (2017), 8222.
- [7] A. Krizhevsky, I. Sutskever and G.E. Hinton, Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks, *Advances in neural information processing systems*, 2012.
- [8] T. Ching et al., Opportunities and obstacles for deep learning in biology and medicine, J R Soc Interface 15 (141) (2018).
- [9] S. Hochreiter and J. Schmidhuber, Long short-term memory, Neural computation 9 (8) (1997), 1735-1780.
- [10] T. Naito, Human Splice-Site Prediction with Deep Neural Networks, *Journal of Computational Biology* 25 (8) (2018), 954-961.
- [11] Y. Zhang et al., Discerning novel splice junctions derived from RNA-seq alignment: a deep learning approach, BMC genomics 19 (1) (2018), 971.
- [12] X. Du et al., DeepSS: Exploring Splice Site Motif Through Convolutional Neural Network Directly From DNA Sequence, *IEEE Access* 6 (2018), 32958-32978.
- [13] S. Rampone, HS3D: Homo Sapiens Splice Site Data Set, Nucleic Acids Research, 2003.
- [14] C. Szegedy et al., Going deeper with convolutions, Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, 2015.
- [15] D.P. Kingma and J.L. Ba, ADAM: A method for stochastic optimization.
- [16] I. Loshchilov and F. Hutter, SGDR: Stochastic gradient descent with warm restarts, *Learning* 10, 3.

Understanding the Impact of Clinical Training on EHR Use Optimization

Saif KHAIRAT^{a,1}, Dipika JAYACHANDER^a, Cameron COLEMAN^a, Thomas NEWLIN^a and Victoria RAND^a

^a Carolina Health Informatics Program, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Abstract. Electronic health records usability creates challenges to the delivery of care. This paper presents a novel approach to user analysis. Fixation counts have been analyzed to identify differences among physicians of 3 experience levels – residents, fellows and attending physicians. The findings indicate that users with different training levels had varied experiences while interacting with the same interface. EHRs will always be used by a variety of user groups, each with their own unique characteristics and therefore user analysis must be an important component of EHR usability testing. Eye tracking technology could serve as a valuable tool in this context.

Keywords. Electronic health records, eye-tracking, fixation, usability, user analysis.

1. Introduction

Federal policies in the United States mandated the usage of electronic health records (EHRs) to improve the quality and delivery of healthcare. Subsequently over 86% of physicians reported that they were using EHRs [1]. However, there are multiple cognitive, financial, security/privacy, technological, socio-cultural, and workforce challenges that need to be overcome to be able to experience maximum benefits [2]. Usability issues form a major portion of the cognitive challenges and the incorporation of usability in EHR design has always remained inferior to product designs in other industries [3].

User analysis is the process of identifying the various types of users and their respective characteristics. In this case, it could include users of different experience levels and specialties. User analysis is the first step in the TURF framework of EHR usability introduced in 2011. It can help us design systems with knowledge and information structures that can satisfy the users' requirements and workflows [3].

Eye tracking refers to the process of tracking eye movements or the absolute point of gaze (POG) in the visual scene. It has been employed in assessing Human Computer Interaction (HCI) and in different fields like Psychology and Neuroscience [4]. The objective of this paper is to assess the relation between clinical training and the efficiency

¹ Corresponding Author, Saif Khairat, PhD, FAMIA, Author Carolina Health Informatics Program, Division of Healthcare Systems – School of Nursing, Carrington Hall, S Columbia St, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA; Email: saif@unc.edu.

of finding information in the EHR by using the fixation count data obtained via eye tracking, as a proxy indicator for users' search efficiency.

2. Methods

Medical intensivists with different training levels were recruited from a south-eastern academic medical center in the U.S. Participants were made to wear the Tobii[®] Pro eyeglasses, and then asked to perform a total of 21 routine tasks using the EHR, in a simulation lab shown in Figure 1. Participants were recruited through electronic flyers and emails. Inclusion criteria included having a current role in the medical ICU, and having experience using the institutional EHR for routine medical ICU service.

During this interaction, their eye motions were tracked. Subsequently, the motion patterns were mapped to the screenshots of four sections of the EHR – Chart Review, Flowsheet, Results Review and Summary Overview.

The 21 tasks mentioned above were split between four different, yet commonly encountered clinical case scenarios. In the first one, participants were asked to review the record of a middle aged female patient diagnosed with multisystem organ dysfunction, determine the course of treatment recommended by consulting clinical teams and modify medication orders accordingly. The second scenario involved an elderly patient brought in to the hospital at night with acute hypoxic respiratory failure. Participants were asked to identify the changes in the respiratory status of the patient that took place throughout the night, as well as the changes in the mechanical ventilator settings. They were also made to analyze microbiology reports. The third case was that of a young male patient admitted with sepsis. Participants were asked to assess the clinical notes, laboratory results, and treatment records and manage abnormal test results. For the fourth case, participants were made to review the record of a middle aged male patient suffering from trauma, and post-operative heart failure with volume overload. They were asked to identify changes in the patient's weight over the last few hospital visits, and manage orders for medications and IV fluids.

The primary outcomes of this study were training-based fixation counts generated from the eye-tracking glasses. Fixation counts were extracted using the Tobii© software, categorized by experience level, and compiled into a spreadsheet. For every participant, total fixation counts were computed. Then, fixation counts were calculated for each of the four EHR screens of interest. ANOVA, two-sample t tests, and paired t tests were used to perform statistical analysis in Microsoft Excel©.

3. Results

A total of 25 medical intensivists comprising 11 residents, 9 fellows, and 5 attending physicians were recruited for this study. The overall baseline fixation count was 283.34 for residents, 184.31 for fellows, and 289.15 for attending physicians, as shown in Figure 1. The difference between the three groups was marginally significant (p = 0.0853). On comparing group pairs, the difference between residents and fellows was particularly significant (p = 0.0232). Group fixation count differences were also analyzed by the individual screens. While the difference was statistically significant for the Results Review screen (p = 0.0481), it was not significant for the other three (Chart Review: p = 0.7015, Flowsheet: p = 0.2056, Summary Overview: p = 0.8402).

From Table 1, it can be seen that among the three groups, residents were found to have significantly different fixation counts for each of the 4 screens (p = 0.0021). For all 3 groups, the fixation counts were the highest for the Results Review screen (Residents: 480.45, Fellows: 244.33, Attendings: 387.2) and least for the Summary Overview screen (Residents: 149, Fellows: 129.33, Attendings: 118.6). Overall, attending physicians had the highest fixation counts for the Chart Review (328.6) and Flowsheet (322.2) screens while the residents had the highest counts for the Results Review (480.45) and Summary Overview (149) screens. The fellows had the lowest fixation counts for three out of four screens (Chart Review: 188.44, Flowsheet: 202.88, Results Review: 244.33). Attendings had the least counts for the Summary Overview screen (118.6).



Figure 1. Baseline Fixation Counts by Experience Level.

Table 1.	Comparison	of Fixation	Counts on	the 4 screens	for each	User	Group
----------	------------	-------------	-----------	---------------	----------	------	-------

Role	Chart Review	Flowsheet	Results Review	Summary	P value
				Overview	
Resident	212.45	291.45	480.45	149	0.0021
Fellow	188.44	202.88	244.33	129.33	0.4551
Attending	328.6	322.2	387.2	118.6	0.4714

4. Discussion

Findings from this study show that there were differences among participants based on their clinical training levels. The fixation count denotes the number of fixations in an area of interest and is thought to be negatively correlated with search efficiency. A poor arrangement of display elements can also be associated with high fixation counts. Attending physicians having the longest fixation counts seems contrary to the common belief that the efficiency of interaction with EHRs improves with clinical experience. The findings also bring to attention that a common interface can produce different experiences among different categories of users.

Findings of this study show that clinical training impacts EHR use. However, all subgroups found the Results Review screen to be the most difficult to find information, justified by the higher average fixation counts compared to the other screens. Summary Overview screen had the lowest fixation counts across all groups suggesting good information organization, which makes it easy to locate information.

Recruitment of physicians belonging to only one specialty, the inclusion of only a single site and single EHR system, and the lack of inclusion of non-physician healthcare providers are some of the limitations of this study. Another limitation was the unequal distribution of participants, where there were more residents and fellows than attending physicians. Lastly, we were unable to establish a training baseline. Our participants differ with respect to their previous experience with the particular EHR system used in the study. The conceptual model of every EHR system is unique and we admit that consistent training and familiarity with a system is required to enable reasonable comparison of results across EHR systems. This requires more targeted recruiting and standards for task-level training from the researcher's part [5].

A more granular analysis of each screen using customized areas of interest may help to identify problematic sources and explain the differences noted for the 4 screens among the same user groups. Broadening the scope to include physicians of other specialties as well as non-physician healthcare providers may provide us more valuable insight into usability issues.

Eye tracking could serve as a usability tool to evaluate EHRs and have the potential to play an important role in user analysis. Unlike traditional methods such as surveys which can be used to obtain collective users' perceptions on the usefulness and usability of an EHR system, eye tracking can help to identify individual usability problems that can be improved [6]. It has the added advantage of reducing reactivity where participants tend to alter their behavior as a result of being monitored, as they have relatively lesser control over their natural eye movements. Data associated with eye tracking software is usually generated every 30Hz, and is usually precise and accurate. Finally, it can have a significant impact on EHR design improvement by helping researchers determine whether participants are missing key UI elements, which content attracts and which is unnecessary, and how the user accomplishes his goals [7]. The typical users of EHRs differ in their experience, education background, computer skills, cognitive capabilities, perceptual variations, age related skills, and cultural backgrounds [3]. Therefore, it is crucial to take into consideration the unique requirements of each user type in the design of useful systems that can live up to high expectations [5].

- [1] ONC, Quick Stats, (2019). https://dashboard.healthit.gov/quickstats/quickstats.php (accessed March 8, 2019).
- [2] G. Southon, C. Sauer and K. Dampney, Lessons from a failed information systems initiative: issues for complex organisations, *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 55 (1999), 33–46.
- [3] J. Zhang and M. Walji, TURF, Toward a unified framework of EHR usability, *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 44 (2011), 1056–1067.
- [4] P. Majaranta and A. Bulling, Eye Tracking and Eye-Based Human-Computer Interaction, (2014). https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Chapter-3-Eye-Tracking-and-Eye-Based-Human---Majaranta-Bulling/250f1496d3b889e145c77cf15d4c8b12b0226777 (accessed March 9, 2019).
- [5] A. Swanson and S. Lind, Usability testing EHRs, ACM Interactions 18 (2011), 54.
- [6] M.A. Ellsworth, M. Dziadzko, et al., An appraisal of published usability evaluations of electronic health records via systematic review, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 24 (2017), 218-226.
- [7] H. Khachatryan and A. Rihn, Eye-tracking Methodology and Applications in Consumer Research, (2018). http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/fe947 (accessed May 12, 2019).

Novel Eye-Tracking Methods to Evaluate the Usability of Electronic Health Records

Dipika JAYACHANDER^a, Cameron COLEMAN^a, Victoria RAND^a, Thomas NEWLIN^a and Saif KHAIRAT^{a,1}

^aCarolina Health Informatics Program, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Abstract. The Electronic Health Record has become a staple today in every hospital and clinic, thanks to policy changes advocating its use. However, its full potential can be realized only when it is easy to use and compliant to the needs of the different user subgroups. This study uses a novel approach of eye tracking to assess and differentiate EHR usability based on gender. Though the findings were not suggestive of a significant gender-based difference, they did indicate that the design and layout of screen elements have a significant influence on the search efficiency for both user groups and this point could be relevant for future EHR design.

Keywords. Electronic health records, eye tracking, fixation count, usability.

1. Introduction

An effective electronic health record (EHR) design is one which caters to the requirements of its different user subgroups. Analysis of users along with factors influencing their preferences can be used to optimize usability. Research suggests that men and women process signals received from stimuli differently [1-3]. Studies also show that men and women differ in their aesthetic choices and preferences [3-5]. The visual appeal of an interface can influence whether it is perceived as useful, enjoyable, and easy to use [3,6].

Eye tracking refers to the process of tracking eye movements or the absolute point of gaze (POG) in the visual scene. It has been previously employed in assessing human – computer interaction (HCI) and neurocognitive studies [7]. Fixations and saccades are two important measurements of eye tracking. A fixation is a brief moment, where the eye halts on a word or word group, and the brain processes the visual information. Common fixation metrics include fixation count, duration and position. Fixation counts are negatively correlated with search efficiency and are indicative of a poor design layout [8]. Despite showing promise in HIT usability research because of the close relation between visual stimuli and attention mechanisms [8], a systematic review found that the usage of eye tracking technology in this field was still in its infancy [9]. The goal of this paper was to employ eye tracking to evaluate the interaction of physicians with the EHR,

¹ Corresponding author, Saif Khairat, Carolina Health Informatics Program, Division of Healthcare Systems – School of Nursing, Carrington Hall, S Columbia St, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA; Email: saif@unc.edu.

and specifically to investigate and differentiate EHR search efficiency based on gender by exploring fixation counts generated by eye-tracking glasses.

2. Methods

Intensive Care Unit (ICU) physicians with different experience levels from a southeastern academic medical center were recruited for this study. Participants were observed while interacting with the EHR and asked to perform reviews of four patient records. Participants were recruited through electronic flyers and emails. Inclusion criteria mandated a current role in the medical ICU, and experience using the institutional EHR during medical ICU service.

The first case record to be examined was that of a middle aged female patient diagnosed with multi-organ dysfunction. Participants were asked to determine the advice provided by consulting clinical teams, and manage medication orders accordingly. For the second case, participants were asked to review the clinical notes, microbiology lab reports, and flowsheets and determine changes in the respiratory status and mechanical ventilator settings for an elderly female patient suffering from acute hypoxic respiratory failure. The third case involved a young male patient diagnosed with sepsis. Here, participants were asked to assess the clinical flowsheet, the laboratory data, and the treatment chart, and manage abnormal test results. The fourth case dealt with a middle-aged male patient diagnosed with post-operative heart failure and volume overload. Participants were asked to describe the changes seen with the patient's weight over a particular time period, and to manage IV fluid and medication orders.

During this interaction, their eye movements were recorded using the Tobii[®] eye tracker glasses. Their sequential eye positions for the entire recording were then mapped to the screenshots of the four most frequently used pages of the EHR – Chart Review, Flowsheet, Results Review and Summary Overview. The primary outcomes of this study were the fixation counts, which were extracted using the Tobii[®] software, and categorized by gender. Baseline values were calculated for all the participants overall, as well as for the gender subgroups, and for the duration of the entire recording as well as by page. The values were compiled into a spreadsheet and ANOVA, Independent t tests, and Paired t tests were employed for statistical analysis using Microsoft Excel[®].

3. Results

A total of 25 physicians comprising 12 males and 13 females participated in this study. The overall baseline fixation count was 217.04 for males and 283.02 for females. This difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.12). The fixation counts were higher for women compared to men for all 4 pages. However, the difference was only marginally significant for the Summary Overview page [Male – 101.17, Female – 167.85, p = 0.094) and statistically insignificant for the other three (Chart Review (p = 0.36), Flowsheet (p = 0.25), Results Review (p = 0.76)].

Table 1 shows the performance of each group for the 4 pages. Each gender subgroup demonstrated a significant difference in their fixation counts for the different pages [males (p = 0.01), females (p = 0.09)]. For both genders, the highest fixation counts were associated with the Results Review page (males – 362.5, females – 390) and the lowest

counts with the Summary Overview page (males -101.17, females -167.85), as can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Fixation counts per screen

Table 1.	Fixation	Counts	for each	gender	subgroup
				£7 · · · ·	

Gender	Chart Review	Flowsheet	Results Review	Summary Overview	P value
Male	171	233.5	362.5	101.17	0.0104
remate	2/0.//	293.40	390	107.85	0.0922

4. Discussion

Findings from this study indicate that although there was only a minimal gender based difference, the overall ranking of EHR pages by search efficiency, was similar among both gender groups which implies that the layout of visual elements in the EHR has an impact on the efficiency of information retrieval from it by users, as each of the four pages selected had different screen layouts. Furthermore, based on the fixation counts, one can conclude that the Summary Overview screen was more efficient than the rest in terms of information display.

A systematic review of the methodological trends in EHR usability studies showed that surveys, think-aloud, and heuristic evaluations were the most frequently employed usability testing methods. The most common validated surveys used were the System Usability Scale and the Questionnaire for User Interaction Satisfaction. Nielsen's Usability Heuristics was the most frequently used heuristic evaluation. Although surveys are useful for gathering self-reported data about the user's perception of an EHR system, they do not allow evaluators to identify individual usability problems that can be targeted for improvement, a process that is at the core of usability evaluations. Furthermore, a number of surveys and heuristic methods that are available are not standardized [10].

Eye tracking surpasses other usability techniques in reducing the concern of reactivity where participants tend to change their behavior due to being observed because natural eye movements and fixations are being documented. Additionally the quality of data collected by eye tracking technology is accurate and precise, and this method provides flexibility in terms of research locations [11]. It can have a significant impact on EHR design improvement by helping researchers determine whether participants are missing key UI elements, which content attracts and which is unnecessary, and how the user accomplishes his goals [12].

Eye tracking also has certain limitations. The results can be influenced by the usage of contact lenses, glasses, and pupil color. Such studies require considerable financial, time, and, labor resources. Lastly, eye tracking technology focuses on foveal vision (focused, central vision) and not peripheral vision, which accounts for 98% of our visual field [11]. Therefore, it cannot be used as the sole evaluation but must always be accompanied by appropriate retrospective and introspective methodologies to be able to glean the complete picture [11,12]. This particular study has limitations in terms of involving a single-site, physicians of only one specialty, and a single EHR system.

In conclusion, eye tracking methods can serve as a complementary usability tool to evaluate EHRs as it can help us determine the elements responsible for cognitive overload and stimulation that can drive better design. The fact that results can vary among different sub groups should instigate designers to make it mandatory to involve representatives of the different subgroups of users throughout the software design cycle.

- [1] D. Kimura, Sex Differences in the Brain, Scientific American 12 (1992), 81-87.
- [2] R.L. Gregory, Eye and Brain: The Psychology of Seeing, 5th Edition, Oxford University Press, 1998.
- [3] S. Djamasbi, T. Tullis, J. Hsu, E. Mazuera, K. Osberg and J. Bosch, Gender Preferences in Web Design: Usability Testing through Eye Tracking, AMCIS 2007 Proceedings, 2007.
- [4] G. Moss and A.M. Colman, Choices and Preferences: Experiments on Gender Differences, *Brand Management* 9 (2001), 89-98.
- [5] D. Tedesco, A. Chadwick-Dias and T. Tullis, Demographic Differences in Preferred Web Site Content. Aging by Design, Presentation at Bentley College, Waltham, Massachusetts, 2004.
- [6] H. Van der Heijden, Factors Influencing the Usage of Websites: The Case of a Generic Portal in the Netherlands, *Information & Management* 40 (2003), 541-550.
- [7] P. Majaranta and A. Bulling, Eye Tracking and Eye-Based Human-Computer Interaction, (2014). https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Chapter-3-Eye-Tracking-and-Eye-Based-Human---Majaranta-Bulling/250f1496d3b889e145c77cf15d4c8b12b0226777 (accessed March 8, 2019).
- [8] C. Ehmke and S, Wilson, Identifying web usability problems from eye-tracking data, Proceedings of the 21st British HCI Group Annual Conference on People and Computers: HCI...but not as we know it, British Computer Society, Swinton UK, 2007, p119-128.
- [9] O. Asan and Y. Yang, Using Eye Trackers for Usability Evaluation of Health Information Technology: A Systematic Literature Review, *JMIR human factors* 2 (1) (2015), e5. doi:10.2196/humanfactors.4062.
- [10] M.A. Ellsworth, M. Dziadzko, et al, An appraisal of published usability evaluations of electronic health records via systematic review, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 24 (2017), 218-226.
- [11] H. Khachatryan and A. Rihn, Eye-tracking Methodology and Applications in Consumer Research, (2018). http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/fe947#FOOTNOTE 1 (accessed May 11, 2019).
- [12] E.G. Adiseshiah, UXer's guide to eye tracking, (2017). https://www.justinmind.com/blog/uxers-quick-guide-to-eye-tracking/ (accessed May 12, 2019).

Development and Usability of Mobilebased Healthcare Protocols in Kenya

Priscillah BALIRWA^{a,b,1}, Thomas MWOGI^a, Evelyn K. KAHIIGI^b and Martin C. WERE^{a,c}

^a Institute of Biomedical Informatics, Moi University, Eldoret, Kenya, ^b College of Computing and Information Sciences, Makerere University, Uganda ^c Department of Biomedical Informatics & Medicine, Vanderbilt University, USA

Abstract. Healthcare protocols have been shown to improve the quality of health service delivery by offering explicit guidelines and recommendations for clinicians who are uncertain about how to proceed in a given clinical situation. While various modalities are used to implement protocols, few rigorous evaluations of protocol use exist in low-resource clinical settings. This study aimed to develop mobile-based protocols (MBPs) and test their usability against currently used paper-based protocol (PBPs). Satisfaction, efficiency and effectiveness of the protocols were evaluated through a think-aloud usability exercise, in-depth interviews, and through a questionnaire. Compared to PBPs, satisfaction scores were higher with MBPs (83.8 versus 66.8, p=0.0498), number of errors lower with MBPs (2/25 versus 5/25, p=0.1089), with average time for task completion higher with MBPs (23.3 versus21.6s, p=0.7394). MBPs offer more satisfaction and trend towards being more effective as a dissemination modality for healthcare protocols in low-resource settings.

Keywords. Evidence-Based Medicine, Clinical guidelines, Usability, mLearning

1. Introduction

Clinical care guidelines are systematically developed to assist health practitioners with the optimal approaches to care for patients based on the best available rigorous evidence[1]. These guidelines reduce variations that exist in performance of treatment procedures, ensuring that patients receive consistently high-quality care, regardless of where or by whom they are being treated.[2]To implement care guidelines, many institutions have developed or adapted care protocols, which provide precise details of how to best implement the guidelines, taking into consideration available resources and clinical-setting constraints.[3] By nature, protocols are most useful when they are easily accessible to providers during patient care. However, in numerous settings, such as many in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), only paper-based care protocols (PBPs) are available in booklets, as charts on walls, or as protocol documents in paper files. On occasion, protocols are available as soft-copies on computers or viewable on websites. Given the mobile nature of care providers within and across institutions, PBPs have proven suboptimal, as they are not easily portable when needed during care.

¹ Corresponding Author, Priscillah Balirwa, Makerere University, Uganda; E-mail: balirwapriscy@gmail.com.

With increasing ownership of mobile devices (including smartphones and tablets) by providers in LMICs, a unique opportunity exists to implement innovative strategies for timely access and use of protocols. Smartphone use in LMICs has doubled in the last two years, driven by falling prices. In 2017, over a third of mobile connections in Africa were through smartphones, with ownership predicted to rise to 85% by 2025.[4] Evidence suggests that use of mobile devices provides easy and timely access to information, allows healthcare professionals to be efficient at work, and gives providers instant access to evidence-based decision support and patient management tools to improve clinical decision-making.[5]Innovative use of mobile devices, through mLearning applications (apps), offers an opportunity to improve protocol availability and use in care within LMICs. However, few organizations in LMICs are using mobile-based protocols (MBPs), and little rigorous implementation-science based research exists on the potential role of this approach at improving care practice in these settings.

In this paper, we describe the adoption of approved care protocols into a robust mLearning application. We further describe outcomes of usability testing of the MBPs compared with PBPs in an LMIC study setting.

2. Methods

Study Setting: This study was conducted in November 2017 in the Pediatric unit of a large teaching referral hospital in Western Kenya. This institution already uses PBPs through two protocol booklets, namely the *Hospital-based Child Health Protocol* and the *Ministry of Health Basic Pediatric Protocol*.[6]Participants in the study included physician trainees who routinely use these PBPs to care for pediatric patients.

Developing Mobile-based protocols (MBPs): For MBPs to be useful within LMICs, they need to work offline, be cross-platform, and have to work on low-end devices. For our implementation, we customized the mobile version of the Modular Object-Oriented Dynamic Learning Environment (Moodle) application.[7] Moodle is a robust open-source learning platform with a customizable cross-platform mobile app, allowing for configurable course administration user and activity management. We modified the Moodle app to incorporate relevant site-specific user-interfaces, and incorporated all 33pediatric protocols, via HTML and CSS, as content within the app (Figure 1). Protocols were downloadable to the mobile app from our cloud-based kenyamedicine.com server.



Figure1. User interfaces of the developed MBPs App

Implementation and Usability Testing: The focus of our evaluation was the usability of the MBPs, when compared to the current PBPs. Our usability testing used five subjects, who were all providers and all of whom underwent written informed consent. These providers were randomly selected from the group who routinely use PBPs to care for pediatric patients.

The MBPs application was installed on the practitioners' mobile devices, with a learning period of one month provided.

During the formal usability testing, each provider was asked to perform 5 protocolrelated tasks using the available PBPs and those same tasks using MBPs, while thinking aloud. Tasks focused on finding and demonstrating ability to use particular protocols. A researcher observed errors and task completion, recorded time-tocomplete tasks, took notes and audio recordings. Satisfaction was evaluated through an interview at the end of the session using a 10-item system usability scale (SUS). Efficiency was measured by the average time taken to perform each task, while effectiveness was measured by task completion rate and number errors made. Average SUS scores and activity completion times were compared between MBPs and PBPs using paired t-tests, while error rates compared using chi-squared test. Given the small sample size, these comparisons were used to only detect largest differences, with no power to detect small differences. Audio recordings were transcribed and analyzed thematically.

3. Results

Usability study participants included 3post-graduate physicians and 2 medical students, of whom 60% were female. Participants completed all tasks for both PBPs and MBPs. Compared to PBPs, average satisfaction scores were higher with MBPs (83.8 versus 66.8, p=0.0498) (Figure 2). Of total of 25 tasks performed, providers made 2 errors using MBPs and 5 using PBPs (p=0.1089). On average, participants took more time to complete tasks with MBPs versus PBPs (23.3s versus 21.6s, p=0.7394).



Figure2. Satisfaction scores with MBPs versus PBPs

From in-depth interviews, the most prominent challenges for PBPs cited by three of five participants were: (a) some PBPs being too big to fit into pockets, (b) some PBP booklets lacking table of contents making searching difficult, and (c) forgetfulness by

providers to carry PBP booklets. 3 of 5 participants had no problems with MBPs. The other two mentioned some MBP challenges, including: (a) lack of an option for note-taking in the app (1/5), (b) inadequate phone storage space (1/5), and (c) slow devices (1/5).

4. Discussion

This usability study shows that MBPs, implemented within cross-platform, open-source mobile learning applications, demonstrate a significantly higher satisfaction level compared to PBPs within the resource-limited clinical settings of Kenya. Further, in comparison to PBPs, fewer errors were made by participants while using MBPs. These findings are consistent with those from a systematic review on relative effectiveness of use of handheld devices versus paper-based systems at significantly reducing discharge order errors.[5] The high MBP SUS score could be attributed to usability considerations made during design of the application. Average time for task completion trended higher for MBPs versus PBPs. This finding points to an important consideration when implementing new systems for busy providers. Feedback from study participants during the usability test and the in-depth interviews provided insight into better ways of designing MBPs to meet the user needs. The MPBs system has now been rolled out for broad use and evaluation within the institution.

5. Conclusions

MBPs as compared to PBPs provide better effectiveness and satisfaction as a modality for implementing healthcare protocols in low-resource clinical settings. However, contextualized design and implementation of the MBPs, in close collaboration with healthcare workers, should be emphasized in order to support ownership and uptake.

6. Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the NORHED program (Project #QZA-0484, HI-TRAIN).

- [1] Overview of clinical practice guidelines UpToDate, (2019). https://www.uptodate.com/contents/overview-of-clinical-practice-guidelines (accessed May 15, 2019).
- [2] T. Kredo, S. Bernhardsson, S. Machingaidze, T. Young, Q. Louw, E. Ochodo and K. Grimmer, Guide to clinical practice guidelines: the current state of play, *Int. J. Qual. Heal. Care* 28 (1) (2016), 122–128.
- [3] Clinical Guidelines and Standardization of Practice to Improve Outcomes, 2015.
- [4] D.M. West, Going Mobile How Wireless Technology is Reshaping Our Lives, Brookings Institution Press, United States, 2014, pp. 1–15.
- [5] S. Mickan, J.K. Tilson, H. Atherton, N.W. Roberts and C. Heneghan, Evidence of Effectiveness of Health Care Professionals Using Handheld Computers: A Scoping Review of Systematic Reviews, J. Med. Internet Res. 15 (2013), e212.
- [6] Ministry of Health, Basic Paediatric Protocols for age s up to 5 years, 4th ed., 2016.
- [7] Moodle Open-source learning platform, Moodle.org (2019). https://moodle.org/ (accessed May 14, 2019).

Entropy-based Dyslalia Screening

Emilian-Erman MAHMUT^{a,1}, Michele Della VENTURA^b, Dorin BERIAN^a and Vasile STOICU-TIVADAR^a

^aDepartment of Automation and Applied Informatics, Politehnica University Timisoara, Romania

^bDepartment of Music Technology, Music Academy "Studio Musica", Treviso, Italy

Abstract. This paper's objective is to present a proposed solution of Computerbased Speech Therapy System (CBST) for dyslalia screening. The problem of Speech Sound Disorders (SSD) is enunciated, and a brief presentation of several general CBST solutions is made. An Entropy-based method is proposed and the current state of advancement in the development and experimental validation of this solution is presented and discussed. Conclusions related to future improvements of the method are drawn based on the consequences identified in the final section.

Keywords: entropy, speech therapy, dyslalia screening

1. Introduction

Dyslalia, an articulation disorder determined by organic or functional issues of the organs of speech, is the most frequent language disorder among primary school children. Its symptoms are distorting, substituting, omitting/adding and inverting speech sounds (phonemes) in pronunciation. According to a systematic review of the literature [1] prevalence estimates range as high as 25% for 5-7 year-old children and 25%-30% of dyslalic children are also dyslexic-dysgraphic. Undiagnosed and consequently untreated Speech Sound Disorders may lead to behavioral disorders and damage the children's school performance. The main objective of this research project is to provide an automated SSD screening solution.

The traditional approach to speech and language assessment involves using a large amount of worksheets (speech therapy evaluation forms), drawings and other materials, it is time consuming and it produces a lot of paperwork, putting therefore the accuracy of the collected data at risk. Automated or semi-automated speech analysis solutions improve the assessment process. Several semi-automated solutions are presented below. *Logomon* [2] is a complex CBST equipped with a Fuzzy-Logic based speech analysis Expert System which provides assisted diagnosis based on mixed input: Speech Language Pathologist (SLP) and Computer Tests (9 scores for each mispronounced phoneme). Grigore et al. in their study [3] describe a solution for the classification of correct/incorrect pronunciations of consonant /r/ extracting from the audio signal the standard deviation of homologous Mel-Cepstral coefficients throughout the phoneme

¹ Corresponding Author, Emilian-Erman Mahmut, Department of Automation and Applied Informatics, Politehnica University Timisoara, Blvd. Vasile Parvan 2, 300223, Timisoara, Romania; E-mail: emilian.mahmut@aut.upt.ro.

and performing an assessment based on a *k*-NN classification algorithm (comparison to a set of known classes of manually selected phonemes). The study Self-Organizing Maps For Identifying Impaired Speech [4] also proposes a solution for the identification of mispronunciations of the phoneme /r/ in Romanian based on extraction of the alternating component of signal's envelope and use of extracted parameters as feature vectors in a Kohonen Neural Network-based classification stage. Yin et al. in their study [5] present the techniques used to identify phoneme mispronunciations by Spanish-speaking children, proposing a semi-automated assessment (pronunciation labeling by non-expert human labelers and optimization of acoustic and pronunciation models in a phonetic decoder). A study by Al-Nasheri et al. [6] uses Auto-correlation and Entropy features in different frequency regions as well as several Voice Disorder Databases to detect and classify voice pathologies. A detailed description of all the feature extraction algorithms and assessment methods briefly described above is provided in [7].

2. Method

The method used in our study is based on the calculation of the information content carried by each audio message (segment) so as to assess the similarity between 2 sound waves and, consequently, be able to detect phoneme mispronunciations. The algorithm was devised to compare 2 sound wave segments: the SLP's pronunciation (standard pattern) and the child's pronunciation (sample pattern) of the same word.

A (non-automated) decision was made to segment the word pronunciation into syllables inasmuch as a syllable will always contain a vowel, which carries a higher energy content being therefore more easily analyzable (Figure 1). The steps of the algorithm are: performing analog-to-digital conversion of the sound wave (using Audacity 2.3.0 - open software) for both standard and sample patterns, splitting the stereo signal down to mono (44100 Hz), segmenting the mono track of a word into syllables (for example: $R\dot{A}$ - $D\dot{A}$ -CINI, the Romanian word for *roots*), extracting the amplitude values (in Linear, csv format) from each syllable segment (Sample Data Export in Audacity), creating a table with SLP's and each Subject's exported data in separate columns, filtering out the negative values in each column (syllable), representing the Line Chart of the remaining positive amplitude values, and finally displaying the 6th order polynomial trend line for the positive values of each syllable (Figure 2).





Figure 2. 6th order Polynomial Trendlines for syllable "RĂ-".

The trend line of every audio segment is analyzed and a table, representing the alphabet, is filled in. The alphabet consists of 3 letters: A (ascending), D (descending)

and S (stable, curve variation less than 10%). Peaks and troughs are identified within the 6th order polynomial trendline and the corresponding letters (A, D or S) are assigned to them. Once the elements of the alphabet are identified a transition matrix is filled in so as to take into account the fashion in which such elements succeed one another within the analyzed segments. Markov's stochastic process is used to deduce the probability of transition of the system from state *n* to state n+1 based solely on state *n*. One transition matrix is created for the SLP's pronunciation and each Subject's pronunciation of the same word grouped together (SLP+Subject1, SLP+Subject2 etc.) and the matrix is filled in with the alphabet letters (Table 1 below). The syllable probabilities are then calculated.

Table 1. Example of alphabet letters and transition matrix.

Alfabet	Total		A	D	S
A	12	Δ	2	7	3
D	9	<u></u>		/	5
S	4	D	/	1	
	25	S	2	1	1

The entropy is calculated for each syllable based on the transition probabilities calculated above and the entropy values are compared.

$$H(X) = E[I(x_i)] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} I(x_i) \bullet P(x_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} P(x_i) \bullet \log_2 \frac{1}{P(x_i)}$$
(1)

For sound samples administration and processing an original Cloud-based software infrastructure was developed and used [8].

3. Results

To validate the results of the algorithm a preliminary observational study was performed on a sample population of 30 subjects aged 6 (from primary school classes). The children were asked to pronounce a series of Romanian words containing target phonemes in the initial, medial and final position from a standard speech therapy assessment form and audio recordings were made. The observational experiment focused on the pronunciation of the Romanian consonant /r/ given its high level of acoustic intensity oscillations that enable a clear discrimination of the amplitude values. Out of a total of 30 subjects, the algorithm successfully discriminated 19 cases, which means a matching rate of 63.3% with the SLP's opinion (Table 2 below).

Table 2. Synthesis of results for "RĂ-" syllable.

Subject	Entropy	SLP's opinion and comments on	Algorithm discrimination
		pronunciation of syllable RA-	matching SLP's opinion
	RA- Syllable		(YES/NO) + Algorithm result
SLP	0.329939789	Incorrect (Formation in progress)	YES (Incorrect)
Subject 1	0.074917077	Insufficiently formed vibration of R	
SLP	0.341652934	Incorrect (Formation in progress)	YES (Incorect)
Subject 2	0.185917006		
SLP	0.496853219	Correct	YES (Correct)
Subject 3	0.496853219		
SLP	0.440930926	Correct	YES (Correct)
Subject 4	0.440930926		
SLP	0.271202218	Incorrect (Formation in progress)	YES (Incorrect)
Subject 5	0.176106945		
Subject 27	0.155755484		
SLP	0.381218722	Correct (Consolidation in progress)	NO (Incorrect)
Subject 28	0.126500821	(Vowel E added in between R and Å)	
SLP	0.314570164	Incorrect (R substituted by L)	YES (Incorrect)
Subject 29	0.0136434		
SLP	0.430240166	Correct (Consolidation in progress)	YES (Correct)
Subject 30	0.499569595	* Subject trills slightly (graseiază usor)	
SLP	0.191040104	Correct (Consolidation in progress)	NO (Incorrect)
Subject 31	0.023588481	* Subject derives R from T	

4. Discussion and Conclusions

More rigorously determined syllable segmentation rules are needed to obtain more accurate results. The successful classification rates of the other studies taken into consideration are above 78%. To achieve higher levels of accuracy other acoustic parameters (frequency) of the audio signal must be considered. The introduction of additional alphabet letters or of subdivisions thereof might lead to a more refined discrimination, i.e. indicating the sub-category of dyslalic disorder. One major limitation of the observational study was the use of the pronunciation of an adult as standard pattern to be compared to the pronunciations of children. The (lack of) quality of the audio signal also influences the accuracy of the results.

Further audiology data exploration is needed in order to extract the mathematical model of the various filtering processes performed on the speech signal by the auditory apparatus. Our future research will consist in further refining the proposed algorithm, determining its limitations, comparing its accuracy with other algorithms and building a database of acoustic parameters for the Romanian language. Experiments on a large scale are to be performed in the near future in order to improve and validate the methodology as well as the infrastructure [8] developed to implement it. The automated detection and classification of amplitude values would roughly correspond to the movements of the tympanic membrane, which are amplified by the ossicles of the middle ear and transmitted into the cochlea through the oval window. Sound frequency is processed in the inner ear (cochlea) before the filtered audio signal is fed into the auditory cortex via the auditory nerve. We expect further investigations to improve the accuracy of the algorithm, using mathematical modelling to refine the existing algorithm and to achieve better results.

- J. Law, J. Boyle, F. Harris, A. Harkness and C. Nye, Prevalence and natural history of primary speech and language delay: Findings from a systematic review of the literature, *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders* 35 (2) (2000), 165-168.
- [2] M. Danubianu, S. Gh. Pentiuc, O.A. Schipor, M. Nestor, I. Ungureanu and D.M. Schipor, TERAPERS Intelligent Solution for Personalized Therapy of Speech Disorders, *International Journal on Advances* in Life Sciences 1 (1) (2009), 26-35.
- [3] O. Grigore, C. Grigore and V. Velican, Intelligent System for Impaired Speech Evaluation, International Conference on Circuits, Systems, Signals, Recent Advances in Circuits, Systems and Signals, (2010), 365-368.
- [4] O. Grigore and V. Velican, Self-Organizing Maps For Identifying Impaired Speech, Advances in Electrical and Computer Engineering (AECE) 11 (3) (2011), 41-48.
- [5] S-C. Yin, R. Rose, O. Saz and E. Lleida, A study of pronunciation verification in a Speech Therapy Application, *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing* (2009), 4609-12.
- [6] A. Al-Nasheri, G. Muhammad, M. Alsulaiman, Z. Ali, H.K. Malki, T.A. Mesallam and M. Farahat, Voice Pathology Detection and Classification using Auto-correlation and Entropy Features in Different Frequency Regions, *IEEE Access* 99 (2017).
- [7] E.E. Mahmut and V. Stoicu-Tivadar, Current Challenges in the Computer-Based Assessment of Speech Sound Disorders, Proceedings of the IEEE 12th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI) (2018).
- [8] E.E. Mahmut, S. Nicola and V. Stoicu-Tivadar, A Computer-based Speech Sound Disorder Screening System Architecture, *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Informatics, Management* and Technology in Healthcare (ICIMTH) (2018).

Development of an HL7 FHIR Architecture for Implementation of a Knowledge-based Interdisciplinary EHR

Max W. SEITZ^{a, 1}, Stefan LISTL^{b, c} and Petra KNAUP^a

^a University of Heidelberg, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, Heidelberg, Germany

b University Hospital Heidelberg, Department of Conservative Dentistry, Division of Translational Health Economics, Heidelberg, Germany c Department of Quality and Safety of Oral Health Care, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

> Abstract. The treatment of multimorbid patients confronts physicians with special challenges. Complex disease correlations, insufficient evidence, lack of interdisciplinary guidelines, limited communication between physicians of different specialties, etc. complicate the treatment. To improve the present care situation for multimorbid patients we describe a development approach for an interdisciplinary Electronic Health Record (EHR). As part of the Dent@Prevent project, which aims to improve the intersectoral care of patients with correlating dental and chronic systemic diseases, the proposed EHR will first be tested in the field of dentistry and general medicine. Based on the HL7 FHIR standard the proposed EHR uses a modern three-tier (client-server) architecture. Crucial element of the EHR is a knowledge base, which comprises components for mapping diseases with their complex correlations, integrates patient reported parameters and classifies information in evidence levels. Using the FHIR standard the described elements need to be transferred into the data schema of FHIR resources. The development of an EHR to improve the treatment of multimorbid patients needs to be tailored to the specific needs of multimorbid patients. An interdisciplinary EHR offers the potential to facilitate communication between patients and physicians and provide them with evidence-based information on disease correlations. The next step is to test the practical implementation and applicability for further interdisciplinary disease correlations.

> **Keywords.** Interdisciplinary care, Electronic Health Record (EHR), Decision Support System (DSS), Multimorbidity, Chronic systemic disease, Noncommunicable disease, Dental disease, HL7 FHIR.

1. Introduction

The treatment of multimorbid patients is a great challenge of modern medicine. Complex correlations and interactions of diseases can cause i.a. higher mortality, increased disability and functional declines, and decreased quality of life [1]. Nevertheless, the

¹ Corresponding Author: Max W. Seitz, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, University of Heidelberg, Marsilius-Arkaden Turm West, Im Neuenheimer Feld 130.3, D-69120 Heidelberg, Germany; E-mail: max.seitz@med.uni-heidelberg.de.

treatment of chronic diseases is often administered on a disease-specific basis, respectively in medical specialties [2].

Especially, the field of dentistry is largely self-sufficient. Although multiple and complex correlations between various dental and chronic systemic diseases are widely known [3], the cooperation and communication between general practitioners (GPs) and dentists is still limited [4]. The gaps in intersectoral care between dentistry and general medicine offer a significant potential for improvement [5]. In addition, a solution for the existing problems could be transferable to other medical specialties.

The Dent@Prevent project [3] aims to improve the current collaboration between GPs and dentists by implementation of modern information technologies. To improve intersectoral care a prototype of a knowledge-based EHR is developed, which represents highly complex disease correlations and considers them for interactive decision support.

With HL7 FHIR a modern standard is available, which should be suitable to meet the described requirements. Therefore, this article elaborates how a FHIR architecture can be developed for the use case of multimorbid patient treatment. The proposed EHRarchitecture will be implemented and tested within Dent@Prevent for the care of patients with correlating dental and chronic systemic diseases.

2. Methods

FHIR is a standard developed by HL7 international, which supports data exchange between software systems in healthcare. FHIR is resource-based and relies on modern web-based API technologies and standards (e.g. REST, XML, JSON, TLS/SSL, ATOM, HTTPS, OAuth2) [6]. FHIR uses a client-server architecture. Therefore, our approach suggests a three-tier architecture, with a presentation, application and data layer. For Dent@Prevent the presentation layer needs to display relevant information to patients and health care providers in a convenient way.

At the application level, all data must be processed appropriately and efficiently to provide stakeholders with relevant information. For better regulation and prevention, multimorbid patients should get information about disease risks and known correlations. For the attending physicians important information of the opposing field of expertise need to be made available.

On the data layer a knowledge base must store all information about diseases and their possible correlations between each other transparently and easily accessible. The data scheme of the knowledgebase must be transferable to FHIR resources. To achieve this all relevant information have to be mapped within the attributes of suitable FHIR resources, and the resources themselves must logically refer to each other to appropriately represent the knowledge model.

3. Results

The knowledge-based FHIR EHR was modelled on three layers as follows:

The **presentation layer** enables patients and health care providers to easily check, enter, edit or delete information. For the integration of patients, Dent@Prevent has already developed mobile applications to collect Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) for iOS and Android by using the development frameworks ResearchKit and ResearchStack [7]. The PROMs were specifically developed with dentists, GPs and

patients using the Delphi method [8] to collect relevant information for intersectoral collaboration. The patient data collected via the mobile applications is transferred to the EHR via an interface and made available to the attending physicians. Due to the large amount of heterogeneous data, the presented information for patients and practitioners must be filtered and comprehensible presented (e.g. sorted by relevance or disease).

On the **application layer**, information management is the most important factor. Collected data are analyzed to call subsequent functions and to request supporting information from the knowledge base. Additional processing is necessary for decision support and risk calculations on the basis of PROMs. Furthermore, the collected heterogeneous data must be transferred correctly into the data scheme of the data layer. The application layer is consequently responsible for the correct incorporation of the collected data into the attributes of appropriate FHIR resources and the generation of links between the resources on the data layer.

The **data layer** is divided into two sublayers for knowledge and data representation. The knowledge base consists of three components.

- 1. The first describes diseases and their interrelations among each other, by using instances of the *Condition resource* that reference each other.
- 2. The second comprises information collected directly from the patient. This includes validated risk questionnaires (e.g. FINDRISK [9] for detection of diabetes), to determine the presence of additional diseases. This information can be mapped through the *Questionnaire* and *RiskAssessment resource*.
- 3. The third is used to categorize information from the first and second component into evidence levels. Because of the heterogeneity of data it is sensible to present the stakeholders (patients and physicians) the source and reliability (evidence) of the information. To assess evidence, the resources *Evidence*, *qualityOfEvidence* and *strengthOfRecommendation* can be used.

4. Discussion

The newly developed EHR architecture, using the FHIR standard and 3 layer modeling, shall provide the flexibility and expandability necessary to address the complex correlations of multimorbid patient treatment. FHIR was chosen, because the standard is expected to cover the requirements of the described EHR architecture.

For a good patient support the structure must be specific enough to support certain diseases with their associated correlations, but also flexible to expand with other diseases and correlations. To achieve this the knowledgebase is designed to be modularly expandable. Additionally FHIR offers to customize and extend resources, while still being backwards compatible.

To improve the care of multimorbid patients a better integration of the patient into the treatment process is sensible. In order to increase patient participation, the proposed EHR offers the patients to provide health information by themselves i.a. to calculate the risk for the development of additional diseases and informs about (possible) disease correlations.

A challenging factor in the implementation of the proposed EHR will be the mapping of all knowledgebase components into FHIR resources. The implementation will show, how suitable the 80/20 design scheme 'focus on the 20% of requirements that satisfy 80% of the interoperability' meets the presented requirements.

The main problem to be solved is to improve the interdisciplinary information exchange between physicians, treating a common multimorbid patient. An interdisciplinary EHR, which facilitates the data acquisition and sharing between patients and their attending physicians, offers the potential to improve communication and coordination to the benefit of multimorbid patients.

5. Conclusion

Due to its complexity, the interdisciplinary treatment of multimorbid patients is still a great challenge, which is difficult to improve even with modern information systems. An EHR specifically developed for such treatment cases could offer the potential to improve communication, coordination and data exchange between patients and their attending physicians. In the planning and development of interdisciplinary EHR, the special needs of multimorbid treatment cases must be taken into account very carefully.

Further development is necessary to verify the practical implementability and usability of the planned EHR. The results of this work are to be transferred for the intersectoral care of multimorbid patients by different medical specialties. The applicability of the EHR architecture for other interdisciplinary disease correlations of different specialties must be evaluated in the further progress.

- [1] I. Schäfer, E.-C. von Leitner, G. Schön, D. Koller, H. Hansen, T. Kolonko, et al., Multimorbidity patterns in the elderly: a new approach of disease clustering identifies complex interrelations between chronic conditions, *PloS one* 5 (12) (2010), e15941. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015941.
- [2] E.A. Bayliss, A.E. Edwards, J.F. Steiner and D.S. Main, Processes of care desired by elderly patients with multimorbidities, *Family practice* 25 (4) (2008), S. 287–293. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmn040.
- [3] M.W. Seitz, S. Listl, A. Bartols, I. Schubert, K. Blaschke, C. Haux and M.M. van der Zande, Current knowledge on correlations between highly prevalent dental conditions and chronic diseases: an umbrella review, *Preventing Chronic Disease* (2019), accepted for publication.
- [4] K. Sippli, M.A. Rieger and F. Huettig, GPs' and dentists' experiences and expectations of interprofessional collaboration: findings from a qualitative study in Germany, *BMC health services research* 17 (1) (2017), S. 179.
- [5] P.E. Petersen, The World Oral Health Report 2003: continuous improvement of oral health in the 21st century – the approach of the WHO Global Oral Health Programme, *Community Dentistry and oral epidemiology* **31** (s1) (2003), 3-23.
- [6] M.W. Seitz, C. Haux, S. Listl and P. Knaup, Evaluation von Frameworks f
 ür die Entwicklung einer mobilen Applikation zur Befragung von Patienten, Deutsche Gesellschaft f
 ür Medizinische Informatik, Biometrie und Epidemiologie 63 Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft f
 ür Medizinische Informatik, Biometrie und Epidemiologie eV (GMDS) Osnabr
 ück, (2018).
- [7] Health Level Seven International, Welcome to FHIR, (2019). http://hl7.org/fhir. (accessed March 18, 2019).
- [8] C. Okoli and S.D. Pawlowski, The Delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications, *Information & Management* 42 (1) (2004), S. 15–29. doi: 10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002.
- [9] J. Li, R. Hoffmann and P.E.H. Schwarz, Diabetesrisiko früh erkennen FINDRISK für Hausärzte, *Diabetes aktuell* 6 (02) (2008), 58–64. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1079118.

Utilization of a Novel Patient Monitoring Dashboard in Emergency Departments

Sivanija ULAGANATHAN^{a, 1}, Tamina FATAH^a, Thomas SCHMIDT^a and Christian NØHR^a

^a The Mærsk Mc-Kinney Møller Institute, University of Southern Denmark

Abstract. Purpose: To study the clinical use of a novel patient monitoring dashboard at two Emergency Departments in Denmark in order to evaluate the clinician's perspective and their use of the dashboard. Method: Data was gathered by participatory observations of the clinicians' workflow and dashboard interaction, as well as interviews about the clinicians' attitudes towards the system. The data collection process took place during the system's intervention process from September to December 2018. Result: 65 nurses, 28 physicians and two assistants were observed in total for 62 hours. The 59 hours of the observation was focused on the interaction with the systems about the use of the dashboard. Conclusion: Based on observation, it is concluded that the temporal use of the dashboard is 3 minutes and 10 seconds, out of the 59 hours system interaction. Furthermore, the nurses claimed that they needed further training, as an explanation of the minimal interaction with the system.

Keywords: evaluation, ER, health informatics, clinical decision support.

1. Introduction

Most health organizations are investing in multiple information systems, in order to improve healthcare delivery in a secure and efficient way [1]. Coherence between the system's functionalities, the organisation's needs, and work patterns is expected. However, due to technical difficulties and adaptation of systems into the daily work routine, the adoption of new information systems can be challenging [2].

In Emergency Departments (ED) patient's diagnoses and treatment are derived from their background history and observable symptoms [3]. In this regard, observation and registration of vital signs are essential for patient care, in order to identify and handle unexpected deviations [3].

Registration of vital signs are often intermittent and adherence to protocol varies [4]. To address this issue, a novel patient monitoring dashboard, coined the Patient Deterioration Warning System (PDWS) is being evaluated in a clinical trial (NCT03375658 on ClinicalTrials.gov). In order to reduce risk of deterioration, the current patient monitoring equipment collect vital signs frequently. However, this automatic procedure generates a large amount of data which challenges the overview and clinical decision making in order to identify deterioration risk for specific patients. The

¹ Corresponding Author, Sivanija Ulaganathan, The Mærsk Mc-Kinney Møller Institute, University of Southern Denmark; E-mail: sivanija95@gmail.com.

PDWS aims to help clinicians keep track of all patients who have been attached to a patient monitor by structuring and assessing the automatically registered vital signs.

Thus, the PDWS ensures that each registered vital sign is included in the clinical assessment of the patient's condition [3]. The effect of the PDWS is currently being evaluated in the EDs of Odense University Hospital and Hospital of South West Jutland, both located in Region of Southern Denmark.

The aim of the study is to gain insight into the challenges of implementing a new system, such as the PDWS, by assessing the clinician's understanding and usage of the new system. The use of the PDWS is assessed by registering interaction time with the system. This is supplemented with time recording of the other systems; Clinical logistic system (Cetrea), the Electronic Health Record (EHR) (Cosmic), Philips IntelliVue Information Center (PIIC), telephone, and the Emergency Medical Call (EMC) to assess the overall temporal use of the systems in a busy clinical environment such as emergency department.

2. Methods

As the intention of the study was to obtain an in-depth understanding of the clinician's behaviour during the evaluation period of the PDWS, qualitative methods were applied, and participatory observations were used to collect data. Furthermore, this approach allowed us to establish interviews with the clinicians.

Data were gathered in two phases from the two departments where PDWS was evaluated. In the first phase *systematic* observations were performed [5]. The clinician's interaction with PDWS was systematically registered. Interaction was defined as; when the clinicians look at, or use, the system at any purpose. Furthermore, *direct* observation was used, which is a strategy that points out the observer's attendance to clinicians and allowing for interviewing the participants in action. The behaviour of the caregivers was systematically recorded using a customized multi-timer, when they were present in the office [5].

The second phase consisted of interviews, where 10 staff nurses and two project nurses were selected randomly for interview. The interviews were transcribed, and afterwards analysed by selecting statements relevant to evaluation of PDWS. In addition, activity time, i.e. the time when clinicians interacted with PDWS, was measured with a multi-timer and compared to the temporal activity of other systems.

3. Results

The ED at Odense University Hospital is organized into six teams, including the emergency ward. The ED at the South West Jutland is organized into five teams. All teams in both EDs have the PDWS available and our observations included those teams, where PDWS was running.

3.1. Clinicians interaction with the system

The observations included 28 physicians, 65 nurses, and two nurse assistants. The duration of observation in total was 62 hours, wherefrom the clinicians used approx. 59

hours using the systems. The remaining three hours were not considered into this study. Overall it was observed that the clinicians interacted with PDWS for a total of 3 minutes and 10 seconds. The results are shown in table 1.

Total (hh:mm:ss)	Total Observation	EHR	Clinical logistic	PIC	Tele- phone	EMC	PDWS	Remain- ing time
62:00:00	59:17:30	43:20:20	8:15:47	01:57:39	05:37:41	00:07:03	00:03:10	03:00:00
100%	95,44%	69,68%	13,15%	2,53%	8,66%	0,11%	0,05%	4,48%

Table 1. Temporal results of the interaction with each of the six systems.

3.2 Clinicians perspective.

During the interviews, one out of 10 nurses mentioned that one has not heard about PDWS and did not have time to get to know the system neither, "*I haven't heard about the system* ... But neither did I have time to use the system". However, three nurses mentioned that they knew the PDWS, but had not utilized it, since they had several other systems to interact with. Four nurses mentioned that they did not know the system, but they were positive about the idea and would like to use it, if they were instructed in how to use it. Additionally, they suggested that the system should integrate with the EHR. The last two nurses pointed out, that the PDWS system had not been prioritized by the management, "I do not know it. And I've been told I shouldn't worry about it".

Two project nurses, in relation to system use, emphasized the importance of communicating the system's purpose; "It is important to point out the primary purpose of the system. If the clinicians do not know what the purpose is with the system, it will demotivate them". It is important to involve management throughout the implementation and evaluation of the system. As for the graphical user interface of the PDWS, they commented that the graphs are messy and that the more advanced elements should be removed.

4. Discussion

This 62-hour field study was focused primarily on the PDWS, to analyse the use of a newly implemented system at ED. The approach to the study was based on direct observation strategy, which has some downsides, as the clinicians can be affected by the observation. Similar to *Hawthorne Effect* [6], the nurses could act different than usually. At one of the teams, PDWS had been turned off which was not discovered until two hours after the beginning of the clinician's dayshift. The nurses strived to get the system running while the observers were present but did not know how to do it. Furthermore, the clinician's behaviour contradicts their statement that they should not worry about the system, but in this particular situation it turned out that they actually took into consideration. However, we cannot say for sure if they beside the observation time pay attention to the system or not. This can be a bias in relation to the resulting temporal use of the PDWS and the clinician's statements. The bias could have been avoided by using a discrete form of direct observation in which the observers provided the clinicians with minimal information about the study [5]. The purpose of the observation could be informed on a general level, in this context the observers could tell the clinicians that their workflow with all system interaction will be studied.

Furthermore, the localization of the PDSW screen in the office was considered to determine if it had any significant effect on the use of PDWS. During the observation process, it was noted that the essential details on PDWS may disappear, due to the screen size. In some departments, the PDWS screen was turned off or frozen due to system failure. This could be solved by contacting the system's developer, however, the clinicians had overlooked this option, as they did not use the system. PDWS was located remotely from other systems and partly hidden by other objects, making the system not conspicuous to the clinicians. In addition, some department teams placed the PDWS next to the clinical logistics system, which has considerably larger screens than PDWS.

During the interviews the clinicians stated that they were missing instruction of the system and information about the system's purpose. Additionally, they did not have time to use PDWS as they already spent lot of time on other systems (Table 1). Furthermore, the feedback from the project nurses emphasized that the purpose of PDWS was unclear, as it is relevant to understand the connection to the system's functions, in relation to their work patterns. Several of them had been told that they should not worry about the system, resulting in minimal knowledge of the PDWS, thus avoiding the use of it. This error information distorts the motivation in the use of PDWS.

5. Conclusion

The receptiveness of a new system in an environment that already has many systems in advance is challenging, as shown in the results of this study. The general workflow at ED consists a lot of system interaction as it appears in Table 1. Out of 95.44% of system interaction, only 0.05% has been used on PDWS. It is important to clarify the main purpose and instruction of the system to the users. This will allow the clinicians to understand the system use and incorporate the new implemented system in their workflow.

Acknowledgement

In preparation of this study, we would like to thank the clinical staff at the Emergency Departments in Odense University Hospital and the Hospital of South West Jutland.

- P.G. Shekelle, S.C. Morton, and E.B. Keeler, Costs and benefits of health information technology, *Evid Rep Technol Assess* 132 (2006), 1-71.
- [2] M. Berg, Implementing information systems in health care organizations: Myths and challenges, International Journal of Medical Informatics 64 (2001), 143-56.
- [3] T. Schmidt, A. Lassen, and U.K. Will, A Patient Deterioration Warning System for Boosting Situational Awareness of Monitored Patients, *IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics*, (2016).
- [4] C. Hands et al., Patterns in the recording of vital signs and early warning scores: Compliance with a clinical escalation protocol, *BMJ Qual. Saf.* 22 (2013), 719-26.
- [5] H.R. Bernard, *Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. AltamiraPress, United States, 2006.
- [6] E. Coiera, Guide to health informatics, 3rd ed., Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, FL, 2015.

Blockchain Based Network for Tuberculosis: A Data Sharing Initiative in Brazil

Filipe BERNARDI^{a, 1}, Vinicius LIMA^a, Felipe PELLISON^a, Paulo Mazzoncini de Azevedo MARQUES^{a, d}, Rui RIJO^{b,e,f}, Rafael Mello GALLIEZ^c, Afrânio KRITSKI^g and Domingos ALVES^{d,e}

^aBioengineering Postgraduate Program, University of São Paulo, Brazil
 ^bSchool of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal
 ^c Center of Scientific and Technological Information, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Brazil
 ^dRibeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Brazil
 ^e CINTESIS – Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Portugal
 ^f INESCC - Institute for Systems and Computers Engineering at Coimbra, Portugal
 ^g Faculty of Medicine, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Abstract. Data sharing, information exchange, knowledge acquisition and health intelligence are the basis of an efficient and effective evidence-based decision-making tool. A decentralized blockchain architecture is a flexible solution that can be adapted to institutional and managerial culture of organizations and services. Blockchain can play a fundamental role in enabling data sharing within a network and, to achieve that, this work defines the high-level resources necessary to apply this technology to Tuberculosis related issues. Thus, relying in open-source tools and in a collaborative development approach, we present a proposal of a blockchain based network, the TB Network, to underpin an initiative of sharing of Tuberculosis Brazilian cities.

Keywords. data sharing, interoperability, blockchain, tuberculosis

1. Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is a bacterial infectious disease that represents a significant public health problem in the world. It is estimated that in 2017 approximately 10.5 million people got infected with drug-sensitive TB or with drug/multidrug-resistant TB. Brazil, specifically, is considered a country with a high TB burden, with an estimate of 93.000 TB cases [1].

Data sharing is the practice of making data used for scholarly research widely available to other stakeholders [2]. In the absence of any binding requirement, data sharing is at the discretion of the scientists themselves. Data sharing may be restricted to protect institutions and scientists from use of data for political purposes, as well as to

¹ Corresponding Author, Filipe Bernardi. Health Intelligence Laboratory, Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brazil; E-mail: filipepaulista12@usp.br.

protect proprietary interests, national security, and subject/patient/victim confidentiality [3].

Data sharing, information exchange, knowledge acquisition and health intelligence are the basis of an efficient and effective evidence-based decision-making tool. This tool needs to be coherent with the institutional and managerial culture of organizations and services. However, current solutions are usually centralized. A valid approach to overcome these risks is to adapt the Blockchain technology where a decentralized architecture allows each member in the network stores an identical copy of the records and contributes to the collective process of validating and certifying digital transactions for the network based on contracts of strict rules and consensus processes [4].

The main goal of this work is to present a proposal of a blockchain based architecture to underpin sharing of TB scientific, operational and epidemiologic data across 7 (seven) Brazilian cities. We intent to build a permissioned network that will allow safe information exchange that could be, ideally, expanded to a global TB network.

2. Methods

Action Research will be used as the scientific methodological basis for this work, due to its investigative and practical approach, considering the project, besides the theoretical development, has also a practical component [5]. All stakeholders will actively participate in the network conception, development and implementation to cover all necessary requirements for a precise data sharing. Documentation will be produced in each development part and a network prototype will be created to validate the proposed model.

The proposed network model of data sharing focus on the construction of structured nodes for a TB project that involves 7 (seven) Brazilian states' capitals, where each city will be able to manage and share information through the blockchain network. The main goal of this network is to provide an approach to effectively and securely share TB information within a data sharing network, called TB-Network.

Several resources will be used to model and deploy the blockchain network for data sharing, which will be based on the open-source Hyperledger platform. Initially, Hyperledger Composer Playground will be used for network modeling, smart contracts definition and testing of transactions. Then, the generated metadata will be exported to be further deployed in a production environment based on the Hyperledger Fabric framework, which will be instantiated in the private academic cloud computing infrastructure from University of São Paulo.

The initial dataset for the blockchain network will came from the Tuberculosis Ecosystem, a computational health infrastructure that consists on a set of integrated systems that aims to do a better management and exchange of information related to TB in State of São Paulo, Brazil. Furthermore, this ecosystem has a functional and semantic interoperability architecture that enables relevant data exchange with authorized systems [6], which will allow data extraction and sharing over the network.

Also, test applications will be developed to interact with the TB Network. In general, it will be web and mobile based applications. They will be used as a proof of concept of supporting tools that can coexist to enhance relevant data dissemination, increasing quality and completeness of specific categories of data.

3. TB Network: a blockchain permissioned network

We have defined general assumptions about healthcare stakeholders (or network nodes) participating in a data sharing network are presented: i) Nodes must understand the data structure and semantics; ii) Nodes need guarantees of security and auditability to share or receive data; iii) The node controls their records and authorizes who may access it and when; iv) Each node are able to manage their access levels, users and data privacy. These assumptions exclude any regulation/incentives that the network itself defines.

We propose the use of a permissioned distributed blockchain solution that uses a key pair (private/public key) and a symmetrical consortium key for data encryption. A consortium distributed storage network will be established consisting of research centers and other approved stakeholders throughout the Brazil. Each member organization will undergo an extensive background check. Permissioned access to the blockchain will be granted by a consortium committee, which will assign the keys. Key based mechanisms allow limits to be placed on the data so that administrators, government agencies, and other agencies only have access to the information needed, not the entire records. Additionally, it will be possible to make some pieces of information publicly available, whenever is necessary (for transparency or open data initiatives).

Data will be the digital asset in the blockchain network. Any data generated involving health information can be stored on the blockchain and will be kept "off-chain" in a distributed storage infrastructure. Identifiers and additional hash codes for such data will be stored in the blocks. That way, we will be able to store a large amount of data without overloading the chain but still rely on blockchain security features.

Such data could be, but is not limited to: scientific investigations, medical device data, administrative records, administrative records, socioeconomic information, population studies, recordings generated from IoT devices, medical records, nursing notes, imaging exams, etc. Data will first endure a process of stripping personally identifiable information leading to the generation of two types of data: i) Data that is completely stripped of personally identifiable information (this is the data that can be accessed by approved organizations for large scale data analysis and organizational research); ii) Data that could not be stripped of personally identifiable information (this information (this is only available during patient encounters).

Furthermore, there are some projects working in the idea of connecting different Blockchains, where the main goal is to create "The Internet of Blockchains" [7]. It will allow stakeholders to develop additional blockchain networks and end user applications that will be able to interact with the TB-Network (and with its data) and other interconnected infrastructures through a variety of technologies, such as the resources from the Semantic Web. Upon implementation of the network, our next step will be to evaluate its usability and usefulness. To do this, an evaluation protocol, already in discussion with government entities, will be applied. Other ongoing discussions are related to data processing and how to make it available for students and teachers, besides of the establishment of strategies to record the results and to draw conclusions.

4. Final considerations and future directions

We believe that blockchain can play a fundamental role in enabling data sharing within a network. To achieve that, we have defined the high-level structures and protocols necessary to apply this powerful technology to TB issues. The requirements for sharing data within the healthcare realm are compelling and simply data exchange is not enough. Our proposal aims to demonstrate that effective data sharing networks require consensus on data syntax, meaning, and security of information [8]. It is important to point out that this project is in consonance with the Brazilian government's project that standardizes the opening of public data, whose guiding principles are found in the Brazilian government's data-entry guide [9].

Additionally, besides of the network first implementation, we intent to integrate the presented blockchain infrastructure with two TB projects of high relevance, whose requirements will incorporate new features, such as a set of interconnected models based on Markov and Machine Learning mechanisms, which are incorporated into an evidence-based clinical algorithm (providing recommendations based on WHO guidelines) [10], and a semantic framework that contains an ontology repository and is able to gather health data from heterogeneous data sources [6].

Acknowledgements

This research is under development in the Bioengineering Postgraduate Program (EESC/FMRP/IQSC) of University of São Paulo and is supported by São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP), grant number 2018/00307-2, managed by author DA.

- [1] WHO, Global Tuberculosis Report 2018. 2018.
- [2] N.G. Fielding, R.M. Lee and G. Blank, The SAGE handbook of online research methods, Sage, 2008.
- [3] D.B. Taichman, P. Sahni, A. Pinborg, L. Peiperl, C. Laine, et. al., Data sharing statements for clinical trials: a requirement of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, *Jama* 317(24) (2017), 2491-2492.
- [4] T.T. Kuo, and L. Ohno-Machado, Modelchain: Decentralized privacy-preserving healthcare predictive modeling framework on private blockchain networks (2018). arXiv preprint arXiv:1802.01746.
- [5] M. Hult and S.A. Lennung, Towards a definition of action research: a note and bibliography, *Journal of management studies* 17(2) (1980), 241-250.
- [6] F.C. Pellison, R.P.C.L. Rijo, V.C. Lima, R.R. de Lima, R. Martinho, R.J.C. Correia, and D. Alves, Development and evaluation of an interoperable system based on the semantic web to enhance the management of patients' tuberculosis data, *Procedia Computer Science* 121 (2017), 791-796.
- [7] H. Ugarte, A more pragmatic Web 3.0: Linked Blockchain Data, Bonn, Germany, 2017.
- [8] V.C. Lima, D. Alves, F.C. Pellison, V.T. Yoshiura, N.Y. Crepaldi and R.P.C.L. Rijo, Establishment of Access Levels for Health Sensitive Data Exchange through Semantic Web, *Procedia computer science* 138 (2018), 191-196.
- [9] M.T. Pires, Guia de Dados Abertos Melhoria do ambiente de negócios por meio da transparência no Estado de São Paulo, 2015.
- [10] World Health Organization, WHO treatment guidelines for isoniazid-resistant tuberculosis: supplement to the WHO treatment guidelines for drug-resistant tuberculosis (No. WHO/CDS/TB/2018.7), World Health Organization, 2018.

Factors Affecting Venture Funding of Healthcare AI Companies

Olli HALMINEN^{a,1}, Henni TENHUNEN^a, Antti HELISTE^a and Timo SEPPÄLÄ^{a,b} ^aDepartment of Industrial Engineering and Management, Aalto University, Espoo, Finland

^bResearch Institute of the Finnish Economy, ETLA, Helsinki, Finland

Abstract. Venture Capital (VC) funding raised by companies producing Artificial Intelligence (AI) or Machine Learning (ML) solutions is on the rise and a driver of technology development. In healthcare, VC funding is distributed unevenly and certain technologies have attracted significantly more funding than others have. We analyzed a database of 106 Healthcare AI companies collected from open online sources to understand factors affecting the VC funding of AI companies operating in different areas of healthcare. The results suggest that there is a significant connection between higher funding and having research organizations or pharmaceutical companies as the customer of the product or service. In addition, focusing on AI solutions that are applied to direct patient care delivery is associated with lower funding. We discuss the implications of our findings for public health technology funding institutions.

Keywords. Artificial Intelligence, Capital Funding, Technology

1. Introduction

As with other innovation systems, also AI technology environment in healthcare is highly driven by capital investment decisions [1]. Capital investment decisions affect the companies' research strategies, and VC investors might affect the target markets and development foci of the companies [1]. Also the decision on which companies are funded and which are ignored affects the developmental trends of the whole industry [2,3,4].

A recent descriptive analysis by Rock Health [5] stated that the venture capital (VC) funding of digital health companies applying AI/ML has grown in a similar way as the digital health VC funding overall. In the United States, 121 digital health companies leveraging AI/ML have raised a total of \$2.7B with 206 deals from 2011 to 2017, which is slightly over 10% of all venture dollars invested in digital health during that period. The VC funding of AI Health companies has distributed unevenly and certain technologies have attracted significantly more funding than others. While companies with high R&D focus have been successful in gathering funding, companies with value propositions focusing on applying AI/ML to direct patient care delivery have been more modest in raising funding. It has been suggested that one of the reasons for the difference in funding amounts is that there are fewer risks in using AI to improve business functions instead of patient treatment [5].

¹ Corresponding Author, Olli Halminen, Aalto University, Espoo, Finland; E-mail: olli.halminen@aalto.fi.

In this study, we aim to find initial evidence of the factors influencing VC funding of AI companies operating in different areas of healthcare. Based on the recognized preferences of VC investors in recent years, we chart out two hypotheses: **H1**: Companies the technology of which is used in direct patient care delivery receive less funding than other companies. **H2**: Companies the technology of which is mainly paid by research organizations and pharmaceutical companies or healthcare providers and insurers, receive more funding than mainly patient-paid technologies.

2. Data and Methods

There exists little standardized data on initial VC capital funding for AI/ML startups. Our database consists of funding information of 106 companies found from Crunchbase.com web portal. We selected those 1434 companies that had listed "Artificial Intelligence" as their technology category and raised more than 250 000 dollars funding. Out of these, 115 were healthcare companies. We left out multi-industry companies who had only narrow focus on healthcare. Remaining 106 companies were included in the analyses. In total, these companies had raised \$1,4B in funding. The data were retrieved in June 2017 and June 2018. For companies that were in the datasets in both years, the 2017 data were used for better comparability between companies. We used data from 2017 for 39 companies and from 2018 for 67 companies.

The descriptive statistics are described in Table 1. Additional characteristics for each of the companies were gathered via online exploration on companies' web pages. We added information on whether the company's AI solution was used directly in patient care delivery, and whether it employed machine learning, machine vision or natural language processing technologies. We also added the population data of the companies' headquarter location.

Variable	Mean/Percentage	Std. Dev.
Log Total funding amount (MEUR)	1.40	1.61
Applying AI/ML to direct patient care delivery	66 %	0.48
Main Customer: Healthcare providers and insurers	70 %	0.46
Main Customer: Research organisations and pharmaceutical companies	21 %	0.41
Main Customer: Patient	9 %	0.29
Technology: Machine Learning	65 %	0.48
Technology: Machine Vision	22 %	0.41
Technology: Natural Language Processing	28 %	0.45
Continent: Europe & Israel	37 %	0.48
Continent: Northern America	56 %	0.50
Continent: Asia & Australia	8 %	0.27
Log Headquarters city population (Millions)	-0.33	2.05
Log Headquarters cluster population (Millions)	0.75	1.48
Log Headquarters country population (Millions)	4.77	1.43
Founding year (median)	2014	
Company Age	3.85	2.63

Table 1. Descriptive statistics

OLS multiple regression analysis was used to explore the associations between variables. As a **dependent variable**, we employed the amount of funding raised by the company, retrieved from Crunchbase.com database. We used two different sets of **independent variables:** For **H1**, we evaluated whether the company's technology was used in any phase of the treatment of the patient; coded as a dummy variable. For **H2**, we analyzed whether the main payer-customer of the AI solution was a) healthcare

provider or insurer, b) research organization or pharmaceutical company, or c) patient; coded as a categorical dummy variable.

As a **control variable**, we assessed some non-exclusive technology categories leveraged by companies [6]. We also controlled for the geographical location of the company headquarters, headquarter region's size, country size, and company age. Log transformations were performed on total funding amount and companies' HQ city and country populations due to the prominent right-skewed distribution of these variables. The log transformation remarkably reduced the skewness. Statistical analysis was performed using STATA 15.

3. Results

Initial descriptive analysis suggests support for both hypotheses. The companies applying AI/ML technologies to direct patient care delivery seem to raise less funding per company than those who were not (average funding \$11.7M vs. \$18.7M per company). Also, in accordance with Hypothesis 2, the companies whose main customer category is patients have raised less funding than companies having research organizations and pharmaceutical companies, or healthcare providers and insurers, as main customers (\$1.9M vs. \$15.2M and \$15.4M, respectively).

Table 2. Regression of log of Total Funding Amount (MEUR) results.

Variable	Model 1	Model 2
Applying AI/ML to direct patient care delivery	-0.64*	
Main Customer: Patients (reference group)		-
Main Customer: Healthcare Providers and Insurers		0.6
Main Customer: Research Organizations and Pharmaceutical Companies		1.36**
Technology: Machine learning	0.38	0.26
Technology. Machine vision	0.7	0.44
Technology: NLP	0.36	0.31
Continent: Northern America (reference group)	-	-
Continent: Europe & Israel	0.48	0.51
Continent: Asia & Australia	1.53**	1.51**
Log Headquarters city population (Millions)	-0.15*	-0.15
Log Headquarters cluster population (Millions)	0.16	0.23*
Log Headquarters country population (Millions)	0.23*	0.2
Company Age	0.21***	0.2***
Constant	-0.74	-1.92
R-squared	0.189	0.214
N	106	106
$***_{p < 0} 01 \cdot **_{p < 0} 05 \cdot *_{p < 0} 1$		

The results from the OLS estimation are presented in Table 2. In Model 1, the independent variable of direct patient care delivery shows weakly significant but impactful decrease by the factor of -0.64 (p-value 0.078). This is indicative of companies with AI/ML applications used directly in patient care delivery receiving approximately 48% less funding than other companies. In Model 2, we compared the effect of having research institution or healthcare provider as the main customer to those companies having patients as the main customer. Model's factor for research organizations' and pharmaceutical companies' funding is 1.36 (p-value 0.02). The regression model explained the logarithm of total funding amount, meaning that the regression coefficients β_i can be interpreted as being associated with a change in the dependent variable of the factor of $e^{\beta i}$ indicating that the 1.36 factor of research organizations and pharmaceutical
companies is linked to a 290% increase in funding. The IVs and the control variables explain up to 21.4% of the variance in total funding amount raised. As a check for heteroscedasticity we inspected the distribution of residuals which was close to normal and not very skewed in the kernel density estimate, increasing model acceptability.

4. Discussion and Conclusions

The results give support to our Hypothesis 1 that employing AI solutions directly in patient care delivery is connected with a decrease in funding compared to other solutions. Funders are possibly more cautious for treatment technologies that require a high level of evidence of effectiveness [5]. Also H2 was supported, as the technologies mainly paid by research organizations and pharmaceutical companies received remarkably more funding than those paid by patients. In other words, AI technologies for which the main customer was patient raised significantly less funding than those targeted to research organizations. It could be that research institutions and pharmaceutical companies are more likely to purchase solutions involving high infrastructure investments.

The study has considerable limitations. Crunchbase.com is a US-based platform, and we detected some geographical bias within the dataset. Also due to the small number of companies in the data, longitudinal study design could not be employed. In the future, more robust panel settings should be used, including a wider set of control variables.

As VC investments are a key driver of innovation systems, it is possible that the uneven funding hinders the development of patient-focused health technologies. Furthermore, it should be considered whether public funding institutions ought to have patient-centered AI technologies as a specific target group. This is relevant for policymakers and public health officials defining the role of public technology funders in healthcare.

Acknowledgements

This study was conducted in collaboration with Digital Disruption of Industry (DDI) research project, funded by Academy of Finland, and Evaluation of Digital Healthcare Solutions (DiRVa) research project, funded by Business Finland. The authors did not disclose any conflicts of interest.

- H. Hirsch-Kreinsen, Financial market and technological innovation, *Industry & Innovation* 18(4) (2011), 351–368.
- [2] P. Lehoux, F.A. Miller and G. Daudelin, How does venture capital operate in medical innovation? BMJ Innovations 2(3) (2016), 111-117.
- [3] P. Lehoux, G. Daudelin, J. Denis and F.A. Miller, A Concurrent Analysis of Three Institutions that Transform Health Technology-Based Ventures: Economic Policy, Capital Investment, and Market Approval, *Review of Policy Research* 34(5) (2017), 636-659.
- [4] P. Lehoux, F.A. Miller, G. Daudelin and D.R. Urbach, How venture capitalists decide which new medical technologies come to exist, *Science and Public Policy* 43(3) (2015), 375-385.
- [5] M. Zweig, D. Tran, B. Evans, Demystifying AI and Machine Learning in Healthcare, Rock Health, 2016.
- [6] N. Chen, L. Christensen, K. Gallagher, R. Mate and G. Rafert, *Global economic impacts associated with artificial intelligence*, Study, Analysis Group, Boston, MA, 2016.

Factors Relating to Participation in Quality Improvement and Hospital Accreditation of Health Professions in Kalasin Hospital, Kalasin Province,Thailand

Areeauey ABHICHAYA^{a,1} and Leethongdee SONGKRAMCHAI^b

^aDoctor of Public Health student, Faculty of Public Health, Mahasarakham University, Thailand

^bAssocitate Professor, Faculty of Public Health, Mahasarakham University, Thailand

Abstract. This cross-sectional research aimed to explore the associated factors with participation in the quality improvement processes in Kalasin hospital, Kalasin province, Thailand. The 412 samples were randomized selection and the created questionnaire was applied to collect their opinion. The results showed that level of participation in quality improvement, which called HA of hospital health professionals at high level (average = 3.52, S.D. = 0.86). In aspect of internal factors of samples, positions and role of responsibility were significantly related with quality improvement. Job motivation and support from the organization were level. Finding can be suggest that the hospital need to support their staff in aspect of focus on patient, human resources development and patient care process. Including to support and staff encouragement to high level of participant all quality improvement quality.

Keywords. Factor relating, Participant, Quality improvement, Hospital accreditation.

1.Introduction

The Ministry of Public Health-MoPH of Thailand has announced policy direction to improve quality of service in all level of care. Particularly quality of service in hospital which called the Hospital accreditation-HA was desirable target to improve standard in healthcare unit. [1]. Kalasin hospital is a public general hospital under control of the MoPH, has adopted the top policy and they endeavored to attempt in participation of HA criterion into practice by defining the strategic direction to focus on becoming a quality accredited hospital [2]. There was a strategic issue that was to improve the quality of service to be certified in accordance with the hospital standards and health services [3]. The ultimate goal is the hospital has passed the certification of HA quality standards with continuous and sustainable development (Committee on the Development of Good Governance and Health Quality Organization, 2018).

¹ Corresponding Author, Areeauey Abhichaya, Doctor of Public Health Student, Faculty of Public Health, Mahasarakham University, Mahasarakham Province, Thailand; E-mail: rachanee929@gmail.com.

However, all successes need to involve activities of health professionals.[4] Therefore, they have to motivate and promote staff in quality improvement to achieved good results for service recipients[5].Regarding to evidence, human factor was an important mechanism enabling the quality development process to sustain on HA [6]. Additionally, staff qualifications, position, career, work experiences, including support from the organization were presented as important factors [7]. In addition, motivation factors was an important according to Herzberg's two-factor theory [8]. These all primary factors in Kalasin hospital, which was developed to a framework for improving the quality of the health service of the organization [9]. Therefore, in order to continuously drive quality work and sustainability of HA process at Kalasin hospital. This research was aimed to study on the factors that related to their quality improvement implement.

2. Methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted in Kalasin Hospital, Kalasin Province, Thailand during July to August 2018. The population such as The hospital officers has 1,515 person.

The population of this study was working in the hospital Kalasin province, including was 1,515 person. Sample size calculated using the sample size calculation formula to estimate the average population If the population is known instead of the formulas, 412 samples were systematically randomized to the number of desired results

The created questionnaire was applied as the research tool. The questionnaire was divided into 2 domains. First domain inquired about healthcare professional information. Second domain queried their motivation and support from the organization to improve the quality of health care professional comes from Herzberg's two-factor theory. This domain employs five-point scale with corresponding interpretations: 1 for Strongly Disagree, 2 for Disagree, 3 for Neither Disagree, 4 for Agree, and 5 for Strongly Agree.

Collect data was conducted by using online questionnaire via the hospital intranet system distributed to the randomized subjects. This research was conducted with permission from the Research Ethics Committee, Kalasin Hospital.

Quantitative data analysis by using computer software package. Descriptive statistics including frequency distribution, percentage, mean, standard deviation inferential statistics, such as Chi- Square and Pearson correlation were analyzed and presented as a previous describe [10].

3.Results



Figure 1. Health care position of studied subjects.

Table 1.	. The part	icipation	in the de	evelopment	and	certification	of hospital	quality	of healthcare	professional
in Kalasi	in hospita	1								

Participation in the development and certification of hospital healthcare professions	average	S.D.	Participation level
Leadership in the Organization	3.49	0.80	moderate
Strategic management	3.39	0.95	moderate
Focus on patients, recipients	3.72	0.78	Most
Analytical measurement And knowledge management	3.29	0.91	moderate
Human resource focus	3.58	0.92	Most
Patient care process	3.93	0.74	Most
Organizational results	3.24	0.92	moderate
Total	3.52	0.86	Most

 Table 2. Results of the study participation in the development and quality accreditation in hospitals (percent) and chi

 Square

healthcare professional attributes	Participation in th quality accredits (per		e development and ation in hospitals cent)		chi- Square	df	p- value
	High	Moderate	Less	Total			
Profession					11.633	2	0.001
Nurse	189	67	42	298			
	(45.87)) (16.26)	(10.19)	(72.33)			
Other professions (doctors, pharmacists,	36	26	52	114			
dentists, medical technicians physical	(8.73)	(6.31)	(12.62)	(27.66)			
therapist, Public Health professional)							

The results showed that profession of nurse had correlation for Participation in the development and quality with a statistical significance level of 0.01.

Table 3. Results of relationship analysis of motivation and support from the organization of participation in the development and accreditation of Kalasin Hospital, Kalasin Province

Motivation and Organize support	Participation in the development and certification of hospital healthcare professional of Kalasin Hospital			
	Peason's coefficient	p-value	Level correlation	
	of correlation			
Motivation	0.640	0.00^{*}	High	
Organization support	0.611	0.00^{*}	High	
Total	0.625	0.00*	High	

Result of the overall motivation factor and support from the organization has a relationship high level positive with participation in the development and accreditation of hospital healthcare professional Kalasin Hospital with statistical significance at the level 0.001 (r=0.625).

4. Discussion of results

From the results of the study, it was found that in general information of health professions in Kalasin hospital the largest number are nursing profession.Current results is agreed with Nathakrit Thump (2016) reported [11]. For the level of participation in hospital development and quality certification, the overall is at a high level of participation.Which when considered found to be related of Sathaporn Rattanawariwong (2009)[12].As for the measurement, analysis and knowledge management has a moderate level of participation. From the analysis, it was found that

personnel still lacked understanding of analytical measurements. Therefore did not participate in this process which is consistent with the Chaisuntitrakoon A. (2012) [13]

Supporting from the organization and motivation as a whole has a high level of positive relationships. The participation in the development and quality assurance of personnel in Kalasin Hospital Kalasin Province with statistical significance (r = 0.625, p-value = 0.001). This finding could be explained that support from the organization of administrative resources sufficient and appropriate will allow personnel in Kalasin Hospital to participate in activities with the high-quality development resulting in good results for the organization and the continuous development.

5. Conculsions

To sum up, motivation factors on human focused, work and success were important with organizational support in aspect of staff participation in the processes.

Acknowledgments

The authors greatly appreciated to the Kalasin hospital administrator team and staff incorporated in this study

- Bureau of Policy and Strategic, Ministry of Public Health. Policy and strategic direction of the Minister of Health. Nonthaburi: Ministry of Public Health; 2010. Thai.
- [2] Kalasinprovincial public health office. Evaluation framework for government: Kalasin public health agencies fiscal year 2016. Kalasin Printing; 2016. Thai.
- [3] The Institute of Hospital Quality Improvement and Accreditation. Hospital and health service standards. Commemoration volume celebrating 60 years of the throne. Nonthaburi: The Institute of Hospital Quality Improvement & Accreditation; 2018. Thai
- [4] A. Supachutikul, editor. HA update 2018. Hospital and health service standard. 2018.
- [5] K. Davis, J.W. Newstrom, Human behavior at work, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 1989.
- [6] A.R. Cohen, Effective Behavior in Organizations, Richard D. Irwin Inc., New York, 1980.
- [7] C.P.M. Wilderom. Toward Positive Work Cultures and Climate. In: N.M. Ashkanasy, C.P.M. Wilderom and M.F. Peterson, *The Handbook of Organization Culture and Climate*, 2nd ed., Sage Publications, Calfornia: United states of America, 2011. pp.74-84.
- [8] H. Geboers, H. Mokkink, P. van Montfort, H. van den Hoogen, W. van den Bosch and R. Grol, Continuous quality improvement in small general medical practices: the attitudes of general practitioners and other practice staff, *Int J Qual Health Care* 13 (5) (2001), 391-7.
- [9] N. Thammakawinwong, C. Wanaratwichit. Success factors for hospital accreditation in the Thailand. J Phichit Hosp 27 (1) (2012), 18-35.
- [10] K. Vanitbancha, Statistical analysis: Multivariate, Chulalongkorn University, 2008.
- [11] T. Nathakrit, Factors Influencing the Continuous Quality Improvement of Community Hospital in Regional Health 3. Faculty of Public Health, Naresaun University Phisanulok; 2016. Thai.
- [12] S. Rattanawareewong. Factors Related to the Participation in Quality Development and Hospital Accreditation of Health Personnel at Community Hospitals in Bueng Kan Provine, Master of Public Health Thesis, 2014.
- [13] A. Chaisuntitrakoon, Factors that Influence participation in the development and accredidation of Dontal hospital, Mukdahan, Master of Public Health Thesis, KhonKaen University, KhonKaen, 2012.

Physician-Led EHR Customization Tracking Assessments for Pediatric Patients with Turner Syndrome

Katherine PETICOLAS^{a,1}, Saif KHAIRAT^b, Carl SEASHORE^c and Jennifer LAW^d

^a Carolina Health Informatics Program, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States

 ^b Carolina Health Informatics Program and School of Nursing, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States
 ^c Department of Pediatrics, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States
 ^d Department of Pediatrics-Endocrinology, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States

Abstract. In 2015, a pediatric endocrinologist designed a progress note in an electronic health record (EHR) system to improve adherence to clinical practice guidelines for pediatric patients with Turner Syndrome. In 2018, to improve upon the note template, a flowsheet containing embedded decision support content from an international guideline was designed and implemented with help from a general pediatrician who was also an Epic Physician Builder. The flowsheet allowed for the creation of discrete data elements for improved consistency and enhanced reporting. The design process may be useful in other EHR customizations.

Keywords. Physician; Customization; Decision support

1. Introduction

Turner Syndrome (TS) is a genetic disorder in which girls are born with one of their X chromosomes missing or incomplete. It is the most common genetic disorder affecting girls and women, present in an estimated 1 in 1,500 to 2,500 live births [1]. The presence of Turner Syndrome increases the risk of a wide variety of diseases, including having congenital cardiac defects, markedly short stature, and infertility [2].

A key challenge for health care providers is to identify any developing issues in TS patients using timely and age-appropriate assessments. While Electronic Health Records (EHRs) are often customized to support clinicians in their diagnosis and treatment decisions, such clinical decision support is frequently absent for less common diagnoses such as Turner's Syndrome. However, many EHRs allow for provider-led customization. Physician-initiated customization is common; a Medical Economics survey found that 65% of physicians were editing or revising vendor-supplied templates [5]. Furthermore, evidence suggests that physicians who customize their EHRs have greater satisfaction and efficiency in their work [6].

¹ Corresponding Author, Katherine Peticolas; E-mail: kathy_peticolas@med.unc.edu.

2. Methods

2.1 Initial Note Template Design

In 2015, Jennifer Law, MD, MSCR, a pediatric endocrinologist and Medical Director of the UNC Turner Syndrome Clinic, created and implemented a customized progress note template in Epic, the EHR used by UNC Healthcare, for use when seeing her patients with TS. Dr. Law created an assessment table based on the 2007 clinical practice guidelines. The table listed 24 assessments, along with brief descriptions of each assessment, its implementation schedule and open cells for the date it was last done and any notes.

Table 1. Assessment table	template examplate	ple for hyperopia	guidelines (1 of 24)
			<i>U</i> ()	

Assessment Name	Assessment Timing	Date	Notes
Hyperopia	At diagnosis, at age 1-1.5 yr	[Open text, provider- entered]	[Open text, provider- entered]

The customized progress note template consolidated the information visually and provided key information to determine what assessments were needed for each patient. However, the data were unstructured, inconsistently entered, and could not be systematically extracted for reporting. The format of the template could not be updated across patients, because it was not being managed in a central location. The assessment schedule also needed to be updated to reflect the new guidelines issued in 2017 [4]. The project was continued in 2018 with the goal of creating an EHR customization which improved upon the note template.

2.2 Flowsheet Design

Pediatrician Dr. Carl Seashore, one of 16 physicians at UNC Health Care as of 2018 who had completed the Epic-based Physician Builder program, joined the project to provide higher-level customization. For additional input, Dr. Law solicited feedback from her colleagues at other institutions who also specialize in TS.

The list of assessments was based on the 2017 clinical practice guidelines, particularly pulling from a table outlining the list of assessments and the ages at which they were recommended [4]. Nine additional elements were added by Dr. Law and her colleagues to provide an overview of the patient's history or to assist with medication management.

The flowsheet design used the table format of the first customization as its base, with rows representing separate assessments. Headings were used to break up the list into more visually manageable sections and to section the assessments to be conducive to the provider's thought process and workflow. The final sections were listed in the following order:

- 1. History of diagnosis
- 2. Treatment at the start of visit (medication monitoring)
- 3. Assessments to check at every visit
- 4. Cardiac screening
- 5. Assessments to be done annually
- 6. Assessments that are done on multiple year intervals.

The primary discrete data element captured was the result of the last assessment. The result options were intended to capture high level results, such as 'normal' or 'abnormal.' Details as to the results could be captured either in test results or the comments.

Explanatory text or images drawn from the 2017 clinical practice guidelines were added to the design for most of the assessments. These appear on the right side of the screen when the user clicks on each assessment. The text also hyperlinks directly to the 2017 guidelines.

The discrete fields in the flowsheet allow the user to tab through the list of assessments and utilize the auto-fill utility of the drop-down list of choices to make selections quickly, neither of which was possible in the progress note template. Some vital sign data elements, such as weight and blood pressure, were programmed to populate the flowsheet automatically.

Assessment	Choices	Comments	Reference Text
Hip Dysplasia (newborn)	Normal/	[Provider-	Infants may have an increased risk of
	Abnormal	entered]	congenital hip dysplasia. Abnormalities of the
			lower extremity, including knee alignment
			and arch irregularities, are common.

3. Results

278

Dr. Seashore moved the flowsheet to production in August 2018. The flowsheet enabled the collection of 34 new discreet data elements recording the result of critical health assessments. These data were not collected before it was implemented and made possible reports designed to collectively target patients based on assessment results. A companion progress note template was also created to automatically pull in data recorded in the flowsheet (by either an RN, MD, or both). The reference material embedded within the flowsheet has been noted to be helpful both to the pediatric endocrinologist and to other specialties, such as cardiologists. There are plans to share a revised version of the flowsheet with other Epic users with TS patients via the Epic UserWeb.



Figure 1. Screenshot of TS flowsheet in Epic. Original in color.

4. Discussion

Using a flowsheet as a base for input appeared to retain the successful design elements of the progress note table, while adding the creation of discrete data fields that could be used in reporting, the ability to include explanatory information from the clinical practice guidelines and the ability to share the design with other TS clinicians. If other TS providers use the flowsheet, there is also potential to pool the data for clinical quality improvement initiatives and research. For local practices, the data from the flowsheet could be used to identify cohorts of patients for targeted interventions or potential sources of research subjects.

5. Conclusions

Physician-led design is an effective method of EHR customization. The clinicians contribute medical knowledge and can prioritize their needs. Physicians with special training in EHR design are valuable resources in EHR customization and clinical decision support. Clinical practice guidelines can be used as the basis of customized clinical decision support in EHRs. The creation of discrete data elements versus unstructured data improves the potential for data consistency and reporting.

The design may be helpful for other diagnoses, particularly those following a similar variety of assessments across different ages. Potentially relevant diagnoses would include Down Syndrome, Prader-Willi and other genetic disorders.

Acknowledgements

This was part of an internship project for the University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill's Professional Science Master's Biomedical and Health Informatics program.

- [1] K. Stochholm, S. Juul, K. Juel, R.W. Naeraa and C. Højbjerg Gravholt, Prevalence, Incidence, Diagnostic Delay, and Mortality in Turner Syndrome, *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **91** (2006), 3897–3902. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0558.
- [2] M.J. Schoemaker, A.J. Swerdlow, C.D. Higgins, A.F. Wright and P.A. Jacobs, Mortality in Women with Turner Syndrome in Great Britain: A National Cohort Study, *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 93 (2008) 4735–4742. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-1049.
- [3] C.A. Bondy, Care of Girls and Women with Turner Syndrome: A Guideline of the Turner Syndrome Study Group, J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 92 (2007) 10–25. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-1374.
- [4] C.H. Gravholt, N.H. Andersen, G.S. Conway, O.M. Dekkers, M.E. Geffner, K.O. Klein, A.E. Lin, N. Mauras, C.A. Quigley, K. Rubin, D.E. Sandberg, T.C.J. Sas, M. Silberbach, V. Söderström-Anttila, K. Stochholm, J.A. van A. derVelden, J. Woelfle, P.F. Backeljauw and O. behalf of the I.T.S.C. Group, Clinical practice guidelines for the care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: proceedings from the 2016 Cincinnati International Turner Syndrome Meeting, *Eur J Endocrinol.* 177 (2017) G1–G70. doi:10.1530/EJE-17-0430.
- [5] D.R. Verdon, Customizing EHR templates can speed up your workflow, Medical Economics, **89** (2012) 68.
- [6] Making Sense of EHR Satisfaction KLAS Blog. (n.d.), (2018). https://klasresearch.com/resources/blogs/2018/09/12/making-sense-of-ehr-satisfaction (accessed March 21, 2019).

The Consequence of Repetitive Heavy Object Lifting on the Normal Standing Posture of Factory Workers

Emanuela Georgiana GAL-NADASAN^{a,1}, Norbert GAL-NADASAN^b, Vasile STOICU-TIVADAR^b, Dan V. POENARU^c and Diana POPA-ANDREI^a ^a University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Victor Babes" ^b Department of Automation and Applied Informatics Politehnica University of Timisoara ^c Clinic II of Orthopedic and Traumatology

Abstract. Low back pain is one of the most common physical symptom and is frequently related with an abnormal body posture. It may be caused by poor upper body and limb coordination; repetitive lifting of heavy objects or poor working are ergonomics. This study analysis the consequence of repetitive heavy lifting on the normal standing posture of factory workers. To asses the posture malformations the Microsoft Kinect sensor was used to obtain postural data from 88 factory workers. The study has shown that more than 90% of the study group has some sort of postural malformation and lower back pain.

Keywords. Low back pain, repetitive heavy object lifting, body posture, Microsoft Kinect

1. Introduction

Low back pain is one of the most common physical symptoms in the world. It is often related with an abnormal body posture. Poor movement coordination between the upper body and the lower limbs can be a cause for lower back pain development by increasing the load on the bony and soft tissue [1]. Repetitive lifting of heavy objects increases the stress as well on the spinal cord and can causes pain in the lumbar area [2],[3],[4]. If the weight of the object was not assed correctly by the lifter not only a momentarily low back pain can develop but the lifter can lose its balance and injure itself [5]

Another factor that can contribute to the development of the lower back pain is the lack of ergonomics in the working area if the maximal reaching area is exceeded [6]. If the executed movements do not meet the rules for ergonomic movements [7]: on a short-term period, localized lower back pain may develop but on a long term period more severe back problems and postural problems can develop.

The aim of this study is to determine the impact of the repetitive heavy lifting at the workplace in harsh environments on the natural standing position of the human body.

¹ Corresponding Author, Norbert Gal-Nadasan; E-mail: norbert.gal@aut.upt.ro.

2. Methods and Materials

The study group consisted of 88 factory workers who are handling 500+ SUV tires daily basis, performing multiple type of heavy lifting: from the ground to a conveyor belt, moving from one conveyor belt to another and flipping of the tires on the same position.

Our goal is to determine what kind of consequence have the described repetitive movements on the workers normal standing position. To scan their relaxed standing position the Microsoft Kinect scanner was used.

2.1. The scanning method

The proposed evaluation method is based on non-invasive, non-irradiant and a marker less tracking method. The core of the evaluation system is the Microsoft Kinect 3D sensor which already has proven its usability in the medical rehabilitation domain [8]. It is capable to track the human body in a standing position and in seated positions [9].

To get a relevant view about the patient's posture several correlations between the tracked joints must be analyzed. For example: it is important to check the alignment of the shoulders, hips and knees. Any misalignment can indicate an abnormal body posture.

The angles between joints is calculated using the following formulas:

$$A \bullet B = (Ax \bullet Bx + Ay \bullet By) \tag{1}$$

$$|A| = \sqrt{Ax \bullet Ax + Ay \bullet Ay} \tag{2}$$

$$theta = \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{A \bullet B}{|A||B|}\right) \tag{3}$$

where *A* and *B* are the adjacent joints of the joint of interest and *Ax*, *Ay*, *Bx* and *By* are the Cartesian coordinates of the A and B points. |B| is calculated using equation (2). *Theta* is the searched angle. Using the skeletal representation and the obtained spatial data about the tracked joints a digital model of the subject's posture is created.

2.2. Tracked body points and measured values

To measure the impact of the harsh working environment on the workers general standing position several spatial properties of the shoulders and the hips are registered: height of the left and right shoulder and the difference between the two heights; the angle created by the two shoulders at the neck; the rotation of the shoulders: if one of the shoulder is significantly deeper than the other one; height of the left and right hip and the difference between the two heights; the angle created by the two hips at the center of the hip; the rotation of the hips: if one of the hip is significantly deeper than the other one.

The raw measurements are saved into a digital CSV type file which contains following: unique anonymized identifier, age, sex, weight, height, BMI (body mass index), height of the shoulders and the difference between the two shoulders, the angle of the shoulders at the neck, rotation of the shoulders and the same properties for the hips.

The most important correlation from our point of view was to correlate the age of the subjects with: height difference between the shoulders which represents the bending of the upper body; alignment of the shoulders which represents the rotation of the upper body; height difference between the hips which represents the bending of the lower body; alignment of the hips which represents the rotation of the lower body.

These correlations had been chosen because there is a great distribution of ages in the study group (20 to 60-year-old). The most repetitive movements performed under heavy load are done on the lateral, forward as well as on the rotation axes of the human body.

3. Results & Conclusions

In the evaluation process for malicious standing position caused by harsh working conditions 52 young adults (between the ages of 20 and 40) and 36 adults (between the ages of 41 and 60) have been included. In the first group there are 16 females and 36 males and in the second group there are 17 females and 19 males. Every member of the study group has signed a medical and GDPR consent regarding the personal data processing [10]. The study group was created during an event named "Health days" organized by the tire factory.

To analyze the collected date and detect if the subject may have a malicious standing posture wee have compared the difference of the height and rotation of the shoulders and hips with the age of the subject. The results of the evaluation can be observed on the scatterplots below.



Figure 1. Posture deformation at young adults.



Figure 2. Posture deformations at adults.

The most damage is done on the rotational axes as the workers need to manually reposition heavy loads. The most affected zones are the hips of the subjects because these joints are the most physically stressed during a lifting process. The evaluation has revealed that the younger generation is more physically stressed since the shoulders are more miss aligned than the older generation's shoulders.

Almost 90 percent of the study group has reported lower back pain on various levels using the VAS scale [11].

The repetitive motions on the rotation axes can induce other type of severe spinal cord complications. In this case an active medical supervision and physical therapy is recommended for subjects with existing problems in order to prevent further spinal column and posture complications.

4. Discussion

The results show that harsh working conditions affects young adults as well as older adults. It can be observed from the scatter plots that the younger generations are more affected than the older generations. One possible reason is that the younger generation is executing a harder physical work then the older generation, involving the whole upper body not only the hips and the lower body. An a long term basis this can lead to chronical back pain (lower or generalized) or even more severe back problems like: hyper-kyphosis, hyper-lordosis, herniated disks or some kind of vertebrae problems that can not be resolved with simple physiotherapy.

One possible solution to reduce the risk of future postural and spinal column problems is to introduce more frequent breaks from lifting heavy objects or by creating an ergonomic power assisted working conditions, to reduce the mechanical stress that created on the spinal column at the vertebrae level.

- P. Coenen, V. Gouttebarge, A.S. van der Burght, J.H. van Dieen, M.H. Frings-Dresen, A.J. van der Beek and A. Burdorf, The effect of lifting during work on low back pain: a health impact assessment based on a meta-analysis, *Occup. Environ. Med.* **71** (2014), 871-877.
- [2] W.E. Hoogendoorn, P.M. Bongers, H.C.W. de Vet, M. Douwes, B.W. Koes, M.C. Miedema, G.A.M. Ariens and L.M. Bouter, Flexion and rotation of the trunk and lifting at work are risk factors for low back pain-results of a prospective cohort study, *Spine* 25 (2000), 3087-3092.
- [3] H.J. Wilke, P. Neef, M. Caimi, T. Hoogland and L.E. Claes, New in vivo measurements of pressures in the intervertebral disc in daily life, *Spine* 24 (1999), 755-762.
- [4] W.S Marras, S.A Ferguson, D. Burr and K.G. Davis, Purnendu Gupta, Spine loading in patients with low back pain during asymmetric lifting exertions, *The Spine Journal* 4 (2004), 64-75.
- [5] J.C.E. van der Burg, J.H. van Dieën and H.M. Toussaint, Lifting an unexpectedly heavy object: the effects on low-back loading and balance loss, *Clinical Biomechanics* 15(2000), 469-477.
- [6] A. Álvarez, D. Miralles, Toward a statistical model of the maximum reach in the sagittal plane in sitting and standing positions: Estimating the 5th percentile reach for men and women using anthropometric data from the Spanish industrial working population, *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics* 67 (2018), 210-215.
- [7] E.A. Păuncu, Occupational Medicine, Educational Horizons Publishing, Timisoara, 2004.
- [8] R.A. Clark, Y.H. Pua, K. Fortin, C. Ritchie, K. E. Webster, L. Denehy and A.L. Bryant, Validity of the Microsoft Kinect for assessment of postural control, *Gait & posture* 1 (2012), 372-377.
- [9] A.P.G. Castro, J.D. Pacheco, C. Lourenço, S. Queirós, A.H.J. Moreira, N.F. Rodrigues and J.L. Vilaça, Evaluation of spinal posture using Microsoft Kinect[™]: A preliminary case-study with 98 volunteers, *Porto Biomedical Journal*, 2 (2017), 18-22.
- [10] Intersoft Consulting, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR): Recital 50 Further processing of personal data, (2016). https://gdpr-info.eu/recitals/no-50/ (10/09/2018).
- [11] M.M. Alfonsin, R. Chapon, C.A.B. de Souza, V.K. Genro, M.M.C. Mattia and J.S. Cunha-Filho, Correlations among algometry, the visual analogue scale, and the numeric rating scale to assess chronic pelvic pain in women, *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology: X*, (2019). doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurox.2019.100037, (in press at 15/05/2019).

Named Entity Recognition and Classification for Medical Prospectuses

Oana Sorina CHIRILA^{a,1}, Ciprian-Bogdan CHIRILA^b and Lăcrămioara STOICU-TIVADAR^a ^a Department of Automation and Applied Informatics, University Politehnica Timișoara, Timișoara, Timiș, Romania, ^b Department of Computes and Information Technology, University Politehnica Timișoara, Timișoara, Timiș, Romania

Abstract. Structuring and processing natural language is a growing challenge in the medical field. Researchers are looking for new ways to extract knowledge to create databases and applications to help doctors treat patients and minimize medical errors. A very important part in treating a patient is to provide a fair and effective treatment for diseases. In this article we present a method of extracting important information from medical prospectuses, such as a drug-treated condition, a medicine name, a drug type, etc. To extract these entities, we use Stanford NER Tagger trained for prospectuses in Romanian language. The model was trained and tested with 3 types of medication. For each test, the accuracy of the extracted data was calculated. The extracted medical information is used to create databases with structured information that are useful for decision-support applications to check for or find suggestions for the best treatments.

Keywords. Named entity recognition, medical prospectuses, Stanford's CoreNLP, Natural Language Processing

1. Introduction

Natural Language Processing (NLP) is a machine learning area that tries to understand human languages. The most important challenges of artificial language processing are the recognition of speech and the extraction of information. NLP provides specific tools to help program developers extract information from a particular corpus (text) such as tokenizing, tagging part-of-speech, sentiment analysis, segmentation and named entity recognition.

Named Entity Recognition (NER) is a process of recognizing units of information such as names, person names, organizations, locations, numeric expressions, and other important data from unstructured text to automatically detect entities. To support technologically the process there are already existing libraries, as one of the most popular Python libraries with NER capabilities: spaCy, polyglot and Stanford's CoreNLP [1].

Medicine is a very important field in which it is necessary to extract medical terms in order to create assisted decision-making applications to support physicians in providing accurate and effective treatments for every patient. A lot of studies have been

¹Corresponding author, Chirila Oana Sorina, Faculty of Automation and Computers, Bd. V. Parvan 2, 300223, Timisoara, Romania; Email: oana.chirila@aut.upt.ro.

started in the field of medical information extraction to be used later in creating databases for developing assisted decision-making applications. Most of the studies have been created for English medical texts because all existing libraries of the NER tools are in English, with very few other languages being implemented. In [2] the authors collected electronic medical records from the ophthalmology department of a hospital and provide entity extraction based on Conditional Random Field (CRF). In [3] the CRF and SiMREDA models are used to extract certain medical information. For testing, the authors use the radiology reports in Spanish language. [4] presents an approach in extracting and processing text information from clinical notes. The authors extract three medical entities: symptoms, drugs and generic medical entities from the patient's discharge summaries and doctors' notes from the i2B2 database. The model for extracting data is CRF. For this study, the Stanford NER package has been expanded and modified. In [5] is presented the contribution in the analysis of the clinical text at SemEval-2014. The authors have implemented a system that combines MetaMap tagging and Illinois NER Tagger. The performance of this system was 0.345 F-measure in strict evaluation and 0.551 F-measure in relaxed evaluation.

As results from the presented bibliography, there is a great interest in creating structured databases and extracting conclusive medical information for use in other applications that support the work of physicians and help them taking the best decisions in treating patients.

In order to help the doctors, in [6], [7] and [8] we propose different methods of structuring the medical prospectuses in Romanian language, using sections such as: therapeutic action, administration mode, contraindications, etc. Figure 1 presents the flow of information and the purpose of extracting medical information.



Figure 1. Workflow of the medical information.

In this article, we continue to structure information from prospectuses by extracting medical terms (the active substances in the drugs, the diseases for which the drugs are indicated, the type of drug, etc.) from sections created in earlier research to be used later in creating new medical applications with decision support for physicians in delivering the best treatments.

2. Methods

Based on the results of previous research, in which we have extracted the sections of the drug prospectuses in Romanian [6-8], the next step in extracting medical information is to take each section of the semi-structured prospectuses and extract the information of interest from these sections for their use in creating databases for assisted decision support applications.

To find the medical terms of interest in each section, we use the Named Entity Recognition Tagger with NLTK and Stanford NER tagger [9]. Most of the existing models for NER are designed for English language and specifically for recognizing people, organizations, or locations. Our corpus (therapeutic indications section from prospectuses) is in Romanian and the entities of interest are: drug name, drug type, active substance, diseases for which the drug is indicated, location of the disease, the bacteria for which certain drugs are indicated and the type of disease for which the drugs are indicated. In the first phase we chose to extract the medical terms only from the therapeutic indication section, and then expand the model to other sections.

In order to extract the terms, we train the model using the Stanford NER tagger library from where we used the ner-tagger algorithm [9] and we create a training file for our model in which we annotated the words in the therapeutic indication section with the following syntax:

Advil MEDICAM	durerii AFECT
Ultra O	de O
Forte O	intensitate O
este O	moderată TIP_AFECT

In the training file the annotations are: MEDICAM for the name of the drug, TIP_MEDICAM for the drug type, SUBST_ACT for the name of the active substance of the drug, AFECT for the name of the disease that treats it, LOC_AFECT for locating the disease in the body, BACTERII for the name of the bacteria for which the drug is indicated, TIP_AFECT for the type of disease being treated and O for words that have no meaning for our study. After creating the file, we trained the model with the CRFClassifier from the Stanford NER tagger. Next, we created a Python script in which we used the proposed model and extracted data from files containing therapeutic indications about other drugs, to test its accuracy. In the first phase we used the random training prospectuses to create the training file and tested with a different type of medication to create the training file, testing with the same type of medicine (eg. antibiotics, analgesics, anti-inflammatory drugs). Figure 2 presents several results of running the algorithm on test files after the model training.

Entity	is:	Lekadol, Expected value is: MEDICAM and Prediction is: MEDICAM
Entity	is:	paracetamol, Expected value is: SUBST_ACT and Prediction is: SUBST_ACT
Entity	is:	analgezic, Expected value is: TIP_MEDICAM and Prediction is: TIP_MEDICAM
Entity	is:	durerea, Expected value is: AFECT and Prediction is: AFECT
Entity	is:	febra, Expected value is: AFECT and Prediction is: AFECT
Entity	is:	fenilefrina, Expected value is: SUBST_ACT and Prediction is: SUBST_ACT
Entity	is:	decongestionant, Expected value is: TIP_MEDICAM and Prediction is: TIP_MEDICAM
Entity	is:	nasul, Expected value is: LOC_AFECT and Prediction is: O
Entity	is:	infundat, Expected value is: AFECT and Prediction is: 0
Entity	is:	Lekadol, Expected value is: MEDICAM and Prediction is: MEDICAM

Figure 2. Testing results with the proposed model.

The next step was to obtain results on different models and with different test files.

3. Results and Discussion

To test many variants of models, we chose to create more training files and test them with different test files. The first training file consisted of 6 therapeutic indications from 3 antibiotic and 3 anti-inflammatory drugs based on ibuprofen, and we test the model with a paracetamol-based analgesic prospectus. The second, third and fourth training files were created respectively with 1, 2 and 3 antibiotics and were tested on the same type of antibiotics. The fifth, sixth and seventh files were created with of 1, 2 and 3 anti-inflammatory drugs based on ibuprofen and were tested on another ibuprofen-based anti-inflammatory drug and the last training file was created with 1 and 2 analgesics based on paracetamol and tested on another analgesic based on paracetamol. Table 1 shows the test results for each type of model, the lines being colored depending on the type of drugs

used in the training and testing (red color – mixed types of drugs, orange – antibiotics, green - anti-inflammatory drugs, blue – analgesic drugs. In the first column of the table are presented the drugs in the training files, using the therapeutic indications section, the second column contains the test files drugs, in the third column we find the number of entities of interest of the therapeutic action section to be recognized, in column 4 we see the number of elements in the section that have been correctly recognized by the algorithm, and the next two columns contain the accuracy of the entities of interest and all the entities within section, respectively.

Training network drugs (Therapeutic indications section)	Testing drug (Therapeutic indications section)	Test entity of interest	Recognition degree (entity of interest)	Accuracy (entity of interest)	General accuracy
3 Antibiotics + 3	Lekadol	25	5	0.20	0.82
Ibuprofen drugs	(paracetamol)				
Augmentin	Epicocillin	60	29	0.48	0.79
Augmentin + Amoxicillin	Epicocillin	60	36	0.60	0.84
Augmentin + Amoxicillin	Epicocillin	60	39	0.65	0.86
+ Ampicillin					
Adagin	Brufen	25	8	0.32	0.84
Adagin + Advil	Brufen	25	9	0.36	0.86
Adagin + Advil + Biofen	Brufen	25	11	0.44	0.88
Dulsifeb	Lekadol	25	6	0.24	0.83
Dulsifeb + Influbene	Lekadol	25	15	0.60	0.90

Table 1. Result of Stanford NER Tagger on prospectuses therapeutic indications section

The results show that in the case of training the model with same category annotated drugs therapeutic indications, the accuracy and the number of recognized entities is higher. Currently, the algorithm is trained with a therapeutic indications section of a Romanian prospectus. For the future we will look for other training algorithms and we will test for other sections of interest in the prospectus as well as other prospectuses in other languages.

- R. Yu, Named Entity Recognition using the Enron Email Dataset in Python: Part 2, (2018). https://towardsdatascience.com/named-entity-recognition-using-the-enron-email-dataset-in-pythonpart-2-fb7ce69bc473.
- [2] Y. Yin, F. Li, X. Mao and H. Wang, Research on the Extraction of Medical Terms from Electronic Medical Records, 5th International Conference on Education, Management and Computing Technology, 2018.
- [3] V. Cotik, H. Rodrguez and J. Vivaldi, Spanish Named Entity Recognition in the Biomedical Domain, International Conference on Information Management and Big Data, Lima, Peru, 2018.
- [4] A. Kumar, H. Alam, R. Kumar and S. Sheel, Understanding Medical Named Entity Extraction in Clinical Notes, Int. Conf. Health Informatics and Medical Systems, HIMS 2015.
- [5] M. Katona and R. Farkas, SZTE-NLP: Clinical Text Analysis with Named Entity Recognition, International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation, 615–618, Dublin, Ireland, August 23-24, 2014.
- [6] O.S. Lupşe and L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Extracting and Structuring Drug Information to Improve e-Prescription and Streamline Medical Treatment, *Applied Medical Informatics* 40 (2018), 7-14.
- [7] O.S. Lupşe and L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Supporting Prescriptions with Synonym Matching of Section Names in Prospectuses, in Proc. 17th International Conference on Informatics, Management and Technology in Healthcare (ICIMTH 2018), Vol. 251, Athens, Greece, Jul. 2018, 153-156.
- [8] O. S. Chirila, C.B. Chirila and L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Improving the prescription process information support with structured medical prospectuses using neural networks, The 17th World Congress of Medical and Health Informatics, 2019, pending publication.
- [9] The Stanford NLP Group, Named Entity Recognition (NER) and Information Extraction (IE), (2018). https://nlp.stanford.edu/ner/.

The High Technology Measure the Risk of Noncommunicable Diseases, Confidence the Gender in the Prevalence of Health Information for the Decision-Making in Si Sa Ket Province, Thailand

Kampol KHEMTHONG^{a,1}, Niruwan TURNBULL^a, Savittri Rattanopad SUWANLEE^b and Karl PELTZER^c

^a Faculty of Public Health, Mahasarakham University, Thailand ^b Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, Mahasarakham University, Thailand ^c Ton Duc Thang University, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Abstract. Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) are incurable disease, which causes by the risk factors. This study aimed to determine the prevalence and distribution of the risk factors associated according to gender. A cross-sectional survey on Health dataset between October 2013 and April 2017 of people, age 13 years and older about 1,245,462 people, using the high technology and the STEPS approach questionnaire by the WHO. The questions included demographic, behaviour and metabolic. The results found that the prevalence of the risk NCDs were 611,099 people(49.07%) Most risk factors was tobacco use in men (*p*-value<001), waist in women (*p*-value<001), having diabetes mellitus family in men (*p*-value<001), having hypertension family in men (*p*-value<001), alcohol consumption in men (*p*-value<001), blood pressure in women (*p*-value<001), and cholesterol level in women (*p*-value<001). This data indicates that the prevalence of behaviour needs to be concerning and decision-making to prevention.

Keywords. High Technology, Health Data Centre, Risk factors, NCDs

1. Introduction

Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) are chronic diseases and illness condition slowly and long time, to spend more cost, and incurable with any drugs until to death. The major factors are caused by preventable behavioural risk factors and metabolic factors[1, 2]. People were death by NCDs caused a total of 41 million every year, 71% of all deaths globally, with the age below 70 years old. NCDs such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus are the main causes and most death account for approximately 67% of total mortality in the world and most located in low and middle-income countries [3] 85% of all, policy implementation and provide with the health care with their concern.

¹Corresponding author, Kampol Khemthong; Faculty of Public Health, Mahasarakham University, Thailand; E-mail: kampol.khe@msu.ac.th.

The risk factors of NCDs were included demographic, behavioural and metabolic [1, 4]. Since 2007, Thailand had an increased incidence of noncommunicable diseases total death around 500,000 cases (71.0%) of all death[5]. Therefore the Ministry of Public Health of Thailand provided all hospitals to collect electronic health data records and linked with Health Data Center (HDC). [6] included services in hospitals, health check and health screening in the community. This study aimed to investigate health data records of risk NCDs status and explore determined the prevalence associated with the risk factors of NCDs.

2. Methods

2.1. Design and Population

This method was used in a cross-sectional survey. We used data from electronic health data records were verified quality to ensured, from Health Data Centre (HDC) database of Si Sa Ket Provincial Public Health, included demographics(gender, age, age_group, married status, occupation, education), physical measurements(diabetes mellitus family, hypertension family, alcohol consumption, tobacco use, weight, height, waist, blood pressure), biological measurements (blood sugar level, total cholesterol). A step contains questions related[7, 8] to investigate with standardized of the STEPS Noncommunicable Disease(NCDs) to risk factors approach questionnaire by the World Health Organization[8, 9]. This dataset excluded all cases with missing, duplicate, error information and a case that a physician had diagnosis be NCDs patient.

We selected population by purposive sampling, age was 13 years old and older, lived in this province and registered with a health services between October 1st, 2013 and April 30th, 2017, total 1,245,462 people. Eligibility criteria and scaling were identified a risk factors reference by WHO. This protocol was approved by the Mahasarakham University ethical committees and also passed through from Si Sa Ket provincial public health officials to confidentiality was ensured in the consent form.

2.2. Assessment of variables

This study used dataset included gender, age, age_group, married status, occupation, education, diabetes mellitus family as: yes and no, hypertension family as: yes and no, Alcohol consumption as: yes and no, Tobacco use as: yes and no.

Body mass index (BMI) calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in metres squared (m²) then categorized using BMI cut-points recognized by the World Health Organization. this study applied standardized of Thai people as underweight (<18.50 kg/m²), normal weight (18.50–22.99 kg/m²), overweight (23.00–24.99 kg/m²), and obesity (\geq 25.00 kg/m²). High waist defined for female as lower (\leq 80 centimetres), high (>80.0 centimetres), and for male as lower (\leq 90 centimetres), high (>90.0 centimetres). This measurement was sum lower level of male and female as a lower level, some high level of male and female as high level, then defined lower level as no risk, high level as a risk. Blood pressure level we used the systolic value defined as lower (<100 mmHg.), normal (100-120 mmHg.), high (\geq 121 mmHg.). This measurement was combined lower level and normal level as no risk, high level as the risk. Blood sugar level defined as lower (<72 mg/dl.), normal (72-99 mg/dl.), high (\geq 100 mg/dl.). This measurement combined lower level and normal level as no risk, high level as no risk.

high level as the risk. Total cholesterol defined as lower (<160 mg/dl.), normal (160-199 mg/dl.), high (\geq 200 mg/dl.). This measurement combined lower level and normal level as no risk, high level as the risk. The prevalence of categorical demographic, behavioural, metabolic and correlates of NCDs risk factors were compared across gender by using odd ratio (OR) for the difference between proportions, distributed outcomes using descriptive and crosstabs to calculate to the results are presented, levels of p <0.05.

3. Results

The population were registered in Si Sa Ket Province total 1,245,462 people and found the risk people total 611,099 people, 49.07 %.

The investigated with the majority of risk factor were men (50.2 %), age group were 40-59 years old(24.4%)(min.age 13, max.110, mean 50.97, S.D.21.747), most men were diabetes mellitus family(DM family)(43.0%), were hypertension family(HT family) (17.9 %), were alcohol use (26.9%), were tobacco use (19.0%), while most of women were high blood pressure (23.0%),most women were high blood sugar level (33.3%), body mass index were overweight and obesity(23.4%), waist was over (22.5%) and were high total cholesterol (21.4%). Prevalence of risk factors, most risk factors was tobacco use in men (18.9%), OR 16.789, (95%CI 16.399-17.188, pvalue</001), waistline in women (22.5), OR 8.092, (95%CI 7.979-8.028, p-value<.001), Diabetes mellitus family in men (43.0%) OR 1.321, (95% CI 1.303=1.340, pvalue<.001), Hypertension family in men (17.9%), OR 1.165, (95%CI 1.152-1.177, pvalue<.001). Alcohol consumption in men (26.9%), OR 3.934 (95%CI 3.885-3.983, pvalue<.001), Blood pressure in women (23.0%), OR 1.201, (95% CI 1.189-1.213, pvalue<.001), Blood sugar in women(33.3%), OR 1.231, (95%CI 1.209-1.254, pvalue<.001), BMI in women (23.4%), OR 1.530, (95%CI 1.514-1.546, p-value<.001), Cholesterol level in women (21.4%), OR 1.170, (95%CI 1.061-1.289, p-value<.001).

4. Discussion

A large electronic health data was studied with a cross-sectional survey from the Health Data Centre (HDC)[6, 10] of the Ministry of Public Health, it was shared database to administrators and networks.[11] This study found some population that registered, but more cases were missing some health check data and missing health screening, although health policy and indicators to coverage people. Additional, found that more electronic health data was an error, missing and duplicate. Once, several of software to collect data. Normally the Ministry of Public Health of Thailand provided begin 15 years old and older. This study investigated of a risk factor in the child (13-14 years) found that more risk NCDs also. Nowadays, Thai people had difference lifestyle by gender and others. men risk more women, age_group 40-59 years old most men were diabetes mellitus family were hypertension family, were alcohol use [12], were tobacco use [12-14], while the most of women were high blood pressure [15], most women were high blood sugar level, body mass index were overweight and obesity[2, 15, 16], waist was over and were high total cholesterol.

5. Conclusion

The high technology would be warning and alerts their risk signs by the results found that more people who risk NCDs and the majority were men, but also similarly or difference by gender to risk NCDs by each of risk factor. Health evidence based on electronic health data would be supporting and provides health policy maker and effort to health personnel and people risk NCDs to collaborate their health promotion, prevention, surveillance, monitor NCDs and should be to concern their lifestyle, healthy behaviour and collaboration with their family, community, provider and policy of government to integration with awareness of stakeholder and participants network to solving their problem community, health information to promotion make the better.

- World Health Organization, Noncommunicable diseases, (2019). https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases.
- [2] S. Valdés, F. García-Torres, C. Maldonado-Araque, A. Goday, A. Calle-Pascual, F. Soriguer F, et al., Prevalence of obesity, diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors in Andalusia (southern Spain). Comparison with national prevalence data. The Di@bet.es study, *Revista Española de Cardiología* (English Edition), **67** (6) (2014), 442-8.
- [3] K. Peltzer, S. Pengpid, V. Sychareun, A.J.G. Ferrer, W.Y. Low, T.N. Huu, et al. Prehypertension and psychosocial risk factors among university students in ASEAN countries, *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, 17 (1) (2017), 230.
- [4] K. Baldock, C. Paquet, N. Howard, N. Coffee, G. Hugo, A. Taylor, et al., Associations between resident perceptions of the local residential environment and metabolic syndrome. *Journal of environmental and public health*, (2012), 2012.
- [5] World Health Organization, World Health Statistics 2015, 2015.
- [6] Ministry of Public Health, Health Data Center, (2015). http://hdcservice.moph.go.th/hdc/main/index.php?sele_kpiyear=2015&level=1&sele_kpi=442f204be9d 6aec9da15786ad707d5a4.
- [7] World Health Organization, Noncommunicable disease and their risk factors, 2015.
- [8] World Health Organization, WHO STEPS surveillance manual: the WHO STEPwise approach to chronic disease risk factor surveillance, WHO, Geneva, 2005.
- [9] S.K. Ong, D.T.C. Lai, J.Y.Y. Wong, K.A. Si-Ramlee, L.A. Razak, N. Kassim, et al., Cross-sectional STEPwise Approach to Surveillance (STEPS) Population Survey of Noncommunicable Diseases (NCDs) and Risk Factors in Brunei Darussalam 2016, Asia Pac J Public Health., 29 (8) (2017), 635-48.
- [10] Si Sa Ket provincial public health office, Health Data center 2017, (2017). http://203.157.165.111/.
- [11] E. Gil Montalbán, H. Ortiz Marrón, D.L.G. Lucio-Villegas, B.Z. Torres, F.A. Blanco and P.N. Aguado, Validity and concordance of electronic health records in primary care (AP-Madrid) for surveillance of diabetes mellitus. PREDIMERC study, *Gac Sanit.* 28 (2014), 393-6.
- [12] A. Mujezinovic, L. Čalkić, N. Hasanica and S. Tandir, Tobacco and alcohol usage as risk factors of non-communicable diseases among students of Zenica University (Bosnia and Herzegovina), 15 (2018), 81.
- [13] L. Marston, J.R. Carpenter, K.R. Walters, R.W. Morris, I. Nazareth, I.R. White, et al., Smoker, exsmoker or non-smoker? The validity of routinely recorded smoking status in UK primary care: a crosssectional study, *BMJ Open*, 4 (2014), e004958.
- [14] S. Zwolinsky, G. Raine and S. Robertson, Prevalence, co-occurrence and clustering of lifestyle risk factors among UK men, *Journal of Men's Health*, **12** (2) (2016), 15-24.
- [15] E. Afrifa-Anane, C. Agyemang, S.N. Codjoe, G. Ogedegbe, and A. de-graft Aikins, The association of physical activity, body mass index and the blood pressure levels among urban poor youth in Accra, Ghana, *BMC Public Health*, 15 (2015), 269.
- [16] S.A.E. Peters, P. Muntner and M. Woodward, Sex Differences in the Prevalence of, and Trends in, Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Treatment, and Control in the United States, 2001 to 2016, *Circulation*, 139 (8) (2019):1025-35.

Using Mental Health Indicators to Improve Health Care Management: A Web-based Approach

André L.T. VINCI^{a,1}, Inácia B. DE LIMA^b, Newton S.B. MIYOSHI^a, André RAMALHO^{e,f}, Alberto FREITAS^{e,f}, Rui RIJO^{a,c,d,e} and Domingos ALVES^{a,e}
 ^a Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Brazil
 ^b School of Nursing of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Brazil
 ^c School of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal
 ^d INESCC - Institute for Systems and Computers Engineering at Coimbra, Portugal
 ^e CINTESIS – Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Portugal
 ^f MEDCIDS – Department of Community Medicine, Information and Health Decision Sciences – Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal

Abstract. Mental health indicators are essential for monitoring people's mental health status, developing mental health policies, and evaluating the performance of such policies. The aim of this paper is to describe the development of a web-based tool for mental health indicators capable to support the management of Brazilian mental health care networks. The SISAM is a web information system responsible for management and provision of mental health indicators were developed as a decision support web tool for public health managers. The tool is able to calculate 11 indicators related to inpatient care. A descriptive analysis of all indicators is presented using SISAM data from 2017. The results generated by the tool are promising and could provide improvements on care monitoring, evaluation of possible trends and investments in prevention and promotion in mental health care.

Keywords. Mental health, indicator, health management

1. Introduction

Health indicators are important tools to help management, monitoring and evaluation of the health at all public health levels [1]. Additionally, they can measure and show information about the general level or characteristic of many health topics, such as the health status of a population or population groups, health policy, healthcare system, healthcare resource, natural environment, size and composition of population, and people's perception and value of health [2]. Moreover, the creation of indicators regularly by dynamic information systems is another important tool that can be used by healthcare professionals and stakeholders to improve healthcare [1].

Considering the fact that mental illness is one of the greatest public health issue, the World Health Organization (WHO) elaborated the Mental Health Action Plan for

¹ Corresponding Author, André Luiz Teixeira Vinci, Ribeirão Preto Medical School, Bandeirantes Av. 3900, 14049-900, Ribeirão Preto/SP, Brazil; E-mail: altvinci@usp.br.

2013-2020 [3]. One of the plan aims is the empowerment of information systems and research on mental health care (MHC) by the creation of systems based on indicators use to outline the information needed [3]. Thus, the development and implementation of mental health indicators (MHI) are also essential for monitoring people's mental health (MH) status, developing MH policies, evaluating performance of such policies and comparing and benchmarking performance information among countries [2].

However, the implementation or improvement of specific information systems for MHC containing indicators are very limited [4]. So, one of the few systems for MHC in Brazil is the Information System on MHC (SISAM) [5]. The system is a web-based computerized information system that enables real-time patients and services monitoring in a Mental Health Care Network (MHCN) since 2012 [5]. The region covered by SISAM comprises 26 municipalities, an estimated population of 1,483,715 inhabitants in 2017 and its MHCN includes several types of services in different levels of care [5]. In addition, SISAM manages information about socio-demographic and clinical patient data, outpatient services data and hospital data [5] and, currently, only presents a summary report of the collected data; but it does not generate indicators automatically.

Therefore, the aim of this paper is to describe the development of a web-based tool for MHI capable of support the MHCN management. This study is part of an interpretative study proposing an evaluation model for MHCN focusing on the use of information technologies for its management and applying semi-structured interviews to understand the MHCN management according to its managers and by the definition of an indicator set [6].

2. Methods

The development of the indicators tool was divided into the following steps: (i) definition of the MHI; (ii) definition of the dataset used for the implementation; (iii) implementation of the prototype tool; and (iv) testing and validation of the proposal.

In the first step, we decided to use 11 indicators related to inpatient care in MH that could be calculated from the SISAM dataset that were suggested by a previous study from Delfini [7]. Those indicators were chosen from indicators defined and used in other countries (Canada, Australia and United Kingdom) [7]. Moreover, that study also defined a Minimum Data Set (MDS) for MHC by the comparison with Brazilian and other countries MDS. In addition, it identified that SISAM data contained 87.0% of the suggested MDS [7]. Thus, the previous study also generated conceptual and computational models based on SISAM by using HL7 FHIR and openEHR.

Thus, we decided to use the MHC information of the MHCN comprised by SISAM as the main dataset for the indicators' implementation. In addition, SISAM allows access to integrated data through the eHealth-Interop platform [8]. With this platform, the indicator tool can be adapted to support other systems and other data sets. The platform for health data exchange is implemented based on the Loopback framework [9]. The communication is made through web services, with the support of a terminology server based on the HL7 FHIR standard.

The proposed tool was built to perform the automatic calculation of the selected indicators during a real time query. It will present the available indicators along their definition and it will also provide specific filters enabling the users to achieve greater data disaggregation on temporal, spatial, clinical and socio-demographic aspects. The chosen filter were time period of interest, patient sex, patient age groups, diagnostics with ICD-10, patient's place(s) of origin, and inpatient service(s). Moreover, each filter is displayed differently according to the indicator chosen because of the measurement differences. Thus, the results from the indicator measurement could be displayed in tables or graphics depending on the user's choice. We used prototyping method in the tool's development. The design of all user interfaces, graphics and tables was made using Bootstrap framework with the template AdminLTE (version 2). For the back-end development, the framework CakePHP was used together with an Apache2 web server, PHP programming language and MySQL database management system.

The tool prototype was tested using use cases to verify its functionalities and its interfaces. All errors and improvements identified at this stage were then addressed and corrected if needed. Finally, we made a descriptive analysis of the indicators reporting the information in the SISAM data from 2017.

3. Results

The indicators selected to be implemented on the proposed tool were: admissions for depression, admissions for MH and behavioral disorders related with alcohol, admissions of children with mental illness, admissions for self-harm, emergency admissions for neurosis, emergency admissions for schizophrenia, admissions for substance abuse, admission for deliberate self-harm in children and youth, hospitalizations for more than 30 days in 1 year, average length of acute inpatient stay, and 28 days readmission rate.

The development process resulted in a preliminary version of the tool. Moreover, the use of the interoperability platform provided a more reliable information, since it was possible to perform data aggregation from information system of MHCN' mental hospitals and national databases to the SISAM data, to identify inconsistencies and to eliminate duplicity. During testing, we identified the need for future incorporation of statistical analyses to the tool results as well as the need to perform usability tests with possible users to verify if the tool meets their expectations and whether there are possible unidentified improvements.

From the descriptive analysis using the MHCN data from 2017, we observed that the admissions rate for depression was 5.32 per 100,000 inhabitants and it was higher for women than men. The indicators for self-harm and deliberate self-harm admissions in children and youth had very low rates regionally, respectively 0.30 and 0.20, because the data only contained information from psychiatric beds. The remaining indicators for admission had higher values for men than women. In addition, the region had a hospitalization rate of more than 30 days equal to 39.49, the 28 days readmission rate equals to 4.63, and the mean length of inpatient stay of 12.16 days. An example of an indicator measurement resulted by the tool can be seen in Figure 1.

The use of the indicators' information resulted from this tool could enable improvements on care monitoring and MHCN organization, evaluation of possible trends, and investments in prevention and promotion. Moreover, this tool would be one of the first to evaluate a MHCN in Brazil, which makes its development extremely important given the shortage or non-existence of such tools in Brazil [4]. At last, the use of this tool will also help to strengthen information dissemination by expanding indicators' knowledge and the use of information systems by professionals and managers, since both are still deficient in MHC.

Tarra		Sector - Sector Control - Sector - Sect	
		Average Length of Acute Inpatient Stay	
all the second se			
A 1000		syluar Self-Raf Super-Resk	
A futire		Private Report of the second s	
If talkators		puttion fragilitation. Decement to Alternative in order the project	
d surjection	- 194	Average sample of water support that in the fact to same support is the bags of a 2011	
· tettig.	18		
P. test			
		The second se	
		and the set of the	

Figure 1. Example of the graphic result from the developed indicator tool of SISAM.

4. Conclusion

The investment in development and research to assist health professionals and managers in MHC management is very important given the increasing burden of MH issues in the population. Thus, the development of the MHI tool in this study is an initiative to assist this scenario in Brazil. As future work, we will search for more indicators beyond those from inpatient care implemented in this study. Our future goal is to include indicators for other areas of care and the MHCN as a whole by searching indicators used in countries with free public health, incorporating information from more databases and interoperating with other sources.

Acknowledgement: This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Finance Code 88881.187677/2018-01 (ALTV) and Demanda Social (IBL). DA would like to thank the São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP) for financial support (Process number 2018/00307-2).

- [1] Interagency Network of Health Information (RIPSA), *Basic indicators for health in Brazil: concepts and applications*, Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), Brasília, Brazil, 2008.
- [2] H. Han, D.H. Ahn, J. Song, T.Y. Hwang, S. Roh, Development of Mental Health Indicators in Korea. *Psychiatry Investigation* 9(4) (2012), 311–318.
- [3] World Health Organization, *Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020*, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2013.
- [4] C.R. Dantas, A.M.G.R. Oda, Mapping of inquiries in mental health care in Brazil (2004-2013). *Physis* 24(4) (2014), 1127–1179.
- [5] V.T. Yoshiura et al. A web-based information system for a regional public mental healthcare service network in Brazil. Int J Ment Health Syst 11(1) (2017), 1-10.
- [6] A.L.T Vinci, R.P.C.L. Rijo, J.M.A. Marques, D. Alves, Proposal of an Evaluation Model for Mental Health Care Networks Using Information Technologies for its Management, *Proceedia Comput Sci* 100 (2016), 826–831.
- [7] M.G. Delfini, Continuity of Mental Health Care: Study of the Standards for Computerization of the Reference and Counter-Reference System, (Undergraduate's thesis) Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brasil, 2015. Portuguese.
- [8] N.S.B. Miyoshi, J.M.D. Azevedo-Marques, D. Alves, P.M.D. Azevedo-Marques, An eHealth Platform for the Support of a Brazilian Regional Network of Mental Health Care (eHealth-Interop): Development of an Interoperability Platform for Mental Care Integration, *JMIR Ment Health* 5(4) (2018), e10129.
- [9] StrongLoop, Loopback: a NodeJS Framework, (2017). https://loopback.io/ (accessed March 21, 2019).

Actionable Data from Iterative Cognitive Walkthroughs: Creating the Research Roadmap Website as an Interactive Guide to Facilitate Research

Sonia KLEINER-ARJE^a, Louise WOLF^a, Daniel ROBINS^a, Joseph FINKELSTEIN^{a,1} and Rosalind WRIGHT^a ^a Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Abstract. The goal of this project was to assess usability and acceptance of a webbased tool after iterative development based on cognitive walkthroughs. The website is a "Research Roadmap", modeled after the NYC Subway map, and designed to help the user navigate the complex structure of research at a large multi-institution organization. A mixed process of evaluation and design was applied; after an initial survey phase, the website was revised, then another cycle of feedback was implemented. Surveys consisted of standardized questions with answers arranged as Likert-type scales and additional written responses. The first phase of survey feedback shaped overall design of the tool. The second phase measured task performance (time-to-completion), perceived ease-of-use, and satisfaction. These ongoing cycles of cognitive walkthroughs provided actionable data that led to redesign of the tool, an improved interface, improved user satisfaction, and 'above average' usability (top 10th percentile) as measured by the System Usability Scale.

Keywords. Usability, User-centered Design Methods, Human-computer Interaction

1. Introduction

Navigating the research landscape in an academic institution may be an arduous task, both for novice and seasoned researchers. Interactive tools were shown to be instrumental in facilitating research processes, however they require iterative implementation guided by user feedback. The Research Roadmap website (RRM) is a robust and comprehensive web-based, centralized tool designed to provide a one-stop shop resource to navigate research processes at the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai (ISMMS). It provides system-wide navigation of the many "pathways" of the ISMMS research infrastructure and regulatory frameworks. It is an interactive, dynamic, easy to use tool that provides the most current, streamlined and efficient access to administrative processes, external regulatory requirements, internal policies, most current news, education and training opportunities toward the conduct of the highest quality research. Locally designed and built, it is a tangible, immediately accessible and continuously available web-based tool and platform for the dissemination of "tips" and "best practices". The goal of the RRM

¹ Corresponding Author, Joseph Finkelstein, MD, PhD, 1425 Madison Avenue, Rm. L2-36, New York, NY 10029, USA; E-mail: Joseph.Finkelstein@mssm.edu.

is to increase productivity by reducing the discovery time for research teams to understand research methods and processes. Historically, however, the process of iterative development was not supplemented with formal surveys and cognitive walkthroughs.



Figure 1. Research Roadmap Landing Page

2. Methods

2.1. System Design

System design has been guided by the Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning which posits that information should be structured on learning principles accounting for working memory and cognitive load [1]. To facilitate ease-of-use, the RRM home page displays a table-of-contents organized like a subway map (Figure 1); each 'stop' on the subway represents a separate subpage with information relevant to that topic, arranged in a specific sequence. For each subpage, color-coded links are arranged along the top and left side of the screen (Figure 2).





2.2. Study Design

Participants were given a packet of instructions and multiple surveys upon sitting down at a workstation. Surveys consisted of standardized questions with answers arranged as Likert-type scales and additional written responses. A 9-item baseline questionnaire to record demographics and familiarity with technology was collected immediately. To ensure participants evaluated the website only and not other aspects of the interface such as the desktop or application launcher, the starting website was already displayed on the web browser.

Table 1. Task Performan	ce
-------------------------	----

	Task Accomplished (%)	Help Needed (%)	Accomplished Time (sec) Mean \pm SD
Task 1	100	0	8.6 ± 16.6
Task 2	100	0	8.0 ± 21.2
Task 3	100	7	12.3 ± 26.7
Task 4	100	7	34.8 ± 19.5

Cognitive walkthroughs were then arranged into two phases. In Phase 1, subjects browsed the RRM freely and provided written feedback on their surveys. Feedback was aggregated and informed website modifications that were implemented prior to the next phase of cognitive walkthroughs. For Phase 2, participants naïve to the website were given similar surveys, and asked to perform four representative tasks. These tasks were timed, and requests for help were also noted. Participants then graded each task on a scale of 1 (very difficult) to 5 (very easy) using a 3-item survey of the following questions: 1) How difficult or easy was it to complete this task? 2) How satisfied are you with using this application/system to complete this task? 3) How would you rate the amount of time it took to complete this task?

Once all tasks were completed, the participants were given an exit survey including the 10-item System Usability Scale (SUS).

Task Self-Assessment	Mean (SD)
Task 1: Find and go to 'Fundamentals of Research at ISMMS' (Orange Line)	
Difficulty	5.0 (0.0)
Satisfaction	5.0 (0.0)
Amount of Time	4.8 (0.5)
Task 2: Find and go to 'Orientation'	
Difficulty	4.8 (0.5)
Satisfaction	4.8 (0.5)
Amount of Time	4.6 (0.7)
Task 3: Find and go to 'Approvals Needed for Research'	
Difficulty	4.2 (1.0)
Satisfaction	4.3 (1.2)
Amount of Time	4.2 (1.0)
Task 4: Find and go to 'Study Submission Workflow' in 'Industry Initiated Clinical	
Research' (Green Line)	
Difficulty	3.9 (0.9)
Satisfaction	4.0 (1.1)
Amount of Time	3.9 (1.0)

Table 2. Task Self-Assessment

3. Results

Twenty-one surveys were captured in the first phase, and fourteen in the second phase.

Phase 1 feedback was primarily written responses, and informed overall design choices and content, which were implemented for the second phase. Phase 2 feedback included performance metrics (Table 1), task self-assessments (Table 2), and the System Usability Scale.

4. Discussion

The RRM - with its familiar 'subway-system' design - helps users navigate a complex research infrastructure. For evaluation, cognitive walkthroughs were chosen since they focus on ease-of-learning, exploratory learning, and support task-specific inspection [2].

Changes implemented after Phase 1 improved results for 'The website is visually appealing' score without significant impact on 'The Research Roadmap is easy to navigate' score (Table 3).

Table	3.	Results	Compared
-------	----	---------	----------

Results Compared	Mean (SD)
Phase 1 Results (select)	
The website is visually appealing	3.5 (1.2)
The Research Roadmap is easy to navigate	4.0 (1.0)
Phase 2 Results (select)	
The website is visually appealing	3.9 (0.8)
The Research Roadmap is easy to navigate	4.1 (0.6)

Phase 2 added objective and subjective measurements, via task time-to-completion, and Task Self-Assessment, respectively. Tasks were selected in increasing order of complexity; results of both the Task Performance and Task Self-Assessment reflect this relative increase of difficulty (Table 1, Table 2).

After completing all tasks, participants were given the System Usability Scale. Scores for each user were calculated in the usual way and thus normalized; the mean score was 80.8 ± 9.5 (Figure 3), which corresponds with the top 10^{th} percentile and an 'above average' rating for usability.



Figure 3. System Usability Scale, score distribution

5. Conclusion

Cognitive walkthroughs offer valuable insight for web-based products and can lead to appreciable increases in user satisfaction when used with iterative cycles of development.

- [1] R.E. Mayer, Multimedia Learning, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2001.
- [2] E. Liljegren and A. Osvalder, Cognitive engineering methods as usability evaluation tools for medical equipment, Int J Ind Ergon 34 (2004), 49–62.

Health Professionals' Perceptions of Information Quality in the Health Village Portal

Milla ROSENLUND^{a, 1}, Eija KIVEKÄS^a, Santtu MIKKONEN^b, Sirpa ARVONEN^c, Jarmo REPONEN^{de} and Kaija SARANTO^a

^a Department of Health and Social Management, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

^b Department of Applied Physics, University of Eastern Finland, Finland ^c Helsinki and Uusimaa University Hospital District, Finland ^d Research Unit of Medical Imaging, Physics and Technology, University of Oulu,

Finland

^e Medical Research Centre, Oulu University Hospital, Finland

Abstract. Information quality has an important role in health care as digital services provide patients and healthcare professionals more opportunities for searching and utilising information. Information quality is one of the key factors affecting user satisfaction, perception of digital service usability and intention to use the service. The conceptual framework for this study was the updated Information Systems Success Model of DeLone and McLean. The study was conducted in the context of Health Village, a digital interactive and secured portal providing health services to patients and citizens. The purpose of the study was to survey health professionals' perception (n = 91) of information quality and its effect on user satisfaction. Concerns were raised about the interoperability of the portal with other health information systems and the ease of finding information. Generally, in the Health Village portal, information quality was considered relatively high.

Keywords. Data Quality, eHealth, Health Information Systems.

1. Introduction

Digital health services can be viewed as health information sharing or actual health care interventions that are delivered using information and communication technology, regardless of time and place [1-2]. The development of digital health services plays an important role in involving citizens in maintaining their own activity and wellbeing, but also aims to enhance the efficiency and quality of health services [3]. Citizens may be positively motivated to use digital health services that complement existing services [4]. Good information quality can increase positive attitudes among patients towards the use of health information technology and care quality, and it also has a significant effect on perceived usefulness, user satisfaction, and the intentions of healthcare professionals to use a system [5-12]. Information quality has also been proven to enhance service

¹ Corresponding Author, Milla Rosenlund, Department of Health and Social Management, University of Eastern Finland, 70211 Kuopio, Finland; E-mail: millaros@student.uef.fi.

performance and quality, enable better access to resources and facilitate communication [13-14]. The concepts of health information and quality can be considered from different points of view, as patients search and evaluate information differently and emphasise different criteria than healthcare professionals [15].

The context of this study was the Health Village portal, which is a digital interactive secured portal that includes several hubs. The hubs are designed for specialised health care and aim to offer a platform to citizens, patients and professionals for specialised medical digital healthcare services, such as information, assessment tools for self-care, symptom navigators and digital treatment pathways. The information content of the Health Village portal is available to registered patients and healthcare professionals, as well as, in part, publicly to all citizens. The quality of information produced by professionals and patients plays a central role both in open sites and in digital pathways designed for registered patients [16].

The conceptual framework for this study was the updated and adapted DeLone and McLean Information Systems (IS) Success Model [11]. In this study, information quality was operationalised in terms of completeness, uniqueness and relevance and was assessed from the viewpoint of the user. The purpose of this study was to determine health professionals' perceptions of information quality in the Health Village portal. The effect of information quality on user satisfaction was also assessed.

2. Methods

The e-questionnaire consisted of 50 Likert scale statements of which 10 assessed health professionals' perceptions of information quality (Table 1). Statements were based on DeLone and McLean's IS Model (2003). One open-ended question assessed future development needs in the Health Village portal. Questions were validated by reference to earlier studies, and finally given to a group of experts to adjudge content validity.

Information dimension	Question
Completeness	
-	The information in Health Village services is flawless.
	The information in Health Village services is up to date.
	The information in Health Village services is unambiguous.
Uniqueness	
-	I can find the information that patients have entered into the service easily.
	I can utilise the information individually.
Relevance	
	I can find information easily.
	The information presented in the service is useful.
	The information in the service is based on evidence.
Form	
	The information available in the service is distinctly presented.
	The information I have saved in the service can be used in a flexible way.

Table 1. Information Quality Dimensions in the Questionnaire

The data was collected from 15th August to 9th September 2018 from healthcare professionals (nurses, physicians and other professionals) working on the Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project at five Finnish university hospitals. A total of 91 of the 501

respondents completed the questionnaire. Statistical analysis was conducted on the quantitative data. Answers to the open question were analysed using content analysis.

The study was conducted in an ethical manner and in accordance with good research practices. The confidentiality and informed consent of the respondents were maintained. The data maintenance cycle followed the principles of the University of Eastern Finland.

3. Results

Half of the survey respondents represented two university hospitals. Nearly 90% of the respondents were women and 80% had an academic degree. Half of the respondents had 20 years or more of work experience in the health sector, and nearly half were nurses (48%).

The main findings indicate that the respondents were mostly satisfied with the information quality in the Health Village portal. They shared the view that information in the portal is up to date (99.3% agreed) and flawless (87.8% agreed). They also mostly agreed that the information available in the service is unambiguous (83.3%), current (93.3%) and evidence-based (83.3%). According to the respondents, the information is easy to utilise individually in clinical pathways (61.1%) and they indicated that they could find information that patients had provided quite easily. The study also confirmed a positive relationship between information quality and user satisfaction in the path analysis.

Answers to the open questions (n = 17), which related to information quality–related issues, focused on challenges of interoperability with other information systems, such as patient information systems. Concerns over ease of finding information and the real uses of information by health care professionals and patients were also described, as well as transparency, timeliness, reliability and originality of information.

4. Discussion

The main purpose of the study was to assess perceptions of information quality. This was regarded as an important topic as information sharing plays a crucial role in digital services [2-3]. This study confirmed earlier studies' results that information quality affects system usage and user satisfaction [6-11]. Thus, our findings of the relatively high quality of information in the Health Village portal gives new insights for development. Despite its contribution, this study has limitations. First, the research concerned only the Health Village portal; other interactive portals should be considered as well. However, the Health Village portal is a national initiative, and thus the results are relevant in all university hospitals in Finland. Second, larger sample sizes are needed to make broader generalisations. Third, only the information quality was statistically significant and therefore considered in this paper as an example. Other constructs of the DeLone and McLean IS Success Model (1992, 2003) should also be taken into account, such as privacy and security issues of information systems. Fourth, information quality was only assessed from the viewpoint of health professionals, so future research is needed to examine the perceptions of customers and registered patients. To deepen understanding of quality dimensions affecting users' behaviour, a multi-method approach could be useful and contribute to understanding of the phenomenon at a deeper level.

5. Conclusions

This paper reported on an empirical examination of information quality using the DeLone and McLean IS Success Model [11] as a predictive model. The DeLone and McLean IS Success Model considers, in addition to information quality, the service and system quality. Nevertheless, the results validated the objectives of this study, and information quality can be said to have an influence on user satisfaction.

Acknowledgements

This study is part of a larger evaluation project assessing perceptions of Health Village multidisciplinary development work in the Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project. The Virtual Hospital 2.0 Project was funded by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and was a joint project of the Finnish hospital districts in 2016–2018. The authors want to express gratitude to Virtual Hospital 2.0 for funding this external evaluation.

- [1] G. Eysenbach. What is e-health. J Med Internet Res 3 (2001), e20.
- S. Coughlin, J. Prochaska, L.B. Williams, G. Besenyi, V. Heboyan, S. Goggans, W. Yoo and G. De Leo, Patient web portals, disease management, and primary prevention, *Risk Manag Healthc Policy* **10** (2017), 33-40.
- [2] K.J. O'Leary, R.K. Sharma, A. Killarney, L.S. O'Hara, M.E. Lohman, E. Culver, D.M. Liebovitz and K.A. Cameron, Patients' and healthcare providers' perceptions of a mobile portal application for hospitalized patients, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 16 (2016).
- [3] K. Saranto, E. Kivekäs, P. Kuosmanen and U.M. Kinnunen, Electronic Health Services in the Patients' Daily Activities – Willingness to Use Health Village Services, IOS Press, Amsterdam, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 247 (2018), 586-590.
- [4] V. Kisekka and J.S. Giboney, The Effectiveness of Health Care Information Technologies: Evaluation of Trust, Security Beliefs, and Privacy as Determinants of Health Care Outcomes, *J Med Internet Res* 20 (2018), e107.
- [5] S. Petter, W. DeLone and E. McLean, Measuring information systems success: models, dimensions, measures, and interrelationships, *Eur J Inf Syst* 17 (2008), 236-263.
- [6] A.I. Ojo, Validation of the DeLone and McLean Information Systems Success Model, J Healthc Infor Res 23 (2017), 60.
- [7] K.W. Cho, S.-K. Bae, J.-H. Ryu, K.N. Kim, et.al., Performance Evaluation of Public Hospital Information Systems by the Information System Success Model, *J Healthc Infor Res* 21 (2015), 43.
- [8] B. Tilahun and F. Fritz, Modeling antecedents of electronic medical record system implementation success in low-resource setting hospitals, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 15 (2015).
- [9] P. Yu and S. Qian, Developing a theoretical model and questionnaire survey instrument to measure the success of electronic health records in residential aged care, *PLoS ONE* 13 (2018), e0190749.
- [10] The DeLone and McLean Model of Information Systems Success: A Ten-Year Update, J Manag Inf Syst 19 (2003), 9-30.
- [11] W.H. DeLone and E.R. McLean, Information Systems Success: The Quest for the Dependent Variable, Inf Syst Res 3 (1992), 60-95.
- [12] P. Setia, V. Venkatesh and S. Joglekar, Leveraging Digital Technologies: How Information Quality Leads to Localized Capabilities and Customer Service Performance, *MIS Q*, **37** (2013), 565-590.
- [13] Y. Zheng, K. Zhao and A. Stylianou, The impacts of information quality and system quality on users' continuance intention in information-exchange virtual communities: An empirical investigation, *Decis* Support Syst 56 (2013), 513-524.
- [14] D. Tao, C. LeRouge, K.J. Smith and G. De Leo, Defining Information Quality Into Health Websites: A Conceptual Framework of Health Website Information Quality for Educated Young Adults, *JMIR Hum Factors* 4 (2017.), e25.
- [15] Virtuaalisairaala 2.0. www.virtuaalisairaala2.fi (accessed March 21, 2019).

From Tertiary to Primary Care – Understanding Context in the Transfer of Digital Headache Service Pathway

Auri VÄLJÄ^a, Henni TENHUNEN^{a,1}, Hanna HARNO^b, Laura MÄKITIE^b, Tuomo TANILA^a and Paul LILLRANK^a

^aInstitute of Healthcare Engineering, Management and Architecture (HEMA), Department of Industrial Engineering and Management, Aalto University, Espoo,

Finland

^bDepartment of Neurology, Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

Abstract. A digital service pathway for managing chronic headache has been designed in tertiary care in Finland. The digital tool facilitates self-management by providing exercises, information and messaging opportunities for patients. However, the largest potential benefits are in primary and occupational care. Thus, the purpose of this study was to explore the needs and requirements of primary and occupational care actors for better understanding of the context in the transfer of the service. The study was performed as a single embedded case study. The qualitative data was collected through semi-structured interviews with 16 informants from different organizations and analyzed with Gioia-methodology. This study gathers important empirical knowledge about the meaning of context and transferring digital health interventions from one context to another from clinician and management perspective. Nine key contextual differences were identified and six main expectations emerged.

Keywords. Telemedicine, Headache, Health Services

1. Introduction

Clinicians and researchers at Helsinki University Hospital (HUH) have developed a digital service pathway for chronic headache patients in tertiary care. The service offers alternative methods for treatment and provides support throughout the care pathway. The service helps patients to recognize and manage the characteristics of their headaches. Trained nurses act as headache coaches who supervise the progress of patients along the pathway. There is a messaging feature through which the clinicians can be contacted in case of questions or worries.

Headache is one of the top ten most common diagnoses in the world in 2016 besides being the second most common cause for disability [1]. In a Danish study, tension-type headache led to the loss of 820 workdays in 1000 persons [2]. Thus, improving the care for headache is economically important [3]. Offering the service to wider groups of patients, including primary and occupational care patients could increase the impact. Occupational health care is a Finnish model for organizing primary care for working-age

¹ Corresponding Author, Henni Tenhunen; E-mail: henni.tenhunen@aalto.fi.

people, where the employer provides and pays for the health services to support employees' work ability. This study concerns this move of the service from tertiary to primary care.

Researchers have recognized the difficulty of transferring healthcare interventions successfully into other contexts [4,5]. Contextual understanding acts as a basis for developing successful digital health services [6]. One way to analyze the phenomena is through a design science approach called CIMO logic, where the situation is modeled with context, intervention, mechanism, and outcome [7]. The purpose of this study was to investigate the contextual factors, which affect the transfer of a digital health intervention into other contexts. We also examined what features are valued considering the digital care of headache patients in the target contexts of primary and occupational care. **RQ1:** *What are the key contextual differences between tertiary, primary, and occupational care in digital headache treatment*? **RQ2:** *How do the differences influence the needs and expectations of the service providers for the digital service pathway*?

2. Methods

The study was performed as a single embedded case study with two units of analysis, public primary care and private occupational care. The data was collected by conducting 16 semi-structured interviews structured around the CIMO-framework [7], 10 within primary care context and 6 within occupational care context. Theoretical and snowball sampling were used. Data collection was finished after the data saturated. The public primary care organizations were from several parts of Finland with different population characteristics. The occupational care informants were from two major national service providers. Data was analyzed with Gioia-methodology and thematic analysis [8].

3. Results

Table 1 presents the identified contextual differences between the three healthcare organization types: patient population, resources, continuity of care, preventive approach, payer, IT infrastructure, adoption of digital tools, procurement, and success evaluation.

Contextual dimension	Tertiary care	Public primary	Private occupational care
		care	
Patient population	Selected and chronic patients	Wide array of patients with multiple problems	Working-age people, mostly tension headache
Resources	Specialized physicians and nurses	Primary level physicians and nurses, possibility to consult	Primary level physicians, possibility to consult specialized physicians in- house depending on the contract
Continuity of care	Fixed treatment periods, good follow- up during that	Continuous relationship with the patients, but patients are not actively monitored	Continuous follow-up of customer organizations and the patients. Named clinicians for each customer
Preventive approach	Mainly reactive treatment	Preventive care in some areas	Algorithms which aim to spot patients in risk

Table 1. Contextual differences

	-		
Payer	Hospital districts	Municipalities or co-operation districts	Customer companies
IT infrastructure	No digital treatment tools before headache service pathway.	Every area has their own system. ODA- project in some areas.	Some digital infrastructure, e.g. chats, surveys and self-management plan tools.
Adoption of digital tools	Not under study	Apart from ODA, no consistent plans for future.	Digital development programs, strategic fit is assessed.
Procurement	Not under study	Available resources and skills vary a lot.	Systematic procurement according to predetermined needs.
Success evaluation	Indicators: Headache days and intensity, medication, headache impact on life, quality of life, anxiety and depression, patient satisfaction, absences from work.	Resources and skills to measure success vary a lot. Cost efficiency through decreased service use is central.	Intervention-specific indicators are developed. Effect on ability to work is essential.

A Väliä et al / From Tertiary to Primary Care

The informants underlined six main mechanisms they expected to produce good outcomes: capability to self-management, emotional support, willingness to self-management, more accurate care decisions, environment level intervention and prevention, and usability. First, the digital service encourages patients' self-management and makes patients better informed. Second, digital emotional support could reduce the need for excessive contacts due to anxiety. Third, besides supporting the patients' capability to self-management, also supporting their willingness to it would be important. Fourth, the tool should help in enabling professionals to provide more accurate care for the patients. Fifth, occupational care actors discussed the importance of environment level actions. Finally, usability was emphasized.

4. Discussion and Conclusions

The implications for the headache intervention developers were analyzed with regard to outcomes and intervention features. From public primary care perspective, the cost aspect was emphasized. In private occupational care, evidence is wanted on the effects on ability to work and sick leaves. Considering new features compared to the existing solution, both primary care and occupational actors were interested in self-diagnosis features. The primary care informants called for service personalization, particularly regarding age and headache intensity. The effects of the context on the desired outcomes and the mechanisms that produce these outcomes through an adapted intervention are illustrated in Figure 1.

This study gathers important empirical knowledge about the meaning of context and transferring digital health interventions from one context to another from clinician and management perspective. This study also has certain limitations. The findings from a single service pathway in the Finnish healthcare system cannot be generalized to other digital solutions in other countries, although several contextual similarities might arise.

In conclusion, nine key contextual differences were identified and six main expectations emerged in relation to the transfer of a digital headache service pathway from tertiary care to the contexts of public primary care and private occupational care.


Figure 1. Influence of the context on outcomes and mechanisms through an intervention.

Acknowledgements

This study was part of DiRVa research project funded by Business Finland. The authors did not disclose any conflicts of interest.

- T. Vos et al., Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016, *Lancet* 390 (2017), 1211–1259.
- [2] B.K. Rasmussen, R. Jensen and J. Olesen, Impact of headache on sickness absence and utilisation of medical services: a Danish population study, J. Epidemiol. Community Health 46 (1992), 443–446.
- [3] R. Jensen, L.J. Stovner, Epidemiology and comorbidity of headache, Lancet Neurol. 7 (2008), 354-361.
- [4] J. Luoto, P.G. Shekelle, M.A. Maglione, B. Johnsen and T. Perry, Reporting of context and implementation in studies of global health interventions: a pilot study, *Implement. Sci.* 9 (2014), 57.
- [5] J. Shoveller, S. Viehbeck, E. Di Ruggiero, D. Greyson, K. Thomson and R. Knight, A critical examination of representations of context within research on population health interventions, *Crit. Public Health.* 26 (2016), 487–500.
- [6] J.E.W.C. van Gemert-Pijnen, N. Nijland, M. van Limburg, H.C. Ossebaard, S.M. Kelders, G. Eysenbach and E.R. Seydel, A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies, *J. Med. Internet Res.* 13 (2011).
- [7] D. Denyer, D. Tranfield and J.E. Van Aken, Developing design propositions through research synthesis, Organ. Stud. 29 (2008), 393–413.
- [8] D.A. Gioia, K.G. Corley and A.L. Hamilton, Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the Gioia methodology, Organ. Res. Methods. 16 (2013), 15–31.

Virtual Planning of Extra-Intracranial Bypass with Numerical Investigation of Hemodynamics

Evgenia BLAGOSKLONOVA^a, Daria DOLOTOVA^{a,1}, Nataliya POLUNINA^b, Valentin STEPANOV^b, Anastasia KISELEVA^c, Ivan ARHIPOV^a, Andrey GAVRILOV^{a,d} and Vladimir KRYLOV^b ^a Gammamed-Soft, Ltd, Moscow, Russia ^bN.V.Sklifosovskiy Scientific Research Institute of Emergency Care, Moscow, Russia ^c Pirogov Russian National Research Medical University, Moscow, Russia ^d Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Abstract. Planning of bypass surgery for patients with complex cerebral aneurysms is a very complicated task. It is important to take into consideration personal anatomy and hemodynamics and make additional investigations, but unfortunately, they don't give a guarantee of good postoperative results. Recent medical imaging and computational fluid dynamics (CFD) can be helpful for the prediction of effectiveness of selected surgical technique. In the current research with the use of CT and PC-MRI data we applied computational modeling in order to make quantitative assessment of potential changes of blood flow distribution after the surgery. Virtual version of bypass surgery showed preservation of sufficient blood flow, what was confirmed with modeling results after operation. Moreover, successful verification with PC-MRI data in control sections was made. The research has shown that virtual planning with the estimation of blood flow changes can be introduced into clinical practice for simplifying and increasing efficiency of planning process.

Keywords. CFD modeling, intracranial aneurysm, extra-intracranial bypass, hemodynamics

1. Introduction

Aneurysmal dilatation of the cerebral arteries is a serious life-threatening condition. Rupture of intracranial aneurysm is the main cause of non-traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage, which is characterized by a high frequency of mortality and disability [1].

Most unruptured aneurysms are asymptomatic and are accidentally detected during neuroimaging. After the diagnosis was confirmed the management of the patient is either a monitor or surgical treatment which aims to turn off the aneurysm from the bloodstream. Which intervention is appropriate for the certain patient is decided on the basis of the formation size, rupture risk stratification and clinical symptoms. In most cases the microsurgery or endovascular treatment are used [2]. However, traditional methods may not be feasible in the case of giant aneurysms, which the dome size is more than 25 mm.

¹ Corresponding Author, Daria Dolotova, E-mail: dariadolotova@gmail.com.

Standard approaches to the removal of such formations are ineffective, and surgeons resort to total occlusion of the parent artery proximal to the lesion. If the parent artery is a large main vessel, the stagnation of blood flow can lead to ischemic changes in respective brain region. To avoid such an outcome, surgeons use revascularization methods of bypassing the pathological area with anastomosis [3].

Estimation of relevance of bypass and its efficiency in future is the main task during bypass surgical planning. Nowadays, the balloon occlusion test with CTA is used for such purpose. Such interventions may lead to ischemia and rupture of giant aneurysm. Moreover, it's very important to take into consideration complex anatomy of vessels and hemodynamic characteristics in the area of interest, because higher bloodstream in the healthy nearby artery can lead to various complications [4].

Looking for safer and more accurate methods of planning reconstructive neurovascular surgery, researchers are increasingly applying methods of mathematical modeling. Calculations with computational fluid dynamics (CFD) software allow quantifying the hemodynamics of a particular patient and taking into consideration various options changing initial anatomy without any invasive interventions. However, currently there are only a few studies of virtual surgical planning with quantitative assessment of hemodynamics [5,6]. Thus, the purpose of the current research was the evaluation of the possibility of applying CFD in patient-specific bypass surgical planning.

2. Material and methods

In the research we used CT and PC-MRI preoperative and postoperative data of a patient with thrombosed giant (33x34x36 mm) saccular aneurysm of the left internal carotid artery (ICA). It was decided to form an extra-intracranial wide-lumen anastomosis between the external carotid artery and the M3 segment of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) using the radial artery as a graft with occlusion of the cervical segment of the left ICA.

Post-processing of DICOM data was performed on the "Gamma Multivox D2" workstation (Gammamed-Soft, Ltd, Russia) [7]. After semiautomatic segmentation of vascular structures, three-dimensional models of the patient's arterial system were reconstructed. Then the models were exported to a commercial finite element software ANSYS Workbench 19.2 (ANSYS Inc., USA) [8]. The elimination of geometry defects was performed, and the surgery was simulated by removing part of the ICA and placing the anastomosis according to the tactics developed by surgeons. In total, three models based on the geometry of the patient's vessels before ("Preoperative" and "Virtual bypass" models) and after surgery ("Postoperative" model) were built for the study (Figure 1).



Figure 1. 3D models of the vascular geometries.

The discretisation of computational domains to finite elements and calculation were performed using the ANSYS CFX. Due to the fact that the considered part of the vascular system included large and rather rigid cerebral vessels, the elastic properties of the arterial wall and the non-Newtonian nature of the fluid were not taken into account in this study. As boundary conditions, the linear velocities before and after surgical treatment obtained during PC-MRI at the input and the opening condition at the outputs were used. The full simulation included two cardiac cycles with a total duration of 1.82s. In order to verify the simulation results, linear velocities in the selected sections of the anterior (ACA) and middle cerebral (MCA) arteries were also recorded during preoperative PC-MRI (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Control sections and regions.

3. Results

To check the correctness of the calculation, the comparison of maximum values of linear velocity of blood flow obtained from PC-MRI and results of the calculation in the corresponding sections was carried out (Table 1).

Location	PC-MRI Velocity, m/s	CFD Velocity, m/s
Plane LACA	0,485	0,464
Plane midACA	0,448	0,432
Plane RACA	0,347	0,322
Plane LMCA	0,311	0,268
Plane RMCA	0,634	0,430

Table 1. Comparison of maximum linear velocity values in regions of interest for PC-MRI and CFD.

The comparison showed a good agreement of the values in the branches of ACA, but the simulation results were lower for the sections of both MCA. Such effect may be the result of using the same values at the outputs of the computational domain.

To assess the effectiveness of the chosen intervention tactics, the total blood volume passing through each branch of ACA and MCA during the second cardiac cycle was estimated. Simulation of virtual operation indicated the efficiency of the anastomosis and showed a stable increase of the volume per cycle in all observed branches compared with the results of the "Preoperative" model. The data for the real "Postoperative" model was ambiguous, almost all outputs showed a marked redistribution of blood flow between the branches compared with the distribution in the "Preoperative" and "Virtual bypass" models. However, if we make comparison of the total volume in the areas of ACA, left and right MCA (Table 2), there is a general tendency to increase blood supply in the left part of the models with anastomosis by 40% compared to the situation before the

operation, which suggests a possible minimisation of the risk of ischemia on the side of the lesion due to the chosen revascularisation method.

Table 2. Values of the total blood volume per cardiac cycle in different regions and changes compared with preoperative model.

Logation	Volume per cardiac cycle for different models, ml							
Location	Preoperative	Preoperative Virtual treatment						
Left region	1,35	1,9 (↑41%)	1,94 (†43%)					
Right region	1,66	1,83 (↑10%)	1,4 (↓15%)					
ACA branches	1,52	1,98 (†30%)	1,58 (↑4%)					

The presented data also indicates that virtual planning predicts the probable absence of decline of the blood supply to the brain through the branches of the carotid arteries in the conditions of the cessation of blood flow along left ICA. The model of real geometry after surgery confirms this assumption; the decrease in blood flow is recorded only on the right side and represents only 15% loss. The result conformed to the clinical outcome. During the control of the patient's condition 3 months after the operation, the normal functioning of the shunt, thrombosis of left ICA and aneurysm with a decrease of its size were noted. Neurological symptoms were absent.

4. Conclusion

Thus, the experience of calculation of hemodynamic parameters in the virtual planning of bypass surgery showed that this direction is promising and relevant for use in practical medicine. However, in further research it is necessary to pay attention to the complexity of boundary conditions at the outputs to obtain more accurate results consistent with the patient's data, as well as to conduct studies on a large sample, as these issues were main limitations of the study. If verification of predictive capabilities will be successful, the technique can be implemented in the clinical practice and become a useful support tool for surgeons. It will allow planning the most effective surgery strategy for a particular patient more accurately, reducing the risk of intra- and postoperative complications without unnecessary medical manipulations, and, in general, improving quality of health care provision for patients with intracranial aneurysms.

- [1] T. Steiner, S. Juvela, A. Unterberg, C. Jung, M. Forsting and G. Rinkel, European Stroke Organization Guidelines for the Management of Intracranial Aneurysms and Subarachnoid Haemorrhage, Cerebrovascular Diseases 35 (2013) 93–112.
- [2] V.V. Krylov, S.S. Eliava, S.B. Yakovlev, et.al., Clinical guidelines for treatment of unruptured asymptomatic brain aneurysms, *Voprosy Neirokhirurgii Imeni N.N. Burdenko* 80 (2016) 124.
- [3] R.G. Ellenbogen, L.N. Sekhar, N. Kitchen, Principles of Neurological Surgery, Elsevier Inc., 2018.
- [4] G. Menon, S. Jayanand, K. Krishnakumar, S. Nair, EC-IC bypass for cavernous carotid aneurysms: An initial experience with twelve patients, *Asian Journal of Neurosurg* 9 (2014) 82.
- [5] P.D. Morris, A. Narracott, H. von Tengg-Kobligk, D.A. Silva Soto, S. Hsiao, A. Lungu, P. Evans, N.W. Bressloff, P. V Lawford, D.R. Hose, J.P. Gunn, Computational fluid dynamics modelling in cardiovascular medicine, *Heart* 102 (2016) 18–28.
- [6] S. Takayama, M. Watanabe, H. Takao, D. Chihebeddine, H. Mamori, Y. Murayama, and M. Yamamoto, Numerical Analysis of Blood Flow for Effectiveness of STA-MCA Anastomosis Operation, The Proceedings of the Fluids engineering conference (2015). doi:10.1299/jsmefed.2015._1303-1_.
- [7] Ansys, Explore Pervasive Engineering Simulation. https://www.ansys.com (accessed May 10, 2019).
- [8] MultiVox. http://www.multivox.ru (accessed May 10, 2019).

A Platform for Collection and Analysis of Image Data on Stroke

Daria DOLOTOVA^{a,1}, Victoria DONITOVA^b, Ivan ARHIPOV^a, Faat SHARIFULLIN^c, Tatiana ZAGRIAZKINA^d, Boris KOBRINSKII^{b,d} and Andrey GAVRILOV^{a,e}

^a Gammamed-Soft, Ltd, Moscow, Russia ^bFederal Research Center "Computer Science and Control" of RAS, Moscow, Russia ^cN.V.Sklifosovskiy Scientific Research Institute of Emergency Care, Moscow, Russia ^d Pirogov Russian National Research Medical University, Moscow, Russia ^c Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Abstract. Identifying imaging biomarkers (IBs) of stroke remains a priority in neurodiagnostics. There is a number of different methods for image analysis and learning rules applicable in this field, but all of them require large arrays of DICOM images and clinical data. In order to amass such dataset, we have designed a platform for systematic collection of clinical data and medical images in different modalities. The platform provides easy-to-use tools to create formalized radiology reports, contour and tag the regions of interest (ROIs) on the DICOM images, and extract radiomics data. Subsequent analysis of the obtained data will allow identifying the most relevant IBs that predict clinical outcome and possible complications. The results of the analysis will be used to develop predictive algorithms for stroke diagnostics.

Keywords. Stroke, imaging biomarkers, big data, machine learning, decision support system

1. Introduction

One of the most relevant directions in modern medicine is the identification of imaging biomarkers (IBs), or characteristics of physiological and pathological processes that can be assessed through analysis of medical images [1]. Research and adoption of IBs to clinical practice could expedite the analysis of medical images, help in the search for predictors of acute conditions, improve the diagnostics process, and, as a result, the quality of healthcare. Process of IBs identification includes following stages [2]: 1) data selection; 2) segmentation of regions of interest (ROIs); 3) feature extraction; 4) statistical analysis and modeling.

Identifying IBs would be particularly helpful in diagnostics of stroke, one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity. The first priority in stroke diagnostics is evaluation of the stroke type in order to determine the appropriate treatment. The main difficulty in the research of the stroke IBs is the absence of representative datasets containing both images and clinical data. There are some datasets for image analysis in MRI or CT perfusion that are openly available to the research community [3,4]. A lot of

¹ Corresponding Author, Daria Dolotova; E-mail: dariadolotova@gmail.com.

scientists proposed mathematical models based on these datasets, international registries, or their local databases [5]. But the first-choice modality for primary stroke diagnostics in Russia is nonenhanced CT. In view of a limited number of such datasets, the aim of this project was to develop a platform that allows gathering of comprehensive information on stroke patients, both clinical data and DICOM images.

2. The Platform Design

The developed platform contains a package of client-server applications for Microsoft Windows: medical documentation module, DICOM images module, module for extraction of image characteristics. Data is stored in a Microsoft SQL database, and DICOM images are stored separately in a networked storage. DICOM images module supports importing images from portable devices as well as connecting to the healthcare facilities' PACS with the anonymization feature for the stored data. Connection to the facilities' archives is realized through DICOM Q/R and DICOM-Retrieve protocols. The platform also includes functionality for integration with electronic health record system to optimize the process of data entering.

2.1. Medical Documentation Module: Gathering Clinical Data

For every patient the following clinical data was entered into the platform:

- Clinical diagnosis (in accordance with the classification adopted in Russia, one of the following groups was assigned: transient ischemic attack, ischemic stroke, haemorrhagic stroke)
- Risk factors (arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus, cigarette smoking, obesity, alcohol consumption, and others)
- Clinical case data (outcome, length of hospital confinement, treatment method, scores for different neurological scales: NIHSS, mRS, GCS)

Formalized radiology reports of: cerebral CT without contrast, cerebral CT angiography and cerebral CT with contrast were also included. Special screen forms with formal fields were developed to simplify the entering of clinical information into the system (Figure 1).

Case report	Nonenhanced CT of the brain					
Patient name: XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Patient name: XXXXX XXXXXXXXX Case# 32008/2018 Age 65 Date 07.09.2018 65 65 65					
Primary diagnosis: Ischemic stroke (brain infarction)	Stroke signs Present ASPECTS 9 Focal hypoattenuation of brain parenchyma, zone of hyperattenuation					
Type of hemorrhagic transformation: None - Onset date: 07/09/2018 - 10.00 Discharge date: 19/09/2018 -	Midline shift Not present • Calcified plaques Not present •					
Treatment: Conservative - Days in ICU: 1 Case outcome: Discharged -	Left side Right side Sylvian fissures Intact Communited cylicity					
Height: 175 cm Weight: 78 kg BMI: 25,5 Hypertension, atherosclerotic disease, renal dysfunction,	Supracellar cisterns Intact • Intact •					
anticoagulant therapy Scale scores NIHSS GCS mRS	VCR1 31 % VCR2 17 % VCR3 5 % VCR4 12 %					
On admission 15 1 On discharge 15 0 0	Impression (2)					
Commentary						

Figure 1. The user interface for entering clinical data and radiology report (nonenhanced brain CT).

2.2. DICOM images module: Segmentation and Tagging

A tool for contouring and tagging the ROIs was created based on a free hand technology that allows users to easily contour pathological formations and tag them accordingly. In order to enhance the efficiency of contouring an algorithm that fills in the contour was developed. The algorithm works by interpolation of contours made manually by the radiologists on separate slices of the CT. As a result of the finished contour a 3D ROI reconstruction is created (Figure 2), and the range of mathematical parameters is calculated.



Figure 2. An example of image with segmented and tagged areas (ROI) of intra-cerebral haemorrhage and edema.

A thesaurus of tags for the ROIs was developed with the participation of the radiologists. The localization of a lesion, vascular zone in case of watershed lesions and other characteristics of a lesion were registered by tagging. Types of lesions included ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke (with intraparenchymal, intraventricular, and subarachnoid subtypes). There were also additional tags for areas of edema, lacune, aneurysm and others. Operational comfort in the process of tagging was ensured by the means of trigram search.

2.3. Module for Feature Extraction

The module for extraction of image characteristics was built by means of an open source library PyRadiomics [6]. Features describing ROIs intensity, morphology, spatial and histogram distribution can be calculated and exported to analytic packages in .csv format.

3. The First Implementation In Healthcare Facility

The platform was installed in N.V. Sklifosovskiy Scientific Research Institute of Emergency Care. So far, we have collected data on a hundred stroke patients with 170 CT reports with corresponding DICOM images that were uploaded from the Institute's PACS. Three radiologists reviewed, contoured and tagged the ROIs on the CT images. In total, there are about 20000 contours, and for all them different features will be calculated in the follow-up process.

At the beginning of the implementation numerous peculiarities related to data entry and clinical terminology were revealed. Additional algorithms tracking outliers, missing values, and tags incompatibility were developed to minimize the amount of data entry errors.

This work will be continued by adding more cases, including control cases of patients that have known risk factors for stroke, but have not developed any clinical signs of the stroke yet. The resulting dataset will be anonymized and published for open use.

4. Conclusion

During this research a platform for collection and analysis of stroke images was developed. Currently its functionality covers almost all stages of workflow of IBs identification except for the stage of feature analysis and modeling. In comparison with concurrent projects the developed platform has several advantages. Most of existing software programs do not support integration of clinical data in conjunction with imaging data and calculated parameters. Many of such programs have a narrow field of application. Some are designed only for contouring of ROIs, some for calculation of ROI parameters, thus prompting the researchers to combine multiple software products that can lead to compatibility issues. There is also an option to assess the parameters over time, if there are several CT protocols for the same case.

The project's long-term goal is to identify predictive IBs for stroke in order to assess and calculate individual stroke risk levels. A health management system that estimates individual risk of stroke for patients and produces a preventive measure plan to reduce risk levels is now in testing, and the results of presented work will be introduced into this system [7].

Acknowledgements

Part of this work was financially supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, the research project №18-29-26007.

- J. Park H and Kim, Radiomics as a Quantitative Imaging Biomarker: Practical Considerations and the Current Standpoint in Neuro-oncologic Studies, *Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging* 52 (2018), 99-108.
- [2] L.E. Court, X. Fave, D. Mackin, J. Lee, J. Yang and L. Zhang, Computational resources for radiomics, *Translational Cancer Research* 5 (2016) 340-348.
- [3] Isles Challenge 2018, Ischemic Stroke Lesion Segmentation, (2018). http://www.isles-challenge.org (accessed May 14, 2019).
- [4] Kaggle. https://www.kaggle.com (accessed May 14, 2019).
- [5] R. Feng, M. Badgeley, J. Mocco and E.K. Oermann, Deep learning guided stroke management: a review of clinical applications, Journal of neurointerventional surgery 10 (2018), 358-362.
- [6] Pyradiomics, Welcome to pyradiomics documentation! (2016). https://pyradiomics.readthedocs.io (accessed May 14, 2019).
- [7] O.G. Grigoriev, B.A. Kobrinskii, G.S. Osipov, A.I. Molodchenkov and I.V. Smirnov, Health Management System Knowledge Base for Formation and Support of a Preventive Measures Plan, *Proceedia Computer Science* 145 (2018), 238-241.

Quality Indicators for Mental Health in Primary Care – A Comparison Between Literature Review Methods

André RAMALHO^{a,b,1}, André VINCI^c, Inácia Bezerra DE LIMA^d, Pedro CASTRO^{b,e},
Juliana TEIXEIRA^b, Manuel GONÇALVES-PINHO^{a,b}, João Vasco SANTOS^{a,b,f}, João VIANA^{a,b}, Paulo SANTOS^{a,b}, Domingos ALVES^c and Alberto FREITAS^{a,b}
^a MEDCIDS – Department of Community Medicine, Information and Health Decision Sciences – Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal
^b CINTESIS – Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Portugal
^c Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Brazil
^d School of Nursing of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Brazil
^e USF Camélias, ACeS Grande Porto VII, Gaia, Portugal

Abstract. Evidence regarding quality indicators in primary health care is a major need for better mental health management, monitoring and decision-making. In this paper, we compared two methods of retrieving quality indicators for mental health in primary care by means of an umbrella review, that included eight systematic reviews, and of grey literature. From the umbrella review, 48 primary studies that composed the 8 revisions were analyzed. A total of 94 quality indicators for mental health in primary care were found with the umbrella review, while 2000 indicators were found using the grey literature method. Sixty-eight indicators (3.2% from total) were common to both methods. Both methods can be complementary and useful in order to identify quality indicators.

Keywords. Mental health, primary care, quality indicators, knowledge management.

1. Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO), through the Mental Health Action Plan for 2013-2020, has the strengthening of information systems, evidence and research on health and mental illness as one of its four priority objectives [1].

Several available documents aggregate, describe and present quality indicators in many areas of primary health care (PHC), such as mental health. The use of indicators is an opportunity for improvement and to achieve the goals basing the clinical practice in best available evidence, through quantitative parameters (planning, organizational, clinical) aiming at better processes and results [2,3].

The structure of quality of health care was proposed by Donabedian and Fleming, categorizing quality indicators in structure, process and outcome [3]. Importantly, for a

¹ Corresponding Author, André RAMALHO, MEDCIDS – Department of Community Medicine, Information and Health Decision Sciences – Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal, Rua Dr Plácido da Costa s/n – Porto, Portugal; E-mail: alramalho@med.up.pt.

process to be a valid measure of quality, it must be closely related to a result that people care about [2,4,5]. The non-indexed literature has been increasingly valued for the knowledge management improvement, including the introduction of a method for synthesizing this information in support of "classical" systematic reviews [6]. The objective of this study was to compare the obtained results between two methods of retrieving mental health quality indicators in literature, i.e. by means of a systematic (umbrella) review and the non-indexed guidelines and databases, as grey literature.

2. Methods

Based on the results of an umbrella review on PHC indicators, which followed the standards of the "PRISMA Statement" [7] (PROSPERO registration CRD42019124170) and used "AMSTAR-2" as an instrument for quality and risk of bias analysis [8], eight contexts were identified (mental health, chronic disease, women health, services assessment, dental care, orthopedics preventive medicine and infectious disease), allowing for comparisons on health services performance. In the context of mental health, eight systematic reviews with low risk of bias were included. For the present analysis, the primary studies included in these 8 systematic reviews were selected, thus creating a list of evidence-based indicators, categorized by the dimensions of care (structure, process and outcome) [3] and sub-contexts (dementia, depression, bipolar disorder and others).

In parallel, we identified other indicators used/proposed worldwide as grey literature, i.e. what is produced at all levels of government, business, universities, industry in print and electronic formats, and not controlled by scientific peer review publishers [9,10]. This non-indexed approach was carried out through exhaustive research on the internet, contact with colleagues and international organizations that have produced documents, guidelines and databases [11,12] on mental health quality indicators such as World Health Organization (WHO), Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), and others. As this list was not standardized, that is, there is not a clear or complete categorization of levels of care, we were not able to perform the analysis of which indicators were directly related to primary care. Therefore, we performed a careful analysis of the primary studies selected in the systematic reviews resulting from the umbrella review. Those indicators were subsequently searched for among non-indexed setlist.

3. Results

The indexed reviews retrieved 94 indicators from the 480 primary articles, using the umbrella review method.

Using the non-indexed literature method (grey literature), we found 2000 indicators (not specific for primary care). A total of 68 indicators for mental health in primary care were found in both lists of retrieved indicators (72.3% of the indexed result). Most frequent indicators were those related to the control, monitoring and follow-up of patients during treatment, such as coordinated care, continuity of care and preventive measures like the misuse of substances in serious mentally ill patients. Other quality indicators were related to prescription, dosage and monitoring of drug treatment with

psychotropic drugs. Some indexed studies indicators, for instance extra pyramidal effects monitoring, sedation side effects, and patients with delayed diagnosis of serious mental illness, do not appear in general guidelines from the grey literature (table 1).

Context of Care	Indexed (n, %)	In both sources (n, % of indexed)		
Serious Mental Illness	48 (51.1)	39 (41.5)		
Depression	26 (27.7)	19 (20.2)		
Dementia	10 (10.6)	6 (6.4)		
Medication Control	4 (4.3)	0 (0)		
Patient Data	2 (2.1)	1 (1.1)		
Other Contexts	4 (4.3)	3 (3.2)		
Total	94 (100)	68 (72.3)		

Table 1. Indicators by context and type of search source

4. Discussion

The emergence of the context of serious mental illness comes from the concern of health providers and the scientific community about mortality in these patient groups, which have resulted from increased standardized mortality rate in the last few years [13,14].

In this paper, we verified if the indicators found in the indexed literature were also addressed in the grey literature. Our results highlight important differences in both approaches. The common indicators for the two types of research sources contribute to a more general approach, with indicators related to the coordination of care and care per se (e.g. patients enrolled in the mental health program, disease monitoring/follow up, drug control). Some important indicators related to primary care in the context of mental health were not found in the grey literature, such as extra pyramidal effects monitoring, sedation side effects, and patients with delayed diagnosis of serious mental illness. An hypothesis for these differences might be explained by the fact that governments and administrations are more concerned in evaluating the health system and its functioning than in its improvement.

As a limitation, the analysis in non-indexed source of quality indicators in primary care was not possible due to the lack of information regarding the characterization and categorization in levels of care which should be explored in future work in this area.

5. Conclusion

Evidence-based medicine improves every day its knowledge management methods and technologies, and our study shows that there is more to be improved on the topic of rigorous synthesis in the literature. Our work reveals that the indicators selected in the indexed literature are being used in a consistent but incomplete way by non-indexed guidelines and documents. There is a need for a normalization of the presentation of the indicators, including the characterization and categorization (e.g. in levels of care) for subsequent analyzes referring to what the grey literature could aggregate from the indexed literature and the primary care practices in mental health. The analysis of the composition of mental health care indicators in primary health care in both contexts should be valued and encouraged in order to decrease the lack and the loss of relevant information. The found differences emphasize the importance of using scientifically validated indicators in the clinical practice and health services, as it is also important that the indicators routinely used in multiple services are submitted to scientific validation, namely through peer reviewed publications.

6. Funding

This work was financed by FEDER - Fundo Europeu de Desenvolvimento Regional funds through the COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme for Competitiveness and Internationalisation (POCI), and FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia in the framework of the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-030766 ("1st.IndiQare - Quality indicators in primary health care: validation and implementation of quality indicators as an assessment and comparison tool"). Financed in part by Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior Brasil (CAPES) Finance Code 88881.187677/2018-01 (AV) and Demanda Social (IBL). DA would like to thank the São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP) for financial support (Process number 2018/00307-2).

- [1] World Health Organization, Mental health action plan 2012-2020. Geneva, 2013.
- M.S. Donaldson, *Measuring the quality of health care*, National Academy Press; Washington/DC, 1999.
 p. 3.
- [3] A. Donabedian, The Quality of Care: How Can It Be Assessed?, JAMA 260(12) (1988), 1743–1748.
- [4] N. Klazinga, K. Stronks, D. Delnoij and A. Verhoeff, Indicators without a cause. Reflections on the development and use of indicators in health care from a public health perspective, *Int J Qual Health Care* 13(6) (2001), 433–438.
- [5] H. Wollersheim, R. Hermens, M. Hulscher, et al., Clinical indicators: development and applications, Neth J Med 65(1) (2007), 15–22.
- [6] C. Pappas, I. Williams, Grey literature: its emerging importance, J Hosp Librariansh 11(3) (2011), 228– 234.
- [7] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff and D.G. Altman, PRISMA Group, Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement, *PLoS Med* 6(7) (2009), e1000097.
- [8] B.J. Shea, B.C. Reeves, G. Wells, et al., AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both, *Bmj* 358 (2017), j4008.
- [9] S. Tillett and E. Newbold. Grey literature at the British Library: revealing a hidden resource, *Interlending & Document Supply* 34(2) (2006), 70–73.
- [10] A. Paez, Gray literature: An important resource in systematic reviews, Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine 10(3) (2017), 233–240.
- [11] Q. Mahood and D. Van Eerd, E. Irvin, Searching for grey literature for systematic reviews: challenges and benefits, *Research Synthesis Methods* 5(3) (2013), 221–234.
- [12] R.J. Adams, P. Smart and A.S. Huff, Shades of grey: guidelines for working with the grey literature in systematic reviews for management and organizational studies, *Int J Manage Rev* 19(4) (2017), 432–454. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12102.
- [13] P. Staudt Hansen, M. Frahm Laursen, S. Grøntved, et al., Increasing mortality gap for patients diagnosed with bipolar disorder-A nationwide study with 20 years of follow-up, *Bipolar Disorders* 00 (2018), 1-6.
- [14] L.H. Lomholt, D.V. Andersen, C. Sejrsgaard-Jacobsen, et al., Mortality rate trends in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder: a nationwide study with 20 years of follow-up, *Int J Bipolar Disord* 7(6) (2019). doi:10.1186/s40345-018-0140-x.

Enhancing Precision in Gesture Detection for Hand Recovery After Injury Using Leap Motion and Machine Learning

Stelian NICOLA^{a,1}, Oana Sorina CHIRILA^a and Lacramioara STOICU-TIVADAR^a ^a University Politehnica Timisoara, Romania, Department of Automation and Applied Informatics

Abstract. This paper presents an improved solution for detecting gestures with a better precision using the Leap Motion sensor and Machine Learning support. A neural network is trained to recognize a hand rotation gesture expressing the grade of recovery, with a supination and pronation exercise. The supination-pronation movement is divided into 4 levels because the users are not usually able to perform a complete rotation gesture in hand recovery after injury. The neural network is trained with data representing the hand rotation angle measurements on the x, y and z axes. The Neural Network training is based on the Tensorflow library. 3 tests were carried out to test the network and eventually a 96% gesture-detection accuracy was achieved.

Keywords. Leap Motion, gestures, hand rehabilitation, neural network, machine earning

1. Introduction

Gesture recognition is more and more used in various fields such as: medicine, engineering, education. Gestures may be classified as static or dynamic, alphanumeric or gestures representing actions. Gesture detection is done with various devices: Leap Motion, Microsoft Kinect, RFID tag, linear optical sensor. All these devices work with software applications based on algorithms able to recognize certain gestures. The gesture-detection algorithms use different mathematical formulas considering 3D environment [1] distances, angles [2].

As reported in literature, neural networks have lately been more frequently used in gesture detection. They are trained to recognize gestures using image (frame) processing algorithms, Motion Fused Frames (MFFs) [3] or different methods based on frame extraction on the image entropy or density groupings [4]. In the medical field neural networks are used to assess the motor dysfunction in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease [5], to classify the evolution of the disease. The detection and classification of the gestures for the Leap Motion sensor is also achieved via different machine learning techniques [6] and using the Tensorflow library [8]. The Leap Motion sensor is used to detect gestures representing the letters of the American Sign Language alphabet, where detection is performed by using a neural network which can recognize the alphabet letters

¹ Corresponding Author, Stelian Nicola, University Politehnica Timisoara, Romania; Email: stelian.nicola@aut.upt.ro.

[7]. The gesture-detection accuracy for the neural network according to the literature goes beyond 90%.

The objective of our work presented in this paper is to develop a new gesture for the Leap Motion sensor, which is detected with the aid of a neural network. This gesture will be used in medical recovery and it represents the hand rotation on an x axis by a maximum of 180 degrees (supination - pronation), the gesture being divided into 4 levels. The neural network will predict the recovery level 1, 2, 3 or 4 (degree of disorder for hand joint). The advantage brought using the neural network is that the levels will be set by the physician and the neural network will be trained to classify them. The neural network training will be based on the Tensorflow library which will use various data (the hand rotation angle on all the axes, x, y, z) stored in a database.

2. Methods and tools

The 3D/2D application editor Unity version 5.6 was used to build a 3D Desktop application where the users may visualize how they move their hands. External software packages, which allow the connection to the Leap Motion device, were included in the application. Leap Motion SDK (Software Development Kit) version 2.3 for Unity was used and for the 3D model we used 2 3D virtual hands imitating the movement of the users' real hands (Figure 1).

Data related to the virtual hand rotation will be introduced in the database with the assistance of this 3D application. Thus the users must perform supination - pronation movements for each recovery level (Figure 1). The recovery level division is realized in such a fashion that for each level the user must rotate the hand to an angle of approximately 45 degrees. When the user starts performing the supination and pronation movements the data related to the rotation angles for all the axes (x, y, z) of the hand will be stored in the database.



Figure 1. Recovery predetermined positions (4 levels)

2.1. The Database and TensorFlow Platform

The data pertaining to hand rotation were stored in a MySQL database. We created two tables of two columns each: hand rotation value and rotation level. The first table is used to train the neural network with data supplied by the physician, while the second table is used to test the accuracy of the data for the trained neural network. The hand rotation value is stored in the table as a string of characters described as follows: rotation_angle_x, rotation_angle_y, rotation_angle_z, representing the hand rotation value on the x, y and z axes, respectively. The type of hand rotation is stored in the table as a string of characters, and it describes the recovery level in relation to the hand rotation, which may be a level 1, 2, 3 or 4.

The Tensorflow library is an open-source platform created by Google for machine learning. For this particular case we used it to train a network in order to detect the

rotation gesture for each level. A Python script was implemented where the data of each table in the database, exported in .csv (comma-separated value) files will be trained. The detection accuracy of the rotation gesture trained by the neural network is obtained based on this script and on the .csv file data. Each file (generated after populating the database) contains approximately 2000 data which describe the hand rotation for a certain level. The number of 2000 pieces of data in the database is given by the frames that the Leap Motion device captures, i.e. approximately 115 frames per second. Thus the hand rotation exercise is performed for approximately 17 seconds.

3 data extraction modes describing the rotation gesture were approached for a best possible detection and accuracy of the hand rotation gesture. Thus different detection accuracy values were obtained for the trained neural network, presented in Table 1. The rotation movement is performed by the user in both directions during the test, so that both the supination and the pronation are assessed. Each data extraction gesture describing the gesture is explained below.

Test	Accuracy	Number of elements for the neural network training file
Test 1	45.6%	2000
Test 2	74.3%	2000
Test 3	96%	2000

2.1.1. Mode 1

In this gesture-describing data extraction mode, in our case the rotation angles on the x, y and z axes for each level the hand rotation starting point is the same for each level. Therefore at level 1 the user will perform a rotation movement of approximately 45 degrees (β_i – the rotation angle measurement). For each level the user increases the rotation of the hand by approximately 45 degrees: $\beta_{i+1} = 90$ degrees – measurement of the rotation angle level 2, $\beta_{i+2}=135$ degrees – angle measurement level 3 and $\beta_{i+3}=180$ degrees – measurement of the rotation angle level 4. For this data extraction mode a 45.6% rotation gesture recognition accuracy was obtained, because confusions are made between the data pertaining to a level to another level.

2.1.2. Mode 2

For the 2nd gesture-describing data extraction mode the starting point for each level is different. Thus the users perform in turns the hand rotation gesture, starting from different positions of the hand for each level. The users will perform pronation and supination movements for every single level. After training the neural network and the text data of the .csv files an accuracy of 74.3% was obtained. This is much better than the first mode because we no longer have the same starting point for each level. However, for better accuracy certain filtering's must be performed so as to eliminate the level confusion data.

2.1.3. Mode 3

In the 3rd gesture-describing data extraction mode a data filtering is performed for each level so that each level will be described differently and the hand rotation starting point is no longer decisive for the gesture detection accuracy. Every hand rotation gesture for

each level is performed up to a maximum level where the user can no longer perform it (the pain threshold). For the level 1 of the rotation gesture the user performs a rotation movement. The maximum rotation angle on the x axis of the hand is memorized and when the user performs the rotation for level 2 only the data which are greater than the specific maximum angle of level 1 will be introduced in the database. This process will be repeated until the user manages to rotate the hand and go through all the levels. This data extraction method had the highest performance, achieving an accuracy of 96%.

3. Conclusions

The current paper presents a new gesture detection method improving the accuracy for hand recovery after injury using the Leap motion sensor and machine learning techniques. Using different data extraction modalities describing the hand rotation gesture - pronation-supination movement – and using as support the open access platform Tensorflow we achieved a 96% accuracy. The 3rd extraction modality proved to be the most efficient, where the data filtering was done for each level for the palm rotation x axis. We divided the gesture in 4 levels to match them with the degrees of injury due to the fact that an injury limits the rotation depending on the severity of the injury. Using the 3rd modality for the data extraction each level will supply the maximum angle for each patient/user that will extend the movement until reaches the pain threshold. For a future accuracy improvement we will use for data filtering besides the maximum angle on the x axis, also the maximum angles on the y and z axis for each of the 4 levels.

As future developments we will train the neural network for different new gestures. We will compare the efficiency and the quality of gesture detection with the classical one using the mathematical formulas with distances and surfaces.

- D.Q. Leite, J.C. Duarte, L.P. Neves, J.C. de Oliveira and G.A. Giraldi, Hand gesture recognition from depth and infrared Kinect data for CAVE applications interaction, *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 76 (20) (2017), 20423-20255.
- [2] S. Nicola, O.S. Lupse, and L. Stoicu-Tivadar, Novel Gesture Interaction Using Leap Motion in 3D Applications, 12th IEEE International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI) (2018), 113-117.
- [3] O. Köpüklü, N. Köse and G. Rigoll, Motion Fused Frames: Data Level Fusion Strategy for Hand Gesture Recognition, Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (2018), 2184-2192.
- [4] H. Tang, H. Liu, W. Xiao, Fast and Robust Dynamic Hand Gesture Recognition via Key Frames Extraction and Feature Fusion, Neurocomputing, Vol. 331 (2019), pp 424-433
- [5] A.H. Butt, E. Rovini, C. Dolciotti, G. De Petris, P. Bongioanni, M.C. Carboncini and F. Cavallo, Objective and automatic classification of Parkinson disease with Leap Motion controller, *BioMedical Engineering OnLine* 17 (2018), 168.
- [6] B. Toghiani-Rizi, M. Svensson, C. Lind and M. Windmark, Static Gesture Recognition using Leap motion, Machine Learning 1 (2017).
- [7] C.-H. Chuan, E. Regina, C. Guardino, American Sign Language Recognition Using Leap Motion Sensor, Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications 13 (2014), 541-544.
- [8] TensorFlow. https://www.tensorflow.org/, (accessed March 19, 2019).

Using Big Data to Uncover Patient Determinants of Care Utilization Compliance in a Student Dental Clinic

Audra BOEHM^a, In Cheol JEONG^b, Joseph FINKELSTEIN^{b, 1}, Stacey WHALEN^a and Roseanna GRAHAM^a

^aColumbia University College of Dental Medicine, New York, NY, USA ^bIcahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Abstract. This study aims at assessing the relationship between social determinants of health (SDH) and dental care utilization compliance in a student dental clinic. Electronic dental records (EDR) were queried based on visit codes and evaluated using descriptive and inferential statistics, and binary logistic regression. Overall, characteristics of 16,474 visits were analyzed to identify potential predictors of appointment compliance. Factors affecting compliance with treatment plans prescribed at comprehensive care visits were identified in a cohort of 6,105 patients. Determinants of compliance with a comprehensive care visit following triage visits were analyzed in a cohort of 5491 patients. Results indicated that certain patient characteristics were associated with either increased or decreased compliance with dental care utilization. We concluded that EDR can be instrumental in identifying patterns of care utilization and determinants of patient compliance based on SDH.

Keywords. Electronic dental record, care utilization, social determinants

1. Introduction

Many psychosocial determinants of oral health have been proposed and researched, but the precise relationship that they have with dental care utilization is complex and remains largely ill-defined [1-5]. Utilization of data from electronic dental records to support public health research and initiatives has been proposed [6]. However, minimal research currently exists which utilizes documentation of social history in electronic dental records. It is proposed that implementation of this type of documentation and evaluation of the relationships between psychosocial history and dental care utilization could lead to improved oral healthcare outcomes in the future.

2. Methods

The electronic dental record (EDR) system AxiUm at Columbia University College of Dental Medicine in the city of New York was used to generate an analytical data set

¹ Corresponding Author, Joseph FINKELSTEIN, MD, PhD, Department of Population Health Science and Policy, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY 10029, USA; E-mail: Joseph.Finkelstein@mssm.edu.

comprising visits made by adult patients between November 2016 and June 2018. The resulting dataset included demographics, visit history, and self-reported patient survey comprising 147 questions documented in a section of medical history form of the EDR.

Descriptive statistics, chi-squared tests, and logistical regression analyses were carried out to study the relationship between social determinants of health (SDH) and dental care utilization compliance in a student dental clinic. To analyze patient compliance with treatment plans prescribed at comprehensive care visits, a dataset of 6105 patients who underwent a comprehensive care evaluation based on the visit codes (D0150 or D0120) was generated which included all planned and completed procedures from treatment plans prescribed at comprehensive care visits with dates and provider information for the comprehensive care visit. High compliance with a treatment plan was defined as completion of at least 75% of the prescribed procedures. To assess patient compliance with a comprehensive care visit following triage visits, we analyzed a dataset of 5491 patients who underwent a triage visit based on the visit code D0140T which included dates of a triage visit and a closest (if any) comprehensive care visit that followed the triage visit. Characteristics of 16,474 scheduled visits were analyzed to identify potential predictors of patient appointment compliance which was coded as kept or not kept with latter including both cancelled and failed visits. For each of the three study cohorts, potential predictive features were chosen by identifying characteristics that were significantly different between high compliance (\geq 75%) and low compliance groups based on chi-squared test for categorical variables and ANOVA for continuous variables. These variables were then used in stepwise logistic regression models which resulted in the final set of predictive features for treatment plan compliance model #1 (D0150 or D0120), model #2 for compliance with comprehensive care visit after triage (D0140T), and appointment compliance model #3 (AC).

	D0120 or D0150 D0140T	D0140T		AC		
Variables	N=6105	%	N=5491	%	n=16474	%
Sex						
Female	3864	63.3%	3525	64.2%	10208	61.9%
Male	2241	36.7%	1966	35.8%	6266	38.1%
Ethnicity						
African American	453	7.4%	447	8.1%	1439	8.7%
Asian	93	1.5%	69	1.3%	280	1.7%
Caucasian	410	6.7%	370	6.7%	1054	6.4%
Hispanic	3013	49.4%	2912	53.0%	8050	48.9%
Other	2136	35.0%	1690	30.9%	5651	34.3%
Compliance						
High (≥75%)	2255	36.9%	1926	35.1%		
Low (<75%)	3850	63.1%	3565	64.9%		
Appointment						
Cancelled					1410	8.6%
Failed					2391	14.5%
Kept					12673	76 9%

Table 1. Patient socio-demographic and appointment information

D0120 or D0150=comprehensive care cohort, D0140T=triage cohort, AC=appointment compliance cohort, N=number of participants, n=number of appointments

Dependent variable	D0120 or D0150 (N=6105) high compliance (≥75%)				D high	0140T (N=5491) compliance (≥75%)		%)
Variables in the Equation	χ^2	р	OR	р	χ^2	р	OR	р
Age	39.6	**	0.994	**				
D0120 or D0150(1)	71.019	**	0.591	**				
Predoctoral dental student providers	145.187	**	3.187	**	12.577	**	0.773	**
Emphysema	4.102	*	0.324	**				
Radiation Treatment	6.388	*	1.729	*				
Technical / Vocational training	5.319	*	1.527	*				
A little uneasy	5.671	*	0.800	*				
Recall or Active					183.787	**	0.329	**
Do you smoke or use any form of tobacco products now or in the past?					27.274	**	0.720	**
Narcotics					9.643	**	0.166	*
Are you taking birth control pills? Have you ever had orthodontic					6.966	**	1.402	*
treatment (worn braces)?					16.136	**	1.288	**
Do you often have toothaches?					24.162	**	0.667	**
Parent(s) / Guardian(s)					22.462	**	1.498	**
Anxious					12.732	**	0.677	*

Table 2. Binary logistic regression models for the compliance with treatment plan (D0120 or D0150) and compliance with comprehensive care visit after triage (D0140T)

 χ^2 =chi-squared value, p=statistical significance, OR=odds ratio, **: p<0.01, *p<0.05, N=number of patients

3. Results

Patient socio-demographic and appointment information is provided in Table 1 which was comparable across all three patient cohorts used for analyses. High compliance with treatment plans (\geq 75% of prescribed procedures) was found in 36.9% of patients who underwent a comprehensive care evaluation (CCE). CCE visit followed a triage assessment in 35.1% of patients seen for a triage visit. Among 16,474 scheduled visits, 76.9% were reported as 'Kept,' 8.6% - 'Cancelled,' and 14.5% - 'Failed.'

With over 150 initial characteristics, application of chi-squared test and ANOVA reduced dimensionality for the models #1-3 to 18, 39, and 43 features, respectively. Application of stepwise logistic regression further reduced dimensionality of the models as follows: (#1) age, visit type (D0120 or D0150), predoctoral dental student providers, emphysema, radiation treatment, technical/vocational training, and being uneasy with the treatment plan completion, (#2) predoctoral dental student providers, recall or active, use any form of tobacco products now or in the past, narcotics, taking birth control pills, history of orthodontic treatment, frequent toothaches, Patent(s)/Guardian(s), and being anxious for the follow-up with comprehensive care visits after the initial triage visit, and (#3) sex, ankle swelling, being pregnant, history of dental extractions, frequent toothaches, swelling of mouth or jaws, spouse/partner (only), child/children (only), technical/vocational training, postgraduate degree, unreliable transportation, lack of money/insurance coverage, being relaxed, tense, and anxious. Tables 2 and 3 present results from chi-squared tests and odds ratios from the logistic regression models.

		AC (n=16474)							
Dependent variable	A	Appointment was kept							
Variables in the Equation	χ^2	р	OR	р					
Sex (male=1)	13.829	**	1.111	*					
Do your ankles swell?	5.277	*	0.843	*					
Are you pregnant?	7.967	**	1.898	**					
Have you ever had dental extractions?	9.004	**	1.118	**					
Do you often have toothaches?	12.299	**	1.149	*					
Do you have any swelling of your mouth or jaws?	46.300	**	1.647	**					
Spouse/Partner (Only)	9.916	**	1.219	*					
Child/Children (Only)	7.578	**	0.853	*					
Technical / Vocational training	14.729	**	1.682	**					
Postgraduate Degree	6.933	**	1.288	*					
Unreliable transportation	14.404	**	0.646	**					
Lack of money/insurance coverage	22.184	**	1.305	**					
Relaxed	9.330	**	0.894	*					
Tense	13.079	**	1.294	**					
Anxious	8.080	**	1.201	*					

Table 3. Binary logistic regression model for appointment compliance (kept=1; failed/cancelled=0)

AC=appointment compliance, χ^2 =chi-squared value, p=statistical significance, OR=odds ratio, **: p<0.01, *p<0.05, n=number of scheduled appointments

4. Discussion

Significant associations between specific individual risk factors and dental care utilization compliance were observed in this study. Results such as these could be used to identify patients who may be at risk for lack of follow-up and contribute to improved dental care delivery in the future [7]. Collection and use of information stored in electronic dental records shows promise in evaluating the relationship of psychosocial determinants of health in the utilization of dental services. This study indicates that future research could benefit from the implementation of comprehensive psychosocial history questionnaires and analysis of electronic dental records.

- J. Steele, J. Shen, G. Tsakos, et al. The interplay between socioeconomic inequalities and clinical oral health, *Journal of Dental Research* 94 (2015), 19-26.
- [2] J.S. Holtzman, K.A. Atchison, M.W. Gironda, R. Radbod, et al. The association between oral health literacy and failed appointments in adults attending a university-based general dental clinic, Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology 42 (2014), 263-270.
- [3] X. Gao and C. McGrath, A review on the oral health impacts of acculturation, *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 13 (2011), 202-213.
- [4] W. Sabbah, G. Tsakos, A. Sheiham, et al. The role of health-related behaviors in the socioeconomic disparities in oral health, Social Science & Medicine 68 (2009), 298-303.
- [5] K.C. Lin, Behavior-associated self-report items in patient charts as predictors of dental appointment avoidance, *Journal of Dental Education* 73 (2009), 218-224.
- [6] S.A. Levitin, J.T. Grbic, J. Finkelstein, Completeness of electronic dental records in a student clinic: Retrospective analysis, *JMIR Medical Informatics* 7 (2019), e13008.
- [7] M. Petrosky, L.A. Colaruotolo, R.J. Billings, et al. The integration of social work into a postgraduate dental training program: a fifteen-year perspective, Journal of Dental Education 73 (2009), 656-664.

Mining Electronic Dental Records to Identify Dry Socket Risk Factors

Seth A. LEVITIN^a, In cheol JEONG^b and Joseph FINKELSTEIN^{b,1} ^aColumbia University College of Dental Medicine, New York, NY, USA ^bIcahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Abstract. The goal of this study was to investigate risk factors for developing dry sockets in patients after dental extractions. Data were collected directly from electronic dental records (EDR) and were utilized for selecting dry socket cases and controls to conduct a nested case-control study. Case-control matching was based on sex, age range, maxilla-mandible location, and anterior-posterior location. From 83 self-reported health survey questions, 7 questions were found to have predictive potential based on a significant chi-squared test. Stepwise conditional logistic regression showed a statistically significant association between the development of dry socket and a history of serious illness (OR=1.4; 95% CI:1.02-1.95), cancer (OR=2.6; 95% CI:1.13-5.83), and frequent mouth sores (OR=1.9; 95% CI:1.09-3.33). These results corroborated previous reports on potential involvement of impaired immune response in dry socket development. EDR may be an important source for uncovering predictive factors that play a role in prevention and management of oral health.

Keywords. Dry sockets, electronic dental record, case-control study

1. Introduction

Alveolar Osteitis (AO), also known as Dry Socket (DS), is one of the most common complications following a tooth extraction [1]. It is diagnosed by the appearance of an empty healing socket, a missing blood clot, or exposed bone in the socket, with the patient reporting an increase of postoperative pain one to three days after an extraction [2]. These findings can be caused by the dislocation or dissolution of the blood clot in the extraction socket [3]. Its overall incidence has been reported with variability and has been found to be as high as 30% for 3^{rd} molar extractions [4].

The etiological factors contributing to DS are not readily agreed upon, nor are the signs and symptoms present upon diagnosis. Multiple risk factors have been suggested for the development of AO, but the lack of systematic evidence prevents the implementation of effective prevention strategies in routine dental care [5]. Much of the data available on treatment and prevention is empirical and not evidence-based [3-5]. The goal of this study is to utilize data collected in the electronic dental records (EDR) at Columbia University College of Dental Medicine (CDM) to identify the prevalence

¹ Corresponding Author, Joseph FINKELSTEIN, MD, PhD, Department of Population Health Science and Policy, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY 10029, USA; E-mail: Joseph.Finkelstein@mssm.edu.

and potential predictors of AO. No similar project has been done using data from a dental school clinic to assess the DS risk factors.

2. Methods

2.1. Data Source

The data were derived from electronic dental records of patients seen at Columbia University's College of Dental Medicine (CDM).

2.2. Data Collection and Analysis

This study retrospectively analyzed EDR of patients with dry sockets diagnosed at CDM between August 2011 and May 2017. We ran a query on the CDM database for EDR containing either the diagnostic code Z1820, or the phrases "dry socket" and "alveolar osteitis," or containing a variation of those two phrases. The queries were conducted in the Oracle database containing data from axiUm, an EDR system (Exan Group, Las Vegas, NV, USA). To conduct a case-control study, 274 cases of dry socket were matched to 548 cases of non-dry socket. They were matched based on sex, maxilla-mandible, anterior-posterior, and age ranges. A case-control study was selected due to the known gaps in documentation in EDR [6] and successful use of case-control design in previous risk factor studies based on EDR data [7].

After selecting the final 274 pairs, we analyzed 83 self-reported health survey questions answered by the patients at their recent clinic visit to compare frequencies between cases and controls using the chi-squared test. The self-reported questions were related to patients' medical histories, diseases, medications, pain, and other factors. Based on this comparison, potential predictive factors for dry socket development were selected. Then a stepwise conditional logistic regression was carried out with these predictive factors as independent covariates and dry socket as the dependent variable. The forward stepwise selection was used with entry criteria based on the significance of the score statistic and removal criteria based on the probability of a likelihood ratio statistic (entry: $p \le 0.05$, removal: $p \ge 0.10$).

3. Results

EDR analysis identified 274 case observations in which dry socket occurred and paired them with 548 control observations in which dry socket did not occur. The matched variables included sex, extraction sites, and age range as shown in Table 1.

A chi-squared test was performed separately for each of the 83 health survey questions. The cross-correlation, chi-squared statistic, and odds ratio analysis were used to identify potential predictive factors of dry socket. In the univariate analysis, answers to seven questions were found to be significantly different between cases and controls: "*Have you had any serious illness, operation, or been hospitalized in the past 10 years?*" (Chi-squared test statistics (χ^2)=6.307, statistical significance (p)=0.012, odds ratio (OR)=1.484); "*Do you have any Allergies?*" (χ^2 =4.359, p=0.037, OR=1.483); "*Sinus Problems (Sinusitis)*" (χ^2 =5.154, p=0.023, OR=1.876)' "*Cancer history*" (χ^2 =6.953,

p=0.008, OR=2.897); "Have you had any serious trouble associated with any previous dental treatment?" (χ^2 =4.330, p=0.037, OR=2.505); "Do you have frequent sores in your mouth?" (χ^2 =6.508, p=0.010, OR=2.030); and "Hepatitis history" (χ^2 =6.125, p=0.013, OR=4.763). These seven questions were chosen among the 83 health survey questions as predictive factors of dry socket in the conditional logistic regression model (Table 2). The other factors did not show statistically significant difference.

		Dry Socket					
			No (n=548)	Yes(n=274)	Total		
Sex	Male	Count	182	91	273 (33.2%)		
	Female	Count	366	183	549 (66.8%)		
Maxilla-Mandible	Maxilla	Count	122	61	183 (22.3%)		
Location	Mandible	Count	426	213	639 (77.7%)		
Anterior-Posterior	Posterior	Count	534	267	801 (97.4%)		
Location	Anterior	Count	14	7	21 (2.6%)		
Age Range	≤19	Count	20	10	30 (3.6%)		
	20-39	Count	282	141	423(51.5%)		
	40-59	Count	146	73	219 (26.6%)		
	≥60	Count	100	50	150 (18.2%)		

Table 1. Patient characteristics in control and case groups

Table 2. Risk fa	ctors signification	ntly associated	with dry socket
------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------------

			Dry S	Socket				
			No	Yes	Total	χ^2	р	OR
Have you had any serious	No	Count	395	174	569			
illness, operation, or been	INO	%	72.1%	63.5%	69.2%	6 207	0.012	1 494
hospitalized in the past 10	Vac	Count	153	100	253	0.307	0.012	1.404
years?	1 65	%	27.9%	36.5%	30.8%			
Do you have any Allergies?	No	Count	464	216	680			
	INO	%	84.7%	78.8%	82.7%	1 3 5 0	0.037	1 / 83
	Vac	Count	84	58	142	4.339	0.057	1.405
	1 68	%	15.3%	21.2%	17.3%			
Sinus Problems (Sinusitis)	No	Count	519	248	767			
	INU	%	94.7%	90.5%	93.3%	5 154	0.023	1 876
	Vac	Count	29	26	55	5.154		1.670
	1 68	%	5.3%	9.5%	6.7%			
Cancer History	No	Count	538	260	798	6.953	0.008	2.897
	INU	%	98.2%	94.9%	97.1%			
	Vec	Count	10	14	24			
	103	%	1.8%	5.1%	2.9%			
Have you had any serious	No	Count	539	263	802			
trouble associated with any	INU	%	98.4%	96.0%	97.6%	4 3 3 0	0.037	2 505
previous dental treatment?	Vec	Count	9	11	20	4.550	0.057	2.303
	103	%	1.6%	4.0%	2.4%			
Do you have frequent sores	No	Count	520	247	767			
in your mouth?	INU	%	94.9%	90.1%	93.3%	6 508	0.010	2 030
	Vac	Count	28	27	55	0.508	0.010	2.050
	105	%	5.1%	9.9%	6.7%			
Hepatitis History	No	Count	545	267	812			
	INO	%	99.5%	97.4%	98.8%	6 1 2 5	0.013	1 763
	Vec	Count	3	7	10	0.123	0.015	1 .703
	105	%	0.5%	2.6%	1.2%			

 χ^2 =chi-squared value in case-control frequency comparison; p=statistical significance, OR=odds ratio in conditional logistic regression

After identifying potential parameters, a conditional logistic regression was conducted using a stepwise procedure to select the final set of factors that best predict dry socket. The stepwise conditional regression analysis, as shown in Table 2, indicated that the best predictive model in this study population comprised three of the seven variables from the chi-squared test. The final risk factors were as follows: "Have you had any serious illness, operation, or been hospitalized in the past 10 years? (OR= 1.410, 95% confidence interval for OR (95%CI)=1.020~1.949)," "Cancer (OR=2.564, 95%CI=1.129~5.827)," and "Do you have frequent sores in your mouth? (OR=1.904, 95%CI=1.090~3.327)". These risk factors were significantly associated with DS in addition to the parameters used for case-control matching. Sex, age range, and extraction location were used for matching and could not be entered into conditional logistic regression.

4. Discussion

There was a statistically significant association between dry socket and history of serious illness, hospitalization, cancer and frequent sores in mouth. A possible factor which links these three conditions together to dry socket is immune regulation. Cancer suppresses the immune system by activating inhibitory pathways which enables them to evade detection [8]. A recent theory [9] suggests DS is caused by the death of the osteoblasts lining the extraction socket, which leads to increased fibrinolytic factors around the blood clot, causing dissolution and destruction of the clot. Based on this theory of DS's apparent connection to the immune system, in patients with immune dysregulation, the immune factors required for clotting may not reach the socket, or may not function optimally, increasing these patients' risk of developing a DS post extraction. Further studies employing broader spectrum of risk factors and methodologies are warranted [10].

- A. Kolokythas, E. Olech and M. Miloro, Alveolar osteitis: a comprehensive review of concepts and controversies, *International Journal of Dentistry* 2010 (2010), 249073.
- [2] A. MacGregor, Aetiology of dry socket: A clinical investigation, *British Journal of Oral Surgery* 6 (1968), 49-58.
- [3] B. Tarakji, L. Saleh, A. Umair, S Azzeghaiby and S Naunouneh, Systemic review of dry socket: Aetiology, treatment, and prevention, *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research* 9 (2015), ZE10-13.
- [4] D.C. Bowe, S. Rogers and L. Stassen, The management of dry socket/alveolar osteitis, *Journal of Irish Dental Association* 57 (2011), 305-310.
- [5] T. Dodson, Prevention and treatment of dry socket, Evidence-Based Dentistry 14 (2013), 13-14.
- [6] S.A. Levitin, J.T. Grbic and J. Finkelstein, Completeness of electronic dental records in a student clinic: Retrospective analysis, *JMIR Medical Informatics* 7 (2019), e13008.
- [7] M.P. Hickin, J.A. Shariff, P.J. Jennette, J. Finkelstein and P.N. Papapanou, Incidence and determinants of dental implant failure: A review of electronic health records in a U.S. dental school, *Journal of Dental Education* 81 (2017), 1233-1242.
- [8] D. Chen and I. Mellman, Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point, *Nature* 541 (2017), 321-330.
- [9] J. Mamoun, Dry socket etiology, diagnosis, and clinical treatment techniques, Journal of Korean Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons 44 (2018), 52-58.
- [10] S. Yoon, M. Odlum, Y. Lee, T. Choi, I.M. Kronish, K.W. Davidson and J. Finkelstein, Applying deep learning to understand predictors of tooth mobility among urban Latinos, *Studies in Health Technology* and Informatics 251 (2018), 241-244.

A Hybrid Recommender System to Guide Assessment and Surveillance of Adverse Childhood Experiences

Jon Hael BRENAS¹, Eun Kyong SHIN and Arash SHABAN-NEJAD University of Tennessee Health Science Center - Oak Ridge National Laboratory Center for Biomedical Informatics, Dept. of Pediatrics, Memphis, TN, USA

Abstract. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are negative events or states that affect children, with lasting impacts throughout their adulthood. ACES are considered one of the major risk factors for several adverse health outcomes and are associated with low quality of life and many detrimental social and economic consequences. In order to enact better surveillance of ACEs and their associated conditions, it is instrumental to provide tools to detect, monitor and respond effectively. In this paper, we present a recommender system tasked with simplifying data collection, access, and reasoning related to ACEs. The recommender system uses both semantic and statistical methods to enable content and context-based filtering.

Keywords. Recommender System, Adverse Childhood Experiences, Semantic Technologies

1. Introduction

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are negative events or situations that a child may encounter. They include a wide range of conditions such as neglect, abuse and some challenging family situations (incarceration, mental illness, and so on). Systematic studies of ACEs began more than twenty years ago [1]. Over the years, their consequences in terms of social and health outcomes and behavior have been investigated and the results paint a dire picture. The U.S. Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has shown that ACEs are one of the root causes of several physical, social, cognitive and emotional troubles [2]. Almost half of U.S. children have suffered from at least one ACE [3]. However, many questions remain concerning the causal pathways as well as the best methods to detect, prevent and handle ACEs. In particular, historical information is difficult to obtain. Most early studies focused on adults, years after the occurrence of ACEs, and presented a retrospective picture of the situation [4], while contemporaneous, longitudinal studies of children are beginning to provide enlightening results. In a similar way, it is difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of the relevant interventions and no current guideline exists to decide what intervention is the most appropriate for a given situation or decide between medical versus community-based approaches [5].

¹ Corresponding Author, Jon Hael Brenas; E-mail: jhael@uthsc.edu.

Herein, we will present a recommender system in the context of a clinical visit by the parent of a young child, similar to a current study under the Family Resilience Initiative at Le Bonheur Children Hospital in Memphis, TN [6]. One of the goals of the Le Bonheur study is to gather information about ACEs in order to improve the state of the art of surveillance, however, the primary objective is to improve the quality of life for visiting families and to help them overcome their relevant problems. During a typical clinic visit (e.g. regular pediatric care), parents are offered the option to participate in the study by answering questions on the ACEs that their children may have been subjected to, on their social situation and on the emotional and social development of the children. The parents also describe what their main concern is. Depending on the answers, and the experience of the interviewer, the families are directed towards the resources expected to offer the most appropriate interventions. After the visit, the interviewers follow up to see if the problems have been addressed in a satisfactory manner and if new issues have surfaced.

We will discuss the architecture, application and expected issues for an ACEs recommender system. In *Methods*, we describe the sources of data and causal relationships used by the recommender system. In *Application*, we use examples to illustrate the recommender system's functioning. Finally, we discuss our future work and conclude in the *Discussion*.

2. Methods

To find the most appropriate intervention, the interviewers need to have knowledge about the families themselves, the family's neighborhood, the children's ACEs and their health consequences, available resources, etc. While the interview provides information pertaining to the families, the rest of the information is distributed through various medical, non-governmental and governmental data sources that use different formats and vocabularies and work at different granularities. For instance, in the hospital (medical data) a person is likely to be described as a 'patient' and their associated information will include basic demographic information in addition to diagnoses and treatments, while in a court document (government data) they might be a 'defendant' and only have basic demographic information. In order to use all this data in a coherent way a tool to integrate every data source into a uniform knowledge base is needed. We developed the ACEs ontology for this purpose [7, 8]. An ontology defines a lexicon to describe entities (e.g., a person, a clinic, abuse), the relationship between entities (e.g., Alice is the parent of Bob, Charles suffers from Emotional Neglect), and axioms describing the logical connections between concepts (e.g., physical abuse is a kind of abuse, someone's sister is their female sibling). The ontology can express every piece of knowledge coming from the various data sources in a common framework independent of its origin.

As our ultimate goal for the recommender system is to help make intervention decisions, a way to reason about causes and consequences is required. For this purpose, the recommender system needs access to some kind of causal knowledge [9]. The causal knowledge will be used to make inferences from established data to make recommendations. Causal knowledge should represent commonly agreed upon causal relations and thus are interpreted through the ontology. They may also be modified by the recommender system depending on the data that is received.



Figure 1. The architecture of the recommender system.

3. Application

In our recommender system (Figure 1), interviewers ask questions of parents to gather relevant ACEs data. Currently, in the clinical setting, the questions are fixed for a uniform data set. However, part of the task of the recommender system is to help choose which questions to ask. The recommender system will use causal paths to help direct the exchange. For instance, if there is a direct path from "Feeling that the neighborhood you live in is unsafe" to "Risk of the child being a witness of a violent crime", the answer to the question "Do you think your neighborhood is safe?" will prompt different follow-up questions. These causal paths can be used to generate rules on which questions to ask, how and when. For instance, the question "Is your child bullied at school?" is skipped when dealing with children that are not school-aged. The rules used by the recommender system, as well as the causal knowledge that some rely upon, will be updated during the execution of the recommender system. Interviews and new studies will provide new information and modify the knowledge base. Additionally, when new data is added, statistical methods can be used to learn new causal relations between concepts. The ontology also plays a role as it can propose to extend the causality relation to a more general concept, e.g., knowing that "Living with someone with a drug abuse problem" is connected to the risk of "Physical Abuse" one may want to try to see if it is connected to "Abuse" in general; or restricting it to a more specific concept, e.g., knowing that there is a link between "Neglect" and "Suicidal Ideation", one may want to see if the link is similar for all types of neglect. The recommender system can update the rules automatically when new data is added, when it is prompted to test a theory by the user or when a choice of questions seems to indicate that such a theory exists in the mind of the user.

The recommender system is also tasked with helping decide how to intervene. Here the ontology can be used to classify the issues and the available resources. By incorporating the results of follow-up interviews and meetings, it is also possible to evaluate the effectiveness of each intervention and thus to optimize the response.

4. Discussion

We have presented a recommender system that is tasked with helping ACEs surveillance experts. It uses rules built from semantic knowledge, extracted from an ontology, and previously acquired causal paths to help gather, access and reason on the data. Furthermore, by using statistical methods, it also updates the causal knowledge

and the rules in order to better represent the knowledge when new information is acquired. Our recommender system is based on an intervention currently taking place where issues that the recommender system is trying to address are raised.

Yet, our recommender system is still work-in-progress and there are significant theoretical and practical difficulties that need to be overcome. First, the idea of using intertwined semantic and statistical reasoning is quite new and will require further work to make it efficient and trustworthy. Second, the specific qualities of the data that need to be considered in the context of ACEs add complexity, e.g. medical and certain social (i.e., criminal history) data need to be protected. This means that recommender systems need to work with information at various granularities with as little loss of precision as possible. Finally, ACEs are a sensitive subject. In order to obtain straight and truthful answers, the interviewers need to build a rapport with the families. The order of the questions, their number and the way they are asked have a tremendous impact. While this seems to be a clear indication that a recommender system would be a valuable tool to optimize these interactions, interviewers have said that using a computer to note interview answers, instead of relying on their memories or even taking notes on paper, feels less personal and tends to yield inferior results. Thus, significant work on the user interface is needed to improve the interview experience.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Drs. Robert L. Davis, Jonathan McCullers, and Sandra Arnold and the entire team at the Family Resilience initiative at Le Bonheur Children's Hospital for their support and insights. This research supported by Memphis Research Consortium (MRC).

- [1] V.J. Felitti, R.F. Anda, D. Nordenberg, D.F. Williamson, et. al., Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study, American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 14(4) (1998), 245–258.
- [2] CDC, Adverse Childhood Study Infographics, (1998). https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/ childabuseandneglect/acestudy/about.html (accessed March, 2019).
- [3] C.D. Bethel, M.B. Davis, N. Gombojay, S. Stumbo and K. Powers, Issue Brief: A national and across state profile on adverse childhood experiences among children and possibilities to heal and thrive. Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, (2017). https://www.greatcircle.org/images/pdfs/aces-brief-101717.pdf (accessed March, 2019).
- [4] N.B. Harris, S.S. Marques, D. Oh, M. Bucci and M. Cloutier, Prevent, screen, heal: Collective action to fight the toxic effects of early life adversity, *Academic Pediatrics* 17(7S) (2017), S14 – S15.
- [5] D.E. Ford, The community and public well-being model: A new framework and graduate curriculum for addressing adverse childhood experiences, *Academic Pediatrics* 17(7S) (2017), S9 – S11.
- [6] J.D. Sandifer, New Memphis clinic considers the health effects of adverse childhood experiences. http:// www.highgroundnews.com/features/LeBonheurUTHSCsocialprograms.aspx (accessed March, 2019).
- [7] J.H. Brenas, E.K. Shin and A. Shaban-Nejad, Adverse Childhood Experiences Ontology for Mental Health Surveillance, Research, and Evaluation: Advanced Knowledge Representation and Semantic Web Techniques, *JMIR Mental Health* 6(5) (2019), e13498.
- [8] J.H. Brenas, E.K. Shin and A. Shaban-Nejad, An ontological framework to improve surveillance of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 258 (2019),31-35.
- [9] A. Okhmatovskaia, A. Shaban-Nejad, M. Lavigne and D.L. Buckeridge, Addressing the challenge of encoding causal epidemiological knowledge in formal ontologies: a practical perspective, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* **205** (2014), 1125-9.

Applied Network Science for Relational Chronic Disease Surveillance

Eun Kyong SHIN^{a,1} and Arash SHABAN-NEJAD^a

^a The University of Tennessee Health Science Center – Oak-Ridge National Laboratory (UTHSC-ORNL) Center for Biomedical Informatics, Department of Pediatrics, Memphis, TN 38103 USA

Abstract. Chronic diseases and conditions are the leading cause of death and disability in the United States. The number of people living with two or more chronic conditions has increased in the last decades and is expected to continue to rise over the upcoming years. Yet, traditional chronic disease surveillance practices have been specialized for a specific symptom or a single health condition. To better understand the complication and complexity of multimorbidity in chronic diseases, this paper suggests the use of network science for multimorbidity network surveillance (MNS). We discuss why the relational perspective in surveillance and public health practice.

Keywords. Applied Network Science, Relational Chronic disease Surveillance, Multimorbidities, Population Health, Health Informatics.

1. Introduction

The global prevalence of chronic diseases, especially in developing countries, is increasing. Chronic diseases and conditions are the leading causes of death worldwide [1] and in the United States. 31.5% of the population in the U.S. experience multiple long-term disorders [2, 3]. The number of people who has two and more chronic disease has grown in the last decades worldwide [4-6]. As with population aging, the prevalence of multiple chronic conditions becomes more pronounced and increased and in the population of 65 years and older, 27.6% have two chronic conditions and 33.2% have three or more chronic conditions [5]. Certainly, having multiple chronic conditions is qualitatively different in nature from living with one chronic condition [7] and the outcomes of co-existing diseases vary not only in their mortality consequences but also in life quality of patients, their health plans and health care [8]. Multimorbidities are associated with a wide range of disadvantages; e.g. elderly populations with multiple chronic conditions have a shorter life expectancy than their peers with a single disease [8, 9]. Traditional disease surveillance systems have been specialized for specific symptoms or a single health condition. Therefore, they might underestimate, if not neglect, the complications, and the co-prevalence of multiple chronic conditions. This approach particularly can be problematic given the fact that chronic conditions are often long-lasting or permanent. Therefore, whether tentative or persistent, a chronic condition inevitably co-occupies with other diseases or symptoms. To avoid this pitfall, it is

¹ Corresponding Author, Eun Kyong SHIN; E-mail: eshin3@uthsc.edu.

advised to widen the scope of surveillance systems to include a broader range of chronic diseases and health outcomes in our studies.

There is a kin affinity of the two fields, network science, and health surveillance, which seems to have been unduly ignored and under-labored particularly in laying out the basic benefits of merging the two. This paper articulates the fundamental benefits of merging network science and chronic disease surveillance by discussing why relational perspective is critical when it comes to public health surveillance and how network science can help.

2. Applied Network Science in Medicine and Healthcare

One of the most distinctive aspects of network science is the ability to measure the relational composition of the objects in a network. Unlike an individualistic approach, the network analysis takes relational characteristics at its core focus. For example, not only it investigates one specific symptoms or disease prevalence or progress, but also it enables us to consider other symptoms and diseases together, i.e. overall configurational changes such as density and centrality of each disease or morphological changes of the organic whole. If we treat disease as a single independent entity, we are at peril of ignoring the underlying organism. Human metabolism is interconnected and the underlying metabolic connections yield a distinctive network typology among disease comorbidity [9]. The network science approach help to understand and study not just a single disease in isolation but the organic network of diseasome [8].

The application of network science to medicine and healthcare can be seen at the individual and population levels. For example, multimorbidity network surveillance helps us to study a disease, with its underlying complex mechanism, in a population (for public health surveillance) or in an individual (for personalized medicine). Over the last decade, there has been a growing interest in this area resulting in several multidisciplinary research efforts [8, 10-12]. Links (relationships) can be induced between two or more concurring diseases present in one biological unit, human being, or a geographical unit. Two mode network analysis is a heuristic tool converting ego-level information to the object-oriented overall network, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Extracting a symptom network from three patient data.

Nodes in the graphs represent different diseases or symptoms. The lines between nodes indicate the co-observation of the two diseases in a patient. On the left-hand side, in the ego level multimorbidity network, the colors represent different individuals at the micro level comorbidity network. On the right-hand side, the relational configuration extracted from the three individuals is shown among different diseases. The sizes of the nodes in the comorbidity network are calculated by each disease's relative connectedness and the centrality of the disease in the macro network. Given the actual number of diseases and ever-growing patient population, multimorbidity network surveillance (MNS) can be computationally challenging, yielding high dimensional network spaces. However, with increased computational power, processing speed, and storage capacity nowadays the real-time analysis of multimorbidity networks of general populations have become feasible.

Using the MNS method one can first trace how commonly certain chronic conditions/symptoms are observed in a group of people or in one geographical unit simultaneously and longitudinally. This helps to better understand the relations between different diseases and conditions in a population and check if there is an affinity between the diseases and whether those affinities are unique to a certain population/region. Second, once the overall multimorbidity networks, aggregated from the general population, were constructed, one can identify where a patient stands within the general multimorbidity network distribution. This information then will be used to suggest a better-designed management plan and medication options depending on the specific multimorbidity pattern of the patient. Furthermore, if we observe an extremely unique multimorbidity pattern from newly admitted patients, this can help medical practitioners to detect epidemic outbreaks from the early onset. Also, tracking the dynamics of connections helps to understand the influence of these relational patterns on other subsequent health outcomes.

3. Toward Relational Chronic Disease Surveillance

Chronic disease surveillance aims "to recognize clusters of cases to trigger interventions to prevent transmission or reduce morbidity and mortality [13]". Therefore, by its nature, chronic disease surveillance, using both data collection and information distribution networks, has a strong relational dimension.

Understanding the interconnection between different chronic diseases is a first step towards designing, implementing and delivering efficient health interventions. Chronic health surveillance can be further benefitted from the relational perspective with geoparsed comorbidity networks [14]. Specificity can be further articulated with the assistance of network analysis and thus induce localized interventions. For example, if a population has been detected to have a sudden increase in the complication of obesity, arthritis, and asthma, further investigations might be required to check the presence of hazardous environmental factors in their neighborhood.

4. Conclusion

The increased multiple chronic disease prevalence is quite alerting. The distribution of multiple comorbidities is closely related to socio-economic deprivation and geospatial characteristics [15]. Prevalence of chronic disease and multimorbidity are not only a

heavy burden for the suffering individuals but also cumbersome burden for the government and society as well. In addition to losing human capitals in society, there is an unavoidable financial cost associated with them. Hence health care system has to accommodate the changing scene relational chronic disease surveillance can help us to properly prevent the calamity, rather than fixing them *a posteriori*.

- D. Yach, C. Hawkes, C.L. Gould and K.J. Hofman, The global burden of chronic diseases: overcoming impediments to prevention and control, *JAMA* 291(2) (2004), 2616-2622.
- [2] S.-Y. Wu and A. Green, The Growing Crisis of Chronic Disease in the United States, RAND Corporation, 2000.
- [3] J. Gerteis et al., *Multiple chronic conditions chartbook*, Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2014.
- [4] B.W. Ward, J.S. Schiller and R.A. Goodman, Multiple chronic conditions among us adults: a 2012 update, Preventing chronic disease 11 (2014), e62.
- [5] C. Vogeli et al., Multiple chronic conditions: prevalence, health consequences, and implications for quality, care management, and costs, *Journal of general internal medicine* 22(3) (2007),391-395.
- [6] R. Gijsen, N. Hoeymans, F.G. Schellevis, D. Ruwaard, W.A. Satariano and G.A. van den Bos, Causes and consequences of comorbidity: a review, *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 54(7) (2001), 661-674.
- [7] A. Prados-Torres, A. Calderón-Larranaga, J. Hancco-Saavedra, B. Poblador-Plou and M. van den Akker, Multimorbidity patterns: a systematic review, *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 67(3) (2014), 254-266.
- [8] A.L. Barabási, Network medicine—from obesity to the "diseasome", N Engl J Med. 357(4) (2007), 404-7.
- [9] D.S. Lee, J. Park, K. Kay, N. Christakis, Z. Oltvai and A.L. Barabási, The implications of human metabolic network topology for disease comorbidity, *Proc. of the National Academy of Sciences* 105(29) (2008) 9880-9885.
- [10] A.L. Barabási, N. Gulbahce and J. Loscalzo, Network medicine: a network-based approach to human disease, *Nature reviews. Genetics* 12(1) (2011),56-68.
- [11] A. Zanzoni, M. Soler-López and P. Aloy, A network medicine approach to human disease, *FEBS Letters* 583(11) (2009), 1759-1765.
- [12] K.I. Goh, M.E. Cusick, D. Valle, B. Childs, M. Vidal and A.L. Barabási, The human disease network, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104(21) (2007), pp. 8685-8690.
- [13] R.A. Meriwether, Blueprint for a national public health surveillance system for the 21st century, J Public Health Manag Pract, 2(4) (1996), 16-23.
- [14] E.K. Shin and A. Shaban-Nejad, Geo-Distinctive Comorbidity Networks of Pediatric Asthma, *Studies in health technology and informatics* 247 (2018), 436-440.
- [15] E.K. Shin and A. Shaban-Nejad, Urban Decay and Pediatric Asthma Prevalence in Memphis, Tennessee: Urban Data Integration for Efficient Population Health Surveillance, *IEEE Access* 6 (2018), 46281-46289.

Improving Patient Safety by Reducing Falls in Hospitals Among the Elderly: A Review of Successful Strategies

Mohamed KHALIFA¹

Centre for Health Informatics, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

Abstract. Patient safety is a main dimension of healthcare quality, considering minimizing, reporting, and analyzing incidents that often lead to avoidable adverse effects. Patient falls among the elderly is a common challenge. To explore strategies for preventing patient falls, a review of literature and a qualitative analysis was conducted. Five strategies were identified: Patient and Staff Education; about risk factors and best practices, Patient Exercise; strengthening body muscles and improving balance, Diagnosis and Treatment of Medical Conditions; vision and balance, Enhancing Surrounding Environment; beds, flooring, rails, and passageways, and Using Information Technology; monitor, alarm, and give feedback on falls and risk situations. Many of the multicomponent programs proved to be cost-effective, considering the extended stays, increased complications, and higher costs of caring for injured patients. The utilization of innovative approaches of big data mining to explore reasons, circumstances of falls, and ways of reducing them are recommended through further research.

Keywords. Patient Safety, Patient Falls, Elderly Patients, Strategies, Hospitals.

1. Introduction

Among the most commonly encountered patient safety challenges is patient falls, especially in the elderly, leading to chronic pain, functional deterioration, physical disability, and death. A patient fall is defined as an unplanned descent to the floor with or without injury to the patient [1]. Hospitalization increases the risk of patient fall because of unfamiliar environment, diseases, and treatments. Elderly patients are three times more likely to fall in the hospital and when this happen, they are over ten times more likely to suffer an injury [2]. Almost 45% of patient falls among elderly lead to some sort of injury and 10% of these lead to serious injuries that end up with a mortality. Falls usually increases the patient's length of stay in the hospital, increases the discharge to a long-term nursing institute, and significantly increases the costs of the healthcare. The operational costs for falling elderly patients, with serious injuries, are US\$13,500 more than regular patients and they stayed 6.3 days longer. In addition to the physical harm and costs, falls may also contribute to emotional injury and decreased quality of life [3]. There are two main measures for monitoring and reporting patient falls; the rate of the total patients falls, and the rate of injurious patients falls per

¹ Corresponding Author, Mohamed KHALIFA; Email: mohamed.khalifa@mq.edu.au.

1000 inpatient days [1]. Falls input measures include fall incidents, characteristics of falling patients, falls circumstances, and categories of falls [4]. Process measures include the utilization of incidents reporting systems and their usability, acceptance and compliance [5]. Outcome measures include indicators of serious events after falls, such as fractures, delayed patient discharge or patient's length of stay, estimated costs of patient falls, in addition to measures quality of life following falls [6]. The main objective of this study is to explore effective methods that could form successful strategies for preventing patient falls in hospitals among the elderly.

2. Methods

A review of literature was conducted through searching MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL and Google Scholar for studies including the concepts of Improving, Patient Safety, Preventing, Patient Falls, Elderly. Studies published in English over the last ten years reporting patients 65 years and older were retrieved. Out of 381 identified studies, 34 found to be eligible for review, after screening titles and abstracts for relevance and excluding non-eligible studies by examining full text of the retrieved studies. Inclusion criteria focused on studies describing specific strategies and recommendations for preventing and reducing patient falls among the elderly. Qualitative analysis was used to classify the main strategies of preventing and reducing patient falls.

3. Results

We identified five main strategies for preventing and reducing patient falls among the elderly. 1) Patient and Staff Education; using various approaches and methods to improve awareness of risk factors and follow best practices, 2) Patient Training and Exercise; to strengthen the body muscles, improve balance, and minimize the risk of fall, 3) Diagnosis and Treatment of Predisposing Medical Conditions; which could interfere with vision or vestibular balance function, 4) Enhancing the Surrounding Environment; such as beds, flooring, rails, and passageways, and 5) Using Information Technology; to monitor, alarm, and give feedback on falls and risk situations. Figure 1 shows summary of the strategies for preventing and reducing patient falls.



Figure 1. Summary of Strategies for Preventing Patient Falls

4. Discussion and Conclusion

First Strategy: Patient and Staff Education. Education is a fundamental part of falls prevention. In two Australian hospitals, the use of written and video-based educational material in addition to a follow-up by a healthcare professional, e.g. a physiotherapist, to provide information and directions at the patient's bedside proved to be significantly more effective than providing the patient with the educational material only [7]. The conduction of patient education on falls prevention becomes more crucial and effective in the preoperative phase, especially with orthopedic interventions of the elderly [8]. In many hospitals, such educational programs have been proved to be cost-effective, considering the extended stays, increased complications, and high costs of healthcare services provided for patients following falls [9]. Nurses attitude and behavior can significantly influence the success of patient falls prevention programs. Nurses needed to learn about risks of falls, how to educate patients, and what methods of falls prevention are available at their local settings and how they could best use them [10].

Second Strategy: Patient Exercise. Progressive resistance and functional training are safe and effective methods of improving the strength and muscular activity and minimizing fall related behavioral and emotional limitations in elderly patients. Patient exercise, as a single intervention, can prevent falls. Programs that contained balance training and a large amount of exercise for elderly patients had the largest effects on reducing falls. It is recommended that such falls prevention exercise should be taken by patients for at least two hours every week and should target both the general aged population as well as higher risk patients, except for those prescribed less mobility [11].

Third Strategy: Diagnosis and Treatment of Predisposing Medical Conditions. The ability to move and walk safely depends largely on the coordination of motor and sensory functions, such as the vision, vestibular balance, proprioception, and musculoskeletal functions. Therefore, it is important, as a long-term strategy of preventing falls among elderly patients, to diagnose and treat medical conditions that might affect this kind of balance and increase the incidence of falling. These medical conditions include impaired vision due to cataract, vestibular disorders affecting balance, and osteoarthritis [12]. Some older patients may experience higher incidents of falls when they are on sedatives, as these may cause reduced sensorium and impair balance. This brings to the attention the importance of reducing the dose and the close monitoring of these patients [13].

Fourth Strategy: Enhancing the Surrounding Environment. There has been a significant reduction of bed falls as well as injuries from falls after reducing bed heights in geriatric patient wards. Using arm support, rails, and padding of the floors with rubber materials to minimize slipping, in addition to lower beds, can significantly reduce the incidence of falls and the severity of the associated injuries [14].

Fifth Strategy: Using Information Technology Interventions. Wearable sensors have proved to be very useful in monitoring and analyzing the stability of patients. Accelerometers and gyroscopes are the most widespread technologies used to detect stability and balance problems. Such sensors can be placed on the trunk to evaluate both static and dynamic stability [15]. Information technology can also serve the function of analyzing the data of the falls and the associated circumstances to explore the associations between different factors. Some smart phone applications, using their built-in accelerometer and movement detection functions, enable detecting falls, outside the hospital, and starting alarms to reduce their effect. Such applications can also send data, incidents and alarms to healthcare providers instantaneously [16].
As a conclusion; many of the suggested multicomponent programs, of preventing patient falls among the elderly, proved to be cost-effective, comparing the extended stays, increased complications, and the higher costs of caring for the injured patients to the costs of caring for regular non-falling patients. However, the utilization of new approaches of big data mining and the continuous innovation of new methods for exploring the reasons of falls, circumstances and criteria of falls, criteria of the falling patients, and new ways of reducing falls are recommended through further research.

- V.S. Staggs, J. Davidson, N. Dunton and B. Crosser, Challenges in defining and categorizing falls on diverse unit types: lessons from expansion of the NDNQI Falls Indicator, *Journal of nursing care quality* **30** (2) (2015), 106.
- [2] S. C. Lim, K. Mamun and J. K. Lim, Comparison between elderly inpatient fallers with and without dementia, *Singapore medical journal* 55 (2) (2014), 67.
- [3] C. A. Wong, A.J. Recktenwald, M.L. Jones, B.M. Waterman, M.L. Bollini and W.C. Dunagan, The cost of serious fall-related injuries at three Midwestern hospitals, *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety* 37 (2) (2011), 81-87.
- [4] M.J. Krauss, S.L. Nguyen, W.C. Dunagan, S. Birge, E. Costantinou, S. Johnson and V.J. Fraser, Circumstances of patient falls and injuries in 9 hospitals in a midwestern healthcare system, *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 28 (5) (2007), 544-550.
- [5] J.I. Hwang, S.I. Lee and H. Park, Barriers to the operation of patient safety incident reporting systems in Korean general hospitals, *Healthcare informatics research*, 18 (4) (2012), 279-286.
- [6] T.J. Dunne, I. Gaboury and M. C. Ashe, Falls in hospital increase length of stay regardless of degree of harm, *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice* 20 (4) (2014), 396-400.
- [7] T.P. Haines, A. M. Hill, K. D. Hill, S. McPhail, D. Oliver, S. Brauer and C. Beer, Patient education to prevent falls among older hospital inpatients: a randomized controlled trial, *Archives of internal medicine* 171 (6) (2011), 516-524.
- [8] H.D. Clarke, V.L. Timm, B.R. Goldberg and S.J. Hattrup, Preoperative patient education reduces inhospital falls after total knee arthroplasty, *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*® 470 (1) (2012), 244-249.
- [9] T.P. Haines, A.M. Hill, K.D. Hill, S.G. Brauer, T. Hoffmann, C. Etherton-Beer and S.M. McPhail, Cost effectiveness of patient education for the prevention of falls in hospital: economic evaluation from a randomized controlled trial, *BMC medicine* 11 (1) (2013), 135.
- [10] A.M. Hill, S.M. McPhail, N. Waldron, C. Etherton-Beer, K. Ingram, L. Flicker and T.P. Haines, Fall rates in hospital rehabilitation units after individualised patient and staff education programmes: a pragmatic, stepped-wedge, cluster-randomised controlled trial, *The Lancet* 385 (9987) (2015), 2592-2599.
- [11] C. Sherrington, A. Tiedemann, N. Fairhall, J.C. Close and S.R. Lord, Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: an updated meta-analysis and best practice recommendations, *New South Wales public health bulletin* 22 (4) (2011), 78-83.
- [12] M.E. Tinetti and C. Kumar, The patient who falls:"It's always a trade-off", Jama 303 (3) (2010), 258-266.
- [13] R.W. Pretorius, G. Gataric, S.K. Swedlund and J. R. Miller, Reducing the risk of adverse drug events in older adults, *Am Fam Physician* 87 (5) (2013), 331-336.
- [14] M.D. Menendez, J. Alonso, J.C. Minana, J.M. Arche, J.M. Díaz and F. Vazquez, Characteristics and associated factors in patient falls, and effectiveness of the lower height of beds for the prevention of bed falls in an acute geriatric hospital, *Revista de Calidad Asistencial* 28 (5) (2013), 277-284.
- [15] R. Rucco, A. Sorriso, M. Liparoti, G. Ferraioli, P. Sorrentino, M. Ambrosanio and F. Baselice, Type and location of wearable sensors for monitoring falls during static and dynamic tasks in healthy elderly: a review, *Sensors* 18 (5) (2018), 1613.
- [16] C. Tacconi, S. Mellone and L. Chiari, Smartphone-based applications for investigating falls and mobility, In 2011 5th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) and Workshops (2011, May). IEEE. pp. 258-261.

Clinical Decision Support Systems: From the Perspective of Small and Imbalanced Data Set

Oznur Esra PAR^{a,1}, Ebru AKCAPINAR SEZER^b and Hayri SEVER^c

^aTurkish Aerospace ^bHacettepe University ^cCankaya University

Abstract. Clinical decision support systems are data analysis software that supports health professionals' decision – making the process to reach their ultimate outcome, taking into account patient information. However, the need for decision support systems cannot be denied because of most activities in the field of health care within the decision-making process. Decision support systems used for diagnosis are designed based on disease due to the complexity of diseases, symptoms, and diseasesymptoms relationships. In the design and implementation of clinical decision support systems, mathematical modeling, pattern recognition and statistical analysis techniques of large databases and data mining techniques such as classification are also widely used. Classification of data is difficult in case of the small and /or imbalanced data set and this problem directly affects the classification performance. Small and/or imbalance dataset has become a major problem in data mining because classification algorithms are developed based on the assumption that the data sets are balanced and large enough. Most of the algorithms ignore or misclassify examples of the minority class, focus on the majority class. Most health data are small and imbalanced by nature. Learning from imbalanced and small data sets is an important and unsettled problem. Within the scope of the study, the publicly accessible data set, hepatitis was oversampled by distance-based data generation methods. The oversampled data sets were classified by using four different machine learning algorithms. Considering the classification scores of four different machine learning algorithms (Artificial Neural Networks, Support Vector Machines, Naive Bayes and Decision Tree), optimal synthetic data generation rate is recommended.

Keywords. Clinical decision support system, machine learning, small data set, imbalanced data set, oversampling methods.

1. Introduction

A large part of all health-related activities is related to decision-making. Complaints and anamnesis data, physical examination findings and simple measurement values are collected during the first visit of patient. These medical data are input for the clinical decision support systems which are computer systems designed to impact clinician decision making about individual patients at the point in time that these decisions are made [1]. Data mining is well suited to provide decision support in the healthcare setting

¹ Corresponding Author, Oznur Esra PAR, Turkish Aerospace, Ankara, Turkey; E-mail: oznuresra.par@tai.com.tr.

[2]. Usage of data mining in the field of health has created a new perspective in many respects and has also begun to accelerate decision-making processes. The main objective of data mining is to explore the correlations that are thought to contribute to the future through data masses. In other words, data mining is the creation of qualitative models that are hidden in the data, which are not very clear, previously unknown, but which are potentially effective. Qualitative models are used effectively in decision making. Establish of disease prediction models is the subject of many studies. The sample data set is expected to be large enough and balanced to obtain an accurate prediction model. Otherwise, the established model is considered to be unreliable. By the nature, many data in the medical field are small and imbalanced, so there is great difficulty in designing a clinical decision support system.

2. Small and Imbalanced Data Set

The majority class is having the highest frequency in the class distribution. The minority class is having the lowest frequency in the class distribution. Less than 10 occurrences per predictor variable is the condition of the small dataset [3]. It can be said that in a data set with two class variables, if the number of observations in the minority class is below 10, there is a small data set problem.

Small dataset learning problem is especially interesting in medical science, since the number of samples in a medical study may be very limited because of the sparseness and costs of the samples [4]. The small data set is often accompanied by an imbalanced data set problem resulting from the imbalanced distribution of observations in the class. Some problems that arise in data mining can be increased because the size of the sample data is small and imbalanced. These kinds of data sets usually generate biased results [5]. This situation is the most evident in the case of ignoring or misclassifying of minority class, focusing on the majority class.

2.1. The Solution for Small / Imbalanced Data – Distance Based Oversampling

Oversampling is a kind of synthetic data generation to increase the number of samples in the minority class [6]. In distance based oversampling methods, synthetic samples are generated by taking into consideration the k- nearest neighbor for each sample in the minority class. Synthetic data are generated throughout the continuous vectors between the nearest neighbors. Although the information gaps in the minority class are filled with synthetic data, synthetic data are distributed within the real data examples in the minority class [7]. Thus, the minority class is over-sampled.

The main advantage of distance based oversampling is the production of synthetic samples considering the close neighbors instead of replicating the samples in the minority class. Methods such as ROSE, ADASYN, SMOTE, DBS, RSLS and SLS are frequently used as oversampling method in literature.

2.2. Experimental Study

The oversampling methods mentioned in 2.1 were used in the experiment. Over sampled data were classified by SVM, ANN, NB and C4.5 algorithms. The precision scores were compared for the minority class because obtaining high classification accuracy score was not very meaningful in small and imbalanced data sets.

From the UCI database, the open-access hepatitis data set was used in the experiment [7].

The general characteristics of the original data set are shown in Table 1.

 Table 1. The General Characteristic of the data set

Data Set Name	Hepatitis
Number of observations	155
Number of Attributes	19
Number of Classes	2
Class Distribution	32 - 123
Benchmark Accuracy	Max. 83%

3. Experimental Setup

Original data has been rendered small and imbalanced.

- 1) 3 different data subsets that contained 12 observations in minority class were established. The sample dataset is referred to as DS-0.
- In-class precision scores were calculated by running the 4 different classification algorithms (Artificial Neural Network, Support Vector Machine, Naive Bayes, Decision Tree) on 3 different data sub- sets.
- 3) For each data subsets, the observations of the minority class were oversampled by default values of the distance based oversampling .The oversampled dataset is referred to as DS-0'.
- 4) In-class precision scores were calculated by running the 4 different classification algorithms on 18 different oversampled data subsets.
- 5) For each data subsets (DS-0), the observations of the minority class were oversampled by 2, 3, and 4 times of the minority class in the training data set with the same distance based oversampling methods. The sample dataset with extra 6 synthetic data is referred to as DS-0'X2. The sample dataset with extra 12 synthetic data is referred to as DS-0'X3. The sample dataset with extra 18 synthetic data is referred to as DS-0'X4.
- 6) In-class precision scores were calculated by running the 4 different classification algorithms on oversampled 18 different data subsets (Refer to item 5th).

4. Experiment Result

The data set, which is formed as 12 observations in minority class, is classified by ANN, SVM, NB and C4.5 algorithms. The in-class precision scores of the minority classes of the datasets created as described in the previous section (DS-0) are presented in Table 2. Because high accuracy scores are not significant, the precision scores for the minority class are taken into account.

 Table 2. In-class precision scores of the minority classes of DS-0

Classification Algorithm	Score	
ANN	0.1904	
SVM	0.0000	
NB	0.3957	
C4.5	0.2394	

According to the results, the data set which was oversampled with SMOTE method gave the highest minority class precision in the NB algorithm, while the data set which was oversampled with SLS method gave 0 minority class precision in the SVM algorithm.

Oversampled training data sets with default values were observed to be between 3 and 10 times of the number of minority class observations. Increasing the number of the minority class by 3 to 10 was found high. For this reason, the minority class in the training data of DS-0 was oversampled 2, 3 and 4 times. The dataset with limitation of 2 times, 3 times and 4 times of the minority class observations are called DS0'-2X, DS0'-3X and DS0'-4X respectively (Refer to 5th). The experiments were repeated for those oversampled data (Refer to 6th).

When the number of observations in the minority class is increased by 2, 3 and 4 times, ROSE and SMOTE oversampling methods gave the highest in-class precision due to under sampling with oversampling in NB. Adasyn and DBS methods provide the highest in-class precision in the NB algorithm when it is desired to perform pure oversampling when the number of observations in the Minority class is increased to 2, 3 and 4 times.

5. Conclusion

When classifying a small and imbalanced data set, the minority class is often misclassified because of classification accuracy is biased in favor of the majority class. The main purpose of oversampling is to eliminate the imbalance between the classes.

With the scope of the study, the original data set was minimized and imbalanced. Distance-based oversampling methods were applied to the datasets. Number of the observations of the minority class in training data set were increased to 2, 3 and 4 times then in-class classification scores were compared.

Two of the classification algorithms, SVM and C4.5, is unstable in the small and imbalanced data set. ADASYN and DBS have the best classification scores in the oversampled small and imbalanced data sets. For the oversampling methods the most convenient rate for number of observations in the minority class is 3 to 4 times.

- [1] E.S. Berner and T.J.L. Lande, Clinical Decision Support Systems, Springer, USA, 2007. p. 3.
- [2] J.C. Hardin and D. Chhieng, Data Mining and Clinical Decision Support Systems, Springer, USA, 2007.
- [3] T. Shaikhina and N.A. Khovanova, Handling limited datasets with neural networks in medical applications: A small-data approach, *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine* 75 (2017), 51-637.
- [4] T. Yang and V. Kecman, Adaptive Local Hyperplane Algorithm for Learning Small Medical Data Sets, *Expert Systems* 26 (4) (2009), 355-59.
- [5] M.A. Lateh, A. Muda A, Z. Yusof, N. Muda and Azmi M, Handling a Small Dataset Problem in Prediction Model by employ Artificial Data Generation Approach: A Review, *IOP Conf. Series: Journal of Physics: Conf. Series* 892 (2017).
- [6] R. Burduk, K. Jackowski, M. Kurzynski, Proceeding of 9th International Conference on Computer Recognition Systems CORES 2015, Switzerland, 2016.
- [7] S. Kotsiantis, D. Kanellopoulos, Handling imbalanced datasets: A review, *GESTS International Transactions on Computer Science and Engineering* **30** (2006).
- [8] UCI Machine Learning Repository, Hepatitis Data Set. https://archive.ics.uci.edu/ml/datasets/hepatitis.

Using PubMed to Generate Email Lists of Participants for Healthcare Survey Research: A Simple and Practical Approach

Mohamed KHALIFA¹

Centre for Health Informatics, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

Abstract. Survey research is one of the most essential domains of evaluation and measurement in healthcare and social sciences. Online surveys are considered the most economical of the three main data collection methods, followed by telephone interviewing, while face-to-face interviewing is the most expensive. Even though they have many advantages, online surveys have very low response rates. The objective of this paper is to demonstrate a practical and simply replicable approach for using PubMed to generate large email lists of potential participants for healthcare survey research. In addition to personalizing each email, researchers can use a range of strategies to improve the response rate, including sending reminders, adding the updated response rate to the reminders, and stating the average time it would take participants to complete the survey. Moreover, acknowledging participants, using financial and non-financial incentives and contacting participants response rate.

Keywords. Healthcare, Survey Research, Participants Emails, Questionnaires.

1. Introduction

Survey research is one of the most essential domains of evaluation and measurement in healthcare and social sciences. This wide domain includes evaluation interventions through asking questions of participants. A survey can take a wide range of types, starting from the simplest paper-based feedback forms to the most intensive one-on-one in-depth interviews [1]. Online questionnaires have been considered the most economical of the three main data collection methods, followed by telephone interviewing, while face-to-face interviewing is the most expensive [2]. Questionnaires can support both quantitative and qualitative research methods. In addition to answering quantitative questions, respondents could provide rich, free text feedback [3]. Online questionnaires have many advantages. They are inexpensive, practical, provide a quick way to get results, scalable, provide comparability with easy analysis and visualization, offer actionable data while keeping respondent anonymity, have no time constraints, and can cover every aspect of a topic. Disadvantages include providing dishonest answers or leaving unanswered questions. Questionnaires cannot convey feelings and emotions, there is lack of personalization, unconscientious responses, in

¹ Corresponding Author, Mohamed KHALIFA; Email: mohamed.khalifa@mq.edu.au.

addition to the questionnaire or survey fatigue problem [4]. The lower response rate of online surveys has been a major concern for survey researchers. There is a wide variety of factors that can affect response rates, such as the content and presentation, sampling methods, contact delivery modes, invitation design, using reminders and incentives [5]. One way of overcoming the low response rate of online survey is to contact a larger sample of participants [6]. Compared to other healthcare databases, PubMed includes the largest number of publications and offers an optimal update frequency. PubMed remains the best tool in biomedical electronic research [7]. The objective of this paper is to demonstrate a practical and simply replicable approach for using PubMed to generate large email lists of potential participants for healthcare survey research.

2. Methods

In simple and replicable five steps, and as an example, we will generate an email list of emergency department clinicians and researchers who published at least one PubMed indexed paper, over the last five years. Step one includes using the advanced search function of the PubMed (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/advanced) to search for papers. We will use the search key words: Emergency Medicine OR Emergency Department OR Emergency Departments OR Emergency Service OR Emergency Services in the [Title/Abstract] AND the same search key words in the [Affiliation], to make sure retrieved papers not only are about emergency medicine, but also have been conducted by clinicians and researchers who belong to the emergency medicine or emergency department at their organizations. Step two includes retrieving the results from the PubMed, in the MEDLINE format, to a text file to be saved on the computer. Step three includes extracting the emails listed in the MEDLINE results text file, using a free online email extraction website, specialized in extracting emails from text files (http://convertcsv.com/email-extractor.htm). Step four includes preparing a MS Excel sheet with the extracted emails. Step five includes using the mail merge function of the MS Office, through MS Excel, Word, and Outlook, to send emails to the identified participants of the survey research. Figure 1 shows the five steps approach of identifying publications, retrieving and extracting emails of their authors.

Step 1	Use Key Words to Search PubMed for Publications
Step 2	Retrieve Results in MEDLINE Format into a Text File
Step 3	Extract Emails Using a Free Online Website
Step 4	Prepare a MS Excel Emails List for Contact
Step 5	Use Mail Merge Function; MS Excel, Word, and Outlook, to Send Emails to Participants

Figure 1. Five steps approach of identifying publications, retrieving and extracting emails of their authors

3. Results

The results of the search on the PubMed retrieved 13,608 identified papers published in the area of emergency medicine or emergency department by emergency medicine clinicians and researchers over the last five years. Retrieving the MEDLINE format results into a text file generated a 55 Mega Byte data text file containing the titles, abstracts, author information, and other relevant information of the retrieved publications. The extraction of authors' emails generated 5,817 unique emails.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

We have described in detail a simple method to generate a large emails list of emergency medicine clinicians and researchers through using the advanced search function of the PubMed. PubMed is one of the best resources for biomedical published research. The keywords and the search fields used ensure that the identified papers are relevant to the emergency medicine. Using the last five years as a timeframe, ensures that a large percentage of the emails are still valid and attended by their owners. This method generates emails without names, which might lower the response rate. It is reported that decreasing costs associated with designing and administering online surveys would make survey fatigue more prevalent [8]. On the other hand, it is discussed by many researchers that personalizing the email invitations significantly improves the response rate of participants as it gives the impression of focused message and targeted audience [9]. However, using the mail merge function enables researchers to send a separate email directly to each participant, which is better than sending bulk emails using the blind carbon copy function. Bulk emails are sometimes identified by email agents, such as MS Outlook and Gmail, as spam and are automatically sent to the trash, or simply are overlooked by the recipients considering them as commercial, low priority or less relevant communications [10]. Sending survey invitation emails anonymously could generate a response rate between 1 to 5%, while sending personalized salutation emails could raise this rate up to 10 to 15% [11]. Alternately, the names of the researchers still can be extracted, from the MEDLINE format results file that we downloaded earlier, through checking the Affiliation (AD) field which comes after the Author (AU) field in the MEDLINE format text file. However, if this process is done manually it will take quite a long time, 30 seconds on average for each email, which makes the total time needed to extract the names for the 5.817 emails identified earlier about 48 hours of work. This time can be much reduced if a programming code was written for this task, which is out of the cope of this paper.

In addition to personalizing each email by including the correct salutation and last name of the recipient, researchers can use a range of strategies to improve response rate of online surveys. These strategies include sending up to three reminders two weeks apart, adding the updated response rate to the reminder emails to encourage others to participate when they see the study is progressing, and stating the average time it would take a participant to complete the survey in the text of the invitation email [12]. Providing the participants with the option to request to be acknowledged in the publication of the study could also provide a good incentive to improve their response rate, especially when they are active researchers [13]. Moreover, financial and nonfinancial incentives of participants proved to have a significantly positive influence on improving their response rate [14]. Studies show that online survey response rates can be increased by low to no cost incentive and text appeal strategies. There is a robust evidence that both low-cost cash prize lottery incentives and cost-free text appeal interventions targeting an individual's egotistic need for approval may increase the survey response rate [15]. It is also suggested that contacting participants through their affiliated organizations, such as professional bodies, associations, and colleges, can significantly improve their response rate to the online survey. Because this would enhance the credibility of the survey study, increase the trust of participants and their commitment towards completing the survey. However, this necessitates more efforts, resources and time to organize [16]. As a conclusion, the recently developing easiness of contacting a larger number of participants for survey research is associated with a lower response rate due to many reasons. However, we still can overcome this challenge by either generating larger participants' lists or using strategies to improve their response rates. It is true that the retrieved emails are publicly available through online publications, however, it is essential to consider different data protection and privacy regulations. It is advised that such lists should not be used for purposes other than research and that contacting each researcher should be accompanied by an explanation of how we got their emails and why we are contacting them.

- [1] R. Kumar, Research methodology: A step-by-step guide for beginners, Sage Publications Limited (2019).
- [2] W.E. Saris and I.N. Gallhofer, *Design, evaluation, and analysis of questionnaires for survey research*, John Wiley & Sons (2014).
- [3] J. Brannen, Combining qualitative and quantitative approaches: an overview, *Mixing methods: Qualitative and quantitative research*, Routledge (2017). p. 3-37.
- [4] S. Debois, Advantages and disadvantages of questionnaires, SurveyAnyPlace Blog (2016).
- [5] W. Fan and Z. Yan, Factors affecting response rates of the web survey: A systematic review, *Computers in human behavior* 26 (2) (2010), 132-139.
- [6] D.A. Dillman, J.D. Smyth and L.M. Christian, Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: the tailored design method, John Wiley & Sons (2014).
- [7] M.E. Falagas, E.I. Pitsouni, G.A. Malietzis and G. Pappas, Comparison of PubMed, Scopus, web of science, and Google scholar: strengths and weaknesses, *The FASEB journal* 22 (2) (2008), 338-342.
- [8] K. Fosnacht, S. Sarraf, E. Howe and L.K. Peck, How important are high response rates for college surveys? *The Review of Higher Education* 40 (2) (2017), 245-265.
- [9] D. Heerwegh, T. Vanhove, K. Matthijs and G. Loosveldt, The effect of personalization on response rates and data quality in web surveys, *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 8 (2) (2005), 85-99.
- [10] A.N. Joinson and U.D. Reips, Personalized salutation, power of sender and response rates to Web-based surveys, *Computers in Human Behavior*, 23 (3) (2007), 1372-1383.
- [11] A. Petrovčič, G. Petrič and K. L. Manfreda, The effect of email invitation elements on response rate in a web survey within an online community, *Computers in Human Behavior* 56 (2016), 320-329.
- [12] J. McPeake, M. Bateson and A. O'Neill, Electronic surveys: how to maximise success, *Nurse researcher* 21 (3) (2014).
- [13] C.T. Cunningham, H. Quan, B. Hemmelgarn, T. Noseworthy, C. A. Beck, E. Dixon and N. Jetté, Exploring physician specialist response rates to web-based surveys, *BMC medical research methodology* 15 (1) (2015), 32.
- [14] Y.I. Cho, T.P. Johnson and J.B. VanGeest, Enhancing surveys of health care professionals: a metaanalysis of techniques to improve response, *Evaluation & the health professions* 36 (3) (2013), 382-407.
- [15] M.J. Pedersen and C.V, Nielsen, Improving survey response rates in online panels: Effects of low-cost incentives and cost-free text appeal interventions, *Social Science Computer Review* 34 (2) (2016), 229-243.
- [16] F. Anseel, F. Lievens, E. Schollaert and B. Choragwicka, Response rates in organizational science, 1995–2008: A meta-analytic review and guidelines for survey researchers, *Journal of Business and Psychology* 25 (3) (2010), 335-349.

Self-Management and Diabetes Mellitus mHealth, a Glance at the Present and a Glimpse into the Future

Awad ALSHAHRANI^{a,b,c,1}

^a Department of Medicine, Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs, Riyadh
 ^b KingAbdullah international Medical Research Center
 ^c College of Medicine, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University
 for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Abstract: mHealth is new technology that can help in the self-management of diabetes mellitus (DM), a highly prevalent metabolic disease. mHealth applications can enhance patient-provider communication, and improve health data capture and monitoring, patient education, and the provision of feedback. However, aspects related to the functions and content required in the application, as well as privacy, accuracy and the safety of patient data, should be managed. The use of mHealth in DM self-management can be optimized by overcoming technical, societal, and business barriers. Using appropriate behavioral change theories, the short and long-term effects of mHealth should be targeted. Providing interactive feedback is an important feature of any mHealth strategy, so as to ensure a closed-loop in DM management. Accuracy and validity of information included in the mHealth application is vital; therefore quality and appropriateness of the information should be assessed, and enhanced where necessary. Consideration for the perspectives of end-users is at the core of mHealth care. The effects of mHealth should be assessed in a real-world setting, rather than the current clinic-based studies. In conclusion, mHealth is a tool that provides an opportunity for integrated and coordinated DM care.

Keywords: Self-Management, Diabetes Mellitus, mHealth

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a multisystem, metabolic disease characterized by increased blood glucose level. DM is associated with many cardiovascular and noncardiovascular diseases, such as coronary artery disease, heart failure, renal disorders, liver disease and dementia. Diabetes is prevalent worldwide and is increasing every year, as 415 million were reported diabetics in 2015 [1]. The health and economic burden of diabetes necessitate the introduction of multilevel and multidisciplinary approaches for coordinated diabetes care [2]. Since diabetes affects individuals' lifestyles, diets and daily activities, self-management is considered to be at the core of diabetes care. The aim of DM self-management is for individuals to play an active role in effectively containing their diabetes and its complications through coordinated care. It incorporates checking one's own blood glucose levels, tracking lifestyle and daily

¹ Corresponding Author, Dr Awad Alshahrani, E-mail: Abdullahgcc@gmail.com.

activities (e.g., smart dieting, physical activitiy, smoking cessation, weight control, and stress management), taking medications, and other measures (including, for example, foot care, eye screening, vaccinations, etc.) [3].

One the used approach to enhance self-management of chronic diseases is through the use of mobile applications. Wide and increasing use of smart mobile phones and the Internet has led to the widespread adoption of health-related mobile applications. mHealth is concerned with the use of mobile applications in the healthcare arena. In particular, mHealth applications can be used to track wellness; for diet control; or to monitor individuals' fitness and compliance with medications and other treatment plans. mHealth may also be used for early diagnosis, disease management and prevention, and for educational purposes [4]. Furthermore, data generated through mobile application can be compiled in a patient Portal at the hospital side and a Clinician Monitoring Station can help in providing a closed-loop diabetic care.

2. Method

A search was conducted on PubMed, Google Scholar; Cochrane and other health databases. The search was to identify studies that have Self-Management, Diabetes Mellitus, mHealth, and Self-containment on the title. We limited the search to studies published in full text in English language. Abstracts of potentially eligible articles were retrieved for review and only relevant articles were included.

3. Results

3.1. Mobile Applications and its impacts on Diabetes Mellitus Self-management

mHealth has positive effects on individuals with diabetes. One meta-analysis revealed that mobile applications can help patients to control hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels, thus they should be considered as an adjuvant tool to standard type 2 diabetes selfmanagement [5]. Many studies have reported positive outcomes on consumption of a healthy diet, increased physical activity, and patients' tendency to test their blood sugar levels more frequently [6, 7]. A recent review reported improvements in HbA1c levels in four ways: through improved patient-provider communication, better health data capture and monitoring, improved patient education, and better provision of feedback. However, the studies included in this systematic review study lacked homogeneity in terms of the technology and applications used, and found discrepancy in the rates of HbA1c control. This discrepancy was aggravated by factors such as sample size, baseline characteristics, patient level factors, and variations in the features of the applications used. Also varied was the extent to which individuals with diabetes introduced lifestyle changes, such as consuming healthy food, performing physical exercises, undertaking continuous checks and monitoring, complying with treatment, managing stress, and enhancing health literacy [7]. Some studies have acknowledged drawbacks of mHealth applications. These drawbacks include the inability of most mobile applications to differentiate between types of the diabetes, the lack of an educational component, the content, and issues related to privacy, accuracy and safety of patient data [6, 8].

3.2. The promises of having a closed loop Diabetic care

In the integrated DM management model, the mobile application is connected to a patient portal on the providers' side, and the clinician monitoring station (CMS). The mobile application feeds patient-reported data, such as their blood glucose levels and other necessary information, into the portal. The portal compiles this data into one place, allowing clinicians to review and interfere (if necessary) by scheduling appointments, or by introducing or modifying treatment regimens. The CMS is equipped with different devices (audiovisual, telemedicine, etc.) to allow care providers to provide coordinated care.

3.3. The barriers to optimal use of mhealth in Diabetes Mellitus Self-management

There are several challenges to the optimal use of mobile mHealth applications in DM self-management and patient care. These challenges can be categorized as technical, societal, or business in nature. Technical barriers are related to difficulties in establishing interoperable components that can work together in harmony. Overcoming these technical barriers requires consumers to attain new information technology skills, with regards to installation, configuration, maintenance, and adopting change [9].

Overcoming societal barriers to the adoption of mHealth requires continual assessment and improvements in the adaptability and usability of mHealth technology, along with the other components in the model. Privacy and confidentiality of collected and used data must be maintained and assured. Health organizations must also be committed to the new process so as to anticipate the benefits of using mHealth in DM patient care.

Business barriers are related to the allocation of resources to initially invest in and maintain the proposed model. The current billing system rewards healthcare providers for treating sick patients, not for keeping patients healthy. Therefore, the reimbursement of care services delivered through mHealth applications is one of the biggest hurdles to wider adoption of the integrated and coordinated care that mHealth promises in DM patient care [10].

4. Discussion

Numerous applications are now available to help individuals with DM. Together with the viability of telemedicine and the wellbeing framework, patients are able to overcome geographical boundaries and use newly developed and regularly updated mHealth technologies. Nevertheless, debate remains as to the utility of portable applications for overseeing one's own diabetes. Most of the studies reviewed here recommended that:

- mHealth applications should be designed with the aim to change behavior, focusing on improving individuals' health over time, and targeting both the short and long-term effects, utilizing appropriate theories of behavioral change
- It should include an interactive feedback function, so as to ensure closed-loop DM care

- The quality and appropriateness of the information should be assessed and enhanced
- End-users should be involved in the development of mHealth applications because their perspectives are at the core of mHealth care
- The impact of the mHealth application should be assessed in a real-world setting, unlike in current clinic-based studies, and should include a diverse study population, including for example indigenous, elderly, and rural residents.

In conclusion, mHealth applications – if designed and utilized properly – provide an opportunity for integrated and coordinated DM care. With advancements in connectivity, mHealth has the potential to provide DM patients with real-time monitoring and round-the-clock care, both in terms of treating their disease and promoting their health.

- [1] K. Ogurtsova, J.D. da Rocha Fernandes, Y. Huang, U. Linnenkamp, L. Guariguata, N.H. Cho, D. Cavan, J.E. Shaw and L.E. Makaroff, IDF Diabetes Atlas: global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040, *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* **128** (2017), 40–50.
- [2] S.E. Inzucchi, R.M. Bergenstal, J.B. Buse, M. Diamant, E. Ferrannini, M. Nauck, A.L. Peters, A. Tsapas,, R. Wender and D.R. Matthews, Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2015: a patientcentered approach: update to a position statement of the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, *Diabetes Care* 38 (2015), 140–149.
- [3] American Diabetes Association, Standards of medical care in diabetes 2017, Diabetes Care 40 (2017), S4–S5.
- [4] M. Aitken and J. Lyle, Patient adoption of mHealth: use, evidence and remaining barriers to mainstream acceptance, IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, Parsippany, NJ, 2015.
- [5] C. Hou, B. Carter, J. Hewitt, T. Francisa and S. Mayor, Do mobile phone applications improve glycemic control (HbA1c) in the self-management of diabetes? A systematic review, meta-analysis, and GRADE of 14 randomized trials, *Diabetes Care* 39 (2016), 2089–2095.
- [6] O. El-Gayar, P. Timsina, N. Nawar and W. Eid, Mobile applications for diabetes self-management: status and potential, *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology* 1 (2013), 247–262.
- [7] D.A. Greenwood, P.M. Gee, K.J. Fatkin and M. Peeples, A systematic review of reviews evaluating technology-enabled diabetes self-management education and support, *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology* 11 (2017), 1015–1027.
- [8] S. Goyal and J.A. Cafazzo, Mobile phone health apps for diabetes management: current evidence and future developments, QJM: An International Journal of Medicine 106 (2013), 1067–1069.
- [9] T. Alanzi, mHealth for diabetes self-management in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: barriers and solutions, Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare 11 (2018), 535.
- [10] M.P. Gagnon, P. Ngangue, J. Payne-Gagnon and M. Desmartis, m-Health adoption by healthcare professionals: a systematic review, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 23 (2015), 212–220.

Utilizing Big Data in Healthcare, How to Maximize Its Value

Raid JASTANIA^{a,b,c}, Tahani NAGEETI^{a,b}, Hussam AL-JUHANI^a, Afnan BASAHEL^{a,b}, Roa'a ALJURAID^a, Abdullah ALANAZI^a, Hanan ALDOSARI^d and Bakheet ALDOSARI^{a,1}

^aKing Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
 ^bKing Abdullah Medical City, Makkah, Saudi Arabia
 ^cFaculty of Medicine, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia
 ^d National Center for Health Information

Abstract. Big data has been applied in a variety of ways in healthcare. It can be considered as a tool for data collection. And hence, there are certain criteria needed in this tool to be of value. Optimists have exaggerated the benefits of big data, while pessimists reported negative aspects. Big data remains a reality that healthcare must face and maximize its value. The authors identified few guiding principles for scientific utilization of big data in healthcare. These include: generate evidence by scientific methods, assure validity and significance, use multi-step analysis, and lastly consider sensitivity, and specificity.

Keywords. Big data, healthcare, prevention, Bradford Hill criteria

1. Introduction

As technology matures in its life cycle, Gartner "hype cycle" describes the changes in expectation overtime. Shortly after the technology triggers publicity and reaches the peak of exaggerated expectation, a trough of disillusionment follows. Then realistic enlightenment and plateau of productivity are reached. This has probably already happened in "Big Data" [1].

Big data is an indispensable reality, not an option anymore. It is an opportunity and challenge to healthcare. In a typical description of big data, it consists of five "V's": Velocity, Volume, Value, Variety, and Veracity. So, big data is a collection of huge volume of trustworthy data, accumulating in high velocity, and coming from variety of sources, not only medical records. Veracity means the quality of data, and variability highlights the inconsistency of its format [2]. It is worth to consider the value, and the validity, as well. Big data is naturally collected and aggregated. To some extent, healthcare organizations do not realize that they are collecting big data by the second. Worth to mention, there is no collection bias. However, there is participation (non-response) bias. Big data spans from molecular level, individual level, and up to population and global levels. It tends to be holistic, yet mostly in unstructured format. In healthcare, big data is recently applied in many aspects such as clinical research, patient

¹ Corresponding Author, Prof. Bakheet ALDOSARI, King Saud Bin Abdul-Aziz University for Health Sciences, Saudi Arabia; Email: bakheet.dosari@gmail.com.

care, and operation of healthcare. Useful applications have been reported. However, disappointing outcomes have been also noticed [3].

This paper investigates how big data can be best utilized in healthcare. Keeping in mind, the positive and negative aspects of big data, the authors investigate to identify the guiding principles for utilizing big data to create "value" for healthcare.

2. Methods

A search for all related articles was conducted in PubMed, Google Scholar, and the World Wide Web (reports, blogs, news). The following keywords were searched: big data, health, healthcare, disease prevention, data mining, machine learning, and simulation. The search results were limited to articles published in the last five years (2014-2018) and written in English. Articles related to the investigators question are read and analyzed.

3. Results

The search revealed 73 article and reports with relevant titles to big data in health care that could be fully accessed. Abstracts were read, and 10 articles were selected according to relevance to the topic with opinion of two experts in the field. The focus of the paper is on identifying guiding principles to improve the utilization of big data in healthcare. For big data to be of value, the investigators identified the following guiding principles:

3.1. Generate Evidence by Scientific Methods:

For decades, the practice of medicine has been described as "evidence-based". Dr. David Sackett had shaped research methodology in clinical epidemiology. Now, it is mandated to justify all decisions in healthcare by evidence. The use of big data is not an exception to this rule. One of the common uses of big data is to identify relationships between different variables, such as correlation between social media posts and the mood of an individual. This use needs to follow scientific methods. It should demonstrate acceptable methodology to generate sound evidence. "Bradford Hill criteria" for causation of disease were originally created to ensure correct methodology in epidemiological studies [4]. These criteria are still valid today. Accordingly, when big data is used, the methods need to demonstrate Bradford Hill criteria.

So, even with big data, to determine cause-effect relationship, the methods need to estimate the strength of the relationship. This is done statistically by calculating the odds ratio, or the relative risk depending on the design of the study and the analysis. Consistency in the relationship needs to be measured. Specificity of the relationship is another criterion that needs to be considered since big data might be vague and not precise. Temporal relation between the cause and the effect is needed. Big data provides high velocity flow. However, the temporal relationship should not be neglected. Big data would allow broader interval of years and decades, since big data is naturally occurring and collected overtime. Dose-response gradient should also be drawn. A typical example is increase in drug toxicity as the dose of the drug increases. No evidence is accepted until it can be biologically plausible and explained. If the current knowledge does not

support the relationship under study, the results remain irrelevant and clinically not significant [5]. Big data is not an evidence in itself, it is rather a tool to generate evidence.

3.2. Ensure Validity and Significance:

There are different types of validity: content validity, process validity and conclusion validity. In healthcare, what matters is validity of conclusions. This depends on the purpose for which the data is collected. Yet, the method of data collection in big data is frequently not oriented to a specific purpose. Instead, data is collected as they occur naturally and spontaneously, such as recording geographical location and movement of individuals in a population [6].

When big data is analyzed, results and findings need to be relevant and significant. There are two types of significance in this discussion, statistical significance and clinical significance. Big data, by definition, is huge in volume. It may magnify minor relations or differences between variables. Furthermore, big data may easily give statistically significant results. Unfortunately, statistical significance does not always mean providing a plausible outcome clinically. Big data in genomics may identify unusual gene mutation or DNA defect; however, this finding remains irrelevant if the individual is clinically healthy. So, the use of big data may predict health problems. But this prediction should be further investigated for its validity and significance [6].

3.3. Use Multi-Step Analysis:

In spite of the high velocity of data collection and aggregation in big data, creating value and critical decisions need a multi-step analysis. It is estimated that the majority of data in healthcare are unstructured. This includes, narrative text, and hard-to-process images. [7]. To achieve accurate results and sound decisions in the healthcare field, one must follow the proper steps for data analytics. Collecting data from variety of big data sources must ensure quality of data. Then, data should be cleansed from noise. This is followed by transforming data through mathematical and compression algorithms to draw descriptive analysis. Finally, one may draw conclusion and predict future outcomes [8].

Data Mining is done by a set of tools aiming to find important information to generate meaning. Data mining methods have been criticized due to uncertain reliability and lack of data modeling [9]. However, if data mining is applied within a multi-step process, a reasonable reliability and validity can be achieved. Machine learning is another tool with high potential. It successfully uses algorithm for prediction of early disease risk [10]. There is certainly a need for careful design of a multi-step analysis of big data.

3.4. Consider Sensitivity and Specificity:

The application of Big data can be considered as a testing device, with a sensitivity and specificity that can be measured as compared to a "gold standard" reference. The failing project of Google Flu Trends should have been studied to determine its characteristics, such as sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value and overall accuracy. Failure to apply big data in the correct context has led to disappointing results.

4. Discussion and Conclusion:

Certainty is a myth. In healthcare, no method or tool is perfect. Big data may give a comprehensive view, from molecular level, such as genetics, epigenetics, proteomics, and metabolomics, to individual level, such as electronic health record (EHR), to population level, such as environmental factors. However, big data remains a tool that needs to be utilized wisely to maximize its value. We discussed few guiding principles to improve the outcome of big data in healthcare. More research is required to construct robust models and guidelines for the use of big data in healthcare.

There is a gap between information technology and computer science from one side, and healthcare from the other side. We strongly recommend a multidisciplinary approach with expertise in health informatics to tighten this gap by constructing models to manage big data in a scientific approach. A multidisciplinary team consisting of clinician, data scientists, clinical performance metrics specialists should work toward better utilization of big data technology.

The review has a few limitations. Firstly, the literature search was biased towards finding positive results related to big data in the field of medicine. Furthermore, the results of this study cannot be generalized for fields other than healthcare. Also, many information sources could have been missed or not included in the study. Future studies should be based on research validations of the impact of big data in healthcare.

- R. Atun, Y. Lussier, C. Poon, S.T.C. Wong and G.-Z. Yang, Editorial: Big Data for Health, *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics* 19 (2015), 1191-1192.
- [2] M.E. McCue and A.M. McCoy, The scope of big data in one medicine: unprecedented opportunities and challenges, *Frontiers in veterinary science* 4 (2017), 194.
- [3] M.S. Househ, B. Aldosari, A. Alanazi, A.W. Kushniruk and E.M. Borycki, Big Data, Big Problems: A Healthcare Perspective, In ICIMTH (2017), 36-39.
- [4] K.M. Fedak, A. Bernal, Z.A. Capshaw and S. Gross, Applying the Bradford Hill criteria in the 21st century: how data integration has changed causal inference in molecular epidemiology, *Emerging themes in epidemiology* 12 (2015), 14.
- [5] O. Müller, I. Junglas, J.V. Brocke and S. Debortoli, Utilizing big data analytics for information systems research: challenges, promises and guidelines, *European Journal of Information Systems* 25 (2016), 289-302.
- [6] R. Saracci, Epidemiology in wonderland: Big Data and precision medicine, *European journal of epidemiology* 33 (2018), 245-57.
- [7] D.A. Marshall, L. Burgos-Liz, K.S. Pasupathy, W.V. Padula, M.J. IJzerman, P.K. Wong, M.K. Higashi, J. Engbers, S. Wiebe, W. Crown and N.D. Osgood, Transforming healthcare delivery: integrating dynamic simulation modelling and big data in health economics and outcomes research, *Pharmaco Economics* 34 (2016) 115-126.
- [8] I. Ţăranu, Data mining in healthcare: decision making and precision, *Database Systems Journal* 6 (2016), 33-40.
- [9] M.S. Househ, B. Aldosari, The Hazards of Data Mining in Healthcare, Studies in health technology and informatics 238 (2017), 80-83.
- [10] M. Poulymenopoulou, F. Malamateniou and G. Vassilacopoulos, Machine Learning for Knowledge Extraction from PHR Big Data, *Studies in health technology and informatics* 202 (2014) 36-39.

Lifestyle Intervention for Young Adults with MS: A Design Study

Martine Oppegaard JAKOBSEN^{a,1} and Ankica BABIC^{a,b} ^aDepartment of Information Science and Media Studies, University of Bergen, Norway ^bDepartment of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. This paper presents a mid-fidelity prototype of a mobile application for self-management of the chronic disease Multiple Sclerosis (MS). The study focuses on newly diagnosed young Norwegians with MS and wants to deliver IT solutions for a healthier lifestyle. An analysis of a social media platform, interview with medical staff, a social media focus group interview and one case study where utilized to gather data alongside with design iterations. A high-fidelity prototype is being implemented with main functionalities: health, training, patient notes for next medical appointment, disease related life and work issues, and a reward point system.

Keywords. Multiple Sclerosis (MS), young adults, self-management, application.

1. Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic disease that attacks the central nervous system. It can occur at any age, and at the early stages, it is common to have occasional attacks. A minority of patients will see a worsening of the disease after a few years [1]. There is no disease specific test, meaning MS can be hard to diagnose [2]. Medical attention mainly goes to those who suffered with MS for a longer time which in turn often leaves newly diagnosed with less attention and fewer follows-ups during asymptomatic periods. When creating a lifestyle application for young adults one should use technologies to promote wellbeing, connect people and guide them to best available help [3]. Another important issue is to assess the effectiveness of the intervention with measurable means [4]. The aim of this study is to design a prototype with highly relevant content for young adults with MS. Effectiveness could be realised through rewarding good lifestyle choices and collecting data for users' self-management and possibly for sharing with medical staff.

2. Method

The content analysis was carried out for a MS social media platform and thereafter the resulting data was evaluated by experts at the Norwegian Multiple Sclerosis Competence Centre at Haukeland University Hospital. A focus group with five young adults between 20-30 years of age was interviewed. Consequently, a mid-fidelity prototype was designed using the acquired data and evaluated in a case study with two participants.

¹ Corresponding Author, Martine Oppegaard Jakobsen; E-mail: martine.o.j@gmail.com.

3. Results

3.1 Social Media Analyses

Displayed in Figure 1a-c are some of the data categories regarding the concerns and frequently asked questions at the MS social media platform [5] by the users during the last four years. Proving information are sought out at more places than the doctor's office. The results from the analysis were used to help establish user requirements.



Figure 1a, b and c. Frequently asked questions concerning the MS diagnosis.

3.2 Expert Evaluation

The medical expert evaluation looked at the categories from the Figure 1, as well as some other figures not presented in this paper. After the evaluation, some categories were excluded from the requirements that were not specific for this group (e.g. food functions).

3.3 Interview with Social Media Focus Group

The focus group had a clear and mostly uniform opinion regarding their design and content preferences. All of them had struggled to find a Norwegian app for handling MS. They did use apps with dark backgrounds such as Spotify, but they did not spend much time scrolling on it and agreed that a light background with dark text and a dash of colour was the best option. The group was presented with a list of functions (*calendar, workout, notes, health, frequently asked questions*) resulting from the analysis of the social media platform and expert evaluation. They wished for a list of available MS-nurses per geographic location. They suggested there should be a place with information on MS for family, friends, and work colleagues, especially bosses. They seek more information about treatment including medicine. One in the focus group would appreciate a calorie counter alongside with healthy recipes. A few would like to have a forum to discuss MS. The majority have found the calendar function redundant. All these results concerning design choices and content were used in the next design iteration.

3.4 Case Study

There were two participants in the case study who evaluated separately. Firstly, there was a 26-year-old female, finishing a master's degree, diagnosed in 2016. The second was a 29-year-old male, with a master's degree, working full time; his diagnosis was established in 2018.

Both liked the colour orange for the applications since it is the MS colour. The font size was good, but the font family was not satisfactory. One meant that there could never be enough content, whilst the other meant too much information could make it hard to navigate through. Suggested improvements were to change the position of the menu and adding a MS-dictionary. In addition, shorter workouts where requested. Information on the medical exams could be compressed when appropriate (e.g. "read more"-button). One felt food recipes were unnecessary whilst the other wanted easy and quick recipes due to fatigue. They both disliked push notifications. Figure 2 displays the landing page and not additional content; the first version of the prototype was created based on the focus group findings, and the second version was implemented after the case study.



Figure 2. The entry menu and the landing page before and after the case study.

4. Discussion

To really understand the needs of young adults, we have joined a Norwegian social media group for people with MS. In direct contacts we have identified main concerns and needs from which a dynamic picture appeared (Figure 1a-c). Important life and quality of life related questions that were discussed. Information often exchanged amongst peers is usually not addressed during regular medical visits, hence the information needs.

The medical experts from Haukeland University Hospital have also appreciated the data coming from this research (Figure 1a-c). Based on such positive feedback, we have designed a prototype to suit young adults and keep them interested in a healthy lifestyle instead of reminding them on the worrisome side of the MS. There are situations such as acute attacks that are demanding on patients and surroundings, but all other times the quality of life remains good. Ideally, they could manage their lives on their own and contact medical professionals when absolutely needed. An app would thus be helpful.

We have also used a case study to gain more information about the conditions of living with MS and to evaluate the prototype. The detailed feedback provided some reassurance that this kind of lifestyle tool would be a good addition to the already exiting information [6]. Evaluation by the IT experts and the social media group will be important for refinement of the current design solutions.

5. Conclusion

The design for young adults with MS is the first in Norway, tested by a mini social media focus group and participants of a case study. Their suggestions have influenced the content and design. The results were satisfying but could be further improved regarding the medication, an MS dictionary, information on the medical exams, as well as suggestions for short, straightforward physical exercise and easy to make recipes. All these should help young adults with MS to maintain a conscious and healthy lifestyle.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the medical staff at the Norwegian Multiple Sclerosis Competence Centre, the social media focus group and the participants in the case study for their insights and contributions.

- Multippel Sklerose (MS), Helse Bergen, (2018). https://helse-bergen.no/behandlinger/multippel-sklerosems (accessed March 26, 2019).
- [2] Diagnosen, MS-Forbundet. (n.d.). https://www.ms.no/fakta-om-ms/diagnosen (accessed March 26, 2019).
- [3] G. Antezana, et al, An evaluation of behaviour change techniques in health and lifestyle mobile applications, *Health Informatics Journal* (2018) 146045821881372. doi:10.1177/1460458218813726.
- [4] P. Lunde, et al, The Effectiveness of Smartphone Apps for Lifestyle Improvement in Noncommunicable Diseases: Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses, *J Med Internet Res* 20 (2018), e162. doi:10.2196/jmir.9751.
- [5] MS-venner, Facebook. (n.d.). https://www.facebook.com/groups/ms.venner/ (accessed March 2, 2019).
- [6] Multippel Sklerose (MS), MS-Forbundet. (n.d.). https://www.ms.no/ (accessed May 2, 2019).

An Edge Computing Method for Extracting Pathological Information from Phonocardiogram

Arash GHAREHBAGHI^{a, 1}, Amir A. SEPEHRI^b and Ankica BABIC^c

^a School of Innovation, Design and Technology, Mälardalen University, Västerås, Sweden

^bCAPIS Biomedical Research and development Centre, Mons, Belgium ^cDepartment of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

Abstract. This paper presents a structure of decision support system for pediatric cardiac disease, based on an Internet of Things (IoT) framework. The structure performs the intelligent decision making at its edge processing level, which classifies the heart sound signal, to three classes of cardiac conditions, normal, mild disease, and critical disease. Three types of the errors are introduced to evaluate the performance of the processing method, Type 1, 2 and 3, defined as the incorrect classification from the critical disease, mild, and normal, respectively. The method is validated using 140 real data patient records collected from the hospital referrals. The estimated negative errors for the Type 1, and 2, are calculated to be 0% and 4.8%, against the positive errors which are 6.3% and 13.3%, respectively. The Type 3, is calculated to be 16.7%, showing a high sensitivity of the method to be used in an IoT healthcare framework.

Keywords. Time growing neural network, edge processing, internet of things.

1. Introduction

There is a new era of Internet of Things (IoT) thanks to the ever more capable mobile devices, ubiquitous internet, and cloud computing. The concept of Internet-of-things (IoT) provides a solid framework for interconnecting edge computing devices based on the data from mobile technology with its architectural components and their potential to provide person-centered healthcare [1].Actualization of such devices has already been addressed in various studies in the sense of the communication infrastructures and needs for the implementation [2, 3]. Although application of machine learning methods has be investigated in different studies [4, 5], a research gap still exists in monitoring children with heart disease. The main part of such a system is the machine learning algorithm which is installed in a level closed to the sensor to process heart sound signals, so called edge processor that is capable to extract medical information from the signals for the classification purposes. Phonocardiogram (PCG), known as a recording of mechanical activity of heart, has been investigated in light of finding machine learning methods to extract specific information about certain heart disease [6-9]. However, finding a robust algorithm deployable at the edge processing level for

¹ Corresponding Author: Arash GHAREHBAGHI; E-mail: arash.ghareh.baghi@mdh.se.

symptom detection of PCG is yet regarded as a challengeable task, even though artificial intelligence-based methods have been extensively reported in the previous studies [10, 11]. Our recent studies proposed different machine learning methods for detecting certain anomalies from PCG signal, as well as methods for validating structural risk of any machine learning method [12-14]. In this paper, a decision tree-based algorithm is presented to detect pathological systolic murmurs and classify them in terms of the disease severity through a hierarchical architecture. Such an algorithm can be easily incorporated into the FOG level of an IoT framework to serve as an efficient decision support system, by extracting important medical information from PCG. Results show that the obtained system is capable to help the practitioners to prioritize pediatric patients according to the detected pathology.

2. Materials and Methods

The referrals to the Children Medical Center of Tehran, Tehran University, were invited to participate in the study. The informed consent was obtained from the referrals or their legal guardians. All the referrals underwent echocardiography and complementary clinical examinations. We used a portable computer and an electronic stethoscope of WelchAllyn Meditron Analyzer for signal acquisition. Table 1, lists the patient population along with the corresponding cardiac condition.

Table 1. The study population

Heart Condition	Age Range (years)	Number of Referrals	Critical Cases
Aortic Stenosis	1 - 8	20	7
Atrial Spetal Defect	5 - 15	10	2
Mitral Regurgitation	4 - 18	15	0
Normal Heart Condition	4-15	30	0
Patent Ductus Arteriosus	0 - 5	20	3
Pulmonary Stenosis	1 - 10	15	5
Ventricular Septal Defect	2 - 5	30	30

The method is sophisticated to be implemented at the FOG layer of an IoT structure as shown in the Figure 1. The edge processing performed at the FOG layer, involves subclassifications using the medical information which are stored at the cloud. Performing such a sub-classification, substantially reduces excessive processing load from the cloud layer, where the patient records are stored and for which a fast retrieval is important. Time Growing Neural Network (TGNN) is employed for extracting the pathological features, including ejection click, ejection murmur, regurgitation murmur, ventricular septal defect and patent ductus arteriosus. TGNN is based on characterizing signal using spectral energies extracted from the temporal windows with the identical initial point, but by growing length until the whole signal is covered. The extracted spectral energies from the growing windows are classified using a multilayer perceptron neural network. Mathematical details can be found in the citations. In brief here, more than 30% of the children with heart pathology suffer from ventricular septal defect, and our previous studies suggested an efficient method to screen such patients [15]. The rest of the cardiac diseases, are dominantly comprised of aortic or pulmonary heart disease, both producing ejection murmur which is sometime concomitant with ejection click. Time growing neural network has already been employed to screen such the pathological symptoms that can effectively help decision making [16, 17].



Figure 1. The edge processing architecture for extracting medical information at FOG level.

Detecting ejection murmur from the regurgitation murmur, is performed by using a sophisticated TGNN [4, 18, 19]. The main idea of using such the hierarchical structure is to find the children suffering from severe cardiac diseases to be immediately hospitalized and treated as emergencies, whilst keeping the mild pathologies in the lower priority for a continued monitoring. The first processing level of the hierarchy involves the processing methods for detecting pathological murmurs, in conjunction with the ejection click. The pathological murmurs can be created by harsh conditions like ventricular septal defect, or severe aortic stenosis, or paten ductus arteriosus. Trivial aortic or pulmonary stenosis initiate ejection click together with the ejection murmur, and can be classified as no urgent condition.

3. Results and Discussion

In order to evaluate performance of the method, we defined three types of errors. The Type 1 error takes both negative and positive value, corresponding to the patients with critical heart condition classified as normal and vice versa. The negative Type 2 error corresponds to the patients from the critically diseased group, classified as mild cases, whereas the positive Type 2 error is the percentage of the mild case classified as the normal and critically diseased cases, respectively. The Type 3 error is all positive error, corresponding to the normal patients classified as abnormal. The number of the misclassified patients from the critically and mild diseased were 0 whilst there were 7 patients out of 47 and 63 subjects, respectively. The 7 misclassifications correspond to 3 negative and 4 positive errors. From the 30 normal subjects, 4 subjects were classified as having mild disease and 1 as the critically diseased, yielding a positive error of 16.6%. Therefore, the negative error is estimated to be 0% and 4.8% for the Type 1 and 2, respectively. The positive errors are calculated to be 6.3% and 13.3% for the Type 1 and 2, respectively. Although study on PCG signal is considered as a relatively old domain, such the structural processing along with the error definition, incorporated into a, IoT structure is innovative.

4. Conclusions

The paper suggested an IoT structure for intelligent processing of heart sound signals towards development of a decision support system for cardiac disease. Results show that the presented method can provide sufficiently accurate methods to be employed by the health providers like primary healthcare centres or family doctors to screen critically diseased and even mild diseased patients in the IOT healthcare framework.

- S. Hiremath, et al., Wearable Internet of Things: Concept, architectural components and promises for person-centered healthcare. 4th International Conference on Wireless Mobile Communication and Healthcare - Transforming healthcare through innovations in mobile and wireless technologies (2014), 304-307.
- V.Oleshchuk and R. Fensli, Remote Patient Monitoring Within a Future 5G Infrastructure, Wireless Personal Communications 57 (1993), 431-439.
- 3. M. Hamalainen, et al., Advanced Wireless ICT Healthcare Research. 16th IST Mobile and Wireless Communications Summit, (2007), 1-5.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., An Internet-Based Tool for Pediatric Cardiac Disease Diagnosis Using Intelligent Phonocardiography, in IoT Infrastructures: Second International Summit, Rome, Italy, October 27-29, Springer International Publishing, (2015), 43-447.
- L. Clifton, et al., Predictive Monitoring of Mobile Patients by Combining Clinical Observations With Data From Wearable Sensors, *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics* 18 (2014), 722-730.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., A Novel Method for Screening Children with Isolated Bicuspid Aortic Valve, Cardiovascular Engineering and Technology 6 (2015), 546-556.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., A Hybrid Model for Diagnosing Sever Aortic Stenosis in Asymptomatic Patients using Phonocardiogram, in World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering, Springer International Publishing, (2015) 1006-1009.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., A novel model for screening aortic stenosis using phonocardiogram, in IFMBE Proceedings of 16th Nordic-Baltic Conference on Biomedical Engineering, *Springer* 48 (2014), 48-51.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., An Intelligent Method for Discrimination between Aortic and Pulmonary Stenosis using Phonocardiogram, in World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering, *Springer International Publishing* 51 (2015), 1010-1013.
- S. R. Bhatikar, et al., A classifier based on the artificial neural network approach for cardiologic auscultation in pediatrics, *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine* 33 (2005), 251-260.
- 11. I. Cathers, Neural network assisted cardiac auscultation, *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine* 7 (1995), 53-66.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., A Deep Machine Learning Method for Classifying Cyclic Time Series of Biological Signals Using Time-Growing Neural Network, *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems* 29 (2018), 4102-4115.
- 13. A. Gharehbaghi and A. Babic, Structural Risk Evaluation of a Deep Neural Network and a Markov Model in Extracting Medical Information from Phonocardiography, *Studies in health technology and informatics* **251** (2018), 157-160.
- 14. A. Gharehbaghi, et al., Assessment of aortic valve stenosis severity using intelligent phonocardiography, *International Journal of Cardiology* **198** (2015), 58-60.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., Intelligent Phonocardiography for Screening Ventricular Septal Defect Using Time Growing Neural Network, *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 238 (2017), 108-111.
- A. Gharehbaghi, et al., A Hybrid Machine Learning Method for Detecting Cardiac Ejection Murmurs, EMBEC & NBC, Springer International Publisher 65 (2017), 787-790.
- 17. A. Gharehbaghi, et al., Detection of systolic ejection click using time growing neural network *Med Eng Phys* **36** (2014), 477-83.
- A. Gharehbaghi, M. Lindén and A. Babic, A Decision Support System for Cardiac Disease Diagnosis Based on Machine Learning Methods, *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 235 (2017) 43-47.
- 19. A.A. Sepehri, et al., An Intelligent Phonocardiography for Automated Screening of Pediatric Heart Diseases, *Journal of Medical Systems* **40** (2015), 1-16.

Hiding Decision Tree Rules in Medical Data: A Case Study

Georgios FERETZAKIS¹, Dimitris KALLES and Vassilios S. VERYKIOS School of Science and Technology, Hellenic Open University, Patras 263 35, Greece

Abstract. Data sharing among health organizations has become an increasingly common process, but any organization will most likely try to hide some sensitive patterns before it shares its data with others. This article focuses on the protection of sensitive patterns when we assume that decision trees will be the models to be induced. We apply a heuristic approach to hide any arbitrary rule from the derivation of a binary decision tree. The proposed hiding method is preferred over other heuristic solutions such as output disturbance or encryption methods that limit data usability, as the raw data itself can then more easily be offered for access by any third parties.

Keywords. Decision trees; privacy preserving; hiding decision tree rules; medical data; data sharing

1. Introduction and background

In health informatics, data privacy is essential, especially when it comes to analyzing vast amounts of data collected from different sources including health care providers. insurance companies, pharmacies, and research institutions. Information in health care is considered sensitive, and its privacy is a major concern when analyzing for research purposes the personal health care data of the patient. Privacy-protecting data mining [1,2] is a research field that aims to alleviate issues arising from the use of data mining on data collection, information or knowledge contained in data collections, and the confidentiality of subjects recorded in them. Agrawal and Srikant [3] were the first to consider inducing decision-making trees from anonymized data that were adequately noise-driven. For example, the general strand of knowledge-hiding research [4] has resulted in specific algorithms adding noise through a process of data swap [5]. The purpose of this article is to present an application of LDH (Local Distortion Hiding) algorithm [6] in order to protect sensitive patterns that result from the use of data mining techniques. All approaches to privacy conservation are designed to maintain the quality of data. In our previously published articles [7,8], we proposed a series of techniques to adequately protect against the disclosure of sensitive knowledge patterns in mining classification rules. We aim to hide sensitive rules without compromising the information value of the entire data set. After an expert selects the sensitive rules to eliminate the gain achieved by the information metric causing the split, the class labels at the tree node corresponding to the tail of the sensitive pattern are modified. In the articles [9,10], we

¹ Corresponding Author; School of Science and Technology, Hellenic Open University, Patras 263 35, Greece; E-mail: georgios.feretzakis@ac.eap.gr.

extend the aforementioned work by formulating a generic look ahead technique that takes into account the decision tree structure from an affected leaf to the root. This paper aims to enable the original medical data set to be published or shared by hiding the critical rules produced by creating the corresponding decision tree and thus preserving to the maximum extent possible the privacy of the data that led to the appearance of these critical rules. In this article, we present an application of our technique in a medical dataset that does not, as our previous techniques do, affect the class labels of sensitive instances, but rather modifies the values of the attributes of these specific instances. In the proposed method, we first identify the instances that contribute to the creation of a specific rule and then successfully hide this rule with minimal impact to the rest of the decision tree by changing attribute values appropriately.

2. Applying Local Distortion Hashing for Leaf Hiding

To hide by changing the original data set minimally, we can interpret "minimal" changes in data sets by judging whether the sanitized decision tree generated through hiding is syntactically close to the original with minimum modification of the initial data set. Measuring how decision trees change has also been examined in the context of heuristics which attempt to approximate the structural effects of such changes [11,12,13]. In our example, we use the kappa statistic to compare the efficiency of the deduced decision tree after the proposed modification with the original one. The information gain metric is used to select the test attribute at each node of the decision tree, just like ID3, one of the earliest decision tree induction algorithms [14], whereas its successor, C4.5 [15], uses the gain ratio metric, an improvement of the information gain. The attribute with the highest gain ratio is selected as the splitting attribute. Therefore, if we would like to suppress a particular attribute test at a node, a reasonable heuristic would be to try to modify the values (for that attribute) of the instances which would arrive at that node. By this modification, the resulting information gain due to that attribute would be reduced, becoming equal to zero if possible. The algorithm LDH locates the parent node of the leaf to be hidden and ensures that the attribute tested at that node will not generate a splitting which would allow that leaf to re-emerge.

3. Applying LDH to a medical data set

We show an example in this section regarding a binary medical dataset from the UCI— Machine Learning Repository [16] (SPECT). The SPECT Heart [17] training data set is based on data from cardiac Single Proton Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) images. Each patient is classified into one of two categories: normal and abnormal. SPECT is a good data set for testing ML algorithms; it has 187 instances that are described by 23 binary attributes (A1–A22, Class). The binary values for the attributes (A1–A22) are true (t) or false (f), and the corresponding values for the Class are positive (p) or negative (n).

The WEKA—Data Mining Software in Java [18] workbench is a collection of machine learning algorithms and data preprocessing tools. We chose for our experiments to use the classification algorithm J48 which is the implementation of the Quinlan C4.5 algorithm. C4.5 can be referred to as the statistic Classifier. This algorithm uses the gain ratio for feature selection and to construct the decision tree. It handles both continuous

and discrete features. The C4.5 algorithm is widely used because of its quick classification and high precision. The C4.5 algorithm for building decision trees is implemented in Weka as a classifier called J48.

In our example in the SPECT data set, we try to conceal the terminal internal node *attr15* which is shown in the figure below (Figure 1). In this way, we have succeeded in eliminating the contribution of the node *attr15* below its parent *attr5*, and the result is shown in Figure 2. Since the size of the above decision tree is too large to fit into one page, only the tree section around the critical node is presented. The reader can find all the data set files (.arff) on the website [19] before and after our distortion method has been applied. In addition to the data sets, all decision trees are also available in full-scale deployment as extracted from WEKA and visualized by Graphviz [20]. The kappa statistic adjusts precision by taking into account by chance alone the possibility of a correct prediction.



370



Figure 1. Original decision tree with the node attr15.

Figure 2. Final decision tree without the node attr15.

The kappa statistic values corresponding to the original and modified data sets are 0.834 and 0.795 respectively. We can also conclude from all other WEKA statistics presented in Table 1 below that the node *attr15* has been successfully hidden without significantly affecting the effectiveness of the decision tree. The decision tree induced by the modified dataset produced by LDH algorithm is the same as the original one without the existence of node *attr15*.

Table 1. Weka output for the original and modified data sets.

	Original	Modified
Correctly Classified Instances	182	181
Incorrectly Classified Instances	5	6
Kappa statistic	0.834	0.795
Mean absolute error	0.0352	0.0406
Root-mean-squared error	0.1328	0.1425
Relative absolute error	29.2968%	26.8315%
Root relative squared error	48.8664%	52.4427%

4. Conclusion

Our new methodology enables one to specify which decision tree leaves in the original data set should be hidden and then to judiciously change certain attribute values in specific instances. This technique could be extensively used in sharing medical data by helping to hide only the sensitive patterns without affecting all the remaining valuable information. The short-term development objective is to have the technique proposed as a standard data engineering service to address hiding requests.

- V.S. Verykios, E. Bertino, I. Fovino, L. Provenza, Y. Saygin and Y. Theodoridis, State-of-the-art in privacy-preserving data mining, ACM SIGMOD Record 33 (2004), 50-57. doi:10.1145/974121.974131.
- [2] B. Brumen, M. Heričko, A. Sevčnikar, J. Završnik and M. Hölbl, Outsourcing Medical Data Analyses: Can Technology Overcome Legal, Privacy, and Confidentiality Issues? J. Med. Int. Res. 15 (2013), e283. doi:10.2196/jmir.2471.
- [3] R. Agrawal and R. Srikant, Privacy-preserving data mining, In Proceedings of the 2000 ACM SIGMOD International Conference on Management of Data—SIGMOD '00, Dallas, TX, USA, 15–18 May 2000.
- [4] A. Gkoulalas-Divanis and V.S. Verykios, Privacy-Preserving Data Mining: How far can we go? In Handbook of Research on Data Mining in Public and Private Sectors: Organizational and Governmental Applications; IGI Global: Hershey, PA, USA, 2009; pp. 1–21.
- [5] V. Estivill-Castro and L. Brankovic, Data swapping: Balancing privacy against precision in mining for logic rules, In DaWaK '99, Proceedings of the First International Conference on Data Warehousing and Knowledge Discovery, Florence, Italy, 30 August–1 September 1999; Springer-Verlag: London, UK, 1999; pp. 389–398.
- [6] G. Feretzakis, D. Kalles and V.S. Verykios, Using Minimum Local Distortion to Hide Decision Tree Rules, *Entropy* 21 (2019), 334.
- [7] D. Kalles, V.S. Verykios, G. Feretzakis and A. Papagelis, Data set operations to hide decision tree rules, In Proceedings of the Twenty-second European Conference on Artificial Intelligence, Hague, The Netherlands, 29 August–2 September 2016.
- [8] D. Kalles, D.; V.S. Verykios, G. Feretzakis, A. Papagelis, Data set operations to hide decision tree rules. In Proceedings of the 1St International Workshop on AI for Privacy and Security—Praise '16, Hague, The Netherlands, 29–30 August 2016.
- [9] G. Feretzakis, D. Kalles and V.S. Verykios, On Using Linear Diophantine Equations for Efficient Hiding of Decision Tree Rules, In Proceedings of the 10th Hellenic Conference on Artificial Intelligence—SETN '18, Patras, Greece, 9–12 July 2018.
- [10] G. Feretzakis, D. Kalles and V.S. Verykios, On Using Linear Diophantine Equations for in-Parallel Hiding of Decision Tree Rules, *Entropy* 21 (2019), 66. doi:10.3390/e21010066.
- [11] D. Kalles and T. Morris, Efficient incremental induction of decision trees, *Mach. Learn.* 24 (1996), 231–242. doi:10.1007/bf00058613.
- [12] D. Kalles and A. Papagelis, Stable decision trees: Using local anarchy for efficient incremental learning, Int. J. Artif. Intell. Tools 9 (2000), 79–95. doi:10.1142/s0218213000000070.
- [13] D. Kalles and A. Papagelis, Lossless fitness inheritance in genetic algorithms for decision trees, Soft Comput. 14 (2009), 973–993. doi:10.1007/s00500-009-0489-y.
- [14] J.R. Quinlan, Induction of Decision Trees, In Machine Learning 1, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, MA, USA, 1986; pp. 81–106.
- [15] J.R. Quinlan, C4.5. Programs for Machine Learning. Morgan Kaufmann: CA, USA, 1993.
- [16] D. Dua and C. Graff, UCI Machine Learning Repository, Irvine, CA: University of California, School of Information and Computer Science, 2019. http://archive.ics.uci.edu/ml.
- [17] L.A. Kurgan, K.J. Cios, R. Tadeusiewicz, M. Ogiela and L.S. Goodenday, Knowledge Discovery Approach to Automated Cardiac SPECT Diagnosis, *Artif. Intell. Med.* 23 (2001), 149–169.
- [18] M. Hall, E. Frank, G. Holmes, B. Pfahringer, P. Reutemann and I. Witten, The WEKA data mining software, ACM SIGKDD Explor. Newslett. 11 (2009), 10–18.
- [19] G. Feretzakis, Hiding Decision Tree Rules in Medical Data: A Case Study (2019). http://www.learningalgorithm.eu/datafiles_SPECT.html (accessed April 28, 2019).
- [20] J. Ellson, E. Gansner, L. Koutsofios, S.C. North and G. Woodhull, Graphviz Open source graph drawing tools, *Graph Drawing*, (2001). doi:10.1007/3-540-45848-4_57.

Establishing User Requirements for a Norwegian IBD Mobile Application

Runar OLSEN^{a, 1} and Ankica BABIC^{a,b}

^a Department of Information Science and Media Studies, University of Bergen, Norway ^b Department of Biomedical Engineering, Linköping University, Sweden

> Abstract. Six people with Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) were interviewed in a natural setting with the purpose of defining requirements for a new IBD mobile application. The first part of the interview had open disease related questions, and the second part involved evaluating three publically available IBD applications. Results suggest that the most important user requirements could be met by implementing the following functionalities; registration of general well-being, bowel movements, and pain. All the study subjects believed in simple graphical solutions to register data and to represent the course of the disease in a satisfactory manner. It should be possible for a user to modify information and enter notes regarding changes of medication, diet, operations. The main features must meet the most general needs, while allowing users to enter unique information. This could serve as a practical guideline for developers.

> Keywords. Inflammatory bowel disease, self-management application, user requirements, prototype.

1. Introduction

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) is an umbrella term used to describe disorders that involve chronic inflammation of the digestive tract. The term include two types: Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) [1]. An increase in the prevalence of IBD over the past ten years has led to an increased use of health services and longer waiting lists for people with IBD. Self-management is thus an important tool for people with IBD when dealing with the various symptoms that can arise in everyday life.

When developing a mobile application for self-management, it is important to consider perspectives from both patients and medical personnel [2]. The main motivation for designing an IBD application is to meet the user needs of persons living with the disease in Norway. A well-informed design is likely to be both relevant and competent for Norwegian users. Six people living with IBD were interviewed to establish user requirements for a new IBD mobile application.

Principally, there are functional requirements to consider; users should be able to register symptoms and follow the disease course for their own sake, but also to share it with doctors during consultations. Ideally, the application would use the registered data to inform the users when they should contact medical personnel. Of the non-functional requirements, the application should encourage user friendly and regular entries to fulfil

¹ Corresponding Author, Runar Olsen; E-mail: Runar.Olsen@uib.no.

its monitoring and self-management purpose. The paper focuses on establishing user requirements as a part of designing a prototype of an IBD application.

2. Method

Six people with IBD were interviewed in a natural setting in Bergen, Norway, during the spring of 2018, with the purpose of defining requirements for a new IBD application. The interview consisted of two parts. The first part with open disease related questions, and the second part involved evaluating three publically available IBD applications, "Bowelle" [3], "IBD-app" [4], and "myIBD" [5].

Study subjects were recruited via a patient organization called "The National Organization for Digestive Diseases", which is a Norwegian organization for people with IBD. There were three males and three females, aged between 20 and 60 years. Three of the participants had a CD, and three had UC. Experience with the disease varied in degree, both in terms of how long they had lived with it, and how the disease affected them in everyday life. Three people reported that they were in remission, while three people had been through operations and/or felt the disease negatively affected them in terms of pain and other challenges.

The purpose of the first part of the interview was to get information about the subjects' experiences with the disease and with technology. For example, on handling symptoms, patient-doctor consultation, and their experience with IBD mobile applications. During the second part of the interview the subjects were asked to evaluate three IBD applications. For this purpose, we used a Likert Scale [6] to identify the most preferable functionalities in already available IBD applications. In addition, we conducted an in-depth case study with a person who had lived with UC for six year with the objective to find the most suitable functionalities and design features.

3. Results

Five of the participants thought their IT skills could be described as average. An average user would use a PC and mobile telephone daily and is capable of trying different programs. One of the subjects classified as well above the average in terms of IT skills, due to his current profession in the IT industry. Regarding the functionalities, four had not used a similar application earlier and had no concrete examples of functionality, but rather general remarks on how it could work. They thought the key was that an application should be simple and quick to use, and it should not be associated with any stress. It should also follow the course of the disease and present it in an understandable manner. One subject had occasionally used the application IBD-app earlier, but stopped using it because it crashed several times.

One of the subjects' actively used the IBD-app and had specific suggestions regarding functionality. The subject considered registration of pain and toilet visits as the most useful features, and pointed out that it should be possible to register multiple toilet visits during the day. The subject also thought that if the results were to be presented as a graph, it should be possible to get more information out of the graph, such as high activity points through use of colors. There were also suggestions regarding design features, i.e. to use simple icons such as rolls of toilet paper and smileys that could simplify daily registrations.

In the second part of the interview three applications were evaluated. The focus group believed that the application "Bowelle" was the most simple and straightforward to use. All the applications had functionality for registering intestinal activity, and all six subjects' believed that "Bowelle" was the best. "IBD-app" and "myIBD" had also functionality for registering pain with "myIBD" as the preferred solution. Four of the subjects mentioned that pain scale from 0-10 used in "myIBD" was a good choice since the same scale is also used by doctors. All subjects preferred results presented in graphs, but would add type and cause of pain. The group feedback resulted in three main functionalities, namely; registration of "General well-being", registration of "Bowel movement" and registration of "Pain". It was also suggested that a collection of the registered data should be presented in a graph. A low to mixed-fidelity prototype was developed (Figure 1) to visualize the concept and functionalities.

Figure 1 illustrates "General well-being", "Bowel movement", and "Pain" wireframes. It should be possible to press each of them to register more information, for example adding a bowel movement or register pain from 1-10. At the top of the application, users can follow the course of the disease, where each point on the graph represents a day. In the menu at the top right, users can enter medication, reminders, and see a report showing historical data they have entered.



Figure 1. A low to mixed-fidelity prototype based on feedback from the focus group.

4. Discussion

According to Nielsen and Levy [7] "one has a reasonably large chance of success if one chooses between interfaces based solely on users' opinions". The method in this study could be considered as a user-centered approach, which is the recommended method to use in the medical domain because it enables and actively encourages understanding into user needs and requirements [8]. It would have been beneficial to include more study subjects which is something to consider in future development.

It was commonly understood by the group that a new application should be simple and straightforward to allow frequent use. Three most relevant functionalities were; "Register general well-being", "Register bowel movement", and "Register pain". However, there was a wish to have individual possibilities to register unique information which would put demands to design customizable solutions. For example, register information about change of medication or sudden weight loss could be beneficial.

During the interviews, it became clear that all the study subjects believed that a graph in itself did not represent the course of the disease in a completely satisfactory manner.

Therefore, it should be possible for a user to modify information and enter notes regarding change of medication, diet, operations. One of the subject said during the interview that alcohol could lead to pain. This too would be unique information for this user that could be entered as a note in the application.

Because IBD is considered to be an unpredictable disease that requires individual adaptation, it becomes difficult to create an application that meets every need of each patient. The main features must then meet the most general needs, while allowing users to enter unique information. This could serve as a practical guideline for the developers.

5. Conclusion

Results from interviews with persons living with IBD led to low- and mixed-fidelity prototypes of a self-management mobile application. The most important user requirements are met through the following functionalities; *registration of general well-being, bowel movements, and pain.* Certain features should be personalized when needed; graphs and standardized pain scale are preferable. Future work includes heuristic evaluation of the new application and multiple evaluations with patients and medical experts using System Usability Scale (SUS) to measure perceived usability. In addition, a clinical trial should be conducted with a larger number of study subjects to understand the clinical value of an IBD application.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the focus group for their insights and contributions.

- L. Buer and B. Moum, Innflammatorisk tarmsykdom diagnostikk og behandling. https://indremedisineren.no/2016/08/inflammatorisk-tarmsykdom-diagnostikk-og-behandling (accessed April 10, 2019).
- [2] D. Con and P. D Cruz, Mobile Phone Apps for Inflammatory Bowel Disease Self-Management: A Systematic Assessment of Content and Tools, *JMIR mhealth Uhealth* 4 (1) (2016).
- [3] Bowelle. The IBS tracker A food and symptom diary for iOS. https://bowelle.com/ (accessed: May 10, 2019).
- [4] F. Legemidler AS, IBD App. http://www.ibd.as/ibd-app/ (accessed May 10, 2019).
- [5] The Hospital for Sick Children "myIBD". https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/myibd/id444728980?mt=8 (accessed May 10, 2019).
- [6] H. Sharp, Y. Rogers and J. Preece, Interaction Design: Beyond Human Computer Interaction, John Wiley & Sons, 3rd ed, 2011.
- [7] J. Nilsen and J. Levy, Measuring usability: preference vs. performance, *Communications of the ACM* 37(4) (1994), 66-75.
- [8] S.A. Fricker, C. Thummler and A. Gavras. *Requirements Engineering for Digital Health*, Springer International Publishing, 2015.

Confocal Laser Endomicroscopy for Intraoperative Tumor Assessment: Development of a Conceptual Model for an Evaluation Study

Marina FOTTELER^{a, 1}, Lisa HENINGER^a, Felix HOLL^{a,b,c}, Jürgen SCHLEGEL^d and Walter SWOBODA^a

^aNeu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Neu-Ulm, Germany, ^bUniversity of California, San Francisco, USA, ^cLudwig-Maximilian University of Munich, Germany, ^dTechnical University of Munich, Germany

Abstract. Brain tumor surgery is a complex medical procedure. The extent of tumor resection is essential for postoperative recovery and survival. The neurosurgeon needs to regularly check the borderline between healthy and cancerous tissue. Currently, tissue samples are extracted via instantaneous sections and sent to a neuropathologist for examination. This process takes time and requires extensive human resources. Confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE) allows visualization of cellular structures in vivo without the need for sample extraction. This paper presents a conceptual model which serves as the hypothetical basis for a planned intervention study to evaluate CLE with the case example of brain tumor surgery. Using current literature and expert interviews, the model has been tested. The expected improvement of the medical outcome could be confirmed. Regarding the socioeconomic impact of CLE, the literature is scarce. Expert interviews confirmed the hypotheses that costs and the workload for clinical staff might increase.

Keywords. Confocal endomicroscopy, digital biopsy, neuropathology

1. Introduction

Brain tumor surgery is a complex procedure. The extent of tumor resection is essential for postoperative recovery and survival [1-3]. The neurosurgeon needs to regularly check the borderline between healthy and cancerous tissue. Depending on tumor type and penetration, it can be difficult to impossible to determine the border intraoperatively [4; 5]. Currently, tissue samples are extracted via instantaneous sections and sent to a neuropathologist for micro- and macroscopic assessment. Transport, examination and redelivery of results prolong the surgery. According to scientists it is not uncommon for the surgeon to wait up to 45 minutes before continuing with the operation [3].

Digital technologies are considered to be an essential stimulus for improved processes in medicine. Telemedicine, remote diagnosis or therapy with information and

¹ Marina Fotteler, DigiHealth, Neu-Ulm University of Applied Sciences, Wileystrasse 1, 89231 Neu-Ulm, Germany; E-Mail: marina.fotteler@hs-neu-ulm.de.

communication technologies, is especially promising [6]. Confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE) digitalizes the biopsy process and has the potential to accelerate intraoperative decision-making and improve patient outcome. This article describes a project aiming to evaluate CLE using the tool CONVIVO (Carl Zeiss AG, Figure 1). CONVIVO is equipped with a confocal microscope located in a handheld scanner probe which can be placed on the tissue surface. Cellular tissue structures can be visualized in vivo during surgery and are shown on a monitor. There is no need for sample resection.



Figure 1: Main components of CONVIVO including sterile sheath. (1) Cart, (2) touchscreen monitor, (3) foot control panel, (4) scanner unit, (5) scanner probe, (6) coupler unit, (7) sterile sheath [7]

2. Methods

The increasing availability of digital devices in health care, rises the need for assessment studies. The planned pilot study (funded by the Bavarian Ministry for Science and Arts) aims to test CONVIVO at the Technical University of Munich Hospital using the case example of brain tumor surgery. The device will be connected to the Department of Neuropathology for remote image analysis. We intent to evaluate both socioeconomic and medical indicators to measure the tool's impact. Examples for evaluation criteria are economic feasibility, usability, data reliability and medical outcome. The study started in January 2019 with a duration of 36 months.



Figure 2: Conceptual model visualizing the hypothetical basis for the project

To establish a common theoretical basis and guide future project activities, the authors began by developing a conceptual model (Figure 2) to determine and visualize the working hypotheses following the framework suggested by Gray and Sockolow [8]. The model was tested analyzing current literature and conducting seven interviews with

experts from various relevant backgrounds including neuropathology, neurosurgery, nursing, quality management and medical engineering.

3. Results

Several studies have shown that CLE combined with a fluorescent agent allows for better resolution and determination of tumor edges. Faster histopathologic examination and more extensive resection are possible. The procedure is non-invasive and the number of samples is not restricted [2-4; 7; 9]. An additional benefit is the shorter time needed for surgery which is also advantageous for patient recovery [2; 9]. All seven interviewed experts confirmed the assumptions of an improved medical outcome and the chance to avoid reoperations using CLE (quotes translated from German by MF): "*If it is reliable, it is great and can increase efficiency and in particular patient safety and avoid reoperations.*", "Using digital biopsy processes will be sped up. We will have markedly shorter surgery duration; we do not have to bridge the time gap until the results arrive.".

Few studies report on socioeconomic outcomes of CLE. We assume that the procedure harbors technical and operative challenges. The device must be scheduled, prepared and maintained for surgery, which was also mentioned by the experts: "For the nurse, I think, it probably means an increased effort. [...] It is another piece of equipment that has to be prepared for surgery and maintained.". All clinical staff has to be trained and in particular surgeons and pathologists need to get accustomed to CLE-images [1; 3]. The neuropathologist must be available on call, ready to assist with the diagnosis. An increased workload for all clinical staff is expected.

Initial investment costs for CLE are high, which was mentioned by experts: "Replacing a procedure that normally costs approximately 16€ with a device that costs half a million - the question is, if this helps.", "I think there are systems that make sense and help to save money but innovation is always expensive in the beginning.". The literature did not mention the cost aspect. Work flows in neurosurgery and -pathology will change as confirmed by both literature and experts [3; 4; 9]: "To have neuropathologists in centers that diagnose via telepathology at some point, will be reality, I think.". However, no evidence could be found confirming an increased process duration overall. Table 1 summarizes these preliminary results.

Hypotheses	Literature	Expert Interviews
H1	confirmed	confirmed
H2	confirmed	confirmed
Н3	partly confirmed	confirmed
H4	not confirmed	confirmed
H5	not confirmed	not confirmed

Table 1. Overview of results

4. Discussion

Available literature primarily focuses on the medical outcome of CLE. H1-H3 (improved therapy, shorter operation time, increased workload) could all be confirmed, at least partially. The literature does not include evidence on an increase of costs. Consequently, H4 could only be confirmed by expert interviews. Peyre et al. [5] recommend to combine CLE with fluorescence-guided surgery to increase cost-efficiency, suggesting high costs
of CLE. Certainly, investment costs for the device are high. Streamlining the process and reducing operating costs might counterbalance initial spending. The economic feasibility of the procedure requires further investigation.

CLE promises medical improvements by reducing errors, shortening operation time and decreasing the number of reoperations [2]. The technique is not yet equivalent to instantaneous sections and scientists currently do not agree whether it should replace [2; 3] or only complement the current procedure [1; 5]. CLE is more expensive, including not only investment costs but also potentially process costs, and increases the workload for clinical staff. Neurosurgeons and –pathologists are not familiar enough with CLEimages to replace instantaneous sections [3]. Process duration might increase through use and maintenance of the device (H5). It is however possible that time saved during surgery and gained efficiency compensate for the increased process complexity.

Study limitations include a lack of generalizability of interview data. The data represent opinions and the analysis is person-dependent. CLE in neuropathology is a very specific topic and results might not be transferrable to other areas. The seven interviews are not sufficient to confirm the hypotheses. The literature review was not exhaustive and existing studies might have been missed. Nevertheless, the results strengthen the hypothetical basis and provide support and justification for the planned study.

Neuropathology is a highly specialized field and CLE provides a chance to more efficient use of this expertise. The development of telemedical centers where one neuropathologist assists several clinics could reduce the personnel demand and contribute to overcome socioeconomic challenges mentioned here [2; 3; 10]. Further research and evaluation of the method is necessary to advance the establishment of CLE.

- D. Breuskin, J. Szczygielski, S. Urbschat, Y.J. Kim and J. Oertel, Confocal Laser Endomicroscopy in Neurosurgery-An Alternative to Instantaneous Sections?, *World Neurosurgery* 100 (2017), 180-185.
- [2] N. Sanai, J. Eschbacher, G. Hattendorf, S.W. Coons, M.C. Preul, K.A. Smith, P. Nakaji and R.F. Spetzler, Intraoperative confocal microscopy for brain tumors: a feasibility analysis in humans, *Neurosurgery* 68 (2011), 282-290.
- [3] T. Sankar, P.M. Delaney, R.W. Ryan, J. Eschbacher, M. Abdelwahab, P. Nakaji, S.W. Coons, A.C. Scheck, K.A. Smith, R.F. Spetzler and M.C. Preul, Miniaturized handheld confocal microscopy for neurosurgery: results in an experimental glioblastoma model, *Neurosurgery* 66 (2010), 410-417.
- [4] N.L. Martirosyan, J. Georges, M.Y. Kalani, P. Nakaji, R.F. Spetzler, B.G. Feuerstein and M.C. Preul, Handheld confocal laser endomicroscopic imaging utilizing tumor-specific fluorescent labeling to identify experimental glioma cells in vivo, *Surgical Neurology International* 7 (2016), 995-1003.
- [5] M. Peyre, E. Clermont-Taranchon, A. Stemmer-Rachamimov and M. Kalamarides, Miniaturized handheld confocal microscopy identifies focal brain invasion in a mouse model of aggressive meningioma, *Brain Pathology* 23 (2013), 371-377.
- [6] R.C. Merrell and C.R. Doarn, Telemedicine and health information technology to achieve millennium development goals, *Telemedicine Journal and e-Health* **17** (2011), 63.
- [7] Carl Zeiss Meditec AG, Implementation of confocal endomicroscopy in brain surgery, *Laser+Photonics* (2018), 10.
- [8] K. Gray and P. Sockolow, Conceptual Models in Health Informatics Research: A Literature Review and Suggestions for Development, *JMIR Med Inform* 4 (2016), 9.
- [9] N.L. Martirosyan, J.M. Eschbacher, M.Y. Kalani, J.D. Turner, E. Belykh, R.F. Spetzler, P. Nakaji and M.C. Preul, Prospective evaluation of the utility of intraoperative confocal laser endomicroscopy in patients with brain neoplasms using fluorescein sodium: experience with 74 cases, *Neurosurgical Focus* 40 (2016), 8.
- [10] J. Eschbacher, N.L. Martirosyan, P. Nakaji, N. Sanai, M.C. Preul, K.A. Smith, S.W. Coons and R.F. Spetzler, In vivo intraoperative confocal microscopy for real-time histopathological imaging of brain tumors, *Journal of Neurosurgery* 116 (2012), 854-860.

Colorectal Cancer Registration: Data Approach to Knowledge

Sara DORRI^{a,b}, Najmeh NAZERI^b, Seyedeh nahid SEYEDHASANI^c, Sina MARASHI^d, Fatemeh HAJIALIASGARI^d and Alireza ATASHI^{b,d,1}

 ^aDepartment of Medical Informatics, Student Research Committee, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
^b Clinical Research Department, Breast Cancer Research Center, Motamed Cancer Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

 ^c Department of Health Information Technology, School of Paramedical Sciences, Torbat Heydariyeh University of Medical Sciences, Torbat Heydariyeh, Iran
^d E-Health Department, Virtual School, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Abstract. For ensuring the quality of data and facilitating data exchange between healthcare providers and professional organizations, it is necessary to define a standard data set. The main aim of this study was to define a national minimum data set for colorectal cancer in Iran. To develop this data set, a combination of literature review and two rounds of a modified Delphi technique were used. An initial checklist was proposed based on a literature review and comparative studies. Based on the literature review, main categories, including: demographic information, diagnostic information, treatment information, clinical status assessment information, and clinical trial information were proposed. In this study, the national minimum data set of colorectal cancer was collected. Developing this data set through standard contents can improve effective health information exchange for both healthcare providers and health information systems.

Keywords. Minimum Data set, Registry, Colorectal Cancer

1. Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common invasive cancers in the world and causes physical, emotional, and social problems [1]. CRC is the third most common cancer in the United States [2]. In Iran, the standardized incidence rate is 11.3 in men and 10.9 in women (p < 0.001) in 2009 [3]. In Iranian men, CRC incidence ranks 5th and 3rd in women, and it is 4th in overall cancers [4]. The Existence of Information as a mediator in effective care and treatment is essential in health-care systems and should be distributed properly among users of health-care systems [5]. The World Health Organization (WHO) has mentioned that accurate, timely, and accessible healthcare services [6]. To ensure the quality of collected data, professional organizations have attempted to provide and distribute guidelines for Minimum Data Sets (MDS) for different kinds of cancer [7]. Variation in data collecting processes do not allow the use

¹ Corresponding Author, Alireza Atashi; E-mail: Aratashi@sina.tums.ac.ir.

of patient data for directing efficient care processes and also limit the reusability of them for other applications [8]. The purpose of designing such data sets for colorectal cancer is to facilitate communication between healthcare providers and to increase the reusability of information through avoiding repeated tests for patients in various referral settings. Because no such a data set exists in Iran, we decided to design a data set of required information related to colorectal cancer registration using national and international guidelines and expert opinions for specific documentation of colorectal cancer in Iran.

2. Methods

This applied descriptive study was conducted in Tehran and Mashhad, two cities of Iran. The researchers used mixed methods to extract data items. In first phase a complete literature review was done in PubMed, Science Direct, Scopus, Google Scholar, Magiran, SID, and Iran Doc Iranian websites, both in English and Persian. All of these resources were considered and relevant data items were extracted and inserted into a checklist with checkboxes entitled "yes" and "no" for each item and had enough free space to write in additional comments from the participant. In second phase we used Delphi technique. We invited 15 medical informatics specialists, 15 surgeons, and 15 oncologists. Participants were asked to give us their comments and suggestions about the necessity of all elements. Whenever more than two-thirds of participants agreed on the necessity of an item, it was considered essential and was entered in to the second checklist. Finally, this phase was completed in 2 rounds of Delphi. The prepared checklist was finalized.

3. Results

In first phase 85 data items were obtained and classified as 10 categories. In phase2, total of 15 medical informatics, 7 surgeons, and 7 oncologists responded to our invitation. Participant's comments and suggestions were considered for development and improvement of the checklist. For every item, these comments were reviewed separately by researchers and used to develop the second checklist (Table 1).

Main Categories	Sub-Category Information	Round 1	Round2
		Data Items	Data Items
Demographic	Referral	11	10
	Patient Identification	11	9
Diagnostic	Colonoscopy	21	16
	Pathology	20	19
	Diagnosis	7	6
Treatment	Treatment	15	22
Clinical Status	Clinical Status Assessment	7	9
Assessment	Palliative Care	4	-
	Completion of Primary Treatment	2	2
Clinical Trial	Clinical trial	2	2

Table 1. Categories of Data Items in Two Rounds of Delphi.

Most of the recommendations were related to the treatment and side effect of colorectal cancer including categorization and integration of elements in the treatment category. In round2, the subgroup related to palliative care was omitted. Data elements were standards by 2 medical informatics specialists.

4. Discussion

In this study, a complete data set of colorectal cancer was gathered. This study was done in three phases and used combined methods including literature review and a Delphi technique. This data set was classified into 5 main of "demographic information," "diagnostic information," "treatment information," "clinical status assessment information," and "clinical trial information." According to our investigation, this study is the first of its kind in colorectal cancer in Iran.

In Iran, all kinds of cancers are recorded through the National Program Cancer Registry in Ministry of Health. Cancer recording in Iran started 30 years ago. Under the best conditions for cancer recording, 80% of cancers could be reported by pathologists and other cancers such as lung or liver cancer that are not diagnosed by biopsy can be reported by a population-based cancer registry method [9]. This program is not specific enough to record complete information for each cancer.

Cancer documentation systems in different countries can be classified into main groups, including demographic data, tumor, and its treatment, and information about death [10]. The present study had 5 categories including these 3 main categories. Diagnostic information included colonoscopy, pathology, and final diagnosis information. Because the gold standard of colorectal cancer diagnosis is colonoscopy [11], we did not include other diagnostic methods such as imaging in this study. High-quality histopathologic reporting is crucial in colorectal cancer management, which includes cancer stage and completeness of surgical excision, and can be used to predict progression and future treatment options. Therefore, it is essential that the pathology report should include accurate data for these purposes [12]. To achieve this aim, we searched for protocols and MDS for reporting histopathology of colorectal cancer. Finally, 4 studies [13-16] were considered and compared for essential data items that should be provided in histopathology reports. Common data items in these studies were imported to our checklist in phase 1.

Treatment information categories included treatment plan and type of treatment that included surgery, medicines and chemotherapy, and radiotherapy. If the treatment plan is changed, data items for recording the cause of this change should be considered. Categories of clinical status assessment consist of metastatic status, laboratory information, number of appointments, comorbidity, recurrence date, complications, and information about death. The last category is clinical trials that patients might participate in. It is reported that 35% of colorectal cancer patients in Iran had a family history of colorectal cancer and 42% were under 50 years old. Also, it was suggested that genetic factors can be important in its progression [17]. In our study, data about family history were available but the professionals did not suggest investigation of genetic factors or their role. This could be due to its not being a priority or because of the high cost and its being time-consuming. Moreover, tumor size, tumor stage, distant metastasis, and tumor grade are the most important prognostic factors for colorectal cancer [18], which have been considered in our study. Because this study was the first of its kind in Iran about a minimum data set of colorectal cancer, it maybe need ongoing updates. Future investigations can study the reliability and validity of the present study results, focus

group meetings on grading the most important data items for colorectal cancer registry, and determine priorities in Iran.

This dataset can improve cancer registry and prevent additional costs of repetitive tests and accelerate research processes. In technological view, it can increase interoperability and facilitate data sharing between health care systems.

- J. Dunn, B. Lynch, M. Rinaldis, K. Pakenham, L. McPherson, N. Owen, B. Leggett, B. Newman and J. Aitken, Dimensions of quality of life and psychosocial variables most salient to colorectal cancer patients, *Psychooncology* 15 (2006), 20-30.
- [2] R.L. Siegel, K.D. Miller, S.A. Fedewa, D.J. Ahnen, R.G. Meester, A. Barzi and A. Jemal, Colorectal cancer statistics, *CA Cancer J Clin* (2017).
- [3] E. Abdifard, S. Amini, S. Bab, N. Masroor, A. Khachian and M. Heidari, Incidence trends of colorectal cancer in Iran during, 2000-2009: A population-based study, *Medical Journal of the Islamic Republic* of Iran 30 (2016), 382.
- [4] H. Aghajani, K. Eatemad, M. Goya, R. Ramezani, M.N.F. Modirian and F. Nadali, Iranian annual of national cancer registration report 2008-2009, *Center for Disease Control* (2011).
- [5] M. Ghaneie, A. Rezaie, N.R. Ghorbani, R. Heidari, M. Arjomandi and M. Zare, Designing a minimum data set for breast cancer: a starting point for breast cancer registration in iran, *Iran J Public Health* 42 (2013), 66-73.
- [6] World Health Organization, Medical records manual: a guide for developing countries, Manila, WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific, 2006.
- [7] R. Bjugn, B. Casati and J. Norstein, Structured electronic template for histopathology reports on colorectal carcinomas: a joint project by the Cancer Registry of Norway and the Norwegian Society for Pathology, *Human pathology* **39** (2008), 359-367.
- [8] D.W. Committee, D.A. Pollock, D.L. Adams, L.M. Bernardo, V. Bradley, M.D. Brandt, T.E. Davis, H.G. Garrison, R.M. Iseke, S. Johnson, C.R. Kaufmann, P. Kidd, N. Leon-Chisen, S. MacLean, A. Manton, P.W. McClain, E.A. Michelson, D. Pickett, R.A. Rosen, R.J. Schwartz, M. Smith, J.A. Snyder and J.L. Wright, Data elements for emergency department systems, release 1.0 (DEEDS): A summary report, *Journal of Emergency Nursing* 24 (1998), 35-44.
- [9] Ministry of Health and Medical Education (Health and Treatment Deputy), *Iranian Annual of National Cancer Registration Report 2008-2009*, Center for Disease Control & Prevention, 2011.
- [10] F. Sadoughi, R. Safdari, M. Meraji, N. Ramzan Ghorbani and M. Ghazisaeedi, Designing a minimum data set for national cancer registry in Iran, *Journal of Urmia Nursing And Midwifery Faculty* 11 (2013), 0-0.
- [11] T.M. Geiger and R. Ricciardi, Screening options and recommendations for colorectal cancer, *Clinics in colon and rectal surgery* 22 (2009), 209-217.
- [12] N. Maughan, E. Morris, D. Forman and P. Quirke, The validity of the Royal College of Pathologists' colorectal cancer minimum dataset within a population, *British journal of cancer* 97 (2007), 1393-1398.
- [13] P. Quirke and G. Williams, *Minimum dataset for colorectal cancer histopathology reports*, The Royal College of Pathologists, London, 1998, 31.
- [14] F. Jill, M. Sian and H. Nicholas, Colorectal Cancer Research Consortium Minimum Dataset, Cancer Institute NSW, 2007.
- [15] Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, Colorectal Cancer Structured Reporting Protocol [Online], 2012.
- [16] The Royal College of Pathologists, Standards and datasets for reporting cancers: Dataset for colorectal cancer histopathology reports, 2014.
- [17] A. Safaei, D.B. Moghimi, S. Fatemi, S. Ghiasi and M. Zali, Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer: Study the Recorded Cases in 1379-86, *Zahedan J Res Med Sci* 9 (2007), 209-216.
- [18] P. Quirke, 3: What can the pathologist tell the multidisciplinary team about rectal cancer resection?, *Challenges in Colorectal Cancer* (2008), 31.

Fundamentals of Implementing a National Clinical Registries Program

Mansoor Ali BAIG^{a,b,1}, Somayah J. ALZAHRANI^{a,b}, Mohamad A. ALMUHAIZEA^a and Fahad AL-SHAGATHRH^c

^a King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
^b Department of Biostatistics Epidemiology & Scientific Computing, KFSHRC, KSA
^c Saudi Food and Drug Authority, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Abstract. A National registry program is a resource intensive initiative involving multiple stakeholders, multi-institutional/multi-role/multi-users collaborative effort, where various aspects starting from work culture, research culture, registry conceptualization, resource availability, data format, data storage/retrieval techniques, data sharing protocols, data/dataset standards, data quality etc. vary drastically between different institutions. The biggest challenge for a national program will be to map these aspects under a common umbrella to establish standards for operations/execution, policies and procedures, which means aligning the registry operations with the operative process of each institution at first, due to this only a handful initiatives are implemented with limited success, hence it is advisable to study such implementations in great details as a guideline to build a solid foundation for future national initiatives[1][2]. The idea goes around building a solid database for holding all clinical registries under a single repository, along with streamlining and generalizing the policies and procedures for any disease or medical device registry, in order to save infrastructure spending, streamlining, saving on management and operational costs and overheads.

Keywords. Clinical Registries, National registry, registry electronic data capture

1. Introduction

Clinical registries have been identified as a source of information and evidence for patient collective monitoring and the generation of decision-making about specific diseases/disorders and medical devices since the late 1980's. [1]. The experience in implementing various national registries within the kingdom of Saudi Arabia would be a reference for the process, activities, methods and protocols to be discussed further. A national registry application would ideally record patient's information which would including the basic demographic data, patient's medical history, diagnosis, procedure, and follow-up information. The program would have a nationwide coverage, running in collaboration with various tertiary care specialized centers for specific diseases or devices. This registry program forms an umbrella for various disease / device registries. The Aim of the paper is to generate a roadmap for any ideal national registry program within the kingdom of Saudi Arabia or the Region.

¹ Corresponding Author, Mansoor Ali Baig, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center, Biostatistics, Epidemiology & Scientific Computing Department; E-mail: mansoorbaig@hotmail.com, mbaig97@kfshrc.edu.sa.

2. Methodology

A high-level design needs to be drafted to have multiple registries under a unified platform to be run as a comprehensive registry program on a national level. A high-level dataset and database needs to be defined in order to organize the data elements within each registry with a robust and dynamic structure taking into consideration the multi-institutional and multi-disease aspect of the program. A step-by-step process starting from conceptualization of the idea till the execution of the pilot run would be documented, so that it forms well defined model comprising guidelines and procedures which will build a foundation for any other national registry or a program.

3. Conceptualization & Planning

3.1. Concept

The concept involves establishing a multi institutional national registry program holding multi disease/device/disorders as individual registries, this demands a complex architecture as far as the system development or data structuring is concerned. The conceptualization process consists of two major areas: Designing a dataset for the diseases/devices to be included in the registry at the initial phase, and studying the feasibility across the major participating hospitals to identify the availability of the data/resources, the EHR implementations at the site, data warehousing capabilities, methods of data extraction and data capture, quality control process, audit etc.

3.1.1. Drafting a development plan

A team of experts in different areas needs to be instituted as a part of the planning team, to cover all major aspects such as the data set development, designing policy, procedures and operational guidelines, designing a comprehensive electronic system, for data capture, reporting and analytics[3], also covering the administrative and operational aspects. A separate scientific committee needs to be instantiated, which would include the industry experts, medical specialist and research experts, the purpose of which would be to give proper direction to the initiative to provide a better scientific approach generating good clinical outcomes.

3.1.2. Defining the Data-Set structure and Design

After intensive literature review and analyzing the best practices of various individual disease / device registries worldwide, data elements were studied based on which the common minimum dataset was conceptualized, where common and standardized data elements were framed into a common minimum dataset. Information like patient's demographics remain common irrespective of the devices/registries, whereas the patient's history and the diagnosis information capture can be classified using ICD-10 AM; all this information defines the common minimum dataset [4]. It was observed that only the surgery/procedure and follow-up information include differential information based on the device type. The common minimum dataset was used as the template for finalizing any device dataset which involve mere modification to the surgery/intervention and follow-up entities of the dataset. Any registry dataset in general commonly covers the 5 aspects; namely the demographics and socio-economic

information, patient's medical history (including chronic conditions), primary/secondary diagnosis for patient presentation, the surgery/procedure/therapy for the specific disease/ device and the follow-up.

3.1.3. Feasibility Study

The feasibility study would be a kind of assessment survey which is carried out at a few major participating institutions/hospitals. The purpose was to develop the best framework for a national level that serves the objectives of the program as well as to check on the readiness of the institution in accepting the draft framework of a national registry initiative. The primary aim of this assessment survey is to verify on a few aspects such as resource availability, data entry/extraction methods, data availability, Electronic Health Records implementation, data warehousing capability, current procedural abilities and future planning capacities. Also, an assessment visit is paid to cross validate the common minimum dataset and gather a few inputs of key data elements and garner other suggestions to build synergies of all parties involved [5][6].

4. Research & Development

Based on the program blueprint three core teams needs to be instituted to work on each major aspect of the program (discussed below) these teams would necessarily do their homework by carrying a thorough literature review, review case studies and follow the regulatory guidelines and standards to outline the framework to comply to in order to develop their expected outputs.

4.1. Data Set Design

Based on the common minimum dataset as a foundation a comprehensive dataset for different disease/devices were derived, with reference to various device specific registries globally and other literature specific to these devices, as mentioned earlier the surgery/procedure/intervention/therapy was the only area where differential or device specific data elements which are critical or rather significant enough to be included in the device dataset, and their inclusion was covered with a solid justification. The data set elements were coded, and necessary data dictionary was created [4].

4.2. Design and Develop Policies, procedures and operations guidelines

Based on the policies of the provider, an operational framework needs to be defined which should include the policies covering all the aspects of a national program and related procedures to be followed in order to run this national initiative. The program is supposed to run in accord with the laid down framework, including operational protocols and the defined data governance policies [2].

4.3. Designing and developing an Electronic System for the registry program

The electronic system forms the heart of the program, which acts as an information exchange hub, hence needs to be designed taking into consideration the complexities of a national program. Developing the multi-registry electronic database for various diseases/devices under a single repository was a challenge, due to the complex nature of

the datasets related to various devices which had to be streamlined under a single umbrella. A dynamic approach needs to be followed in order to achieve the required results, where the system would be split into 2 applications; the administrative application would give the administrator the power to create and manage users, roles, privileges, classification data, search parameters, and other administrative aspects of the mother registry, also it would include a tool to create dynamic data capture forms based on the defined data set for each registry keeping the demographics, patients history and diagnosis standardized [1].On the other hand, the registry application needs to be multi institutional where the user access was institutional as well as role based, these roles were flexible enough to give the user different kind of access cascading to the form or even variable level. Proper security measures should be in place to handle the data privacy and confidentiality within institutions and even between users. The application access needs to be privilege based covering all the necessary features for data entry/management/download/search/ analytics and custom reporting [6].

5. Training & Pilot Run

Training and knowledge transfer workshops need to be held at each participating hospital for each of the registry. Where hands on training is provided to the research registrars, investigators and the data entry staff. This included interactive discussions/interactions pertaining to the structure of the dataset/electronic system/policies and procedures, followed by real time use and application of the data set and policies over the system.

6. Discussion and Conclusion

It is indeed a huge challenge to integrate the multi registry data from coming from various institutions nationwide, under a single platform, secondly running the nationwide operations seamlessly is another challenge where change management needs to be very well planned with effective and efficient training and support. The approach followed is well studied and well implemented in a step by step manner to ensure success, where these best practices are well extracted from the experience in implementing various national registries. Challenges faced are mostly related to data availability, data extraction, and system integration, and interoperability which can be automated in the future by creating standard API and a data warehouse-based integration approach.

- M.A. Baig, Designing and Developing a Multi-Center/Multi-Device National Registry for Implantable Medical Devices, *Studies in Health Technology and Information* 251 (2018), 219-222 URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29968642.
- [2] M. Househ, Developing a Policy & Procedure Framework & Manual for a National Implantable Medical Device Registry in Saudi Arabia, *Studies in Health Technology and Information* 251 (2018), 215-218
- [3] Annual Report 2016, Public and Patient Guide to the NJR'S 13th (2016). http://www.njrcentre.org.uk/njrcentre/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=6Xv4fckz1ek%3d&portalid=0.
- [4] J. Afzal, Developing an Evidence-Based Clinical Dataset for the Comprehensive Implantable Medical Device Registry, *Studies in Health Technology and Information* 251 (2018), 167-170
- [5] L. Hopper, A National Dementia Registry for Ireland: A Feasibility Study, Dublin City University, 2017.
- [6] F. Alshagathrh, Building a cloud-based data sharing model for the Saudi national registry for implantable medical devices: Results of a readiness Assessment. PMID: 30153916 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.08.005

Drug Interaction Advisory Service for Clinical Decision Support of Multimordity Patient Centric Care Plans in the C3-Cloud System

George DESPOTOU^{a,1}, Mustafa YUKSEL^b, Bunyamin SARIGUL^b and Theodoros N. ARVANITIS^a ^aInstitute of Digital Healthcare, WMG, University of Warwick, UK. ^bSRDC, Turkey

Abstract. C3-Cloud is a project aiming to provide an ICT infrastructure, which will allow patient centric and integrated care, based on best practice guideline, for patients with multi-morbidity. Clinical Decision Support, by checking the patient's record for known adverse interactions when the medication changes. The drug interaction advisory service provides recommendations in the three languages used in the project's pilot sites, for over 1000 substances, based on the UK's NICE BNF body of knowledge.

Keywords. pharmacovigilance, multi-morbidity, clinical decision support

1. Introduction

C3-Cloud is an e-health ICT system, offering integrated, patient-centered care, considering all aspects of multi-morbidity, creating a collaborative environment for all involved stakeholders [1]. The navel of the system consists of the patient care plan, a digital shared picture of the patients' needs and care regime. The care plan allows all professionals to review and understand the implications of one condition in the presence of others; this by its nature is complex, containing a considerable amount of diverse information. Navigating, understanding, and interpreting all the information can be confounding. The C3-Cloud Clinical Decision Support service (CDS) offers an automated means of interpreting the available data. CDS connects to the care plan repository, and continuously searches records for relevant data. One of the CDS services focuses on potential drug-drug interactions. The current implementation of C3-Cloud cares for multi-morbidity patients with up to four conditions, including diabetes, renal failure, chronic heart failure, and depression. Medication regimes for this combination of conditions may include drugs that when combined, may result in adverse reactions [2]. Drug Interaction Advisory Service (DIAS) is part of the C3-Cloud CDSS, offering advisories of potential interactions.

¹ Corresponding Author, G. Despotou, IDH, WMG, University of Warwick, CV4 7AL, UK; E-mail: g.despotou@warwick.ac.uk.

2. Drug Interactions Service Architecture and Integration with C3-Cloud

C3-Cloud has adopted a modular architecture, which can be deployed locally on an organization's intranet, as well as a distributed system; depending on the scale and integrated care model [3] requirements of the service that needs to be offered to patients.



Figure 1. a) C3DP (care plan) medication prescription view (top) b) test extract from the interactions notification pop-up dialogue (bottom); it gives interactions between diuretics (ATC: C03) and existing medication in the patient's record.

The Patient Empowerment Platform (PEP) provides a dedicated interface module to the patient, adapted to their needs. The Coordinated Cure and Care Delivery Platform (C3DP), shown in figure 1a, offers the interface to healthcare professionals, who will create, monitor, negotiate and customize a care plan with the patient. When loading a care plan from the repository, the C3DP will interact with the Clinical Decision Support (CDS) service, and will receive a number of automated recommendation. All communication amongst C3-Cloud components, as well as storage of information is achieved by accessing FHIR resources.

Healthcare professionals can amend a patient's medication via the C3DP. When a new medication request is entered the C3DP will issue a request to DIAS with the ATC codes of the patient's medication. DIAS will then return a list of all the identified interactions amongst the substances that correspond to the ATC codes. The service can check all codes in a record, as well as only potential interactions of a newly prescribed medication. The latter is the default notification method, by a pop-up dialogue, to avoid fatigue alert. DIAS is accessed via a RESTful API using a GET request, and returns the results in JSON. Figure 2 shows an example of a request checking 3 ATC codes (Fig.2a), and an extract in JSON (Fig.2b) from the returned result. The JSON results are then presented in a friendlier format, in a pop-up dialogue (Fig.1b), once the user clicks the save prescription button, and only if interactions are found. The service returns an advisory and does not make any decisions. Furthermore, users are advised that lack of interactions, may not necessarily mean that there are not any, as this is limited to the knowledge body of the specific database.

GET https://DIAS_Service_Host/ATC?code=J01CA04,B01AA03,G03XA01
"DIAS_id": 101762,
"chemical": "Warfarin",
"chemical_ATC_code": "B01AA03 ",
"interactant": "Amoxicillin",
"interactant_ATC_code": "J01CA04 ",
"interaction_criticality": "Severe",
"interaction_effect": "Amoxicillin potentially alters the anticoagulant effect of warfarin.
Manufacturer advises monitor INR and adjust dose.",
"interaction_effect_ES_auto": "La amoxicilina altera potencialmente el efecto anticoagulante de la
warfarina. El fabricante aconseja monitorizar el INR y ajustar la dosis.",
"interaction_effect_SV_auto": "Amoxicillin förändrar potentiellt warfarins antikoagulerande
effekt. Tillverkaren rekommenderar att INR kontrolleras och dosen justeras.",
"interaction_evidence_basis": "Anecdotal"
},

Figure 2. a) A typical DIAS GET request (top) b) extract from interactions returned in JSON (bottom).

3. Design of the Drug Interactions Advisory Service

DIAS implements the interactions between drugs, as specified by the National Institute of Care Excellence's implementation of the British National Formulary (BNF) [4]. BNF is a pharmaceutical reference book, used by the UK NHS. The information provided by the service, includes potential adverse interaction between substances, the effects of the interaction, the severity of the interaction, as well as the evidence basis of interaction.



Figure 3. The DIAS Database Model.

For example, Acarbose is a drug active ingredient Alpha-glucosidase inhibitor, commonly used by patients with type 2 diabetes, reducing the effects of carbohydrates on blood sugar. Acarbose is listed as having a pharmacokinetic interaction with Digoxin, used for congestive heart failure to improve quality of life and prevent hospitalisation. The interaction is listed as moderate in criticality, decreasing the concentration of Digoxin. The information is encoded as a database using as the international nonproprietary name (INN) of each substance. Substances have been matched to the ATC codes automatically using the NCBO BioPortal's [5] mappings, whereas the ATC codes in the patient's care plan have been coded by C3-Cloud clinicians. The mapping was tested with random sampling covering 50 substances. The database contains over 50,000 interacting pairs of substances for over 1,000 substances. Figure 3 shows the logical view of the database. *Medication* and *ATCCode* are data from the FHIR

repository, accessed through the C3DP, whereas *Substance* and *Interaction* are the DIAS entries. *Substances* are associated via an *Interaction*. *Severity* of an *Interaction* can have the values *Severe, Moderate, Mild and Unknown,* and *EvidenceBasis* can be *Study, Anecdotal or Theoretical.* Effects have been translated to Spanish and Swedish for the pilot sites. Translation was done using an automated translation service, and tested with manual random sampling. C3DP gives the option to users to access the original language as well as to flag a translation issue.

In ATC, substances are classified in a 5-level hierarchy, which from the higher to the lower level contains: anatomical main group, therapeutic subgroup, pharmacological subgroup, chemical subgroup and chemical substance [3]. The hierarchy of ATC codes allows for further flexibility, offering identification of potential interactions between substance and classes of medication. For example, the service can check for interactions between plain ACE inhibitors (C09AA) which is a chemical subgroup, with blood glucose lowering drugs, excluding insulins (A10B), which is defined at the pharmacological subgroup. Although this trades coverage for accuracy (54 interactions), this was considered a more realistic implementation as in many cases, patient records will contain information that matches a higher ATC level. It was decided that the advisory should be offered to healthcare professionals who could investigate further.

4. Summary

The Drug Interaction Advisory Service is a component of the C3-Cloud integrated care for multi-morbidity, IT infrastructure. It provides the system with over 50,000 interactions between chemical substances, in three languages. It has a RESTful API and returns results in JSON, which are shown during medication changes in a patient's care plan. Future work will extend DIAS to include advisory on probability of side-effects.

Acknowledgements

The authors have received funding from the EU's H2020 research and innovation programme for the C3-Cloud Project, under grant agreement No 689181.

- [1] G.B. Laleci Erturkmen, M. Yuksel, B. Sarigul, M. Lilja, R. Chen and T.N. Arvanitis, Personalised Care Plan Management Utilizing Guideline-Driven Clinical Decision Support Systems, *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 247 (2018), 750-754. DOI: 10.3233/978-1-61499-852-5-750. http://ebooks.iospress.nl/volumearticle/48892
- [2] E. Bilici, G. Despotou and T.N. Arvanitis, The use of computer-interpretable clinical guidelines to manage care complexities of patients with multimorbid conditions: A review, *Digital Health* (2018) doi: 10.1177/2055207618804927.
- [3] WHO Regional Office for Europe, Integrated care models: an overview, 2016. Last accessed 3/4/19 at: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Health-systems/health-servicesdelivery/publications/2016/integrated-care-models-an-overview-2016
- [4] NICE BNF, Last accessed 4/3/19 at: https://bnf.nice.org.uk/
- [5] P.L. Whetzel, N.F. Noy, N.H. Shah, P.R. Alexander, C. Nyulas, T. Tudorache and M.A. Musen, BioPortal: enhanced functionality via new Web services from the National Center for Biomedical Ontology to access and use ontologies in software applications, *Nucleic Acids Res* **39** (Web Server issue) (2011), W541-W545. Epub 2011 Jun 14.

Developing a Digital Mental Health Platform for the Arab World: From Research to Action

Mowafa HOUSEH^{a,1}, Tanvir ALAM^a, Dena Al-THANI^a, Jens SCHNEIDER^a, Mohammad Ali SIDDIG^b, Luis FERNANDEZ-LUQUE^c, Marwa QARAQE^a, Ala ALFUQUHA^a and Shekhar SAXENA^d

 ^aInformation and Computing Technology Division, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Qatar
^b Community Mental Health Services, Hamad Medical Corporation, Doha, Qatar
^c Qatar Computing Research Institute (QCRI), Hamad Bin Khalifa University (HBKU), Doha, Oatar

^d Global Health and Population, Harvard T H Chan School of Public Health, Harvard University, United States of America

Abstract. Individuals within the Arab world rarely access mental health services. One of the major reasons for this relates to the stigma associated with mental disorders. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), untreated and undiagnosed individuals living with moderate to severe mental health disorders are more likely to die 10-20 years earlier than the estimated life expectancy of the general population. Mental disorders also cause a large amount of costs to economies. Access to mental health services is out of reach for many individuals within in the Arab world due to insufficient planning, inadequate community resources, and military conflicts. Online mental health information and services are growing within the region; however, they are embedded and often sidelined within a wealth of other general health information. The purpose of this paper is to present the conceptual framework of the Mental Health Assistant (MeHA) digital platform being developed for the Arab world. The aim of this platform is to provide mental health information and educational resources through the use of a conversational agent, multi-media information, and to digitally connect patients with mental health service providers. The conceptual framework for the platform is based on mental health and information technology expert feedback, review of both academic and gray literature on mental health, and an examination of leading mental health digital platforms. As a result of this process, we developed a conceptual framework that will guide the development of the MeHA platform.

Keywords. Mental health, Arab world, depression, anxiety, Qatar

¹ Corresponding Author, Mowafa Househ, College of Science and Engineering, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar; E-mail: mowafah@gmail.com.

1. Introduction

The burden of mental health disorders will cost the global economy close to \$1 trillion every year until 2030 [1]. The one-on-one traditional gold standard approach for mental health interventions is too costly and labor intensive for today's health care system where digital technologies for self-care can provide the complementary support necessary to deliver mental health services to patients in need [1]. Within the Arab world, mental health remains stigmatized due to the social, educational, cultural and economic ramifications that come with being labelled as an individual living with a mental health disorder [2]. Although misinformation and stigmatization related to mental health is a worldwide phenomenon, the social repercussions and stigmatization for mental health disorders in Arab countries are so severe that it leads to denial and then blaming external factors such as supernatural or paranormal powers [3]. The fear of dealing with and recognizing a mental health disorder within the Arab world can lead a person towards social isolation and the feeling of shame [3]. To exacerbate the issue, many Arab countries have not adopted mental health legislation or a mental health policy [4]. With regards to the mental health workforce, the Arab world (7.7 per 100,000 population) falls below the global average of 9 mental health workers per 100,000 population [5]. There are also challenges for providing mental health services in the Arab world especially in conflict zone areas such as Palestine, Syria, Yemen, and Libya [6] where mental health services and personnel are ill-equipped to deal with the growing mental health epidemic arising as a direct result of conflict.

Today, there are a number of new technologies being developed to address the issue of mental health. In the mobile health sphere, close to 30% of the 15,000 mobile health applications available today focus on mental health. The vast majority of the applications primarily focus on one mental health condition such as depression and/or anxiety while ignoring other related mental health conditions [7]. Within the Arab world, in general, a gloomier picture emerges about the dearth of evidence-based as well as reliable mobile health apps that address local and regional needs. More work in the development of evidence-based and regional mental health apps in the Arabic language are needed for the Arab world.

The objectives of this project is to establish and evaluate the effectiveness of a personalized approach to the provision of mental health self-care services for individuals in the Arab world by developing a digital mental health platform using evidence based mental health guidelines and machine learning techniques. In this paper, we focus on introducing the conceptual framework of the Mental Health Assistant (MeHA) digital platform.

2. Methods

Multiple methods were used in the development of the conceptual framework guiding our approach to building the MeHA platform. First, a search of the mental health literature was conducted between December 15, 2018 and February 10, 2019. A team of experts in the Arabic medical language, computer science, human computer interaction, mental health industry, psychology and psychiatry were included as part of a team providing input and feedback into the development of the MeHA framework. Feedback from experts was obtained through individual discussions, group meetings, messaging service (text messages and WhatsApp), e-mails, and document feedback between January 5 and April 10, 2019. A rapid review of existing digital mental health platforms, mobile applications, and serious games for mental health were also conducted within the same time frame to provide insights into the functionality and digital components that can be used for the MeHA platform.

3. Results

We developed a preliminary conceptual framework that is based on a variety of inputs, processes, outputs, and outcomes (ee Figure 1). Our assumptions are that individuals seeking mental health support will use MeHA for self-care. Our inputs are loosely based on the mhGAP Intervention Guide developed by the WHO guidelines psychoeducation and self-care concepts [8]. At this stage, we are focusing on the 18 to 64 age range for Arabic speaking adults. For **inputs**, we envision that patients will visit/use the MeHA platform to obtain information and register on the platform to share demographic information such as age, education, location, email and name or pseudonym. They may also browse the site, or use the conversational agent and/or chatbot to access MeHA services. The conversational agent will screen the individual using validated depression, anxiety, and/or stress scales/questionnaires. Once the screening is complete, a number of activities will be performed with the individual through the conversational agent. For activities, the conversational agent will provide the individual with information about their condition in the form of a video, infographic, or text. Then the individual will have two options; namely, connecting the individual to an online or local mental health provider or continue with the conversational agent with a cognitive behavioral therapy based on the severity of the assessment. For **output**, the users will be asked about their satisfaction using the service and if it led to any improvements in their mental health condition. For outcomes, we anticipate that continuous improvement based on user feedback will help inform, empower and educate individuals seeking mental health services for self-care and improve access and the delivery of mental health services to the population of the Arab world.



Figure 1. Conceptual Framework/Logic Model for MeHA digital platform.

4. Discussion

The preliminary work presented in this paper attempts to guide the development of the MeHA digital platform. The conceptual framework is based on the inputs from the literature, stakeholder feedback, and an evaluation of other mental health digital platforms. Although the work presented in this paper is preliminary, it builds the foundation of the future development of this project. We believe that the innovative features of this project include: (a) extension of existing digital mental health platforms to support adults and adolescents at risk for common mental health disorders by providing evidence-based and personalized mental health advice, recommendations and

support through a digital health platform at point of care and at home to be used by individuals and families; (b) development of a mental health digital platform in the Arabic language that can be used locally in the Arab world; (c) a comprehensive platform that will include more than one mental health disorder (e.g., anxiety, depression, phobias, post-traumatic stress disorders, bipolar disorders); and (d) providing access to low-cost and free mental health advice especially to individuals living in high conflict zone areas where access to mental health services is needed but limited (e.g. Syria, Yemen, and Gaza). With regards to limitations, collection of data was not systematic in nature, but was based on multiple rounds of input and feedback from the stakeholders involved in the project. The construction of the conceptual framework was developed based on the impressionistic views of the authors included in the study. We anticipate further validation of the conceptual framework as the development, testing, and evaluation of the MeHA digital mental health platform continues.

5. Conclusion

The access to mental health services in the Arab world is severely lacking and a need to improve individual access to mental health information, educational services, and access to mental health professionals will be provided through the MeHA platform. The preliminary conceptual framework presented in this paper provides a roadmap for further exploration into the development of a conceptual model for the MeHA platform. There are many technical challenges that need to be overcome in this research. One of the main challenges is the creation of an adaptive platform that "learns" overtime from its users. We believe that Active Learning will allow us to realize a platform that benefits from the wisdom of the crowd (i.e., patients and service providers). Also, the platform should be designed carefully to provide a "natural" interface to its users. Toward this end, we plan to depend on a story-telling approach that utilizes rich multimedia content (i.e., audio, video). The design of this multimedia content is a challenge and should be done carefully with advice from subject matter experts.

- [1] W.H. Organization, *Depression and other common mental disorders: global health estimates*, World Health Organization, 2017.
- [2] L.A. Dardas and L.A. Simmons, The stigma of mental illness in Arab families: a concept analysis, J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 22 (2015), 668-679.
- [3] M. Zolezzi, M. Alamri, S. Shaar and D. Rainkie, Stigma associated with mental illness and its treatment in the Arab culture: A systematic review, *Int J Soc Psychiatry* 64 (2018), 597-609.
- [4] A. Okasha, E. Karam and T. Okasha, Mental health services in the Arab world, World Psychiatry 11 (2012), 52-54.
- [5] W.H. Organization, Mental Health ATLAS 2017, 2017.
- [6] A. Hankir and A. Sadiq, Lessons from psychiatry in the Arab world--a Lebanese trainee psychiatrist's qualitative views on the provision of mental healthcare services for Palestinian refugees in Lebanon and an interview with a consultant psychiatrist on the effects of the Arab spring on the mental health of Libyans, *Psychiatr Danub* 25 (Suppl 2) (2013), S345-349.
- [7] P. Chandrashekar, Do mental health mobile apps work: evidence and recommendations for designing highefficacy mental health mobile apps, *Mhealth* 4 (2018), 6.
- [8] W.H. Organization, mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP)-version 2.0, World Health Organization.

This page intentionally left blank

Subject Index

accelerometer	11
acceptance	47
accreditation	59, 158
adolescents	97
advanced analytics	27, 43
adverse childhood experiences	332
adverse events	194
affective computing	214
amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	93
anti-platelet therapy	110
antibiotic	138
antibiotic resistance	180
antibiotic susceptibility	180
antimicrobial	138
anxiety	228, 392
application	360
applied network science	336
apps	158
Arab world	228, 392
artificial intelligence	1,268
association rule mining	142
attitude	150
automated dispensing cabinets	47
availability	168
bedside infotainment	214
bidirectional long short-term	
memory	236
big data 51, 55,	312, 356
biomedical informatics	220
blockchain	172, 264
blockchain technology	168
body posture	280
Bradford Hill criteria	356
breast cancer	142
business intelligence	55
capital funding	268
care pathway	93
care utilization	324
case-control study	328
CFD modeling	308
child health	154
children	126
chronic systemic disease	256

clinical decision support	260,	388
clinical decision support		
system(s) (CDSS) 35,	190,	344
clinical guidelines	190,	248
clinical indicators		184
clinical practice guidelines		134
clinical registries		384
clinical-infrastructure		11
cognitive walkthrough		198
colorectal cancer		380
communication		15
computer-interpretable guideli	ine	7
computerized decision suppor	t	
system		138
confocal endomicroscopy		376
constraint satisfaction		7
conversational agent		228
convolution neural network	232,	236
CORD		130
cross-border eHealth services		202
customization		276
data accuracy		105
data breach		59
data donation		51
data interpretation		105
data linkage		220
data management		43
data mining		142
data quality	162,	300
data science	27	, 43
data science skills		43
data scientist		43
data sharing	264,	368
data standards		154
data warehousing		79
database management system		190
DBMS		190
decision support		276
decision support system(s)		
(DSS) 23, 101, 134,	256,	312
decision trees		368
decisional event		134
deep learning	232,	236

dental disease	256
depression	228, 392
diabetes mellitus	39, 352
dictionary	31
digital biopsy	376
digitization	1
distance	87
distributed processes	172
donor splice sites	236
dry sockets	328
dyslalia screening	252
e-learning	126
e-prescription	83
edge processing	364
education	176
eHealth 8	3, 158, 300
elderly patients	340
electronic appointment	210
electronic consent	198
electronic dental record	324, 328
electronic health record(s)	
(EHR) 194, 220, 24	0, 244, 256
electronic prescription	210
emergencies	67
emergency department	224
entropy	252
epidemiological indexes	218
equivalent classes	93
ER	260
Europe	31
evaluation	210, 260
evidence-based medicine	248
experience formalization	134
experiences	122
extra-intracranial bypass	308
eye tracking	240, 244
factor relating	272
first aid	126
fixation	240
fixation count	244
formative	114
gamification	206
gastrointestinal bleeding	190
general data protection regu	lation
(GDPR)	59, 91
geriatrics	97
gestational diabetes	39
gestures	320
GI bleeding	190

governance	202
GRADE	110
Greece	91
hand rehabilitation	320
headache	304
health analytics	55
health care	1
health data centre	288
health data warehouses	184
health indicators	184
health informatics 87, 260,	336
health information management	168
health information systems	300
health management	292
health services 150,	304
health status	188
healthcare 172, 348,	356
hemodynamics	308
hiding decision tree rules	368
high technology	288
high-fidelity prototype	126
history of medical informatics	146
HL7 FHIR	256
hospital accreditation	272
hospitals 47. 55.	340
HROOL	122
HUAP	224
human-computer interaction	296
imaging biomarkers	312
imbalanced data set	344
immunisation	154
implementation	83
inappropriate use of EDs	224
indicator	292
infection H1N1	218
inflammatory bowel disease	372
integration	11
integration	168
intensive care unit (ICU) 122	166
intensive care unit (100) 122,	146
interdisciplinary care	256
interdisciplinary communications	31
international patient summary	10
internet of things	364
interoperability 168	264
intersectoral collaboration	204
intracranial aneurysm	308
Iran	142
IRB	62
III D	05

ISO 15189	59
job description	43
K. pneumoniae	180
knowledge discovery	142
knowledge management	316
laboratory	59
leap motion	320
learning 15	5, 87
long non-coding RNA	232
low back pain	280
low- and middle-income	
countries	162
machine earning	320
machine learning 27, 43, 312,	344
MAGIC	110
medical data	368
medical informatics 31,	176
medical oncology	79
medical prospectuses	284
medication errors	83
medicine inventory management	23
mental health 228, 292, 316,	392
mHealth 130, 158,	352
microbiological data analysis	180
microsoft kinect	280
minimum data set	380
mLearning	248
mobile applications 39, 67,	158
model transformation	7
model-driven engineering	7
multi-criteria decision	
analysis 110,	118
multi-morbidity	388
multidrug resistance	180
multimorbidity(ies) 7, 256,	336
multiple sclerosis (MS)	360
musculoskeletal diseases	71
named entity recognition	284
national level	176
national registry	384
natural intelligence	1
natural language processing 194,	284
NCDs	288
neck exercise	206
neck pain	206
neural network	320
neuropathology	376
neurosurgery	194
noncommunicable disease	256

nurses	47
oncology decision support system	35
online communication	75
ontology	190
oversampling methods	344
participant	272
participants emails	348
patient experiences	166
patient falls	340
patient monitoring	214
patient perspectives	75
patient reported outcome	
measures 114	, 118
patient safety	340
pattern recognition	142
pediatrics/methods	67
person-centred decision support	110
personal care plan	7
personal healthcare	130
pharmacovigilance	388
phenotyping	220
nhysician	220
population health	270
population nearth	150
portal	114
preference-sensitive decisions	114
preference-sensitive decisions	110
preferences	110
prevention	356
primary care	316
Privacy by Design	19
privacy preserving	368
process development	51
prognosis	220
PROMIS	114
promoter	232
protocol	101
prototype	372
public hospital 91	, 224
Qatar 228	, 392
qualitative method	83
qualitative research	75
quality improvement	272
quality indicators	316
questionnaires	348
recommender system	332
reflective	114
registry	380
registry electronic data capture	384
rehabilitation	71

relational chronic disease	
surveillance	336
repetitive heavy object lifting	280
research management system	63
research process	63
resuscitation	67
review	11
rights	91
risk factors	288
road accidents	188
routine health information systems	162
SBB	190
scientific experimental error	105
scoping review	101
secondary data use	51
security and privacy controls	19
self-management 352,	360
self-management application	372
self-monitoring	130
semantic technologies	332
serious games	214
shared pharmaceutical list	83
shoulder	71
small data set	344
small-bowel bleeding	190
smart contracts	172
smart phone	39
social determinants	324
speech therapy	252
standards interoperability	202
Stanford's CoreNLP	284
star model	176

statistical	105
strategies	340
stroke	312
summary care record	83
summary record	154
surgical cancellation	75
surgical education	15
survey research	348
survival analysis	79
technology	122, 268
technology development	75
telemedicine	97, 304
time growing neural network	364
transient ischaemic attack	110
treatment adherence and	
compliance	71
tuberculosis	101, 264
unstructured supplementary se	ervice
data (USSD)	162
usability 210, 240, 244,	248, 296
usability inspection	198
user analysis	240
user requirements	372
user-centered design methods	296
value-based care	118
videoconferencing	15
virus	218
VR	206
websites	158
work practices	83
young adults	360

Author Index

Abhichaya, A.	272	Bogdanov, A.	190
Ahmad, K.	228	Borgund, A.K.	126
Aimé, X.	93	Bouaud, J.	134
Akcapinar Sezer, E.	344	Bouzerdoum, A.	236
Alam, T.	228, 232, 236, 392	Brenas, J.H.	332
Alanazi, A.	138, 356	Budykina, A.	190
Aldosari, B.	138, 356	Cangioli, G.	19
Aldosari, H.	138, 356	Cardoso, S.	93
Alfuquha, A.	228, 392	Castro, P.	316
Al-Harbi, R.	138	Charalambous, G.	224
Al-Juhani, H.	356	Charlet, J.	93
Aljuraid, R.	356	Chatzi, P.	224
Al-Malki, K.	138	Cheng, C.	23, 35
Almeida, A.	130	Chirila, CB.	284
Almuhaizea, M.A.	63, 384	Chirila, O.S.	284, 320
Al-Shagathrh, F.	384	Christopoulos, C.	180
Alshahrani, A.	352	Chronaki, C.	19, 154, 202
Alshammari, F.	138	Coleman, C.	240, 244
Al-Thani, D.	228, 392	Crisan-Vida, M.	31
Alves, D.	101, 264, 292, 316	Dalamaga, M.	39, 59
Alzahrani, S.J.	27, 43, 63, 384	Danilov, G.	194
Ammenwerth, E.	87	Darmoni, S.	31
Antonakos, G.	39, 59	de Azevedo Marqu	ues, P.M. 264
Arhipov, I.	308, 312	de Castro Silva, S.	L.F. 23, 35
Arvanitis, T.N.	7, 388	de Lima, I.B.	292, 316
Arvonen, S.	150, 300	Delimpasis, K.	214
Atashi, A.	142, 380	Denaxas, S.	220
Babic, A. 126, 184,	206, 360, 364, 372	Deshpande, S.	154, 158
Baig, M.A.	27, 43, 63, 384	Despotou, G.	7, 388
Balirwa, P.	248	Dimola, K.	168
Balis, C.	168	Diomidous, M.	39, 59, 122, 188, 218
Basahel, A.	356	Direk, K.	220
Begic, E.	105	Dolotova, D.	308, 312
Belhaouari, S.B.	232	Donitova, V.	312
Benis, A.	31	Dornauer, V.	87
Berian, D.	252	Dorri, S.	142, 380
Bernardi, F.	101, 264	Dowie, J.	110, 114, 118
Bilici, E.	7	Dyb, K.	75, 83
Binhamdan, A.	138	Edson, B.	97
Binioris, S.	91	Elkady, T.	47
Blagosklonova, E.	308	Erturkmen, G.B.L.	. 19
Blair, M.	158	Fatah, T.	260
Boehm, A.	324	Felderer, M.	87

Feretzakis, G.	180, 368	Jylhä, V.	150
Fernandez-Luque	, L. 228, 392	Kahiigi, E.K.	248
Fey, T.	79	Kaitelidou, D.	122, 166, 224
Finkelstein, J.	198, 296, 324, 328	Kalles, D.	368
Fitzpatrick, N.	220	Kalokairinou, A.	122, 166
Fotteler, M.	51, 376	Kaltoft, M.K.	110, 114, 118
Fouskas, G.	214	Kappler, R.	67
Freitas, A.	292, 316	Karagkouni, I.	224
Galanis, P.	122, 166, 224	Karampela, I.	39, 59
Galliakis, M.	214	Kawsar, F.A.	232, 236
Galliez, R.M.	101, 264	Kelepouri, M.	166
Gallos, P.	v, 210	Keramidas, G.	224
Gal-Nadasan, E.C	j. 280	Khairat, S.	97, 240, 244, 276
Gal-Nadasan, N.	280	Khalifa, M.	47, 55, 340, 348
Gavrilov, A.	308, 312	Khavtorin, A.	172
Gesicho, M.B.	184	Khemthong, K.	288
Gharehbaghi, A.	364	Kiseleva, A.	308
Ghousi, R.	142	Kivekäs, E.	150, 300
Gianforcaro, R.	97	Kleiner-Arje, S.	296
Gille, H.	202	Kloster, M.	206
Giotaki, A.	224	Knaup, P.	256
Gkartzios, C.	214	Kobrinskii, B.	312
Gonçalves, A.A.	23, 35	Kolokathi, K.	V
Gonçalves-Pinho,	, M. 316	Konstantakopoulou,	O. 122, 166, 224
Gonzalez-Izquier	do, A. 220	Kontogiannatou, A.	210
Grabli, D.	93	Koumpoulis, C.	214
Graham, R.	324	Koutalas, E.	180
Gütschleg, H.	11	Kritski, A.	101, 264
Haag, M.	67	Krylov, V.	308
Hackl, W.O.	87	Kulikowski, C.A.	146
Hajialiasgari, F.	142, 380	Lada, M.	180
Halminen, O.	268	Lammintakanen, J.	150
Hasman, A.	V	Larburu, N.	134
Harno, H.	304	Law, J.	276
Haux, R.	1	Levitin, S.A.	328
Heliste, A.	268	Liarigkovinou, A.	224
Hemingway, H.	220	Liaskos, J.	v, 210
Heninger, L.	376	Liljamo, P.	150
Hoerbst, A.	87	Lillrank, P.	304
Holl, F.	51, 376	Lima, V.	101, 264
Househ, M.	v, 228, 232, 236, 392	Listl, S.	256
Igel, C.	67	Liu, J.	198
Islam, M.T.	232, 236	Loupelis, E.	180
Jähne-Raden, N.	11	Maglogiannis, I.	214
Jakobsen, M.O.	360	Mahmut, EE.	252
Jankovic, S.M.	105	Mäkitie, L.	304
Jastania, R.	356	Mangita, A.	188
Jayachander, D.	240, 244	Mantas, J.	v, 166, 210
Jeong, I.C.	324, 328	Marashi, S.	142, 380

Marreiros, G.	130	Pronkina, T.	194
Marschollek, M.	11	Qaraqe, M.	228, 392
Martinho, D.	130	Ramalho, A.	292, 316
Martins, C.	130	Rand, V.	240, 244
Martins, C.H.F.	23, 35	Rauzina, S.	190
Martsoukou, M.	180	Rees, A.	47
Masic, I.	105	Reponen, J.	300
Meininger, V.	93	Rigby, M.	154, 158
Meneton, P.	93	Rijo, R.	101, 264, 292
Menychtas, A.	214	Robins, D.	198, 296
Michelidou, S.	180	Rosenlund, M.	150, 300
Mihalas, G.I.	146	Saijonkari, M.	150
Mikkonen, S.	150, 300	Sakagianni, K.	180
Miyoshi, N.S.B.	292	Santos, J.V.	316
Müller-Mielitz, S.	51	Santos, P.	316
Muro, N.	134	Saranto, K.	150, 300
Mwogi, T.	248	Sarigul, B.	388
Nageeti, T.	138, 356	Saxena, S.	228, 392
Nakibuuka, J.	162	Schlegel, J.	376
Nantschev, R.	87	Schmidt, T.	260
Nasseh, D.	79	Schmucker, M.	67
Natto, O.	138	Schneider, J.	228, 392
Nazeri, N.	142, 380	Schneiderbauer, S.	79
Netzer, M.	87	Schweizer, D.	79
Newlin, T.	240, 244	Seashore, C.	276
Nicola, S.	320	Seitz, M.W.	256
Nikolakakou, A.	224	Semwanga, A.R.	162
Nikolopoulos, M.	39, 59	Šendelj, R.	176
Nøhr, C.	260	Sepehri, A.A.	364
Ognjanović, I.	176	Seppälä, T.	268
Olsen, R.	372	Serifi, M.	91
Omar, A.	63	Seroussi, B.	134
Panagopoulos, C.	214	Sever, H.	344
Papachristou, A.	224	Seyedhasani, S.n.	380
Papastefanopoulou, V.	224	Shaban-Nejad, A.	332, 336
Papatheodorou, P.	224	Sharifullin, F.	312
Par, O.E.	344	Shifrin, M.	172, 194
Peleka, P.	122	Shin, E.K.	332, 336
Pellison, F.	101, 264	Siddig, M.A.	228, 392
Peltzer, K.	288	Silva Santos, R.L.	23, 35
Pereira Barbosa, J.G.	23, 35	Simsek, E.	19
Peticolas, K.	276	Siskou, O.	122, 166, 224
Petropoulos, D.	214	Skarmoutsou, N.	180
Petropoulou, S.	180	Skountzos, I.	224
Plagianakos, V.	214	Songkramchai, L.	272
Poenaru, D.V.	280	Stegwee, R.	202
Polunina, N.	308	Steiner, B.	71
Popa-Andrei, D.	280	Stepanov, V.	308
Potapov, A.	194	Stepurin, V.	172

Stoicu-Tivadar, L.	31, 284, 320	Väljä, A.	304
Stoicu-Tivadar, V.	252, 280	Velentza, K.	180
Stratigou, T.	39, 59	Ventura, M.D.	252
Strunina, U.	194	Verykios, V.S.	368
Suwanlee, S.R.	288	Viana, J.	316
Swoboda, W.	51, 376	Vieira, A.	130
Tagopoulos, I.	168	Vinci, A.L.T.	292, 316
Taneja, T.	97	Warth, L.L.	15, 83
Tanila, T.	304	Were, M.C.	162, 248
Teixeira, J.	316	Whalen, S.	324
Tenhunen, H.	268, 304	Wolf, KH.	71
Thermogianni, A.	224	Wolf, L.	296
Tohidinezhad, F.	142	Wright, R.	296
Tsirintani, M.	91	Yuksel, M.	388
Tsolas, G.	224	Zagriazkina, T.	312
Turnbull, N.	288	Zaman, T.	97
Tzortzis, E.	39, 59	Zarubina, T.	190
Ulaganathan, S.	260	Zimeras, S.	218
Valakis, K.	180	Zingerman, B.	172